# STRESS RESPONSE MECHANISMS OF BACTERIAL PATHOGENS

EDITED BY: Jyl S. Matson and Tracy Raivio PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology





#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-685-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-685-3

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# STRESS RESPONSE MECHANISMS OF BACTERIAL PATHOGENS

Topic Editors: Jyl S. Matson, University of Toledo, United States Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

A critical factor for bacterial survival in any environment is the ability to sense and respond appropriately to insults that cause stress to the cell, threatening its survival. Most of these stressors first affect the outer surface of the bacterial cell, are sensed in some way, and defense measures are enacted in response. If the bacteria successfully respond to an encountered stress, they survive and multiply. If they are unsuccessful or inefficient in their response, it can result in death. Efficiently responding to factors that induce stress is especially important for bacteria that inhabit environments that are constantly changing, or for those that inhabit more than one biological niche. In addition, bacterial species that associate with humans and other organisms must be able to overcome stresses that are produced by the host immune response in order to colonize and cause disease. The wide variety of stressors encountered by bacteria has resulted in countless strategies that are used by pathogens to overcome these insults, which we continue to identify. Clearly, a better understanding of these stress response mechanisms may be useful for developing new strategies to combat bacteria that cause certain infectious diseases.

This Research Topic aims to highlight our increasing understanding of mechanisms by which bacteria sense and respond to stresses encountered in the host or other environments. Examples of stress response mechanisms of interest include, but are not limited to those that respond to antimicrobials, host immune responses, or environmental changes.

**Citation:** Matson, J. S., Raivio, T., eds. (2020). Stress Response Mechanisms of Bacterial Pathogens. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-685-3

# Table of Contents

- 05 Regulation of Transcription Termination of Small RNAs and by Small RNAs: Molecular Mechanisms and Biological Functions Jiandong Chen, Teppei Morita and Susan Gottesman
- 14 Regulated Proteolysis in Vibrio cholerae Allowing Rapid Adaptation to Stress Conditions

Nina Pennetzdorfer, Mareike Lembke, Katharina Pressler, Jyl S. Matson, Joachim Reidl and Stefan Schild

- 23 Peptidylarginine Deiminase Inhibitors Reduce Bacterial Membrane Vesicle Release and Sensitize Bacteria to Antibiotic Treatment Uchini S. Kosgodage, Paul Matewele, Giulia Mastroianni, Igor Kraev, Dominik Brotherton, Brigitte Awamaria, Anthony P. Nicholas, Sigrun Lange and Jameel M. Inal
- 41 oqxAB-Positive IncHI2 Plasmid pHXY0908 Increase Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhimurium Strains Tolerance to Ciprofloxacin Xinlei Lian, Xiran Wang, Xiao Liu, Jing Xia, Liangxing Fang, Jian Sun, Xiaoping Liao and Yahong Liu
- 52 The Salmonella Specific, σ<sup>E</sup>-Regulated, STM1250 and AgsA, Function With the sHsps IbpA and IbpB, to Counter Oxidative Stress and Survive Macrophage Killing

Claire L. Hews, Emily J. Pritchard and Gary Rowley

- 65 Resuscitation of Dormant "Non-culturable" Mycobacterium tuberculosis is Characterized by Immediate Transcriptional Burst Elena G. Salina, Artem S. Grigorov, Oksana S. Bychenko, Yulia V. Skvortsova, Ilgar Z. Mamedov, Tatyana L. Azhikina and Arseny S. Kaprelyants
- 77 Assessing the Contribution of an HtrA Family Serine Protease During Borrelia turicatae Mammalian Infection

Clay D. Jackson-Litteken, Amanda K. Zalud, C. Tyler Ratliff, Jacob I. Latham, Travis J. Bourret, Job E. Lopez and Jon S. Blevins

94 yqhG Contributes to Oxidative Stress Resistance and Virulence of Uropathogenic Escherichia coli and Identification of Other Genes Altering Expression of Type 1 Fimbriae

Hicham Bessaiah, Pravil Pokharel, Hajer Habouria, Sébastien Houle and Charles M. Dozois

113 Maintaining Integrity Under Stress: Envelope Stress Response Regulation of Pathogenesis in Gram-Negative Bacteria

Claire L. Hews, Timothy Cho, Gary Rowley and Tracy L. Raivio

- **138** Cannabidiol is a Novel Modulator of Bacterial Membrane Vesicles Uchini S. Kosgodage, Paul Matewele, Brigitte Awamaria, Igor Kraev, Purva Warde, Giulia Mastroianni, Alistair V. Nunn, Geoffrey W. Guy, Jimmy D. Bell, Jameel M. Inal and Sigrun Lange
- **151** *RNA-Dependent Regulation of Virulence in Pathogenic Bacteria* Shubham Chakravarty and Eric Massé

167 A Fly on the Wall: How Stress Response Systems Can Sense and Respond to Damage to Peptidoglycan

Antoine Delhaye, Jean-François Collet and Géraldine Laloux

**180** Switching Lifestyles is an in vivo Adaptive Strategy of Bacterial Pathogens Stuti K. Desai and Linda J. Kenney



# Regulation of Transcription Termination of Small RNAs and by Small RNAs: Molecular Mechanisms and Biological Functions

#### Jiandong Chen<sup>1</sup>, Teppei Morita<sup>1,2</sup> and Susan Gottesman<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Molecular Biology, Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, Bethesda, MD, United States, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Suzuka University of Medical Sciences, Suzuka, Japan

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Karl M. Thompson, Howard University, United States Erin R. Murphy, Ohio University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Susan Gottesman gottesms@mail.nih.gov

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 02 April 2019 Accepted: 23 May 2019 Published: 12 June 2019

#### Citation:

Chen J, Morita T and Gottesman S (2019) Regulation of Transcription Termination of Small RNAs and by Small RNAs: Molecular Mechanisms and Biological Functions. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:201. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00201

Accurate and efficient transcription termination is an important step for cells to generate functional RNA transcripts. In bacteria, two mechanisms are responsible for terminating transcription: intrinsic (Rho-independent) termination and Rho-dependent termination. Growing examples suggest that neither type of transcription termination is static, but instead are highly dynamic and regulated. Regulatory small RNAs (sRNAs) are key players in bacterial stress responses, are frequently expressed under specific growth conditions, and are predominantly terminated through the intrinsic termination mechanism. Once made, sRNAs can base-pair with mRNA targets and regulate mRNA translation and stability. Recent findings suggest that alterations in the efficiency of intrinsic termination for sRNAs under various growth conditions may affect the availability of a given sRNA and the ability of the sRNA to function properly. Moreover, alterations of mRNA structure, translation, and accessibility by sRNAs have the potential to impact the access of Rho factor to mRNAs and thus termination of the mRNA. Indeed, recent studies have revealed that some sRNAs can modulate target gene expression by stimulating or inhibiting Rho-dependent termination, thus expanding the regulatory power of bacterial sRNAs. Here we review the current knowledge on intrinsic termination of sRNAs and sRNA-mediated Rho-dependent termination of protein coding genes in bacteria.

Keywords: SgrS, ChiX, SraL, Hfq, CsrA, Rho

# **BACTERIAL SRNA FUNCTION AND THE ROLE OF HFQ**

Critical processes in bacteria, including those necessary for pathogenesis, are frequently regulated at multiple levels. Small regulatory RNAs play important roles in both bacteria and hosts. The bacterial small RNAs (sRNAs) function by base-pairing to target mRNAs, resulting in stimulation or inhibition of mRNA stability and translation. These sRNAs are usually around 100 nt long, and use a short seed region (8–15 nt) to form an RNA duplex with mRNA for regulation (Storz et al., 2011; Wagner and Romby, 2015). In *E. coli* and many related bacteria, sRNAs often act in concert with the RNA chaperone Hfq. Mutations in *hfq* are associated with attenuated virulence in many

pathogens, suggesting critical roles for sRNAs in pathogenesis (Chao and Vogel, 2010), although, in a few instances, Hfq can act independently of sRNAs [see, for instance (Chen and Gottesman, 2017)].

Hfq, an Lsm/Sm family RNA binding protein, forms a ringshaped homohexamer. Hfq binds to and stabilizes sRNAs and promotes their pairing with mRNA targets (Vogel and Luisi, 2011; Updegrove et al., 2016). Three different surfaces on the hexamer have been shown to be important for RNA binding. The proximal face binds polyU sequences, and mutations on this surface disrupt sRNA binding in vitro and sRNA stability in vivo (Otaka et al., 2011; Sauer and Weichenrieder, 2011). The distal face binds AAN repeats (Robinson et al., 2014), frequently found on mRNA targets of sRNAs. Some RNAs bind to the rim of Hfq through AU rich regions; the rim has also been implicated in helping bring sRNA and mRNA together (Panja et al., 2013). Most sRNAs are quite stable in the cell when bound to Hfq, but are presumably displaced from Hfq and degraded after pairing to mRNA targets (Massé et al., 2003; Schu et al., 2015). Thus, sRNA function and stability depend on the ability to bind Hfq properly.

Here we focus on sRNAs in Escherichia coli, one of the species in which these regulators have been well studied. sRNAs are usually expressed from dedicated and well-regulated promoters, but in some cases, sRNAs are processed from the 3' end of mRNAs, and are thus dependent on the upstream mRNA promoters for expression (Miyakoshi et al., 2015b; Kavita et al., 2018). Regulation of sRNA promoters is often in response to specific cellular stresses, contributing to the cells' ability to adapt to changing environments. For instance, the iron-responsive RyhB sRNA is induced in response to iron deficiency and negatively regulates multiple iron binding proteins, thus helping the cell save iron for critical proteins (Massé and Gottesman, 2002). SgrS, on the other hand, is an sRNA made in response to accumulation of toxic sugar phosphates; it negatively regulates genes involved in the import of the sugar phosphates into the cell, while upregulating a phosphatase gene critical for detoxification of phosphosugar stress (Papenfort et al., 2013; Bobrovskyy and Vanderpool, 2014).

Regardless of whether an sRNA is processed from a longer transcript or not, a critical feature that enables sRNAs to bind Hfq is the presence of a Rho-independent terminator at its 3' end (Otaka et al., 2011; Morita et al., 2017). This requirement suggests that transcription termination is crucial for both sRNA biogenesis and function. Recent work highlighting this process of sRNA termination, ways in which intrinsic terminators of sRNAs may be distinct from other intrinsic terminators, and the ways in which termination may be regulated are discussed in the first part of this review.

sRNAs, by binding to mRNAs, can affect many aspects of mRNA folding, translation, and decay, as well as access of RNA binding proteins. While sRNAs frequently act to alter ribosome binding and translation initiation, recent findings highlight how sRNAs can affect gene expression by blocking or facilitating premature Rho-dependent transcription termination within the genes of target mRNAs. We review the characteristics of these interactions in the second part of this review.

# **RHO-INDEPENDENT TERMINATION**

Transcription termination that is independent of termination factors is known as Rho-independent termination, also called intrinsic termination [reviewed in Roberts (in press)]. Essential elements of a Rho-independent terminator consist of a GCrich dyad repeat that forms a stem-loop (hairpin) structure followed by a T-rich stretch, generating a U-rich tail in the RNA after termination (Adhya and Gottesman, 1978). Rhoindependent termination is achieved by formation of the stemloop structure, which is facilitated by RNA polymerase pausing during transcription of the T-rich tract (Ray-Soni et al., 2016). The T-rich stretch is highly conserved among Rho-independent terminators in bacteria, while sequences of the stem-loop seem not to be conserved except for their GC-rich characteristic. Interestingly, T-rich stretches can be found in terminators for both eukaryotic RNA polymerase III and archaeal RNA polymerase (Arimbasseri et al., 2013; Maier and Marchfelder, 2019), suggesting that the intrinsic termination within a Tstretch is a fundamental characteristic of termination pathways. Although many of the T-rich stretches contain four to eight Ts, they are frequently disrupted with other nucleotides (d'Aubenton Carafa et al., 1990; Chen et al., 2013). Intrinsic termination can be directly measured in vitro by appearance of properly terminated transcripts, and in vivo by reporters to measure termination read-through [see, for instance (Morita et al., 2017)].

# Characteristics of sRNA Rho-Independent Terminators

Transcription of genes encoding sRNAs are generally terminated by Rho-independent termination (Livny and Waldor, 2007). A notable feature of Rho-independent terminators of sRNAs is a consecutive T stretch longer than seven nucleotides, which is not necessarily found in all Rho-independent terminators (Otaka et al., 2011; Morita et al., 2017). The fact that discontinuous and relatively short T-rich stretches are found at many Rhoindependent terminators implies that seven or more Ts found in sRNA terminators is not required for transcription termination. The transcribed long T stretch, i.e., a polyU tail of seven or more Us, is the primary element responsible for the binding of sRNAs to Hfq (Figure 1A). Studies of sRNA SgrS and others demonstrated that shortening the polyT stretch to four Ts in terminators of sRNA genes no longer produced functional sRNAs in vivo (Otaka et al., 2011). Additionally, the individual consecutive six uridines, including the last U, bind to the proximal face of the Hfq hexamer in vitro (Sauer and Weichenrieder, 2011). Consistent with these findings, deep sequencing analyses of Hfq-binding sRNAs verified that polyU tails of sRNAs longer than six Us are primary binding sites for Hfq in vivo (Holmqvist et al., 2016; Melamed et al., 2016) (Figure 1Bi). It should be noted that even shortening an sgrS variant from eight Ts to six Ts generated less functional SgrS, implying that six Us is not long enough to produce a fully functional sRNA (Otaka et al., 2011). Because, from a structural perspective, the six U tail seems to be sufficient for binding to Hfq, a question remains what the role of extra U(s) plays in sRNA function in vivo. In addition, some sRNAs possess



a discontinuous U-rich tail disrupted with other nucleotides (Otaka et al., 2011; Morita et al., 2017). Effects of these discontinuities on the function and/or production of sRNAs also remain to be studied.

In contrast to a conserved polyT stretch, nucleotide sequences for the stem-loop structure seem not to be conserved between intrinsic terminators (Ishikawa et al., 2012; Morita et al., 2017). In fact, the SgrS sRNA was found to be fully functional with a heterologous terminator with a long polyU tail and hairpin stability approximately equal to that of the native terminator (Otaka et al., 2011). The stem-loop structure itself is critical for sRNA function, likely because without this structure termination efficiency is disrupted, resulting in 3'-extended transcripts. Nucleotide substitutions in the DsrA and RybB terminators that reduce thermodynamic stability of the stem were isolated as mutations affecting their function (Sledjeski and Gottesman, 1995; Balbontín et al., 2010). Consistent with the structure of Hfq specifically binding to the hydroxyl group at the 3'-end of the RNA *in vitro* (Sauer and Weichenrieder, 2011), a recent study found that read-through products of SgrS and RyhB with a polyU tract internal to the transcript did not bind Hfq *in vivo* (Morita et al., 2015). These findings suggest that 3'-extended transcripts resulting from read-through no longer function as sRNAs (**Figure 1Bii**). One sRNA, DicF, was reported to be produced both via termination and via 3'-processing by RNase III from a longer read-through transcript (Faubladier et al., 1990). However, a *dicF* coding region expressed from a plasmid and lacking the downstream processing site still generated functional DicF *in vivo* (Balasubramanian et al., 2016), suggesting that the intrinsic termination pathway is sufficient for the production of DicF, as with other sRNAs.

Another important feature of the terminator stem-loop structure is the strength of the stem, which affects the position of termination. A moderate but not too strong stem is needed to generate a polyU tail of seven nucleotides or longer. Extension of SgrS and RyhB terminator stems with additional G-C pairs resulted in premature termination and the generation of non-functional transcripts with polyU tails shorter than six (Morita et al., 2017; **Figure 1Biii**).

Based on the sRNAs studied thus far, the intrinsic terminators of sRNAs are expected to have unique features, forming a subset of the Rho-independent terminators in *E. coli* and possibly other bacteria. These features—a polyT stretch of seven or more and a moderate-strength stem-loop that enables termination after a stretch of seven or more Ts—can help in identifying potential Hfq-dependent sRNAs from genomic sequence analysis, and possibly help in distinguishing RNA transcripts that encode short proteins from those that have the potential to act as sRNAs. This would also be useful for the design and engineering of synthetic sRNAs for the control of specific gene expression. The absence of the critical characteristics for Hfq binding in the intrinsic terminators for mRNAs might prevent these mRNAs from binding to and blocking the proximal face of Hfq, where sRNAs must bind.

# Regulation of Rho-Independent Termination of sRNAs

A growing number of studies have found that sRNAs can be encoded upstream of ORFs, where the promoter upstream of the sRNA is responsible for expression of the downstream ORF. In these cases, expression of the ORF requires that transcription continue through the sRNA termination sequences, leading to a mRNA in which the embedded sRNA is non-functional. SgrS is co-transcribed with the downstream gene setA encoding a SET (sugar efflux transporter) family protein, although SgrS requires transcription termination at its own terminator for function (Sun and Vanderpool, 2011; Morita et al., 2015). SroC, one of the 3' derived Hfq-binding sRNAs, is encoded within the gltIJKL operon encoding a Glu/Asp ABC transporter and likely needs to terminate at its own Rho-independent terminator for function (Vogel et al., 2003; Miyakoshi et al., 2015a). Given that Rho-independent termination impacts functional sRNA production, the downstream genes are assumed to be expressed discordantly from these sRNAs. Although the biological significance of the discordant expression of sRNAs and the downstream genes remains to be determined, a recent study revealed that such discordant expression by internal Rhoindependent termination occurs frequently within operons and contributes to preferred expression levels for individual proteins (Lalanne et al., 2018).

Intriguingly, growing evidence suggests that the efficiency of transcription termination at Rho-independent terminators of sRNAs can be regulated by the same physiological and/or stress signals that induce initiation of sRNA transcription. Termination efficiency at the terminator for the DsrA sRNA, a positive regulator of RpoS translation, is increased at low temperature, where the *dsrA* promoter is most active (Sledjeski et al., 1996; **Figure 1C**). Similarly, an increase in termination efficiency at the SgrS and RyhB terminators was observed under conditions of both the cognate stress for transcriptional induction of these sRNAs and non-cognate stresses (Morita et al., 2015; **Figure 1D**). One can envision that this increase in termination efficiency would result in more effective production of sRNAs under specific conditions.

Previous studies on Rho-independent termination provide clues to the molecular mechanism by which Rho-independent termination is regulated. Lower levels of UTP nucleotide were found to improve transcription termination at several Rho-independent terminators in vitro (Farnham et al., 1982; McDowell et al., 1994). The density of RNA polymerase on an mRNA was found to influence the rate of transcription elongation/termination at Rho-independent terminators in vivo and in vitro, with higher transcription (more RNA polymerases) decreasing pausing and termination (Jacquet and Reiss, 1992; Epshtein and Nudler, 2003). Therefore, this linkage between promoter strength (transcription initiation) and termination provides a way in which stresses that decrease overall transcription activity on a given gene may result in increases in the termination efficiency. In addition, specific protein factors can be involved in regulation of Rhoindependent termination. NusA is an essential protein which affects termination efficiency at Rho-independent terminators in multiple ways, by contributing to RNA polymerase pausing and by helping form and stabilizing RNA structures upon termination (Nudler and Gottesman, 2002; Guo et al., 2018; Holmqvist and Vogel, 2018), and thus could regulate termination in response to stresses. Hfq can be excluded as a candidate factor because it seems not to be involved in the termination at sRNA terminators (Morita et al., 2015).

Most in vivo experiments on Rho-independent termination have been carried out with protein-coding genes as templates. The situation at the sRNA terminators might be different from that at the mRNA terminators because the protein-coding genes are typically longer than sRNA genes. For instance, for short sRNA-encoding transcripts, dissociation of the sigma factor from the RNA polymerase, usually assumed to occur soon after transcription initiation, might not occur before the polymerase reaches the intrinsic terminator, possibly changing the efficiency of termination. A recent long-read RNA sequencing strategy enabled analysis of intact transcripts and revealed that the degree of readthrough of several mRNA terminators also varied between growth conditions (Yan et al., 2018). A critical question for future investigation will be how Rho-independent terminators are modulated and whether these mechanisms of modulation are specific to sRNA terminators, or also affect those for mRNAs.

# RHO-DEPENDENT TRANSCRIPTION TERMINATION

In *E. coli*, 20–30% of transcription events are terminated in a Rho-dependent manner [(Peters et al., 2009, 2012); reviewed in Roberts (in press)]. While Rho is generally not used to form the 3' ends of regulatory sRNAs, its ability to terminate mRNAs can be regulated by sRNAs.

Transcription termination factor Rho is an ATP-dependent RNA helicase/translocase, which can bind to a sequence motif

called the Rho utilization (rut) site on the nascent transcript, translocate along the naked RNA and dissociate the elongation complex to terminate transcription (Grylak-Mielnicka et al., 2016; Ray-Soni et al., 2016). A typical rut site is a single-stranded, ribosome-free, cytosine-rich/low-guanine RNA sequence with a length of  $\sim$ 60-80 nucleotides. Thus, molecular or cellular processes that change ribosome occupancy on mRNA or the single-stranded nature of an RNA stretch at or adjacent to the rut site may regulate Rho's function. Rho forms a homohexamer ring, and uses its N-terminal OB-like protein fold to bind cytosine-rich sequences, while a region near the C-terminal part of the protein binds to the RNA threaded in the channel; the latter binding event activates Rho's ATPase activity, driving its translocation (Skordalakes and Berger, 2006). Several models of Rho-dependent transcription termination have been proposed (Peters et al., 2011; Ray-Soni et al., 2016), but the molecular details in terms of the mechanism of Rho translocation and RNA polymerase dissociation on Rho-dependent terminators remain to be fully determined. In vitro approaches to study Rho-dependent termination and its regulation by sRNAs have been recently described (Nadiras et al., 2018). In vivo approaches primarily depend on defining Rho-dependent termination with Rho-specific inhibitors such as bicyclomycin, and evaluating effects of sRNAs on mRNA expression by measuring readthrough products with reporter assays, quantitative PCR or deep sequencing (Hussein et al., 2015; Elgamal et al., 2016; Sedlyarova et al., 2016).

#### Rho-Dependent Transcription Termination Affected by sRNAs and RNA-Binding Proteins

Rho-dependent termination at the 3' end of protein-coding genes is well documented, and this process is not believed to be significantly regulated. Rho can also terminate transcription inside genes and within operons, and this is likely a highly regulated process given the fact that the translation status of mRNAs can directly affect Rho access to *rut* sites inside coding sequences (Adhya and Gottesman, 1978). Genome-wide analysis of RNA Polymerase redistribution in the presence of the Rhospecific inhibitor bicyclomycin (BCM) found that Rho terminates transcription intragenically within ~100 genes (Peters et al., 2009, 2012). The observation of such intragenic termination sites raised the possibility that factors that can affect translation, such as sRNAs or RNA-binding proteins, may regulate Rho-dependent termination at these sites.

A seminal study documented sRNA-mediated regulation of Rho-dependent termination in *Salmonella* (Bossi et al., 2012). ChiX is an Hfq-dependent sRNA that can bind to the *chiP* mRNA, encoding the outer membrane channel (porin) for chitosugars, at its ribosome binding site, inhibit translation and trigger *chiP* mRNA decay (Figueroa-Bossi et al., 2009). Interestingly, ChiX-mediated translation inhibition has a secondary effect. By blocking entry of ribosomes on *chiP* mRNA, ChiX binding exposes an intragenic *rut* site for Rho loading, leading to premature termination of transcription inside the *chiP* coding sequence (**Figure 2A**). This regulation not only reinforces the inhibition of *chiP* translation but also leads to a polarity effect, inhibiting expression of the downstream chiQ gene in the same operon (Bossi et al., 2012). When chitosugars are available and thus the transporter is needed, ChiX is destroyed by interaction with an RNA decoy, induced dependent on chitosugar sensing (Figueroa-Bossi et al., 2009; Overgaard et al., 2009). Therefore, regulation coordinates with other transcriptional circuits to ensure genes responsible for utilization of chitin-derived oligosaccharides are switched on only when chitosugars are present. In a second example, the E. coli Spot 42 sRNA base pairs with the galK leader, the third gene in the galETKM operon, resulting in translational inhibition of galK as well as an increased Rho-dependent transcription termination, possibly by interfering with translational coupling between ribosomes translating through *galT* with those initiating translation of galK, and thus allowing Rho access (Wang et al., 2015; Figure 2A). This type of regulation allows discoordinate expression of operon genes in response to metabolic needs of the cells.

In the cases described above, sRNAs facilitate Rho access to rut sites by interfering with mRNA translation, consistent with the consensus that mRNA sequences devoid of translating ribosomes are preferable targets for Rho binding and regulation. However, sRNAs can also positively regulate genes, raising the possibility that in some cases, sRNAs might antagonize Rho function by blocking Rho binding and termination. In addition to the 3' end of genes and the intragenic regions containing rut sites, long 5' UTRs (>80 nt) of mRNAs are another reservoir of potential sites for Rho-dependent termination. Transcriptomic analyses of RNA samples from E. coli treated with sublethal concentrations of Rho inhibitor BCM (Sedlyarova et al., 2016) suggested that, out of the 1,200 5' UTRs longer than 80 nts, at least 250 were targets for Rho-dependent termination. One such 5' UTR is the 567 nt leader of rpoS, an mRNA known to be positively regulated by sRNAs (Battesti et al., 2011). In-depth analysis of regulation in the rpoS 5' UTR revealed that the three base-pairing sRNAs (RprA, DsrA, and ArcZ) that activate rpoS mRNA translation can antagonize Rho-dependent premature termination in the rpoS leader (Sedlyarova et al., 2016; Figure 2B). Such a regulatory mechanism is likely not limited to rpoS, but may apply to many other putative targets of these three sRNAs, as well as other positively regulated mRNAs. As optimal growth of E. coli in the stationary stress condition relies on expression of the stationary sigma factor RpoS, the sRNA-mediated upregulation of RpoS production both via increasing ribosome entry and via anti-Rho-dependent premature termination provides an important way for sRNAs to contribute to the response to stress.

In another example of an sRNA preventing Rho-dependent termination, the *Salmonella* SraL sRNA was reported to base-pair with the leader for *rho* mRNA, protecting it from transcription attenuation and thus increasing levels of full-length *rho* mRNA (Silva et al., 2019; **Figure 2B**). While the physiological role of this regulatory interaction is not known, it raises the possibility that under certain conditions the cell might modulate Rho levels and thus Rho-dependent termination via the SraL sRNA. For both the *rpoS* and *rho* leader, it is still not clear how



sRNA binding prevents Rho-dependent premature termination. In both cases, the sRNA binds upstream of the RBS site, and in the absence of corresponding sRNAs, Rho can prematurely terminate transcription in the leader. Therefore, it is very likely that sRNA blocks Rho loading by occluding a *rut* site, either directly by overlapping the site, or indirectly via RNA structure rearrangements. The latter regulatory mechanism is exploited by the *E. coli* CsrA RNA-binding protein in regulating *pgaABCD* operon expression (Figueroa-Bossi et al., 2014). *pgaA* mRNA is prematurely terminated in its leader in a Rho-dependent manner, and this regulation relies on CsrA binding to a region in the long *pgaA* leader; CsrA binding refolds the *pgaA* leader, exposing an intragenic *rut* site for Rho binding to prematurely terminate transcription.

In addition to the role of Hfq in chaperoning sRNA stability and function, sRNA-independent roles of Hfq also have been reported (Wagner and Romby, 2015; Chen and Gottesman, 2017). Rabhi et al. (2011) elegantly demonstrated that Hfq, as a general RNA-binding protein, can antagonize Rho-dependent transcription termination at a prototypical terminator ( $\lambda$ tR1) both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The antitermination activity of Hfq depends on (1) its distal face binding to an A-rich sequence motif upstream of *rut* sites in  $\lambda$ tR1, and (2) physical interaction of Hfq with Rho protein; this interaction can block Rho binding to other proteins, such as NusG, which has been shown to stimulate Rho termination at some terminators (Mitra et al., 2017). In this case, Hfq directly modulates Rho's RNA-DNA unwinding activity, rather than simply blocking access of Rho to RNA. Such a regulation is distinct from the roles that sRNAs and CsrA play in regulating Rho access to RNAs. Nonetheless, these reports of both negative and positive regulation of Rho-dependent termination by Hfq-dependent sRNAs or RNA-binding proteins reinforce the idea that RNA-based regulation of termination is widely exploited by bacteria.

### Autoregulation of Rho

Rho is an abundant protein in many bacteria, including *E. coli* (Grylak-Mielnicka et al., 2016). It is autoregulated through a transcription attenuation mechanism at its own leader in *E. coli* and in other bacteria (Barik et al., 1985; Matsumoto et al., 1986; Ingham et al., 1999), emphasizing the importance of cells maintaining an appropriate level of Rho and presumably of Rho-dependent termination. In *Rhodobacter capsulatus*, Rho is significantly induced under anaerobic growth (Jäger et al., 2004), suggesting a role of Rho in response to changing environments. The recent finding of an sRNA, SraL, that regulates Rho expression, described above (Silva et al., 2019), further highlights the likelihood that cells adjust termination under some conditions by adjusting Rho availability.

### SUMMARY AND ISSUES FOR THE FUTURE

sRNA research in the last 20 years have led to a growing appreciation of the ways in which small regulatory RNAs

participate in stress circuits in bacteria. In the simplest terms, a sRNA will be induced in response to a stress, and it will pair and regulate the expression of mRNAs encoding proteins that help the cell deal with stress, and will thus contribute in significant ways to the recovery from the stress (Holmqvist and Wagner, 2017; Fröhlich and Gottesman, 2018). Here we have reviewed recent studies that highlight the complexity of this process and its intersection with transcription termination. In particular:

- While transcription initiation remains the most important contributor to sRNA synthesis and accumulation, proper termination of the sRNA transcript is equally important for its function. The requirements for efficient termination and binding of the nascent sRNA to Hfq have likely selected for particular characteristics of intrinsic terminators for sRNAencoding genes.
- 2) Recent work shows that the efficiency of proper intrinsic termination at sRNA terminators can be changed by cellular stress, by mechanisms still to be explored. It remains to be determined if these changes in termination affect intrinsic termination in general or are specific to sRNA terminators. For sRNAs, however, stress that changes the efficiency of termination will affect the fraction of transcripts that become functional sRNAs. This provides new insight into the mechanism of Rho-independent termination, which has been considered a simple, unregulated process.
- 3) Rho-dependent termination requires access of Rho to singlestranded RNA, and thus sRNAs that block translation may open up Rho entry sites within genes, reinforcing negative regulation of the mRNAs. sRNA binding to otherwise untranslated RNAs (for instance, in 5' UTRs) can positively regulate downstream ORFs by blocking Rho entry.

The extent and importance of these levels of regulation are just beginning to be realized. Much still remains to be addressed to fully understand the effect of sRNAs on transcription termination. Unlike translational repression and

#### mRNA degradation, effects on termination must occur rapidly, during the transcription process. This suggests that sRNA pairing with mRNAs must be happening co-transcriptionally; how often does that happen? Are there properties of the particular mRNAs, sRNAs, or transcriptional machinery that will favor this? In addition to the trans-acting sRNAs discussed here, the cis-regulatory riboswitches can also control gene expression through modulation of Rho-dependent transcription termination (Hollands et al., 2012; Proshkin et al., 2014; Bastet et al., 2018). It seems likely that, in addition to uncovering new levels of stress regulation, these studies may lead to a deeper understanding of transcription termination itself.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors contributed equally and directly to the preparation of this review, and all approved it for publication.

### FUNDING

Funding for preparation of this review: Intramural Research Program of the NIH, National Cancer Institute, Center for Cancer Research funding to SG and JC. Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI (grant number 17KK0146) to TM.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank H. Aiba, M. Miyakoshi, T. Updegrove, K. Kavita, K. Ramamurthi, G. Storz, and S. Melamed for their comments on the manuscript. Preparation of this review was supported in part by the Intramural Research Program of the NIH, National Cancer Institute, Center for Cancer Research, and by the Japan Society for the Promotion of Science KAKENHI (grant number 17KK0146) to TM. JC acknowledges support from NCI Director's Intramural Innovation Awards 479434 and 602936.

### REFERENCES

- Adhya, S., and Gottesman, M. (1978). Control of transcription termination. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 47, 967–996. doi: 10.1146/annurev.bi.47.070178.004535
- Arimbasseri, A. G., Rijal, K., and Maraia, R. J. (2013). Transcription termination by the eukaryotic RNA polymerase III. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1829, 318–330. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2012.10.006
- Balasubramanian, D., Ragunathan, P. T., Fei, J., and Vanderpool, C. K. (2016). A prophage-encoded small rna controls metabolism and cell division in *Escherichia coli. mSystems* 1:e00021-15. doi: 10.1128/mSystems.00021-15
- Balbontín, R., Fiorini, F., Figueroa-Bossi, N., Casadesús, J., and Bossi, L. (2010). Recognition of heptameric seed sequence underlies multi-target regulation by RybB small RNA in *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 78, 380–394. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07342.x
- Barik, S., Bhattacharya, P., and Das, A. (1985). Autogenous regulation of transcription termination factor Rho. J. Mol. Biol. 182, 495–508. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(85)90236-0
- Bastet, L., Turcotte, P., Wade, J. T., and Lafontaine, D. A. (2018). Maestro of regulation: riboswitches orchestrate gene expression at the levels of

translation, transcription and mRNA decay. RNA Biol. 15, 679–682. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2018.1451721

- Battesti, A., Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2011). The RpoS-mediated general stress response in *Escherichia coli. Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 65, 189–213. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090110-102946
- Bobrovskyy, M., and Vanderpool, C. K. (2014). The small RNA SgrS: roles in metabolism and pathogenesis of enteric bacteria. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 4:61. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00061
- Bossi, L., Schwartz, A., Guillemardet, B., Boudvillain, M., and Figueroa-Bossi, N. (2012). A role for Rho-dependent polarity in gene regulation by a noncoding small RNA. *Genes. Dev.* 26, 1864–1873. doi: 10.1101/gad. 195412.112
- Chao, Y., and Vogel, J. (2010). The role of Hfq in bacterial pathogens. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 13, 24–33. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2010.01.001
- Chen, J., and Gottesman, S. (2017). Hfq links translation repression to stress-induced mutagenesis in *E. coli. Genes. Dev.* 31, 1382–1395. doi: 10.1101/gad.302547.117
- Chen, Y. J., Liu, P., Nielsen, A. A., Brophy, J. A., Clancy, K., Peterson, T. (2013). Characterization of 582 natural and synthetic terminators and quantification

of their design constraints. Nat. Methods 10, 659-664. doi: 10.1038/nmeth. 2515

- d'Aubenton Carafa, Y., Brody, E., and Thermes, C. (1990). Prediction of rho-independent *Escherichia coli* transcription terminators. A statistical analysis of their RNA stem-loop structures. *J. Mol. Biol.* 216, 835–858. doi: 10.1016/S0022-2836(99)80005-9
- Elgamal, S., Artsimovitch, I., and Ibba, M. (2016). Maintenance of transcription-translation coupling by elongation factor P. *mBio* 7:e01373-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01373-16
- Epshtein, V., and Nudler, E. (2003). Cooperation between RNA polymerase molecules in transcription elongation. *Science* 300, 801–805. doi: 10.1126/science.1083219
- Farnham, P. J., Greenblatt, J., and Platt, T. (1982). Effects of NusA protein on transcription termination in the tryptophan operon of *Escherichia coli*. Cell 29, 945–951. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(82)90457-3
- Faubladier, M., Cam, K., and Bouché, J. P. (1990). Escherichia coli cell division inhibitor DicF-RNA of the dicB operon. Evidence for its generation *in vivo* by transcription termination and by RNase III and RNase E-dependent processing. J. Mol. Biol. 212, 461–471. doi: 10.1016/0022-2836(90)90325-G
- Figueroa-Bossi, N., Schwartz, A., Guillemardet, B., D'Heygère, F., Bossi, L., and Boudvillain, M. (2014). RNA remodeling by bacterial global regulator CsrA promotes Rho-dependent transcription termination. *Genes. Dev.* 28, 1239–1251. doi: 10.1101/gad.240192.114
- Figueroa-Bossi, N., Valentini, M., Malleret, L., Fiorini, F., and Bossi, L. (2009). Caught at its own game: regulatory small RNA inactivated by an inducible transcript mimicking its target. *Genes. Dev.* 23, 2004–2015. doi: 10.1101/gad.541609
- Fröhlich, K. S., and Gottesman, S. (2018). Small Regulatory RNAs in the enterobacterial response to envelope damage and oxidative stress. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 6:22. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.RWR-0022-2018
- Grylak-Mielnicka, A., Bidnenko, V., Bardowski, J., and Bidnenko, E. (2016). Transcription termination factor Rho: a hub linking diverse physiological processes in bacteria. *Microbiology* 162, 433–447. doi: 10.1099/mic.0. 000244
- Guo, X., Myasnikov, A. G., Chen, J., Crucifix, C., Papai, G., Takacs, M. (2018). Structural basis for NusA stabilized transcriptional pausing. *Mol. Cell* 69, 816–827. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2018.02.008
- Hollands, K., Proshkin, S., Sklyarova, S., Epshtein, V., Mironov, A., and Nudler, E. (2012). Riboswitch control of Rho-dependent transcription termination. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 5376–5381. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1112211109
- Holmqvist, E., and Vogel, J. (2018). RNA-binding proteins in bacteria. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16, 601–615. doi: 10.1038/s41579-01 8-0049-5
- Holmqvist, E., and Wagner, E. G. H. (2017). Impact of bacterial sRNAs in stress responses. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 45, 1203–1212. doi: 10.1042/BST20 160363
- Holmqvist, E., Wright, P. R., Li, L., Bischler, T., Barquist, L., and Reinhardt, R. (2016). Global RNA recognition patterns of post-transcriptional regulators Hfq and CsrA revealed by UV crosslinking *in vivo*. *EMBO*. J. 35, 991–1011. doi: 10.15252/embj.201593360
- Hussein, R., Lee, T. Y., and Lim, H. N. (2015). Quantitative characterization of gene regulation by Rho dependent transcription termination. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1849, 940–954. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2015.05.003
- Ingham, C. J., Dennis, J., and Furneaux, P. A. (1999). Autogenous regulation of transcription termination factor Rho and the requirement for Nus factors in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 31, 651–663. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01205.x
- Ishikawa, H., Otaka, H., Maki, K., Morita, T., and Aiba, H. (2012). The functional Hfq-binding module of bacterial sRNAs consists of a double or single hairpin preceded by a U-rich sequence and followed by a 3' poly(U) tail. RNA 18, 1062–1074. doi: 10.1261/rna.031575.111
- Jacquet, M. A., and Reiss, C. (1992). *In vivo* control of promoter and terminator efficiencies at a distance. *Mol. Microbiol.* 6, 1681–1691. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1992.tb00893.x
- Jäger, S., Hebermehl, M., Schiltz, E., and Klug, G. (2004). Composition and activity of the Rhodobacter capsulatus degradosome vary under different oxygen concentrations. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 7, 148–154. doi: 10.1159/000078658

- Kavita, K., de Mets, F., and Gottesman, S. (2018). New aspects of RNA-based regulation by Hfq and its partner sRNAs. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 42, 53–61. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.10.014
- Lalanne, J. B., Taggart, J. C., Guo, M. S., Herzel, L., Schieler, A., and Li, G. W. (2018). Evolutionary convergence of pathway-specific enzyme expression stoichiometry. *Cell* 173, 749–761. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.007
- Livny, J., and Waldor, M. K. (2007). Identification of small RNAs in diverse bacterial species. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 10, 96–101. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2007.03.005
- Maier, L. K., and Marchfelder, A. (2019). It's all about the T: transcription termination in archaea. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 47, 461–468. doi: 10.1042/BST20180557
- Massé E., Escorcia, F. E., and Gottesman, S. (2003). Coupled degradation of a small regulatory RNA and its mRNA targets in *Escherichia coli. Genes. Dev.* 17, 2374–2383. doi: 10.1101/gad.1127103
- Massé E., and Gottesman, S. (2002). A small RNA regulates the expression of genes involved in iron metabolism in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 4620–4625. doi: 10.1073/pnas.032066599
- Matsumoto, Y., Shigesada, K., Hirano, M., and Imai, M. (1986). Autogenous regulation of the gene for transcription termination factor Rho in *Escherichia coli*: localization and function of its attenuators. *J. Bacteriol.* 166, 945–958. doi: 10.1128/jb.166.3.945-958.1986
- McDowell, J. C., Roberts, J. W., Jin, D. J., and Gross, C. (1994). Determination of intrinsic transcription termination efficiency by RNA polymerase elongation rate. *Science* 266, 822–825. doi: 10.1126/science.7526463
- Melamed, S., Peer, A., Faigenbaum-Romm, R., Gatt, Y. E., Reiss, N., Bar, A., Altuvia, Y., Argaman, L., and Margalit, H. (2016). Global mapping of Small RNA-target interactions in bacteria. *Mol. Cell* 63, 884–897. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2016.07.026
- Mitra, P., Ghosh, G., Hafeezunnisa, M., and Sen, R. (2017). Rho protein: roles and mechanisms. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 71, 687–709. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-030117-020432
- Miyakoshi, M., Chao, Y., and Vogel, J. (2015a). Cross talk between ABC transporter mRNAs via a target mRNA-derived sponge of the GcvB small RNA. *EMBO*. J. 34, 1478–1492. doi: 10.15252/embj.201490546
- Miyakoshi, M., Chao, Y., and Vogel, J. (2015b). Regulatory small RNAs from the 3' regions of bacterial mRNAs. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 24, 132–139. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2015.01.013
- Morita, T., Nishino, R., and Aiba, H. (2017). Role of the terminator hairpin in the biogenesis of functional Hfq-binding sRNAs. *RNA* 23, 1419–1431. doi: 10.1261/rna.060756.117
- Morita, T., Ueda, M., Kubo, K., and Aiba, H. (2015). Insights into transcription termination of Hfq-binding sRNAs of *Escherichia coli* and characterization of readthrough products. *RNA* 21, 1490–1501. doi: 10.1261/rna.051870.115
- Nadiras, C., Schwartz, A., Delaleau, M., and Boudvillain, M. (2018). Evaluating the effect of small RNAs and associated chaperones on Rho-dependent termination of transcription *in vitro*. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 1737, 99–118. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7634-8\_7
- Nudler, E., and Gottesman, M. E. (2002). Transcription termination and antitermination in *E. coli. Genes Cells :Devoted Mol. Cell. Mechan.* 7, 755–768. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002.00563.x
- Otaka, H., Ishikawa, H., Morita, T., and Aiba, H. (2011). PolyU tail of rhoindependent terminator of bacterial small RNAs is essential for Hfq action. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 13059–13064. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1107050108
- Overgaard, M., Johansen, J., Møller-Jensen, J., and Valentin-Hansen, P. (2009). Switching off small RNA regulation with trap-mRNA. *Mol. Microbiol.* 73, 790–800. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06807.x
- Panja, S., Schu, D. J., and Woodson, S. A. (2013). Conserved arginines on the rim of Hfq catalyze base pair formation and exchange. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 7536–7546. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt521
- Papenfort, K., Sun, Y., Miyakoshi, M., Vanderpool, C. K., and Vogel, J. (2013). Small RNA-mediated activation of sugar phosphatase mRNA regulates glucose homeostasis. *Cell* 153, 426–437. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2013.03.003
- Peters, J. M., Mooney, R. A., Grass, J. A., Jessen, E. D., Tran, F., and Landick, R. (2012). Rho and NusG suppress pervasive antisense transcription in *Escherichia coli. Genes Dev.* 26, 2621–2633. doi: 10.1101/gad.196741.112
- Peters, J. M., Mooney, R. A., Kuan, P. F., Rowland, J. L., Keles, S., and Landick, R. (2009). Rho directs widespread termination of intragenic and

stable RNA transcription. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 106, 15406–15411. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903846106

- Peters, J. M., Vangeloff, A. D., and Landick, R. (2011). Bacterial transcription terminators: the RNA 3'-end chronicles. J. Mol. Biol. 412, 793–813. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2011.03.036
- Proshkin, S., Mironov, A., and Nudler, E. (2014). Riboswitches in regulation of Rho-dependent transcription termination. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1839, 974–977. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2014.04.002
- Rabhi, M., Espéli, O., Schwartz, A., Cayrol, B., Rahmouni, A. R., and Arluison, V. (2011). The Sm-like RNA chaperone Hfq mediates transcription antitermination at Rho-dependent terminators. *EMBO J.* 30, 2805–2816. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.192
- Ray-Soni, A., Bellecourt, M. J., and Landick, R. (2016). Mechanisms of bacterial transcription termination: all good things must end. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 85, 319–347. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-060815-014844
- Roberts, J. W. (in press). Mechanisms of bacterial transcription termination. *J. Mol. Biol.* doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2019.04.003
- Robinson, K. E., Orans, J., Kovach, A. R., Link, T. M., and Brennan, R. G. (2014). Mapping Hfq-RNA interaction surfaces using tryptophan fluorescence quenching. *Nucleic Acids Res* 42, 2736–2749. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1171
- Sauer, E., and Weichenrieder, O. (2011). Structural basis for RNA 3'-end recognition by Hfq. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 108, 13065–13070. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103420108
- Schu, D. J., Zhang, A., Gottesman, S., and Storz, G. (2015). Alternative HfqsRNA interaction modes dictate alternative mRNA recognition. *EMBO J.* 34, 2557–2573. doi: 10.15252/embj.201591569
- Sedlyarova, N., Shamovsky, I., Bharati, B. K., Epshtein, V., Chen, J., Gottesman, S., Schroeder, R., and Nudler, E. (2016). sRNA-mediated control of transcription termination in *E. coli. Cell* 167, 111–121. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.09.004
- Silva, I. J., Barahona, S., Eyraud, A., Lalaouna, D., Figueroa-Bossi, N., and Mass, E. (2019). SraL sRNA interaction regulates the terminator by preventing premature transcription termination of rho mRNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 116, 3042–3051 doi: 10.1073/pnas.1811589116
- Skordalakes, E., and Berger, J. M. (2006). Structural insights into RNA-dependent ring closure and ATPase activation by the Rho termination factor. *Cell* 127, 553–564. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.051
- Sledjeski, D., and Gottesman, S. (1995). A small RNA acts as an antisilencer of the H-NS-silenced rcsA gene of *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2003–2007. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.6.2003
- Sledjeski, D. D., Gupta, A., and Gottesman, S. (1996). The small RNA, DsrA, is essential for the low temperature expression of RpoS during

exponential growth in *Escherichia coli. EMBO J.* 15, 3993–4000. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00773.x

- Storz, G., Vogel, J., and Wassarman, K. M. (2011). Regulation by small RNAs in bacteria: expanding frontiers. *Mol. Cell* 43, 880–891. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.08.022
- Sun, Y., and Vanderpool, C. K. (2011). Regulation and function of *Escherichia coli* sugar efflux transporter A (SETA) during glucose-phosphate stress. *J. Bacteriol.* 193, 143–153. doi: 10.1128/JB.01008-10
- Updegrove, T. B., Zhang, A., and Storz, G. (2016). Hfq: the flexible RNA matchmaker. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 30, 133–138. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2016.02.003
- Vogel, J., Bartels, V., Tang, T. H., Churakov, G., Slagter-Jäger, J. G., and Hüttenhofer, A. (2003). RNomics in *Escherichia coli* detects new sRNA species and indicates parallel transcriptional output in bacteria. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 31, 6435–6443. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkg867
- Vogel, J., and Luisi, B. F. (2011). Hfq and its constellation of RNA. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 15, 578–589. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2615
- Wagner, E. G. H., and Romby, P. (2015). Small RNAs in bacteria and archaea: who they are, what they do, and how they do it. *Adv. Genet.* 90, 133–208. doi: 10.1016/bs.adgen.2015.05.001
- Wang, X., Ji, S. C., Jeon, H. J., Lee, Y., and Lim, H. M. (2015). Two-level inhibition of galK expression by Spot 42: degradation of mRNA mK2 and enhanced transcription termination before the galK gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 7581–7586. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424683112
- Yan, B., Boitano, M., Clark, T. A., and Ettwiller, L. (2018). SMRT-Cappableseq reveals complex operon variants in bacteria. *Nat. Commun.* 9:3676. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05997-6

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

At least a portion of this work is authored by Jiandong Chen and Susan Gottesman on behalf of the U.S. Government and, as regards Drs. Chen and Gottesman and the U.S. Government, is not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Foreign and other copyrights may apply. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# **Regulated Proteolysis in Vibrio** cholerae Allowing Rapid Adaptation to Stress Conditions

Nina Pennetzdorfer<sup>1</sup>, Mareike Lembke<sup>1†</sup>, Katharina Pressler<sup>1†</sup>, Jyl S. Matson<sup>2</sup>, Joachim Reidl<sup>1,3</sup> and Stefan Schild<sup>1,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Institute of Molecular Microbiology, University of Graz, Graz, Austria, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, University of Toledo College of Medicine and Life Sciences, Toledo, OH, United States, <sup>3</sup> BioTechMed Graz, Graz, Austria

The lifecycle of the causative agent of the severe secretory diarrheal disease cholera, Vibrio cholerae, is characterized by the transition between two dissimilar habitats, i.e., as a natural inhabitant of aquatic ecosystems and as a pathogen in the human gastrointestinal tract. Vibrio cholerae faces diverse stressors along its lifecycle, which require effective adaptation mechanisms to facilitate the survival fitness. Not surprisingly, the pathogen's transcriptome undergoes global changes during the different stages of the lifecycle. Moreover, recent evidence indicates that several of the transcription factors (i.e., ToxR, TcpP, and ToxT) and alternative sigma factors (i.e., FliA, RpoS, and RpoE) involved in transcriptional regulations along the lifecycle are controlled by regulated proteolysis. This post-translational control ensures a fast strategy by the pathogen to control cellular checkpoints and thereby rapidly respond to changing conditions. In this review, we discuss selected targets for regulated proteolysis activated by various stressors, which represent a key feature for fast adaptation of V. cholerae.

Keywords: post-translational regulation, stressor, Lon, Clp, DegS, DegP YaeL, tail-specific protease

### A BRIEF SURVEY OF REGULATORY EVENTS ALONG Vibrio cholerae's LIFECYCLE

Vibrio cholerae spends much of its lifecycle outside of the host in estuarine and costal aquatic reservoirs with a geographical range from tropics to temperate waters world-wide. Along its interepidemic persistence in the aquatic reservoirs, V. cholerae faces temperature shifts, osmotic stress, bacterivorous predators and nutrient limitation (Lutz et al., 2013; List et al., 2018). Vibrio cholerae employs several strategies to cope with these numerous stressors. In particular, biofilm formation has been highlighted as a key factor for environmental survival and transmission of V. cholerae (comprehensively reviewed in Yildiz and Visick, 2009; Teschler et al., 2015). A central player of biofilm regulation is the transcriptional repressor HapR, which acts negatively on biofilm formation via repression of exopolysaccharide synthesis. Additionally, HapR is a quorum sensing key regulator affecting virulence factor expression and natural competence (Ng and Bassler, 2009). Since transcription of hapR is also activated by the alternative sigma factor RpoS, the pathways mentioned above are regulated by central physiological signals, like cell density, or carbon concentration. Biofilm-associated bacteria are generally better protected against host-derived stressors ranging from digestive enzymes, acidic pH to antimicrobial substances and exhibit hyperinfectivity in the murine model (Tamayo et al., 2010; Seper et al., 2011). Thus, biofilm clumps

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Vincenzo Scarlato, University of Bologna, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Torsten Waldminghaus, University of Marburg, Germany Eric Krukonis, University of Detroit Mercy. United States

> \*Correspondence: Stefan Schild stefan.schild@uni-graz.at

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbioloav

> Received: 26 March 2019 Accepted: 03 June 2019 Published: 21 June 2019

#### Citation:

Pennetzdorfer N, Lembke M, Pressler K, Matson JS, Reidl J and Schild S (2019) Regulated Proteolysis in Vibrio cholerae Allowing Rapid Adaptation to Stress Conditions. Front, Cell, Infect, Microbiol, 9:214. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00214

are a likely form by which clinically relevant *V. cholerae* initiate outbreaks (Colwell et al., 2003; Hall-Stoodley and Stoodley, 2005).

Upon oral ingestion, *V. cholerae* passages through the stomach to finally reach the small intestine, representing the primary site of colonization. Intestinal stimuli induce expression of virulence factors such as the toxin coregulated pilus (TCP) and the cholera toxin (CTX) (Childers and Klose, 2007; Matson et al., 2007). TCP represents the main colonization factor responsible for adherence to epithelial cells, while CTX constitutively activates adenylate cyclase of the host, causing a massive water efflux into the intestinal lumen known as rice-water stool (Sharp et al., 1971; Burns et al., 1983; Miller et al., 1987; Taylor et al., 1987; Herrington et al., 1988; Fishmann, 1990).

The expression of virulence factors is controlled by a complex regulatory cascade. It includes the membrane-bound transcription complexes ToxR/S and TcpP/H as well as the cytosolic transcription factor ToxT (Childers and Klose, 2007). Most of the virulence factors, e.g., CTX and TCP, are regulated by the ToxT-dependent pathway in response to intestinal stimuli, such as temperature and sodium bicarbonate (Thomson and Withey, 2014; Weber et al., 2014). In addition, ToxR can directly regulate several genes independently of ToxT. For example, ToxR inversely regulates the expression of the porins OmpU and OmpT, which plays an essential role to achieve bile resistance and full colonization fitness *in vivo* (Provenzano and Klose, 2000).

Once adapted to the intestinal conditions, *V. cholerae* starts to massively proliferate and the patient develops a severe secretory diarrhea, releasing the bacteria back into the aquatic environment. Transcriptional control of a defined set of genes at the late stage of infection facilitates the transition of *V. cholerae* into the aquatic reservoir (Schild et al., 2007). Under these conditions HapR and RpoS coordinate a drastic shift in the gene expression profile also known as "mucosal escape response" (Nielsen et al., 2006).

As highlighted above, adaptation to diverse conditions along the lifecycle is achieved by spatio-temporal induction of gene expression. However, termination of a regulatory pathway could be equally important to facilitate transition to the next stage of the lifecycle. An effective way to remove factors involved in gene transcription is regulated proteolysis, comprising directed degradation of defined effectors by specific proteases (Mahmoud and Chien, 2018). Indeed, regulated proteolysis has been reported as a control mechanism for several transcriptional effectors (i.e., FliA, ToxR, TcpP, ToxT, RpoS, and RpoE) along the lifecycle of *V. cholerae* (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**), which will be discussed with an emphasis on the physiological impact and players involved.

# THE ALTERNATIVE SIGMA FACTOR FIA $(\sigma^{28})$ IS DEGRADED BY Lon

In addition to virulence factor expression, flagella-dependent motility contributes to virulence of *V. cholerae*. The single polar flagellum is required to approach and penetrate the mucosal layer of the intestinal epithelium (Freter and Jones, 1976; Freter and O'Brien, 1981; Lee et al., 2001; Butler and Camilli, 2005).

Entrance into the viscous mucosal layer puts substantial shear force on the rotating flagellum, which eventually breaks. As a result, the anti-sigma factor FlgM, usually bound to the alternative sigma factor FliA and preventing its association with the RNA polymerase, is released through the broken flagellar apparatus (Correa et al., 2004; Liu et al., 2008). Decreasing levels of FlgM result in derepression of FliA important for activation of flagella biosynthesis. Although this is an efficient feedback mechanism to sense damage of the flagellum and initiate its repair, it is dispensable in the in vivo setting once V. cholerae has penetrated through the mucosal layer. FliA inhibits virulence factor expression in V. cholerae by a so far unknown mechanism (Syed et al., 2009). Therefore, efficient removal of FliA from the cytosol is essential to allow full virulence expression in early stages of infection. A recent study demonstrated that FliA of V. cholerae is target for rapid proteolysis via the AAA+ (ATPase associated with a variety of cellular activities) protease Lon in the absence of its anti-sigma factor FlgM (Pressler et al., 2016). Under virulence-inducing conditions [i.e., in vitro cultivation using AKI conditions (Iwanaga and Yamamoto, 1985; Iwanaga et al., 1986)], the Lon-dependent proteolysis facilitates cholera toxin production in the presence of a damaged flagellum. Thus, the rapid removal of FliA via Lon provides a first molecular explanation for high virulence expression upon mucosal penetration at early stages of infection. Concordantly, FliA of Escherichia coli is also a target for Lon-mediated proteolysis and can be protected by the anti-sigma factor FlgM (Barembruch and Hengge, 2007). Thus, the FliA-FlgM-Lon feedback circuit could represent a conserved mechanism for correct flagella assembly and repair upon flagellar damage.

### REGULATED PROTEOLYSIS OF ToxR IS MEDIATED BY DegS, DegP AND RseP

Vibrio cholerae persistence and virulence are coordinated by a complex network that has been historically referred as the "ToxRregulon" (Matson et al., 2007). ToxR is a single component signal transduction regulator comprising the N-terminal winged helixturn-helix domain promoting DNA-binding, a transmembrane domain and the C-terminal periplasmic sensor domain (Miller et al., 1987). ToxR binds multiple AT-rich promoter proximal regions termed ToxR-boxes and is involved in transcriptional control of more than 100 genes (Miller et al., 1987; Bina et al., 2003; Goss et al., 2013). Molecular activation mechanisms for the membrane bound transcription factor ToxR are limited. Although, it has been recently shown that the transcriptional activation by the ToxR-like protein CadC in E. coli and binding to its operator sites, follows a model termed diffusion and capture mechanism (Brameyer et al., 2019). ToxR and TcpP (discussed below), together with their respective cotranscribed interaction partners ToxS and TcpH, are both required for maximal toxT expression, whereas ToxRS mediates outer membrane porin (OMP) expression directly (Higgins and DiRita, 1994; Häse and Mekalanos, 1998; Bina et al., 2003; Childers and Klose, 2007). The two major porins of V. cholerae, OmpT and OmpU are inversely regulated by



is controlled by the AAA+ proteases Lon and ClpXP. Additionally, the proteases DegS and RseP also act on the transmembrane anti-sigma factor RseA under envelope stress conditions, e.g., cellular or environmental changes, in order to release the alternative sigma factor RpoE to the cytosol, eventually to activate transcription of *degP*, *rpoE* itself or genes encoding for the T2SS. The alternative sigma factor RpoS is responsible to cope with starvation conditions, e.g., high (p)pGpp levels. At low levels of (p)pGpp, the anti-sigma factor RssB is bound to RpoS, leading to proteolysis mediated by ClpXP. At late stages of infection, RpoS is required to activate mucosal escape response by inducing the expression of chemotaxis and motility genes.

TABLE 1	Examples for	r regulated	proteolysis in l	/. cholerae	(for details see text).
---------	--------------	-------------	------------------	-------------	-------------------------

Target for proteolysis	Binding partners/(anti-)sigma factors	Protease(s) Physiological role/regulated pathways		Trigger for proteolysis	
FliA (σ <sup>28</sup> )	FlgM	Lon	Motility, virulence	Broken flagellum	
ToxR	ToxS	DegS, DegP, RseP	Persistence, virulence	Alkaline pH in combination with starvation	
ТсрР	ТсрН	Tsp, RseP	Virulence	Non-virulence-inducing conditions	
ToxT	-	ClpXP, Lon	Virulence	High temperature, alkaline pH	
RseA RpoS (σ <sup>S</sup> or σ <sup>38</sup> )	RpoE ( $\sigma^{E}$ or $\sigma^{24}$ ) RssB	DegS, RseP ClpXP	Envelope stress response Motility, chemotaxis, biofilm	Misfolded periplasmic protein Non-starvation condition	

ToxR. The *ompT* expression is repressed, whereby *ompU* is strongly induced by ToxR under nutrient rich conditions or bile salts (i.e., sodium deoxycholate), facilitating resistance toward antimicrobial compounds (Miller and Mekalanos, 1988; Provenzano et al., 2000; Mathur et al., 2007; Lembke et al., 2018). Unlike the remainder of the regulon, *ompT* is the only verified gene negatively regulated by ToxR and is derepressed under nutrient limiting conditions (Li et al., 2000). In general, *toxR* is constitutively expressed, environmental and stress stimuli may modulate the expression of ToxR regulated genes (Miller and Mekalanos, 1988). Molecular activation mechanisms for ToxR transcriptional activity are largely unknown. The two periplasmic cysteine residues (Cys236 and Cys293) of ToxR influence ToxR regulated gene expression. More specifically,

DsbAB-mediated intramolecular disulfide bond and homodimer formation increase ToxR transcription factor activity (Ottemann and Mekalanos, 1996; Fengler et al., 2012; Lembke et al., 2018). Interventions in these cysteine residues (e.g., cysteine to serine substitution, reducing conditions) decrease ToxR transcription factor activity and consequently abolish the ability of proper porin gene regulation, but does not affect *toxT* transcription (Fengler et al., 2012; Lembke et al., 2018). The cysteine-reduced ToxR is a trigger to stimulate site-1 mediated proteolysis by DegS and DegP, hence resulting in ToxR degradation, most effective in strains lacking *toxS* (Lembke et al., 2018). Regulated intramembrane proteolysis (RIP) control of ToxR seems to play a physiologically important role for *V. cholerae* to properly adapt to changing environmental conditions (Almagro-Moreno et al.,

2015a,b). Upon transition into a dormant stage in presence of unfavorable stress conditions, e.g., alkaline pH and nutrient limitation, ToxR becomes a substrate for RIP by the site-2 protease RseP (YaeL), which belongs to the RpoE response system (see below). ToxS also plays a major role in protecting ToxR from proteolysis under these conditions at late stationary phase (Almagro-Moreno et al., 2015b). A point mutation in ToxS (ToxS<sup>L33S</sup>) even triggers ToxR proteolysis comprising several site-1 proteases, including DegS, DegP, VesC, and TapA (Almagro-Moreno et al., 2015b). The two major routes of ToxR proteolysis, one responding toward the redox state and the other being sensitive to an alkaline pH and starvation, can be inhibited by bile salts, which are present in the human gut and are also known to strengthen ToxRS interaction (Midgett et al., 2017; Lembke et al., 2018). The RIP of ToxR is a highly versatile 2-step process, leading to a clearance of ToxR molecules and eventually to a termination of ToxR dependent gene regulation.

### TcpP IS A SUBSTRATE OF Tsp AND RseP PROTEASES

A second membrane-bound transcription factor that coordinates expression of toxT is TcpP. Like ToxR, TcpP is a bitopic protein containing a carboxy-terminal periplasmic domain and an amino-terminal cytoplasmic DNA-binding domain similar to transcription activators of the OmpR/PhoB-family (Martínez-Hackert and Stock, 1997). TcpP functions together with TcpH, a membrane protein that interacts with the periplasmic domain of TcpP. In order to activate transcription of toxT, ToxR recruits TcpP to the *toxT* promoter region through protein-protein interaction, where TcpP binds two pentameric repeats located between positions-53 and -38 relative to the toxT transcription start site (Krukonis and DiRita, 2003; Goss et al., 2010). TcpP levels in the bacterial cell are regulated both transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally. Upon entering the human intestine, environmental signals activate expression of *tcpPH* through AphA and AphB (Kovacikova and Skorupski, 1999; Skorupski and Taylor, 1999). Alternatively, under conditions that do not activate virulence gene expression, TcpP is degraded by RIP. The site-1 protease that first acts to cleave TcpP within its periplasmic domain is Tsp (tail-specific protease) (Teoh et al., 2015). Tsp is a serine protease that generally controls protein quality and gene regulation, and is rarely associated with RIP mechanisms. After the initial cleavage, TcpP becomes a substrate for the site-2 protease RseP, a membrane-localized metalloprotease that cuts within the transmembrane domain (Matson and DiRita, 2005). This cleavage and removal from the inner membrane inactivates TcpP, halting expression of toxT and downstream virulence genes. TcpP is normally protected from degradation through its interaction with TcpH under virulence-gene inducing conditions (Beck et al., 2004). Disruption of a periplasmic disulfide bond in TcpP results in instability of the protein, even in the presence of TcpH (Morgan et al., 2016). In addition, disruption of these periplasmic cysteines causes TcpH to also become unstable, suggesting a role for these intramolecular disulfide bonds in the TcpP-TcpH interaction (Morgan et al., 2016). Furthermore, transcriptionally active TcpP-homodimers are formed by an intermolecular disulfide bond via Cys207 in presence of the bile salt taurocholate (Yang et al., 2013). Heterodimers between TcpP and ToxR depend on the periplasmic thiol-disulfideoxidoreductase DsbA and are enhanced by anaerobic growth conditions resulting in virulence gene induction (Fan et al., 2014). It should be noted that the outcome of ToxR and TcpP RIP is unusual in that it functions to inactivate a membrane-bound regulator and halt transcription. In the case of the RpoE-pathway (see below) and others, RIP results in transcriptional activation of downstream genes.

# CIpXP AND Lon MEDIATE ToxT PROTEOLYSIS

ToxT was identified as a central transcription factor, activating expression of important virulence genes, e.g., encoding for TCP and CTX (DiRita and Mekalanos, 1991). ToxT is a crucial checkpoint, thereby its own synthesis is under complex control, i.e., by endogenous and exogenous factors as reviewed elsewhere (Weber and Klose, 2011). Exogenous signals negatively control ToxT activity, such as bile-derived unsaturated fatty acids (Plecha and Withey, 2015), or positively, like sodium carbonate (Thomson and Withey, 2014). Additionally, a 5' mRNA thermometer control element of toxT allows access of ribosomes to the Shine-Dalgarno sequence at 37°C, but not at 20°C (Weber et al., 2014). ToxT becomes a substrate for proteolysis during virulence gene expression, reducing ToxT protein half-life (Abuaita and Withey, 2011). Precise timing of ToxT activity is crucial for the colonization success, e.g., by determining the duration and intensity of virulence gene expression. This was best monitored under in vivo conditions (Lee et al., 1999) and by a microarray series performed on cells grown under virulence activating conditions in vitro analyzing 13 time points within a 6h period (Kanjilal et al., 2010). ToxT is part of a positive forward feedback loop and therefore positively autoregulated (Yu and DiRita, 1999). ToxT proteolysis is one mechanism to terminate its activity, which is mediated by AAA+ proteases including Lon, ClpXP, and others (Abuaita and Withey, 2011). Proteolytic instability of ToxT is regulated via stressors like high temperature and alkaline pH, and depends on an unstructured region located at amino acid positions 100-109 (Abuaita and Withey, 2011; Thomson et al., 2015). Thereby, ToxT itself harbors a protease sensitive response domain, which may trigger proteolysis depending on the listed exogenous conditions.

# THE RpoE (σ<sup>E</sup> OR σ<sup>24</sup>)-DEPENDENT STRESS RESPONSE REQUIRES PROTEOLYSIS BY DegS AND RseP

The periplasmic protease/chaperone DegP and the membrane embedded proteases DegS and RseP are essential to react to environmental and cellular changes in Gram-negative bacteria (reviewed by Alba and Gross, 2004; Rowley et al., 2006).

Regulated Proteolysis in Vibrio cholerae

They are part of the envelope stress response mediated by the alternative sigma factor RpoE, first described in E. coli upon high temperature conditions, exposure to ethanol, or the overproduction of OMPs (Erickson and Gross, 1989; Wang and Kaguni, 1989; Mecsas et al., 1993). In absence of such stimuli, the N-terminal cytoplasmic portion of the integral membrane bound anti-sigma factor RseA captures RpoE, retaining it to the inner membrane (De Las Peñas et al., 1997; Missiakas et al., 1997; Campbell et al., 2003). The stepwise cleavage of RseA is characteristic of RIP (Ehrmann and Clausen, 2004). The site-1 protease DegS senses misfolded C-terminal portions of OMPs with its PDZ-domain (Walsh et al., 2003; Wilken et al., 2004). In V. cholerae, OmpU is the essential stress sensor for membrane damaging and misfolded periplasmic proteins, e.g., in presence of antimicrobial peptides to activate a RpoE-dependent resistance. The signal transduction is based on the exposure of OmpU C-terminal YDF motifs, which interact with the PDZdomain of DegS and hence activate RpoE activity (Mathur et al., 2007). DegS is a member of the DegS/HtrA2-subfamily of oligomeric serine HtrA proteases that possesses an N-terminal transmembrane portion, a catalytic serine protease domain and a C-terminal PDZ-domain (Clausen et al., 2002). DegS is the only known protease targeting RseA in E. coli. Additionally, in V. cholerae DegS also finds the sulfide-thiol reduced ToxR as its substrate (Lembke et al., 2018). DegS is activated by the interaction between C-terminal OMP peptides and its PDZdomain. Refolding of DegS is induced resulting in proteolytic activity and the cleavage of RseA at its periplasmic portion, which triggers a second cut by the site-2 protease RseP at the cytoplasmic portion of RseA. RseP is a zinc metalloprotease of the inner membrane, harboring highly conserved HEXXH and LDG motifs and a PDZ-domain (Rudner et al., 1999; Kanehara et al., 2001; Drew et al., 2002). Eventually, RpoE is liberated into the cytoplasm where it assembles into the RNA polymerase holoenzyme. The first identified RpoE-dependent promoter in V. cholerae is located upstream of the rpoErseABC operon and harbors high similarity with consensus sequences of RpoEregulated promoters in E. coli (Kovacikova and Skorupski, 2002). Comparative microarray analyses of a rseA deletion strain and wild type (WT) indicate that *degP* is also under RpoE-control in V. cholerae (Ding et al., 2004). Additionally, in a degS deletion strain less RpoE is released from RseA and consequently the RpoE-response is decreased, resulting in significantly reduced transcription of *degP* compared to WT (Lembke et al., 2018).

DegP is a periplasmic heat-shock protein, which is highly conserved across species and can act as both chaperone and protease (Spiess et al., 1999). DegP belongs to the HtrA-family of PDZ-domain containing proteases (Kolmar et al., 1996; Krojer et al., 2008a). Its structure is formed by trimer subunits that assemble to proteolytically inactive hexamers (Krojer et al., 2002). In presence of unfolded protein substrates, active DegP builds up dodecamers or icosatetramers (Jiang et al., 2008; Krojer et al., 2008b).

The type II secretion system (T2SS) of *V. cholerae*, encoded by two different *eps* operons (Sandkvist, 2001), is required for the secretion of enzymes and cholera toxin into the environment (Korotkov et al., 2012). Interestingly, a deletion of *eps* genes causes outer membrane damage which in turn activates RpoEdependent response (Sikora et al., 2007). Furthermore, RpoE is also responsible for expression of the T2SS in *V. cholerae*, essential for release of important effectors along the lifecycle like the CTX or biofilm adhesion factors (Zielke et al., 2014). Concordantly, *rpoE* deletion strains are significantly attenuated in the murine model compared to WT (Kovacikova and Skorupski, 2002).

# THE ALTERNATIVE SIGMA FACTOR RpoS ( $\sigma^{S}$ OR $\sigma^{38}$ ) IS TARGETED BY THE CIpXP PROTEASE

RpoS is a hallmark of a proteolysis-controlled regulator and was mainly characterized in E. coli to be responsible to counteract starvation conditions (Hengge-Aronis, 2002). Degradation of RpoS is under control of its specific proteolysis targeting factor, termed RssB (Muffler et al., 1996), which is activated by the kinase ArcB (Mika and Hengge, 2005) leading to a proteolytic complex comprising ClpXP, phosphorylated RssB, and RpoS (Becker et al., 1999; Zhou et al., 2001; Stüdemann et al., 2003). Anti-adaptor proteins, termed Ira (inhibitor of RssB activity) are identified to block RssB activity, thus stabilizing RpoS. Ira proteins (Battesti et al., 2013) respond to specific physiological stress conditions (Hryckowian et al., 2014), as well as to the accumulation of intracellular metabolites (Battesti et al., 2015). In V. cholerae the role of RpoS is less clear as a rpoS-mutant only exhibits minor defects in intestinal colonization (Yildiz and Schoolnik, 1998; Merrell et al., 2000). However, the "mucosal escape" of V. cholerae at late stages of the infection depends on RpoS regulated gene expression (Nielsen et al., 2006). This phenotype is marked by activation of chemotaxis and motility genes resulting in detachment from the mucosal surface and entrance into the gastrointestinal lumen (Nielsen et al., 2006). While flagellar motility is crucial to direct V. cholerae to the mucosal layer, the bacteria enter a non-motile state upon mucosal penetration (Liu et al., 2008). After infection progression, nutrients in the gut decline, thereby starvation and high cell density may trigger rpoS expression. RpoS activates chemotaxis and motility gene expression, subsequently resulting in the mucosal escape phenotype. Moreover, RpoS is responsible for biofilm dispersal in a hydrodynamic model (Müller et al., 2007) or for biofilm escape (Wurm et al., 2017).

Termination of the RpoS-program is less clear, but likely involves proteolytic control (Wurm et al., 2017). Under laboratory conditions, RpoS-levels can increase if bacteria are stressed by a shift from rich into poor nutrient conditions. The enhanced ppGpp concentrations activate *rpoS* transcription leading to high RpoS-levels, which in turn activate chemotaxis and motility gene expression (Wurm et al., 2017). Interestingly, as soon as ppGpp-levels decline, *rpoS* transcription stops and RpoSproteolysis is subsequently activated by a RssB homolog and the ClpXP-protease complex (Wurm et al., 2017).

To date, *rpoS* expression control seems to be conserved in *Enterobacteriacae* and other Gram-negative bacteria (e.g., *Vibrio* and *Pseudomonas*). Stringent control, mRNA stability and ClpXP- or Lon-mediated proteolysis control *rpoS* expression levels. In contrast, RpoS-mediated responses are completely different in such species, leading to physiological changes like persistence, motility, and virulence (Schellhorn, 2014).

### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

While transcriptional regulation along the lifecycle of *V. cholerae* has been intensively studied, we are just beginning to identify and understand post-translational control elements. Recent reports highlight that regulated proteolysis of alternative sigma factors or transcriptional regulators is involved in blockage or termination of gene expression comprising virulence, transmission, and environmental persistence conditions.

Regulated proteolysis events during *V. cholerae*'s lifecycle are summarized in **Table 1**. To conclude, FliA proteolysis ensures full virulence induction during initial colonization upon penetration of *V. cholerae* through the intestinal mucus. Meanwhile, the virulence cascade starts to operate, i.e., the ToxT positive forward loop regulation is activated. At some point during the end of the colonization phase and shortly before onset of mucosal escape, this virulence regulatory loop needs to be terminated via proteolysis of TcpP, ToxR, and ToxT (**Figure 1** and **Table 1**). During colonization stage, RpoE is released via RIP of RseA and mediates host protective strategies. Regulated proteolysis maintains low RpoS levels during colonization, while starvation conditions inhibit RpoS proteolysis via RssB. Elevated RpoS levels at late infection stages subsequently initiate the mucosal escape mechanism.

#### REFERENCES

- Abuaita, B. H., and Withey, J. H. (2011). Termination of Vibrio cholerae virulence gene expression is mediated by proteolysis of the major virulence activator, ToxT. Mol. Microbiol. 81, 1640–1653. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07798.x
- Alba, B. M., and Gross, C. A. (2004). Regulation of the *Escherichia coli* sigma-dependent envelope stress response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 52, 613–619. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2003.03982.x
- Almagro-Moreno, S., Kim, T. K., Skorupski, K., and Taylor, R. K. (2015a). Proteolysis of virulence regulator ToxR is associated with entry of *Vibrio cholerae* into a dormant state. *PLoS Genet.* 11:e1005145. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005145
- Almagro-Moreno, S., Root, M. Z., and Taylor, R. K. (2015b). Role of ToxS in the proteolytic cascade of virulence regulator ToxR in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 98, 963–976. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13170
- Barembruch, C., and Hengge, R. (2007). Cellular levels and activity of the flagellar sigma factor FliA of *Escherichia coli* are controlled by FlgM-modulated proteolysis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 65, 76–89. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05770.x
- Battesti, A., Hoskins, J. R., Tong, S., Milanesio, P., Mann, J. M., Kravats, A., et al. (2013). Anti-adaptors provide multiple modes for regulation of the RssB adaptor protein. *Genes Dev.* 27, 2722–2735. doi: 10.1101/gad.229617.113
- Battesti, A., Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2015). Stress sigma factor RpoS degradation and translation are sensitive to the state of central metabolism. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 112, 5159–5164. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1504639112
- Beck, N. A., Krukonis, E. S., and DiRita, V. J. (2004). TcpH influences virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae* by inhibiting degradation of the transcription activator TcpP. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 8309–8316. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.24.8309-8316.2004

Several important questions remain to be addressed to understand such complex post-translational regulation events. For example, what are the specific triggers initiating or preventing regulated proteolysis? What are the associated anti-proteolytic or targeting proteolysis factors, which protect proteins from degradation or attract key-proteases such as Lon, ClpXP, and DegS? With FlgM, RssB, RseA, ToxS, or TcpH probably only a fraction of such factors have been identified. Due to established intestinal infection and environmental persistence assays as well as its rapid proliferation requiring fast adaptation, *V. cholerae* is a valuable model to study and identify the proteolytic regulatory networks to gain deeper insights into the pathogen's bacterial physiology.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NP wrote parts of the RpoE chapter and RpoS chapter as well as designed **Figure 1**. ML wrote parts of the ToxR chapter. KP wrote parts of the introduction and FliA chapter. JM wrote the Tcp chapter. JR wrote parts of the RpoE, RpoS, ToxR chapter, and the ToxT chapter. SS was the coordinating author involved in writing and editing of all chapters as well as finalizing the manuscript for submission.

#### FUNDING

The work was supported by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) grants: W901 (DK Molecular Enzymology) to KP and SS, the doc.fund Molecular Metabolism to SS, P29405 to JR as well as P27654 to SS.

- Becker, G., Klauck, E., and Hengge-Aronis, R. (1999). Regulation of RpoS proteolysis in *Escherichia coli*: the response regulator RssB is a recognition factor that interacts with the turnover element in RpoS. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 96, 6439–6444. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.11.6439
- Bina, J., Zhu, J., Dziejman, M., Faruque, S., Calderwood, S., and Mekalanos, J. (2003). ToxR regulon of *Vibrio cholerae* and its expression in vibrios shed by cholera patients. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 2801–2806. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2628026100
- Brameyer, S., Rösch, T. C., El Andari, J., Hoyer, E., Schwarz, J., Graumann, P. L., et al. (2019). DNA-binding directs the localization of a membrane-integrated receptor of the ToxR family. *Commun Biol* 2:4. doi: 10.1038/s42003-018-0248-7
- Burns, D. L., Moss, J., and Vaughan, M. (1983). Release of guanyl nucleotides from the regulatory subunit of adenylate cyclase. J. Biol. Chem. 258, 1116–1120
- Butler, S. M., and Camilli, A. (2005). Going against the grain: chemotaxis and infection in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 3, 611–620. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1207
- Campbell, E. A., Tupy, J. L., Gruber, T. M., Wang, S., Sharp, M. M., Gross, C. A., et al. (2003). Crystal structure of *Escherichia coli* sigmaE with the cytoplasmic domain of its anti-sigma RseA. *Mol. Cell* 11, 1067–1078. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00148-5
- Childers, B. M., and Klose, K. E. (2007). Regulation of virulence in Vibrio cholerae: the ToxR regulon. Future Microbiol. 2, 335–344. doi: 10.2217/17460913.2.3.335
- Clausen, T., Southan, C., and Ehrmann, M. (2002). The HtrA family of proteases: implications for protein composition and cell fate. *Mol. Cell* 10, 443–455. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00658-5
- Colwell, R. R., Huq, A., Islam, M. S., Aziz, K. M., Yunus, M., Khan, N. H., et al. (2003). Reduction of cholera in Bangladeshi villages by simple filtration. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 1051–1055. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0237386100

- Correa, N. E., Barker, J. R., and Klose, K. E. (2004). The Vibrio cholerae FlgM homologue is an anti-sigma28 factor that is secreted through the sheathed polar flagellum. J. Bacteriol. 186, 4613–4619. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.14.4613-4619.2004
- De Las Peñas, A., Connolly, L., and Gross, C. A. (1997). The sigmaE-mediated response to extracytoplasmic stress in *Escherichia coli* is transduced by RseA and RseB, two negative regulators of sigmaE. *Mol. Microbiol.* 24, 373–385. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.3611718.x
- Ding, Y., Davis, B. M., and Waldor, M. K. (2004). Hfq is essential for Vibrio cholerae virulence and downregulates sigma expression. Mol. Microbiol. 53, 345–354 doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04142.x
- DiRita, V. J., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1991). Periplasmic interaction between two membrane regulatory proteins, ToxR and ToxS, results in signal transduction and transcriptional activation. *Cell* 64, 29–37 doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90206-E
- Drew, D., Sjöstrand, D., Nilsson, J., Urbig, T., Chin, C. N., de Gier, J. W., et al. (2002). Rapid topology mapping of *Escherichia coli* inner-membrane proteins by prediction and PhoA/GFP fusion analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 2690–2695. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052018199
- Ehrmann, M., and Clausen, T. (2004). Proteolysis as a regulatory mechanism. Annu. Rev. Genet. 38, 709–724. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genet.38.072902.093416
- Erickson, J. W., and Gross, C. A. (1989). Identification of the sigma E subunit of *Escherichia coli* RNA polymerase: a second alternate sigma factor involved in high-temperature gene expression. *Genes Dev.* 3, 1462–1471. doi: 10.1101/gad.3.9.1462
- Fan, F., Liu, Z., Jabeen, N., Birdwell, L. D., Zhu, J., and Kan, B. (2014). Enhanced interaction of *Vibrio cholerae* virulence regulators TcpP and ToxR under oxygen-limiting conditions. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 1676–1682. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01377-13
- Fengler, V. H., Boritsch, E. C., Tutz, S., Seper, A., Ebner, H., Roier, S., et al. (2012). Disulfide bond formation and ToxR activity in *Vibrio cholerae*. *PLoS ONE* 7:e47756. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0047756
- Fishmann, P. H. (1990). "Mechanism of action of cholera toxin," in *ADP-Ribosylating Toxins and G Proteins*, eds J. Moss and M. Vaughan (Washington, DC: American Society for Microbiology), 127–137.
- Freter, R., and Jones, G. W. (1976). Adhesive properties of *Vibrio cholerae*: nature of the interaction with intact mucosal surfaces. *Infect. Immun.* 14, 246–256.
- Freter, R., and O'Brien, P. C. (1981). Role of chemotaxis in the association of motile bacteria with intestinal mucosa: chemotactic responses of *Vibrio cholerae* and description of motile nonchemotactic mutants. *Infect. Immun.* 34, 215–221.
- Goss, T. J., Morgan, S. J., French, E. L., and Krukonis, E. S. (2013). ToxR recognizes a direct repeat element in the toxT, ompU, ompT, and ctxA promoters of Vibrio cholerae to regulate transcription. Infect. Immun. 81, 884–895. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00889-12
- Goss, T. J., Seaborn, C. P., Gray, M. D., and Krukonis, E. S. (2010). Identification of the TcpP-binding site in the *toxT* promoter of *Vibrio cholerae* and the role of ToxR in TcpP-mediated activation. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 4122–4133. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00566-10
- Hall-Stoodley, L., and Stoodley, P. (2005). Biofilm formation and dispersal and the transmission of human pathogens. *Trends Microbiol.* 13, 7–10. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2004.11.004
- Häse, C. C., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1998). TcpP protein is a positive regulator of virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 95, 730–734. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.2.730
- Hengge-Aronis, R. (2002). Signal transduction and regulatory mechanisms involved in control of the sigma(S) (RpoS) subunit of RNA polymerase. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 66, 373–395. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.66.3.373-395.2002
- Herrington, D. A., Hall, R. H., Losonsky, G., Mekalanos, J. J., Taylor, R. K., and Levine, M. M. (1988). Toxin, Toxin-coregulated Pili and the *toxR* regulation are essential for *Vibrio cholerae* pathogenesis in humans. *J. Exp. Med.* 168, 1487–1492. doi: 10.1084/jem.168.4.1487
- Higgins, D. E., and DiRita, V. J. (1994). Transcriptional control of toxT, a regulatory gene in the ToxR regulon of Vibrio cholerae. Mol. Microbiol. 14, 17–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1994.tb01263.x
- Hryckowian, A. J., Battesti, A., Lemke, J. J., Meyer, Z. C., and Welch, R. A. (2014). IraL is an RssB anti-adaptor that stabilizes RpoS during logarithmic phase growth in *Escherichia coli* and *Shigella*. *MBio* 5:e01043-14. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01043-14

- Iwanaga, M., and Yamamoto, K. (1985). New medium for the production of cholera toxin by Vibrio cholerae O1 biotype El Tor. J. Clin. Microbiol. 22, 405–408.
- Iwanaga, M., Yamamoto, K., Higa, N., Ichinose, Y., Nakasone, N., and Tanabe, M. (1986). Culture conditions for stimulating cholera toxin production by *Vibrio cholerae* O1 El Tor. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 30, 1075–1083. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1986.tb03037.x
- Jiang, J., Zhang, X., Chen, Y., Wu, Y., Zhou, Z. H., Chang, Z., et al. (2008). Activation of DegP chaperone-protease via formation of large cage-like oligomers upon binding to substrate proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 11939–11944. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805464105
- Kanehara, K., Akiyama, Y., and Ito, K. (2001). Characterization of the *yaeL* gene product and its S2P-protease motifs in *Escherichia coli. Gene* 281, 71–79. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1119(01)00823-X
- Kanjilal, S., Citorik, R., LaRocque, R. C., Ramoni, M. F., and Calderwood, S. B. (2010). A systems biology approach to modeling *Vibrio cholerae* gene expression under virulence-inducing conditions. *J. Bacteriol.* 192, 4300–4310. doi: 10.1128/JB.00182-10
- Kolmar, H., Waller, P. R., and Sauer, R. T. (1996). The DegP and DegQ periplasmic endoproteases of *Escherichia coli*: specificity for cleavage sites and substrate conformation. *J. Bacteriol.* 178, 5925–5929. doi: 10.1128/jb.178.20.5925-5929.1996
- Korotkov, K. V., Sandkvist, M., and Hol, W. G. (2012). The type II secretion system: biogenesis, molecular architecture and mechanism. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 336–351. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2762
- Kovacikova, G., and Skorupski, K. (1999). A Vibrio cholerae LysR homolog, AphB, cooperates with AphA at the *tcpPH* promoter to activate expression of the ToxR virulence cascade. J. Bacteriol. 181, 4250–4256.
- Kovacikova, G., and Skorupski, K. (2002). The alternative sigma factor sigma(E) plays an important role in intestinal survival and virulence in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 5355–5362. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.10.5355-5362.2002
- Krojer, T., Garrido-Franco, M., Huber, R., Ehrmann, M., and Clausen, T. (2002). Crystal structure of DegP (HtrA) reveals a new protease-chaperone machine. *Nature* 416, 455–459. doi: 10.1038/416455a
- Krojer, T., Pangerl, K., Kurt, J., Sawa, J., Stingl, C., Mechtler, K., et al. (2008a). Interplay of PDZ and protease domain of DegP ensures efficient elimination of misfolded proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 7702–7707. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803392105
- Krojer, T., Sawa, J., Schäfer, E., Saibil, H. R., Ehrmann, M., and Clausen, T. (2008b). Structural basis for the regulated protease and chaperone function of DegP. *Nature* 453, 885–890. doi: 10.1038/nature07004
- Krukonis, E. S., and DiRita, V. J. (2003). DNA binding and ToxR responsiveness by the wing domain of TcpP, an activator of virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae. Mol. Cell* 12, 157–165. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00222-3
- Lee, S. H., Butler, S. M., and Camilli, A. (2001). Selection for *in vivo* regulators of bacterial virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 98, 6889–6894. doi: 10.1073/pnas.111581598
- Lee, S. H., Hava, D. L., Waldor, M. K., and Camilli, A. (1999). Regulation and temporal expression patterns of *Vibrio cholerae* virulence genes during infection. *Cell* 99, 625–634. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81551-2
- Lembke, M., Pennetzdorfer, N., Tutz, S., Koller, M., Vorkapic, D., Zhu, J., et al. (2018). Proteolysis of ToxR is controlled by cysteine-thiol redox state and bile salts in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 10, 796–810. doi: 10.1111/mmi.14125
- Li, C. C., Crawford, J. A., DiRita, V. J., and Kaper, J. B. (2000). Molecular cloning and transcriptional regulation of *ompT*, a ToxR-repressed gene in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 35, 189–203. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.01699.x
- List, C., Grutsch, A., Radler, C., Cakar, F., Zingl, F. G., Schild-Prüfert, K., et al. (2018). Genes Activated by *Vibrio cholerae* upon exposure to *Caenorhabditis elegans* reveal the mannose-sensitive hemagglutinin to be essential for colonization. *mSphere* 3:e00238-18. doi: 10.1128/mSphereDirect.00238-18
- Liu, Z., Miyashiro, T., Tsou, A., Hsiao, A., Goulian, M., and Zhu, J. (2008). Mucosal penetration primes *Vibrio cholerae* for host colonization by repressing quorum sensing. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 9769–9774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0802241105
- Lutz, C., Erken, M., Noorian, P., Sun, S., and McDougald, D. (2013). Environmental reservoirs and mechanisms of persistence of *Vibrio cholerae*. *Front. Microbiol.* 4:375. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2013.00375
- Mahmoud, S. A., and Chien, P. (2018). Regulated proteolysis in bacteria. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 87, 677–696. doi: 10.1146/annurev-biochem-062917-012848

- Martínez-Hackert, E., and Stock, A. M. (1997). Structural relationships in the OmpR family of winged-helix transcription factors. J. Mol. Biol. 269, 301–312. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.1997.1065
- Mathur, J., Davis, B. M., and Waldor, M. K. (2007). Antimicrobial peptides activate the Vibrio cholerae sigmaE regulon through an OmpU-dependent signalling pathway. Mol. Microbiol. 63, 848–858. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05544.x
- Matson, J. S., and DiRita, V. J. (2005). Degradation of the membrane-localized virulence activator TcpP by the YaeL protease in *Vibrio cholerae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 16403–16408. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0505818102
- Matson, J. S., Withey, J. H., and DiRita, V. J. (2007). Regulatory networks controlling Vibrio cholerae virulence gene expression. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 5542–5549. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01094-07
- Mecsas, J., Rouviere, P. E., Erickson, J. W., Donohue, T. J., and Gross, C. A. (1993). The activity of Sigma(E), an *Escherichia coli* heat-inducible sigmafactor, is modulated by expression of outer-membrane proteins. *Genes Dev.* 7, 2618–2628. doi: 10.1101/gad.7.12b.2618
- Merrell, D. S., Tischler, A. D., Lee, S. H., and Camilli, A. (2000). Vibrio cholerae requires rpoS for efficient intestinal colonization. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 6691–6696. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68.12.6691-6696.2000
- Midgett, C. R., Almagro-Moreno, S., Pellegrini, M., Taylor, R. K., Skorupski, K., and Kull, F. J. (2017). Bile salts and alkaline pH reciprocally modulate the interaction between the periplasmic domains of *Vibrio cholerae* ToxR and ToxS. *Mol. Microbiol.* 105, 258–272. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13699
- Mika, F., and Hengge, R. (2005). A two-component phosphotransfer network involving ArcB, ArcA, and RssB coordinates synthesis and proteolysis of sigmaS (RpoS) in *E. coli. Genes Dev.* 19, 2770–2781. doi: 10.1101/gad.353705
- Miller, V. L., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1988). A novel suicide vector and its use in construction of insertion mutations: osmoregulation of outer membrane proteins and virulence determinants in *Vibrio cholerae* requires toxR. J. Bacteriol. 170, 2575–2583. doi: 10.1128/jb.170.6.2575-2583.1988
- Miller, V. L., Taylor, R. K., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1987). Cholera toxin transcriptional activator toxR is a transmembrane DNA binding protein. *Cell* 48, 271–279. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(87)90430-2
- Missiakas, D., Mayer, M. P., Lemaire, M., Georgopoulos, C., and Raina, S. (1997). Modulation of the *Escherichia coli* sigmaE (RpoE) heat-shock transcriptionfactor activity by the RseA, RseB and RseC proteins. *Mol. Microbiol.* 24, 355–371. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.3601713.x
- Morgan, S. J., French, E. L., Thomson, J. J., Seaborn, C. P., Shively, C. A., and Krukonis, E. S. (2016). Formation of an intramolecular periplasmic disulfide bond in TcpP protects TcpP and TcpH from degradation in *Vibrio cholerae. J. Bacteriol.* 198, 498–509. doi: 10.1128/JB.00338-15
- Muffler, A., Fischer, D., Altuvia, S., Storz, G., and Hengge-Aronis, R. (1996). The response regulator RssB controls stability of the sigma(S) subunit of RNA polymerase in *Escherichia coli*. *EMBO J.* 15, 1333–1339. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00475.x
- Müller, J., Miller, M. C., Nielsen, A. T., Schoolnik, G. K., and Spormann, A. M. (2007). vpsA- and luxO-independent biofilms of Vibrio cholerae. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 275, 199–206. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2007.00884.x
- Ng, W. L., and Bassler, B. L. (2009). Bacterial quorum-sensing network architectures. Annu. Rev. Genet. 43, 197–222. doi: 10.1146/annurev-genet-102108-134304
- Nielsen, A. T., Dolganov, N. A., Otto, G., Miller, M. C., Wu, C. Y., and Schoolnik, G. K. (2006). RpoS controls the *Vibrio cholerae* mucosal escape response. *PLoS Pathog.* 2:e109. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020109
- Ottemann, K. M., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1996). The ToxR protein of Vibrio cholerae forms homodimers and heterodimers. J. Bacteriol. 178, 156–162. doi: 10.1128/jb.178.1.156-162.1996
- Plecha, S. C., and Withey, J. H. (2015). Mechanism for inhibition of Vibrio cholerae ToxT activity by the unsaturated fatty acid components of bile. J. Bacteriol. 197, 1716–1725. doi: 10.1128/JB.02409-14
- Pressler, K., Vorkapic, D., Lichtenegger, S., Malli, G., Barilich, B. P., Cakar, F., et al. (2016). AAA+ proteases and their role in distinct stages along the *Vibrio cholerae* lifecycle. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 306, 452–462. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2016.05.013
- Provenzano, D., and Klose, K. E. (2000). Altered expression of the ToxR-regulated porins OmpU and OmpT diminishes *Vibrio cholerae* bile resistance, virulence factor expression, and intestinal colonization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 10220–10224. doi: 10.1073/pnas.170219997

- Provenzano, D., Schuhmacher, D. A., Barker, J. L., and Klose, K. E. (2000). The virulence regulatory protein ToxR mediates enhanced bile resistance in *Vibrio cholerae* and other pathogenic *Vibrio* species. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 1491–1497. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68.3.1491-1497.2000
- Rowley, G., Spector, M., Kormanec, J., and Roberts, M. (2006). Pushing the envelope: extracytoplasmic stress responses in bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 383–394. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1394
- Rudner, D. Z., Fawcett, P., and Losick, R. (1999). A family of membraneembedded metalloproteases involved in regulated proteolysis of membraneassociated transcription factors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 14765–14770. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.26.14765
- Sandkvist, M. (2001). Biology of type II secretion. *Mol. Microbiol.* 40, 271–283. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02403.x
- Schellhorn, H. E. (2014). Elucidating the function of the RpoS regulon. Future Microbiol. 9, 497–507. doi: 10.2217/fmb.14.9
- Schild, S., Tamayo, R., Nelson, E. J., Qadri, F., Calderwood, S. B., and Camilli, A. (2007). Genes induced late in infection increase fitness of *Vibrio cholerae* after release into the environment. *Cell Host Microbe* 2, 264–277. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.09.004
- Seper, A., Fengler, V. H., Roier, S., Wolinski, H., Kohlwein, S. D., Bishop, A. L., et al. (2011). Extracellular nucleases and extracellular DNA play important roles in *Vibrio cholerae* biofilm formation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 82, 1015–1037. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07867.x
- Sharp, G. W., Hynie, S., Lipson, L. C., and Parkinson, D. K. (1971). Action of cholera toxin to stimulate adenyl cyclase. *Trans. Assoc. Am. Physicians* 84, 200–211.
- Sikora, A. E., Lybarger, S. R., and Sandkvist, M. (2007). Compromised outer membrane integrity in *Vibrio cholerae* Type II secretion mutants. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 8484–8495. doi: 10.1128/JB.00583-07
- Skorupski, K., and Taylor, R. K. (1999). A new level in the Vibrio cholerae ToxR virulence cascade: AphA is required for transcriptional activation of the *tcpPH* operon. *Mol. Microbiol.* 31, 763–771. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.0 1215.x
- Spiess, C., Beil, A., and Ehrmann, M. (1999). A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. *Cell* 97, 339–347. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80743-6
- Stüdemann, A., Noirclerc-Savoye, M., Klauck, E., Becker, G., Schneider, D., and Hengge, R. (2003). Sequential recognition of two distinct sites in sigma(S) by the proteolytic targeting factor RssB and ClpX. *EMBO J.* 22, 4111–4120. doi: 10.1093/emboj/cdg411
- Syed, K. A., Beyhan, S., Correa, N., Queen, J., Liu, J., Peng, F., et al. (2009). The Vibrio cholerae flagellar regulatory hierarchy controls expression of virulence factors. J. Bacteriol. 191, 6555–6570. doi: 10.1128/JB.00949-09
- Tamayo, R., Patimalla, B., and Camilli, A. (2010). Growth in a biofilm induces a hyperinfectious phenotype in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 3560–3569. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00048-10
- Taylor, R. K., Miller, V. L., Furlong, D. B., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1987). Use of *phoA* gene fusions to identify a pilus colonization factor coordinately regulated with cholera toxin. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 84, 2833–2837. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.9.2833
- Teoh, W. P., Matson, J. S., and DiRita, V. J. (2015). Regulated intramembrane proteolysis of the virulence activator TcpP in *Vibrio cholerae* is initiated by the tail-specific protease (Tsp). *Mol. Microbiol.* 97, 822–831. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13069
- Teschler, J. K., Zamorano-Sánchez, D., Utada, A. S., Warner, C. J., Wong, G. C., Linington, R. G., et al. (2015). Living in the matrix: assembly and control of *Vibrio cholerae* biofilms. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 13, 255–268. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3433
- Thomson, J. J., Plecha, S. C., and Withey, J. H. (2015). A small unstructured region in *Vibrio cholerae* ToxT mediates the response to positive and negative effectors and ToxT proteolysis. *J. Bacteriol.* 197, 654–668. doi: 10.1128/JB.02068-14
- Thomson, J. J., and Withey, J. H. (2014). Bicarbonate increases binding affinity of Vibrio cholerae ToxT to virulence gene promoters. J. Bacteriol. 196, 3872–3880. doi: 10.1128/JB.01824-14
- Walsh, N. P., Alba, B. M., Bose, B., Gross, C. A., and Sauer, R. T. (2003). OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. *Cell* 113, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00203-4

- Wang, Q. P., and Kaguni, J. M. (1989). A novel sigma-factor is involved in expression of the *rpoh* gene of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 171, 4248–4253. doi: 10.1128/jb.171.8.4248-4253.1989
- Weber, G. G., and Klose, K. E. (2011). The complexity of ToxTdependent transcription in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Indian J. Med. Res.* 133, 201–206.
- Weber, G. G., Kortmann, J., Narberhaus, F., and Klose, K. E. (2014). RNA thermometer controls temperature-dependent virulence factor expression in *Vibrio cholerae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 111, 14241–14246. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1411570111
- Wilken, C., Kitzing, K., Kurzbauer, R., Ehrmann, M., and Clausen, T. (2004). Crystal structure of the DegS stress sensor: how a PDZ domain recognizes misfolded protein and activates a protease. *Cell* 117, 483–494. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04)00454-4
- Wurm, P., Tutz, S., Mutsam, B., Vorkapic, D., Heyne, B., Grabner, C., et al. (2017). Stringent factor and proteolysis control of sigma factor RpoS expression in *Vibrio cholerae. Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 307, 154–165. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2017.01.006
- Yang, M., Liu, Z., Hughes, C., Stern, A. M., Wang, H., Zhong, Z., et al. (2013). Bile salt-induced intermolecular disulfide bond formation activates *Vibrio cholerae* virulence. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 2348–2353. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1218039110
- Yildiz, F. H., and Schoolnik, G. K. (1998). Role of *rpoS* in stress survival and virulence of *Vibrio cholerae*. J. Bacteriol. 180, 773–784.

- Yildiz, F. H., and Visick, K. L. (2009). Vibrio biofilms: so much the same yet so different. Trends Microbiol. 17, 109–118. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2008.12.004
- Yu, R. R., and DiRita, V. J. (1999). Analysis of an autoregulatory loop controlling ToxT, cholera toxin, and toxin-coregulated pilus production in *Vibrio cholerae*. J. Bacteriol. 181, 2584–2592.
- Zhou, Y., Gottesman, S., Hoskins, J. R., Maurizi, M. R., and Wickner, S. (2001). The RssB response regulator directly targets sigma(S) for degradation by ClpX. *Genes Dev.* 15, 627–637. doi: 10.1101/gad.864401
- Zielke, R. A., Simmons, R. S., Park, B. R., Nonogaki, M., Emerson, S., and Sikora, A. E. (2014). The type II secretion pathway in *Vibrio cholerae* is characterized by growth phase-dependent expression of exoprotein genes and is positively regulated by sigmaE. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 2788–2801. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01292-13

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Pennetzdorfer, Lembke, Pressler, Matson, Reidl and Schild. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Peptidylarginine Deiminase Inhibitors Reduce Bacterial Membrane Vesicle Release and Sensitize Bacteria to Antibiotic Treatment

Uchini S. Kosgodage<sup>1</sup>, Paul Matewele<sup>1</sup>, Giulia Mastroianni<sup>2</sup>, Igor Kraev<sup>3</sup>, Dominik Brotherton<sup>4</sup>, Brigitte Awamaria<sup>1</sup>, Anthony P. Nicholas<sup>5</sup>, Sigrun Lange<sup>6\*</sup> and Jameel M. Inal<sup>4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Cellular and Molecular Immunology Research Centre, School of Human Sciences, London Metropolitan University, London, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> School of Life, Health and Chemical Sciences, The Open University, London, United Kingdom, <sup>4</sup> Bioscience Research Group, Extracellular Vesicle Research Unit, School of Life and Medical Sciences, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, United Kingdom, <sup>5</sup> Department of Neurology, University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, United States, <sup>6</sup> Tissue Architecture and Regeneration Research Group, School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, United Kingdom

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Vincent Tam, Temple University, United States Andrés González, Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Sigrun Lange S.Lange@westminster.ac.uk Jameel M. Inal j.inal@herts.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 05 April 2019 Accepted: 11 June 2019 Published: 27 June 2019

#### Citation:

Kosgodage US, Matewele P, Mastroianni G, Kraev I, Brotherton D, Awamaria B, Nicholas AP, Lange S and Inal JM (2019) Peptidylarginine Deiminase Inhibitors Reduce Bacterial Membrane Vesicle Release and Sensitize Bacteria to Antibiotic Treatment.

Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:227. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00227 Outer membrane and membrane vesicles (OMV/MV) are released from bacteria and participate in cell communication, biofilm formation and host-pathogen interactions. Peptidylarginine deiminases (PADs) are phylogenetically conserved enzymes that catalyze post-translational deimination/citrullination of proteins, causing structural and functional changes in target proteins. PADs also play major roles in the regulation of eukaryotic extracellular vesicle release. Here we show phylogenetically conserved pathways of PAD-mediated OMV/MV release in bacteria and describe deiminated/citrullinated proteins in *E. coli* and their derived OMV/MVs. Furthermore, we show that PAD inhibitors can be used to effectively reduce OMV/MV release, both in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. Importantly, this resulted in enhanced antibiotic sensitivity of both *E. coli* and *S. aureus* to a range of antibiotics tested. Our findings reveal novel strategies for applying pharmacological OMV/MV-inhibition to reduce antibiotic resistance.

Keywords: outer-membrane vesicles (OMVs), peptidylarginine deiminase (PAD), deimination/citrullination, antibiotic sensitivity, *E. coli* VCS257, *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

# INTRODUCTION

Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs), and membrane vesicles (MVs), are released from Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria and participate in bacterial communication, facilitating the transfer of cargo molecules (Dorward and Garon, 1990; Li et al., 1998; Fulsundar et al., 2014; Jan, 2017; Toyofuku et al., 2019). OMVs are released in greater abundance from Gram-negative than Gram-positive bacteria, are crucial for bacterial survival and form part of the stress response (McBroom and Kuehn, 2007; Macdonald and Kuehn, 2013; Jan, 2017). Research on bacterial OMVs has grown rapidly in recent years, including their use as bioengineered drug delivery vehicles (Gujrati et al., 2014; Bitto and Kaparakis-Liaskos, 2017) and in vaccine development (Gaillard et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2015; Alves et al., 2016; Raeven et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2017).

Peptidylarginine deiminases (PADs) are a group of calciumactivated enzymes that are preserved throughout phylogeny from bacteria to mammals and catalyze the post-translational deimination/citrullination of arginine residues to citrulline, causing structural, and functional changes in target proteins (Vossenaar et al., 2003; Wang and Wang, 2013; Witalison et al., 2015; Magnadóttir et al., 2018). Five mammalian PAD isozymes have been identified which participate in physiological and pathophysiological processes, including autoimmune and neurodegenerative diseases, cancer and sepsis (Wang and Wang, 2013; Witalison et al., 2015; Kosgodage et al., 2017, 2018; Lange et al., 2017; Biron et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2018). Recent studies have highlighted novel PAD-mediated mechanisms of extracellular vesicle (EV) release in eukaryotic cells (Kholia et al., 2015; Kosgodage et al., 2017, 2018; Gavinho et al., 2019) but a link to conserved mechanisms in bacterial OMV/MV release has hitherto not been made. While several PAD isozymes, with different preferences for target proteins, are present higher in phylogeny, in bacteria only one PAD form has been described. For example in Porphyromonas gingivalis, a Gram-negative bacterium, the association of PAD and its citrullinome has been linked to neo-epitope generation in oral cavity disease and rheumatoid arthritis (Maresz et al., 2013; Gully et al., 2014; Stobernack et al., 2016; Bereta et al., 2019). However, although an arginine deiminase (AD) has been identified in the Eschericia coli genome (GenBank: EDV68547.1), also a Gram-negative bacterium, no significant data is available to confirm the presence of an associated citrullinome. Furthermore, an AD has also been identified in Staphylococcus aureus (GenBank: BBA25170.1), a Gram-positive bacterium.

Our previous studies established that EV release from cancer cells is largely PAD-driven, can be effectively inhibited using pharmacological PAD inhibitors and that such inhibition sensitizes cancer cells to chemotherapy (Kholia et al., 2015; Kosgodage et al., 2017, 2018). Therefore, we set out to investigate if this could be a phylogenetically conserved mechanism and in the same vein, be exploited to sensitize bacteria to antibiotics.

The role of OMVs in biofilm formation and in protecting biofilms via adsorption of antimicrobial agents has indeed been previously recognized (Schooling and Beveridge, 2006; Manning and Kuehn, 2011; Toyofuku et al., 2019). Thus, application of OMV inhibition could potentially lower resistance to antibiotics and be useful in minimizing multi-drug resistance associated with antibiotic treatment.

Using a range of antibiotics, we determined the effect of several PAD-specific inhibitors on changes in OMV/MV release and on antibiotic sensitivity of Gram-negative (*E. coli* VCS257) and Gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach).

The PAD inhibitors tested were first generation pan-PAD inhibitor Cl-amidine (Luo et al., 2006), second generation pan-PAD inhibitor BB-Cl-amidine (Knight et al., 2014), PAD2 inhibitor AMF30a (Muth et al., 2017), and PAD4 inhibitor GSK199 (Lewis et al., 2015). The following range of antibiotics was tested in combination with the OMV/MV inhibitors: (i) Colistin (Polymyxin E), which acts on the lipoglycans and endotoxins of the Gram-negative bacterial cell membrane (Falagas et al., 2005; Livermore et al., 2011; Yahav et al., 2012;

Yu et al., 2019); (ii) Vancomycin, which alters the permeability of the cell membrane and selectively inhibits ribonucleic acid synthesis (Watanakunakorn, 1984). It is effective against Grampositive bacteria, including Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, and Listeria and prescribed for serious skin, blood-borne and joint infections as well as meningitis caused by methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) (Ng et al., 2014); (iii) Rifampicin, which inhibits DNA-dependent RNA polymerase activity, suppressing the initiation of RNA synthesis (Campbell et al., 2001). It is effective against a broad spectrum of bacteria, mainly Gram-positive cocci (van Ingen et al., 2011); (iv) Kanamycin, which binds to the bacterial 30S ribosomal subunit, causing misreading of t-RNA and inhibition of bacterial protein synthesis (Hoerr et al., 2016). It is active against most Gram-negative bacteria and some Gram-positive bacteria (Salian et al., 2012); (v) Erythromycin, which inhibits bacterial protein synthesis by binding to bacterial 50S ribosomal subunits (Ianaro et al., 2000). It is effective against Gram-positive bacteria including Staphylococci, Streptococci and Pneumococci and Gram-negative sporing and non-sporing gut anaerobes, such as E. coli (Jelić and Antolović, 2016).

Here we show that OMV/MV release can be regulated via PAD-mediated pathways both in *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach and that this can be exploited to enhance antibiotic effectivity of selected antibiotics in both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria. Furthermore, in *E. coli* we identified deiminated/citrullinated proteins both in the bacterial cells and in derived OMVs, indicative of bacterial communication via lateral transfer of deiminated proteins.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Preparation of Outer Membrane Vesicles (OMVs) and Membrane Vesicles (MVs)

*E. coli* (VCS257, Agilent, La Jolla, CA) and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach (ATCC 29247; CDC73-57501) cultures were grown for 24 h at  $37^{\circ}$ C (static culture). The growth phase before vesicle isolation was exponential, as assessed by optical density (OD600) before overnight incubation and for 4 h the following day, to ensure that bacteria were in log phase; the volume of the cultures was 20 ml. For OMV/MV-associated experiments, the bacterial growth medium (Luria-Bertani (LB) broth) and Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS)S were pre-treated before use by ultracentrifugation at 100,000 g (SW60Ti rotor, Beckmann L60 ultracentrifuge) for 24 h, to ensure that the medium used was minimally contaminated with extracellular vesicles (EVs).

The OMV/MVs were isolated from the supernatant of the bacterial culture medium as follows: The supernatant was initially centrifuged once at 400 g (F-34-6-38 rotor, Eppendorf 5804, U.S.A.) for 10 min to remove the cells. Thereafter, the supernatant was centrifuged at 4,000 g (F-34-6-38 rotor, Eppendorf 5804) for 1 h at 4°C to remove cell debris. The resultant supernatant was then centrifuged at 100,000 g (SW60Ti rotor, Beckmann L60 ultracentrifuge, Beckman Coulter, U.S.A.) for 1 h at 4°C for isolation of OMVs. The isolated OMV/MV

pellet was then resuspended in Dulbecco's phosphate-buffered saline (DPBS; ultracentrifuged and sterile filtered using a 0.22  $\mu$ m filter) and filtered through an 0.45  $\mu$ m filter before the second ultracentrifigation step at 100,000 g for 1 h at 4°C. The resulting OMV/MV pellet was thereafter resuspended in 100  $\mu$ l sterile filtered (0.22  $\mu$ m) DPBS and the isolated OMV/MV pellets were either used immediately, or stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for further experiments.

# Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis (NTA) of OMV/MV

For NTA analysis, isolated OMV and MV pellets, respectively, prepared as described above, were resupended in 100  $\mu$ l sterile filtered DPBS and then diluted 1/200 before quantification to assess vesicle size, based on Brownian motion, using the Nanosight LM10, with a 405 nm diode laser (Malvern, U.K.). Numbers of particles per frame were kept at approximately 30, and five individual 60 s videos were recorded using a sCMOS camera for each sample to create the respective size distribution histograms. OMVs/MVs were further characterized by transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and Western blotting as described below.

#### **Transmission Electron Microscopy Imaging**

A suspension of isolated OMVs/MVs ( $1.4 \times 10^8$  vesicles/ml) was used for TEM imaging. Mesh copper grids were prepared with glow discharged carbon support films and 10 µl of OMV/MV samples applied to the grid and incubated for 2 min. The grids were then washed five times with 50 µl of 1% aqueous uranyl acetate. The last drop was left to incubate on the grid for 1.5 min before being wicked off by torn filter paper. Grids were left to dry for 5 min before being viewed. Micrographs were taken with a JEOL JEM 1230 transmission electron microscope (JEOL, Japan) operated at 80 kV at a range of magnification mainly around a magnification of 80,000–100,000. Digital images were recorded on a Morada CCD camera (EMSIS, Germany) and processed via iTEM (EMSIS, Germany).

# Western Blotting for Membrane Vesicle Characterization

Protein was isolated from the OMV/MV pellets using Bacterial Protein Extraction Reagent (B-PER, ThermoFisher Scientific, U.K.), pipetting gently and shaking the pellets on ice for 2h, where after samples were centrifuged at 16,000 g at 4°C for 20 min and the resulting supernatant collected for protein analysis. Samples were electrophoresed under reducing conditions by SDS-PAGE on 4-20% TGX gels (BioRad, U.K.), followed by semi-dry Western blotting. Membranes were blocked in 5% BSA in TBS-T at RT for 1h. The membranes were incubated overnight at 4°C with the anti-OmpC (Outer-membrane protein C antibody; orb6940, Biorbyt, U.K.; diluted 1/1,000 in TBS-T). The membranes were washed  $3 \times 10 \text{ min}$  in TBS-T, incubated for 1 h in anti-rabbit-HRP conjugated secondary antibody (BioRad, U.K.) at RT, followed by visualization using ECL (Amersham, U.K.) and the UVP BioDoc-ITTM System (U.K.).

### Immunoprecipitation (IP) and LC-MS/MS Analysis of Deiminated and PAD4 Bound Proteins From *E. coli* VCS257 Cells and Derived OMVs

To determine the presence of deiminated/citrullinated proteins and PAD4 bound proteins from E. coli VCS257 and derived OMVs, protein extracts were prepared using Bacterial Protein Extraction Reagent (B-PER, ThermoFisher Scientific, U.K.), according to the manufacturer's instructions. In brief, bacterial cells and OMVs were centrifuged at 5,000 g for 10 min to obtain a pellet. Two microliter of lysozyme and 2 µL of DNase I per 1 mL of B-PER Reagent was added along with EDTA-free protease inhibitors (ThermoFisher Scientific). Four mL of B-PER Reagent per gram of cell pellet was added. The suspension was pipetted up and down until it was homogeneous. The suspension was incubated for 10-15 min at room temperature. The lysate was centrifuged at 16,000 g for 5 min to separate soluble proteins from the insoluble proteins. Proteins were thereafter immunoprecipitated, using the Catch and Release<sup>®</sup> v2.0 Reversible Immunoprecipitation System (Merck, U.K.), according to the manufacturer's instructions, in conjunction with the pan-deimination F95 (MABN328, Merck) antibody (both for E. coli and derived OMVs) or the PAD4 (ab96758, Abcam) antibody (for E. coli cells only). The F95 pan-deimination specific antibody has been developed against a deca-citrullinated peptide and specifically detects proteins modified by citrullination (Nicholas and Whitaker, 2002). F95 or PAD4 bound proteins, respectively, were eluted from the columns according to the manufacturer's instructions (MERCK), using the supplied elution buffer (non-reducing or a reducing elution buffer, which was supplemented with 5% beta-mercapthoethanol) and thereafter further analyzed by Western blotting, under reducing conditions, and by liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS).

### Western Blotting Analysis of Citrullinated/Deiminated Proteins From *E. coli* VCS257 Cells and Derived OMVs

In order to compare protein profiles of deiminated proteins between E. coli and E. coli OMVs, total protein lysates and IP protein eluates were subjected to Western blot analysis. Briefly, samples were boiled for 5 min at 100°C in 2x Laemmli sample buffer (BioRad, U.K.). Protein (20 µg per sample) was separated by SDS-PAGE using 4-20% Mini-Protean TGX protein gels (BioRad, U.K) and transferred to nitrocellulose membranes. Even loading was assessed using Ponceau S staining (Sigma, U.K.) and membranes were then blocked in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA) in Tris buffered saline with 0.1% Tween20 (TBS-T) for 1 h, followed by incubation at 4 °C overnight with the primary antibodies: pan-deimination antibody F95 (1:2,000; MABN328), PAD2 (1:1,000; ab50257), PAD3 (1:1,000; ab169479) and PAD4 (1:1,000; ab96758), respectively. Membranes were washed three times in TBS-T, incubated at room temperature for 1 h with HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies: anti-mouse IgM and anti-rabbit IgG, respectively (both 1:4,000; BioRad, U.K.), followed by six 10 min washes in TBS-T, before visualization using ECL (Amersham, U.K.) and the UVP  $BioDoc\text{-}IT^{TM}$  System (U.K.).

# Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) Analysis

For identification of deiminated/citrullinated proteins and PAD4 bound proteins, respectively, in *E. coli* cell lysate and OMV lysates, the F95 and PAD4 bound eluates were subjected to LC-MS/MS analysis, which was carried out at the Proteomics Service at the Barts Cancer Institute (Queen Mary University, U.K.). For identification of protein hits the peak list files were submitted to in-house Mascot (Matrix Science).

# Effects of PAD Inhibitors on Bacterial OMV/MV Release and Cell Viability

E. coli and S. aureus were cultivated using EV-free Müeller-Hinton broth for 24 h. Culture condition were as follows: An inoculate of 0.1 ml of bacteria were grown at exponential phase overnight, as assessed by OD600; the volume of the cultures was 20 ml. The cells were washed using DPBS at 4,000 g for 10 min and seeded in triplicate in micro centrifuge tubes. The PAD inhibitors were added in triplicates and incubated for 1 h at 37°C as follows: PAD2 inhibitor AMF30a (5µM), PAD4 inhibitor, GSK199 (10 µM), pan-PAD inhibitor Cl-amidine (50  $\mu$ M), and BB-Cl-amidine (5  $\mu$ M). Cell viability of bacteria in the presence of the different PAD inhibitors was assessed by counting the number (no) of surviving bacterial colonies on the plates. The no. of colonies (viable cells), inoculating volume and dilution factor of the bacterial culture used was used to calculate the viable cells in colony forming unit (cfu/ml) (cfu/ml = (no. of colonies x dilution factor)/volumeof culture plate). OMV/MV isolation following treatment was carried out as described above and changes in OMV/MV release were assessed by quantifying numbers of OMVs/MVs by NTA analysis using the Nanosight LM10 as described above. The experiment was repeated three times and replicate histograms were averaged.

# **Disc Diffusion Test**

*E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach nutrient agar plates were prepared and sterile paper disks were soaked in the PAD inhibitors at the same concentrations as before. Culture medium was 10 ml, log growth phase of bacteria was assessed by OD600, and the inoculum concentration was 0.1 ml. Discs were impregnated with the antibiotics (all from Sigma-Aldrich) at the following concentrations: colistin (10 µg/ml), rifampicin (15 µg/ml), erythromycin (15 µg/ml), kanamycin (1,000 µg/ml), and vancomycin (5 µg/ml). The inhibitor discs were placed in the middle of the agar plates, while the antibiotic discs were placed equi-distant to the respective inhibitor discs to be tested. The Kirby-Bauer test was used to assess the zone of inhibition after 24 h. **Supplementary Figure 4** shows the agar plates containing the disks, following completion of the test.

### MIC Measurement of Colistin and Vancomycin in *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

MIC values for colistin and vancomycin were tested for E. coli and S. aureus, respectively. E. coli and S. aureus suspensions were prepared in Müller Hinton Broth according to Iqbal et al. (2013). For E. coli, the concentration of colistin was based on previously published MIC values for colistin, ranging between 2 and 16 µg/ml (Moskowitz et al., 2010; Rojas et al., 2017), and here this range was further expanded between  $0.015 \,\mu$ g/ml to  $64 \,\mu$ g/ml. MIC values for vancomycin have previously been recorded in the range of 1.5-2 µg/ml (Maclayton et al., 2006; Kshetry et al., 2016; Goldstein et al., 2018) and in some studies a MIC value of 8 µg/ml and higher has been reported (Alam et al., 2014; Lepe et al., 2014). Therefore, for S. aureus a MIC confirmation test starting from a concentration of 8 µg/ml was carried out here and thereafter the MIC was considered accordingly. The doubling dilution method was used to obtain triplicates of concentrations used for the antibiotics and a triplicate of control omitting antibiotic was also prepared. The plates were incubated overnight at 37°C and the MIC values of antibiotic treated control wells were compared to wells where PAD inhibitors were applied in combination with the antibiotics.

# **Statistical Analysis**

The histograms and graphs were prepared and statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, U.S.A.). One-way ANOVA and *t*-test analysis were performed, followed by Tukey's *post-hoc* analysis. Significant differences were considered as  $p \leq 0.05$  and histograms represent mean of data, with error bars representing standard error of mean (SEM).

# RESULTS

# Characterization of Bacterial OMVs/MVs

A poly-dispersed population of OMVs was verified by nanoparticle tracking (NTA) analysis, with the majority of vesicles released in the 20–300 nm range for *E. coli* VCS257, and similarly in the 37–300 nm range for *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach (Figures 1A1, 2). This was further confirmed by transmission electron microscopy, assessing overall morphology and providing average size estimations (Figures 1B1, 2). Morphological analysis by TEM revealed OMVs, including with inner and outer membranes visible, for *E. coli* (Figure 1B1) and typical MVs for *S. aureus* (Figure 1B2). Western blotting verified the presence of the OMV-specific marker OmpC (Figure 1C). Changes in OMV size distribution after PAD-inhibitor treatment in *E. coli* was reflected in a change in NTA profile as shown in Figures 1D–G and further discussed below.

# PAD Inhibitors Inhibit OMV Release in the Gram-Negative Bacterium *E. coli* VCS257

Effects of the various PAD inhibitors on OMV release in *E. coli* are shown in **Figure 2**. The PAD4-specific inhibitor GSK199



FIGURE 1 | Characterization of *E. coli* VCS257 OMVs and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach MVs using NTA, TEM and Western blotting analysis. (A) NTA curves, obtained by Nanosight analysis, showing OMVs released from *E. coli* (A1) and *S. aureus* (A2) under standard conditions; (B) Negative stain TEM micrographs of *E. coli* OMVs (B1) show the presence of a poly-dispersed sample ranging in size from mainly 20 nm to 320 nm (scale bars represent 200 nm), including vesicles showing (*Continued*)

FIGURE 1 | inner and outer membranes for *E.coli* VCS257 OMVs (B1) and MVs from *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach (B2). (C) OMV-specific marker OmpC verified by Western blotting. (D–G) NTA profiles of OMVs released from *E. coli* VCS257 following PAD inhibitor treatment. OMV release profile from *E. coli* treated for 1 h with PAD inhibitors as follows: (D) CI-amidine (first generation pan-PAD inhibitor; 50 μM); (E) BB-CI-amidine (second generation pan-PAD inhibitor; 5 μM); (F) AMF30a (PAD2 inhibitor; 5 μM); (G) GSK199 (PAD4 inhibitor; 10 μM).

showed most potent OMV inhibition with a 66.4% reduction in OMV release (p = 0.0001), but also most significantly affected cell viability (23.9% reduction, p = 0.0008). BB-Cl-amidine was the second most potent inhibitor with a 53.8% reduction in OMV release (p < 0.0001) and a reduction, albeit non-significant (p= 0.1351), of 19.3% in cell viability, as measured by CFU. Clamidine resulted in a 42.4% inhibition of OMV release (p =0.0001) and an 18.2% decrease in cell viability (p = 0.0111). The PAD2-specific inhibitor AMF30a was less effective with a 28.2% reduction in OMV release (p = 0.0116) and caused a 14.7% reduction in cell viability (p = 0.0283) (Figure 2B). Furthermore, in addition to reduced total OMV numbers released after PAD inhibitor treatment, the following changes in OMV profiles were observed by NTA analysis: Cl-amidine treated E. coli released OMVs in the size range 20-400 nm, BB-Cl-amidine treated cells showed OMV release in the 20-500 nm size range, while AMF30a (PAD2 inhibitor) treatment resulted in an additional notable peak of OMVs at 501 nm and a second smaller peak at 701 nm. GSK199 (PAD4 inhibitor) treatment resulted in an OMV release profile of 20-400 nm, similar to that for Cl-amidine (Figures 1D-G).

### PAD Inhibitors Inhibit Membrane Vesicle (MV) Release in *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

The same range of PAD inhibitors as used with *E. coli* was used to examine the effect on membrane vesicle (MV) release from a Gram-positive bacterium, *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach (**Figure 2C**). PAD4-specific inhibitor GSK199 resulted in the highest inhibition of MV release, with 22.5% reduction (p = 0.0018), while PAD2 inhibitor AMF30a showed only 3.4% reduction in OMV release (p = 0.0606). First generation pan-PAD inhibitor Cl-amidine resulted in a 12.5% inhibition of MV release (p = 0.0016), and also had the lowest negative impact on *S. aureus* cell viability (3.3%, p = 0.0835; **Figure 2D**), while second generation pan-PAD inhibitor BB-Cl-amidine showed 7.6% MV inhibition (p = 0.0061) (**Figures 2C,D**).

# Phylogenetic Reconstruction of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* PAD/AD

Two well supported clades were formed within the Neighborjoining phylogeny (**Figure 3**) based on multiple sequence alignment of the whole amino acid sequences (using Clustal Omega), suggesting that E. coli PAD/AD (arginine deiminase RRM86073.1) is most closely related to human PAD2 (**Figure 3A**). The E. coli PAD/AD has a shorter, 406 amino acid (aa) sequence (arginine deiminase EDV68547.1), compared to human PAD2 (NP031391), PAD3 (AIC56498), and PAD4 (AIC56076), which are 665, 663, and 664 aa, respectively. Various single, fully conserved residues are found, while some conservation of similarity between E. coli PAD/AD with human PAD2 and PAD3 is visible that scores >0.5 in the Gonner PAM matrix (**Supplementary Figure 1**). For S. aureus, two well-supported clades were also formed within the Neighbor-joining phylogeny (**Figure 3B**), suggesting that S. aureus PAD/AD (arginine deiminase BBA25170) is also most closely related to human PAD2. The S. aureus bacterial PAD/AD has a shorter, 411 aa sequence (BBA25170), similar to that seen for E. coli PAD/AD, compared to the human PAD2, PAD3, and PAD4 isozymes, which are approximately 664 aa. Various single, fully conserved residues are found, while some conservation of similarity between S. aureus PAD/AD to human PAD2 and PAD3 is visible that scores >0.5 in the Gonner PAM matrix (**Supplementary Figure 2**).

### Detection of PAD/AD Protein and Citrullinated/Deiminated Protein Products in *E. coli* VCS257

Using Western blotting analysis, *E. coli* cell and *E. coli* OMV protein extracts were assessed for total deiminated proteins, using the anti-peptidyl-citrulline F95 antibody (MABN328, Merck, U.K.), as well as for cross-reactivity with human PAD2 (ab50257), PAD3 (ab169479), and PAD4 (ab96758) antibodies (**Figure 4**). For total deiminated proteins (F95), bands in the size range of 15–120 kDa were revealed in both *E. coli* cells and derived OMVs (**Figure 4A**). The presence of a PAD/AD-like protein was verified in *E. coli* and derived OMVs, by the detection of an expected band at 40–50 kDa, representative of a bacterial PAD/AD (**Figure 4B**).

#### Immunoprecipitation of Deiminated Proteins From *E. coli* VCS257 and Derived OMVs

Deiminated proteins from E. coli and derived OMVs were immunoprecipitated using the Catch and Release<sup>®</sup> v2.0 Reversible Immunoprecipitation System (Merck, U.K.) according to the manufacturer's instructions and the anti-peptidyl-citrulline F95 antibody (MABN328, Merck) (Figures 4C,D and Supplementary Figure 3). As the PAD4 inhibitor GSK199 was here found to be the most effective OMV inhibitor (Figure 2A), immunoprecipitation using the PAD4 antibody was also carried out on E. coli cell protein extracts, for identification of putative PAD4 bound proteins (Figure 4 and Supplementary Figure 3). A range of F95 enriched bands was seen in both E. coli and OMV samples (Figure 4C). In addition, the PAD4 enriched eluate showed an F95 positive band in the expected size range of an E. coli PAD/AD at 45 kDa (Figure 4C, lane 6, arrow), thus indicating that E. coli PAD/AD itself may also be deiminated. This band was more prominent when the PAD4 antibody was used for immunoprecipitation from the E. coli protein lysate, showing a very strong band just below 50 kDa



**FIGURE 2** | Effects of PAD inhibitors on OMV release from *E. coli* VCS257 and MV release from *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach. (A) All PAD inhibitors showed significant OMV inhibition in *E. coli* compared to untreated controls. PAD4 inhibitor GSK199 and second generation pan-PAD inhibitor BB-CI-amidine were the strongest inhibitors of OMV release. The PAD2-specific inhibitor AMF30a was less effective. (B) *E. coli* viability after 24 h PAD inhibitor treatment, represented as CFU. (C) PAD4 inhibitor GSK199 was the most effective MV inhibitor in *S. aureus*, reducing MV release by 22.5%. (D) *S. aureus* viability, represented as CFU, after 24 h treatment with PAD inhibitors is shown. The experiment was repeated thrice and the data presented are mean ± SEM of the results; exact *p*-values are indicated. Concentration of PAD-inhibitors used was as follows: PAD2 inhibitor AMF30a (5 μM), PAD4 inhibitor, GSK199 (10 μM), pan-PAD inhibitors CI-amidine (50 μM) and BB-CI-amidine (5 μM).



FIGURE 3 | Neighbor joining tree. The phylogenetic clustering of *E. coli* (A) and *S. aureus* (B) PAD/AD, respectively is shown. The evolutionary analysis was inferred using the Neighbor-Joining method under the conditions of the Poisson distance correction model in MEGA6. Bootstrap values >50 based on 1,000 replicates are shown as nodal support. Clade 1 contains *E. coli* (GenBank: EDV68547.1) PAD/AD and Clade 2 contains human PAD2 (GenBank:NP031391), PAD3 (GenBank: AlC56498) and PAD4 (GenBank: AlC56076).

(Figure 4D, lanes 5–6). When testing the PAD4 bound eluate with the F95 deimination antibody, several additional positive bands were detected and may possibly represent deiminated

proteins co-immunoprecipitating with the PAD4 antibody (**Figure 4C**; lanes 5 and 6). The F95 eluate from OMVs though also showed a reaction with the PAD4 antibody (**Figure 4D**;



eluted using non-reducing and reducing elution buffer, respectively, and both F95-bound eluates obtained were thereafter run under reducing conditions in the gel. (D) The same fractions were tested with the PAD4 antibody. Prominent bands around the 50 kDa region (lanes 5–6) correspond to a predicted size of *E. coli* PAD/AD. Faint bands of similar sizes are also observed in the OMV F95-enriched samples (lanes 1–2) which may suggest the presence of a PAD/AD which is deiminated in both *E. coli* and derived OMVs. The protein standard is indicated in kDa on all blots. For identification of protein hits as assessed by LC-MS/MS for the F95 and PAD4 bound eluates, see **Tables 1, 2**.

lanes 3 and 4), and therefore may indicate a deiminated PAD/AD and further deiminated proteins bound to the PAD/AD in *E. coli* derived OMVs. Such auto-deimination of the bacterial PAD/AD will though require further investigation to be fully confirmed.

### Liquid Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) Analysis of Deiminated Proteins From *E. coli* VCS257 and Derived OMVs

Immunoprecipitated proteins (F95 enriched and PAD4 bound) from *E. coli* cells and derived OMVs were analyzed by LC-MS/MS (**Figures 5**, **6** and **Tables 1**, **2**). Nine deiminated proteins were identified in the F95 enriched *E. coli* OMV protein sample (**Figures 5**, **6A**). The 30s ribosomal protein S15 was unique to OMVs. As threonine-tRNA ligase (*thrS*), has not been reported in *E. coli* OMVs before, STRING (Search Tool for the Retrieval

of Interacting Genes/Proteins) analysis (https://string-db.org/) was carried out to assess if *thrS* is interconnected with the other proteins in the OMV associated proteins (**Figure 6B**). This showed five of the nine proteins to be associated with each other, at least through text mining. Furthermore, the *E. coli* OMV-associated *thrS* is co-expressed with 30s ribosomal protein S15 (*rpsO*), 30s ribosomal protein S4 (*rpsD*) and 50S ribosomal protein L22 (*rplY*), as well as being experimentally determined to interact with *rplY* (**Figure 6B**).

**Table 1** lists proteins identified in *E. coli* cell samples that were unique in F95 enriched eluates. **Table 2A** lists proteins that were identified in the PAD4 enriched eluates from *E. coli* cells, indicative of PAD4 bound proteins. **Table 2B** summarizes common proteins identified in all three eluates (F95 enriched eluate from *E. coli* cells, F95 enriched eluate from OMVs, PAD4 enriched eluate from *E. coli* cells); proteins are shown that had two or more peptides identified and a protein score of >50.



# PAD Inhibitor Treatment Enhances Antibiotic Sensitivity of *E. coli* VCS257

Kanamycin was the most effective antibiotic against E. coli in the absence of PAD inhibitors (Figure 7A). In the presence of PAD inhibitors, GSK199 most significantly enhanced the effects of erythromycin, measured as a percentage increase in the zone of inhibition on the lawn of *E. coli*, by 88.9% (p = 0.0025); that of rifampicin by 56.7% (p = 0.0561) and that of colistin by 14.6% (p = 0.2495). BB-Cl-amidine was most effective when used in combination with rifampicin, increasing the zone of inhibition by 106.45% (p = 0.0025) and that of kanamycin by 65.6% (p = 0.0186). Cl-amidine caused enhancement of antibiotic sensitivity in combination with rifampicin (43.8%; p = 0.045), erythromycin (35.6%; p = 0.0572), and kanamycin (38.8%; p = 0.0390), compared to antibiotic alone (Figure 8). AMF30a was not effective in sensitizing E. coli to any of the antibiotics tested (see Supplementary Figure 4A, showing the agar plates). Importantly, there were no zones of inhibition seen in the agar plates which were only treated with the inhibitor discs, thus ruling out any inhibition on bacterial growth in the absence of antibiotics (Supplementary Figure 4B).

# PAD Inhibitors Enhance Antibiotic Sensitivity of *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

PAD inhibitors significantly enhanced antibiotic effectivity against *S. aureus* (Figure 7B). For erythromycin, BB-Cl-amidine

significantly enhanced antibacterial effects, by 18.2% (p = 0.0234). For vancomycin, GSK199 was most effective, with a 69.3% increase in antibiotic effectivity (p = 0.0250), while Clamidine was also significant (42.7%, p = 0.0354). (Figure 7B). For rifampicin, GSK199 and Cl-amidine significantly increased the zone of inhibition (10.1%; p = 0.0202) and 6.4%; p = 0.0239, respectively). The antibacterial effects of kanamycin were also significantly increased by both Cl-amidine and BB-Cl-amidine by 20.8% (p = 0.0055) and 28.9%; (p = 0.0101), respectively. For colistin, Cl-amidine increased the zone of inhibition by 21.5% (p = 0.0444). There were no zones of inhibition seen in the agar plates treated with the PAD inhibitor discs alone, indicating no effect on bacterial growth (Supplementary Figures 4C,D).

# PAD Inhibitors Decrease MIC Value of Colistin Against *E. coli* VCS257

As the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) value of colistin against Gram-negative bacteria has been inconsistently reported in the literature it was further investigated here (**Figure 8A**). BB-Cl-amidine and Cl-amidine resulted in 91.6% (p = 0.0001) and 87.4% (p = 0.0002) reduction in MIC, respectively, while GSK199 lowered the MIC by 76% (p = 0.0004) (**Figure 8A**). There were no zones of inhibition seen in the plates which were only treated with the inhibitor discs, indicating no bactericidal effect due to inhibitors alone.

VniProt ID Protein name Gene name MS2 Intensity Score (p<0.05)	Α				
P04949 Flagellin fliC 9488.724 653.24   P0A906 Outer membrane lipoprotein slyB 10565.21 632.79   Q1R636 30S ribosomal protein S4 rpsD 3554.363 289.35   B7L6J2 ThreoninetRNA ligase thrS 8718.552 371.78   P21513 Ribonuclease E me 8574.855 369.58   P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein rbsB 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB dlpB 30537.26 227.63	UniProt ID	Protein name	Gene name	MS2 Intensity	Score (p<0.05)
P0A906 Outer membrane lipoprotein slyB 10565.21 632.79   Q1R636 30S ribosomal protein S4 rpsD 3554.363 289.35   B7L6J2 ThreoninetRNA ligase thrS 8718.552 371.78   P21513 Ribonuclease E me 8574.855 369.58   P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein rbsB 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB clpB 30537.26 227.63	Q1R6H3	30S ribosomal protein S15	rpsO	67181.14	585.62
Q1R636 30S ribosomal protein S4 rpsD 3554.363 289.35   B7L6J2 ThreoninetRNA ligase thrS 8718.552 371.78   P21513 Ribonuclease E me 8574.855 369.58   P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein rbsB 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB clpB 30537.26 227.63	P04949	Flagellin	fliC	9488.724	653.24
B7L6J2 ThreoninetRNA ligase thrS 8718.552 371.78   P21513 Ribonuclease E me 8574.855 369.58   P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein rbsB 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB clpB 30537.26 227.63	P0A906	Outer membrane lipoprotein	slyB	10565.21	632.79
P21513 Ribonuclease E me 8574.855 369.58   P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein rbsB 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB clpB 30537.26 227.63	Q1R636	30S ribosomal protein S4	rpsD	3554.363	289.35
P02925 D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein <i>rbsB</i> 6973.666 270.86   P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB <i>clpB</i> 30537.26 227.63	B7L6J2	ThreoninetRNA ligase	thrS	8718.552	371.78
P63285 Chaperone protein ClpB clpB 30537.26 227.63	P21513	Ribonuclease E	me	8574.855	369.58
	P02925	D-ribose-binding periplasmic protein	rbsB	6973.666	270.86
<b>B5YWX8</b> 50S ribosomal protein L25 <i>rplY</i> 4326.5 51.12	P63285	Chaperone protein ClpB	сlpВ	30537.26	227.63
	B5YWX8	50S ribosomal protein L25	rplY	4326.5	51.12



# PAD Inhibitors Decrease MIC Value of Vancomycin Against *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

The MIC value of vancomycin against *S. aureus* has been inconsistently reported in the literature and was thus investigated further. **Figure 8B** shows the effect of the most effective MV-inhibiting PAD inhibitors on the MIC of vancomycin; Cl-amidine showed a 62.5% reduction (p = 0.0022) while GSK199 lowered MIC by 25% (p = 0.0161) (**Figure 8B**). There was no effect on MIC of colistin in the presence of inhibitors alone.

# DISCUSSION

For analysis of bacterial OMV/MVs in this study, isolation and quantification approaches using ultracentrifugation and

NTA analysis were used, similar as performed by other groups (McCaig et al., 2013; Klimentova and Stulik, 2015; Roier et al., 2016). OMVs have previously been reported to fall mainly in the size range 10–300 nm (Kulkarni et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016), and similar profiles were observed here. OMVs were also further characterized morphologically using TEM, and by Western blotting analysis using the outer membrane specific marker, OmpC (**Figure 1**). Furthermore, some change in OMV profile was observed in response to PAD inhibitor treatment, and this varied between inhibitors used, showing a change in shift of vesicle size populations after treatment with the different PAD inhibitors.

Here, an *E. coli* VCS257 citrullinome was identified for the first time, using F95 enrichment and LC-MS/MS analysis, confirming the presence of deiminated/citrullinated proteins in *E. coli* cells and *E. coli* derived OMVs. In bacteria, studies on PAD/AD

PADs Regulate Bacterial MV Release

TABLE 1 Deiminated proteins identified by F95 enrichment in E. coli
VCS257cells.

UniProt ID	Protein name	Abbreviation	MS2 Intensity	Score (p < 0.05) <sup>a</sup>
B7MQF2	Trigger factor	tig	81193	192.72
B7NKH1	UPF0227 protein YcfP	ycfP	11941	166.86
B7MSJ0	RNA-binding protein Hfq	hfq	256917	132.47
Q1R638	50S ribosomal protein L17	rplQ	126430	128.85
Q1R602	50S ribosomal protein L3	rplC	69461	254.77
Q1R619	50S ribosomal protein L24	rplX	6484.4	75.48
B7N255	Protein-export protein SecB	secB	136512	77.044
P14407	Fumarate hydratase class I, anaerobic	fumB	15233	78.27
P0A9S6	Glycerol dehydrogenase	gldA	220449	441.19
P69799	PTS system mannose- specific EIIAB component	manX	94232	56.71
B7MRV6	Serine-tRNA ligase	serS	16845	55.11

<sup>a</sup> lons score is -10\*Log(P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores >16 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits. Cut-off was set at lons score 20. Values with 2 or more peptides per protein and a score of >50 were considered.

Deiminated proteins were isolated by immunoprecipitation using the pan-deimination F95 antibody and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Peak files were submitted to Mascot.

homologs have been limited and hitherto mainly reported in *P. gingivalis* (Mangat et al., 2010; Bielecka et al., 2014); a *Gingivalis* citrullinome has also been described (Stobernack et al., 2016). An *E. coli* PAD/AD-like protein was detected here at approximatly 40–50 kDa, similar to that found in *P. gingivalis* (Bielecka et al., 2014; Gabarrini et al., 2018), while in comparison human PADs are 72–75 kDa (Vossenaar et al., 2003; Kosgodage et al., 2018). Multiple sequence analysis of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* suggested that PAD/AD of *E. coli* and *S. aureus* are most closely related to human PAD2.

Interestingly, for inhibiting OMV/MV release from Gramnegative and Gram-positive bacteria the PAD4-specific inhibitor GSK199 was most effective while the PAD2-specific inhibitor AMF30a was least effective. Therefore, it may be postulated that the tertiary conformation of both *E. coli* and *S. aureus* PAD/ADs may be more similar to human PAD4, although the amino acid sequence alignment analysis indicates more similarity to PAD2, and this will require further investigation. In *P. gingivalis*, also a Gram-negative bacterium, PAD is believed to be evolutionarily only remotely related to human PAD2 despite the fact that both catalyze the same chemical reaction (Rodríguez et al., 2009; Bereta et al., 2019) and furthermore, point-mutation variants with differing deimination activity have also been reported in *Gingivalis* (Gabarrini et al., 2018; Bereta et al., 2019).

Here, F95 enrichment analysis revealed a range of deiminated proteins, both in *E. coli* cells and their derived OMVs, indicating lateral transfer of deiminated proteins via OMVs. Besides roles in bacterial communication, this may possibly also affect host-pathogen interactions, including immune evasion via modification of the host's proteins. For example, citrullination/deimination of complement component C5a, upon treatment with *P. gingivalis* OMVs, as opposed to *in vitro* treatment of C5a with PAD, has been shown to contribute to bacterial immune evasion by decreasing the chemotactic ability of neutrophils (Bielecka et al., 2014).

The citrullinome of E. coli VCS257 observed here, revealed indeed a range of metabolic, stress-response related and membrane proteins, therefore indicating diverse roles for protein deimination in bacterial cell function. Deiminated proteins identified in E. coli derived OMVs included threonine-tRNA ligase, which has not been described as being deiminated in bacterial OMVs before, but has been shown to be in OMVs from Streptococcus suis (Haas and Grenier, 2015), albeit not in deiminated form. Threonine-tRNA ligase, also known as threonine-tRNA synthetase, belongs to the family of aminoacyltRNA synthetases, which are involved in RNA splicing and transcriptional and translational regulation. They link amino acids to their cognate transfer RNAs (tRNA) in aminoacylation reactions, that establish the connection between a specific amino acid and a nucleotide triplet anticodon embedded in the tRNA (Schimmel, 2008). Also, 30S ribosomal protein was identified as being deiminated in OMVs. It is one of the primary rRNA binding proteins that bind directly to 16S rRNA, where it helps nucleate assembly of the platform of the 30S subunit by binding and bridging several RNA helices of the 16S rRNA (Smith et al., 2018). In addition, 30S ribosomal protein S4 (rpsD) and S15 (rpsO) were identified as deiminated both in the E. coli cells as well as their derived OMVs. Previously, 40S ribosomal protein has been reported as a substrate of PAD4 mediated deimination/citrullination in HEK 293Tcells (Guo et al., 2011).

Furthermore, evidence of a PAD/AD-like protein exported in *E. coli* VCS257 derived OMVs was found. When probing the PAD4 enriched eluate with the F95 antibody, a faint positive band in the expected range for a putative bacterial PAD/AD, in the region of 50 kDa region was observed, indicating that possibly the *E. coli* PAD/AD may be deiminated itself, although the LC MS-MS analysis did not reveal a PAD/AD-like protein hit. Such a possibility of PAD/AD auto-deimination would though align with previous studies on auto-deimination of mammalian PAD4 (Slack et al., 2011) but will require further in-depth investigation. In a recent study on OMVs derived from *P. gingivalis*, it was found that *Gingivalis* PAD was abundant in OMVs, although no assessment was made of a deiminated PAD form or of deiminated proteins exported in OMVs (Gabarrini et al., 2018).

The effect of PAD inhibitors on OMV/MV release, as previously established for EV release in eukaryotic cells (Kholia et al., 2015; Kosgodage et al., 2017, 2018; Gavinho et al., 2019),

#### TABLE 2A | PAD4 bound proteins identified in E. coli VCS257 cells.

UniProt ID	Protein name	Abbreviation	MS2 Intensity	Score <sup>a</sup> (p<0.05)
P0A895	Lysine-tRNA ligase, heat inducible	lysU	321997	300.12
Q8X9L0	ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FtsH	ftsH	1E+06	151.09
B7MRC1	Regulator of sigma D	rsd	23402	247.53
P0ABC5	Modulator of FtsH protease HflC	hflC	66850	189.23
Q1R5V0	50S ribosomal protein L10	rplJ	478659	218.99
Q8X4S5	Arabinose 5-phosphate isomerase GutQ	gutQ	486219	120.37
Q1R6A9	50S ribosomal protein L13	rpIM	99365	135.62
P0AA45	Ribosomal small subunit pseudouridine synthase A	rsuA	50727	162.27
A7ZML6	Succinylornithine transaminase	astC	232079	73.58
B7MPT2	Curved DNA binding protein	cbpA	6123.2	90.68
P69911	Glutamate decarboxylase beta	gadB	387378	72.46
A7ZY39	Cyclic pyranopterin monophosphate synthase accessory protein	moaC	17232	67.03
Q1R613	50S ribosomal protein L16	rpIP	475140	95.53
Q1R358	30S ribosomal protein S18	rpsR	312269	103.87
P07014	Succinate dehydrogenase iron-sulfur subunit	sdhB	48651	157.85
P42632	PFL-like enzyme TdcE	tdcE	29499	66.01
P0AGL3	Putative reactive intermediate deaminase TdcF	tdcF	161746	80.57
Q8X7I0	UPF0339 protein YegP	yegP	6121.7	87.63
Q0TFD0	Acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase carboxyl transferase	accD	156916	99.12
	subunit-β			
P0A6A5	Acetate kinase	ackA	79146	70.42
P0A9Q3	Aerobic respiration control protein ArcA	arcA	19035	60.23
A8A0U0	Succinylornithine transaminase	astC	28022	73.51
P0A9H4	Inducible lysine decarboxylase	cadA	716567	78.26
Q8FJM0	DNA protection during starvation protein	dps	51562	65.43
B7N1L1	Glycine-tRNA ligase beta subunit	glyS	23006	87.76
B7N2S2	ATP-dependent protease ATPase subunit HslU	HslU	398703	52.01
B7N2Q7	ATP-dependent 6-phosphofructokinase isozyme 1	pfkA	57552	62.75
B7UJ59	Polyribonucleotide nucleotidyltransferase	Pnp	5914.7	70.94
B7MZ76	CTP synthase	pyrG	17163	59.39
B6I184	50S ribosomal protein L25	rpIY	56618	57.85
Q0TA78	DNA-directed RNA polymerase subunit beta	rpoB	102175	72.91
B6HZE3	30S ribosomal protein S2	rpsB	226035	68.17
B7NGD4	30S ribosomal protein S6	rpsF	151007	61.19
C4ZUJ7	30S ribosomal protein S12	rpsL	396281	110.55
Q8XBT3	Universal stress protein G	uspG	36115	159.67
P0AF94	2-iminobutanoate/2-iminopropanoate deaminase	yjgF	22468	105.18

<sup>a</sup> lons score is  $-10^{\circ}$ Log (P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores > 16 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits. Cut-off was set at lons score 20. Values with 2 or more peptides per protein and a score of >50 were considered.

Proteins were isolated by immunoprecipitation using the PAD4 antibody (ab96758) and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Peak files were submitted to Mascot.

TABLE 2B | Proteins identified both in F95 and PAD4 enriched samples of E. coli VCS257 cells and derived OMVs.

UniProt ID	Protein name		MS2 intensity			
		Abbreviation	E. coli F95	E. coli PAD4	OMV F95	Score <sup>a</sup> (p<0.05)
Q1R6H3	30S ribosomal protein S15	rpsO	128707	61762	67181	585.62
P04949	Flagellin	fliC	704599	1E+06	9488.7	653.24
P0A906	Outer membrane lipoprotein SlyB	slyB	289574	555800	10565	632.79
Q1R636	30S ribosomal protein S4	rpsD	22719	44378	3554.4	289.35

<sup>a</sup> lons score is -10\*Log (P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores > 16 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits. Cut-off was set at lons score 20. Values with 2 or more peptides per protein and a score of >50 were considered.

Proteins commonly identified by LC-MS/MS in both F95 and PAD4 enriched protein eluates are listed.

reveals a phylogenetically conserved pathway from bacteria to mammals. This is also in line with findings that many commonly expressed proteins including chaperone proteins, ribonuclease, outer membrane lipoprotein, 50S ribosomal protein L22 and flagellin are believed to be targets of protein deimination (Huang et al., 2016; Claushuis et al., 2018). Importantly, the present study shows that PAD inhibitors can be used to enhance antibiotic sensitivity of selected antibiotics. PAD4 inhibitor GSK199, alongside the pan-PAD inhibitors were effective for OMV/MV inhibition and sensitization to antibiotic treatment. Differences in mechanisms of action for the selected PAD inhibitors used in this study may need to be considered, both with regards to inhibiting vesicle release and the synergism observed with each antibiotic. Interestingly, while PAD4inhibitor GSK199 was overall the strongest OMV/MV inhibitor, albeit the pan-PAD inhibitors showed a similar trend, in some cases the pan-PAD inhibitors (Cl-am and BB-Cl-am) were more effective in sensitization to antibiotic treatment. It must also be taken into consideration that BB-Cl-amidine and Cl-amidine are hydrophilic, while AMF30a and GSK199 are hydrophobic compounds. Furthermore, GSK199 is highly lipophilic which may facilitate its uptake in the cell. The difference in hydrophobicity of the PAD inhibitors could have played a role in cell penetration, in addition to differing in specificity for inhibition of the bacterial PAD/AD, and this may therefore also have affected OMV/MV release. A recent review has demonstrated the presence of different types of vesicles released from both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria, indicating also that the composition of the cell membrane plays a role in vesiculation (Toyofuku et al., 2019). The presence of a thickened peptidoglycan cell wall in Grampositive bacteria restricts the penetration of most drugs into the cells, which suggests the need of an alternative receptormediated transport system (Liu et al., 2018). However, the high lipid content of the Gram-negative cell membrane with a thin layer of peptidoglycan increases membrane fluidity thus facilitating OMV release (Roier et al., 2016). This may also facilitate the bacterial cell wall penetration of lipid soluble drugs and elicit a more effective response, as indeed observed here for GSK199.

While PAD4-mediated neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation is a well-known bactericidal and anti-pathogenic mechanism of the immune system (Li et al., 2010; Claushuis et al., 2018; Magnadóttir et al., 2018), we have now revealed here another antibacterial mechanism, namely via PAD/ADmediated inhibition of bacterial OMV/MV release. Bacteria may indeed utilize their PAD/AD in several ways for modulation of the host immune system and immune invasion, including via the generation of neo-epitopes, modification of host's immune proteins, such as C5a, and also through the release of OMV/MVs. While many studies on OMVs have been based on Gram-negative bacterial species (Pérez-Cruz et al., 2013; Bonnington and Kuehn, 2016; Roier et al., 2016), MV release from S. aureus has also been shown by different groups (Lee et al., 2009; Gurung et al., 2011). Interestingly, MV secretion and improper vancomycin treatment have been correlated with biofilm formation by methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) (He et al., 2017).

When assessing the effectivity of PAD inhibition to enhance susceptibility of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial species to antibiotic treatment, E. coli VCS257 were rendered more sensitive to erythromycin, rifampicin, kanamycin and colistin, while S. aureus subsp. aureus Rosenbach became more sensitive to all five antibiotics tested. This increased sensitivity in both bacterial species varied though somewhat, depending on the PAD-specific inhibitors used. It must also be noted that while the zone of inhibition was statistically significant in S. aureus, the proportional differences observed in antibiotic sensitization were not as high as those observed in some cases for E. coli and therefore it will require further investigation how physiologically significant such lower, albeit statistically significant, effects are. It can also be postulated that bacteria may use PAD/AD mediated deimination as a mode of a hitherto non-described microbial strategy to evade antibiotic action, and this might also explain some differences observed with the different PAD inhibitors and will require further in-depth investigation. There was no antibacterial effect of vancomycin on E. coli VCS257, confirming its limited effectiveness on Gram-negative species and the previously established resistance of E. coli to vancomycin, due to its inability to significantly penetrate the outer membrane (Zhou et al., 2015). Here, colistin and vancomycin effectivity was found to be enhanced in the presence of PAD inhibitors in E. coli and S. aureus respectively, decreasing MIC value at varying degrees. This indicates that lower concentrations of the antibiotic may be used to treat infections with minimal damage to healthy cells. It has previously been shown that the presence of calcium decreases the bactericidal effect of colistin on Paenibacillus *polymyxa*, which suggests that  $Ca^{2+}$  modulates a protective barrier against colistin (Yu et al., 2015). As the PADs are calcium-activated enzymes, it can be postulated that downstream PAD/AD activation and resulting OMV/MV release via a PAD/AD pathway may be a measure of bacterial defense against colistin treatment.

Our current study is the first to describe effects of PAD inhibitors on OMV/MV release in both a Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial species. PAD/AD inhibition approaches in bacteria have previously been discussed in relation to oral Gingivalis and the association to initiation of autoimmunity via the generation of neo-epitopes (Mangat et al., 2010; Montgomery et al., 2016). Pharmacological inhibition of PADs, using Cl-amidine or a PAD2/PAD4 inhibitor has also been shown to improve survival in several murine models of sepsis and LPS-induced endotoxemia (Zhao et al., 2016; Biron et al., 2017; Liang et al., 2018). Here we have shown that PAD inhibition had a significant effect on antibiotic sensitization in both species, albeit to a lower extent in S. aureus. Therefore, further identification and assessment of candidate OMV/MV inhibitors may allow for tailored application according to bacteria type and specific antibiotics.

Previous studies have discussed the use of OMVs for example as drug delivery vehicles (Ellis and Kuehn, 2010;


Gujrati et al., 2014; Gerritzen et al., 2017; Jain and Pillai, 2017; Jan, 2017; Wang et al., 2018). OMVs have also been tested as delivery vehicles for targeted gene silencing using siRNA-packaged OMVs (Alves et al., 2016), although the exact mechanism for packaging proteins and other reagents in OMVs still remains to be fully understood. There is also an increasing interest in identification of OMV sub-populations (Pérez-Cruz et al., 2016; Bonnington and Kuehn, 2017; Turner et al., 2018; Cooke et al., 2019; Toyofuku

et al., 2019; Zavan et al., 2019), as well as in assessing the importance of OMV size for cellular uptake and entry (Turner et al., 2018). Therefore, changes observed here in the NTA spectra of OMVs in response to PAD inhibitor treatment (**Figures 1D-G**) may be of some interest in addition to the observed reduction in total amounts of OMV/MVs released.

For the first time, the potential of using PAD inhibitors to enhance antibiotic sensitivity has been assessed, in both a



Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial species, revealing a phylogenetically conserved PAD/AD pathway of membrane vesicle release. This may open avenues for tailored OMV/MV inhibition in combination with selected antibiotics, according to bacterial type, to regulate biofilm formation and tackle antibiotic resistance.

## CONCLUSION

This study reveals a phylogenetically conserved PAD/AD pathway of OMV/MV release in bacteria that can be pharmacologically modulated to sensitize bacteria to antibiotic treatment. For the first time, a citrullinome of *E. coli* VCS257 and associated OMVs is described, indicating lateral transfer of deiminated proteins via OMVs. Our findings highlight new applications for PAD inhibitors to regulate OMV/MV release and to enhance antibiotic sensitivity in both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

UK, PM, GM, IK, DB, BA, and SL performed the experiments. UK, SL, and JI analyzed the data. PM, GM, IK, AN, SL, and JI provided resources. UK, SL, and JI designed the study and wrote the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported in parts by the IAPP project 612224 (EVEStemInjury, REA FP7, Project No. LSC09R R3474) to JI and a University of Westminster Start-up Grant to SL. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank Paul R. Thompson, UMASS for providing the PAD inhibitors and Vinothini Rajeeve, Queen Mary University London, for LC-MS-MS analysis. Thanks are also due to the Guy Foundation for funding the purchase of equipment utilized in this study.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00227/full#supplementary-material

**Supplementary Figure 1** | Multiple sequence alignment of *E. coli* AD and human PADs. The evolutionary relationship between *E. coli* AD and human PAD2, 3 and 4 is shown; (\*) indicates positions which have a single, fully conserved residue; (:) indicates conservation between groups of strongly similar properties - scoring > 0.5 in the Gonnet PAM 250 matrix; (.) indicates conservation between groups of weakly similar properties, scoring <0.5 in the Gonnet PAM 250 matrix.

**Supplementary Figure 2** | Multiple sequence alignment of *S. aureus* AD and human PADs. The evolutionary relationship between *S. aureus* AD and human PAD2, 3 and 4 is shown; (\*) indicates positions which have a single, fully conserved residue; (:) indicates conservation between groups of strongly similar properties—scoring >0.5 in the Gonnet PAM 250 matrix; (.) indicates conservation between groups of weakly similar properties, - scoring <0.5 in the Gonnet PAM 250 matrix.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Western blotting of immunoprecipitated deiminated proteins (F95) and PAD4 bound proteins from *E. coli* VCS257 and derived OMVs.

(A) Same figure as 4C, but also showing unbound fractions (flow-through) from OMVs and *E. coli* after IP, using the F95 antibody. (B) Same figure as 4D, but also showing unbound fractions (flow-through) from OMVs and *E. coli* after IP, using the PAD4 antibody.

Supplementary Figure 4 | Agar plates showing the Kirby-Bauer disk diffusion test for *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach. (A) Disk

### REFERENCES

- Alam, M. T., Petit, R. A. III, Crispell, E. K., Thornton, T. A., Conneely, K. N., Jiang, Y., et al. (2014). Dissecting vancomycin-intermediate resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus* using genome-wide association. *Genome Biol. Evol.* 6, 1174–1185. doi: 10.1093/gbe/evu092
- Alves, N. J., Turner, K. B., Mendints, I. L., and Walper, S. A. (2016). Protecting enzymatic function through directed packaging into bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Sci. Rep.* 6:24866. doi: 10.1038/srep 24866
- Bereta, G., Goulas, T., Madej, M., Bielecka, E., Solà, M., Potempa, J., et al. (2019). Structure, function, and inhibition of a genomic/clinical variant of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* peptidylarginine deiminase. *Protein Sci.* 28, 478–486. doi: 10.1002/pro.3571
- Bielecka, E., Scavenius, C., Kantyka, T., Jusko, M., Mizgalska, D., Szmigielski, B., et al. (2014). Peptidyl arginine deiminase from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* abolishes anaphylatoxin C5a activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 32481–32487. doi: 10.1074/jbc.C114.617142
- Biron, B. M., Chung, C. S., Chen, Y., Wilson, Z., Fallon, E. A., Reichner, J. S., et al. (2018). PAD4 deficiency leads to decreased organ dysfunction and improved survival in a dual insult model of hemorrhagic shock and sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 200, 1817–1828. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700639
- Biron, B. M., Chung, C. S., O'Brien, X. M., Chen, Y., Reichner, J. S., and Ayala, A. (2017). Cl-Amidine prevents histone 3 citrullination and neutrophil extracellular trap formation, and improves survival in a murine sepsis model. *J. Innate Immun.* 9, 22–32. doi: 10.1159/000448808
- Bitto, N. J., and Kaparakis-Liaskos, M. (2017). The therapeutic benefit of bacterial membrane vesicles. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18:E1287. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061287
- Bonnington, K. E., and Kuehn, M. J. (2016). Outer membrane vesicle production facilitates LPS remodeling and outer membrane maintenance in salmonella during environmental transitions. *mBio*. 7:e01532–e01516. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01532-16
- Bonnington, K. E., and Kuehn, M. J. (2017). Breaking the bilayer: OMV formation during environmental transitions. *Microb Cell* 4, 64–66. doi: 10.15698/mic2017.02.558
- Campbell, E. A., Korzheva, N., Mustaev, A., Murakami, K., Nair, S., Goldfarb, A., et al. (2001). Structural mechanism for rifampicin inhibition of bacterial RNA polymerase. *Cell.* 104, 901–912. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)0 0286-0
- Choi, S. J., Kim, M. H., Jeon, J., Kim, O. Y., Choi, Y., Seo, J., et al. (2015). Active immunization with extracellular vesicles derived from *Staphylococcus aureus* effectively protects against staphylococcal lung infections, mainly via Th1 cell-mediated immunity. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0136021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136021
- Claushuis, T. A. M., van der Donk, L. E. H., Luitse, A. L., van Veen, H. A., van der Wel, N. N., van Vught, L. A., et al. (2018). Role of peptidylarginine deiminase 4 in neutrophil extracellular trap formation and host defense during *Klebsiella pneumoniae*-induced pneumonia-derived sepsis. *J. Immunol.* 201, 1241–1252. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800314
- Cooke, A. C., Nello, A. V., Ernst, R. K., and Schertzer, J. W. (2019). Analysis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm membrane vesicles supports multiple mechanisms of biogenesis. *PLoS ONE*. 14:e0212275. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212275
- Costa, N. A., Gut, A. L., Azevedo, P. S., Polegato, B. F., Magalhães, E. S., Ishikawa, L. L. W., et al. (2018). Peptidylarginine deiminase 4 concentration, but not PADI4 polymorphisms, is associated with ICU mortality in septic shock patients. J. Cell Mol. Med. 22, 4732–4737. doi: 10.1111/jcmm. 13717

diffusion test for *E. coli* VCS257. **(B)** Effects of PAD inhibitor disks alone on *E. coli* are shown. **(C)** Disk diffusion test for *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach. **(D)** Effects of PAD inhibitors alone on *S. aureus* are shown. Disks containing the following antibiotics are indicated: erythromycin **(E)**, vancomycin (V), Rifampicin (R), kanamycin (K), colistin (C). PAD inhibitors used were GSK199 (10  $\mu$ M; PAD4 inhibitor), CI-amidine (50  $\mu$ M; pan-PAD inhibitor), BB-CI-amidine (5  $\mu$ M; pan-PAD inhibitor).

- Dorward, D. W., and Garon, C. F. (1990). DNA is packaged within membranederived vesicles of Gram-negative but not Gram-positive bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56, 1960–1962.
- Ellis, T. N., and Kuehn, M. J. (2010). Virulence and immunomodulatory roles of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 74, 81–94. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00031-09
- Falagas, M. E., Kasiakou, S. K., and Saravolatz, L. D. (2005). Colistin: the revival of polymyxins for the management of multidrug-resistant gram-negative bacterial infections. *Clin. Inf. Dis.* 40, 1333–1341. doi: 10.1086/429323
- Fulsundar, S., Harms, K., Flaten, G. E., Johnsen, P. J., Chopade, B. A., and Nielsen, K. M. (2014). Gene transfer potential of outer membrane vesicles of Acinetobacter baylyi and effects of stress on vesiculation. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 80, 3469–3483. doi: 10.1128/AEM.04248-13
- Gabarrini, G., Palma Medina, L. M., Stobernack, T., Prins, R. C., du Teil Espina, M., Kuipers, J., et al. (2018). There's no place like OM: vesicular sorting and secretion of the peptidylarginine deiminase of *Porphyromonas gingivalis*. *Virulence*. 9, 456–464. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2017.1421827
- Gaillard, M. E., Bottero, D., Errea, A., Ormazabal, M., Zurita, M. E., Moreno, G., et al. (2014). A cellular pertussis vaccine based on outer membrane vesicles capable of conferring both long-lasting immunity and protection against different strain genotypes. *Vaccine* 32, 931–937. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2013.12.048
- Gavinho, B, Rossi, I. V., Evans-Osses, I., and Lange, S., Ramirez, M. I. (2019). Peptidylarginine deiminase inhibition abolishes the production of large extracellular vesicles from Giardia intestinalis, affecting hostpathogen interactions by hindering adhesion to host cells. *bioRxiv* 586438. doi: 10.1101/586438
- Gerritzen, M. J. H., Martens, D. E., Wijffels, R. H., van der Pol, L., and Stork, M. (2017). Bioengineering bacterial outer membrane vesicles as vaccine platform. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 5, 565–574. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.05.003
- Goldstein, E. J. C., Citron, D. M., Tyrrell, K. L., and Leoncio, E. (2018). In vitro activity of DS-2969b and comparator antimicrobial agents against Clostridioides (Clostridium) difficile, methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus, and other anaerobic bacteria. Anaerobe. 54, 39–41. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2018.04.010
- Gujrati, V., Kim, S., Kim, S. H., Min, J. J., Choy, H. E., Kim, S. C., et al. (2014). Bioengineered bacterial outer membrane vesicles as cell-specific drug-delivery vehicles for cancer therapy. ACS Nano. 8, 1525–1537. doi: 10.1021/nn405724x
- Gully, N., Bright, R., Marino, V., Marchant, C., Cantley, M., Haynes, D., et al. (2014). *Porphyromonas gingivalis* peptidylarginine deiminase, a key contributor in the pathogenesis of experimental periodontal disease and experimental arthritis. *PLoS ONE* 9:e100838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0100838
- Guo, Q., Bedford, M. T., and Fast, W. (2011). Discovery of peptidylarginine deiminase-4 substrates by protein array: antagonistic citrullination and methylation of human ribosomal protein S2. *Mol Biosyst.* 7, 2286–2295. doi: 10.1039/c1mb05089c
- Gurung, M., Moon, D. C., Choi, C. W., Lee, J. H., Bae, Y. C., Kim, J., et al. (2011). *Staphylococcus aureus* produces membrane-derived vesicles that induce host cell death. *PLoS ONE*. 6:e27958. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027958
- Haas, B., and Grenier, D. (2015). Isolation, characterisation and biological properties of membrane vesicles produced by the swine pathogen *Streptococcus suis*. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0130528. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0130528
- He, X., Yuan, F., Lu, F., Yin, Y., and Cao, J. (2017). Vancomycin-induced biofilm formation by methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus is associated with the secretion of membrane vesicles. *Microb Pathog*. 110, 225–231. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2017.07.004
- Hoerr, V., Duggan, G. E., Zbytnuik, L., Poon, K. K., Große, C., Neugebauer, U., et al. (2016). Characterization and prediction of the mechanism of

action of antibiotics through NMR metabolomics. *BMC Microbiol.* 16:82. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0696-5

- Huang, W., Wang, S., Yao, Y., Xia, Y., Yang, X., Li, K., et al. (2016). Employing Escherichia coli-derived outer membrane vesicles as an antigen delivery platform elicits protective immunity against *Acinetobacter baumannii* infection. *Sci. Rep.* 16:37242. doi: 10.1038/srep37242
- Ianaro, A., Ialenti, A., Maffia, P., Sautebin, L., Rombolà, L., Carnuccio, R., et al. (2000). Anti-inflammatory activity of macrolide antibiotics. *J. Pharmacol. Exp. Therapeut.* 292, 156–163. Available online at: http://jpet.aspetjournals.org/ content/292/1/156.long
- Iqbal, J., Siddiqui, R., Kazmi, S. U., and Khan, N. A. (2013). A simple assay to screen antimicrobial compounds potentiating the activity of current antibiotics. *Biomed. Res. Int.* 2013:927323. doi: 10.1155/2013/927323
- Jain, S., and Pillai, J. (2017). Bacterial membrane vesicles as novel nanosystems for drug delivery. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 12, 6329–6341. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S137368
- Jan, A. T. (2017). Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) of gram-negative bacteria: a perspective update. Front. Microbiol. 8:1053. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01053
- Jelić, D., and Antolović, R. (2016). From erythromycin to azithromycin and new potential ribosome-binding antimicrobials. *Antibiotics* 5:29. doi: 10.3390/antibiotics5030029
- Kholia, S., Jorfi, S., Thompson, P. R., Causey, C. P., Nicholas, A. P., Inal, J. M., et al. (2015). A novel role for peptidylarginine deiminases in microvesicle release reveals therapeutic potential of PAD inhibition in sensitizing prostate cancer cells to chemotherapy. *J. Extracell. Vesicl.* 4:26192. doi: 10.3402/jev.v4. 26192
- Klimentova, J., and Stulik, J. (2015). Methods of isolation and purification of outer membrane vesicles from gram negative bacteria. *Microbiol. Res.* 170, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2014.09.006
- Knight, J. S., Luo, W., O'Dell, A. A., Yalavarthi, S., Zhao, W., Subramanian, V., et al. (2014). Peptidylarginine deiminase inhibition reduces vascular damage and modulates innate immune responses in murine models of atherosclerosis. *Circ. Res.* 114, 947–956. doi: 10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.114.303312
- Kosgodage, U. S., Onganer, P. U., Maclathcy, A., Kraev, N., Chatterton, N., Nicholas, A. P., et al. (2018). Peptidylarginine deiminases post-translationally deiminate prohibitin and modulate extracellular vesicle release and micrornas in glioblastoma multiforme. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 28:E103. doi: 10.3390/ijms200 10103
- Kosgodage, U. S., Trindade, R. P., Thompson, P. R., Inal, J. M., and Lange, S. (2017). Chloramidine/bisindolylmaleimide-I-mediated inhibition of exosome and microvesicle release and enhanced efficacy of cancer chemotherapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:1007. doi: 10.3390/ijms18051007
- Kshetry, A. O., Pant, N. D., Bhandari, R., Khatri, S., Shrestha, K. L., Upadhaya, S. K., et al. (2016). Minimum inhibitory concentration of vancomycin to methicillin resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* isolated from different clinical samples at a tertiary care hospital in Nepal. *Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control.* 5:27. doi: 10.1186/s13756-016-0126-3
- Kulkarni, H. M., Nagaraj, R., and Jagannadham, M. V. (2015). Protective role of *E. coli* outer membrane vesicles against antibiotics. *Microbiol. Res.* 181:1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2015.07.008
- Lange, S., Gallagher, M., Kholia, S., Kosgodage, U. S., Hristova, M., Hardy, J., et al. (2017). Peptidylarginine deiminases-roles in cancer and neurodegeneration and possible avenues for therapeutic intervention via modulation of exosome and microvesicle (EMV) release? *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E1196. doi: 10.3390/ijms18061196
- Lee, E. Y., Choi, D. Y., Kim, D. K., Kim, J. W., Park, J. O., Kim, S., et al. (2009). Gram-positive bacteria produce membrane vesicles: proteomics-based characterization of *Staphylococcus aureus*-derived membrane vesicles. *Proteomics* 9, 5425–5436. doi: 10.1002/pmic.2009 00338
- Lepe, J. A., Domínguez-Herrera, J., Pachón, J., and Aznar, J. (2014). Determining accurate vancomycin MIC values for methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* by the microdilution method. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother*. 69, 136–138. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkt308
- Lewis, H. D., Liddle, J., Coote, J. E., Atkinson, S. J., Barker, M. D., Bax, B. D., et al. (2015). Inhibition of PAD4 activity is sufficient to disrupt mouse and human NET formation. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* 11, 189–191. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.1735
- Li, P., Li, M., Lindberg, M. R., Kennett, M. J., Xiong, N., and Wang, Y. (2010). PAD4 is essential for antibacterial innate immunity mediated by

neutrophil extracellular traps. J. Exp. Med. 207, 1853–1862. doi: 10.1084/jem.20 100239

- Li, Z., Clarke, A. J., and Beveridge, T. J. (1998). Gram- negative bacteria produce membrane vesicles which are capable of killing other bacteria. *J. Bacteriol.* 180, 5478–5483.
- Liang, Y., Pan, B., Alam, H. B., Deng, Q., Wang, Y., Chen, E., et al. (2018). Inhibition of peptidylarginine deiminase alleviates LPS-induced pulmonary dysfunction and improves survival in a mouse model of lethal endotoxemia. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* 833, 432–440. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2018.07.005
- Liu, W., Tan, M., Zhang, C., Xu, Z., Li, L., and Zhou, R. (2018). Functional characterization of murB-potABCD operon for polyamine uptake and peptidoglycan synthesis in *Streptococcus suis*. *Microbiol. Res.* 207, 177–187. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2017.11.008
- Livermore, D. M., Warner, M., Mushtaq, S., Doumith, M., Zhang, J., and Woodford, N. (2011). What remains against carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*? Evaluation of chloramphenicol, ciprofloxacin, colistin, fosfomycin, minocycline, nitrofurantoin, temocillin and tigecycline. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* 37, 415–419. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2011.01.012
- Luo, Y., Knuckley, B., Lee, Y. H., Stallcup, M. R., and Thompson, P. R. J. (2006). A fluoroacetamidine-based inactivator of protein arginine deiminase 4: design, synthesis, and *in vitro* and *in vivo* evaluation. *Am. Chem. Soc.* 128, 1092–1093. doi: 10.1021/ja0576233
- Macdonald, I. A., and Kuehn, M. J. (2013). Stress-induced outer membrane vesicle production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Bacteriol. 195, 2971–2981. doi: 10.1128/JB.02267-12
- Maclayton, D. O., Suda, K. J., Coval, K. A., York, C. B., and Garey, K. W. (2006). Case-control study of the relationship between MRSA bacteremia with a vancomycin MIC of 2 microg/mL and risk factors, costs, and outcomes in inpatients undergoing hemodialysis. *Clin. Ther.* 28, 1208–1216. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2006.08.003
- Magnadóttir, B., Hayes, P., Hristova, M., Bragason, B. T., Nicholas, A. P., Dodds, A. W., et al. (2018). Post-translational protein deimination in cod (Gadus morhua L.) ontogeny novel roles in tissue remodelling and mucosal immune defences? *Dev. Comp. Immunol.* 87, 157–170. doi: 10.1016/j.dci.2018.06.006
- Mangat, P., Wegner, N., Venables, P. J., and Potempa, J. (2010). Bacterial and human peptidylarginine deiminases:targets for inhibiting the autoimmune response in rheumatoid arthritis? *Arthrit. Res. Ther.* 12:209. doi: 10.1186/ar3000
- Manning, A. J., and Kuehn, M. J. (2011). Contribution of bacterial outer membrane vesicles to innate bacterial defense. *BMC Microbiol.* 11:258. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-11-258
- Maresz, K. J., Hellvard, A., Sroka, A., Adamowicz, K., Bielecka, E., Koziel, J., et al. (2013). *Porphyromonas gingivalis* facilitates the development and progression of destructive arthritis through its unique bacterial peptidylarginine deiminase (PAD). *PLoS Pathog*. 9:e1003627. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003627
- McBroom, A. J., and Kuehn, M. J. (2007). Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 545–558. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05522.x
- McCaig, W. D., Koller, A., and Thanassi, D. G. (2013). Production of outer membrane vesicles and outer membrane tubes by *Francisella novicida*. J. Bacteriol. 195, 1120–1132. doi: 10.1128/JB.02007-12
- Montgomery, A. B., Kopec, J., Shrestha, L., Thezenas, M. L., Burgess-Brown, N. A., Fischer, R., et al. (2016). Crystal structure of *Porphyromonas gingivalis* peptidylarginine deiminase: implications for autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis. Ann. Rheum. Dis. 75, 1255–1261. doi: 10.1136/annrheumdis-2015-207656
- Moskowitz, S. M., Garber, E., Chen, Y., Clock, S. A., Tabibi, S., Miller, A. K., et al. (2010). Colistin susceptibility testing: evaluation of reliability for cystic fibrosis isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 65, 1416–1423. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkq131
- Muth, A., Subramanian, V., Beaumont, E., Nagar, M., Kerry, P., McEwan, P., et al. (2017). Development of a selective inhibitor of protein arginine deiminase 2. J. Med. Chem. 60, 3198–3211. doi: 10.1021/acs.jmedchem.7b00274
- Ng, K., Mabasa, V. H., Chow, I., and Ensom, M. H. (2014). Systematic review of efficacy, pharmacokinetics, and administration of intraventricular vancomycin in adults. *Neurocrit. Care* 20, 158–171. doi: 10.1007/s12028-012-9784-z
- Nicholas, A. P., and Whitaker, J. N. (2002). Preparation of a monoclonal antibody to citrullinated epitopes: its characterization and some

applications to immunohistochemistry in human brain. Glia 37, 328-336. doi: 10.1002/glia.10039

- Pérez-Cruz, C., Cañas, M. A., Giménez, R., Badia, J., Mercade, E., Baldomà, L., et al. (2016). Membrane vesicles released by a hypervesiculating *Escherichia coli* Nissle 1917 tolR mutant are highly heterogeneous and show reduced capacity for epithelial cell interaction and entry. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0169186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169186
- Pérez-Cruz, C., Carrión, O., Delgado, L., Martinez, G., López-Iglesias, C., and Mercade, E. (2013). New type of outer membrane vesicle produced by the Gram-negative bacterium *Shewanella vesiculosa* M7<sup>T</sup>: implications for DNA content. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 1874–1881. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03657-12
- Raeven, R. H., Brummelman, J., Pennings, J. L., van der Maas, L., Tilstra, W., Helm, K., et al. (2016). *Bordetella pertussis* outer membrane vesicle vaccine confers equal efficacy in mice with milder inflammatory responses compared to a whole-cell vaccine. *Sci. Rep.* 6:38240. doi: 10.1038/srep38240
- Rodríguez, S. B., Stitt, B. L., and Ash, D. E. (2009). Expression of peptidylarginine deiminase from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* in Escherichia coli: enzyme purification and characterization. *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* 488, 14–22. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2009.06.010
- Roier, S., Zingl, F. G., Cakar, F., Durakovic, S., Kohl, P., Eichmann, T. O., et al. (2016). A novel mechanism for the biogenesis of outer membrane vesicles in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10515. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10515
- Rojas, L. J., Salim, M., Cober, E., Richter, S. S., Perez, F., Salata, R. A., et al. (2017). Antibacterial resistance leadership group. colistin resistance in carbapenemresistant *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: laboratory detection and impact on mortality. *Clin. Infect Dis.* 64, 711–718. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw805
- Salian, S., Matt, T., Akbergenov, R., Harish, S., Meyer, M., Duscha, S., et al. (2012). Structure-activity relationships among the kanamycin aminoglycosides: role of ring I hydroxyl and amino groups. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 56, 6104–6108. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01326-12
- Schimmel, P. (2008). Development of tRNA synthetases and connection to genetic code and disease. *Protein Sci.* 17, 1643–1652. doi: 10.1110/ps.037242.108
- Schooling, S. R., and Beveridge, T. J. (2006). Membrane vesicles: an overlooked component of the matrices of biofilms. J. Bacteriol. 188, 5945–5957. doi: 10.1128/JB.00257-06
- Slack, J. L., Jones, L. E., Bhatia, M. M., and Thompson, P. R. (2011). Autodeimination of protein arginine deiminase 4 alters proteinprotein interactions but not activity. *Biochemistry* 50, 3997–4010. doi: 10.1021/bi200309e
- Smith, B. A., Gupta, N., Denny, K., and Culver, G. M. (2018). Characterization of 16S rRNA processing with Pre-30S subunit assembly intermediates from *E. coli*. *J. Mol. Biol.* 430, 1745–1759. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2018.04.009
- Stobernack, T., Glasner, C., Junker, S., Gabarrini, G., de Smit, M., de Jong, A., et al. (2016). Extracellular proteome and citrullinome of the oral pathogen *Porphyromonas gingivalis. J. Proteome Res.* 15, 4532–4543. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.6b00634
- Toyofuku, M., Nomura, N., and Eberl, L. (2019). Types and origins of bacterial membrane vesicles. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 17, 13–24. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0112-2
- Turner, L., Bitto, N. J., Steer, D. L., Lo, C., D'Costa, K., Ramm, G., et al. (2018). *Helicobacter pylori* outer membrane vesicle size determines their mechanisms of host cell entry and protein content. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1466. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01466
- van Ingen, J., Aarnoutse, R. E., Donald, P. R., Diacon, A. H., Dawson, R., Plemper van Balen, G., et al. (2011). Why do we use 600 mg of rifampicin in tuberculosis treatment? *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 52:e194–e199. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir184

- Vossenaar, E. R., Zendman, A. J., van Venrooij, W. J., and Pruijn, G. J. (2003). PAD, a growing family of citrullinating enzymes: genes, features and involvement in disease. *Bioessays* 25, 1106–1118. doi: 10.1002/bies. 10357
- Wang, S., Huang, W., Li, K., Yao, Y., Yang, X., Bai, H., et al. (2017). Engineered outer membrane vesicle is potent to elicit HPV16E7-specific cellular immunity in a mouse model of TC-1 graft tumor. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 12, 6813–6825. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S143264
- Wang, S., and Wang, Y. (2013). Peptidylarginine deiminases in citrullination, gene regulation, health and pathogenesis. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1829, 1126–1135. doi: 10.1016/j.bbagrm.2013.07.003
- Wang, X., Thompson, C. D., Weidenmaier, C., and Lee, J. C. (2018). Release of *Staphylococcus aureus* extracellular vesicles and their application as a vaccine platform. *Nat. Commun.* 9:1379. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03847-z
- Watanakunakorn, C. (1984). Mode of action and *in-vitro* activity of vancomycin. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 14 (Suppl. D), 7–18. doi: 10.1093/jac/14. suppl\_D.7
- Witalison, E. E., Thompson, P. R., and Hofseth, L. J. (2015). Protein arginine deiminases and associated citrullination: physiological functions and diseases associated with dysregulation. *Curr. Drug Targets* 16, 700–710. doi: 10.2174/1389450116666150202160954
- Yahav, D., Farbman, L., Leibovici, L., and Paul, M. (2012). Colistin: new lessons on an old antibiotic. *Clin. Microbiol. Infect.* 18, 18–29. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-0691.2011.03734.x
- Yu, Z., Cai, Y., Qin, W., Lin, J., and Qiu, J. (2015). Polymyxin E induces rapid *Paenibacillus polymyxa* death by damaging cell membrane while Ca2+ can protect cells from damage. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0135198. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135198
- Yu, Z., Zhang, L., Qin, W., Yin, J., and Qiu, J. (2019). Exogenous catalase stimulates the Polymyxin E induced rapid killing of *Paenibacillus polymyxa*. Int. J. Pept. Res. Ther. 25, 161–168. doi: 10.1007/s10989-017-9657-6
- Zavan, L., Bitto, N. J., Johnston, E. L., Greening, D. W., and Kaparakis-Liaskos, M. (2019). *Helicobacter pylori* growth stage determines the size, protein composition, and preferential cargo packaging of outer membrane vesicles. *Proteomics*. 19:e1800209. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201970004
- Zhao, T., Pan, B., Alam, H. B., Liu, B., Bronson, R. T., Deng, Q., et al. (2016). Protective effect of Cl-amidine against CLP-induced lethal septic shock in mice. *Sci. Rep.* 6:36696. doi: 10.1038/srep36696
- Zhou, A., Kang, T. M., Yuan, J., Beppler, C., Nguyen, C., Mao, Z., et al. (2015). Synergistic interactions of vancomycin with different antibiotics against *Escherichia coli*: trimethoprim and nitrofurantoin display strong synergies with vancomycin against wild-type *E. coli. Antimicrob, Agents Chemother.* 59, 276–281. doi: 10.1128/AAC.03502-14

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kosgodage, Matewele, Mastroianni, Kraev, Brotherton, Awamaria, Nicholas, Lange and Inal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# oqxAB-Positive IncHI2 Plasmid pHXY0908 Increase Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhimurium Strains Tolerance to Ciprofloxacin

Xinlei Lian<sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Xiran Wang<sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Xiao Liu<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Jing Xia<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Liangxing Fang<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Jian Sun<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Xiaoping Liao<sup>1,2,3\*</sup> and Yahong Liu<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

### Reviewed by:

Travis Bourret, Creighton University, United States Guoqiang Zhu, Yangzhou University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Jian Sun jiansun@scau.edu.cn Xiaoping Liao xpliao@scau.edu.cn Yahong Liu lyh@scau.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 26 March 2019 Accepted: 18 June 2019 Published: 03 July 2019

#### Citation:

Lian X, Wang X, Liu X, Xia J, Fang L, Sun J, Liao X and Liu Y (2019) oqxAB-Positive IncHl2 Plasmid pHXY0908 Increase Salmonella enterica Serotype Typhimurium Strains Tolerance to Ciprofloxacin. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:242. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00242 <sup>1</sup> National Risk Assessment Laboratory for Antimicrobial Resistance of Animal Original Bacteria, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Veterinary Pharmacology, College of Veterinary Medicine, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China, <sup>3</sup> Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Veterinary Pharmaceutics Development and Safety Evaluation, South China Agricultural University, Guangzhou, China

Salmonella enterica serotype Typhimurium is a major global food-borne pathogen and causes life-threatening infections. Although the resistance mechanisms to fluoroquinolones in S. Typhimurium had been well-defined, tolerance to fluoroquinolones and the associated mechanism for this are obscure. In the current work, we investigated an ogxAB-positive plasmid pHXY0908 and analyzed its role in S. Typhimurium tolerance to ciprofloxacin using time-kill, transcriptome sequencing and real-time PCR. S. Typhimurium ATCC14028 could survive under lethal concentrations of ciprofloxacin after acquiring plasmid pHXY0908. Transcriptome sequence analysis showed the chromosomal genes were systematically regulated after acquiring this plasmid suggesting an interaction between chromosome and plasmid. Additionally, the chromosomal efflux pump genes acrB, acrA, tolC, and yceE were up-regulated after acquiring plasmid pHXY0908 suggesting that these efflux pumps may contribute to the survival of ATCC14028 exposed to the lethal concentrations of ciprofloxacin. In conclusion, this is the first known report demonstrating that an IncHI2 type plasmid harboring ogxAB could assist S. Typhimurium survival under lethal concentrations of ciprofloxacin.

Keywords: oqxAB, IncHI2, plasmids, Salmonella, tolerance

# INTRODUCTION

*Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium is a major global food-borne pathogen, causing a wide spectrum of human and animal diseases including acute gastroenteritis, bacteremia, and extra intestinally localized infections involving many organs (Coburn et al., 2007). Poultry, pigs, cattle, and reptiles are *S*. Typhimurium reservoirs and humans generally become infected by eating undercooked or contaminated food (Gomez et al., 1997).

Although intestinal infections caused by non-typhoid Salmonella are usually self-limiting, effective antimicrobial therapy is essential if invasive infection occurs (Hohmann, 2011). The extensive use of antimicrobials in humans and animals has led to an increase in multi-drug resistance among numerous bacterial strains. In particular, multidrug resistant (MDR) Salmonella isolates such as S. Typhimurium monophasic variant (S. 4,[5],12:i:-), S. Typhimurium DT104 and S. Rissen are major global public health problems (Threlfall, 2000; Hopkins et al., 2010; Mather et al., 2013; Gomes-Neves et al., 2014). Due to increasing resistance to the conventional antimicrobial agents such as ampicillin, chloramphenicol, and trimethoprim/sulfonamides, fluoroquinolones such as ciprofloxacin for the treatment of severe invasive salmonellosis has become more common (Hohmann, 2011). The use of fluoroquinolones has also led to a rapid increase in reduced susceptibility of S. Typhimurium to these therapeutics. MDR S. Typhimurium with reduced ciprofloxacin susceptibility has become common in China (Li et al., 2013a; Wong and Chen, 2013).

Resistance to fluoroquinolones is mainly due to point mutations in the quinolone resistance-determining region (QRDR) of the gyrase (gyrA and gyrB) and topoisomerase IV (parC and parE) genes. The efflux pump AcrAB-TolC can decrease susceptibility to drugs from seven antibiotic classes such as fluoroquinolones, tetracyclines, rifamycins, oxazolidinones, macrolides, and so on (Schuster et al., 2017). The efflux function of AcrAB-TolC is not only used for antibiotics but also small molecules, such as metabolins, dyes, detergents, organic solutes and even bile salts (Nikaido, 1996; Pos, 2009; Oswald et al., 2016). In addition, plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance (PMQR), including derivatives of quinolone resistance proteins (Qnr), aminoglycoside acetyltransferase Aac(6')-Ib-cr, and quinolone efflux pumps QepA and OqxAB, have also been described in fluoroquinolone-resistant S. Typhimurium isolates (Strahilevitz et al., 2009; Poirel et al., 2012). Additionally, tolerance to ciprofloxacin has been observed that was primarily linked to mutations in gyrA and parC (Dahiya et al., 2014). Even though tolerance of Salmonella is most often attributed to the action of efflux pumps the evidence linking PMQR genes and fluoroquinolone tolerance is scant (Webber et al., 2006; Thorrold et al., 2007).

Plasmids play an important role in the dissemination of antimicrobial resistance genes (Carattoli, 2009) and different incompatibility group plasmids have been examined for their roles in MDR S. Typhimurium (Fernandez et al., 2007; Zaidi et al., 2011). In our previous study, we identified that spread of *oqxAB* was predominately due to transferable MDR IncHI2 pHXY0908-like plasmids in S. Typhimurium (Li et al., 2013a). Interestingly, we found that possession of plasmid pHXY0908 was correlated with the treatment failure to avian salmonellosis using enrofloxacin at a routine dosage. This was in spite of the fact that this plasmid could directly confer only lowlevel fluoroquinolone resistance (Chen et al., 2016). In the current study, we examined potential mechanisms involved in S. Typhimurium survival to the ciprofloxacin selective pressure after acquisition of plasmid pHXY0908.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Bacterial Strains**

*S.* Typhimurium ATCC14028 and *S.* Typhimurium ATCC14028bearing plasmid pHXY0908 (ATCC14028-pHXY0908) were used as the test strains in the present study. IncHI2 plasmid pHXY0908 harboring *oqxAB* confers a multi-drug resistance phenotype. The ATCC14028-bearing plasmid pHXY0908 were obtained by electroporation of the transferable pHXY0908 into *S.* Typhimurium ATCC14028 as previously described (Chen et al., 2016, 2017).

## Minimum Inhibitory Concentration (MIC) and Mutant Prevention Concentration (MPC) Determinations

The MIC of ciprofloxacin was determined for *S*. Typhimurium ATCC14028 and *S*. Typhimurium ATCC14028-bearing plasmid pHXY0908 by the standard broth microdilution methods according to the recommendations of the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) (M100-S25). The breakpoint criteria used to determine ciprofloxacin phenotype in *Salmonella spp*. was based on the CLSI breakpoint criteria [ $\leq 0.06 \,\mu$ g/mL (susceptible), 0.12–0.5  $\mu$ g/mL (intermediate), and  $\geq 1 \,\mu$ g/mL (resistant)]. *E. coli* ATCC25922 was used as a quality control strain.

The MPC values were determined as previously described (Allou et al., 2009). In summary, each strain was grown at 37°C in antibiotic-free Mueller Hinton (MH) broth for ~6 h, until an OD<sub>600</sub> of ~1.0 was reached (corresponding to ~10<sup>9</sup> CFU/mL). Cultures (20 mL) were centrifuged at 4,000 × g for 15 min. The supernatant was discarded and the pellet containing ~10<sup>10</sup> CFU/mL was suspended in 2 mL of sterile MH broth. MH agar plates containing ciprofloxacin at levels ranging from 0.002 to 32 µg/mL (diluted in log<sub>2</sub> series) against each strain were inoculated with 100 µL of cell suspension and incubated at 37°C for 96 h. The MPC was recorded as the lowest ciprofloxacin concentration at which no colonies grew on an agar plate after 96 h.

# **Time-Kill Experiments**

Time-kill curve kinetics assays were conducted using MH broth containing ciprofloxacin levels equaling  $1 \times MIC$ ,  $2 \times MIC$ ,  $4 \times MIC$ , and  $8 \times MIC$  of the strains tested. Antibiotic-free broth was evaluated in parallel as a control. Cultures were incubated at  $37^{\circ}C$  with shaking. Viable counts were determined by serial dilution after 0, 3, 6, 9, and 24 h of incubation and by plating 100  $\mu$ L of the control, test cultures, or with dilutions at the indicated times onto MH agar plates. Colony counts were determined after 24 h of incubation.

## **Plasmid Sequencing**

DNA of plasmid pHXY0908 was sequenced using the Single Molecule Real Time (SMRT) DNA Sequencing approach. After filtering S. Typhimurium ATCC14028 chromosomal DNA data, the remaining reads were assembled by HGAP2.2.0 method (Chin et al., 2013). Open reading frames (ORF) were predicted using ORF Finder (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gorf/gorf.html)

and annotation was performed using RAST tools (Aziz et al., 2008). The sequence comparison and map generation was performed using BLAST (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) and Easyfig version 2.1 (Sullivan et al., 2011). The annotated sequence of pHXY0908 has been submitted to the GenBank nucleotide sequence database under the accession number KM877269.

# Transcriptome Sequencing and Sequence Analysis

ATCC14028 and ATCC14028-pHXY0908 were cultured in LB broth with and without  $1/2 \times MIC$  levels of ciprofloxacin. Total RNA was extracted as previously described (Li et al., 2013b). A pooled sample from 3 independent experiments was used for RNA-seq. Ribo-Zero rRNA Removal Kit (Gram-Negative Bacteria) (Epicentre, Madison, WI, USA) was used to remove rRNA from total bacterial RNA. The library was constructed using an Illumina TruSeq RNA sample Prep Kit v2 as previously described (Wang et al., 2013). In brief, mRNA was fragmented into lengths of 200~300 bp and first and second strand cDNA was synthesized. The short cDNA fragments were purified and end repaired and tailed with single A (adenine) addition. Adapters were ligated to the A-tailed cDNA fragments and ligated. These cDNA fragments were enriched by 12 PCR cycles. Purified libraries were quantified using a by Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and validated using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent, Beijing, China). Libraries were sequence by the Illumina Hiseq-2000 for 90 cycles. The reads that passed the Illumina quality filter were kept for sequence analysis.

High quality reads were mapped to *S.* Typhimurium strain 14028 genome (downloaded from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih. gov/nuccore/267991652/) and plasmid pHXY09080 sequence by using SOAP aligner/SOAP2 (Li et al., 2009) with 5 max alignment error. The mRNA abundance was normalized using rpkM (reads per kilobase per million reads) (Mortazavi et al., 2008). Gene differential expression analysis was performed as previously described (Audic and Claverie, 1997). The genes with <0.001 FDR and >2-fold change or <0.5-fold were detected as differentially expressed genes (DEG). The RNA-seq data had been submitted to SRA database (Accession number: PRJNA544622, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Traces/ study/?acc=PRJNA544622).

### Gene Ontology Enrichment Analysis, Kyoto Encyclopedia of Genes and Genomes (KEGG) Pathway Enrichment Analysis, and Functional Protein Association Networks Analysis

The DEGs were performed Gene Ontology enrichment analysis by MATLAB bioinformatics toolbox (MathWorks, Natick, MA, USA). The gene ontology annotations were downloaded from Gene Ontology Consortium (http://www.geneontology.org/ page/download-go-annotations). KEGG pathway enrichment analysis was performed by ClueGO and CluePedia which are Cytoscape apps (Bindea et al., 2009, 2013). The functional protein association networks were constructed by STRING with **TABLE 1** | Ciprofloxacin MICs and MPCs of the Salmonella Typhimurium strains used in this study.

Strain	MIC (mg/L)	MPC (mg/L)	MPC/MIC ratio
ATCC14028	0.03	0.5	16
ATCC14028-pHXY0908	0.125	2	16

Each value is the mean  $\pm$  SD derived from three independent experiments.

high confidence and hided disconnected nodes in the network (Szklarczyk et al., 2017).

# Validation the DEGs by qRT-PCR

Total bacterial RNA was obtained and reverse transcribed into cDNA as described (Li et al., 2013b). The qRT-PCR was performed with SYBR Premix Ex Taq (Takara, Dalian, China) in an iQ5 thermal cycler (Biorad, Hercules, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The cycling conditions were as follows: 94°C for 5 min, followed by 35 cycles at 94°C for 1 min, at 55°C for 1 min and 72°C for 1 min with a final step of 72°C for 5 min. Melting curves were read from 60 to 95°C in steps of 1°C. Normalized expression levels of the target gene transcripts were calculated relative to 16S rRNA using the  $-\Delta\Delta$ CT method. The primers used for gene amplification are listed in **Table S1**.

## **Statistics**

All the *in vitro* experiments described above were repeated at least three times. Geometric means were used to express the results for MICs and MPCs and the means  $\pm$  standard deviations (SD) were calculated for CFU counts.

# RESULTS

## MIC, MPC, and Time-Kill Curve Assays

Ciprofloxacin MIC and MPC values were increased by 4fold when *S*. Typhimurium ATCC14028 acquired plasmid pHXY0908. However, the MPC/MIC ratios between these strains did not differ (**Table 1**).

However, time-kill curve assays indicated a survival advantages at  $1\times$ ,  $2\times$ , and  $4\times$  ciprofloxacin MIC levels for the plasmid bearing strain compared to the parental strain. In addition, the antibacterial activity of ciprofloxacin significantly decreased over the 3 h antibiotic exposure period against ATCC14028 strain harboring plasmid pHXY0908. Interestingly, the bacterial concentration of ATCC14028-pHXY0908 increased after 3 h and after 6 h under the 1  $\times$  MIC. The CFU of ATCC14028-pHXY0908 was almost identical with ATCC14028-pHXY0908 cultured without ciprofloxacin for 24 h (Figure 1).

## **General Features of Plasmid pHXY0908**

Plasmid pHXY0908 is a circular molecule of 249,144 bp with an average G + C content of 46.22% and harboring 265 predicted ORFs (**Figure 2A**). The backbone region of pHXY0908 is closely related to other IncHI2 plasmids including pHK0653 (KT334335) from *Salmonella* enterica, plasmid R478 (BX664015) from *Serratia marcescens* and pAPEC-O1-R (DQ517526) from



an extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli (Figure 2B). These backbone regions contained the replication gene repHI2, the plasmid maintenance and partitioning modules parA-parB and hipAB and two tra transfer regions. In addition to the typical backbone, the 52,876 bp MDR region of pHXY0908 contained 9 IS26 elements flanking four main segments (Figure S1). The first segment containing an oqxAB cassette flanked by IS26 elements was first identified in the IncX1 type plasmid pOLA52 from E. coli. The second segment between IS26-6 and IS26-7 contained the antibiotic resistance genes sul3, aadA1, cmlA, and aadA2 and was identical to plasmid pND11\_107 (HQ114281). The third segment containing insertion sequences IS26-7 and IS26-8 and the structure tnp21-floR-sul2-IS4-aacC4-IS26, identical to that of pK1HV (HF545434) from Klebsiella pneumoniae. The fourth segment was similar to plasmids pSTA155 (NG041621) and pAPEC-O1-R (DQ517526) and included *aac(6')-Ib-cr* adjacent to an unusual class 1 integron containing  $bla_{OXA-1}$ , *catB3*, *arr3*, *qacE* $\Delta$ 1, and sul1. Importantly, oqxAB, and aac(6')-Ib-cr could confer lowlevel resistance to fluoroquinolones.

## Transcriptional Regulation of ATCC14028 After Acquiring pHXY0908

The transcriptional profiles of ATCC14028 with and without pHXY0908 were obtained using transcriptome sequencing. Both strains were cultured in the presence and absence of  $1/2 \times MIC$  concentrations of ciprofloxacin. We quantified the levels of 4,687 and 4,671 genes in ATCC14028 and ATCC14028-pHXY0908, respectively. The 283 genes were only expressed in ATCC14028 and the 267 genes were only expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908 (Figure 3A). We found 411 chromosomal DEGs between ATCC14028-pHXY0908 and ATCC14028 (Figure 3C). And 223 plasmid genes were expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908. The plasmid situated efflux pump oqxA and oqxB genes were highly expressed in ATCC14028pHXY0908. Interestingly, the chromosomal efflux pump gene *acrB* was significantly up-regulated (2.5-fold,  $P < 10^{-32}$ ) in the plasmid-bearing strain. The acrA gene which product composed efflux pump with AcrB protein was also slightly up-regulated (1.6 fold,  $P < 10^{-32}$ ). The tolC gene was also significantly upregulated as same as *acrB* (2.16 fold,  $P = 1.5 \times 10^{-11}$ ).



direction. Regions of homology are shaded in gray and functional regions are indicated above and below the linear maps.

The gene expression profiles of these strains also differed with the strains cultured in the presence of ciprofloxacin. We quantified the expression of 4,473 and 4,686 genes in ATCC14028-CIP and ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP, respectively. The 167 genes were only expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP and the 416 genes were only expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP (**Figure 3B**). There were 1029 chromosomal DEGs between ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP and ATCC14028-CIP. And 224 plasmid genes were expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP. The *acrB* and *tolC* genes were up-regulated in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP, but we found no difference for *acrA*. Furthermore, we found that many chromosomal efflux pump genes were up-regulated significantly in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP compared with ATCC14028-CIP, for example, *ydgF*, *ydgE*, *ybjY*, *yceE*, *sugE*, and *yohM* (**Figure 3D**).

# The GO and KEGG Enrichment Analysis of Chromosomal DEGs of ATCC14028 After Acquiring pHXY0908

The transcriptional profile of ATCC14028 was changed after acquiring pHXY0908. GO enrichment analysis indicated that chromosomal DEGs of ATCC14028-pHXY0908 vs. ATCC14028 were enriched for some biological processes. These included sulfur incorporation into metallo-sulfur clusters, sulfate assimilation, 6-sulfoquinovose (1-) metabolism, sulfur compounds in catabolic process, type III protein secretion (**Figure 4A**). Interestingly, six biological processes in the top ten enriched biological processes were related to sulfide. pHXY0908 contained the thiol:disulfide interchange protein DsbC that is responsible for the formation of disulfide bonds and this



process is related to sulfur metabolism (Mangold et al., 2011). This suggests that ATCC14028 may regulate genes expression to support the plasmid function. In addition, sulfur-mediated biological process could provide a new way for ciprofloxacin biodegradation (Jia et al., 2018).

The chromosomal DEGs of ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP vs. ATCC14028-CIP were enriched in four transcriptional biological processes and two electron transport chain processes (**Figure 4B**). After acquiring pHXY0908, ATCC14028 could activate transcription of resistance genes including efflux pump genes under ciprofloxacin selective pressure. This indicates that pHXY0908 can influence the gene expression of ATCC14028 to resist ciprofloxacin selective pressure.

The chromosomal DEGs of ATCC14028-pHXY0908 vs. ATCC14028 were enriched in four KEGG pathways, including phosphotransferase system (PTS), fructose and mannose metabolism, amino sugar and nucleotide sugar metabolism and citrate cycle (TCA cycle) (**Figure 5A**). Additionally, the KEGG pathways enrichment analysis for DEGs of ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP vs. ATCC14028-CIP is C5branched dibasic acid metabolism and phosphotransferase system (PTS) (**Figure 5B**). The phosphotransferase system (PTS) serves as a complex protein kinase system that regulates a wide variety of transport, metabolic and mutagenic processes as well as the expression of numerous genes (Saier, 2015). That indicated the pHXY0908 influenced the gene expression, the substance metabolism and energy metabolism in the ATCC14028.

## The Functional Protein Association Networks Analysis for DEGs of ATCC14028 After Acquiring pHXY0908

The functional protein association networks were constructed by chromosomal DEGs of ATCC14028 after acquiring pHXY0908. A majority of DEGs were constructed into two main networks. This suggests pHXY0908 may systematically regulate ATCC14028 functional protein association networks rather than at an independent gene expression level. The largest sub-network that included the genes spal, invA, sicA, and sipB is related to invasion and type III secretion systems. Another sub-network that included cysA, cysH, and cysl was related to sulfur metabolism. These two main functional networks were consistent with the GO enrichment analysis and pHXY0908 function (Figure 6). Additionally, the networks of ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP vs. ATCC14028-CIP DEGs also contained the sub-networks related to invasion and type III secretion systems, sulfur metabolism, energy metabolism, and other substance metabolism (Figure S2).



## **RNA-seq Data Validated by qRT-PCR**

Five randomly selected DEGs that including *dam*, *csgD*, *csgE*, *STM14-1453*, and *acrB*, and five genes which we interested, including *acrA*, *tolC*, *yceE*, *sicA*, and *cysA*, were validated by using qRT-PCR. The qRT-PCR results had a good correlation with different expression analysis (**Figure S3**, R = 0.9793,  $P = 7.7606 \times 10^{-7}$  in ATCC14028-pHXY0908 vs. ATCC14028; R = 0.9761,  $P = 1.3851 \times 10^{-6}$  in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP vs. ATCC14028-CIP). This indicated that the RNA-seq and the associated data analysis represented actual gene expression changes.

## DISCUSSION

This study demonstrated that an MDR IncHI2 type plasmid encoding OqxAB could contribute to the survival under ciprofloxacin selective pressure of *S*. Typhimurium strains that had acquired plasmid pHXY0908. Although the MIC and MPC increased after acquiring pHXY0908, the same MPC/MIC ratios for both ATCC14028 and ATCC14028-pHXY0908 indicated that pHXY0908 did not increase ability of ciprofloxacin for selecting resistant mutation in ATCC14028. The time-kill curve assays demonstrated that ciprofloxacin concentrations >MIC values for *S*. Typhimurium ATCC14028 were lethal while the plasmid-bearing strain could survive up to 4  $\times$  MIC. Thus, we further explored the implied survival mechanism of *S*. Typhimurium under drug pressure after acquiring an *oqxAB*-positive IncHI2 type plasmid. The same MPC/MIC suggested that the genes expression regulation may be the potential mechanism instead of genes mutation.

Firstly, we determined the complete nucleotide sequence of plasmid pHXY0908.

DNA sequencing further confirmed that this plasmid belonged to the IncHI2 group and showed high similarity to the backbone region of R478, one of the prototypes of IncHI2 plasmid groups (Garcia-Fernandez and Carattoli, 2010). In addition to the conserved backbone, pHXY0908 harbored a multidrug resistance region composed of *oqxAB*, *aac*(6')-*Ibcr* as well as nine other ARGs and included a wide range of mobile genetic elements and notably, IS26. Except for



oqxAB and aac(6')-Ib-cr, none of the other known genes are involved in fluoroquinolone resistance although many hypothetical proteins were found on pHXY0908. In addition, pHXY0908 showed a surprisingly high degree of homology (100% coverage, 99% identity) with the IncHI2 plasmid pHK0653 from an S. Typhimurium strain of human origin and pHK0653-like plasmids that were identified as the key vectors responsible for oqxAB transmission among Salmonella species (Wong et al., 2016).

Plasmid pHXY0908 harbored diverse ARGs including oqxAB and aac(6')-*Ib-cr* that could confer only low-level fluoroquinolone resistance. However, the gene features of pHXY0908 cannot explain the reason for ATCC14028 survival under the lethal concentrations of ciprofloxacin up to 4 × MIC. To study the influence of pHXY0908, we measured the transcriptional profiles of ATCC14028 with and without pHXY0908 cultured in the presence and absence of 1/2 MIC concentrations of ciprofloxacin. ATCC14028 could not grow at >1 × MIC, so we selected a 1/2 MIC level of ciprofloxacin

to study the transcriptional regulation of ATCC14028 by pHXY0908. The 1/2 MIC concentrations allowed bacterial growth but also induced stress responses that are sub-MIC and often used in the study of antibiotic resistance (Patkari and Mehra, 2013; Heo et al., 2014; Zhong et al., 2015; Aedo and Tomasz, 2016). The transcriptome data show that 283 chromosomal genes were not expressed after ATCC14028 acquiring pHXY0908. Similarly, there are 167 chromosomal genes were not expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP compared with ATCC14028-CIP. The bacteria will synthesize proteins encoded by plasmid leading the cost of resources. The bacteria may turn off some chromosomal genes expression to fit this situation. These genes were included in DEGs to analyze the function. Due to the ciprofloxacin inhibits the activity of gyrase and topoisomerase IV, we analyzed the expression of gyrA, gyrB, parC, and parE. These four genes were not differently expressed in ATCC14028-pHXY0908 compared with ATCC14028. The gyrA was down-regulated in ATCC14028pHXY0908-CIP compared with ATCC14028-CIP. However,



other three genes were not differently expressed in ATCC14028pHXY0908-CIP compared with ATCC14028-CIP. The gyrA down-regulated in ATCC14028-pHXY0908-CIP compared with ATCC14028-CIP may due to the resistant proteins encoded by pHXY0908 could decreased the ciprofloxacin pressure in the cell. The GO enrichment analysis of DEGs indicated that pHXY0908 influenced chromosomal gene expression to support plasmid function and resist ciprofloxacin selective pressure. This indicated an interaction between the chromosome and plasmid. And the KEGG pathway enrichment analysis of DEGs indicated that pHXY0908 influence ATCC14028 genes expression and metabolism. Furthermore, the pHXY0908 systematically regulated ATCC14028 functional protein association networks. Intriguingly, the chromosomal efflux pump genes were up-regulated after acquiring the plasmid and these included acrB, acrA, and tolC. Except for AcrAB-TolC efflux pump, the ydgF, ydgE, ybjY, yceE, sugE, and yohM were especially up-regulated when cultured under the 1/2 MIC levels of ciprofloxacin. The multidrug efflux pump AcrAB-tolC system decreases susceptibility to fluoroquinolones (Piddock, 1999) and yceE encoding the multidrug transporter subunit MdtG contributes to fluoroquinolone-resistance (Fabrega et al., 2010). The *ydgF* and *ydgE* encoded MdtI and MdtJ, respectively. These two proteins compose multidrug efflux pump MdtIJ which excretes polyamine (Higashi et al., 2008; Leuzzi et al., 2015). The *ybjY* codes macrolide transporter subunit MacA. The sugE was reported the contribution for tributyltin (TBT) and antimicrobial resistance (He et al., 2011; Cruz et al., 2013). And the *yohM* encodes a membrane-bound polypeptide conferring increased nickel and cobalt resistance (Rodrigue et al., 2005). The up-regulation of chromosomal efflux pump genes may be caused by the accumulation of intermediate metabolites for plasmid DNA replication and proteins synthesis. In addition, another potential mechanism is some plasmid proteins regulated chromosomal genes. It is worthy of further investigations. The chromosomal efflux pump up-regulated by pHXY0908 may be the one of the reasons for survival under the lethal concentrations of ciprofloxacin. Excepted the efflux function, the synthesis of chromosomal efflux pump proteins, the activity of efflux pumps and the encoding of plasmid genes may cost much energy, so that the growth of ATCC14028 may be influenced. The slow grown speed lead to the tolerance to fluoroquinolone (Evans et al., 1991; Brauner et al., 2016). The change of ATP level and grown rate of the ATCC14028 after acquiring pHXY0908 may be measured in the further researches. However, the specific molecular mechanism of the tolerance phenotype is not clear. In the further investigations, we will use functional genome technologies combined our plasmid gene expression profiles to detected the plasmid gene caused the tolerance to ciprofloxacin.

Taken together, we found that chromosomal genes were systematically regulated after ATCC14028 acquired the IncHI2

type MDR plasmid pHXY0908. ATCC14028 could survive under the ciprofloxacin lethal concentrations may be attributed to an up-regulation of chromosomal efflux pump genes after acquiring pHXY0908.

### DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XLL carried out the study design, data analysis, and manuscript writing. XW carried out the sequence experiments and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript. XL and JX carried out the RT-qPCR experiments. LF, JS, XPL, and YL

## REFERENCES

- Aedo, S., and Tomasz, A. (2016). Role of the stringent stress response in the antibiotic resistance phenotype of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 60, 2311–2317. doi: 10.1128/AAC. 02697-15
- Allou, N., Cambau, E., Massias, L., Chau, F., and Fantin, B. (2009). Impact of lowlevel resistance to fluoroquinolones due to qnrA1 and qnrS1 genes or a gyrA mutation on ciprofloxacin bactericidal activity in a murine model of *Escherichia coli* urinary tract infection. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 53, 4292–4297. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01664-08
- Audic, S., and Claverie, J. M. (1997). The significance of digital gene expression profiles. *Genome Res.* 7:986. doi: 10.1101/gr.7.10.986
- Aziz, R. K., Bartels, D., Best, A. A., Dejongh, M., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., et al. (2008). The RAST server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. *BMC Genomics* 9, 75–75. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-75
- Bindea, G., Galon, J., and Mlecnik, B. (2013). CluePedia Cytoscape plugin: pathway insights using integrated experimental and *in silico* data. *Bioinformatics* 29, 661–663. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btt019
- Bindea, G., Mlecnik, B., Hackl, H., Charoentong, P., Tosolini, M., Kirilovsky, A., et al. (2009). ClueGO: a Cytoscape plug-in to decipher functionally grouped gene ontology and pathway annotation networks. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1091–1093. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp101
- Brauner, A., Fridman, O., Gefen, O., and Balaban, N. Q. (2016). Distinguishing between resistance, tolerance and persistence to antibiotic treatment. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 14, 320–330. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.34
- Carattoli, A. (2009). Resistance plasmid families in Enterobacteriaceae. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 53, 2227–2238. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01707-08
- Chen, Y., Hu, D., Zhang, Q., Liao, X. P., Liu, Y. H., and Sun, J. (2017). Efflux pump overexpression contributes to tigecycline heteroresistance in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 7:37. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00037
- Chen, Y., Sun, J., Liao, X. P., Shao, Y., Li, L., Fang, L. X., et al. (2016). Impact of enrofloxacin and florfenicol therapy on the spread of OqxAB gene and intestinal microbiota in chickens. *Vet. Microbiol.* 192, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2016.05.014
- Chin, C. S., Alexander, D. H., Marks, P., Klammer, A. A., Drake, J., Heiner, C., et al. (2013). Nonhybrid, finished microbial genome assemblies from long-read SMRT sequencing data. *Nat. Methods* 10:563. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2474
- Coburn, B., Grassl, G. A., and Finlay, B. B. (2007). *Salmonella*, the host and disease: a brief review. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 85, 112–118. doi: 10.1038/sj.icb.7100007
- Cruz, A., Micaelo, N., Felix, V., Song, J. Y., Kitamura, S., Suzuki, S., et al. (2013). sugE: a gene involved in tributyltin (TBT) resistance of Aeromonas molluscorum Av27. J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 59, 39–47. doi: 10.2323/jgam.59.47

contributed to the study design. All authors approved it for publication.

## **FUNDING**

This work was supported by the International Cooperation and Exchange of the National Natural Science Foundation of China (Grant No. 31520103918), the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2016YFD0501300), and the Foundation for Innovation and Strengthening School Project of Guangdong, China (Grant No. 2016KCXTD010).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00242/full#supplementary-material

- Dahiya, S., Kapil, A., Lodha, R., Kumar, R., Das, B. K., Sood, S., et al. (2014). Induction of resistant mutants of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhi under ciprofloxacin selective pressure. *Indian J. Med. Res.* 139, 746–753.
- Evans, D. J., Allison, D. G., Brown, M. R., and Gilbert, P. (1991). Susceptibility of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and *Escherichia coli* biofilms towards ciprofloxacin: effect of specific growth rate. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 27, 177–184. doi: 10.1093/jac/27.2.177
- Fàbrega, A., Martin, R. G., Rosner, J. L., Tavio, M. M., and Vila, J. (2010). Constitutive SoxS expression in a fluoroquinolone-resistant strain with a truncated SoxR protein and identification of a new member of the marAsoxS-rob regulon, mdtG. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 54, 1218–1225. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00944-09
- Fernandez, A., Cloeckaert, A., A., Bertini, A., Praud, K., Doublet, B., Weill, F., et al. (2007). Comparative analysis of IncHI2 plasmids carrying blaCTX-M-2 or blaCTX-M-9 from *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella enterica* strains isolated from poultry and humans. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 51, 4177–4180. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00603-07
- Garcia-Fernandez, A., and Carattoli, A. (2010). Plasmid double locus sequence typing for IncHI2 plasmids, a subtyping scheme for the characterization of IncHI2 plasmids carrying extended-spectrum beta-lactamase and quinolone resistance genes. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 65, 1155–1161. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkq101
- Gomes-Neves, E., Antunes, P., Manageiro, V., Gärtner, F., Caniça, M., Da, C. J., et al. (2014). Clinically relevant multidrug resistant *Salmonella enterica* in swine and meat handlers at the abattoir. *Vet. Microbiol.* 168, 229–233. doi: 10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.10.017
- Gomez, T. M., Motarjemi, Y., Miyagawa, S., Käferstein, F. K., and Stöhr, K. (1997). Foodborne salmonellosis. World Health Stat. Q. 50:81.
- He, G. X., Zhang, C., Crow, R. R., Thorpe, C., Chen, H., Kumar, S., et al. (2011). SugE, a new member of the SMR family of transporters, contributes to antimicrobial resistance in *Enterobacter cloacae*. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 55, 3954–3957. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00094-11
- Heo, A., Jang, H. J., Sung, J. S., and Park, W. (2014). Global transcriptome and physiological responses of *Acinetobacter oleivorans* DR1 exposed to distinct classes of antibiotics. *PLoS ONE* 9:e110215. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0110215
- Higashi, K., Ishigure, H., Demizu, R., Uemura, T., Nishino, K., Yamaguchi, A., et al. (2008). Identification of a spermidine excretion protein complex (MdtJI) in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 190, 872–878. doi: 10.1128/JB.01505-07
- Hohmann, E. L. (2011). Nontyphoidal salmonellosis. Clin. Infect. Dis. 32, 128–136. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-7020-3935-5.00017-3
- Hopkins, K. L., Kirchner, M., Guerra, B., Granier, S. A., Lucarelli, C., Porrero, M. C., et al. (2010). Multiresistant Salmonella enterica serovar 4,[5],12:i:- in Europe: a new pandemic strain? Euro Surveill. 15:19580.

- Jia, Y., Khanal, S. K., Shu, H., Zhang, H., Chen, G. H., and Lu, H. (2018). Ciprofloxacin degradation in anaerobic sulfate-reducing bacteria (SRB) sludge system: mechanism and pathways. *Water Res.* 136, 64–74. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2018.02.057
- Leuzzi, A., Di Martino, M. L., Campilongo, R., Falconi, M., Barbagallo, M., Marcocci, L., et al. (2015). Multifactor regulation of the MdtJI polyamine transporter in shigella. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0136744. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136744
- Li, L., Liao, X., Yang, Y., Sun, J., Liu, B., Yang, S., et al. (2013a). Spread of oqxAB in *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium predominantly by IncHI2 plasmids. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 68, 2263–2268. doi: 10.1093/jac/ dkt209
- Li, L., Yang, Y. R., Liao, X. P., Lei, C. Y., Sun, J., Li, L. L., et al. (2013b). Development of ceftriaxone resistance affects the virulence properties of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium strains. *Foodborne Pathog. Dis.* 10, 28–34. doi: 10.1089/fpd.2012.1216
- Li, R., Yu, C., Li, Y., Lam, T. W., Yiu, S. M., Kristiansen, K., et al. (2009). SOAP2: an improved ultrafast tool for short read alignment. *Bioinformatics* 25, 1966–1967. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp336
- Mangold, S., Valdes, J., Holmes, D. S., and Dopson, M. (2011). Sulfur metabolism in the extreme acidophile acidithiobacillus caldus. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:17. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00017
- Mather, A. E., Reid, S. W., Maskell, D. J., Parkhill, J., Fookes, M. C., Harris, S. R., et al. (2013). Distinguishable epidemics of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella typhimurium* DT104 in different hosts. *Science* 341, 1514–1517. doi: 10.1126/science.1240578
- Mortazavi, A., Williams, B. A., Mccue, K., Schaeffer, L., and Wold, B. (2008). Mapping and quantifying mammalian transcriptomes by RNA-Seq. *Nat. Methods* 5:621. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1226
- Nikaido, H. (1996). Multidrug efflux pumps of gram-negative bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 178, 5853–5859. doi: 10.1128/jb.178.20.5853-5859.1996
- Oswald, C., Tam, H. K., and Pos, K. M. (2016). Transport of lipophilic carboxylates is mediated by transmembrane helix 2 in multidrug transporter AcrB. *Nat. Commun.* 7:13819. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13819
- Patkari, M., and Mehra, S. (2013). Transcriptomic study of ciprofloxacin resistance in *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2). *Mol. Biosyst.* 9, 3101–3116. doi: 10.1039/c3mb70341j
- Piddock, L. J. (1999). Mechanisms of fluoroquinolone resistance: an update 1994–1998. *Drugs* 58 (Suppl. 2), 11–18. doi: 10.2165/00003495-199958002-00003
- Poirel, L., Cattoir, V., and Nordmann, P. (2012). Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance; interactions between human, animal, and environmental ecologies. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:24. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00024
- Pos, K. M. (2009). Drug transport mechanism of the AcrB efflux pump. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1794, 782–793. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2008.12.015
- Rodrigue, A., Effantin, G., and Mandrand-Berthelot, M. A. (2005). Identification of rcnA (yohM), a nickel and cobalt resistance gene in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 187, 2912–2916. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.8.2912-2916.2005
- Saier, M. H. Jr. (2015). The bacterial phosphotransferase system: new frontiers 50 years after its discovery. J. Mol. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 25, 73–78. doi: 10.1159/000381215
- Schuster, S., Vavra, M., Schweigger, T. M., Rossen, J. W. A., Matsumura, Y., and Kern, W. V. (2017). Contribution of AcrAB-TolC to multidrug resistance in

an *Escherichia coli* sequence type 131 isolate. *Int. J. Antimicrob. Agents* 50, 477–481. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2017.03.023

- Strahilevitz, J., Jacoby, G. A., Hooper, D. C., and Robicsek, A. (2009). Plasmidmediated quinolone resistance: a multifaceted threat. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 22:664. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00016-09
- Sullivan, M. J., Petty, N. K., and Beatson, S. A. (2011). Easyfig: a genome comparison visualizer. *Bioinformatics* 27, 1009–1010. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btr039
- Szklarczyk, D., Morris, J. H., Cook, H., Kuhn, M., Wyder, S., Simonovic, M., et al. (2017). The STRING database in 2017: quality-controlled protein-protein association networks, made broadly accessible. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 45, D362– D368. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw937
- Thorrold, C. A., Letsoalo, M. E., Duse, A. G., and Marais, E. (2007). Efflux pump activity in fluoroquinolone and tetracycline resistant *Salmonella* and *E. coli* implicated in reduced susceptibility to household antimicrobial cleaning agents. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* 113, 315–320. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2006.08.008
- Threlfall, E. J. (2000). Epidemic Salmonella typhimurium DT 104–a truly international multiresistant clone. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 46:7. doi: 10.1093/jac/46.1.7
- Wang, T., Cui, Y., Jin, J., Guo, J., Wang, G., Yin, X., et al. (2013). Translating mRNAs strongly correlate to proteins in a multivariate manner and their translation ratios are phenotype specific. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, 4743–4754. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt178
- Webber, M., Buckley, A. M., Randall, L. P., Woodward, M. J., and Piddock, L. J. (2006). Overexpression of marA, soxS and acrB in veterinary isolates of Salmonella enterica rarely correlates with cyclohexane tolerance. J. Antimicrob. Chemother. 57, 673–679. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkl025
- Wong, M. H., Chan, E. W., Xie, L., Li, R., and Chen, S. (2016). IncHI2 plasmids are the key vectors responsible for oqxAB transmission among *Salmonella* species. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 60, 6911–6915. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01555-16
- Wong, M. H. Y., and Chen, S. (2013). First detection of oqxAB in Salmonella spp. isolated from food. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 57:658. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01144-12
- Zaidi, M. B., Freddy, C., Cevallos, M. A., Marcos, F. M., Edmundo, C., Magdalena, W., et al. (2011). Salmonella typhimurium ST213 is associated with two types of IncA/C plasmids carrying multiple resistance determinants. BMC Microbiol. 11:9. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-11-9
- Zhong, J., Xiao, C., Gu, W., Du, G., Sun, X., He, Q. Y., et al. (2015). Transfer RNAs mediate the rapid adaptation of *Escherichia coli* to oxidative stress. *PLoS Genet*. 11:e1005302. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1005302

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Lian, Wang, Liu, Xia, Fang, Sun, Liao and Liu. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# The Salmonella Specific, σ<sup>E</sup>-Regulated, STM1250 and AgsA, Function With the sHsps IbpA and IbpB, to Counter Oxidative Stress and Survive Macrophage Killing

Claire L. Hews\*, Emily J. Pritchard and Gary Rowley\*

School of Biological Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Jyl S. Matson, University of Toledo, United States

### Reviewed by:

Travis Bourret, Creighton University, United States Dan Drecktrah, University of Montana, United States James M. Slauch, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, United States

\*Correspondence:

Claire L. Hews c.hews@uea.ac.uk Gary Rowley g.rowley@uea.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> **Received:** 02 April 2019 **Accepted:** 04 July 2019 **Published:** 23 July 2019

#### Citation:

Hews CL, Pritchard EJ and Rowley G (2019) The Salmonella Specific, o<sup>E</sup>-Regulated, STM1250 and AgsA, Function With the sHsps IbpA and IbpB, to Counter Oxidative Stress and Survive Macrophage Killing. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:263. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00263 The host presents an array of environments which induce bacterial stress including changes in pH, antimicrobial compounds and reactive oxygen species. The bacterial envelope sits at the interface between the intracellular and extracellular environment and its maintenance is essential for *Salmonella* cell viability under a range of conditions, including during infection. In this study, we aimed to understand the contribution of the  $\sigma^{H}$ - and  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated small heat shock proteins IbpA, IbpB, and AgsA and the putative  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated stress response protein STM1250 to the *Salmonella* envelope stress response. Due to shared sequence identity, regulatory overlap, and the specificity of STM1250 and AgsA to *Salmonella* sp., we hypothesized that functional overlap exists between these four stress response proteins, which might afford a selective advantage during *Salmonella* exposure to stress. We present here new roles for three small heat shock proteins and a putative stress response protein in *Salmonella* that are not limited to heat shock. We have shown that, compared to WT, a quadruple mutant is significantly more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide, has a lower minimum bactericidal concentration to the cationic antimicrobial peptide polymyxin B, and is attenuated in macrophages.

#### Keywords: Salmonella, envelope stress, oxidative stress, rpoE, sHsp

# INTRODUCTION

*Salmonella* sp. are major causes of morbidity and mortality worldwide. In 2010, it was estimated that non-typhoidal *Salmonella* (NTS) was responsible for 93.9 million cases of disease and 155,000 deaths per year (Majowicz et al., 2010). Emphasizing the global significance of *Salmonella* infection, the World Health Organization priority pathogens list (Tacconelli et al., 2018) details fluoroquinolone resistant *Salmonella* to be of high priority for research. As a result, a better understanding of the mechanisms of *Salmonella* infection and survival in the host will direct research into new therapeutics for this prevalent pathogen.

During the *Salmonella* life cycle a range of precarious environments are encountered, both within the host and the environment, that have the potential to be bacteriostatic and/or bactericidal in nature. Such conditions need to be detected and transduced to allow appropriate transcriptional responses to be elicited that counter the stress. During mammalian infection, *Salmonella* encounters highly stressful environments; macrophages are sites of reactive oxygen

species (ROS) and nitric oxide (NO), and intestinal antimicrobial peptides can disrupt the outer membrane (OM) causing serious cellular damage. The cell envelope, formed of the OM, periplasmic space, peptidoglycan layer, and inner membrane, is a crucial barrier between the bacteria and its extracellular environment. Thus, maintenance of this barrier is essential to survival and significantly contributes to the success of *Salmonella* as an intracellular pathogen.

The extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{E}$  (RpoE) (reviewed in Rowley et al., 2006), is an important gatekeeper for maintenance of the cell envelope, detecting stresses and subsequent perturbations to OM and periplasmic proteostasis. In the intracellular pathogen Salmonella, rpoE is upregulated within macrophages (Eriksson et al., 2003) and regulates genes required for resistance to oxidative stress and heat (Testerman et al., 2002). Moreover, it has been shown previously that  $\sigma^{E}$  is extremely important for Salmonella during intracellular survival in macrophages and in murine infection (Humphreys et al., 1999). Well-characterized  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated genes make significant contributions to envelope maintenance and the infection process (Humphreys et al., 2003; Lewis et al., 2009; Rowley et al., 2011). Additionally, in the serovar responsible for typhoid fever, S. Typhi, *rpoE* is important for intracellular invasion and survival (Zhang et al., 2016). Clearly, the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon is of great importance to multiple stages of Salmonella host colonization across different serovars. That given, there is much we do not understand about the contribution of a number of  $\sigma^E$ -regulated genes to the envelope stress response (ESR) and infection.

Identification of the  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  regulon in *Salmonella* highlighted a number of genes of unknown function (Skovierova et al., 2006) including *ibpA*, *ibpB*, *agsA*, and the putative cytoplasmic protein *STM1250*. In addition to  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  regulation, *ibpA*, *ibpB*, and *agsA* are also regulated by the sigma factor  $\sigma^{\rm H}$ . Although primarily induced by heat shock, members of the  $\sigma^{\rm H}$  regulon have been linked to bacterial pathogenesis (Roncarati and Scarlato, 2017).

IbpA and IbpB (from herein referred to as IbpAB) are well-conserved across species of Gram-negative bacteria. These proteins share 50% amino acid sequence identity and were first observed in E. coli to be highly expressed and associated with inclusion bodies (inclusion body protein) during expression of heterologous proteins (Allen et al., 1992). As members of the small heat shock protein (sHsp) family, IbpA and IbpB are 15 and 16 kDa respectively and contain a C-terminal α-crystallin domain, a characteristic feature of sHsps (Nakamoto and Vígh, 2007). Furthermore, the *ibpA* 5'-untranslated region (UTR) encodes a ROSE (repression of heat shock gene expression)like RNA thermometer enabling its temperature controlled expression (Waldminghaus et al., 2009). IbpAB have been shown to associate with endogenous proteins in E. coli following heat shock (Laskowska et al., 1996); however, limited phenotypic or functional studies exist for these proteins in Salmonella and to date no contribution to infection has been identified.

Conversely, STM1250 and AgsA are unique to Salmonella spp. (Skovierova et al., 2006). AgsA (aggregation-supressing protein A) is a 17 kDa sHsp with 32% amino acid sequence identity to IbpA and 31% to IbpB (Tomoyasu et al., 2003). Like *ibpA*, the *agsA* 5'-UTR contains an RNA thermometer for temperature

control of expression (Waldminghaus et al., 2007). The 10 kDa protein STM1250 is not a member of the sHsp family, lacking the  $\alpha$ -crystallin domain. However, *STM1250* has been shown to form an operon with *agsA* and the two genes are separated by only 151 bp (Skovierova et al., 2006).

In this study we aimed to understand the contribution of the stress-induced small heat shock proteins IbpA, IbpB, AgsA, and the *Salmonella* specific putative chaperone STM1250, to the ESR. Despite their description as sHsps we hypothesize that IbpAB and AgsA, in cooperation with STM1250, are involved in tolerance to multiple stresses. Interestingly, *ibpAB* and *STM1250* are highly expressed during intracellular infection and all genes are expressed under osmotic stress (Kröger et al., 2013; Canals et al., 2019). Additional published gene expression and TraDIS libraries provide interesting insights into the potential roles of these genes. Chaudhuri et al. (2013) identified that a *STM1251* TraDIS mutant is attenuated in cattle, but not chickens, swine or mice. Together, these data support that these genes may function beyond tolerance to heat shock.

Based on sequence identity, shared regulation by  $\sigma^{E}$  and  $\sigma^{H}$ , and genomic location, we predict functional overlap exists between these proteins, and the putative stress responsive protein STM1250, that in *Salmonella*, is not limited to surviving heat shock. To investigate this, we have subjected deletion mutants to conditions known to perturb envelope homeostasis and present new roles for these stress responsive proteins. We have demonstrated that an  $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  quadruple mutant is attenuated in macrophages and is more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) -induced oxidative stress and the cationic antimicrobial peptide polymyxin B, compared to WT.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions**

Bacterial strains used in this study are detailed in **Table 1**. Bacteria were maintained on LB agar and overnight cultures were grown in LB broth at  $37^{\circ}$ C with aeration, supplemented with  $50 \,\mu$ g/mL kanamycin,  $30 \,\mu$ g/mL chloramphenicol, or  $100 \,\mu$ g/mL ampicillin where required. Bacterial growth curves were performed in 24 well plates in a SpectraMax M5 microplate reader with culture volumes of 1 mL. An overnight culture was diluted to OD<sub>600</sub> 0.1 in LB. Where stated, 6 mM hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, Sigma), 1,000–4,000 U/mL bovine catalase (Sigma), 3 mM CuCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.5  $\mu$ M potassium tellurite (K<sub>2</sub>TeO<sub>3</sub>), 30 mM paraquat (methyl viologen, Sigma), or 1 mM indole was added to each well. The plate was incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C and OD<sub>600</sub> reading taken every hour, with 3 s of agitation before each reading.

## **Construction of Deletion Mutants**

Mutants were generated by lambda Red recombination (Datsenko and Wanner, 2000). Chloramphenicol or kanamycin antibiotic resistance cassettes were amplified by PCR from the plasmids pKD3 or pKD4, respectively, using Biomix Red (Bioline) and mutant primers in **Supplementary Table S1**. The PCR product was transformed into SL1344 harboring the pKD46 plasmid. Transformants were screened by colony PCR

Strain	Description	Source	
STRAINS			
SL1344	Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium 4/74, hisG, rpsL	Hoiseth and Stocker, 1981	
GVB2551	SL1344 $\Delta f k p A \Delta sur A \Delta p p i A D$	Gift from Professor Mark Roberts, University of Glasgow	
$\Delta ibpAB$	SL1344 Δ <i>ibpA-B</i> :: Kan	This study	
∆STM1250∆agsA	SL1344 <i>∆STM1250∆agsA</i> :: Cm	This study	
∆ibpAB∆agsA	SL1344 Δ <i>ibpA-B</i> :: Kan Δ <i>agsA</i> :: Cm	This study	
∆ibpAB ∆STM1250∆agsA	SL1344 Δ <i>ibpA-B</i> :: Kan Δ <i>STM1250ΔagsA</i> :: Cm	This study	
$\Delta r po E$	SL1344 Δ <i>rpoE</i> :: Kan	Humphreys et al., 1999	
PLASMIDS			
pKD46	$\lambda$ -Red helper plasmid carrying $\gamma$ , $\beta$ , and exo genes under control of $P_{araB}$ promoter. Temperature sensitive replication. AmpR	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000	
pKD3	pANT-Sy derivative, FRT-flanked CmR	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000	
pKD4	pANT-Sy derivative, FRT-flanked KanR	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000	

 TABLE 1 | Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

using verification primers (**Supplementary Table S1**). Successful mutants were transduced into a clean WT background by P22 transduction. Triple and quadruple mutants were generated by transducing a  $\Delta agsA$  or  $\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  mutation into the SL1344  $\Delta ibpAB$  background.

### **Sequence Alignments**

Amino acid sequences were retrieved from NCBI. Sequences were aligned using M-Coffee online alignment tool (Notredame et al., 2000) and shaded figure of multiple-alignments generated using the ExPASy BoxShade online tool (https://embnet.vital-it. ch/software/BOX\_form.html).

## **Temperature Shock Assays**

Bacteria were cultured in LB at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 3 h to mid-log phase. Cultures were then incubated at 10 or  $50^{\circ}$ C. At each time point, a 1 mL sample was taken, serially diluted in PBS and spotted onto LB agar plates in 10  $\mu$ L spots. Plates were incubated O/N at  $37^{\circ}$ C and percentage survival for each time point calculated by comparing to the 0-h non-shocked control.

# Determination of Minimum Bactericidal Concentration

Minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) assays were performed in 96-well plates according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute guidelines. Briefly, an O/N culture was diluted to  $OD_{600}$  0.08 in LB and 100  $\mu$ L added to each well. Polymyxin B was added to a final concentration of either 16 or 12  $\mu$ g/mL and 1:2 serial dilutions performed across the plate. Bacteria were incubated at 37°C O/N, for at least 18 h before reading OD<sub>600</sub>.

# Disc Diffusion and Vancomycin Sensitivity Assays

For disc diffusion assays, an O/N culture was diluted 1:100 in LB and incubated at  $37^\circ C$  with aeration for 1 h. A 0.75%

(w/v) agarose top agar was prepared in LB, and 4 mL top agar inoculated with 100  $\mu$ L culture. Sterile whatman discs were impregnated with 10  $\mu$ L 10% (w/v) SDS, 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 or 3% (v/v) H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>.

For vancomycin sensitivity assays, O/N cultures were standardized to  $OD_{600}$  1.0, diluted to  $1 \times 10^{-7}$  CFU/mL and 10 µL spots of each dilution plated onto LB agar containing 65µg/mL vancomycin hydrochloride (Alfa Aesar, Thermo Fisher Scientific).

# **Gentamicin Protection Assay**

RAW264.7 murine macrophages were maintained in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (Invitrogen) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Sigma) and 2 mM L-glutamine (Sigma). Cells were grown at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> (v/v) atmosphere.

RAW264.7 were seeded into 24-well plates at a density of  $10^6$  cells/mL and incubated for 3 h before addition of IFN- $\gamma$ (1,000 U) for activation. Cells were grown for a further 21 h before infection. Bacteria were cultured on LB agar plates and macrophages infected with a bacterial dose at a multiplicity of infection of 10 to 1 cells. After 1h of infection, cells were treated with 100 µg/mL gentamicin (Invitrogen) for 1 h. Samples for 2h time point were washed twice in PBS, lysed with 1 mL of 1% (v/v) Triton X-100 and 0.1% (v/v) SDS in PBS and plated on LB agar for CFU/mL counts. Samples for 24 h time point were incubated in 10 µg/mL gentamicin for a further 22 h then lysed as previous. For inhibition of NADPH oxidase, 250 µM apocynin (acetovanillone, 4-hydroxy-3-methoxyacetophenon, Sigma) was added with the bacterial dose, with each gentamicin treatment and after 8 h for the 24 h infection samples.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism version 8 software and statistical analysis performed by one-way ANOVA or student *t*-test, as stated in the figure legends.

# RESULTS

# STM1250 and AgsA Have Divergently Evolved Across Salmonella Serovars

The sHsps *ibpA* and *ibpB* are highly conserved across all enteric Gram-negative bacteria; however, *STM1250* and *agsA* are unique to *Salmonella* (Skovierova et al., 2006). The *Salmonella* genus can be divided into two distinct species, *S. bongori* and *S. enterica*. While *S. bongori* rarely causes infection in humans and is a commensal of cold-blooded animals (Fookes et al., 2011), serovars of *S. enterica* subspecies *enterica* are responsible for infections in a broad range of mammalian hosts. These hosts include humans, chickens, swine and cattle. We sought to determine whether these *Salmonella* serovars. Amino acid sequences obtained from the NCBI database were aligned using M-Coffee (Notredame et al., 2000) and Expasy Boxshade (https://embnet.vital-it.ch/software/BOX\_form.html) online tools. Alignments are presented in **Supplementary Figure S1**.

AgsA is highly conserved and shown to be part of the core genome across all serovars tested in this study. Conversely, alignment of the amino acid sequence of S. Typhimurium STM1250 showed different levels of homology across the serovars tested. Between 99 and 100% identity was observed between S. Typhimurium, the invasive NTS serovar D23580 and the noninvasive serovar S. Enteritidis and 92% identity with S. Typhi. However, the S. Typhimurium STM1250 sequence was not found to be conserved in S. Paratyphi, S. Choleraesuis, S. Newport, or S. Dublin. As such, we cannot observe any patterns of identity that enable STM1250 to be associated with a specific invasive/noninvasive disease type, although it appears that STM1250 is more highly conserved in serovars which cause disease in humans rather than other mammals. Interestingly, S. bongori STM1250 is annotated as a pseudogene suggesting that functional STM1250 arose after divergence of the S. enterica species. These data point toward a role for STM1250 in S. enterica mammalian infection.

## Salmonella Survival at 50 and 10°C Requires IbpAB and AgsA but Not STM1250

The IbpAB sHsps have been shown to bind to aggregated proteins in *E. coli* following heat shock (Laskowska et al., 1996); however, they are not essential for survival at 50°C (Thomas and Baneyx, 1998). We aimed to determine whether this is also true for *Salmonella ibpAB*, and furthermore, determine whether survival of an *STM1250agsA* double mutant is affected at high temperatures. STM1250 is not currently described as a sHsp; however, Hsu-Ming et al. (2012) identified that *STM1250* is upregulated during recovery from heat shock at 55°C.

Bacteria were grown to mid-log phase at  $37^{\circ}$ C and then transferred to a water bath at  $50^{\circ}$ C. In agreement with previous studies in *E. coli* (Thomas and Baneyx, 1998), the  $\Delta ibpAB$  double mutant was unaffected at  $50^{\circ}$ C. Furthermore, survival of the  $\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  double mutant was also equivalent to WT (**Figure 1A**). As a result, we constructed triple ( $\Delta ibpAB\Delta agsA$ ) and quadruple ( $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$ ) deletion mutants to test our proposed hypothesis of functional redundancy. Survival of the triple deletion mutant in *Salmonella* was compromised after heat shock (Tomoyasu et al., 2003). Our data agreed with this finding; survival of the triple mutant was significantly reduced compared to WT at  $50^{\circ}$ C (**Figure 1B**). Survival of the quadruple mutant was not significantly different to the triple mutant (**Figure 1B**), suggesting there is no additive contribution of *STM1250* to surviving heat shock at this temperature.

The ability of the quadruple deletion mutant to grow at high temperature, rather than survive shock, was also tested. We observed that at 37 and 47°C, the mutant grew equally to WT (Figures 1C,D) suggesting that the reduced survival phenotype following heat shock, resulting from loss of *ibpAB* and *agsA*, is limited to perturbations induced by sudden heat shock or at least sudden changes in temperature. Considering this, we also investigated the ability of the triple and quadruple deletion mutants to survive cold shock at 10°C. Cold shock is one of the major inducers of *rpoE* (Miticka et al., 2003) and incubation at low temperatures is known to disrupt bacterial membrane fluidity (Barria et al., 2013). Over the course of 2 h, growth of all strains was observed (Figure 1E). However, there was a significant increase, particularly after 30 min, in WT growth compared to the triple and quadruple mutant (Figure 1F), but again no significant difference between the triple and quadruple mutant, indicating no role for STM1250 in responding to temperature-based damage.

## Deletion of the $\sigma^{E}$ -Regulated *ibpAB*, *STM1250* and *agsA* Does Not Impact Overall OM Integrity in *Salmonella*

The proteins in this study are predicted to be cytoplasmic, although *ibpA* has been detected in the OM and S-fraction of E. coli following heat shock (Kuczynska-Wisnik et al., 2002). Moreover, due to their regulation by  $\sigma^{E}$ , we hypothesized that ibpA, ibpB, STM1250, and agsA may be involved in maintaining OM integrity. We tested this by measuring the survival of WT and  $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM 1250 \triangle agsA$  after exposure to  $65 \mu g/mL$ vancomycin, 1% Triton X-100 and 10 % SDS, compounds known to be excluded by an intact OM. Both WT and the quadruple mutant were resistant to Triton X-100 and SDS in disc diffusion assays (data not shown). Vancomycin is unable to traverse the Gram-negative bacterial membrane; however, the deletion of  $\sigma^{E}$ regulated chaperones ( $\Delta f k p A \Delta p p i A D \Delta s u r A$ ) has been shown to increase sensitivity in E. coli via loss of maintenance of the cell envelope (Justice et al., 2005). No significant difference was observed in the ability of  $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM 1250 \triangle agsA$  to grow on LB agar containing vancomycin; however, survival of  $\Delta fkpA \Delta ppiAD \Delta surA$  was significantly reduced (Figure 2). These data suggest that no overall alteration to the permeability or integrity of the OM is caused by the loss of the IbpAB, STM1250, and AgsA stress responsive proteins.

## Lag Phase of the $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM1250 \triangle agsA$ Mutant Is Extended by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> Oxidative Stress

Heat shock proteins are known to overlap in function with hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) induced proteins (Morgan et al., 1986) and the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon is important for *Salmonella* resistance



to WT. (C) Growth of WT and the quadruple mutant are equivalent at 37°C and (D) 47°C. (E) Percentage survival over a 2 h incubation at 10°C. Bacteria were grown for 2 h at 37°C before incubation at 10°C. (F) Survival of the triple and quadruple mutant is significantly reduced after 30 min at 10°C. Data are the means of three separate experiments performed in duplicate. Error bars represent SEM. Data analyzed by one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test, \*p < 0.05 and \*\*p < 0.005.

to oxidative stress (Testerman et al., 2002). Both *ibpA* and *ibpB* are strongly induced by  $H_2O_2$  in *E. coli* (Zheng et al., 2001). However, to date, there is no specific link between sHsps and tolerance to oxidative stress in *Salmonella*. We aimed to

determine whether the proteins of interest in this study are involved in resistance to oxidative stress using  $H_2O_2$ .

Bacteria were grown in a plate reader in the presence of  $6 \text{ mM H}_2\text{O}_2$  and the  $\text{OD}_{600}$  read hourly. The quadruple mutant



showed the greatest sensitivity to  $H_2O_2$  compared to WT (Figure 3A and Supplementary Figure S2) with an extended lag phase, indicative of  $H_2O_2$ -induced stress during bacterial growth (Watson and Schubert, 1969). This phenotype was also observed for the  $\Delta rpoE$  control strain and the growth rate constant of the quadruple mutant and  $\Delta rpoE$  control was significantly reduced in the first 2 h compared to WT (Figure 3C). Growth of all strains was restored to non-treated levels by the addition of the hydrogen peroxide scavenger, bovine catalase (Figures 3B,C).

Sensitivity to  $H_2O_2$  was also tested by disc diffusion assay. In agreement with growth curve findings, the quadruple mutant was more sensitive to 3%  $H_2O_2$  compared to WT with a significant difference in the area of inhibition (**Figure 4**).

Previously, *ibpAB* have been linked to oxidative stress resistance in *E. coli* (Kitagawa et al., 2000, 2002) and an *E. coli ibpAB* mutant is more sensitive to CuCl<sub>2</sub>-induced oxidative stress (Matuszewska et al., 2008). Moreover, the *ibpA* promoter is more active in the presence of potassium tellurite (K<sub>2</sub>TeO<sub>3</sub>), a further inducer of bacterial oxidative stress (Pérez et al., 2007). Since these studies were performed on *E. coli*, we sought to determine whether the *Salmonella*  $\Delta ibpAB$  mutant and quadruple deletion strain in this study were sensitive to CuCl<sub>2</sub> or K<sub>2</sub>TeO<sub>3</sub>. In addition, in order to further determine whether the increased sensitivity to oxidative stress of the  $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$ mutant is limited to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, bacteria were also challenged with the oxidizing agent methyl viologen (paraquat). *Salmonella* was grown in the presence of 30 mM paraquat (Figure 5A), 3 mM CuCl<sub>2</sub> (Figure 5B), or 0.5  $\mu$ M K<sub>2</sub>TeO<sub>3</sub> (Figure 5C) for 24 h. We observed no differences in sensitivity or initial growth rate constant ( $\mu$  h<sup>-1</sup>) between WT or the quadruple mutant for these alternative bio-oxidants.

Additionally, in a previous study, *agsA* was found to be upregulated in the presence of 1 mM indole (Nikaido et al., 2012); however, no specific contribution of *agsA* to tolerance of increased levels of indole has been shown. Indole is produced by bacteria from tryptophan by tryptophanase (TnaA). *Salmonella* lacks the TnaA enzyme and is, therefore, unable to produce indole. Interestingly, Garbe et al. (2000) showed that exposure to indole induced expression of antioxidant proteins in *E. coli*. The proposed mechanism described that the lipophile indole dissolves within membrane lipids, affecting membrane integrity and enabling quinones to interact with oxygen, subsequently leading to the generation of superoxide (Garbe et al., 2000). In the current study, exposure of WT and mutant *Salmonella* to 1 mM indole did not significantly affect the growth rate constant or overall growth over 24 h (**Figure 5D**).

## The Quadruple Mutant Is More Sensitive to Polymyxin B With a Lower MBC Range Than WT *S.* Typhimurium

Polymyxin B is a cationic antimicrobial peptide and binds to the negative charge of lipopolysaccharide (LPS) on the



bacterial cell surface, causing disruption of the outer membrane. During host infection, cationic antimicrobial peptides (cAMPs) are released by intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) as part of the host immune defense (reviewed in Muniz et al., 2012). As a result, resistance to cAMPs is highly important to enteric bacteria.

Polymyxin B MBC assays were performed with WT and mutant strains. After an O/N incubation in a range of polymyxin B concentrations, the quadruple mutant and  $\Delta rpoE$  control had a lower MBC range than WT (**Figure 6A** and **Supplementary Table S2**). In addition, overall growth of the quadruple mutant and  $\Delta rpoE$  was limited significantly at  $2 \mu g/mL$  compared to WT (**Figure 6B**) while no significant differences were observed between WT and the remaining mutants tested.

# IbpAB, STM1250, and AgsA Are Critically Important for *Salmonella* Intracellular Survival

Resistance to oxidative stress is an important contributor to the ability of *Salmonella* to cause infection.  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated genes are important for *Salmonella* intracellular survival (Humphreys et al., 1999). As indicated in **Figure 1**, increased expression of *ibpAB*, *STM1250*, and *agsA* has been previously observed during intracellular macrophage infection and further studies have indicated their upregulation during intracellular survival (Eriksson et al., 2003).

In this study, IFN- $\gamma$  activated RAW264.7 macrophages were infected with bacteria at an MOI of 10:1 and the number of intracellular CFU/mL determined at 2 and 24 h post-infection.



Indeed, survival of the quadruple mutant was reduced compared to WT after 2 and 24 h of infection with significantly lower intracellular CFUs/mL (**Figure 7A**). Interestingly, after 2 h of infection, intracellular CFU/mL of  $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM1250 \triangle agsA$ and  $\triangle rpoE$  were also significantly reduced compared to  $\triangle ibpAB$ , indicating a functional role for STM1250/AgsA in compensating for loss of IbpAB.

Macrophages are known to release ROS as a bactericidal mechanism and, therefore, our  $H_2O_2$ -sensitive quadruple mutant strain may be more susceptible to ROS killing within the macrophage. To investigate this, the macrophage NADPH oxidase was inhibited with 250  $\mu$ M apocynin. Following a 2 and 24 h infection, the survival of the quadruple mutant was restored to WT levels (**Figure 7B**).

### DISCUSSION

Detection of stresses and subsequent responses, to nullify and repair stress-induced damage, are critical to the ability of S. Typhimurium to cause infection. The envelope stress response regulator,  $\sigma^{E}$ , required for Salmonella survival in macrophages and a mouse typhoid model (Humphreys et al., 1999), controls expression of a wide array of genes (Skovierova et al., 2006), which must, therefore, include systems which contribute to infection. However, many of the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated genes of Salmonella are of unknown function. These genes may be of yet unrecognized importance to bacterial stress survival and pathogenesis, particularly where functional overlap exists, a common emerging theme in stress response biology. In this study, we aimed to investigate the roles of the  $\sigma^{E}$ - and  $\sigma^{H}$ regulated IbpA, IbpB, and AgsA and  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated STM1250 in S. Typhimurium. Due to shared regulation and sequence identity, we hypothesized that functional overlap occurs between these proteins. We predicted that limited understanding of the roles of these proteins in *Salmonella* exists, because when single deletions are made no phenotypes are observed. To counter this, in this study, we have generated mutants incorporating deletions in up to four of the genes of interest to enable a better understanding of their roles during *Salmonella* stress survival and infection.

IbpA has been implicated with heat shock survival in other species, with a Pseudomonas putida ibpA mutant presenting a growth defect at 40°C (Krajewski et al., 2013). However, our S. Typhimurium  $\triangle ibpAB$  mutant did not show reduced survival at 50°C, in agreement with previous studies in E. coli (Thomas and Baneyx, 1998). Additionally, it has been shown previously that a Salmonella  $\triangle agsA$  mutant is unaffected by heat shock at 70°C (Tomoyasu et al., 2003) and in this study we found that an  $\triangle STM1250 \triangle agsA$  double mutant survival is equal to WT and  $\triangle ibpAB$  at 50°C. However, when a triple mutant,  $\Delta i b p A B \Delta a g s A$  was subjected to heat shock, survival rate compared to WT was significantly reduced. In order to further investigate proposed functional redundancy, we also subjected a  $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  quadruple mutant to heat shock and observed a significant decrease in survival compared to WT but no further reduction compared to the triple mutant. These data suggested that STM1250 does not function as a sHsp in Salmonella. This finding can largely be explained by the fact that STM1250 does not possess the characteristic  $\alpha$ crystallin domain seen in sHsps. We observed that the quadruple mutant grew equally as well as WT at elevated temperature and, therefore, proposed that reduced survival was only a result of sudden changes in temperature. Indeed, following cold shock at 10°C, the triple and quadruple mutant showed significantly reduced growth compared to WT. Cold shock has been shown to induce phospholipid phase separation and subsequently decrease membrane fluidity (Barria et al., 2013). Therefore, the proteins in this study may function to maintain integrity and fluidity during extreme temperature changes, although, the precise mechanism behind this in Salmonella remains unclear.

Due to previous studies linking sHsps to oxidative stress resistance and the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon of importance for survival against oxidative stress, we proposed that functional overlap may occur in the presence of oxidizing agents. We observed a reduced rate of growth of our  $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM 1250 \triangle agsA$  mutant during the first 2 h in the presence of hydrogen peroxide. *ibpAB* have been linked to oxidative stress survival in a number of species including E. coli (Kitagawa et al., 2002) and Yersinia pestis (Pradel et al., 2014). Interestingly, van der Heijden et al. (2016) showed reduced survival of *Salmonella*  $\triangle ibpA$  following a 2 h challenge with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. We did not observe any differences between WT and *ibpAB* in this study; these conflicting findings may be due to the parent strain used. The previous study utilized an HpxF<sup>-</sup> catalase and peroxidase negative background strain and this would certainly affect the response to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in WT. IbpA is proposed to bind to OmpC in E. coli (Butland et al., 2005). Moreover, an increase in H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> influx in an S. Typhimurium *ibpA* mutant has been shown and this was dependent on the OmpC porin (van der Heijden et al., 2016). In our study, deletion of ibpA, in conjunction with ibpB, STM1250, and agsA, may result in a higher influx of  $H_2O_2$ , which coupled to deletion of *ibpB*,







STM1250, and agsA could explain the reduced growth rate of the quadruple mutant. Future work is required to elucidate the mechanism behind the contribution of STM1250 and AgsA to tolerance of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> stress and it would be interesting to investigate STM1250 expression in the triple mutant. Intracellular ROS and protein oxidation levels could also be measured for the different mutants to investigate H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> uptake and the downstream effects in the absence of the stress response proteins. Interestingly, exposure to alternative inducers of oxidative stress, CuCl<sub>2</sub>, K<sub>2</sub>TeO<sub>3</sub>, paraquat, and indole, did not affect the growth of the  $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  mutant. These findings suggest that the sensitivity of the quadruple mutant is specifically limited to oxidative stress induced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in the growth conditions tested in this study.

The mutants in this study were not sensitive to the OM-targeting compounds vancomycin, SDS or Triton X-100 detergents. The cAMP polymyxin B can also be used to investigate OM integrity as it binds to the cell surface LPS and subsequently disrupts the OM.  $\sigma^E$  and the two-component system PhoPQ regulate genes needed for resistance to cAMPs (Matamouros and Miller, 2015). IbpAB have been shown to associate with the OM (Laskowska et al., 1996) and a PhoP motif has been identified upstream of STM1250 in S. Typhimurium (Monsieurs et al., 2005). We investigated whether the mutants generated in this study were susceptible to polymyxin B. MBC analyses identified that the quadruple mutant has a polymyxin B MBC in the range of  $2-4\,\mu$ g/mL while the MBC for the WT is between 1 and  $2 \mu g/mL$ . Subsequently, overall growth of the quadruple mutant was significantly lower than WT in the presence of  $2 \mu g/mL$  polymyxin B. Previous studies have shown that the LPS profile of an  $\Delta rpoE$  mutant does not differ in comparison to the WT (Humphreys et al., 1999) and further work will be required to determine whether this is also the case for the  $\Delta ibpAB\Delta STM1250\Delta agsA$  mutant in the current study. Interestingly, previous studies in *Acinetobacter baumannii* have identified that cAMPs such as polymyxin B can induce the production of intracellular hydroxyl radicals (OH<sup>•</sup>) (Sampson et al., 2012). Further work will be required to determine the levels of intracellular OH<sup>•</sup> in the WT and mutant strains in this study, following cAMP treatment, to investigate whether the limited growth in the presence of polymyxin B is linked to the oxidative stress phenotypes we have reported.

Multiple studies have indicated a role for ibpAB, STM1250, and agsA during intracellular survival. Previously published expression data highlighted high expression of *ibpAB* and STM1250 within macrophages (Canals et al., 2019) and agsA has also been observed to be upregulated over the course of a 21 h macrophage infection (Eriksson et al., 2003). Furthermore, overexpression of *ibpAB* in a non-pathogenic strain of *E. coli* was shown to increase survival of this strain within macrophages (Goeser et al., 2015). Macrophages are sites of oxidative and nitrosative stress. The NADPH-dependent oxidase Phox produces superoxide while the inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS) is responsible for the production of nitric oxide. In this study, survival of the  $\triangle ibpAB \triangle STM 1250 \triangle agsA$  mutant was significantly reduced after 2 and 24 h of infection. Additionally, the intracellular CFU/mL of the quadruple mutant was also significantly lower than that of the  $\triangle ibpAB$  mutant after 2 h. This is indicative or functional redundancy between these two stress response operons and is a possible reason for the lack of data on these genes via global mutagenesis studies. Together, with the slow growth in the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, we hypothesized that the reduction in survival could be, in part, due to macrophage induced oxidative stress. Apocynin was used to inhibit NADPH oxidase activity, and led to loss of the intracellular survival phenotype observed for the quadruple mutant in untreated cells. This chemical complementation indicates that IbpAB, STM1250, and AgsA function to protect Salmonella against macrophage



in the presence of apocynin, infected for 2 and 24 h. Data are the means of three separate experiments performed in duplicate. Error bars show SEM. Data analyzed by (A) one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparisons test, p < 0.05, p < 0.05, (B) Student's *t*-test, ns p > 0.05.

induced oxidative stress. In addition to an involvement in protection against ROS, all genes of interest in this study have been previously shown to be upregulated by nitric oxide exposure (Richardson et al., 2011). Further work is required to determine whether our quadruple mutant is affected by exposure to nitrosative stress as well as oxidative stress.

The genomic location of *STM1250* and *agsA* may provide insight into their roles in *S*. Typhimurium. Upstream of *STM1250* is *Salmonella* Pathogenicity Island 11 (SPI-11) (*STM1239, envF, msgA, envE, cspH, pagD, pagC, and pliC*). These proteins are highly important to virulence, with PagC required for serum resistance in *S*. Choleraesuis (Nishio et al., 2005) and PagD and MsgA important for intracellular survival (Gunn et al., 1995). Furthermore, genes within SPI-11 are regulated by  $\sigma^{E}$  and PhoPQ ESRs. Interestingly, *STM1250* is also regulated by Fis, a global regulator of virulence genes (Wang et al., 2013). The regulation of *STM1250* and *agsA*, as well as their proximity to SPI-11, points toward their role in infection. Interestingly, Canals et al. (2019) identified upregulation of *STM1250* in macrophages and, furthermore, observed a 4-fold increase in expression of *STM1250* in the invasive NTS (iNTS) serovar ST313. We suggested that STM1250 could not be associated with disease type based on our sequence homology analysis yet these data do suggest a role for STM1250 for iNTS serovars. This will require further investigation using a ST313 *STM1250* deletion strain.

In summary, this paper indicates new roles for sHsps, aside from resistance to heat shock stress. Overall, we demonstrate that these sHsps should instead be described as stress responsive proteins. We have demonstrated functional overlap between IbpA, IbpB, STM1250, and AgsA and for the first time have identified a role for these proteins during *Salmonella* intracellular survival. Ongoing work will include further study of STM1250, including biochemical characterization to better elucidate the mechanism by which these proteins function to tolerate oxidative stress and intracellular survival. Ultimately, an improved understanding of the role of stress response proteins during infection and survival of environmental stress,

### REFERENCES

- Allen, S. P., Polazzi, J. O., Gierse, J. K., and Easton, A. M. (1992). Two novel heat shock genes encoding proteins produced in response to heterologous protein expression in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 174, 6938–6947.
- Barria, C., Malecki, M., and Arraiano, C. M. (2013). Bacterial adaptation to cold. *Microbiology* 159 (Pt 12), 2437–2443. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.052209-0
- Butland, G., Peregrín-Alvarez, J. M., Li, J., Yang, W., Yang, X., Canadien, V., et al. (2005). Interaction network containing conserved and essential protein complexes in *Escherichia coli*. *Nature* 433:531. doi: 10.1038/ nature03239
- Canals, R., Hammarlof, D. L., Kroger, C., Owen, S. V., Fong, W. Y., Lacharme-Lora, L., et al. (2019). Adding function to the genome of African *Salmonella* Typhimurium ST313 strain D23580. *PLoS Biol.* 17:e3000059. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3000059
- Chaudhuri, R. R., Morgan, E., Peters, S. E., Pleasance, S. J., Hudson, D. L., Davies, H. M., et al. (2013). Comprehensive assignment of roles for Salmonella Typhimurium genes in intestinal colonization of food-producing animals. PLoS Genetics 9:e1003456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003456
- Datsenko, K. A., and Wanner, B. L. (2000). One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using PCR products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 6640–6645. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120163297
- Eriksson, S., Lucchini, S., Thompson, A., Rhen, M., and Hinton, J. C. D. (2003). Unravelling the biology of macrophage infection by gene expression profiling of intracellular *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 47, 103–118. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03313.x
- Fookes, M., Schroeder, G. N., Langridge, G. C., Blondel, C. J., Mammina, C., Connor, T. R., et al. (2011). Salmonella bongori provides insights into the evolution of the Salmonellae. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002191. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002191
- Garbe, T. R., Kobayashi, M., and Yukawa, H. (2000). Indole-inducible proteins in bacteria suggest membrane and oxidant toxicity. *Arch. Microbiol.* 173, 78–82. doi: 10.1007/s002030050012

with particular emphasis on those with functional overlap, will identify whether these proteins are novel therapeutic targets.

### DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the **Supplementary Files**.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CH and GR designed the study. CH and EP performed the experimental work and CH analyzed the data. CH and GR wrote the manuscript. All authors read and reviewed the submitted manuscript.

### **FUNDING**

This work was funded by a Norwich Research Park BBSRC Doctoral Training Partnership Studentship awarded to CH (BB/M011216/1).

### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00263/full#supplementary-material

- Goeser, L., Fan, T.-J., Tchaptchet, S., Stasulli, N., Goldman, W. E., Sartor, R. B., et al. (2015). Small heat-shock proteins, IbpAB, protect non-pathogenic *Escherichia coli* from killing by macrophage-derived reactive oxygen species. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0120249. doi: 10.1371/journal
- Gunn, J. S., Alpuche-Aranda, C. M., Loomis, W. P., Belden, W. J., and Miller, S. I. (1995). Characterization of the Salmonella Typhimurium pagC/pagD chromosomal region. J. Bacteriol. 177, 5040–5047.
- Hoiseth, S. K., and Stocker, B. A. D. (1981). Aromatic-dependent Salmonella Typhimurium are non-virulent and effective as live vaccines. Nature 291, 238–239. doi: 10.1038/291238a0
- Hsu-Ming, W., Naito, K., Kinoshita, Y., Kobayashi, H., Honjoh, K., Tashiro, K., et al. (2012). Changes in transcription during recovery from heat injury in *Salmonella* Typhimurium and effects of BCAA on recovery. *Amino Acids* 42, 2059–2066. doi: 10.1007/s00726-011-0934-y
- Humphreys, S., Rowley, G., Stevenson, A., Kenyon, W. J., Spector, M. P., and Roberts, M. (2003). Role of periplasmic peptidylprolyl isomerases in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 5386–5388. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.9.5386-5388.2003
- Humphreys, S., Stevenson, A., Bacon, A., Weinhardt, A. B., and Roberts, M. (1999). The alternative sigma factor, σ(E), is critically important for the virulence of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 1560–1568.
- Justice, S. S., Hunstad, D. A., Harper, J. R., Duguay, A. R., Pinkner, J. S., Bann, J., et al. (2005). Periplasmic peptidyl prolyl cis-trans isomerases are not essential for viability, but SurA is required for pilus biogenesis in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 187, 7680–7686. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.22.7680-7686.2005
- Kitagawa, M., Matsumura, Y., and Tsuchido, T. (2000). Small heat shock proteins, IbpA and IbpB, are involved in resistances to heat and superoxide stresses in *Escherichia coli. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 184, 165–171. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(00)00038-0
- Kitagawa, M., Miyakawa, M., Matsumura, Y., and Tsuchido, T. (2002). *Escherichia coli* small heat shock proteins, IbpA and IbpB, protect enzymes from inactivation by heat and oxidants. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 269, 2907–2917. doi: 10.1046/j.1432-1033.2002.02958.x

- Krajewski, S. S., Nagel, M., and Narberhaus, F. (2013). Short ROSE-like RNA thermometers control IbpA synthesis in *Pseudomonas* species. *PLoS ONE* 8:e65168. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065168
- Kröger, C., Colgan, A., Srikumar, S., Händler, K., Sivasankaran, Sathesh, K., et al. (2013). An infection-relevant transcriptomic compendium for *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium. *Cell Host Microbe* 14, 683–695. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.11.010
- Kuczynska-Wisnik, D., Kçdzierska, S., Matuszewska, E., Lund, P., Taylor, A., Lipinska, B., et al. (2002). The *Escherichia coli* small heat-shock proteins IbpA and IbpB prevent the aggregation of endogenous proteins denatured *in vivo* during extreme heat shock. *Microbiology* 148, 1757–1765. doi: 10.1099/00221287-148-6-1757
- Laskowska, E., Wawrzynów, A., and Taylor, A. (1996). IbpA and IbpB, the new heat-shock proteins, bind to endogenous *Escherichia coli* proteins aggregated intracellularly by heat shock. *Biochimie* 78, 117–122. doi: 10.1016/0300-9084(96)82643-5
- Lewis, C., Skovierova, H., Rowley, G., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Stevenson, A., et al. (2009). Salmonella enterica Serovar Typhimurium HtrA: regulation of expression and role of the chaperone and protease activities during infection. *Microbiology* 155 (Pt 3), 873–881. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.023754-0
- Majowicz, S. E., Angulo, F. J., Fazil, A., Musto, J., Kirk, M., Scallan, E., et al. (2010). The global burden of nontyphoidal *Salmonella* gastroenteritis. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 50, 882–889. doi: 10.1086/650733
- Matamouros, S., and Miller, S. I. (2015). S. Typhimurium strategies to resist killing by cationic antimicrobial peptides. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1848 (11 Pt B), 3021–3025. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamem.2015.01.013
- Matuszewska, E., Kuczynska-Wiśnik, D., and Laskowska, E. (2008). *Escherichia coli* heat-shock proteins IbpA/B are involved in resistance to oxidative stress induced by copper. *Microbiology* 154, 1739–1747. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/014696-0
- Miticka, H., Rowley, G., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Humphreys, S., Farn, J., et al. (2003). Transcriptional analysis of the rpoE gene encoding extracytoplasmic stress response sigma factor sigmaE in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 226, 307–314. doi: 10.1016/s0378-1097(03)00600-1
- Monsieurs, P., De Keersmaecker, S., Navarre, W. W., Bader, M. W., De Smet, F., McClelland, M., et al. (2005). Comparison of the PhoPQ regulon in *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella* Typhimurium. J. Mol. Evol. 60, 462–474. doi: 10.1007/s00239-004-0212-7
- Morgan, R. W., Christman, M. F., Jacobson, F. S., Storz, G., and Ames, B. N. (1986). Hydrogen peroxide-inducible proteins in *Salmonella* Typhimurium overlap with heat shock and other stress proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 83, 8059–8063.
- Muniz, L. R., Knosp, C., and Yeretssian, G. (2012). Intestinal antimicrobial peptides during homeostasis, infection, and disease. *Front. Immunol.* 3, 310–310. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00310
- Nakamoto, H., and Vígh, L. (2007). The small heat shock proteins and their clients. *Cell. Mol. Life Sci.* 64, 294–306. doi: 10.1007/s00018-006-6321-2
- Nikaido, E., Giraud, E., Baucheron, S., Yamasaki, S., Wiedemann, A., Okamoto, K., et al. (2012). Effects of indole on drug resistance and virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium revealed by genome-wide analyses. *Gut Pathogens* 4:5. doi: 10.1186/1757-4749-4-5
- Nishio, M., Okada, N., Miki, T., Haneda, T., Danbara, H., and Okada, C. N. (2005). Identification of the outer-membrane protein PagC required for the serum resistance phenotype in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Choleraesuis. *Microbiology* 151, 863–873. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.27654-0
- Notredame, C., Higgins, D. G., and Heringa, J. (2000). T-Coffee: a novel method for fast and accurate multiple sequence alignment. J. Mol. Biol. 302, 205–217. doi: 10.1006/jmbi.2000.4042
- Pérez, J. M., Calderón, I. L., Arenas, F. A., Fuentes, D. E., Pradenas, G. A., Fuentes, E. L., et al. (2007). Bacterial toxicity of potassium tellurite: unveiling an ancient enigma. *PLoS ONE* 2:e211. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000211
- Pradel, E., Lemaître, N., Merchez, M., Ricard, I., Reboul, A., Dewitte, A., et al. (2014). New insights into how *Yersinia pestis* adapts to its mammalian host during bubonic plague. *PLoS Pathogens* 10:e1004029. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004029
- Richardson, A. R., Payne, E. C., Younger, N., Karlinsey, J. E., Thomas, V. C., Becker, L. A., et al. (2011). Multiple targets of nitric oxide in the tricarboxylic acid cycle of *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium. *Cell Host Microbe* 10, 33–43. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2011.06.004

- Roncarati, D., and Scarlato, V. (2017). Regulation of heat-shock genes in bacteria: from signal sensing to gene expression output. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41, 549–574. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux015
- Rowley, G., Skovierova, H., Stevenson, A., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Lewis, C., et al. (2011). The periplasmic chaperone Skp is required for successful *Salmonella* Typhimurium infection in a murine typhoid model. *Microbiology* 157 (Pt 3), 848–858. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.046011-0
- Rowley, G., Spector, M., Kormanec, J., and Roberts, M. (2006). Pushing the envelope: extracytoplasmic stress responses in bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 383–394. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1394
- Sampson, T. R., Liu, X., Schroeder, M. R., Kraft, C. S., Burd, E. M., and Weiss, D. S. (2012). Rapid killing of *Acinetobacter baumannii* by polymyxins is mediated by a hydroxyl radical death pathway. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother*. 56, 5642–5649. doi: 10.1128/aac.00756-12
- Skovierova, H., Rowley, G., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Lewis, C., Roberts, M., et al. (2006). Identification of the sigmaE regulon of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 152 (Pt 5), 1347–1359. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.28744-0
- Tacconelli, E., Carrara, E., Savoldi, A., Harbarth, S., Mendelson, M., Monnet, D. L., et al. (2018). Discovery, research, and development of new antibiotics: the WHO priority list of antibiotic-resistant bacteria and tuberculosis. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* 18, 318–327. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17)30753-3
- Testerman, T. L., Vazquez-Torres, A., Xu, Y., Jones-Carson, J., Libby, S. J., and Fang, F. C. (2002). The alternative sigma factor σE controls antioxidant defences required for *Salmonella* virulence and stationary-phase survival. *Mol. Microbiol.* 43, 771–782. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.02787.x
- Thomas, J. G., and Baneyx, F. (1998). Roles of the *Escherichia coli* small heat shock proteins IbpA and IbpB in thermal stress management: comparison with ClpA, ClpB, and HtpG *in vivo*. J. Bacteriol. 180, 5165–5172.
- Tomoyasu, T., Takaya, A., Sasaki, T., Nagase, T., Kikuno, R., Morioka, M., et al. (2003). A new heat shock gene, agsA, which encodes a small chaperone involved in suppressing protein aggregation in *Salmonella enterica* Serovar Typhimurium a new heat shock gene, agsA, which encodes a small chaperone involved in suppressing protein aggregatio. *J. Bacteriol.* 185, 6331–6339. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.21.6331
- van der Heijden, J., Reynolds, L. A., Deng, W., Mills, A., Scholz, R., Imami, K., et al. (2016). Salmonella rapidly regulates membrane permeability to survive oxidative stress. *mBio* 7, e01238–e01216. doi: 10.1128/mBio. 01238-16
- Waldminghaus, T., Gaubig, L. C., Klinkert, B., and Narbenhaus, F. (2009). The *Escherichia coli* ibpA thermometer is comprised of stable and unstable structural elements. *RNA Biol.* 6, 455–463. doi: 10.4161/rna.6.4.9014
- Waldminghaus, T., Heidrich, N., Brantl, S., and Narberhaus, F. (2007). FourU: a novel type of RNA thermometer in *Salmonella*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 65, 413–424. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05794.x
- Wang, H., Liu, B., Wang, Q., and Wang, L. (2013). Genome-wide analysis of the Salmonella Fis regulatory mechanism on pathogenicity islands. PLoS ONE 8, e64688–e64688. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0064688
- Watson, J. A., and Schubert, J. (1969). Action of hydrogen peroxide on growth inhibition of Salmonella Typhimurium. J. Gen. Microbiol. 57, 25–34. doi: 10.1099/00221287-57-1-25
- Zhang, H., Jia, Y., Xie, X., Wang, M., Zheng, Y., Xu, S., et al. (2016). RpoE promotes invasion and intracellular survival by regulating SPI-1 and SPI-2 in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhi. *Future Microbiol.* 11, 1011–1024. doi: 10.2217/fmb.16.19
- Zheng, M., Wang, X., Templeton, L. J., Smulski, D. R., LaRossa, R. A., and Storz, G. (2001). DNA microarray-mediated transcriptional profiling of the *Escherichia coli* response to hydrogen peroxide. *J. Bacteriol.* 183, 4562–4570. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.15.4562-4570.2001

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hews, Pritchard and Rowley. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Resuscitation of Dormant "Non-culturable" *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Is Characterized by Immediate Transcriptional Burst

Elena G. Salina<sup>1\*†</sup>, Artem S. Grigorov<sup>2†</sup>, Oksana S. Bychenko<sup>2</sup>, Yulia V. Skvortsova<sup>2</sup>, Ilgar Z. Mamedov<sup>2</sup>, Tatyana L. Azhikina<sup>2</sup> and Arseny S. Kaprelyants<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Bach Institute of Biochemistry, Research Center of Biotechnology of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia, <sup>2</sup> Shemyakin and Ovchinnikov Institute of Bioorganic Chemistry, Russian Academy of Sciences, Moscow, Russia

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Martin I. Voskuil, University of Colorado Denver, United States Emily Mallick, Fluid-Screen, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Elena G. Salina elenasalina@yandex.ru

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 02 April 2019 Accepted: 16 July 2019 Published: 30 July 2019

#### Citation:

Salina EG, Grigorov AS, Bychenko OS, Skvortsova VV, Mamedov IZ, Azhikina TL and Kaprelyants AS (2019) Resuscitation of Dormant "Non-culturable" Mycobacterium tuberculosis Is Characterized by Immediate Transcriptional Burst. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:272. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00272

Under unfavorable conditions such as host immune responses and environmental stresses, human pathogen Mycobacterium tuberculosis may acquire the dormancy phenotype characterized by "non-culturability" and a substantial decrease of metabolic activity and global transcription rates. Here, we found that the transition of M. tuberculosis from the dormant "non-culturable" (NC) cells to fully replicating population in vitro occurred not earlier than 7 days after the start of the resuscitation process, with predominant resuscitation over this time interval evidenced by shortening apparent generation time up to 2.8 h at the beginning of resuscitation. The early resuscitation phase was characterized by constant, albeit low, incorporation of radioactive uracil, indicating de novo transcription immediately after the removal of the stress factor, which resulted in significant changes of the *M. tuberculosis* transcriptional profile already after the first 24 h of resuscitation. This early response included transcriptional upregulation of genes encoding enzymes of fatty acid synthase system type I (FASI) and type II (FASII) responsible for fatty acid/mycolic acid biosynthesis, and regulatory genes, including whiB6 encoding a redox-sensing transcription factor. The second resuscitation phase took place 4 days after the resuscitation onset, i.e., still before the start of active cell division, and included activation of central metabolism genes encoding NADH dehydrogenases, ATP-synthases, and ribosomal proteins. Our results demonstrate, for the first time, that the resuscitation of dormant NC M. tuberculosis is characterized by immediate activation of de novo transcription followed by the upregulation of genes controlling key metabolic pathways and then, cell multiplication.

Keywords: resuscitation, *M. tuberculosis*, non-culturability, dormancy, transcriptional burst, small non-coding RNAs

# INTRODUCTION

One-third of the human population is estimated to be latently infected with *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, a causative agent of tuberculosis (TB), without overt disease symptoms (World Health Organization, 2018). Being under immune control of the host, latent TB infection presents a constant risk of disease reactivation, which constitutes 10% over a lifetime in the general

population and 10% per year in immunocompromised patients (Pawlowski et al., 2012; O'Garra et al., 2013; Scriba et al., 2016; Veatch and Kaushal, 2018). The clinical status of latent TB is traditionally associated with the transition of *M. tuberculosis* to a dormant state in response to non-optimal growth conditions in vivo due to activation of the host immune response (Zhang, 2004). Dormancy is a specific physiological state characterized by significant cessation of metabolic activity and growth, whereas resuscitation from dormancy is a process of restoring cell activity followed by bacterial multiplication, which in case of *M. tuberculosis* can lead to disease progression. Therefore, understanding the mechanisms underlying M. tuberculosis resuscitation may provide clues to the development of control measures in order to inhibit reactivation of latent infection, reduce disease severity in infected patients, and prevent pathogen transmission in the population.

Although there are several in vivo models of M. tuberculosis latency and reactivation, including mice (McCune and Tompsett, 1956; Scanga et al., 1999; Radaeva et al., 2005), guinea pigs (Ordway et al., 2010), and rabbits (Manabe et al., 2008; Subbian et al., 2012), they do not reproduce disease pathology and immune control observed in humans. The cellular composition of murine TB granulomas is similar to that of human granulomas, with the exception of the absence of multinucleated giant cells, however, mouse TB lesions lack tissue necrosis, which is the pathological hallmark of human TB granulomas (Dutta and Karakousis, 2014). Granulomas in guinea pigs and rabbits more closely approximate the human granuloma; while TB granulomas in standard mouse models are not hypoxic, tissue hypoxia is observed in those of guinea pigs and rabbits (Dutta and Karakousis, 2014). TB models in non-human primates most closely resemble human disease (Kaushal et al., 2012; Peña and Ho, 2015, 2016), however, they are expensive and timeconsuming. Furthermore, the existing in vivo TB reactivation models are aimed to study host immune response after the reactivation of infection rather than the mechanisms of bacterial resuscitation (Mehra et al., 2011; Foreman et al., 2016).

In vitro modeling is a cost-effective strategy, which enables investigation of M. tuberculosis resuscitation process in detail and identify principal molecular players, providing necessary clues for further in vivo experiments (Veatch and Kaushal, 2018). However, despite extensive attempts for modeling of M. tuberculosis dormancy in vitro, including the well-known Wayne model of non-replicating state under hypoxic conditions (Wayne, 1976; Wayne and Hayes, 1996), dormant bacilli obtained in the majority of *in vitro* models were fully culturable, whereas bacteria isolated from in vivo models of latent TB are "non-culturable" (NC) (Dhillon et al., 2004; Biketov et al., 2007). "Non-culturability" is a specific term for cells that are temporary unable to grow on standard solid media and become culturable only after resuscitation (Oliver, 2005). Therefore, in vitro models of M. tuberculosis dormancy should reproduce the phenomenon of "non-culturability" and more adequately imitate latent TB in humans and animals. Recently, we have developed an *in vitro* model of *M. tuberculosis* dormancy in K<sup>+</sup>-limiting conditions, in which the bacteria acquired the NC phenotype, high tolerance to rifampicin and isoniazid, and significant (up to  $1 \times 10^7$  cells/ml) recovery potential (Salina E. et al., 2014; Ignatov et al., 2015). Using the model of dormancy under K<sup>+</sup> deficiency, we found that the adaptation of *M. tuberculosis* to the NC state was characterized by global transcriptional repression and maintenance of a pool of stable/stored transcripts in dormant cells (Ignatov et al., 2015).

Still, little is known about the resuscitation of dormant *M. tuberculosis* and the mechanisms underlying the transition from the NC to multiplication state. Most studies on *M. tuberculosis* resuscitation modeled reactivation by re-aeration of dormant cells obtained under hypoxia, thus studying only one stress parameter—oxygen deficiency (Du et al., 2016; Iona et al., 2016). Transcription analysis revealed that re-aeration affected multiple metabolic pathways, including downregulation of persistence-associated regulons and upregulation of pathways involved in DNA repair and recombination and synthesis of major cell wall components (Du et al., 2016; Iona et al., 2016), indicating physiological transformation of *M. tuberculosis* in preparation for cell division.

In our previous study, we examined transcriptomic changes in NC M. tuberculosis during resuscitation after potassium reintroduction using microarray technology, which revealed a lag phase in the transcriptional initiation of resuscitating cells that lasted for at least 4 days (Salina E. G. et al., 2014). However, according to the level of radioactive uracil incorporation, transcriptional activity was triggered in resuscitating M. tuberculosis immediately after switching to growth-favoring conditions. It can be speculated that the failure to detect activation of gene expression at the early resuscitation phase of dormant NC bacilli characterized by global transcriptional repression (Ignatov et al., 2015) can be attributed to the limited sensitivity of the microarray assay (Shendure, 2008). Therefore, in this study, we examined early transcriptional response of M. tuberculosis to resuscitation using a more sensitive RNAseq approach.

Here, we report, for the first time, that the resuscitation of NC *M. tuberculosis* from dormancy involves two-stage transcriptional activation, including immediate *de novo* mRNA synthesis, that precedes cell multiplication. This scenario involves activation of lipid metabolism and cell defense mechanisms followed by the induction of central metabolic reactions.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Bacteria and Media**

Dormant NC *M. tuberculosis* was obtained as described previously (Ignatov et al., 2015). Briefly, *M. tuberculosis* strain H37Rv was initially grown from frozen stocks for 10 days in Sauton medium containing (per liter): 0.5 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1.4 g MgSO<sub>4</sub>  $\cdot$  7H<sub>2</sub>O, 4 g L-asparagine, 60 ml glycerol, 0.05 g ferric ammonium citrate, 2 g sodium citrate, 0.1 ml 1% ZnSO<sub>4</sub>, pH 7.0 (adjusted with 1 M NaOH) and supplemented with ADC and 0.05% Tween 80, at 37°C with agitation (200 rpm). The starter culture was inoculated into fresh medium (same composition) and incubated for another 10 days with agitation (200 rpm) until its optical density at 600 nm (OD600) reached 4.0. These bacteria were then inoculated (5 × 10<sup>5</sup> cells/ml) into K+-deficient Sauton medium (containing 8.9 g Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub> · 12 H<sub>2</sub>O instead of 0.5 g KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) and grown at 37°C, with agitation (200 rpm). After 14–15 days of culture, when CFU started to decrease, rifampicin (5  $\mu$ g/ml) was added to eliminate culturable bacteria and to obtain the NC population with the "zero-CFU" phenotype.

### **Resuscitation of "Non-culturable" Cells**

Dormant NC cells were harvested by centrifugation (20 min at 5,000 rpm), washed twice with fresh Sauton media and diluted 5 times from initial culture volume with "resuscitation media" which is standard Sauton medium containing 0.6% glycerol (Shleeva et al., 2011) with ADC and Tween-80 (0.05% v/v), and supplemented with an equal volume of used culture supernatant, prepared as previously described. Bacterial cultures were incubated with agitation (150 rpm) at 37°C and harvested at appropriate time points for colony forming units (CFU) and most probable numbers (MPN) counting, radioactive uracil incorporation, DPI-reductase activity measurement and isolation of RNA. In some cases, resuscitation procedure was performed in the presence of 5  $\mu$ g/ml of rifampicin.

## **Cell Viability Estimation**

To assess cell viability, 10-fold serial dilutions of *M. tuberculosis* cultures were plated in triplicate onto solidified Sauton agar supplemented with ADC and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 25 days, after which CFUs were counted. To assess the proportion of bacteria with the ability to resuscitate in liquid medium by MPN assay, 10-fold bacterial dilutions were resuspended in ADC-supplemented Sauton medium diluted 1:1 (v/v; final glycerol concentration, 0.6%) and seeded into 48-well Corning microplates, which were incubated statically at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 30 days. The wells with visible bacterial growth were counted as positive, and MPN values were calculated using standard statistical methods (de Man, 1975).

# Incorporation of Radioactively Labeled Uracil

One  $\mu$ l of 5,6-3H uracil (1 mCi) was added to 1 ml culture samples and incubated at 37°C with agitation for 20 h. Two hundred microliters of this culture was placed in 3 ml 7% ice-cold CCl<sub>3</sub>COOH and incubated at 0°C for 20 min, followed by filtration through a glass microfiber filter (Whatman). Precipitated cells were washed with 3 ml 7% CCl<sub>3</sub>COOH and 6 ml 96% ethanol. Filters were placed in 10 ml scintillation mixture; impulse counts were determined by LS analyzer (Beckman Instruments) and expressed as counts per minute (cpm).

## **DPI-Reductase Activity Measurement**

The activity of the initial part of respiratory chain (Complex I) of cells was evaluated by estimation of their activity to reduce the artificial electron acceptor-2,6-dichlorophenol-indophenol (DPI) in the presence of menadione by measurement of color changes in the optical density at 600 nm. The reaction mixture (1 ml) contained: 0.5 mM 2,6-DPI; 0.145 mM menadione and *M. tuberculosis* cell suspension (1 × 10<sup>7</sup> cells) in 0.1 M phosphate buffer pH 7.0 at 37°C. The activity was calculated as pmols of DPI on 1 ml of cell suspension per minute, defining it as the average

of the results of 3 measurements, while the relative error did not exceed 5%.

## **Isolation of RNA**

Bacterial cultures were rapidly cooled on ice, centrifuged, and total RNA was isolated by phenol-chloroform extraction after cell disruption with BeadBeater (BioSpec Products) as previously described (Rustad et al., 2009). After isolation, RNA was treated with Turbo DNase (Life Technologies) to remove traces of genomic DNA, and purified with the RNeasy mini kit (Qiagen). Amounts and purity of RNA were determined spectrophotometrically; integrity of RNA was assessed in 1% agarose gel. Semi-quantitative evaluation of rRNA in total RNA samples was performed by Gel-Pro Analyzer software (Meyers Instruments).

### **Illumina Sequencing**

RNA samples were depleted of 16S and 23S rRNA using Ribo-Zero rRNA Removal Kit for Gram-Positive Bacteria (Epicenter). Sequencing libraries were generated using the resulting ribosomal transcript-depleted RNA and the TruSeq Stranded mRNA Library Prep Kit (Illumina) (Run 1) or NEBNext<sup>®</sup> Ultra<sup>TM</sup> II Directional RNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (Run 2) according to the manufacturers' protocol. Sequencing was performed using the Illumina HiSeq 4000 (Run 1) or HiSeq 2500 (Run 2). Experiments were performed in triplicates.

## Processing of RNA-seq Data

After quality control evaluation and trimming of bad qualitative reads the reads were mapped on the reference *M. tuberculosis* genome (AL123456.3, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) by Bowtie2 (Langmead and Salzberg, 2012). The alignment was performed with the "-local" option, which allows leaving 5' and 3' ends uncharted. Calculation of the mapped reads for all genes was performed using functions of the Feature Counts package (Liao et al., 2014) built into the author's script. Gene expression was represented in form of reads per kilobase per million (RPKM), for the calculation of which only unambiguously mapping reads were used. Differentially expressed genes were identified by the software package DESeq2 (Love et al., 2014). The genes were considered to be differentially expressed, if the *p*-adjusted value was <0.1, and the expression change module (FC, Fold change) was not <3. Further distribution of genes according functional categories was performed using the Mycobrowser database (https:// mycobrowser.epfl.ch/).

# **Quantitative Real-Time PCR**

One microgram of total RNA was used for cDNA synthesis with random hexanucleotides and SuperScript III reverse transcriptase (Life Technologies). Quantitative PCR was performed using qPCRmix-HS SYBR (Evrogen) and the Light Cycler 480 real-time PCR system (Roche); cycling conditions were as follows: 95°C for 20 s, 60°C for 20 s, 72°C for 30 s, repeat 40 times; primers are listed in **Table S1**. In the end of amplification, a dissociation curve was plotted to confirm



Dorm 1d 2d 4d 6d 7d M

FIGURE 2 | Ribosomal RNA status during resuscitation. (A) 1.0% agarose gel profiling of total RNA samples. Arrow indicates the 23S rRNA fragment characteristic for *M. tuberculosis* NC state. M–1 kb DNA ladder (SibEnzyme, Russia). (B) Changes in the proportion of 23S/23S fragment/16S rRNAs in the process of resuscitation. The proportions obtained by image 2A processing by Gel-Pro Analyzer software. The results of three independent RNA isolation experiments were presented.

specificity of the product. All real-time experiments were repeated in triplicate. The results were normalized against the 16S rRNA gene.

### RESULTS

### Dynamics of NC *M. tuberculosis* Resuscitation

To characterize the resuscitation phenomenon and the transition of dormant *M. tuberculosis* from the NC state ("zero-CFU" phenotype) to the multiplication phase, dormant NC bacilli were washed and inoculated into fresh resuscitation medium. Although there were no changes in the optical density (OD) 600 or most probable number (MPN) corresponding to the maximum count of potentially viably cells in the population until day 7 (the time point when cell multiplication begins), the number of culturable bacteria estimated by colony forming units (CFU) increased by about 10 times immediately after washing and continued to rise, reaching  $5.7 \times 10^7$  CFU/ml at day 7 (Figure 1). Estimation of the apparent generation time revealed its gradual increase from 2.8 h (from NC state to day 1 of resuscitation) to 16 h (from day 6 to 7 of resuscitation). As the generation time for replicating M. tuberculosis in this medium is 18-20 h, its shortening indicates the prevalence of resuscitation over multiplication during transition of NC M. tuberculosis to replicating state. In addition, the level of metabolic activity assessed by incorporation of radioactively labeled uracil and DPI-reductase activity, which reflects functioning of the initial part of the respiratory chain, was constantly low until a steep increase at day 7, which also supports the predominance of resuscitation over cell division up to day 6 (Figure 1). The constant number of potentially viable cells both in NC state and



<0.1 p-adj-value were used to deline significantly changed genes. Dif expressed at lower levels are shown in black.

resuscitating mycobacteria estimated by MPN assay also supports the notion of resuscitation preceding multiplication.

## **Ribosomal RNA Status**

Total RNA profiling in dormant NC *M. tuberculosis* (Dorm) revealed the presence of an additional fragment below the 23S rRNA band (**Figure 2A**), which was likely a product of specific 23S rRNA cleavage characteristic for NC *M. tuberculosis* (Ignatov et al., 2015). This 23S rRNA fragment was detected over the whole resuscitation period—from dormancy to day 7 (**Figure 2A**).

We estimated the relative ratio of 23S, 23S fragment and 16S rRNAs at each time point of resuscitation of bacterial culture (**Figure 2B**), and found that it was very similar in dormancy and at days 1 and 2. From day 4 we noticed the increase of intact 23S rRNA amount and corresponding decrease of 23S fragment amount. This tendency is most pronounced at day7, where integrity of 23S rRNA is the highest.

### **RNA-seq Analysis**

The constant, albeit low incorporation of radioactive uracil indicative of *de novo* transcription in resuscitating cells immediately after the resuscitation start (**Figure 1**) prompted us to perform dynamic transcriptome profiling over the resuscitation period by RNA-seq at 5 time points: dormant NC state, days 1, 2, 4, and 7. Using the software package DESeq2, we identified genes differentially expressed in resuscitating compared to dormant *M. tuberculosis* (**Table S2**). The results indicated that the total number of differentially expressed genes gradually increased over time, reaching maximum at day 7. Volcano plots clearly demonstrate that according to the number of upregulated transcribed genes and transcription intensity (log<sub>2</sub>FC  $\geq$  1.6), the resuscitation process could be divided into two phases: before and after day 4 (**Figure 3**). The Venn diagram shows the number of differentially expressed protein-coding genes (log<sub>2</sub>FC  $\geq$  1.6) on different time points over 7-day resuscitation and their intersections revealed that 21 genes were expressed throughout the whole period, 21were common for days 1 and 2, 45 started expression at day 2, 93—at day 4, and 399—at day 7 (**Figure 4**).

The functional analysis of differentially expressed genes was performed using the Mycobrowser database and the results for genes with expression fold change exceeding 3 (log<sub>2</sub>FC  $\geq$  1.6) are shown in **Table S2**.

# Transcriptional Changes at the Early Resuscitation Phase

Comparison of RPKM values for individual genes at days 1, 2, 4, and 7 with those at the NC state and expression analysis



revealed two groups of genes differing in transcription dynamics (**Table S2**): the first contained genes activated at days 1 and 2 and possibly downregulated later, and the second—those activated after day 4.

In the first group, 84 protein-coding genes showed more then 3-fold upregulation at day 1. The prominent increase was observed for genes encoding enzymes of fatty acid synthase system type I (FASI) and type II (FASII) (**Figure 5**) responsible for biosynthesis of fatty/mycolic acids (Singh et al., 2011), including diacylglycerol kinase (Rv2252), meromycolate extension acyl carrier protein (Rv2244, *acpM*), holo acylcarrier protein synthase (Rv2523c, *acpS*), malonyl CoA-acyl carrier protein transacylase (Rv0649, *fabD*), keto-acyl-carrier protein synthases (Rv2245, *kasA* and Rv2246, *kasB*), atty acid synthase (Rv2524c, *fas*), acetyl/propionyl-CoA carboxylase (Rv2247, *accD6*), thioesterase (Rv2928, *tesA*), polyketide synthase associated proteins (Rv1528c, *papA4*), and enoyl-CoA hydratase (Rv1472, *echA12*).

The genes encoding redox-sensing transcription factor WhiB6 and transcriptional regulator Rv3830c belonging to the TetRfamily were also considerably induced after 24 h of resuscitation. Similar expression shifts were observed for the *pe13* (Rv1195), *ppe18* (Rv1196), *esxK* (Rv1197), and *esxL* (Rv1198) genes, coding the components of the ESX-5b secretion system (Shah and Briken, 2016).

Several genes of mycobacterial defense systems, such as *hsp* (Rv0251c) encoding a molecular chaperone heat shock protein, *clpB* (Rv0384c) encoding endopeptidase which removes oxidized proteins, and antitoxin *vapB12* (Rv1721c) encoding antitoxin, were upregulated at the resuscitation start. A similar activation pattern was observed for *trxB1*(Rv1471) coding for thioredoxin, which participates in various redox reactions through reversible oxidation of dithiol, and *msrB* (Rv2674) coding for peptide







methionine sulphoxide reductase, a repair enzyme for proteins inactivated by oxidation. In addition, the expression of genes encoding some enzymes involved in redox reactions, including dioxygenase Rv3161c, oxidoreductases Rv3352c, Rv0369c, and Rv0370c as well as electron acceptors flavoproteins Rv2250A and Rv2251 was also upregulated, indicating intensification of redox processes in the early resuscitation phase. The *pyrE* (Rv0382c) gene for orotate phosphoribosyl transferase involved in pyrimidine biosynthesis was also significantly activated.

The transcriptional profile of *M. tuberculosis* at resuscitation day 2 closely resembled that at day 1, however, more genes (107) were upregulated by >3-fold. In particular, the transcription activity of the majority of genes listed above, namely, those belonging to FAS I and FAS II, fluctuated at the same level or

tended to be slightly higher than at 24 h. Transcription of *whiB6* and *hsp* tended to increase further at day 2.

# Transcriptional Changes at the Late Resuscitation Phase

In the second group, the spectrum of genes activated at the late phase of resuscitation (days 4-7) was significantly different from that in the first group. Among the late-response genes, there were those related to central metabolism pathways, such as NADH dehydrogenase subunits nuoEFGHIJKLM (Rv3149-Rv3157). Activation of qcrA (Rv2195, iron-sulfur protein), qcrB (Rv2196), and gcrC (Rv2197, ubiquinol-cytochrome C reductase), and ctaE (Rv2193, cytochrome C oxidase) indicated initiation of aerobic respiration at day 4. The *atpA-G* (Rv1304-Rv1311) genes coding for the ATPase complex were also upregulated. Activation of enzymes belonging to the tricarboxylic acid cycle: sdhAB (Rv3318, Rv3319, succinate dehydrogenase subunit), acn (Rv1475c, aconitase), sucCD (Rv0951, Rv0952, succinyl-CoA synthetase subunits), gltA2 (Rv0896, citrate synthase I), ndkA (Rv2245c, nucleoside phosphate kinase participating in nucleoside biosynthesis), and *pntAb* and *pntB* (Rv0156, Rv0157, transhydrogenase subunits providing transhydrogenation between NADH and NADP) clearly indicated initiation of energy metabolism after resuscitation day 4.

The expression of genes coding for the enzymes of the tryptophan biosynthesis pathway (*trpABCS*, Rv1611-Rv1613, and Rv3336c, respectively) and proteins of the antigen 85 complex [antigen 85 and cord-factor, *fbpA* (Rv3804c) and *fbpD* (Rv3803c), respectively] was also increased. The upregulation of *rmlBC* (Rv3464-Rv3465, rhamnose biosynthesis) and *ppiA* (Rv0009, peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase accelerating protein folding) indicated the start of central metabolic processes, whereas that of *ahpCD* (Rv2428-Rv2429, involved in oxidative stress response) suggested unbalanced metabolism at this stage of resuscitation.

To confirm the RNA-seq data, we assessed the expression dynamics of selected genes by qPCR using the 16S rRNA gene as a reference. During resuscitation, the correlation between the RNA-seq (RPKM) and qPCR data was moderate to high as evidenced by Spearman correlation coefficient from 0.60 to 0.95 (**Table S3**).

Overall, these results reveal that transcriptional changes in resuscitating *M. tuberculosis* may occur in two steps: at first, activation of fatty acid biosynthesis, defense systems, and transcriptional regulators is provided, and then, the induction of central metabolism and respiration takes places prior to cell multiplication (**Figure 5**).

# Non-coding Transcriptome

Recent studies have reported upregulation of non-coding (nc) RNAs in *M. tuberculosis* under different stress conditions (Arnvig and Young, 2012; Ignatov et al., 2015; Del Portillo et al., 2018). Thus, we have previously found that MTS0997, MTS1338, and MTS2823 were the most abundant ncRNAs in dormant NC mycobacteria subjected to potassium deficiency (Ignatov et al., 2015). During resuscitation, only one ncRNA, MrsI (MTB000142, ncRv11846), was upregulated: 4-fold at day 1 and 6- to 7-fold at days 2 and 4 (**Table S2**). MTS2823 (MTB000078)


and MTS0997 (mcr11, MTB000063) were downregulated 4-fold at day 1 and this level remained constant, whereas MTS1338 expression changes were not statistically significant.

These data were further validated by qPCR at the NC stage and at days 1, 2, 4, and 7. The results revealed that the expression of MST2823 was unchanged, that of MTS1338 was slightly upregulated at day 4 and increased by 2- to 3-fold at day 7, and that of MTS0997 also increased by about 10-fold at day 7 (**Figure 6**).

# Confirmation of the *de novo* Transcription at the Early Resuscitation Phase

To confirm the early transcriptional response and *de novo* mRNA synthesis at resuscitation, we treated resuscitating *M. tuberculosis* by rifampicin, a blocker of RNA-polymerase activity. The results revealed no changes in the OD600 and metabolic activity until day 7, and even a log reduction in CFU by day 2, indicating that transcriptional blockade inhibited resuscitation (**Figure S1**).

The expression of seven most upregulated genes representing the early transcriptional response was examined by qPCR at days 1 and 2 in resuscitating *M. tuberculosis* treated or not with rifampicin and compared to that in NC bacteria. The following genes were analyzed: Rv2243 (*fabD*), Rv2246 (*kasB*), Rv3160, Rv0251c (*hsp*), Rv0384 (*clpB*), Rv2674 (*msrB*), and Rv1471 (*trxB1*). Changes observed in the transcription of these genes at resuscitation days 1 and 2 were abolished by rifampicin treatment (**Figure S2A**), confirming the *de novo* mRNA synthesis at the early stages of *M. tuberculosis* resuscitation. Finally, we performed qPCR analysis of ncRNAs and found that rifampicin caused no difference in the transcription rate of ncRNAs MTS2823 and MTS1338 (**Figure S2B**), indicating that these ncRNAs are stable and not being newly synthesized during resuscitation. However, the upregulation of MTS0997 and MrsI observed at days 1 and 2 was completely blocked by rifampicin, indicating that their *de novo* synthesis is required at the early resuscitation stage of *M. tuberculosis*.

## DISCUSSION

In the present study, we examined the resuscitation of dormant *M. tuberculosis* driven to the NC phenotype by  $K^+$  deficiency.  $K^+$  is crucial for the maintenance of an electrochemical gradient and proton motive force in the membrane and for the regulation of intracellular pH and osmotic pressure in both eukaryotic and bacterial cells (Epstein, 2003). In *M. tuberculosis*, low  $K^+$  concentrations result in the inability to maintain acceptable intracellular pH levels in mildly acidic conditions (Sturgill-Koszycki et al., 1994), thus decreasing cell viability (Rao et al., 2008).

Transcriptional response in several *in vivo* studies (Karakousis et al., 2004; Rachman and Kaufmann, 2007; Garton et al., 2008) may point out potassium deficiency for *M. tuberculosis*. Therefore, we suggested that low  $K^+$  concentration may be considered as a trigger for development dormant phenotype *in vivo*. We proved experimentally, that  $K^+$  deficiency *in vitro* induced a dormant phenotype which is characterized by

(i) significant decrease in metabolic activity, (ii) tolerance to antibiotics, (iii) changed morphology, (iv) "non-culturability" (Salina E. G. et al., 2014). NC mycobacteria obtained in the K<sup>+</sup> deficiency model are characterized by a high recovery potential and could be resuscitated in Sauton medium diluted 1:1 with culture supernatant (Figure 1). According to the MPN assay, nearly 50% of NC M. tuberculosis population could be driven to the culturable state (Ignatov et al., 2015). According to Figure 1, resuscitation of dormant cells in liquid medium takes at least 6 days. Evidently, that during this period both resuscitation and further cell replication can take place. However, significant shortening of apparent generation time, especially in the very beginning of the reactivation process, steep increase in metabolic activity (radioactive uracil incorporation and DPI reduction) at the same period followed by a plateau, and constant numbers of potentially viable cells (MPN assay) rather indicate the significant prevalence of resuscitation over replication at the first 48 h after the removal of the stress factor. However, the impact of cell multiplication on the overall process cannot be excluded, with increased proportion of replication to the end of resuscitation period.

Earlier, we found that the transition of *M. tuberculosis* to the NC state was accompanied by significant global downregulation of transcriptional activity: by at least 30-fold compared to replicating cells (Ignatov et al., 2015). In this study, we identified, for the first time, the phenomenon of "transcriptional burst" characterized by sharp transcriptional activation of certain genes and significant increase (by 10- to 20-fold) of de novo mRNA synthesis at the first 24 h, i.e., time corresponding to one generation (Figure 5 and Table S3), which is consistent with global transcriptional repression during transition to dormancy (Ignatov et al., 2015). The sensitivity of transcriptional activation to rifampicin indicates participation of RNA polymerase, which is fairly stable and present in cells dormant for long periods of time (Trutneva, personal communication). However, the mechanisms underlying the early transcriptional activation in resuscitating M. tuberculosis are unclear and require further investigation.

Results of transcriptome analysis by RNA-seq revealed two groups of genes activated during resuscitation of NC M. tuberculosis. In the first group, transcriptional upregulation occurred immediately after stress removal (day 1), suggesting that these genes participate in the early processes necessary for resuscitation rather than multiplication. Interestingly, the majority of genes in fatty acid synthase (FASI and FASII) systems belong to this early activated group (Figure 7). Mycolic acids (2-alkyl, 3-hydroxy long-chain fatty acids) are the major component of the mycobacterial cell wall, constituting about 50% of the dry weight (Barry, 2001), and are crucial for survival and pathogenesis of M. tuberculosis, providing resistance to antibiotics and dehydration (Takayama et al., 2005). Our previous results indicate that unlike dormant M. tuberculosis isolated from sputum (Garton et al., 2008), NC mycobacteria obtained under K<sup>+</sup> deficiency have lower lipid content than replicating cells (Salina et al., 2010), suggesting that the activation of fatty acids biosynthesis during resuscitation may compensate the lack of lipids in dormancy providing augmentation of cell wall components for further bacilli multiplication.

We also observed transcriptional induction of heat-shock protein Hsp, a molecular chaperone, and endopeptidase ClpB involved in degradation of misfolded and oxidized proteins and protein turnover. Clp proteases have been identified as factors specific to *M. tuberculosis* reactivation (Sherrid et al., 2010; McGillivray et al., 2015; Du et al., 2016) and mycobacteria lacking ClpB were found to be less fit to recover from the stationary phase or antibiotic exposure *in vitro* and to have lower virulence in mice than the wild type (Vaubourgeix et al., 2015).

WhiB6 belonging to the WhiB superfamily of small global transcriptional regulators is known to control aerobic and anaerobic metabolism, cell division, and virulence of *M. tuberculosis* (Chen et al., 2016). Transcriptional regulators Rv3830c and Rv3160c of the TetR protein family are involved in the regulation of multidrug efflux pumps, response to osmotic stress and toxic chemicals, control of catabolic pathways and differentiation processes, and antibiotic resistance of pathogenic bacteria, including *M. tuberculosis* (Ramos et al., 2005). Therefore, the upregulation of these genes during reactivation from dormancy may reflect metabolic adjustment in resuscitating cells, in particular, neutralization of toxic component produced in catabolic reactions.

We paid special attention to small ncRNAs known to control transcription and translation in bacteria. Typically, ncRNAs are expressed in response to external factors, enabling bacterial adaptation to changing environmental conditions and regulating the key stages of pathogenesis. In our study, significant increase was observed only for MrsI, whose *de novo* (rifampicin-sensitive) synthesis was steady up to the cell multiplication phase at day 7. This ncRNA was recently characterized as a mediator of iron-sparing response but is also activated by other macrophage-related stress factors, and it is suggested that MrsI has an anticipatory function, preparing mycobacteria to potentially unfavorable conditions (Gerrick et al., 2018).

Another ncRNA, MTS0997, was upregulated to a much less extent; however, its *de novo* synthesis was also confirmed. MTS0997 was shown to be involved in the control of *M. tuberculosis* lipid metabolism and was overexpressed under hypoxia in the presence of fatty acids (Aguilar-Ayala et al., 2017; Del Portillo et al., 2018). Given sharp upregulation of FASI/FASII fatty acids synthesis systems at the very start of resuscitation, the increase in MTS0997 expression suggests its involvement in the induction of lipid metabolism in mycobacteria after dormancy.

Two other ncRNAs, MTS1338 and MTS2823, were shown to be significantly represented in the NC *M. tuberculosis* transcriptome. MTS1338 is highly expressed during the stationary growth phase (Arnvig et al., 2011) and at dormancy (Ignatov et al., 2015) and was shown to be a part of the DosR regulon activated in hypoxia (Moores et al., 2017), suggesting its role in the maintenance of *M. tuberculosis* survivability in unfavorable conditions.

MTS2823 belonging to 6S ncRNAs is the most abundant ncRNA in the stationary phase of *M. tuberculosis* (Arnvig et al., 2011). Its *M. smegmatis* homolog Ms1 influences the RNApolymerase level and is suggested to sequester the RNA polymerase core in a cache of inactive enzymes, which can be reactivated when needed (Sikova et al., 2019). Such a mechanism could be critical when the demand for RNA polymerase activity increases after environmental changes such as nutrient availability and outgrowth from the stationary phase. Our quantitative analysis demonstrated constant levels of MTS2823 and its very slight increase of MTS1338 only after resuscitation day 4, which should be mainly due to high ncRNA stability (Ignatov et al., 2015; Moores et al., 2017), rather than *de novo* synthesis. Therefore, we can conclude that MTS1338 and MTS2823 are not involved in the resuscitation process after K<sup>+</sup>-limiting conditions but are preserved through the NC state as stable transcripts accumulated at the time of active *M. tuberculosis* growth.

After 4 days of resuscitation, a group of "late" genes, including those regulating central metabolism (respiration, ATP-synthesis, TCA cycle activity, and translation), are activated, suggesting their role in the initiation of cell division. It is interesting that the five genes coding for resuscitation-promoting factors (Rpfs) did not show significant activation before the start of cell division; only rpfE was significantly upregulated at day 7, which coincides with the multiplication onset. In our previous study, we found that only rpfB was induced after 8 days of resuscitation from the NC state (Salina E. G. et al., 2014). These findings are consistent with late activation of Rpfs during resuscitation of *M. smegmatis* (Shleeva et al., 2013).

In conclusion, the application of RNA-seq in combination with qPCR enabled us to detect transcriptional changes and *de novo* mRNA synthesis at the early stage of *M. tuberculosis* resuscitation from the dormant NC state, which preceded the activation of genes controlling central metabolism. Our findings revealed, for the first time, the occurrence of an immediate transcriptional burst at the very start of pathogen resuscitation, which is followed by two-phase changes in the expression profile and then, cell multiplication. The described phenomenon of transcriptional activation at the early stage of *M. tuberculosis* recovery from dormancy warrants further investigation to provide comprehensive understanding of the mechanisms underlying pathogen transition from dormancy to replication, which is crucial for combating latent tuberculosis.

### REFERENCES

- Aguilar-Ayala, D. A., Palomino, J. C., Vandamme, P., Martin, A., and Gonzalez-Y-Merchand, J. A. (2017). Genetic regulation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a lipid-rich environment. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 55, 392–402. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.10.015
- Arnvig, K., and Young, D. (2012). Non-coding RNA and its potential role in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* pathogenesis. *RNA Biol.* 9, 427–436. doi: 10.4161/rna.20105
- Arnvig, K. B., Comas, I., Thomson, N. R., Houghton, J., Boshoff, H. I., Croucher, N. J., et al. (2011). Sequence-based analysis uncovers an abundance of non-coding RNA in the total transcriptome of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *PLoS Pathog.* 7:e1002342. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002342

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study can be found in NCBI Sequence Read Archive (SRA) database (Accession No. SRR8816592, SRR8816593, SRR8816588, SRR8816589, SRR8816590, SRR8816591, SRR8816605, SRR8816602, SRR8816594. SRR8816595, SRR8816596, SRR8816600, SRR8816603, SRR8816597, SRR8816601, SRR8816604, SRR8816598, SRR8816599).

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TA, AK, and ES conceived and designed the experiments and wrote the manuscript. ES, AG, OB, YS, and IM performed the experiments. AK, TA, ES, and AG analyzed the data. ES, TA, and AG prepared figures and graphs. All the authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## **FUNDING**

This work was financially supported by the Russian Science Foundation grants 18-15-00332 (to TA, transcriptome studies) and 16-15-00245 (to AK, microbiology studies).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00272/full#supplementary-material

 Table S1 | Oligonucleotides used in the study.

Table S2 | NGS data.

Table S3 | Confirmation of NGS data by qPCR. Two different sets of genes were checked for changes in transcripts level in days 2, 4, and 7 vs. dormancy (1), and days 1, 2 vs. dormancy (2). Spearman correlation coefficients between NGS and PCR data were calculated.

**Figure S1** | Resuscitation of dormant non-culturable *M. tuberculosis* bacilli in the presence of rifampicin. Changes in cell characteristics in the absence (in black) and in the presence (in red) of  $5 \,\mu$ g/ml of rifampicin: colony forming units (circles), CFU/ml; radioactive incorporation of uracil (triangles) cpm/ml; optical density (diamonds) OD<sub>600</sub>. This experiment was repeated five times with similar results.

**Figure S2** | Expression of several protein-coding genes (A) and ncRNAs (B) at early stages of resuscitation in bacterial cultures with and without rifampicin (rif) treatment. qPCR data are normalized to 16S rRNA transcription level.

- Barry, C. E. (2001). Interpreting cell wall 'virulence factors' of Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Trends Microbiol. 9, 237–241. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(01)02018-2
- Biketov, S., Potapov, V., Ganina, E., Downing, K., Kana, B. D., and Kaprelyants, A. (2007). The role of resuscitation promoting factors in pathogenesis and reactivation of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* during intra-peritoneal infection in mice. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 7:146. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-7-146
- Chen, Z., Hu, Y., Cumming, B. M., Lu, P., Feng, L., Deng, J., et al. (2016). Mycobacterial WhiB6 differentially regulates ESX-1 and the dos regulon to modulate granuloma formation and virulence in zebrafish. *Cell Rep.* 16, 2512–2524. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.07.080
- de Man, J. C. (1975). The probability of most probable numbers. J. Appl. Microbiol. 1, 67–78.

- Del Portillo, P., García-Morales, L., Menéndez, M. C., Anzola, J. M., Rodríguez, J. G., Helguera-Repetto, A. C., et al. (2018). Hypoxia is not a main stress when *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* is in a dormancy-like long-chain fatty acid environment. *Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol.* 8:449. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00449
- Dhillon, J., Lowrie, D. B., and Mitchison, D. A. (2004). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* from chronic murine infections that grows in liquid but not on solid medium. *BMC Infect. Dis.* 4:51. doi: 10.1186/1471-2334-4-51
- Du, P., Sohaskey, C. D., and Shi, L. (2016). Transcriptional and physiological changes during *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* reactivation from non-replicating persistence. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:1346. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01346
- Dutta, N. K., and Karakousis, P. C. (2014). Latent tuberculosis infection: myths, models, and molecular mechanisms. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 78, 343–371. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00010-14
- Epstein, W. (2003). The roles and regulation of potassium in bacteria. *Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol.* 75, 293–320. doi: 10.1016/S0079-6603(03) 75008-9
- Foreman, T. W., Mehra, S., LoBato, D. N., Malek, A., Alvarez, X., Golden, N. A., et al. (2016). CD4+ T-cell-independent mechanisms suppress reactivation of latent tuberculosis in a macaque model of HIV coinfection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, E5636–E5644. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611987113
- Garton, N. J., Waddell, S. J., Sherratt, A. L., Lee, S. M., Smith, R. J., Senner, C., et al. (2008). Cytological and transcript analyses reveal fat and lazy persister-like bacilli in tuberculous sputum. *PLoS Med.* 5:e75. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0050075
- Gerrick, E. R., Barbier, T., Chase, M. R., Xu, R., François, J., Lin, V. H., et al. (2018). Small RNA profiling in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* identifies MrsI as necessary for an anticipatory iron sparing response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 6464–6469. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1718003115
- Ignatov, D. V., Salina, E. G., Fursov, M. V., Skvortsov, T. A., Azhikina, T. L., and Kaprelyants, A. S. (2015). Dormant non-culturable *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* retains stable low-abundant mRNA. *BMC Genomics* 16:954. doi: 10.1186/s12864-015-2197-6
- Iona, E., Pardini, M., Mustazzolu, A., Piccaro, G., Nisini, R., Fattorini, L., et al. (2016). *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* gene expression at different stages of hypoxia-induced dormancy and upon resuscitation. J. Microbiol. 54, 565–572. doi: 10.1007/s12275-016-6150-4
- Karakousis, P. C., Yoshimatsu, T., Lamichhane, G., Woolwine, S. C., Nuermberger, E. L., Grosset, J., et al. (2004). Dormancy phenotype displayed by extracellular *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* within artificial granulomas in mice. *J. Exp. Med.* 200, 647–657. doi: 10.1084/jem.20040646
- Kaushal, D., Mehra, S., Didier, P. J., and Lackner, A. A. (2012). The nonhuman primate model of tuberculosis. J. Med. Primatol. 41, 191–201. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0684.2012.00536.x
- Langmead, B., and Salzberg, S. L. (2012). Fast gapped-read alignment with Bowtie 2. *Nat. Methods* 9, 357–359. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1923
- Liao, Y., Smyth, G. K., and Shi, W. (2014). featureCounts: an efficient general purpose program for assigning sequence reads to genomic features. *Bioinformatics* 30, 923–930. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btt656
- Love, M. I., Huber, W., and Anders, S. (2014). Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol.* 15:550. doi: 10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Manabe, Y. C., Kesavan, A. K., Lopez-Molina, J., Hatem, C. L., Brooks, M., Fujiwara, R., et al. (2008). The aerosol rabbit model of TB latency, reactivation and immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 88, 187–196. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2007.10.006
- McCune, R. M., and Tompsett, R. (1956). Fate of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in mouse tissues as determined by the microbial enumeration technique. I. The persistence of drug-susceptible tubercle bacilli in the tissues despite prolonged antimicrobial therapy. *J. Exp. Med.* 104, 737–762.
- McGillivray, A., Golden, N. A., and Kaushal, D. (2015). The *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* Clp gene regulator is required for *in vitro* reactivation from hypoxia-induced dormancy. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 2351–2367. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.615534
- Mehra, S., Golden, N. A., Dutta, N. K., Midkiff, C. C., Alvarez, X., Doyle, L. A., et al. (2011). Reactivation of latent tuberculosis in rhesus macaques by coinfection with simian immunodeficiency virus. *J. Med. Primatol.* 40, 233–243. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0684.2011.00485.x

- Moores, A., Riesco, A. B., Schwenk, S., and Arnvig, K. B. (2017). Expression, maturation and turnover of DrrS, an unusually stable, DosR regulated small RNA in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *PLoS ONE* 12:e0174079. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174079
- O'Garra, A., Redford, P. S., McNab, F. W., Bloom, C. I., Wilkinson, R. J., and Berry, M. P. (2013). The immune response in tuberculosis. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 31, 475–527. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095939
- Oliver, J. D. (2005). The viable but nonculturable state in bacteria. *J. Microbiol.* 43, 93–100.
- Ordway, D. J., Shanley, C. A., Caraway, M. L., Orme, E. A., Bucy, D. S., Hascall-Dove, L., et al. (2010). Evaluation of standard chemotherapy in the guinea pig model of tuberculosis. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 54, 1820–1833. doi: 10.1128/aac.01521-09
- Pawlowski, A., Jansson, M., Sköld, M., Rottenberg, M. E., and Källenius, G. (2012). Tuberculosis and HIV co-infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 8:e1002464. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002464
- Peña, J. C., and Ho, W. Z. (2015). Monkey models of tuberculosis: lessons learned. Infect. Immun. 83, 852–862. doi: 10.1128/iai.02850-14
- Peña, J. C., and Ho, W. Z. (2016). Non-human primate models of tuberculosis. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 4. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.TBTB2-0007-2016
- Rachman, H., and Kaufmann, S. H. (2007). Exploring functional genomics for the development of novel intervention strategies against tuberculosis. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 297, 559–567. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2007.03.003
- Radaeva, T. V., Nikonenko, B. V., Mischenko, V. V., Averbakh, M. M., and Apt, A. S. (2005). Direct comparison of low-dose and Cornell-like models of chronic and reactivation tuberculosis in genetically susceptible I/St and resistant B6 mice. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 85, 65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2004.09.014
- Ramos, J. L., Martínez-Bueno, M., Molina-Henares, A. J., Terán, W., Watanabe, K., Zhang, X., et al. (2005). The TetR family of transcriptional repressors. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 69, 326–356. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.69.2.326-356.2005
- Rao, S. P., Alonso, S., Rand, L., Dick, T., and Pethe, K. (2008). The protonmotive force is required for maintaining ATP homeostasis and viability of hypoxic, nonreplicating *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 11945–11950. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0711697105
- Rustad, T. R., Roberts, D. M., Liao, R. P., and Sherman, D. R. (2009). Isolation of mycobacterial RNA. *Methods Mol. Biol.* 465, 13–21. doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-207-6\_2
- Salina, E., Ryabova, O., Kaprelyants, A., and Makarov, V. (2014). New 2thiopyridines as potential candidates for killing both actively growing and dormant *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* cells. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 58, 55–60. doi: 10.1128/AAC.01308-13
- Salina, E. G., Waddell, S. J., Hoffmann, N., Rosenkrands, I., Butcher, P. D., and Kaprelyants, A. S. (2014). Potassium availability triggers *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* transition to, and resuscitation from, non-culturable (dormant) states. *Open Biol.* 4:140106. doi: 10.1098/rsob.140106
- Salina, E. G., Zhogina, Y. A., Shleeva, M. O., Sorokoumova, G. M., Selishcheva, A. A., and Kaprelyants, A. S. (2010). Biochemical and morphological changes in dormant ("Nonculturable") Mycobacterium smegmatis cells. *Biochemistry* (*Mosc*) 75, 72–80. doi: 10.1134/S0006297910010098
- Scanga, C. A., Mohan, V. P., Joseph, H., Yu, K., Chan, J., and Flynn, J. L. (1999). Reactivation of latent tuberculosis: variations on the Cornell murine model. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 4531–4538.
- Scriba, T. J., Coussens, A. K., and Fletcher, H. A. (2016). Human immunology of tuberculosis. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 4. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.TBTB2-0016-2016
- Shah, S., and Briken, V. (2016). Modular organization of the ESX-5 secretion system in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. Front. Cell Infect. Microbiol. 6:49. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00049
- Shendure, J. (2008). The beginning of the end for microarrays? *Nat. Methods* 5, 585–587. doi: 10.1038/nmeth0708-585
- Sherrid, A. M., Rustad, T. R., Cangelosi, G. A., and Sherman, D. R. (2010). Characterization of a Clp protease gene regulator and the reaeration response in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis. PLoS ONE* 5:e11622. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0011622
- Shleeva, M., Goncharenko, A., Kudykina, Y., Young, D., Young, M., and Kaprelyants, A. (2013). Cyclic AMP-dependent resuscitation of dormant Mycobacteria by exogenous free fatty acids. *PLoS ONE* 8:e82914. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0082914

- Shleeva, M. O., Kudykina, Y. K., Vostroknutova, G. N., Suzina, N. E., Mulyukin, A. L., and Kaprelyants, A. S. (2011). Dormant ovoid cells of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* are formed in response to gradual external acidification. *Tuberculosis (Edinb)* 91, 146–154. doi: 10.1016/j.tube.2010.12.006
- Sikova, M., Janouskova, M., Ramaniuk, O., Palenikova, P., Pospisil, J., Bartl, P., et al. (2019). Ms1 RNA increases the amount of RNA polymerase in Mycobacterium smegmatis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 111, 354–372. doi: 10.1111/mmi.14159
- Singh, V., Mani, I., Chaudhary, D. K., and Somvanshi, P. (2011). The  $\beta$ -ketoacyl-ACP synthase from *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* as potential drug targets. *Curr. Med. Chem.* 18, 1318–1324. doi: 10.2174/0929867117950 29636
- Sturgill-Koszycki, S., Schlesinger, P. H., Chakraborty, P., Haddix, P. L., Collins, H. L., Fok, A. K., et al. (1994). Lack of acidification in Mycobacterium phagosomes produced by exclusion of the vesicular proton-ATPase. *Science* 263, 678–681.
- Subbian, S., Tsenova, L., O'Brien, P., Yang, G., Kushner, N. L., Parsons, S., et al. (2012). Spontaneous latency in a rabbit model of pulmonary tuberculosis. *Am. J. Pathol.* 181, 1711–1724. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.07.019
- Takayama, K., Wang, C., and Besra, G. S. (2005). Pathway to synthesis and processing of mycolic acids in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 18, 81–101. doi: 10.1128/cmr.18.1.81-101.2005
- Vaubourgeix, J., Lin, G., Dhar, N., Chenouard, N., Jiang, X., Botella, H., et al. (2015). Stressed mycobacteria use the chaperone ClpB to sequester irreversibly oxidized proteins asymmetrically within and between cells. *Cell Host Microbe*. 17, 178–190. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2014.12.008

- Veatch, A. V., and Kaushal, D. (2018). Opening Pandora's box: mechanisms of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* resuscitation. *Trends Microbiol.* 26, 145–157. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2017.08.001
- Wayne, L. G. (1976). Dynamics of submerged growth of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* under aerobic and microaerophilic conditions. *Am. Rev. Respir. Dis.* 114, 807–811. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1976.114.4.807
- Wayne, L. G., and Hayes, L. G. (1996). An *in vitro* model for sequential study of shiftdown of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* through two stages of nonreplicating persistence. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 2062–2069.
- World Health Organization (2018). *Global Tuberculosis Report 2018*. Available online at: http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global\_report/en/
- Zhang, Y. (2004). Persistent and dormant tubercle bacilli and latent tuberculosis. Front. Biosci. 9, 1136–1156. doi: 10.2741/1291

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Salina, Grigorov, Bychenko, Skvortsova, Mamedov, Azhikina and Kaprelyants. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Assessing the Contribution of an HtrA Family Serine Protease During *Borrelia turicatae* Mammalian Infection

Clay D. Jackson-Litteken<sup>1</sup>, Amanda K. Zalud<sup>2</sup>, C. Tyler Ratliff<sup>1</sup>, Jacob I. Latham<sup>1</sup>, Travis J. Bourret<sup>2</sup>, Job E. Lopez<sup>3</sup> and Jon S. Blevins<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Creighton University, Omaha, NE, United States, <sup>3</sup> Section of Tropical Medicine, Department of Pediatrics, Baylor College of Medicine and Texas Children's Hospital, Houston, TX, United States

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Peter Kraiczy, Goethe University Frankfurt, Germany Troy Bankhead, Washington State University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Jon S. Blevins jsblevins@uams.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 20 May 2019 Accepted: 26 July 2019 Published: 13 August 2019

#### Citation:

Jackson-Litteken CD, Zalud AK, Ratliff CT, Latham JI, Bourret TJ, Lopez JE and Blevins JS (2019) Assessing the Contribution of an HtrA Family Serine Protease During Borrelia turicatae Mammalian Infection. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:290. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00290

Tick-borne relapsing fever (TBRF), characterized by recurring febrile episodes, is globally distributed and among the most common bacterial infections in some African countries. Despite the public health concern that this disease represents, little is known regarding the virulence determinants required by TBRF Borrelia during infection. Because the chromosomes of TBRF Borrelia show extensive colinearity with those of Lyme disease (LD) Borrelia, the exceptions represent unique genes encoding proteins that are potentially essential to the disparate enzootic cycles of these two groups of spirochetes. One such exception is a gene encoding an HtrA family protease, BtpA, that is present in TBRF Borrelia, but not in LD spirochetes. Previous work suggested that btpA orthologs may be important for resistance to stresses faced during mammalian infection. Herein, proteomic analyses of the TBRF spirochete, Borrelia turicatae, demonstrated that BtpA, as well as proteins encoded by adjacent genes in the *B. turicatae* genome, were produced in response to culture at mammalian body temperature, suggesting a role in mammalian infection. Further, transcriptional analyses revealed that btpA was expressed with the genes immediately upstream and downstream as part of an operon. To directly assess if *btpA* is involved in resistance to environmental stresses, *btpA* deletion mutants were generated. btpA mutants demonstrated no growth defect in response to heat shock, but were more sensitive to oxidative stress produced by t-butyl peroxide compared to wild-type B. turicatae. Finally, btpA mutants were fully infectious in a murine relapsing fever (RF) infection model. These results indicate that BtpA is either not required for mammalian infection, or that compensatory mechanisms exist in TBRF spirochetes to combat environmental stresses encountered during mammalian infection in the absence of BtpA.

Keywords: Borrelia, relapsing fever, relapsing fever borrelia, BtpA, HtrA, BhpA, oxidative stress

## INTRODUCTION

Relapsing fever (RF), caused by spirochetes belonging to the genus Borrelia, is characterized by recurrent febrile episodes accompanied by non-specific symptoms including headache, nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea (Ross and Milne, 1904; Dutton et al., 1905; Dworkin et al., 1998, 2008). In more severe cases, infection with RF spirochetes can be associated with other manifestations including jaundice, meningitis, acute respiratory distress syndrome, and perinatal mortality (Jongen et al., 1997; Dworkin et al., 1998; Centers for Disease and Prevention, 2007). Tickborne RF (TBRF) is globally distributed with high prevalence in several endemic areas (Cutler, 2010). Accordingly, TBRF is the most common bacterial infection in Senegal and the most prevalent cause of fever in rural Zaire (Dupont et al., 1997; Vial et al., 2006). Moreover, the actual incidence of TBRF may be even higher than reported in many studies, as TBRF cases often go unreported or are misdiagnosed as another disease, such as malaria, in endemic regions of Africa (Dworkin et al., 1998; Nordstrand et al., 2007; Cutler, 2010; Schwan et al., 2012; Talagrand-Reboul et al., 2018). Despite the public health concern that TBRF represents, and the fact that the etiologic agent of TBRF was first described over 100 years ago (Ross and Milne, 1904; Dutton et al., 1905), our knowledge regarding virulence determinants utilized by the causative Borrelia spirochetes is limited.

RF and Lyme disease (LD) Borrelia are evolutionarily related spirochetes with chromosomes that are largely colinear (Hyde and Johnson, 1986; Fraser et al., 1997; Guyard et al., 2006; Lescot et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2013). In fact, comparison of the chromosomes of these two groups revealed only 17 genes unique to RF spirochetes and 13 genes unique to LD spirochetes (Lescot et al., 2008). Despite this similarity, TBRF and LD Borrelia have very disparate enzootic cycles and cause unique diseases. With respect to the enzootic cycle, most TBRF spirochetes are transmitted by Ornithodoros soft ticks, whereas LD spirochetes are spread by Ixodes hard ticks (Davis, 1936, 1941; Burgdorfer et al., 1982; Barbour, 2018; Barbour and Schwan, 2019). TBRF spirochetes colonize both the midgut and salivary glands of the Ornithodoros tick and are transmitted to the mammalian host within seconds of tick attachment (Schwan and Piesman, 2002; Boyle et al., 2014). Alternatively, LD spirochetes primarily colonize the tick midgut and migrate to the salivary glands only after the tick begins feeding (Ribeiro et al., 1987). Therefore, colonized Ixodes ticks must feed more than 24 h to transmit spirochetes (Piesman et al., 1987). During mammalian infection with TBRF spirochetes, characteristic recurring bacteremic episodes occur with spirochetes reaching numbers as high as 10<sup>8</sup> bacteria/mL in the blood (Stoenner et al., 1982; Cadavid et al., 1994; Pennington et al., 1997; Dworkin et al., 1998, 2008; Cutler, 2010). Conversely, during mammalian infection by LD spirochetes, bacteremia primarily occurs early during infection and at relatively lower levels (10<sup>3</sup>-10<sup>4</sup> bacteria/mL of blood), during which bacteria are disseminating to distal tissues (Wang et al., 2002). Therefore, whereas symptoms of TBRF are predominantly due to high amounts of bacteria present in the bloodstream, LD symptoms are often the result of specific tissue colonization. These differences suggest that TBRF and LD spirochetes have evolved to encode unique tick colonization factors and virulence factors essential for their distinct enzootic cycles and associated disease courses.

While the chromosomes of TBRF and LD Borrelia species are mostly colinear, their chromosomes also contain a subset of conserved genes that are only found in either TBRF or LD spirochetes (Hyde and Johnson, 1986; Fraser et al., 1997; Guyard et al., 2006; Lescot et al., 2008; Miller et al., 2013). It has been hypothesized that the chromosomal genes unique to TBRF or LD Borrelia may encode important bacterial factors that contribute to the distinct aspects of the enzootic cycles and disease courses of the two groups of Borrelia (Guyard et al., 2006). bt0790A, designated btpA in Borrelia turicatae by Guyard et al., encodes an HtrA (high temperature requirement) family serine protease found in the chromosomes of TBRF spirochetes, but not LD spirochetes (Guyard et al., 2006). The HtrA family of serine proteases are important for the pathogenesis of several species of bacteria, including Salmonella typhimurium, Yersinia enterocolitica, and Listeria monocytogenes (Johnson et al., 1991; Li et al., 1996; Pallen and Wren, 1997; Schafer et al., 1999; Clausen et al., 2002; Raivio, 2005; Wilson et al., 2006; Ingmer and Brondsted, 2009). Periplasmic HtrA proteases serve as stressresponse chaperones that assist in polypeptide folding or as proteases involved in turnover of improperly folded proteins (Strauch and Beckwith, 1988; Spiess et al., 1999; Rizzitello et al., 2001). In light of this key physiological role, it is not surprising that htrA mutants of many bacteria are more sensitive to environmental stresses encountered during human infection that result in misfolded proteins, including increased temperature and oxidative stress (Lipinska et al., 1989; Johnson et al., 1991; Elzer et al., 1994; Li et al., 1996; Cortes et al., 2002; Brondsted et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2006). Guyard et al. demonstrated that BhpA, the Borrelia hermsii ortholog of BtpA that shares 89% identity, has caseinlolytic activity, and is located intracellularly, presumably in the periplasm (Guyard et al., 2006). Guyard et al. also showed elevated transcription of bhpA when bacteria were cultured at mammalian body temperature relative to a temperature representative of an unfed tick, suggesting a possible role during mammalian infection. Finally, they demonstrated that heterologous expression of bhpA in Borrelia burgdorferi, a LD spirochete, rendered the bacteria more resistant to oxidative stress, and neutrophil-mediated killing in vitro (Guyard et al., 2006). It was therefore hypothesized that these unique proteases in TBRF spirochetes play a role in turnover of proteins damaged by the immune response [e.g., reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS)] and facilitate the capacity for these bacteria to achieve high-level bacteremia relative to LD spirochetes (Guyard et al., 2006).

Herein, we aimed to further the work of Guyard et al. (2006). Proteomic analyses revealed that, in *B. turicatae*, BtpA and proteins encoded by adjacent chromosomal genes are produced in response to growth at mammalian body temperature. Subsequent transcriptional analyses demonstrated that *btpA* is expressed in an operon with immediately upstream and downstream genes, which encode a hypothetical protein and thymidine kinase, respectively. Further, the analogous region

of the B. burgdorferi chromosome was also co-transcribed, suggesting that the operonic nature of this region of the chromosome is conserved among diverse Borrelia species. Importantly, in the previous study, attempts to delete *bhpA* in B. hermsii were unsuccessful, leading to the suggestion that this protease may be required for bacterial viability (Guyard et al., 2006). However, we were able to generate mutants lacking btpA in the TBRF spirochete, B. turicatae, and directly assess the importance of this protease in vitro under environmental stresses, and in vivo during mammalian infection. btpA mutants did not exhibit increased susceptibility to high culture temperature like htrA mutants of several other bacteria. Furthermore, btpA mutants were equally resistant to oxidative stress produced by hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  and nitrosative stress produced by the nitric oxide donor diethylamine NONOate (DEA/NO) relative to wild-type B. turicatae, however, exhibited slightly increased susceptibility to *t*-butyl peroxide. Lastly, *in vivo* murine infection experiments demonstrated that mutants are able to establish initial bloodstream infection and cause subsequent bacteremic relapses. These data imply, contradictory to previous work, that BtpA is not required by TBRF spirochetes to facilitate mammalian infection.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### **Bacterial Strains and Culture Conditions**

Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study are detailed in Table 1. Escherichia coli strain TOP10F' (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) was utilized for cloning. E. coli cultures were grown at 37°C in Luria-Bertani (LB) medium supplemented with 100 µg/mL ampicillin or 5 µg/mL gentamicin when necessary. Low passage strains of *B. turicatae* [strain 91E135 (Oz1)] and *B.* burgdorferi (strain 297) were used for this study (Taylor et al., 1991; Hughes et al., 1992; Schwan et al., 2005). Specifically, wildtype B. turicatae and B. burgdorferi were passaged no more than twice from the original frozen stock, and *B. turicatae btpA* mutants were passaged no more than twice after clonal isolation (see below). B. turicatae was cultured at 35°C with 3% CO2 in modified Barbour-Stoenner-Kelly (mBSK) medium with 12% rabbit serum at a pH of 7.6 (Barbour, 1984; Battisti et al., 2008), except during oxidative and nitrosative stress susceptibility assays (below). For B. turicatae growth temperature experiments, all culture conditions were identical to those above with the exception of temperature, which was increased to 37, 39, or 41°C. For the temperature shift experiment, culture conditions were identical to the parameters above, except cultures were incubated at 23°C for seven days, followed by a shift to 37°C. Selection of B. turicatae transformants was achieved by supplementing mBSK medium with 40 µg/mL gentamicin. B. burgdorferi was cultured at  $35^{\circ}$ C in 3% CO<sub>2</sub> in BSK-II medium with 6% rabbit serum at a pH of 7.6 (Barbour, 1984; Pollack et al., 1993).

## Reverse Transcription-PCR (RT-PCR) Analyses

RT-PCR was performed to evaluate possible transcriptional linkage of chromosomal segments spanning *bt0790-bt0791* in *B. turicatae*, and *bb0790-bb0791* in *B. burgdorferi*, as well as to assess

transcription of *btpA* and adjacent genes. RNA was extracted as previously described (Blevins et al., 2007; Groshong et al., 2014). Briefly, cultures of B. turicatae or B. burgdorferi were grown to late exponential phase followed by treatment with 10% (vol/vol) RNA stop solution (Bernstein et al., 2002; Blevins et al., 2007). Cells were collected by centrifugation and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until RNA extraction was performed. Total RNA was isolated with TRIzol reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA), and purified with the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA) per the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was then treated with RNasefree DNase I (Qiagen) to eliminate possible DNA contamination. Absence of contaminating genomic DNA (gDNA) was confirmed by PCR utilizing primers specific for an internal region of the *flaB* gene (B. turicatae primers: 5' BtFlaB and 3' BtFlaB; B. burgdorferi primers: 5' Chrom and 3' Chrom), and EmeraldAmp GT PCR Master Mix (TaKaRa Bio, Mountain View, CA). Primers used in this study are described in Table 2.

Purified RNA was converted to cDNA using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) or SuperScript IV VILO Master Mix (ThermoFisher Scientific) according to the manufacturers' protocols. As a negative control, a mock reaction was conducted in the absence of reverse transcriptase. cDNA was then used as template for PCRs with EmeraldAmp GT PCR Master Mix and primers either annealing to adjacent genes to assess transcriptional linkage or primers annealing to internal regions of genes to evaluate transcription (Table 2). For the bt0790-bt0791 RT-PCR linkage reaction however, PrimeSTAR Max DNA polymerase (TaKaRa Bio) was used in place of EmeraldAmp GT PCR Master Mix due to the need to generate a larger PCR product. Wild-type B. turicatae or B. burgdorferi gDNA was used as an amplification control where appropriate. PCR products were separated by gel electrophoresis in 0.8% agarose and stained with ethidium bromide for DNA visualization.

## Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qRT-PCR) Analyses

qRT-PCR was used to measure transcription of genes in the btpA-containing operon in btpA mutant spirochetes relative to wild-type B. turicatae. RNA was isolated and converted to cDNA as described above. Primers were designed to detect transcription of bt0790 (primers: bt0790 IDT SYBR FWD and bt0790 IDT SYBR REV), btpA (primers: bt0790A IDT SYBR FWD and bt0790A IDT SYBR REV), and bt0791 (primers: bt0791 IDT SYBR FWD and bt0791 IDT SYBR REV), as well as flaB (primers: 5' BtflaB SYBR/ABI and 3' BtflaB SYBR/ABI) as a control gene. SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories) was used per the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, a master mix was made so that 19 µL contained 10 µL of the above 2X supermix, 1  $\mu$ L of each primer at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M, and 7  $\mu L$  of nuclease free water. 19  $\mu L$  aliquots of the master mix were then distributed into wells in a 96-well real-time PCR reaction plate. 1 µL of cDNA template at a concentration of 100 ng/ $\mu$ L was then added to the 19  $\mu$ L of master mix in each well, resulting in a final primer concentration of 500 nM. To check for DNA contamination, no template control (NTC)

#### TABLE 1 | Plasmids and strains used in this study.

Plasmid or strain	Description <sup>a,b</sup>	Source
PLASMID		
pGEM-T Easy	TA cloning vector; Amp <sup>r</sup>	Promega
pUAMS4	pGEM-T Easy::PflgB-aacC1 (Ascl-flanked); Gent <sup>r</sup> , Amp <sup>r</sup>	This study
pUAMS169	pGEM-T Easy:: <i>aacC1</i> (Flanked with 5' <i>Ndel</i> and 3' AscI); Gent <sup>r</sup> , Amp <sup>r</sup>	This study
pUAMS177A	btpA::PflgB-aacC1 mutagenesis construct; Gent <sup>r</sup> , Amp <sup>r</sup>	This study
pUAMS238	<i>btpA::aacC1</i> mutagenesis construct; Gent <sup>r</sup> , Amp <sup>r</sup>	This study
STRAIN		
<i>B. turicatae</i> 91E135 (Oz1)	<i>B. turicatae</i> tick isolate	Taylor et al., 1991; Schwan et al., 2005
B. burgdorferi 297	B. burgdorferi human isolate	Hughes et al., 1992
E. coli TOP10F'	F' [lacl <sup>q</sup> Tn10(Tet <sup>r</sup> )] mcrA $\Delta$ (mrr-hsdRMS-mcrBC) φ80lacZ $\Delta$ M15 nupG $\Delta$ lacX74 recA1 ara $\Delta$ 139 $\Delta$ (ara-leu)7697 galU galK rpsL (Str <sup>r</sup> ) endA1	Life Technologies
B. turicatae btpA::PflgB-aacC1	<i>btpA</i> mutant with gentamicin resistance marker under transcriptional control of the <i>flgB</i> promoter	This study
B. turicatae btpA::aacC1	btpA mutant with promoterless gentamicin resistance marker	This study

<sup>a</sup>Amp, ampicillin.

reactions were conducted in which 1  $\mu$ L of nuclease free water was added to the 19  $\mu$ L of master mix instead of cDNA template. Reactions were performed using the QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System (ThermoFisher Scientific), and reaction conditions included an initial polymerase activation step at 95°C for 30 s, followed by 40 cycles of DNA denaturation at 95°C for 10 s and primer annealing/DNA extension at 60°C for 30 s. Three technical replicates were conducted for each experiment, and two biological replicates were performed. Data was analyzed using the  $\Delta\Delta C_t$  method as previously described (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001).

### **Proteomic Analysis**

To evaluate temperature-dependent differences in B. turicatae protein production, wild-type B. turicatae cultures were inoculated at an initial density of 10<sup>4</sup> bacteria/mL and grown at either 37°C or 23°C to the late exponential growth phase. Spirochetes were collected by centrifugation, washed two times in cold saline, and then prepared for SDS-PAGE. For each sample, a volume of whole cell lysates equivalent to approximately  $3 \times 10^7$  spirochetes was loaded in a 4–20% Mini-PROTEAN TGX gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories), and proteins were separated by electrophoresis. After SDS-PAGE, whole lanes were excised in slices, and subjected to in-gel trypsin digestion of proteins. Proteins were identified and quantified by LC-MS/MS based on spectral counts of tryptic peptides for the proteins of interest. Sample preparation, protein identification, and analysis was carried out by the UAMS Proteomics Core as previously described (Zielinska et al., 2012; Byrum et al., 2018). Proteins were then identified using Mascot version 2.5.1 (Matrix Science, Boston, MA) and the B. turicatae strain 91E315 database (GenBank assembly accession: GCA\_000012085.2). Comparisons were performed on two biological replicates for 37°C cultures and three biological replicates for 23°C cultures.

## Generation of *btpA* Mutants

Allelic exchange mutagenesis was used to inactivate btpA in B. turicatae (Lopez et al., 2013). Primers used are described in Table 2. All PCRs for cloning were performed with high-fidelity PrimeSTAR Max DNA polymerase. The gentamicin resistance cassette, PflgB-aacC1, was generated by fusing the promoter for the *B. turicatae* flagellar basal body rod protein (flgB; bt0294) to the aacC1 resistance marker and introducing AscI sites flanking the cassette (primers: 5' BtflgB-AscI and 3' Gent-AscI) (Battisti et al., 2008). The resistance cassette was then TA-cloned into pGEM-T Easy (Promega Corp., Fitchburg, WI). The btpA::PflgBaacC1 mutational construct was generated by amplifying a 5' flanking region (primers: 5' F1 bt0790A KO and 3' F1 bt0790A KO\_AscI), and a 3' flanking region (primers: 5' F2 bt0790A KO\_AscI and 3' F2 bt0790A KO\_BssHII). The respective amplicons were subsequently TA-cloned into pGEM-T Easy and sequence confirmed. The 5'- and 3'-flanking region fragments were ligated together with the PflgB-aacC1 cassette between them to yield the final btpA::PflgB-aacC1 mutational construct, pUAMS177A.

Derivation of the construct to inactivate btpA with a promoterless aacC1 marker was similar to that described above. A 5' flanking region (primers: 5' F1 bt0790A KO and 3' F1 bt0790A KO\_NdeI) and a 3' flanking region (primers: 5' F2 bt0790A KO\_AscI\_v2 and 3' F2 bt0790A KO\_BssHII) were PCR amplified (**Table 2**). The promoterless marker was generated by amplifying the aacC1 open reading frame (ORF) from PflgB-aacC1 with primers that introduced 5' NdeI and 3' AscI restriction sites (primers: 5' PromLess Bt Gent and 3' Gent-AscI). The respective amplicons were subsequently TA-cloned into pGEM-T Easy and sequence confirmed. The 5'- and 3'-flanking region fragments were ligated together with the aacC1 ORF between them to generate the final btpA::aacC1 allelic exchange construct,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup>Gent, gentamicin.

#### TABLE 2 | Primers and probe used in this study.

Primer designation	Sequence <sup>a,b</sup>	Purpose	
5' BtFlaB	CTGGAATGGGTGTTGCAGGA	RT-PCR;	
		PCR Screening	
3' BtFlaB	CTCCCTCTTGTTGTGCACCT	RT-PCR; PCR Screening	
' Chrom	GATTATCAATCATAATACATCAGC	RT-PCR	
2' Chrom	TCTAAGCAATGACAAACATATTGG	RT-PCR	
<sup>/</sup> <i>bt0790-790A</i> link RT-PCR (P1 <b>-Figure 1</b> )	CCCTGTTCGTTATGAAAATGCTTTGCTTGG	RT-PCR	
' bt0790-790A link RT-PCR (P2-Figure 1)	GCAAAGAAACTCGCAAGCATTGGGTCC	RT-PCR	
<sup>′</sup> <i>bt0790A-791</i> link RT-PCR (P3 <b>-Figure 1</b> )	GCTCCTAATTCTCCTGCAGATATTGGG	RT-PCR	
′ <i>bt0790A-791</i> link RT-PCR (P4 <b>—Figure 1</b> )	GGCCTACATCAAAAGAATCACCTGC	RT-PCR	
<i>bt0790A</i> ORF RT-PCR (P3— <b>Figure 2</b> )	TGTAAGACTTCCAAGAGGCAAGGG	RT-PCR; PCR Screening	
' <i>bt0790A</i> ORF RT-PCR (P4- <b>Figure 2</b> )	TTTCATTTACCACAGGTCCACCGG	RT-PCR; PCR Screening	
' bt0790 ORF RT-PCR	GGGAAGTTTTAGTAAAGTGTTAGCCG	RT-PCR	
<i>' bt0790</i> ORF RT-PCR	ACTGCGGCATTATTTTGTCATCTACA	RT-PCR	
/ bt0791 ORF RT-PCR_v2	CCATTACCAAGGGACGTAGAAA	RT-PCR	
<i>bt0791</i> ORF RT-PCR_v2	ACAATCTCATCACCAACA	RT-PCR	
′ <i>bb0790-bb0791</i> link (P5 <b>–Figure 1</b> )	GGCTGCAATTTTAATAGTTTTGGGATC	RT-PCR	
′ <i>bb0790-bb0791</i> link (P6— <b>Figure 1</b> )	CGTTCATCATAAAAACATGCCTCATC	RT-PCR	
t0790 IDT SYBR FWD	ACTTGATTTACATGAGACTTGAAGC	qRT-PCR	
t0790 IDT SYBR REV	AAAGAGTCGGCTAACACTTTACT	qRT-PCR	
<i>t0790A</i> IDT SYBR FWD	CCAATGCTTGCGAGTTTCTTT	qRT-PCR	
<i>t0790A</i> IDT SYBR REV	CCCATATCCACCCAAACTGTTA	qRT-PCR	
t0791 IDT SYBR FWD	CCATTACCAAGGGACGTAGAAAC	qRT-PCR	
<i>t0791</i> IDT SYBR REV	TCACTTCCACCGCCTCTATAA	qRT-PCR	
' Bt <i>flaB</i> SYBR/ABI	AAAAACAGCTGAAGAGCTTGGAAT	qRT-PCR	
<sup>′</sup> Bt <i>flaB</i> SYBR/ABI	CACCCACATGTACTCTTAATGTCCAT	qRT-PCR	
′ F1 <i>bt0790A</i> KO	CACCTGATGAAGCTTATATGTTTTTTA	Mutagenesis Cloning	
′ F1 <i>bt0790A</i> KO_Ascl	<b>GGCGCGCC</b> CTCTACTCTCAGCAAGCATCATACC	Mutagenesis Cloning	
' F2 bt0790A KO_Ascl	GGCGCGCCAATATTATTGAGAGTATTATAGAG	Mutagenesis Cloning	
' F2 bt0790A KO_BssHll	<b>GCGCGC</b> TCCCTACCAACAAGATAATGATGCC	Mutagenesis Cloning	
′ F1 <i>bt0790A</i> KO_ <i>Nd</i> el	CATATGCTCTCAAAAGCTAATTAATGTTATGATAG	Mutagenesis Cloning	
' F2 bt0790A KO_Ascl_v2	GGCGCGCCGCTAAGGTCTTTGCAAATGGTCTTGGTG	Mutagenesis Cloning	
<sup>/</sup> Bt <i>flgB-Asc</i> l	<b>GGCGCGCC</b> AGCACCCGGTAGCAAGTTAAAAAAATTTG	Mutagenesis Cloning	
3' Gent-Ascl	GGCGCGCCTTAGGTGGCGGTACTTGGGTCG	Mutagenesis Cloning	
' PromLess Bt Gent	GGCGCGCCATAGAGGGT <b>CATATG</b> TTACGCAGCAGC	Mutagenesis Cloning	
<i>' aacC1</i> diag	GCAACGATGTTACGCAGCAG	PCR Screening	
<i>' aacC1</i> diag	GCATCACTTCTTCCCGTATGC	PCR Screening	
' Bt0790A ext diag_V2 (P1-Figure 2)	GATAAAGGAGTTTTGAAAGTTAAGAAAG	PCR Screening	
' Bt0790A ext diag_V2 (P2-Figure 2)	CATAAAGCAATAAGACAAACACTCTCT	PCR Screening	
StflaB F	CCAGCATCATTAGCTGGATCAC	qPCR	
BtflaB R	GTTGTGCACCTTCCTGAGC	qPCR	
Bt <i>flaB</i> -Probe	/5YakYel/TGCAGGTGA/ZEN/AGGTGCGCAGGTT/3IABkFQ/	qPCR	

<sup>a</sup>Relevant restriction sites are indicated by bold lettering.

<sup>b</sup> YakYel, 5' Yakima Yellow dye; ZEN, ZEN internal quencher; IABkFQ, Iowa Black FQ 3' quencher.

pUAMS238. The *aacC1* ORF was introduced at the start codon of *bt0790A*.

Constructs were electroporated into wild-type *B. turicatae*, transformants were selected for with gentamicin, and clones

were obtained via serial dilution plating as previously described (Lopez et al., 2013). Disruption of the gene in both mutants was genotypically confirmed using PCR with primers (**Table 2**) that amplify an internal segment of btpA

(primers: 5' Bt0790A ORF RT-PCR and 3' Bt0790A ORF RT-PCR), a segment flanking the deleted region (primers: 5' Bt0790A ext diag\_V2 and 3' Bt0790A ext diag\_V2), an internal segment of the *aacC1* ORF (primers: 5' *aacC1* diag and 3' *aacC1* diag), and an internal segment of the *flaB* gene (primers: 5' BtFlaB and 3' BtFlaB) as a positive amplification control.

## Oxidative and Nitrosative Stress Susceptibility Assays

Low passage B. turicatae strains were grown to stationary phase  $(\sim 2 \times 10^8 \text{ cells/mL})$  under aerobic conditions (5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 18% O<sub>2</sub>) at 34°C in modified pyruvate-free mBSK media (Troxell et al., 2014). Strains were pelleted by centrifugation and resuspended to a density of  $1-2 \times 10^7$  cells/mL in modified pyruvate-free mBSK media. One mL aliquots were transferred to 5-mL polypropylene culture tubes (Midwest Scientific, Valley Park, MO) and cultured in the presence or absence of H2O2, t-butyl peroxide, or diethylamine NONOate (Cayman Chemical, Ann Arbor, MI) for 2 h under aerobic conditions at 34°C. Following incubation, serial dilutions of the cultures were prepared in mBSK and were plated on semi-solid mBSK media with 12% rabbit serum in 6-well culture plates as described previously (Raffel et al., 2018). Colony forming units (CFUs) were enumerated after 8-10 days of incubation. Percent survival was determined by dividing CFUs from the 2h timepoint samples by the CFUs from the 0 h timepoint. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD).

### **Murine Infections**

Murine infections were carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, the Public Health Science Policy on Humane Care and Use of Laboratory Animals, and the Animal Welfare Act. The protocol was approved by the University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC). Wild-type B. turicatae and B. turicatae btpA mutants were passaged no more than two times from the original frozen stocks. Groups of 4- to 6-week-old, female Swiss Webster mice (Charles River Laboratories, Wilmington, MA) were used in this study. Wild-type B. turicatae, btpA::PflgBaacC1, and btpA::aacC1 strains were grown to mid- to latelog phase, enumerated by dark-field microscopy, and diluted in fresh mBSK media to a concentration of 10<sup>3</sup> spirochetes/mL. 100  $\mu$ L of this dilution (containing 10<sup>2</sup> total spirochetes) was then intradermally/subcutaneously injected into mice in the thoracic region. Daily blood samples, taken via tail venipuncture, were collected on days 3 to 14 post-infection for bacterial burden quantitative PCR (qPCR) assays as previously described (Mccoy et al., 2010; Boyle et al., 2014). 2.5  $\mu L$  of blood was immediately combined with 47.5 µL of SideStep Lysis & Stabilization Buffer (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) and stored at -80°C (Mccoy et al., 2010; Boyle et al., 2014). For preparation of qPCR standard curve samples, described below, blood was collected from uninfected female Swiss Webster mice by brachial artery bleed and combined with SideStep Lysis & Stabilization Buffer at a blood-to-buffer ratio of 1:18.

## qPCR for Bacterial Burdens

TaqMan-based qPCR analysis was conducted as initially described by McCoy et al. for B. hermsii (Mccoy et al., 2010) and Boyle et al. for B. turicatae (Boyle et al., 2014), but with some modifications. 17 µL of master mix containing the following components was added to a 96-well real time PCR plate; 10 µL 2x SsoAdvanced Universal Probes Supermix (Bio-Rad Laboratories), 0.8 µL of each forward and reverse primer at a concentration of 10 µM (primers: BtflaB F and BtflaB R), 1.2 µL of probe at a concentration of  $5 \mu M$  [probe: Bt*flaB* probe labeled with 5' Yamika Yellow and double-quenched with an internal ZEN quencher and 3' Iowa Black FQ quencher (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA)], and 4.2  $\mu$ L of nuclease free water.  $3 \,\mu\text{L}$  of the blood sample in lysis/stabilization buffer (see above) was then added to each well; resulting in a final concentration of 400 nM for each primer and 300 nM for the probe. Samples for standard curves were generated by centrifuging 1 mL of lateexponential phase B. turicatae culture at  $6,000 \times g$  for 15 min at room temperature. Supernatant was discarded and cells were resuspended in 1 mL of phosphate-buffered saline with 5 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> (PBS-MgCl<sub>2</sub>). This wash step was then repeated two more times. Following the final centrifugation, spirochetes were resuspended in 500 µL PBS-MgCl<sub>2</sub> and enumerated by dark-field microscopy. This suspension was then diluted with PBS-MgCl<sub>2</sub> to a density of 10<sup>8</sup> spirochetes/mL, and a range of 10-fold serial dilutions were prepared from 10<sup>4</sup> to 10<sup>8</sup> spirochetes/mL. For purposes of a NTC, nuclease free water was diluted 10-fold in PBS-MgCl<sub>2</sub>. Preparations from  $10^4$  to  $10^8$  spirochetes/mL and the NTC were spiked into naïve blood in lysis/stabilization buffer (see above) at a ratio of 1:19. 3 µL of this final preparation were added to 17 µL of the above master mix and used to generate a standard curve for qPCR. All sample and standard curve reactions were conducted in triplicate. Real-time qPCR was performed using the QuantStudio 6 Flex Real-Time PCR System (ThermoFisher Scientific). The run method consisted of an initial 50°C hold for 2 min followed by a polymerase activation step at 95°C for 10 min. DNA amplification was performed by running 40 cycles consisting of DNA denaturation at 95°C for 15 s and primer annealing/DNA extension at 60°C for 60 s. Data obtained was subsequently imported into Prism version 6 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA), graphed, and analyzed.

## **Statistical Methods**

To compare maximum bacterial burdens in the blood of infected mice (qPCR results) and survival following exposure to ROS/RNS, analysis of variance (ANOVA) models were used with Tukey's procedure for pairwise comparisons. p < 0.05 were considered statistically significant. For qRT-PCR analyses, mean and standard error of the mean (SEM) for fold-change was calculated based on the  $\Delta\Delta C_t$  values before log-transformation (i.e., evaluating the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  term) as previously described (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Statistical tests were performed using Prism version 6 (GraphPad Software).

## RESULTS

## BtpA Is Produced in Response to Mammalian Body Temperature

In the LD spirochete, B. burgdorferi, numerous proteins important for mammalian infection are produced when the bacteria are cultured at mammalian body temperature (37°C), whereas, proteins involved in tick colonization are produced in response to culture at a temperature representative of an unfed tick (23°C) (Schwan et al., 1995; Stevenson et al., 1995; Schwan and Piesman, 2000; Yang et al., 2000; Ojaimi et al., 2003). Guyard et al. demonstrated that, in B. hermsii, bhpA transcription is significantly higher at 37°C relative to 23°C, suggesting a potential role for BhpA during mammalian infection. Additionally, Guyard et al. showed production of BhpA at 23, 34, and 37°C by immunoblot, but did not quantify possible temperature-dependent differences (Guyard et al., 2006). We therefore sought to assess whether production of BtpA in B. turicatae was elevated at 37°C relative to 23°C. To this end, wild-type B. turicatae was cultured at these two temperatures and bacterial proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE. Gel slices were prepared from the lanes and proteins in each slice were identified and quantified via LC-MS/MS. Results for the proteins encoded by *btpA* and adjacent genes are presented in Table 3. BtpA-derived peptides were only detected at 37°C and not 23°C, supporting the hypothesis that BtpA plays a potential role during mammalian infection. Similarly, BT0790 and BT0791, a hypothetical protein and thymidine kinase, respectively, were produced at  $\sim$ 3-fold more at mammalian body temperature relative to 23°C. In contrast, BT0789 and BT0792 were produced at similar levels between these two temperatures. These results agree with the transcriptional results of Guyard et al. (2006), and suggest that BtpA, as well as BT0790 and BT0791, may be important for mammalian infection.

### *btpA* Is Transcribed in an Operon

Analysis of the B. turicatae genome annotation revealed that the btpA ORF is encoded on the same DNA strand as bt0790 and bt0791. Additionally, btpA is located 14 bp downstream of bt0790 and overlaps 34 bp with bt0791 (Hyde and Johnson, 1986; Fraser et al., 1997; Penningon et al., 1999; Guyard et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2013). Due to the proximity of btpA to the immediately adjacent genes and similar protein production patterns of BT0790, BtpA, and BT0791 (higher production at 37°C relative to 23°C), it was hypothesized that bt0790, btpA, and bt0791 may be in an operon. To test this, RT-PCR was performed with primers designed to amplify across intergenic regions of adjacent ORFs within the potential operon (Figure 1A), as well as to amplify an internal region of *flaB* as a positive RT control. RT-PCR for *flaB* generated an amplicon of appropriate size, confirming successful RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis from in vitro-grown B. turicatae (Figure 1B). Amplification products were also obtained from reactions to assess linkage of bt0790 to btpA and btpA to bt0791. Furthermore, an amplification product was observed linking bt0790 to bt0791, indicating that btpA is transcribed Because of the colinear nature of *Borrelia* chromosomes, we hypothesized that the analogous region of LD spirochete genomes would also be co-transcribed. To test this, RT-PCR analyses were performed using *B. burgdorferi*. Reactions were conducted to amplify across the intergenic region between *bb0790* and *bb0791*, as well as an internal region of *flaB* as a positive control (**Figure 1C**). RT-PCR results indicated transcriptional linkage of *bb0790* and *bb0791*, suggesting that the operonic nature of this region of the chromosome is conserved among diverse *Borrelia* species.

### Inactivation of *btpA* in *B. turicatae*

Because Guyard et al. were unable to inactivate bhpA in B. hermsii, they could not directly test their hypothesis that BhpA is important for mammalian infection (Guyard et al., 2006). Their inability to mutate *bhpA* also led them to hypothesize that this protease might be required for bacterial viability. Contrary to the findings of Guyard et al., we were able to mutate btpA using two different allelic exchange-based mutational approaches (Lopez et al., 2013). The btpA::PflgB-aacC1 mutant was made by replacing a 1012-bp internal region of the btpA ORF with an aacC1 gentamicin resistance gene under transcriptional control of the promoter for the flagellar basal body rod protein (flgB) (Figure 2A). Considering that btpA is encoded in an operon, this mutational approach has the potential to be problematic as the *flgB* promoter could cause overexpression of the thymidine kinase gene, bt0791, that is downstream of btpA. To our knowledge, detrimental effects due to overexpression of a native thymidine kinase in prokaryotes has not been reported. However, to circumvent potential complications, an alternative mutational construct was also employed to generate a second independent *btpA* mutant. In this construct, designated btpA::aacC1, a promoterless aacC1 marker was fused at the start codon of the btpA ORF to replace 1,446 bp of the 1,641bp coding region (Figure 2B). In the *btpA::aacC1* mutant, the aacC1 resistance gene is under transcriptional control of the native promoter of the bt0790-bt0791 operon, thus reducing the possibility of detrimental polar mutation effects. Genotypic confirmation of the btpA mutants was performed by PCR amplifying a chromosomal region flanking the inserted antibiotic resistance marker, as well as internal regions of *btpA*, *aacC1*, and *flaB* (a positive control gene) (Figure 2C). In both *btpA* mutants, amplicons of the expected sizes were observed, and primers specific for an internal region of *btpA* only generated an amplicon with gDNA for wild-type B. turicatae. In addition, the aacC1 marker was only detected in the btpA mutants. RT-PCR analyses were also conducted to confirm both the absence of btpA transcription in mutants and that the mutational strategies utilized did not significantly affect expression of other genes in the bt0790-bt0791 operon (Figure 2D). In wild-type B. turicatae, bt0790, btpA, and bt0791 transcription was readily detectable. As expected in both mutants however, btpA transcript was absent, whereas bt0790 and bt0791 were expressed. Successful generation of btpA mutants indicates that BtpA is not required for TBRF spirochete viability, as was previously hypothesized (Guyard

Protein	23°C average spectral counts (± SEM)	37°C average spectral counts (± SEM)	Fold change in production (37°C/23°C spectral counts)	Identity
BT0789	$104.30 \pm 4.92$	83.80 ± 1.58	0.80	FtsH family protease
BT0790	$2.16 \pm 0.09$	$6.62 \pm 0.13$	3.06	Hypothetical protein
BT0790A (BtpA)	$0.00 \pm 0.00$	$3.85 \pm 0.48$	>3.85*	HtrA family serine protease
BT0791	$0.67 \pm 0.67$	$3.33 \pm 1.17$	4.97	Thymidine kinase
BT0792	$1.49\pm0.75$	$1.10 \pm 0.02$	0.74	Hypothetical protein

TABLE 3 | Impact of cultivation temperature on production of BtpA and proteins encoded by adjacent chromosomal genes in B. turicatae.

\*Only detected at 37°C.

SEM; Standard error of the mean.



et al., 2006), and allowed us to directly assess the importance of this protease in *B. turicatae* resistance to environmental stresses and during mammalian infection.

Because *btpA* is transcribed as part of an operon, and RT-PCR is only semi-quantitative, qRT-PCR analyses were conducted in order to detect possible polar effects associated with mutation of *btpA*. To this end, RNA was isolated from wild-type, *btpA*::PflgB-aacC1, and *btpA*::aacC1 strains, converted to cDNA, and expression of genes in the *btpA*-containing operon (*bt0790*, *btpA*, and *bt0791*) was quantified (**Figure 3**). As expected, *btpA* expression was not detected in *btpA* mutants. In addition,

expression of *bt0790* was similar between wild-type, *btpA*::PflgBaacC1 (mean = 0.96; SEM = 0.87–1.06), and *btpA*::aacC1 (mean = 1.02; SEM = 0.79–1.32) strains. However, expression of *bt0791* was increased approximately 1.53-fold (SEM = 1.40–1.68) in the *btpA*::PflgB-aacC1 mutant, consistent with our hypothesis that the PflgB promoter may drive overexpression of this downstream gene. In contrast, in the *btpA*::aacC1 mutant, a 0.44-fold (SEM = 0.41–0.47) decrease in expression relative to wild-type *B turicatae* was observed. These observations suggest that subtle polar mutations were introduced with regard to *bt0791* expression via both mutational strategies. Therefore, it was important that the



following experiments assessing *in vitro* and *in vivo* phenotypes associated with loss of *btpA* were conducted using both mutants in case slightly increased or decreased expression of *bt0791* in *btpA*::PflgB-aacC1 and *btpA*::aacC1 strains, respectively, could

# Sensitivity to High Temperature Is Not Altered in *btpA* Mutants

account for any phenotypes observed.

High temperature requirement (HtrA) family proteases are designated as such because *htrA* mutants in *E. coli* exhibit a decreased growth rate when cultured at elevated temperatures (Lipinska et al., 1989). Subsequently, *htrA* mutants of several other bacteria, including *Y. enterocolitica, Campylobacter jejuni*, and *Brucella abortus*, were found to possess similar growth defects (Elzer et al., 1994; Li et al., 1996; Brondsted et al., 2005). To first evaluate whether *btpA* is required for adaptation of *B. turicatae* to elevated culture temperatures, wild-type, *btpA*::PflgB-aacC1, and *btpA*::aacC1 *B. turicatae* strains were grown at standard culture temperature ( $35^{\circ}$ C), as well as two higher temperatures (**Figures 4A–C**), and counted daily. At

the normal growth temperature, *btpA* mutants had similar growth to wild-type B. turicatae. Interestingly, btpA mutants also grew comparable to wild-type bacteria at 37 and 39°C. However, when we attempted to grow all strains at temperatures exceeding 39°C, no growth was observed (data not shown). To evaluate whether the *btpA* mutants exhibit a growth defect in response to the environmental temperature changes experienced by B. turicatae upon transition from tick to mammal, an experiment was conducted in which wild-type and *btpA* mutant strains were cultured at 23°C before being shifted to 37°C. Specifically, cultures were inoculated at an initial density of  $5 \times 10^5$  bacteria/mL, incubated at 23°C for seven days, and then shifted to a temperature of 37°C. B. turicatae cultured at 23°C do not demonstrate significant growth. Therefore, a higher inoculation density was required to monitor bacterial concentration and viability by dark-field microscopy at 23°C prior to culture at 37°C. In these growth comparisons, both wild-type B. turicatae and the btpA mutants demonstrated minimal growth at 23°C. Upon shifting the cultures to 37°C, the two *btpA* mutants and wild-type parent grew similarly



(Figure 4D), indicating that *btpA* is not required by *B. turicatae* to survive environmental temperature shifts encountered during tick-to-mammal transmission. Collectively, these results suggest that, unlike HtrA family homologs in other bacterial species, BtpA is not required for resistance to heat shock in vitro.

## *btpA* Confers Resistance to Oxidative Stress Produced by *t*-butyl Peroxide

Guyard et al. demonstrated that heterologously expressing bhpA in the LD spirochete, B. burgdorferi, increased its resistance to oxidative stresses in the form of *t*-butyl peroxide and diamide (Guyard et al., 2006). This finding led them to conclude that BhpA and orthologous proteins of TBRF spirochetes could play a role in resistance to oxidative stresses faced during bloodstream infection. Therefore, we hypothesized that btpA mutants would be more susceptible to ROS/RNS. To assess this hypothesis, the susceptibility of wild-type, *btpA::PflgB-aacC1*, and *btpA::aacC1* B. turicatae strains to killing by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, t-butyl peroxide, and the NO donor diethylamine NONOate (DEA/NO) were compared. All three strains exhibited similar levels of survival following challenge with 0.25 mM H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and 1.25 mM DEA/NO (Figure 5). In contrast, exposure of cultures to 2.5 mM t-butyl peroxide resulted in an ~6-fold decrease in survival of the *btpA*-deficient B. turicatae strains (Figure 5). This latter finding is consistent with the previously described role of *bhpA* in defense against oxidative stress (Guyard et al., 2006).

## btpA Is Not Required for Mammalian Infection

We hypothesized that BtpA would be important for resistance to environmental stresses based on previous work (Guyard et al., 2006). However, we were unable to detect a growth defect in btpA mutants after incubation at increased culture temperature



temperature. (A-C) B. turicatae wild-type (WT), btpA::PflgB-aacC1, and btpA::aacC1 cultures were inoculated at an initial density of 10<sup>4</sup> spirochetes/mL, grown at (A) 35°C, (B) 37°C, or (C) 39°C, and then counted daily by dark-field microscopy beginning on day 2 post-inoculation. (Continued) **FIGURE 4 | (D)** *B. turicatae* wild-type (WT), *btpA*::*PfigB-aacC1*, and *btpA*::*aacC1* cultures were inoculated at an initial density of  $5 \times 10^5$  spirochetes/mL at 23°C and then counted daily by dark-field microscopy beginning on day 3 post-inoculation. On day 7, cultures were shifted to a temperature of 37°C. Displayed are the results of two independent biological replicates, and error bars represent SEM.



and only observed a slight increase in the sensitivity of the *btpA* mutants to oxidative stress produced by *t*-butyl peroxide. Although the in vitro defects observed in the btpA mutants were relatively modest, BtpA may still be important for survival of the multiple, simultaneous stresses the bacteria face during mammalian infection. To assess if BtpA is required for both initial bacteremia and subsequent relapses, a murine model of RF was utilized. Mice were intradermally inoculated with 100 spirochetes and infection was allowed to proceed until the mice were sacrificed at day 14. This dose was selected because 100 spirochetes is the lowest challenge dose of wild-type B. turicatae with which we are able to consistently establish infection in mice (data not shown). This timing allows for detection of the initial peak in spirochetemia (approximately days 4-6), as well as at least one subsequent relapse. Blood samples were collected daily, and bloodstream bacterial burden was quantified by qPCR (Figure 6). In both WT and *btpA* mutant strains, the maximum bacterial burden was 10<sup>5</sup>-10<sup>7</sup> bacteria/mL. Additionally, relapse kinetics in WT and mutant strains were similar, with initial bacteremic peaks occurring between days 4-6 and first relapse occurring before day 12. Although the overall maximum bacterial burdens in the mice infected with the *btpA* mutants do appear to be slightly lower by comparison to the mice infected with WT parent, these differences were not statistically significant. Based on these infection results, *btpA* is not required for initial infection or subsequent bacterial relapse, suggesting that *btpA* is dispensable for the mammalian phase of the *B. turicatae* enzootic cycle.

## DISCUSSION

Although RF represents a significant public health issue worldwide (Dupont et al., 1997; Vial et al., 2006; Talagrand-Reboul et al., 2018), very little information exists regarding specific virulence determinants that RF Borrelia spirochetes require to navigate their enzootic cycle. Guyard et al. proposed that an HtrA family protease (BtpA and orthologs) unique to TBRF spirochetes may serve an essential function during mammalian infection (Guyard et al., 2006). In support of this hypothesis, Guyard et al. demonstrated that bhpA was more highly expressed when B. hermsii was cultured at mammalian body temperature. To confirm these results in B. turicatae, we conducted a proteomic analysis with wild-type B. turicatae cultured at 37°C and 23°C to identify differences in protein production. BtpA was only detected at 37°C and not 23°C, consistent with the bhpA expression results. In addition, proteins encoded by genes immediately adjacent to *btpA* were also produced more than 3-fold more at mammalian body temperature relative to 23°C, leading us to hypothesize that btpA was co-transcribed with bt0790 and bt0791. RT-PCR analyses confirmed this hypothesis. It should be noted that there are two caveats associated with this conclusion. First, transcriptional patterns do not always directly correlate with protein levels. Yet, the failure to detect BtpA at 23°C, while detecting BT0790 and BT0791, could suggest that these three genes don't comprise an operon. However, there were low average spectral counts obtained for BT0790, BtpA, and BT0791 at 23°C (2.16, 0.00, and 0.67, respectively). Thus, the absence of BtpA is likely due to protein levels at 23°C approaching the limit of detection for the analysis. Importantly though, BT0790, BtpA, and BT0791 were consistently detected at 37°C, which agreed with the prior transcriptional studies (Guyard et al., 2006). Second, replacing a portion of the *btpA* ORF with a promoterless antibiotic resistance marker appeared to decrease transcription of bt0791. This observation could indicate that an independent promoter, which is partly responsible for transcription of *bt0791*, exists within the region of the *btpA* ORF that was also disrupted in the *btpA*::aacC1 mutant. Nonetheless, we still observed transcriptional linkage between *btpA* and *bt0791* in addition to the regulatory trends seen in temperature-dependent protein production; again, the latter agreed with the prior transcriptional studies (Guyard et al., 2006). Further studies are required to determine if a second alternative promoter also controls transcription of bt0791. Interestingly, we found that the operonic content of the region of the chromosome encoding bt0790-bt0791 is conserved in the colinear B. burgdorferi chromosome. Though these are divergent



spirochetes/mL), and error bars represent SEM.

*Borrelia* species, transcriptional similarities may imply conserved regulatory mechanisms. Accordingly, differential regulation in response to culture temperature has been noted in both LD and TBRF spirochetes (Schwan et al., 1995; Stevenson et al., 1995; Schwan and Hinnebusch, 1998; Schwan and Piesman, 2000; Yang et al., 2000; Revel et al., 2002; Ojaimi et al., 2003; Guyard et al., 2006; Marcsisin et al., 2012; Wilder et al., 2016; Neelakanta et al., 2017). However, the regulatory pathways mediating temperaturedependent changes in gene regulation in TBRF spirochetes remain unknown.

Guyard et al. was unable to directly test the hypothesis that the BtpA homolog of *B. hermsii*, BhpA, was important for resistance to environmental stresses *in vitro* or for mammalian infection due to an inability to generate a *bhpA* mutant (Guyard et al., 2006). In the LD spirochete, *B. burgdorferi*, molecular genetics are commonly used as a tool to assess the roles of proteins during the enzootic cycle (Rosa et al., 2005; Groshong and Blevins, 2014; Drecktrah and Samuels, 2018). However, as TBRF is relatively understudied, genetic manipulation of TBRF spirochetes is less frequently published. In fact, at the time of publication of the findings by Guyard et al., successful genetic manipulation of TBRF spirochetes had yet to be reported (Guyard et al., 2006; Battisti et al., 2008; Fine et al., 2011; Lopez et al., 2013). Moreover, genetic manipulation in TBRF spirochetes is still in its infancy, as the *btpA* mutants reported herein represent just the third publication of targeted mutagenesis in *B. turicatae* and the eighth publication utilizing targeted mutagenesis in all TBRF spirochetes (Battisti et al., 2008; Fine et al., 2011, 2014; Lopez et al., 2013; Raffel et al., 2014; James et al., 2016; Krishnavajhala et al., 2017). Additionally, the *btpA::aacC1* mutant is the first published use of a promoterless resistance marker for a mutagenesis approach in TBRF spirochetes. Using newly established means of genetically manipulating *B. turicatae*, we were able to extend the work of Guyard et al. and directly test whether BtpA is an important virulence factor in TBRF spirochetes mediating resistance to stresses faced during mammalian infection.

Based on phenotypes associated with *htrA* mutation in other bacteria and heterologous expression experiments performed by Guyard et al., we hypothesized that *btpA* mutants would exhibit increased sensitivity to heat shock and oxidative stress (Lipinska et al., 1989; Johnson et al., 1991; Elzer et al., 1994; Li et al., 1996; Cortes et al., 2002; Brondsted et al., 2005; Guyard et al., 2006; Wilson et al., 2006). However, no differences in growth were identified when the *btpA* mutants were cultured at higher temperatures. Interestingly though, we found that *B. turicatae* is unable to grow *in vitro* at temperatures exceeding  $39^{\circ}$ C. This differs from *B. burgdorferi sensu lato* strains, which can grow at temperatures up to  $41^{\circ}$ C (Hubalek et al., 1998), and is especially surprising given the high body temperatures associated

with TBRF [up to 41.7°C (107°F) in humans] (Dworkin et al., 1998; Talagrand-Reboul et al., 2018). Further studies are required, however, to assess if in vitro sensitivity to elevated culture temperature is unique to B. turicatae or if this is common among TBRF spirochetes. Next, to evaluate susceptibility of btpA mutants to oxidizing agents, a semi-solid media platingbased approach was utilized (Raffel et al., 2018; Bourret et al., 2019). Bourret et al. recently showed that TBRF spirochetes are significantly more resistant to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> relative to B. burgdorferi, hypothesizing that BtpA could be involved in this differential susceptibility (Bourret et al., 2019). Interestingly though, we failed to identify a role for BtpA in resistance to oxidative stress produced by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. The ability of *B. turicatae* to resist higher levels of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> relative to B. burgdorferi appears to therefore be independent of BtpA, indicating the existence of other unidentified mechanisms found in TBRF Borrelia, but not in LD Borrelia, that are involved in resistance to ROS. In contrast, we observed a modest contribution of BtpA in the defense of *B*. *turicatae* against *t*-butyl peroxide. This difference is likely due to the fact that organic peroxides primarily target polyunsaturated fatty acids in Borrelia cell membranes (Boylan et al., 2008), while oxidative stress produced by H2O2 occurs after it diffuses across the cell envelope and presumably produces hydroxyl radicals (•OH) as the result of Fenton chemistry (Imlay, 2003). Future studies will be required to determine whether BtpA protects the B. turicatae cell membrane against lipid peroxidation caused by organic peroxides, or whether it confers resistance to oxidative stress by a different mechanism.

A potential limitation of this study with respect to interpretation of the phenotype of *btpA* mutants upon treatment with *t*-butyl peroxide is the absence of genetic complementation. Complementation would ensure that this increased sensitivity can be directly attributed to the loss of *btpA* specifically, and not due to an off-target effect associated with either randomly acquired mutations or polar effects introduced via mutational strategies. However, as noted above, genetic manipulation of TBRF spirochetes is still in its infancy. As such, successful complementation of a targeted mutagenesis approach in TBRF spirochetes has only been reported in one study using B. hermsii (Raffel et al., 2014). Importantly, this study utilized a method of plasmid incompatibility to perform complementation of a gene on a small (28-kb) linear plasmid. This method requires integration of an antibiotic resistance marker into the plasmid of interest in the wild-type Borrelia strain. Genomic DNA, isolated from a bacterial clone containing the plasmid with the resistance marker, is transformed into the mutant strain in order to replace the mutated plasmid with a plasmid containing the wild-type copy of the gene. This method is not possible in the case of our study however, as *btpA* is encoded on the  $\sim$ 1 Mb chromosome. Other possible complementation methods, such as site-specific integration and use of a shuttle vector, are also problematic. First, a stable shuttle vector has not yet been described for use in B. turicatae. Second, cis-based complementation by integration and restoration of *btpA* at the original location in the genome is complicated by the location of the gene in the middle of an operon, as well as organization of the genes flanking the operon. Additionally, integration of the gene into another site

in the *btpA* mutant genome is complicated by the lack of a commonly used integration site that has been empirically proven not to lead to polar effects. The region analogous to the bb0445bb0446 integration approach is not conserved in B. turicatae and contains a unique gene in this intergenic region (Li et al., 2007; Promnares et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009; Pitzer et al., 2011; Moon et al., 2016). While a green fluorescent protein allele has been integrated into the genome of *B. turicatae*, integration occurred at an unknown location, and thus could lead to other potential off-target effects (Krishnavajhala et al., 2017). The lack of complementation in this study highlights the need for further development of genetic tools for use in B. turicatae. Because restoration of *btpA* expression in the mutants will be essential for studies intended to delineate the role of *btpA* during tick colonization and transmission, we are currently developing an alternative site-specific integration approach that will be suitable for complementation in B. turicatae. To overcome the lack of complementation, our study used two independent clones generated with different mutational constructs, and similar phenotypes were seen with each mutant. The probability that these independently generated mutants have similar randomly acquired mutations is not likely. We did observe subtle changes in expression of bt0791 in each of the btpA mutants, indicating polar effects may have been introduced by the mutational strategies used. However, bt0791 expression was slightly increased in the *btpA*::PflgB-aacC1 mutant, whereas expression was slightly decreased in the *btpA::aacC1* mutant. The observation that these mutants exhibited similar oxidative stress phenotypes, but contained subtle, but opposite, changes in bt0791 expression indicates that polar mutations are likely not the reason for decreased resistance to *t*-butyl peroxide. Additionally, bacterial thymidine kinases are not known to be involved in resistance to oxidative stress, further arguing against the *t*-butyl peroxide phenotype being associated with polar effects. Finally, our results demonstrating decreased resistance to t-butyl peroxide agree with previous heterologous expression experiments (Guyard et al., 2006). Therefore, these findings support the supposition that the mutants' increased sensitivity to t-butyl peroxide is due to loss of *btpA* and not an off-target effect, despite lack of complementation.

We observed only modest defects in the ability of btpA mutants to withstand environmental stresses in vitro, but it was still possible that BtpA could be required for mammalian infection. However, using a murine model of RF, we found that BtpA was not required for the mammalian phase of the enzootic cycle. The modest defects in the btpA mutants in vitro and their lack of attenuation in vivo suggest that compensatory mechanisms exist that render BtpA dispensable in these assays. Interestingly, there is another HtrA family serine protease encoded in the genomes of TBRF spirochetes. BT0104, referred to hereafter as BtHtrA, is a chromosome-encoded protein that is conserved among TBRF and LD Borrelia (Hyde and Johnson, 1986; Fraser et al., 1997; Penningon et al., 1999; Guyard et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2013). BtHtrA and TBRF spirochete orthologs have not been investigated, but the B. burgdorferi homolog, BB0104/BbHtrA, has been extensively studied (Coleman et al., 2013, 2016, 2018; Gherardini, 2013; Kariu et al., 2013; Russell

and Johnson, 2013; Russell et al., 2013; Ye et al., 2016). Several of the substrates recognized by BbHtrA have been identified as virulence factors of B. burgdorferi, including BB0323, P66, BmpD, and CheX, and BbHtrA appears to also play a key physiological role, as mutants demonstrate morphological and structural defects (Coleman et al., 2013; Kariu et al., 2013; Ye et al., 2016). In line with a role in physiology and processing of virulence factors, BbHtrA is required for mammalian infection of B. burgdorferi (Ye et al., 2016). Intriguingly, while the function of BbHtrA has not been investigated with respect to oxidative and nitrosative stresses, bb0104 mutants do exhibit a growth defect at 37°C (Ye et al., 2016). These observations may indicate that BtHtrA could compensate for loss of btpA with respect to heat shock, mammalian infection, and possibly ROS/RNS resistance. However, two observations contradict this possibility. First, alignment of BtHtrA and BtpA revealed only 19.8% identity (Hyde and Johnson, 1986; Fraser et al., 1997; Penningon et al., 1999; Guyard et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2013). Similarly, BhHtrA and BhpA of B. hermsii share only 19.3% identity (Guyard et al., 2006). Furthermore, as mentioned by Guyard et al., BtpA homologs have a >100 bp C-terminal extension of unknown function not present in other HtrA family proteases (Guyard et al., 2006). Second, cellular localization experiments of BbHtrA of B. burgdorferi indicate surface localization (Russell and Johnson, 2013), as well as presence in the periplasm (Kariu et al., 2013). BhpA of B. hermsii, however, is only located intracellularly (Guyard et al., 2006). The lack of identity of BtHtrA and BtpA homologs and the difference in cellular localization indicates likely functional distinction between these two proteins.

While BtpA is dispensable for mammalian infection, it remains possible that BtpA has a function that is critical during another aspect of the TBRF spirochete enzootic cycle. Specifically, BtpA might be required for vector acquisition, vector colonization, or transmission from the vector to the mammal. Interestingly, Bourret et al. recently demonstrated that the salivary glands of Ornithodoros turicata, the tick vector for B. turicatae, were a highly oxidative environment (Bourret et al., 2019). Because TBRF spirochetes persistently colonize both the salivary glands and midgut of ticks, whereas LD spirochetes only persistently colonize the midgut, this may lead to an increased need for proteins involved in resistance to oxidative stress for TBRF spirochetes. We observed only a modest increase in the susceptibility of *btpA* mutant strains to *t*-butyl peroxide in vitro, but this assay does not fully recapitulate what TBRF spirochetes encounter in the tick environment. First, we treated the spirochetes with oxidative agents for 2 hours and then tested survival by plating. However, TBRF spirochetes have been noted to remain viable and infectious in unfed Ornithodoros ticks for several years (Barbour and Schwan, 2019). Therefore, if BtpA is required by *B. turicatae* to resist prolonged exposure to oxidative stress, the assay utilized may not detect this. Second, there are likely multiple assaults faced by TBRF spirochetes in the tick salivary glands that cannot be simulated by an in vitro oxidative stress assay. In addition to genes related directly to oxidative stress being transcribed in the Ornithodoros salivary glands (Bourret et al., 2019), Araujo et al. recently reported that several other anti-microbial genes are expressed in Argasid ticks, including microplusins, which can affect protein folding (Araujo et al., 2019). Perhaps the combined pressures of oxidative stress and other assaults renders BtpA essential for survival in the salivary glands. Finally, it is also possible that BtpA could be important for B. turicatae transmission from tick to mammal. It should be noted that the dose used for inoculation of mice in our murine infection experiments (10<sup>2</sup> bacteria) is at least 10-fold higher than the number of spirochetes that can possibly be deposited into the skin during Ornithodoros tick feeding (Boyle et al., 2014). Therefore, it is conceivable that this higher dose could overcome a potential necessity for BtpA upon entry into the mammal, as more spirochetes would increase the chances of at least one bacterium surviving the initial infection event and associated mammalian immune defenses. Future studies will evaluate the capacity of btpA mutants to successfully complete the tick phase of the O. turicata-B. turicatae enzootic cycle.

In summary, we found that BtpA, as well as proteins encoded by adjacent chromosomal genes (BT0790 and BT0791), are produced in response to culture at mammalian body temperature, consistent with a role in mammalian infection and prior transcriptional studies. The genes encoding BT0790, BtpA, and Bt0791 were subsequently shown to be transcribed in an operon. To determine if BtpA was required for resistance to environmental stresses and during mammalian infection, we inactivated *btpA* in *B. turicatae* using two mutational strategies. btpA mutants showed no defect in response to heat shock. However, the mutants did exhibit a modest increase in sensitivity to the oxidative agent, *t*-butyl peroxide, suggesting a possible role for BtpA in resistance to oxidative stress. Finally, *btpA* mutants were fully infectious in a murine model of RF. Future studies will determine if BtpA is required for acquisition/colonization in the tick and subsequent transmission from tick to mammal.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JB, CJ-L, TB, and JEL contributed to project conception, design of the study, or oversight of experiments. CJ-L, AZ, CR, and JIL performed experiments in the study. JB, CJ-L, and TB performed the data analysis and statistical tests and wrote the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision and read and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This research was supported by funding to JB through the UAMS Center for Microbial Pathogenesis and Host Inflammatory Responses (NIGMS P20-GM103625), the Arkansas Biosciences Institute (major research component of the Arkansas Tobacco Settlement Proceeds Act of 2000), Barton Research Endowment, and the UAMS Vice Chancellor for Research pilot award, as well as by startup funds from Creighton University to TB.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge Daniel Voth for his helpful discussions and Brendan Moore, Marissa Fullerton, and Daniel Stuckey for

### REFERENCES

- Araujo, R. N., Silva, N. C. S., Mendes-Sousa, A., Paim, R., Costa, G. C. A., Dias, L. R., et al. (2019). RNA-seq analysis of the salivary glands and midgut of the argasid tick *Ornithodoros rostratus*. Sci. Rep. 9:6764. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42899-z
- Barbour, A. G. (1984). Isolation and cultivation of Lyme disease spirochetes. *Yale J. of Biol. Med.* 57, 521–525.
- Barbour, A. G. (2018). "Borreliaceae," in *Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archaea and Bacteria*, eds W. B. Whitman, F. Rainey, P. Kämpfer, J. Truijillo, J. Chun, P. Devos, et al. (New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.), 1–9. doi: 10.1002/9781118960608.fbm00308
- Barbour, A. G., and Schwan, T. G. (2019). "Borrelia," in *Bergey's Manual of Systematics of Archaea and Bacteria*, eds W. B. Whitman, F. Rainey, P. Kämpfer, J. Truijillo, J. Chun, P. Devos, et al. (New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.), 1–2. doi: 10.1002/9781118960608.gbm01246.pub2
- Battisti, J. M., Raffel, S. J., and Schwan, T. G. (2008). A system for site-specific genetic manipulation of the relapsing fever spirochete *Borrelia hermsii*. *Meth. Mol. Biol.* 431, 69–84. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60327-032-8\_6
- Bernstein, J. A., Khodursky, A. B., Lin, P. H., Lin-Chao, S., and Cohen, S. N. (2002). Global analysis of mRNA decay and abundance in *Escherichia* coli at singlegene resolution using two-color fluorescent DNA microarrays. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 9697–9702. doi: 10.1073/pnas.112318199
- Blevins, J. S., Revel, A. T., Smith, A. H., Bachlani, G. N., and Norgard, M. V. (2007). Adaptation of a luciferase gene reporter and lac expression system to *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Appl. Enviro. Microbiol.* 73, 1501–1513. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02454-06
- Bourret, T. J., Boyle, W. K., Zalud, A. K., Valenzuela, J. G., Oliveira, F., and Lopez, J. E. (2019). The relapsing fever spirochete *Borrelia turicatae* persists in the highly oxidative environment of its soft-bodied tick vector. *Cell. Microbiol.* 21:e12987. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12987
- Boylan, J. A., Lawrence, K. A., Downey, J. S., and Gherardini, F. C. (2008). Borrelia burgdorferi membranes are the primary targets of reactive oxygen species. Mol. Microbiol. 68, 786–799. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06204.x
- Boyle, W. K., Wilder, H. K., Lawrence, A. M., and Lopez, J. E. (2014). Transmission dynamics of *Borrelia turicatae* from the arthropod vector. *PLoS. Negl. Trop. Dis.* 8:e2767. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002767
- Brondsted, L., Andersen, M. T., Parker, M., Jorgensen, K., and Ingmer, H. (2005). The HtrA protease of *Campylobacter jejuni* is required for heat and oxygen tolerance and for optimal interaction with human epithelial cells. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 71, 3205–3212. doi: 10.1128/AEM.71.6.3205-3212.2005
- Burgdorfer, W., Barbour, A. G., Hayes, S. F., Benach, J. L., Grunwaldt, E., and Davis, J. P. (1982). Lyme disease-a tick-borne spirochetosis? *Science*. 216, 1317–1319. doi: 10.1126/science.7043737
- Byrum, S. D., Loughran, A. J., Beenken, K. E., Orr, L. M., Storey, A. J., Mackintosh, S. G., et al. (2018). Label-free proteomic approach to characterize protease-dependent and -independent effects of *sarA* inactivation on the *Staphylococcus aureus* exoproteome. *J. Proteome Res.* 17, 3384–3395. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.8b00288
- Cadavid, D., Thomas, D. D., Crawley, R., and Barbour, A. G. (1994). Variability of a bacterial surface protein and disease expression in a possible mouse model of systemic Lyme borreliosis. *J. Exp. Med.* 179, 631–642. doi: 10.1084/jem.179.2.631
- Centers for Disease and Prevention (2007). Acute respiratory distress syndrome in persons with tickborne relapsing fever-three states, 2004-2005. *MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.* 56, 1073–1076.

experimental assistance. We also thank Brittany Armstrong and Aparna Krishnavajhala for their assistance with the qPCR-based bacterial burden assays. Finally, we would also like to acknowledge Allen Gies in the UAMS DNA Sequencing Core Facility and Alan Tackett and Sam Mackintosh in the UAMS Proteomic Core Facility for technical assistance.

- Clausen, T., Southan, C., and Ehrmann, M. (2002). The HtrA family of proteases: implications for protein composition and cell fate. *Mol. Cell* 10, 443–455. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00658-5
- Coleman, J. L., Crowley, J. T., Toledo, A. M., and Benach, J. L. (2013). The HtrA protease of *Borrelia burgdorferi* degrades outer membrane protein BmpD and chemotaxis phosphatase CheX. *Mol. Microbiol.* 88, 619–633. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12213
- Coleman, J. L., Toledo, A., and Benach, J. L. (2016). Borrelia burgdorferi HtrA: evidence for twofold proteolysis of outer membrane protein P66. Mol. Microbiol. 99, 135–150. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13221
- Coleman, J. L., Toledo, A., and Benach, J. L. (2018). HtrA of *Borrelia burgdorferi* leads to decreased swarm motility and decreased production of pyruvate. *MBio* 9, e01136–e01118. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01136-18
- Cortes, G., De Astorza, B., Benedi, V. J., and Alberti, S. (2002). Role of the htrA gene in Klebsiella pneumoniae virulence. Infect. Immun. 70, 4772–4776. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.9.4772-4776.2002
- Cutler, S. J. (2010). Relapsing fever-a forgotten disease revealed. J. Appl. Microbiol. 108, 1115–1122. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04598.x
- Davis, G. E. (1936). Ornithodoros turicata: the possible vector of relapsing fever in southwestern Kansas. Pub. Health Rep. 51:1719. doi: 10.2307/45 82025
- Davis, G. E. (1941). Ornithodoros hermsi and relapsing fever in Oregon. Pub. Health Rep. 56, 2010–2012. doi: 10.2307/4583889
- Drecktrah, D., and Samuels, D. S. (2018). Genetic manipulation of Borrelia spp. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 415, 113–140. doi: 10.1007/82\_ 2017\_51
- Dupont, H. T., La Scola, B., Williams, R., and Raoult, D. (1997). A focus of tick-borne relapsing fever in southern Zaire. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 25, 139–144. doi: 10.1086/514496
- Dutton, J. E., Todd, J. L., and Newstead, R. (1905). The Nature of Human Tick-Fever in the Eastern Part of the Congo Free-State. London: Pub. for the University Press of Liverpool by Williams & Norgate.
- Dworkin, M. S., Anderson, D. E. Jr., Schwan, T. G., Shoemaker, P. C., Banerjee, S. N., Kassen, B. O., et al. (1998). Tick-borne relapsing fever in the northwestern United States and southwestern Canada. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 26, 122–131. doi: 10.1086/516273
- Dworkin, M. S., Schwan, T. G., Anderson, D. E. Jr., and Borchardt, S. M. (2008). Tick-borne relapsing fever. *Infect. Dis. Clin. N. Amer.* 22, 449–468. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2008.03.006
- Elzer, P. H., Phillips, R. W., Kovach, M. E., Peterson, K. M., and Roop, R. M. 2nd (1994). Characterization and genetic complementation of a *Brucella abortus* high-temperature-requirement A (*htrA*) deletion mutant. *Infect. Immun.* 62, 4135–4139.
- Fine, L. M., Earnhart, C. G., and Marconi, R. T. (2011). Genetic transformation of the relapsing fever spirochete *Borrelia hermsii*: stable integration and expression of green fluorescent protein from linear plasmid 200. *J. Bacteriol.* 193, 3241–3245. doi: 10.1128/JB.05037-11
- Fine, L. M., Miller, D. P., Mallory, K. L., Tegels, B. K., Earnhart, C. G., and Marconi, R. T. (2014). The *Borrelia hermsii* factor H binding protein FhbA is not required for infectivity in mice or for resistance to human complement *in vitro*. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 3324–3332. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01892-14
- Fraser, C. M., Casjens, S., Huang, W. M., Sutton, G. G., Clayton, R., Lathigra, R., et al. (1997). Genomic sequence of a Lyme disease spirochaete, *Borrelia* burgdorferi. Nature. 390, 580–586. doi: 10.1038/37551
- Gherardini, F. C. (2013). Borrelia burgdorferi HtrA may promote dissemination and irritation. Mol. Microbiol. 90, 209–213. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12390

- Groshong, A. M., and Blevins, J. S. (2014). Insights into the biology of Borrelia burgdorferi gained through the application of molecular genetics. Adv. Appl. Microbiol. 86, 41–143. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800262-9.00002-0
- Groshong, A. M., Fortune, D. E., Moore, B. P., Spencer, H. J., Skinner, R. A., Bellamy, W. T., et al. (2014). BB0238, a presumed tetratricopeptide repeat-containing protein, is required during *Borrelia burgdorferi* mammalian infection. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 4292–4306. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01977-14
- Guyard, C., Battisti, J. M., Raffel, S. J., Schrumpf, M. E., Whitney, A. R., Krum, J. G., et al. (2006). Relapsing fever spirochaetes produce a serine protease that provides resistance to oxidative stress and killing by neutrophils. *Mol. Microbiol.* 60, 710–722. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05122.x
- Hubalek, Z., Halouzka, J., and Heroldova, M. (1998). Growth temperature ranges of *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu lato strains. *J. Med. Microbiol.* 47, 929–932. doi: 10.1099/00222615-47-10-929
- Hughes, C. A., Kodner, C. B., and Johnson, R. C. (1992). DNA analysis of *Borrelia burgdorferi* NCH-1, the first northcentral U.S. human Lyme disease isolate. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 30, 698–703.
- Hyde, F. W., and Johnson, R. C. (1986). Genetic analysis of Borrelia. Zentralbl. Bakteriol. Mikrobiol. Hyg. A. 263, 119–122. doi: 10.1016/S0176-6724(86)80111-0
- Imlay, J. A. (2003). Pathways of oxidative damage. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 57, 395–418. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.57.030502.090938
- Ingmer, H., and Brondsted, L. (2009). Proteases in bacterial pathogenesis. Res. Microbiol. 160, 704–710. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2009.08.017
- James, A. E., Rogovskyy, A. S., Crowley, M. A., and Bankhead, T. (2016). Characterization of a DNA adenine methyltransferase gene of *Borrelia hermsii* and its dispensability for murine infection and persistence. *PLoS ONE* 11:e0155798. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0155798
- Johnson, K., Charles, I., Dougan, G., Pickard, D., O'gaora, P., Costa, G., et al. (1991). The role of a stress-response protein in *Salmonella typhimurium* virulence. *Mol. Microbiol.* 5, 401–407. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1991.tb02122.x
- Jongen, V. H., Van Roosmalen, J., Tiems, J., Van Holten, J., and Wetsteyn, J. C. (1997). Tick-borne relapsing fever and pregnancy outcome in rural Tanzania. Acta. Obstetricia et Gynecologica. Scandinavica. 76, 834–838. doi: 10.3109/00016349709024361
- Kariu, T., Yang, X., Marks, C. B., Zhang, X., and Pal, U. (2013). Proteolysis of BB0323 results in two polypeptides that impact physiologic and infectious phenotypes in *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 88, 510–522. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12202
- Krishnavajhala, A., Wilder, H. K., Boyle, W. K., Damania, A., Thornton, J. A., Perez De Leon, A. A., et al. (2017). Imaging of *Borrelia turicatae* producing the green fluorescent protein reveals persistent colonization of the *Ornithodoros turicata* midgut and salivary glands from nymphal acquisition through transmission. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 83, e02503–e02516. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02503-16
- Lescot, M., Audic, S., Robert, C., Nguyen, T. T., Blanc, G., Cutler, S. J., et al. (2008). The genome of *Borrelia recurrentis*, the agent of deadly louse-borne relapsing fever, is a degraded subset of tick-borne *Borrelia duttonii*. *PLoS Gen*. 4:e1000185. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000185
- Li, S. R., Dorrell, N., Everest, P. H., Dougan, G., and Wren, B. W. (1996). Construction and characterization of a *Yersinia enterocolitica* O:8 high-temperature requirement (*htrA*) isogenic mutant. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 2088–2094.
- Li, X., Pal, U., Ramamoorthi, N., Liu, X., Desrosiers, D. C., Eggers, C. H., et al. (2007). The Lyme disease agent *Borrelia burgdorferi* requires BB0690, a Dps homologue, to persist within ticks. *Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 694–710. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05550.x
- Lipinska, B., Fayet, O., Baird, L., and Georgopoulos, C. (1989). Identification, characterization, and mapping of the *Escherichia coli htrA* gene, whose product is essential for bacterial growth only at elevated temperatures. *J. Bacteriol.* 171, 1574–1584. doi: 10.1128/jb.171.3.1574-1584.1989
- Livak, K. J., and Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) method. *Methods* 25, 402–408. doi: 10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Lopez, J. E., Wilder, H. K., Hargrove, R., Brooks, C. P., Peterson, K. E., Beare, P. A., et al. (2013). Development of genetic system to inactivate a *Borrelia turicatae* surface protein selectively produced within the salivary glands of the arthropod vector. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 7:e2514. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002514

- Marcsisin, R. A., Campeau, S. A., Lopez, J. E., and Barbour, A. G. (2012). Alp, an arthropod-associated outer membrane protein of *Borrelia* species that cause relapsing fever. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 1881–1890. doi: 10.1128/IAI.06419-11
- Mccoy, B. N., Raffel, S. J., Lopez, J. E., and Schwan, T. G. (2010). Bloodmeal size and spirochete acquisition of ornithodoros hermsi (Acari: Argasidae) during feeding. J. Med. Entomol. 47, 1164–1172. doi: 10.1603/ME10175
- Miller, S. C., Porcella, S. F., Raffel, S. J., Schwan, T. G., and Barbour, A. G. (2013). Large linear plasmids of *Borrelia* species that cause relapsing fever. *J. Bacteriol.* 195, 3629–3639. doi: 10.1128/JB.00347-13
- Moon, K. H., Hobbs, G., and Motaleb, M. A. (2016). Borrelia burgdorferi CheD promotes various functions in chemotaxis and the pathogenic life cycle of the spirochete. Infect. Immun. 84, 1743–1752. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01347-15
- Neelakanta, G., Sultana, H., Sonenshine, D. E., and Marconi, R. T. (2017). An *in vitro* blood-feeding method revealed differential *Borrelia turicatae* (Spirochaetales: Spirochaetaceae) gene expression after spirochete acquisition and colonization in the soft tick *Ornithodoros turicata* (Acari: Argasidae). J. *Med. Entomol.* 54, 441–449. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjw171
- Nordstrand, A., Bunikis, I., Larsson, C., Tsogbe, K., Schwan, T. G., Nilsson, M., et al. (2007). Tickborne relapsing fever diagnosis obscured by malaria, Togo. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 13, 117–123. doi: 10.3201/eid1301.060670
- Ojaimi, C., Brooks, C., Casjens, S., Rosa, P., Elias, A., Barbour, A., et al. (2003). Profiling of temperature-induced changes in *Borrelia burgdorferi* gene expression by using whole genome arrays. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 1689–1705. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.4.1689-1705.2003
- Pallen, M. J., and Wren, B. W. (1997). The HtrA family of serine proteases. Mol. Microbiol. 26, 209–221. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.5601928.x
- Penningon, P. M., Cadavid, D., Bunikis, J., Norris, S. J., and Barbour, A. G. (1999). Extensive interplasmidic duplications change the virulence phenotype of the relapsing fever agent *Borrelia turicatae*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 34, 1120–1132. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01675.x
- Pennington, P. M., Allred, C. D., West, C. S., Alvarez, R., and Barbour, A. G. (1997). Arthritis severity and spirochete burden are determined by serotype in the *Borrelia turicatae*-mouse model of Lyme disease. *Infect. Immun.* 65, 285–292.
- Piesman, J., Mather, T. N., Sinsky, R. J., and Spielman, A. (1987). Duration of tick attachment and *Borrelia burgdorferi* transmission. J. Clin. Microbiol. 25, 557–558.
- Pitzer, J. E., Sultan, S. Z., Hayakawa, Y., Hobbs, G., Miller, M. R., and Motaleb, M. A. (2011). Analysis of the *Borrelia burgdorferi* cyclic-di-GMP-binding protein PlzA reveals a role in motility and virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 79, 1815–1825. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00075-11
- Pollack, R. J., Telford, S. R. 3rd., and Spielman, A. (1993). Standardization of medium for culturing Lyme disease spirochetes. J. Clin. Microbiol. 31, 1251–1255.
- Promnares, K., Kumar, M., Shroder, D. Y., Zhang, X., Anderson, J. F., and Pal, U. (2009). *Borrelia burgdorferi* small lipoprotein Lp6.6 is a member of multiple protein complexes in the outer membrane and facilitates pathogen transmission from ticks to mice. *Mol. Microbiol.* 74, 112–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06853.x
- Raffel, S. J., Battisti, J. M., Fischer, R. J., and Schwan, T. G. (2014). Inactivation of genes for antigenic variation in the relapsing fever spirochete *Borrelia hermsii* reduces infectivity in mice and transmission by ticks. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1004056. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004056
- Raffel, S. J., Williamson, B. N., Schwan, T. G., and Gherardini, F. C. (2018). Colony formation in solid medium by the relapsing fever spirochetes *Borrelia hermsii* and *Borrelia turicatae*. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* 9, 281–287. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2017.11.001
- Raivio, T. L. (2005). Envelope stress responses and gramnegative bacterial pathogenesis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 56, 1119–1128. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04625.x
- Revel, A. T., Talaat, A. M., and Norgard, M. V. (2002). DNA microarray analysis of differential gene expression in *Borrelia burgdorferi*, the Lyme disease spirochete. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 1562–1567. doi: 10.1073/pnas.032667699
- Ribeiro, J. M., Mather, T. N., Piesman, J., and Spielman, A. (1987). Dissemination and salivary delivery of Lyme disease spirochetes in vector ticks (Acari: Ixodidae). J. Med. Entomol. 24, 201–205. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/24. 2.201

- Rizzitello, A. E., Harper, J. R., and Silhavy, T. J. (2001). Genetic evidence for parallel pathways of chaperone activity in the periplasm of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 183, 6794–6800. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.23.6794-6800.2001
- Rosa, P. A., Tilly, K., and Stewart, P. E. (2005). The burgeoning molecular genetics of the Lyme disease spirochaete. *Nat. Rev. Microbio.* 13, 129–143. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1086
- Ross, P. H., and Milne, A. D. (1904). "Tick Fever." Br. Med. J. 2, 1453–1454. doi: 10.1136/bmj.2.2291.1453
- Russell, T. M., Delorey, M. J., and Johnson, B. J. (2013). Borrelia burgdorferi BbHtrA degrades host ECM proteins and stimulates release of inflammatory cytokines in vitro. Mol. Microbiol. 90, 241–251. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12377
- Russell, T. M., and Johnson, B. J. (2013). Lyme disease spirochaetes possess an aggrecan-binding protease with aggrecanase activity. *Mol. Microbiol.* 90, 228–240. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12276
- Schafer, U., Beck, K., and Muller, M. (1999). Skp, a molecular chaperone of gram-negative bacteria, is required for the formation of soluble periplasmic intermediates of outer membrane proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 274, 24567–24574. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.35.24567
- Schwan, T. G., Anderson, J. M., Lopez, J. E., Fischer, R. J., Raffel, S. J., Mccoy, B. N., et al. (2012). Endemic foci of the tick-borne relapsing rever spirochete *Borrelia crocidurae* in Mali, West Africa, and the potential for human infection. *PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis.* 6:e1924. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001924
- Schwan, T. G., and Hinnebusch, B. J. (1998). Bloodstream- versus tickassociated variants of a relapsing fever bacterium. *Science* 280, 1938–1940. doi: 10.1126/science.280.5371.1938
- Schwan, T. G., and Piesman, J. (2000). Temporal changes in outer surface proteins A and C of the lyme disease-associated spirochete, *Borrelia burgdorferi*, during the chain of infection in ticks and mice. J. Clin. Microbiol. 38, 382–388.
- Schwan, T. G., and Piesman, J. (2002). Vector interactions and molecular adaptations of Lyme disease and relapsing fever spirochetes associated with transmission by ticks. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 8, 115–121. doi: 10.3201/eid0802.010198
- Schwan, T. G., Piesman, J., Golde, W. T., Dolan, M. C., and Rosa, P. A. (1995). Induction of an outer surface protein on *Borrelia burgdorferi* during tick feeding. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 2909–2913. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.7.2909
- Schwan, T. G., Raffel, S. J., Schrumpf, M. E., Policastro, P. F., Rawlings, J. A., Lane, R. S., et al. (2005). Phylogenetic analysis of the spirochetes *Borrelia parkeri* and *Borrelia turicatae* and the potential for tick-borne relapsing fever in Florida. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* 43, 3851–3859. doi: 10.1128/JCM.43.8.3851-3859. 2005
- Spiess, C., Beil, A., and Ehrmann, M. (1999). A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. *Cell*. 97, 339–347. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80743-6
- Stevenson, B., Schwan, T. G., and Rosa, P. A. (1995). Temperature-related differential expression of antigens in the Lyme disease spirochete, *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Infect. Immun.* 63, 4535–4539.
- Stoenner, H. G., Dodd, T., and Larsen, C. (1982). Antigenic variation of Borrelia hermsii. J. Exp. Med. 156, 1297–1311. doi: 10.1084/jem.156.5.1297
- Strauch, K. L., and Beckwith, J. (1988). An *Escherichia coli* mutation preventing degradation of abnormal periplasmic proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 85, 1576–1580. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.5.1576
- Talagrand-Reboul, E., Boyer, P. H., Bergstrom, S., Vial, L., and Boulanger, N. (2018). Relapsing fevers: neglected tick-borne diseases. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 8:98. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00098

- Taylor, J., Moore, G., and Cheek, J. (1991). "Outbreak of relapsing fever masquerading as Lyme borreliosis," in *Proceedings of the 31st Interscience Conference on Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy (ICAAC)*, ed A.S.F. Microbiology (Chicago, IL: Washington DC: American Society for Microbiology press).
- Troxell, B., Zhang, J. J., Bourret, T. J., Zeng, M. Y., Blum, J., Gherardini, F., et al. (2014). Pyruvate protects pathogenic spirochetes from H2O2 killing. *PLoS ONE*. 9:e84625. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084625
- Vial, L., Diatta, G., Tall, A., Ba El, H., Bouganali, H., Durand, P., et al. (2006). Incidence of tick-borne relapsing fever in west Africa: longitudinal study. *Lancet.* 368, 37–43. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68968-X
- Wang, G., Ojaimi, C., Wu, H., Saksenberg, V., Iyer, R., Liveris, D., et al. (2002). Disease severity in a murine model of Lyme borreliosis is associated with the genotype of the infecting *Borrelia burgdorferi* sensu stricto strain. *J. Infect. Dis.* 186, 782–791. doi: 10.1086/343043
- Wilder, H. K., Raffel, S. J., Barbour, A. G., Porcella, S. F., Sturdevant, D. E., Vaisvil, B., et al. (2016). Transcriptional profiling the 150 kb linear megaplasmid of *Borrelia turicatae* suggests a role in vector colonization and initiating mammalian infection. *PLoS ONE*. 11:e0147707. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0147707
- Wilson, R. L., Brown, L. L., Kirkwood-Watts, D., Warren, T. K., Lund, S. A., King, D. S., et al. (2006). *Listeria monocytogenes* 10403S HtrA is necessary for resistance to cellular stress and virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 765–768. doi: 10.1128/IAI.74.1.765-768.2006
- Yang, X., Coleman, A. S., Anguita, J., and Pal, U. (2009). A chromosomally encoded virulence factor protects the Lyme disease pathogen against host-adaptive immunity. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000326. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000326
- Yang, X., Goldberg, M. S., Popova, T. G., Schoeler, G. B., Wikel, S. K., Hagman, K. E., et al. (2000). Interdependence of environmental factors influencing reciprocal patterns of gene expression in virulent *Borrelia burgdorferi*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 37, 1470–1479. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.02104.x
- Ye, M., Sharma, K., Thakur, M., Smith, A. A., Buyuktanir, O., Xiang, X., et al. (2016). HtrA, a temperature- and stationary phase-activated protease involved in maturation of a key microbial virulence determinant, facilitates *Borrelia burgdorferi* infection in mammalian hosts. *Infect. Immun.* 84, 2372–2381. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00360-16
- Zhang, X., Yang, X., Kumar, M., and Pal, U. (2009). BB0323 function is essential for *Borrelia burgdorferi* virulence and persistence through tick-rodent transmission cycle. *J. Infect. Dis.* 200, 1318–1330. doi: 10.1086/605846
- Zielinska, A. K., Beenken, K. E., Mrak, L. N., Spencer, H. J., Post, G. R., Skinner, R. A., et al. (2012). sarA-mediated repression of protease production plays a key role in the pathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus USA300 isolates. Mol. Microbiol. 86, 1183–1196. doi: 10.1111/mmi.12048

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Jackson-Litteken, Zalud, Ratliff, Latham, Bourret, Lopez and Blevins. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## *yqhG* Contributes to Oxidative Stress Resistance and Virulence of Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* and Identification of Other Genes Altering Expression of Type 1 Fimbriae

Hicham Bessaiah<sup>1,2</sup>, Pravil Pokharel<sup>1,2</sup>, Hajer Habouria<sup>1,2</sup>, Sébastien Houle<sup>1,2</sup> and Charles M. Dozois<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> INRS-Centre Armand-Frappier Santé Biotechnologie, Laval, QC, Canada, <sup>2</sup> CRIPA-Centre de Recherche en Infectiologie Porcine et Avicole, Saint-Hyacinthe, QC, Canada

### **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

### Reviewed by:

William Schwan, University of Wisconsin–La Crosse, United States Andrés González, Aragon Institute for Health Research (IIS Aragon), Spain Maria Hadjifrangiskou, Vanderbilt University Medical Center, United States

> \***Correspondence:** Charles M. Dozois charles.dozois@iaf.inrs.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

> Received: 17 May 2019 Accepted: 16 August 2019 Published: 29 August 2019

#### Citation:

Bessaiah H, Pokharel P, Habouria H, Houle S and Dozois CM (2019) yqhG Contributes to Oxidative Stress Resistance and Virulence of Uropathogenic Escherichia coli and Identification of Other Genes Altering Expression of Type 1 Fimbriae. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:312. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00312

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) are common bacterial infections and the vast majority of UTIs are caused by extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli (ExPEC) strains referred to as uropathogenic E. coli (UPEC). Successful colonization of the human urinary tract by UPEC is mediated by secreted or surface exposed virulence factors-toxins, iron transport systems, and adhesins, such as type 1 fimbriae (pili). To identify factors involved in the expression of type 1 fimbriae, we constructed a chromosomal transcriptional reporter consisting of lux under the control of the fimbrial promoter region, fimS and this construct was inserted into the reference UPEC strain CFT073 genome at the attTn7 site. This *fimS* reporter strain was used to generate a Tn10 transposon mutant library, coupled with high-throughput sequencing to identify genes that affect the expression of type 1 fimbriae. Transposon insertion sites were linked to genes involved in protein fate and synthesis, energy metabolism, adherence, transcriptional regulation, and transport. We showed that YqhG, a predicted periplasmic protein, is one of the important mediators that contribute to the decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae in UPEC strain CFT073. The  $\Delta y q h G$  mutant had reduced expression of type 1 fimbriae and a decreased capacity to colonize the murine urinary tract. Reduced expression of type 1 fimbriae correlated with an increased bias for orientation of the *fim* switch in the OFF position. Interestingly, the  $\Delta y q h G$  mutant was more motile than the WT strain and was also significantly more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide. Taken together, loss of yghG may decrease virulence in the urinary tract due to a decrease in production of type 1 fimbriae and a greater sensitivity to oxidative stress.

Keywords: Escherichia coli, urinary tract, type 1 fimbriae, luciferase, stress

## INTRODUCTION

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) can occur throughout the urinary tract within the urethra, bladder, ureters, or kidneys. UTIs are a common infectious disease with over 150 million cases documented worldwide each year (Stamm and Norrby, 2001; Foxman, 2014). Furthermore, the overwhelming majority of uncomplicated UTI cases (≥80%) are caused by extraintestinal pathogenic

94

*Escherichia coli* (ExPEC), referred to as uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) (Ronald, 2002), which can belong to a diversity of phylogenetic groups or sequence types (Russo and Johnson, 2000; Chen et al., 2013). An estimated 50% of women experience at least one UTI during their life, and up to a quarter of those women are prone to recurrent UTIs (Foxman, 2002). Adherence of UPEC to host cells is a key event in initiating UTI pathogenesis and is important for overcoming strong urine flow, and to promote urinary tract colonization (Ulett et al., 2013; Flores-Mireles et al., 2015).

Fimbriae (pili) are filamentous structures that can mediate adherence of bacteria to host cell receptors (Mulvey et al., 1998; Nielubowicz and Mobley, 2010). For instance, type 1 fimbriae are critical for colonization of the bladder by UPEC (Gunther et al., 2002), to directly stimulate UPEC invasion into epithelial cells and aid in formation of intracellular reservoirs that may contribute to recurrent infection (Mysorekar and Hultgren, 2006). Type 1 fimbriae encoded by the fimAICDFGH (fim) genes, are one of the best-characterized UPEC chaperoneusher fimbriae. These fimbriae are produced by most E. coli strains including UPEC (Buchanan et al., 1985; Sivick and Mobley, 2010). The fimA gene encodes the type 1 major fimbrial subunit and the tip-located adhesin, encoded by fimH, mediates binding to  $\alpha$ -d-mannosylated receptors, such as uroplakins, which are abundant in the bladder and other host surfaces containing mannosides (Connell et al., 1996; Wu et al., 1996). The fim promoter is located on a 314-bp invertible DNA promoter element (fimS), the orientation of which determines the transcriptional status (ON or OFF) (Abraham et al., 1985; Bjarke Olsen and Klemm, 1994). The switching orientation of fimS is controlled by two recombinases. FimB, which promotes inversion in both orientations, and FimE, which mediates the switching from phase-on to phase-off (Klemm, 1986; Gally et al., 1996). Two additional recombinases, IpuA and IpbA, present in UPEC strain CFT073 can also mediate switching of the invertible element independent of FimB and FimE (Bryan et al., 2006). Regulation of *fim* genes is affected by multiple environmental factors (including pH, osmolarity, temperature and oxygen levels) and at least three regulatory proteins are directly implicated (Lrp, IHF, and H-NS) (Unden and Kleefeld, 2004).

To establish a UTI, UPEC strains must resist environmental stresses in the bladder and kidneys including pH stress and wide fluctuations in osmolarity (Culham et al., 2001; Cahill et al., 2003). The high osmolality, high urea concentration, acidic pH and organic acids in urine can limit the growth and survival of *E. coli* within the urinary tract (Mulvey et al., 2000). Thus, an important aspect of UPEC virulence is the capacity to resist high osmolality and the denaturing effects of urea, and rapidly adapt to changes and stress encountered in these niches during establishment of the infection.

Previously, we showed that interference with phosphate homeostasis decreased the expression of type 1 fimbriae in strain CFT073 and attenuated UPEC virulence (Crépin et al., 2012b). The phosphate-specific transport (Pst) system negatively regulates the activity of the two-component signal transduction system PhoBR and also transports inorganic phosphate. Inactivation of the Pst system results in constitutive activation of PhoBR regardless of environmental phosphate availability (Wanner, 1996). As such, a *pst* mutant responds as if it is always under phosphate-limiting conditions. In UPEC, we showed that decreased virulence of a *pst* mutant is largely due to reduced expression of type 1 fimbriae. In avian pathogenic *E. coli* (APEC), an altered membrane homeostasis was also observed in a *pst* mutant (Lamarche and Harel, 2010) and caused increased sensitivity to acid, cationic antimicrobial peptides, and serum (Lamarche et al., 2005; Crépin et al., 2008; Bertrand et al., 2010).

In order to identify genes affecting the expression of type 1 fimbriae, we constructed a transcriptional luciferase (lux)reporter consisting of *lux* under the control of the *fimS* invertible promoter and this construct was inserted into the CFT073 genome at the attTn7 site. This fimS reporter containing strain was used to generate a Tn10 transposon mutant library, coupled with high-throughput sequencing to identify the location of transposon insertions that altered the expression of type 1 fimbriae. In this report, we show that YqhG is one of the important mediators that contribute to decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae in UPEC strain CFT073. Our results demonstrated that the deletion of yqhG in CFT073 reduced the expression of type 1 fimbriae and reduced urinary tract colonization of the *yqhG* mutant in the murine model. We also examined whether deletion of yqhG as well as the *pst* system also reduced resistance to environmental stresses, suggesting that altered expression of type 1 fimbriae can be linked to changes in bacterial adaptation to environmental stresses, such as oxidative or osmotic stress.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Bacterial Strains, Growth Conditions, and Plasmids

E. coli strains and plasmids used in this study are listed in Table 1. E. coli CFT073 was isolated from the blood and urine of a patient with acute pyelonephritis (Mobley et al., 1990). Bacteria were routinely grown in lysogeny broth (LB) (Alpha Bioscience, Baltimore, MD) at 37°C and in human urine. Urine was obtained from healthy female volunteers, 20-40 years old, with no occurrence of a UTI or antibiotic use within the last 2 months prior to collection. A protocol for obtaining biological samples from human donors was reviewed and approved by the ethics committee—Comité d'éthique en recherche (CER 19-507) of INRS. Urine was immediately filter sterilized (0.2-µm pore size), pooled, and frozen at  $-80^{\circ}$ C and used within 2 weeks of sampling. Antibiotics and reagents when required were added at the following concentrations: kanamycin, 50 µg/ml; ampicillin, 100  $\mu$ g/ml; chloramphenicol 30  $\mu$ g/ml and diaminopimelic acid (DAP), 50 µg/ml.

# Construction of the *fim-lux* Reporter Fusions

*E. coli* CFT073 harboring the *fimS* reporter was obtained by site-specific transposition of the *fimS-lux* genes at the chromosomal *att*Tn7 site as described by Crépin et al. (2012a). Briefly, the promoterless *lux* operon of *Photorhabdus luminescens* 

#### TABLE 1 | Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study.

Strain or plasmid	Relevant characteristics	Reference or source
STRAINS		
CFT073	UPEC wild-type pyelonephritis strain (O6:K2:H1)	Mobley et al., 1990; Welch et al., 2002
QT1324	CFT073 <i>∆oxyR</i> ::Km; Km <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012b
QT1911	CFT073 ApstSCA::FRT	Crépin et al., 2012b
QT2087	MGN-617 + pLOF/Km; Ap <sup>r</sup> , Km <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2017
QT2117	QT1911::Tn7T-Gm:: <i>pstSCA</i> ; Gm <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012b
QT2138	CFT073 <i>AfimAlCDFGH</i> ::km; Km <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012b
QT2496	CFT073 + pSTNSK, Km <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012a
QT4791	χ7213 + pGP-Tn7-Cm- <i>PfimA</i> L-ON <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup> , Km <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4792	χ7213 + pGP-Tn7-Cm- <i>PfimA</i> L-ON <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup> , Km <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4793	χ7213 + pGP-Tn7-Cm- <i>PfimA</i> phase variable <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup> , Km <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4794	QT2496::Tn7T-Cm:: <i>PfimA L-ON luxCDABE</i> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4795	QT2496::Tn7T-Cm:: <i>PfimA-L-OFF luxCDABE</i> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4796	QT2496::Tn7T-Cm:: <i>PfimA</i> phase variable <i>luxCDABE</i> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT4976	CFT073 <i>∆pstSCA</i> ::FRT +pSTNSK, Km <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT5018	QT4976::Tn7T-Cm- PfimA phase variable luxCDABE, Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
QT5134 (BW25123)	E. coli BW25123, yqhG::Km	Baba et al., 2006
QT5178	CFT073 <i>∆yqhG</i> ::FRT	This study
QT5235	QT5178::Tn7T-Cm:: <i>yqhGH,</i> Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
χ7213 (MGN-617)	<i>thi thr leu tonA lacY glnV supE ΔasdA4 recA</i> ::RP4 2-Tc::Mu [λpir], Km <sup>r</sup>	Kaniga et al., 1998
PLASMIDS		
pCP20	FLP helper plasmid Ts replicon; Ap <sup>r</sup> Cm <sup>r</sup>	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000
pGP-Tn7-Cm	pGP-Tn7-FRT::Cm, Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012a
pSTNSK-	pST76-K:: <i>tnsABCD</i> , Km <sup>r</sup>	Crépin et al., 2012a
plJ461	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>luxCDABE;</i> Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
plJ514	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>luxCDABE</i> ;	This study
plJ516	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>PfimA</i> L-ON <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
plJ517	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>PfimA</i> -L-OFF <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
plJ518	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>PfimA</i> phase variable <i>luxCDABE</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
plJ543	pGP-Tn7-Cm:: <i>yqhGH</i> , Ap <sup>r</sup> , Cm <sup>r</sup>	This study
pKD3	Template plasmid for the amplification of the <i>cat</i> gene bordered by FRT sites	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000
pKD4	Template plasmid for the amplification of the km cassette bordered by FRT sites	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000
pKD46	$\lambda$ -Red recombinase plasmid Ts replicon; Ap <sup>r</sup>	Datsenko and Wanner, 2000
pLOF/km	Tn10-based transposon vector delivery plasmid; Apr Kmr	Herrero et al., 1990

(*luxCDABE*) (Allen, 2000) was amplified with the primers CMD1733 and CMD1734 (**Supplemental Table 1**). This DNA fragment was digested with KpnI and ApaI (New England Biolabs), purified with the Biobasic kit and ligated into the multiple-cloning sites (MCS) of the mini-Tn7-containing vector pGP-Tn7-Cm, generating the vector pGP-Tn7-*lux* (pIJ461). An optimized ribosome-binding site, RBS, was then added to plasmid pIJ461 to generate the pIJ514 vector. Then, the plasmid pIJ514 was used to generate the vectors, pIJ516 *pfimA* phase L-ON, pIJ517 pfimA phase L-OFF and pIJ518 *pfimA* variable phase. The *fim* promoter from strain CFT073 was amplified by PCR with primers CMD1645 and CMD1646 (see **Supplemental Table 1**). Genomic DNA, digested with the restriction enzymes *Eco*RI and SaII, and ligated to pIJ514 previously digested with EcoRI and *XhoI*. Transformation into *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  cells was followed by

selection on LB plates containing chloramphenicol. Using the approach described by Gunther et al. (2002), point mutations in primer CMD1133 were introduced to block the promoter switch in the ON position, digested with the restriction enzymes SmaI and SaII, and ligated to pIJ514 plasmid digested with SmaI and XhoI. The resulting vectors pIJ516, pIJ517, pIJ518 were transformed in *E. coli* SM10  $\lambda pir$ -derivative strain MGN-617.

Strain MGN-617 (pGP-Tn7-*fimS-lux*) was conjugated overnight with strain CFT073, containing plasmid pSTNSK, which encodes the Tn7 *tnsABCD* transposase genes, at 30°C on LB agar plates supplemented with DAP. Following overnight culture, the bacteria from agar plates were suspended in 1 ml of phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), washed twice in PBS, serially diluted, and cultured on LB agar supplemented with gentamicin, and incubated at 37°C. Colonies that grew were then tested

for sensitivity to kanamycin and ampicillin, indicating the likelihood of integration at attTn7 and loss of the transposaseencoding plasmid pSTNSK. Insertion of Tn7 into the attTn7 site was verified by PCR (primers CMD26 and CMD1416 (see **Supplemental Table 1**).

## Testing the *fim-lux* Fusions Under Different pH Conditions

To measure the changes following growth in media at different pH, LB was buffered using 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>-NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> buffer. The media were prepared with a pH ranging between 4.4 and 7.0. E. coli containing pfimA phase-variable, pfimA L-ON and pfimA-L-OFF lux fusions were incubated overnight at 37°C, 250 rpm in 5 ml LB medium. The next day 3  $\mu$ l of each overnight culture was transferred to 180 µL of buffered LB at a specific pH and incubated with agitation until midlogarithmic phase had been reached in 96-well plates at 37°C. The luminescence and O.D.600nm was measured each 15 min for 4 h using a Cytation  $^{\rm TM}$  3 Cell Imaging Multi-Mode Reader (BioTek Instruments Inc.). The luminescence results were reported as relative luminescence units (RLU). The luminescence readings were normalized to the O.D.600nm values. The luminescence of lux fusion-containing strains streaked on LB agar plates was recorded with a ChemiDoc XRS system equipped with Quantity One 1-D analysis software (Syngene Chemi Genius), with an integration time of 30 s.

## **Transposon Mutagenesis**

Transposon mutagenesis was performed as described by Simms and Mobley (2008). Briefly, the MGN-617/pLOF-Km donor strain and recipient strain CFT073 carrying *fimS* phase variable reporter were cultured overnight (O/N) at  $37^{\circ}$ C in LB with appropriate antibiotics and supplements. Mixed cultures were prepared as a 1:4 donor-to-recipient ratio, placed onto LB agar plates supplemented with IPTG and DAP, and incubated O/N at  $37^{\circ}$ C. After incubation, cells were suspended in 1 ml of PBS, washed twice in PBS, serially diluted, and plated onto LB agar supplemented with kanamycin and incubated O/N at  $37^{\circ}$ C to select for the recovery of kanamycin-resistant transposon mutants of the CFT073 *fimS-lux* recipient strains. Colonies were screened for susceptibility to ampicillin to confirm loss of pLOF-Km.

## Measurement of Luminescence of Insertion Mutants in CFT073 Carrying *PfimA-lux*

Transposon mutants of CFT073 carrying *fimS-lux* were cultured at 250 rpm in 150  $\mu$ L of LB in a 96-well plate (Corning White With Clear Flat Bottom), and luminescence was measured at O.D.<sub>600nm</sub>. In total, 5,904 transformants were analyzed. The luminescence readings were normalized to the O.D.<sub>600</sub> values to account for any differences in growth. Mutants with disrupted genes that resulted in higher or lower levels of luminescence than the WT *pfim-lux*-fusion containing strain, were confirmed phenotypically by quantification of type 1 fimbriae by yeast agglutination assays as described below. Mutants of interest were then streaked on LB agar over three successive rounds of subculture and then stored individually in 25% glycerol at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

## **Evaluation of Type 1 Fimbriae Production**

The production of type 1 fimbriae was determined by yeast agglutination assay (Crépin et al., 2008). Briefly, the transposon mutants were cultured at 37°C in LB broth or human urine to mid-log phase. In our experiment, log-phase (period of steadystate growth in LB) is estimated to occur at OD<sub>600</sub> (optical density at 600 nm) between 0.6 and 0.8 However, for growth in urine, cells reach a stationary phase at an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.5-0.9. As such, we used a growth of cells to an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.6 for cells for mid-log growth in LB and an OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.4 for mid-log growth in human urine. Following centrifugation, 40 µl of an initial suspension of  $\sim 2 \times 10^{11}$  cells ml<sup>-1</sup> in PBS was transferred and serially diluted 2-fold in microtiter wells containing equal volumes of a 3% commercial yeast suspension in PBS. After 30 min of incubation on ice, yeast aggregation was monitored visually, and the agglutination titer was recorded as the most diluted bacterial sample giving a positive aggregation reaction.

## Site-Specific Integration of Tn10

Genomic DNA of 32 clones was extracted from cultures using phenol-chloroform. DNA was sequenced at the Génome Québec Innovation Centre, McGill University. DNA concentrations were determined using the Quant-iT<sup>TM</sup> PicoGreen<sup>®</sup> dsDNA Assay Kit (Life Technologies). DNA samples were generated using the NEB Next Ultra II DNA Library Prep Kit for Illumina (New England BioLabs) as per the manufacture protocol. TruSeq adapters and PCR primers were purchased from IDT. Size selection of libraries containing the desired insert size was obtained using SPRI select beads (Beckman Coulter). Briefly, genomic DNA was fragmented and tagged with adapter sequence via one enzymatic reaction (tagmentation). We initially amplified by PCR the region between the end of the insertion (primer Tn\_pLOF-Km-CS1:(5'ACACT GACGACATGGTTCTACAcgttgcgctgcccggattac 3' [transposonspecific sequence is in lowercase])), and the Illumina adapter with primer 2 (5' TACGGTAGCAGAGACTTGGTCTCTAG-CATAGAGTGCGTAGCTCTGCT 3') to enrich for transposon insertion sites and allow multiplex sequencing. The thermocycler program was 94°C for 2 min, 94°C for 30 s, 55°C for 30 s 72°C for 30s for 33 cycles and 72°C for 7 min. Each library was prepared with a unique Illumina barcode. We amplified this region to add the Illumina adapters for MiSeq sequencing: PE1-CS1 (AATGATACGGCGACCACCGA-GATCTACACTGACGACATGGTTCTACA) and primer 2. The libraries were then pooled in equimolar concentration and sequencing was performed on an Illumina MiSeq using the MiSeq Reagent Kit v2 Kit (500-cycles).

After determining the location of the transposon, the clones in the pool carrying the specific mutations were determined using a primer complementary to the transposon end and another primer complementary to the identified transposon-interrupted gene. Following DNA amplification of each clone by PCR, we were able to determine which specific clones contained some of the identified site-specific insertions.

## Construction of Site-Directed Mutants and Complementation of Strains

Mutations were introduced by lambda-red recombination as described using plasmids pKD3 and pKD4 as templates for chloramphenicol and kanamycin resistance cassettes, respectively (Datsenko and Wanner, 2000). Primers are listed in **Supplemental Table 1**. Antibiotic cassettes flanked by FLP recombination target (FRT) sites were excised by introduction of vector pCP20 expressing the FLP recombinase (Cherepanov and Wackernagel, 1995).

## Preparation of Fimbrial Extracts and Western Blotting

Preparation of fimbrial extracts and western blotting were performed as described previously (Crépin et al., 2008), with antitype 1 fimbriae serum from *E. coli* strain  $B_{AM}$ . Briefly, after the growth to log phase, the bacteria were harvested and resuspended in 5 ml of 150 mM NaCl-0.5 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.8). Following incubation at 56°c for 1 h and centrifugation (3,000 × g for 10 min), the aliquot was precipitated with 10% trichloroacetic acid. Followed by centrifugation 20,000 × g for 15 min at 4°C, the pellet was washed twice with 0.5 M Tris-HCl-0.5 M EDTA (pH 12.0) and resuspended in 0.5 M Tris-EDTA.

Further, fimbrial extracts were separated by sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, the proteins were stained with Coomassie brilliant blue and transferred to a nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad) for 60 min at 100 V. The membrane was blocked with supplemented with 0.05% Tween 20 (Pierce). Incubations with primary rabbit anti-*fim* (1:5,000) and secondary goat anti-rabbit (1:25,000) antibodies were carried out for 1 h at room temperature. SuperSignal West Pico chemiluminescent substrate (Pierce) was used for detection.

# Detection and Quantification of the On/Off State of the *fimS* Region

The orientation of the *fimS* region was determined as described previously (Müller et al., 2009). Briefly, the *fimS* region was PCR amplified with the primers CMD1258 and CMD1259 (see **Supplemental Table 1**), to produce a 650 bp fragment. The DNA was then digested with HinfI and analyzed on a 2% agarose gel. Following digestion, the ON orientation produces fragments of 128 and 522 bp, whereas the OFF orientation generates fragments of 411 and 239 bp. Quantification of the ratio of cells in ON or OFF position was performed as described (Wu and Outten, 2009). The WT strain was cultured statically for 48 h at 37°C for use as a control for increased orientation of the ON position. The WT strain was also cultured for 24 h on LB agar plates at room temperature as a control to favor orientation in the OFF position.

## **Experimental UTI in CBA/J Mice**

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the animal ethics evaluation committee—Comité Institutionel de Protection des Animaux (CIPA No 1608-02) of INRS. The murine experimental UTIs were carried out as described previously (Hagberg et al., 1983), using a single-strain infection model. Prior to inoculation, strains were grown for 16 h at 37°C with shaking (250 rpm) in 55 ml of LB medium. Six-weeks-old CBA/J female mice were inoculated through a catheter inserted in the urethra with 20  $\mu$ l of the pellet containing 2 × 10<sup>9</sup> CFU of either UPEC strain CFT073, CFT073  $\Delta$ *yqhG* (QT5178) or the complemented strain (QT5235). After 48 h, mice were euthanized; kidneys and bladders were sampled, homogenized, diluted, and plated on MacConkey agar for enumeration of colonies.

## Adhesion Assays

5,637 human bladder cells (ATCC HTB-9) were grown in RPMI 1640 medium (Wisent Bioproducts) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum, 2 mM l-glutamine, 10 mM HEPES, 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 4.5 g/liter glucose, and 1.5 g/liter sodium bicarbonate. For the assays 5,637 cells were grown to confluency in RPMI 1640 and 2  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> cells/well were distributed in 24well plates. Strain CFT073 and isogenic mutants were grown in LB medium at 37°C to the mid-log phase of growth (O.D. 0.6). Immediately before infection, cultures were washed with PBS, suspended in medium and inoculated at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10 CFU per epithelial cell. Bacteria-epithelial cell contact was enhanced by a centrifugation at  $600 \times g$  for 5 min. After 2 h, cells were washed three times and lysed with PBS-0.1% sodium deoxycholate (DOC), serially diluted, and plated on LB agar plates. Quantification of cell-associated bacteria was performed as previously described (Martinez et al., 2000). To block adherence mediated by type 1 fimbriae, 2.5% α-dmannopyranose was added.

## **Motility Assay**

Motility assays were as previously described (Lane et al., 2005) with modification. Following overnight growth at  $37^{\circ}$ C, strains were cultured at  $37^{\circ}$ C in LB broth to mid-log phase. Strains were stabbed into the surface of soft agar (1% tryptone, 0.5% NaCl, 0.25% agar) using an inoculating needle. Care was taken not to touch the bottom of the plate during inoculation to ensure only swimming motility was assessed. After 16 h of incubation, the diameters of motility zones were measured. Three independent motility experiments for each strain were performed. Results were analyzed using a paired *t*-test.

# Growth Under Conditions of Osmotic Stress

Strains were tested for growth under conditions of osmotic stress using NaCl or urea. Cultures were diluted 1:100 from overnight cultures grown in LB, grown until mid-log phase with shaking. They were serially diluted and plated on LB agar alone and LB agar supplemented with 0.3 M NaCl, 0.6 M NaCl, 0.3 M urea, or 0.6 M urea. Colonies were enumerated, and growth under each condition was compared to growth on LB agar.

## Hydrogen Peroxide Sensitivity Assay

Sensitivity to  $H_2O_2$  was determined by using an agar overlay diffusion method (Boyer et al., 2002). Briefly, overnight cultures were used to inoculate (1/100) fresh LB medium, and incubated until the O.D.<sub>600</sub> reached 0.6. Then, 100 µl of each culture

were mixed with 3 ml molten top agar and poured onto an LB agar plate. A 6-mm-diameter Whatman filter disk containing 10  $\mu l$  30%  $H_2O_2$  was placed on the agar surface and plates were incubated overnight at 37°C. Inhibition zone diameters were then measured.

## **Statistical Analyses**

Statistical tests were obtained using the Prism 7.04 software package (GraphPad Software). Statistically significance between two groups was determined by unpaired *t*-test and comparison among three or more groups was obtained by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). For the independent infections, comparisons of the CFU mL<sup>-1</sup> or CFU g<sup>-1</sup> distributions were analyzed using the Mann–Whitney test.

## RESULTS

# The Single-Copy Integrated CFT073 *fimS-lux* Reporter System

To identify systems that alter the expression of type 1 fimbriae, we used a promoterless *lux* reporter system fused to the *fim* type 1 fimbriae promoter region, *fimS*. A *luxCDABE* reporter system originally from *Photorhabdus luminescens* (Allen, 2000) was used. The system encodes all the enzymes needed to produce a luminescent signal. The *lux* genes were introduced into the pGP-Tn7-*Cm* vector. An optimized ribosome binding site, *RBS*, was added to plasmid pIJ461 to generate pIJ514 vector. Further, we generated phase variable, *pfimA phase variable-lux* (pIJ518) to measure the expression of type 1 fimbriae in various conditions (**Figure 1A**). Using the same approach as described by Gunther et al. (2002), point mutations were introduced in order to lock the promoter in the ON- and OFF-position, respectively to generate *pfimA L-ON-lux* (pIJ516) and *pfimA L-OFF-lux* (pIJ517) (**Figure 1**).

## Analysis of the *fim-lux* Fusions in UPEC CFT073 Grown Under Different pH Conditions

To better characterize the reporter system upon dynamic transcriptional changes, we set out to assay the response kinetics of the pfimA promoter, driving the expression of the type 1 fimbriae using the *lux* reporter system. This promoter has been extensively studied in E. coli and used to validate a lux reporter system and *lacZYA* fusion implemented on a single copy number plasmid (Schwan et al., 2002; Schwan and Ding, 2017). Thus, it has been reported that growth conditions play a substantial role in the ability of E. coli cells to undergo phase variation and alter expression of type 1 fimbriae. Of note, transcription of all of the *fim* genes was shown to be repressed in a low pH environment (Schwan et al., 2002). Following a similar protocol, the fim-lux reporter containing variant of CFT073 or its isogenic pst mutant was grown in LB adjusted at different pH conditions ranging from 4.4 to 7. To verify any differences in expression, the E. coli cells were grown to mid-logarithmic phase (OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.6). The fimS-Locked ON fusion had the highest expression level and did not vary regardless of the pH during growth (**Figure 2A**). However, the neutral pH influenced the expression of the *fim* switch. A shift from pH 4.4 to a neutral pH of 7 in LB media resulted in a 2-fold increase in expression of the *fimS* promoter. Decrease in pH also diminished the production of type 1 fimbriae (**Supplemental Figure 1**). In addition, no significant change in growth rates was observed for growth of the CFT073 parent strain and the *PfimA*-Locked ON and *PfimA* variable *lux* derivatives, suggesting that the expression of the *lux* operon and its gene products had no adverse effects on bacterial growth (**Supplemental Figure 2**).

CFT073 derivatives carrying the PfimA promoter in either direct (PfimA-Locked ON) or opposite (PfimA-Locked OFF) orientation with respect to the *luxCDABE* operon were streaked on LB agar plates, together with the CFT073 strain and a pst mutant carrying the PfimA phase-variable lux fusion. Stronger emission was detected from the *fimS*-Locked ON fusion (Figure 2B), with single colonies producing a strong signal. By contrast, there was no luminescence signal detected in the negative control carrying the PfimA-Locked-OFF fusion or the CFT073 strain or its pst mutant carrying the PfimA-phasevariable-lux fusion, although a dim light emission could be detected for CFT073 containing the PfimA-phase-variable fusion after longer exposure. In addition, the stability of the fimS-Locked-ON-lux strain was evaluated after 10 passages without antibiotic selection and the maintenance and luminescence expression of this fusion was found to be stable.

The expression of *lux* derivatives was also compared in LB liquid media overnight. As expected, there was a high signal for the *fimS*-Locked ON strain (QT4794), no signal for the *fimS*-Locked OFF strain (QT4795) and an intermediate signal for the *fimS*-lux variable strain (QT4796) (**Figure 2C**). In contrast, the signal for  $\Delta pst$ , *fimS*-phase variable-lux (QT5018) increased significantly (**Figure 2C**) when compared with the same mutant at OD<sub>600</sub> 0.6 (**Figure 2A**). This result was similar to what was previously observed (**Supplemental Figure 1**) (Crépin et al., 2012b).

## Screening for Transposon Mutants With Increased or Decreased *lux* Expression and Altered Production of Type 1 Fimbriae

To identify genes affecting the expression of type 1 fimbriae, E. coli CFT073 carrying the fimS phase-variable reporter (Figure 1B) was subjected to transposon mutagenesis. A mini-Tn10 transposon carrying a kanamycin resistance marker pLOF/Km (Herrero et al., 1990) was randomly inserted into the bacterial chromosome. A transposon bank was screened for luminescence. Clones demonstrating increased or decreased light emission were identified. Transposon insertions that produced high or low levels of luminescence may identify genes encoding transcriptional repressors or activators of fim. Transposon insertions that result in low levels of luminescence suggest that the disrupted genes may promote fim transcription and production of type 1 fimbriae. A total of 5,904 transposon mutants were generated and stored individually in 96-well plates stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C. The mutants were assessed for luminescence at O.D.<sub>600nm</sub> 0.6 with shaking at 37°C (Figure 3A).



**FIGURE 1** Methods for site-specific insertion of *fimS-lux* fusions using mini-Tn 7-*lux* vector. (A) The mobilizable suicide vector pGP-Tn7-Cm-fimS-lux contains the conjugative transfer Mob RP4 and the *ori* R6K. A multiple cloning site is integrated between the two Tn7 ends, where the promoterless *lux* reporter system is fused to the fimbrial promoter region, *fimS*. (B) Tn7-based transposition at the chromosomal *att*Tn7 site was achieved by conjugation, where the donor strain (*E. coli* SM10*λ*,*pir*) harbored the mini-Tn7 vector and the recipient strain CFT073 contained the thermosensitive suicide vector pSTNSK pSC101-temperature sensitive origin and transposases *tnsABCD*. The Tn7 transposon integrates at the site-specific *att*Tn7, located downstream of the highly conserved *gImS* gene.



A subset of 65 transposon mutants demonstrating the highest and lowest levels of luminescence compared to the control CFT073 (attTn7 *PfimA-lux*) were further evaluated. Mutants that produced less luminescence than the control strain were further tested for levels of production of type 1 fimbriae by yeast agglutination assay (Crépin et al., 2012b). From this secondary screen, 48 transposon mutants were confirmed and there was at least a 4-fold increase or decrease in yeast agglutination (p<0.0001) (**Figure 3B**). Some of these mutants are currently being investigated to determine the transposon



insertion site locations. In addition, 32 of the individual mutants were pooled and their transposon insertions were determined (**Supplemental Figure 3**) as described in the Materials and Methods section.

## Identification of Mutations Affecting Type 1 Fimbriae Expression

Analysis of the 32 mutants generated 6,733 sequence reads that mapped to the CFT073 genome. The insertions were linked to genes involved in protein fate and synthesis, energy metabolism, adherence, transcriptional regulation, and transport, regulatory functions, etc. (**Table 2**). A number of transposon mutations were also inserted in genes predicted to encode proteins of unknown function (**Supplemental Figure 3**).

## Insertions Within Genes Contributing to Amino Acid Biosynthesis and Metabolism

Several clones carried an insertion within genes with metabolic functions. For instance, one of these clones was inserted in tdcB (**Table 2**) that encodes a catabolic threonine dehydratase involved in the first step in threonine degradation. It is one of several enzymes carrying out the first step in the anaerobic breakdown of L-threonine to propionate (Umbarger and Brown, 1957). However, TdcB is activated by cAMP. Following a transition from aerobic to anaerobic growth, cAMP levels rise dramatically, which leads to increased expression of tdcB and consequently high levels of catabolic threonine deaminase (Hobert and Datta, 1983).

Similarly, another insertion was in *nadB* (Tritz et al., 1970) which is involved in NAD biosynthesis under both aerobic and anaerobic conditions (Messner and Imlay, 2002). Another mutant had an insertion in a pathogen-specific iron acquisition gene, *iucC*, which encodes a protein required for synthesis of aerobactin (de Lorenzo and Neilands, 1986). Likewise other insertion sites were *yecK*, encoding a membrane

anchored pentaheme *c*-type cytochrome involved in an anaerobic respiratory system (Gon et al., 2000); *eutE* which codes for a protein that increases the level of acetylating acetaldehyde dehydrogenase activity (Rodriguez and Atsumi, 2012) and *sseB* involved in increased rhodanese activity (Hama et al., 1994).

## Insertions Within Genes Encoding Other Fimbrial Adhesins, Transporters, or Outer Membrane Proteins in *E. coli* CFT073

A number of mutants with altered *lux* expression were found to contain insertions in genes encoding fimbriae, outer membrane proteins and transport proteins. Among these mutants, three carried insertions in fimbrial systems. One insertion was identified in *fimD* which is the usher of the chaperone-usher pathway of type 1 fimbriae (Supplemental Figure 3) (Klemm and Christiansen, 1990), the other mutant had an insertion in aufG which codes for a putative fimbrial-like adhesin protein, and another insertion was identified in c1933 (ydeS) encoding the minor fimbrial subunit of F9 fimbriae (Table 2). These loci have been previously characterized (Buckles et al., 2004; Ulett et al., 2007). We also identified insertions in genes encoding a putative ABC transporter periplasmic binding protein, ydcS, a predicted outer membrane protein, yaiO, and an outer membrane porin, nmpC (Table 2). Chaperone genes involved in protein fate, such as *dnaJ* coding a chaperone protein were also identified. DnaJ acts as a sensor for non-native proteins (Siegenthaler and Christen, 2006) and is involved in many cytoplasmic events, such as promotion of protein folding and translocation of nascent polypeptides (Hartl, 1996).

## **Insertions Within Regulatory Genes**

Further, sequencing also identified insertions in well-known regulatory genes, such as *lrp* (Calvo and Matthews, 1994). Insertion within *fimB*, which mediates switching in both directions was also identified. An insertion was identified within

TABLE 2 | Transposon mutants with altered pfimA::lux expression in CFT073\*.

Insertion site <sup>a</sup>	CDS	Gene symbol	Gene product description
ENERGY METABOLI	SM		
yecK	c2287	yecK	Cytochrome c-type protein torY
eutE	c2980	eutE	Ethanol amine utilization protein eutE
sseB	c3047	sseB	Serine sensitivity enhancing B (SseB)
nadB	c3098	nadB	L-aspartate oxidase
iucC	c3625	iucC	lucC protein
tdcB	c3875	tdcB	Threonine dehydratase
FIMBRIAL ADHESIN	S, TRANSPORTERS, OF	R OUTER MEMBRANE P	ROTEINS
ydeS	c1933		ydeS—fimbrial-like protein ydeS precursor (minor subunit proteins F9 fimbriae)
aufG	c4207	aufG	Putative fimbrial adhesin precursor
fimD	c5396	fimD	Outer membrane usher protein fimD precursor
dnaJ	c0020	dnaJ	Chaperone protein DnaJ
yaiO	c0467		Outer membrane protein YaiO
ydcS	c1864	ydcS	ABC transporter periplasmic-binding protein (polyhydroxybutyrate synthase)
nmpC	c2348	nmpC	Outer membrane porin protein nmpC precursor
emrK	c2904	emrK	Multidrug resistance protein K
Adjacent to <i>kpsM</i>	-c3698	kpsM	Capsule synthesis
slp	c4304	slp	Outer membrane protein slp precursor
ytfR	c5326	ytfR	Putative ATP-binding component of a transport system
REGULATORS			
yliE	c0918	yliE	Putative c-di-GMP phosphodiesterase Pdel
Irp	c1026	Irp	Leucine-responsive transcriptional regulator
rstA	c2000	rstA	DNA-binding transcriptional regulator RstA
	c3750		Putative regulator
kguS	c5041	KguS	α-ketoglutarate utilization sensor
fimB	c5391	fimB	FimB recombinase regulator for fimA
UNKNOWN FUNCTION	ON		
	c0337		Putative conserved protein
yaiZ	c0486	yaiZ	Hypothetical protein
	c1269		Hypothetical protein
	c1555		Putative DNA N-6-adenine-methyltransferase of bacteriophage
ynjA	c2154	ynjA	Hypothetical protein
yegQ	c2611	yegQ	Putative protease yegQ
yqhG	c3747	yqhG	Hypothetical protein YqhG precursor
Adjacent to yqhG	c3746-c3747	yqhG	Hypothetical protein YqhG precursor

\*List includes insertions identified that had at least 4-fold greater or 4-fold less relative light units compared to the CFT073 control level of lux expression. Genetic locus with the closest match to the sequence interrupted by the transposon in each mutant. Locations of specific Tn insertions are presented in **Supplemental Figure 3**.

<sup>a</sup>Genes in bold are present in the genome of E. coli K-12 strain MG1655 genome.

the *c0918* (*yliE*) gene (**Table 2**). *yliE* encodes a hypothetical conserved inner membrane protein which contains a phosphodiesterase EAL domain. This protein is involved in hydrolysis of the bacterial second messenger cyclic di-GMP (c-di-GMP), a key factor in processes, such as flagellar motility, biofilm formation, the cell cycle, and virulence of pathogenic bacteria (Jenal and Malone, 2006; Römling et al., 2013). Similarly, another clone contained an insertion in *c5041 (kguS)* which was identified as a sensor protein of a two-component signaling system involved in  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate utilization. This system is involved in utilization of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, an abundant metabolite during UPEC infection, which regulates target genes that encode  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate dehydrogenase and a succinyl-CoA

synthetase. This two-component signaling system has been shown to be important for UPEC fitness during UTI (Cai et al., 2013). Also, *rstA*, a member of the two-component regulatory system RstB/RstA (Calvo and Matthews, 1994) was disrupted in one of the mutants.

### **Insertions Within Hypothetical Genes**

Several of the mutations disrupted genes predicted to encode hypothetical proteins of unknown function, and the roles of such genes for *E. coli* physiology as well as their influence on expression of type 1 fimbriae and UPEC pathogenesis are unknown (**Table 2**). Sequence analysis identified an independent insertion within the yqhG gene and an insertion immediately



upstream of the yqhG coding region (**Figure 4A**), strongly suggesting the involvement of YqhG in type 1 fimbriae production. Thus, we focused the rest of our investigation on this gene of unknown function and its role for production of type 1 fimbriae and UPEC pathogenesis.

# Disruption of *yqhG* Reduces Expression of Type 1 Fimbriae

A transposon was inserted in the opposite orientation of yqhGin one mutant and in the middle of the gene in another mutant (Figure 4A), suggesting that the *yqhG* gene was involved in regulation of expression of type 1 fimbriae. Since type 1 fimbriae contribute to UPEC pathogenicity (Nielubowicz and Mobley, 2010), the production of type 1 fimbriae was then evaluated by yeast agglutination at the mid-log phase of growth in LB (O.D 0.6) and urine (O.D 0.4). As expected, mutations within yqhG had an effect on the production of type 1 fimbriae (Figure 4B). After mid-log growth with shaking in LB, and overnight growth in human urine with shaking, the agglutination titer of CFT073 $\Delta$ *yqhG* was reduced by 4-fold as compared to strain CFT073. Agglutination titers of the complemented mutant regained titers similar to that of the WT strain (Figure 4B). To confirm that yeast agglutination was mediated by type 1 fimbriae, the assay was also performed in the presence of 2.5% mannopyranose, which blocks type 1 fimbriae-mediated agglutination. As expected, no yeast agglutination was observed when 2.5% mannopyranose was added to the bacteria. These results indicate that the mutation of yqhG caused a substantial decrease of type 1 fimbriae expression. Since the yqhG mutant demonstrated a defect in type 1 fimbriae production (**Figure 4B**), we further investigated the ability of the mutant to grow in human urine. Loss of the yqhG in strain CFT073 did not affect growth in human urine.

To confirm that production of type 1 fimbriae was reduced in the yqhG mutant, Western blotting against the type 1 major subunit FimA was determined. Western blotting confirmed an important decrease of the FimA protein in the yqhG mutant compared to parent strain CFT073 and the complemented strain (**Figure 4D**).

## The *yqhG* Mutant Demonstrates Reduced Adherence to Human Bladder Epithelial Cells

The adherence of the *yqhG* mutant to 5,637 human bladder epithelial cells was compared to that of the parental strain CFT073. **Figure 5A** shows that the adherence of the  $\Delta yqhG$ mutant was reduced ~2-fold compared to that of WT strain. Further, the decrease in epithelial cell adherence was rescued by complementation of the *yqhG* gene. Addition of 2.5%  $\alpha$ -dmannopyranose to block the effect of type 1 fimbriae greatly



reduced cell association of all strains tested in the cell association assay (Figure 5A).

To determine if the reduction of type 1 fimbriae was due to orientation bias of the phase-variable promoter, we determined orientation of the *fimS* promoter region. The orientation of *fimS* was evaluated in strains grown under agitation to mid-log phase in LB broth. Using the procedure described by Stentebjerg-Olesen et al. (2000), we observed that the *fim* promoter clearly had an increased bias for the OFF position in the *yqhG* mutant (**Figure 5B**).

# The *yqhG* Mutant Demonstrates Reduced Bladder and Kidney Colonization in Mice

Type 1 fimbriae are important for ExPEC colonization of the bladder during UTIs. Since the *yqhG* mutant demonstrated decreased type 1 fimbriae production, we tested its capacity to cause urinary tract infection in the CBA/J mouse model. Forty-eight hours after urethral inoculation, the *yqhG* mutant was attenuated 100-fold in bladder and 10,000-fold in kidneys (P < 0.0001) compared to the WT parent strain (Figure 6). Further, the complemented mutant regained the capacity of colonization. This reduction in colonization from inactivation of *yghG* could be due to reduced production of type 1 fimbriae, and potentially other changes in the  $\Delta yqhG$  mutant that could decrease colonization of the murine urinary tract (Figure 6).

# The *yqhG* Mutant Demonstrates Increased Motility

Since flagella and swimming motility play a pivotal role in colonization and persistence in the urinary tract (Lane et al., 2005), we investigated whether the loss of yqhG affected swimming motility. The yqhG mutant was considerably more motile than the UPEC CFT073 parental strain. Complementation

of the *yqhG* mutant (strain QT5235) effectively restored motility to wild-type levels. Further, a *fimS* Locked-ON reference strain was shown to be non-motile in the swimming assays (**Figure 7**).

# *yqhG* Contributes to Oxidative Stress Resistance

During the course of a UTI, UPEC come across a variety of environmental stresses that can potentially limit survival and growth (Mulvey et al., 2000). Envelope stress response pathways are likely to be critical for UPEC, in order to detect and respond to potentially harmful environmental insults during the course of infection. In an effort to determine the mechanism by which *yqhG* influences type 1 fimbriae expression, we first sought to determine if this gene is involved in hydrogen peroxide resistance. Our observations revealed that the  $\Delta y q h G$  strain was more sensitive to oxidative killing compared to wild-type strain CFT073. This result indicates that *yqhG* contributes to resistance to oxidative stress mediated by hydrogen peroxide (Table 3). Further, screening of specific transposon mutants that were also shown to have decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae including clones with insertions in the slp or yegQ genes also showed increased sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide-mediated oxidative stress (Table 3).

## The *pst* Mutant of UPEC CFT073 Is Also Sensitive to Osmotic and Oxidative Stress

In a previous study, in avian pathogenic *E. coli* (APEC) strain  $\chi$ 7122, inactivation of the *pst* system mimicked phosphatelimiting conditions and caused pleiotropic effects (Lamarche et al., 2008). In the APEC *pst* mutant, membrane homeostasis was altered and included modification of phospholipids (Lamarche et al., 2008). Accordingly, the same mutant appeared to modulate the expression of some genes regulating antioxidant activities



(Mann-Whitney test). \*P < 0.05; \*\*P < 0.005; \*\*\*P < 0.0001.



(Crépin et al., 2008). In the UPEC strain CFT073 *pst* mutant, attenuation of urinary tract virulence was shown to mainly be attributed to reduced production of type 1 fimbriae (Crépin et al., 2012b). As stress resistance is crucial for the survival of UPEC

**TABLE 3** | Growth inhibition zones of UPEC CFT073, isogenic mutants, and complemented strains exposed to 10  $\mu$ l of hydrogen peroxide.

Strain	Mean diameter inhibition zone (mm) in LB $\pm$ SD <sup>a</sup>	
CFT073	25.56 ± 0.49	
Δpst	31.25 ± 0.70	
$\Delta pst$ compl.	$26.0625 \pm 0.41$	
$\Delta yqhG$	$28.62 \pm 0.51$	
∆ <i>yqhG</i> compl.	$25.12 \pm 0.58$	
QT1324 (oxyR::Km)	39.35 ± 1.04	
QT4937 (slp::Tn10)	$28.93 \pm 0.67$	
QT4940 (yegQ::Tn10)	$28.87 \pm 0.23$	

Data presented are the means  $\pm$  standard deviations for eight independent experiments. The compound used was 10  $\mu$ l of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> (30%) on LB or agar plates.

<sup>a</sup>Mean of eight determinations per strain. All strains were tested in parallel each day. Values indicated in bold text are significantly different, P < 0.05, from the mean for the wild-type strain as calculated by Student's t-test.

strains in the host, we also evaluated the capacity of the UPEC CFT073-derived pst mutant to resist oxidative and osmotic stresses. Sensitivity to hydrogen peroxide was analyzed from exponential growth cultures of CFT073 and the  $\Delta pst$  derivative by using the  $\mathrm{H}_2\mathrm{O}_2$  agar overlay diffusion method. Under phosphate-sufficient conditions (LB), the pst mutant was more sensitive to oxidative stress, as diameters of inhibition zones were significantly larger with the pst mutant than with the CFT073 parental strain (P < 0.001) (Table 2). Complementation of the  $\Delta pstCAB$  mutant restored the wild-type phenotype (Table 3). Given the significant decrease in the colonization of the mouse bladder by the pst mutant, we also tested whether this strain displayed increased susceptibility to osmotic stress by using an established protocol (Pavanelo et al., 2018). We, therefore, tested the growth of the wild-type, pst mutant, and a complemented mutant on modified LB agar containing different concentrations

of NaCl or urea. Both strains were able to grow on LB agar with 0.3 M NaCl (**Figure 8A**) and with 0.3 M urea (**Figure 8B**), and no strain could grow on LB agar with 1 M NaCl and 1 M urea. In contrast, the *pst* mutant was significantly more sensitive to 0.6 M NaCl (**Figure 8C**) and 0.6 M urea (**Figure 8D**) compared to parent strain CFT073. The complemented mutant grew similarly to the WT strain (**Figure 8**). Taken together, the *pst* mutant was found to show increased sensitivity to both oxidative and osmotic stresses.

## DISCUSSION

The ability to adhere to host epithelial cells is an important factor for initial colonization and persistence during a UTI. Therefore, type 1 fimbriae are crucial for the establishment of UPEC infections (Schaeffer et al., 1987). Bacterial adherence to the uroepithelium limits the effect of shear forces produced by urine flow and thereby improves colonization (Thomas et al., 2002). Urine is considered to be a nutrient limiting environment with relatively low levels of available sugars and metabolites. Consequently, UPEC metabolism is tightly regulated and highly responsive to nutrient availability, and UPEC adapted to utilization of a wide range of nutrients from this nutrientlimited environment (Mann et al., 2017). Further, most bacteria are unable to thrive within the urinary tract environment due to its high osmolarity, elevated urea concentrations, low pH, and limited iron availability (Mann et al., 2017). Due to this transition, bacteria that enter the urinary tract encounter a harsh environment and are subject to numerous stresses, and stringent competition due to a drastic reduction in the abundance of nutrients. Further, environmental cues, such as pH and osmolality, have been shown to regulate fim genes and to affect the orientation of the fim switch (Schwan et al., 2002).

The expression of type 1 fimbriae is controlled by an invertible DNA element that upon inversion changes the promoter orientation through two site-specific recombinases, FimB and FimE. Thus, affecting the transcription of the fimAICDFGH genes (Abraham et al., 1985). This inversion phenomenon known as phase variation, reversibly switches between the expression of type 1 fimbriae (Phase-ON) and loss of expression (Phase-OFF) (Klemm, 1986). Besides the fim gene cluster, other genes and their gene products contribute to the expression of type 1 fimbriae. The global regulator histone-like nucleoid-structuring protein (H-NS), integration host factor (IHF), leucine-responsive protein (Lrp), and cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) receptor protein (CRP)/cAMP, control the expression of type 1 fimbriae directly and indirectly (Blomfield et al., 1997; Olsen et al., 1998; Kelly et al., 2006). Other proteins affect type 1 fimbriae expression in E. coli such us OmpX (Otto and Hermansson, 2004), IbeA, and IbeT (Cortes et al., 2008), although mechanisms of control are unknown. The regulatory alarmone, ppGpp, has been connected to the regulation of the *fim* operon (Åberg et al., 2006). Alteration of phosphate metabolism through inactivation of the phosphate specific transporter (pst) was shown to contribute to expression of type 1 fimbriae and attenuated UPEC virulence (Crépin et al., 2012b). Further, inactivation of pst was linked to increased production of the signaling molecule c-di-GMP, which in turn decreased the expression of type 1 fimbriae in UPEC CFT073 (Crépin et al., 2017). It has been shown that under a slightly acidic pH and low salt growth conditions found on the vaginal surface, that proteins, such as SlyA or RcsB may activate fimB and prevent H-NS from binding, allowing type 1 fimbriae to be expressed on the surface of the UPEC cells (Schwan et al., 2007; McVicker et al., 2011). Recently, the treA gene coding for a periplasmic trehalase that contributes to osmotic stress resistance was also shown to affect type 1 fimbriae production in an APEC strain and this mutation significantly reduced adherence to and invasion of epithelial cell and bladder colonization in a murine model of UTI (Pavanelo et al., 2018). Taken together, there is a body of evidence indicating that type 1 fimbriae expression is important for UPEC colonization of the urinary tract and that multiple factors, including adaptation to osmotic and oxidative stress, that influence expression of these fimbriae play a role in E. coli UTI pathogenesis.

Given the importance of type 1 fimbriae and control of its expression, in the present report we devised a means to randomly identify different genes involved in the regulation of type 1 fimbriae by using a *luxCDABE* reporter fusion and genetic screening of a transposon bank. We constructed a fimS-lux reporter fusion integrated on a single-copy at the chromosomal attTn7 of pyelonephritis strain CFT073 (Figure 1B). Integrating the lux reporter into the chromosome results in a reduced level of promoter expression compared to fusions on multicopy vectors, but has the added advantage of stability of the signal during long term localization studies and more relevant comparison to regulatory effects on the native fim switch, as the single-copy fusion will not be as biased by titration of regulator proteins or recombinases that could occur with multi-copy fusion vectors. Moreover, the luciferase bioluminescence system may overcome some limitations of fluorescent reporters used in in vivo imaging, such us background signals associated with cellular autofluorescence, poor penetration of the excitation wavelength, slow turnover of the fluorescent protein, etc. (Riedel et al., 2007).

The fimS-lux fusion was shown to undergo a change in signal in accordance to changes in regulation of the fimA promoter observed under different pH conditions (Figure 2A), demonstrating its potential value at investigating environmental cues that could affect transcription of the fim gene cluster. A shift from pH 4.4 to a neutral pH 7.0 resulted in a significant increase of *fimS* expression. Furthermore, and in accordance with previous reports (Schwan et al., 2002; Schwan and Ding, 2017), the expression of *fimS* was increased when bacteria were cultured in LB (neutral pH) and decreased at lower pH (Figure 2A). The in vitro results with the fim-lux fusions were similar to previous studies (Schwan et al., 2002; Schwan and Ding, 2017), and helped validate the reporter system that we developed. Our *lux* fusion was highly sensitive with low background noise, which makes this reporter rapid enough to enable a delicate monitoring of quick response kinetics. Indeed, such vectors have also been developed for transposon-based systems with random integration of lux into the chromosomes of both Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria (de Lorenzo et al., 1990; Francis et al., 2001). However, these systems are based on random integration of the transposon



into the chromosome, followed by selection of clones which retain viability but demonstrate high levels of lux expression. Hence, our lux system seems more efficient with single-copy integration of recombinant genes at the attTn7 site that does not require selective pressure and can be used in a variety of *Enterobacteriaceae*. This system provides a useful tool for studying promoter regulation without introducing unforeseen genetic changes that influence the behavior of the strain *in vitro* and *in vivo*. The application of the *lux* reporter in combination with transposon mutagenesis and high-throughput sequencing herein provided a novel and valid approach to identify specific genes and begin to dissect genetic pathways linked to expression of type 1 fimbriae.

Our transposon library screening resulted in the identification of numerous insertions that deregulated expression of type 1 fimbriae. In this study, we initially screened 5,904 transposon mutants by measuring the level of luminescence following growth on LB broth and phenotypic screening for production of type 1 fimbriae by using a yeast agglutination assay (Figure 3). Here, we searched for genes with a significant increase or decrease in luminescence levels from specific transposon mutants compared to the control strain (CFT073, fimS-lux). The insertion of transposons in specific clones were shown to repress or activate lux expression fimS and hence deregulate type 1 fimbriae production (Figure 3A). Using high throughput sequencing, we then mapped the Tn10 insertion sites of these mutants (Supplemental Figure 3), leading to the identification of numerous genes that significantly altered type 1 fimbriae production (Table 2). In addition to known structural and

regulatory genes, genes identified included those involved in biogenesis of type 1 fimbriae and other fimbriae, amino acid biosynthesis, membrane transport, chaperones involved in protein fate and genes that are currently of unknown function. Confirmation of the role of these genes in type 1 fimbriae expression via the construction and characterization of specific mutants will be required to more clearly determine their mechanisms of action in the regulation of expression type 1 fimbriae and potential roles in UTI pathogenesis. Several clones had insertions within genes with metabolic functions. One of these clones disrupted tdcB (catabolic threonine dehydratase). Many nutrient transport systems and genes related to carbohydrate metabolism have been reported to be involved in the virulence of ExPEC strains. For example, the periplasmic trehalase treA affects type 1 fimbriae production and virulence of APEC strain MT78 (Pavanelo et al., 2018). The metabolic frz operon has also been shown to link the metabolic capacity of ExPEC with expression of genes required for adherence to the bladder epithelium; the presence of the frz operon favors the ON orientation of the invertible type 1 fimbriae promoter (Rouquet et al., 2009). The two-component-system (TCS), KguSR, involved in the control of utilization of  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate, has also been shown to be important for UPEC fitness during UTI (Cai et al., 2013). Interestingly, this system was disrupted in our mutant bank. As such, the roles of this TCS in type 1 fimbriae expression in UPEC merit further investigation. Moreover, proteins involved in the transport and catabolism of sialic acid, xylose, arabinose, and the biosynthesis of arginine and serine are highly expressed in UPEC cultured in human urine (Alteri et al., 2009). It has
also been reported that sialic acid regulates type 1 fimbriae by inhibiting FimB switching in UPEC (Sohanpal et al., 2004). Tn insertions also disrupted well-studied regulators, Lrp, a global regulator of genes involved in metabolic functions within *E. coli* including fimbriae production (Brinkman et al., 2003; Kelly et al., 2006) and *fimB* which regulates phase variable expression of the *fim* operon (Blomfield et al., 1997). It is intriguing to see a potential connection of iron acquisition mechanisms and type 1 fimbriae production as disruption of the aerobactin precursor *iucC* (de Lorenzo and Neilands, 1986) affected the fimbriae production. However, the specific mechanisms underlying how certain genes involved in metabolism influence the expression of type 1 fimbriae and to what extent this alone may influence UPEC pathogenesis during UTI remain to be elucidated.

Further, some of the genes in our bank have been reported earlier for the correlation with strong virulence and pathogenesis of UPEC. Loss of *nadB* rendered NAD auxotrophy and contributes to the virulence in *Shigella* (Prunier et al., 2007) however the colonization of CFT073 and UTI89 in murine UTI model was not influenced by NAD auxotrophy (Li et al., 2012). We identified an insertion in *rstA* which is a part of low pH sensing RstBA two- component system which is directly involved in the regulation of *csgD*, which encodes a regulator responsible for curli and cellulose production (Ogasawara et al., 2010). Interestingly, mutation in *emrK* in *E. coli* caused a significant drop in biofilm formation (Matsumura et al., 2011). So, these observations show the possible correlation between inhibition of fimbriae and a reduction in biofilm formation.

This relation has been documented before in terms of aerobic respiration in the bladder. Biofilm production in UPEC has been shown to be affected by different terminal electron acceptors (Eberly et al., 2017). In addition, type 1 fimbriae production was reduced in the absence of oxygen, and UPEC strain UTI89 had increased type 1 fimbriae production on the air exposed region of biofilm due to increased oxygen level (Floyd et al., 2015). In conjugation with biofilm forming capacity, cytochrome *bd* provided a fitness advantage for UTI89 under hypoxic growth conditions as well as increased nitric oxide tolerance (Beebout et al., 2019). So, our insertion in cytochrome c-type gene, *yecK/torY*, may also affect the adherence due to type 1 fimbriae as well as respiration in various oxygen gradient in the complex biofilm community.

Interestingly, many of the genes identified in our bank that influenced type 1 fimbriae expression are uncharacterized genes of hypothetical or unknown function. We were particularly interested in further investigating the role of the *yqhG* gene encoding a hypothetical protein containing DUF3828 domains that is conserved in *E. coli*. Although, the function of this gene is still unknown, transcription of *yqhG* was shown to be positively regulated by the BgIJ-RcsB complex (Salscheider et al., 2013) in *E. coli* K-12. A putative binding site for BgIJ-RcsB with a significant score was also identified upstream of the *yqhG* promoter (Salscheider et al., 2013). Interestingly, RcsB is the response regulator of the Rcs phosphorelay which is conserved in *Enterobacteriaceae*. RcsB plays a pleiotropic role in the control of biofilm formation, motility behavior and responds to membrane stress, specifically outer membrane stress, and is best known for its positive regulatory effect on capsule synthesis (Majdalani and Gottesman, 2005; Majdalani et al., 2005). Further, BgIJ is a positive DNA-binding transcriptional regulator of transport and utilization of the aromatic  $\beta$ -glucosides arbutin and salicin (Madhusudan et al., 2005). It has been shown that it is completely dependent on RcsB (Venkatesh et al., 2010). It will therefore be of interest to further investigate potential regulatory links between these regulators and *yqhG* expression in UPEC.

A more pronounced reduction of yeast agglutination occurred when the yqhG mutant was grown to mid-log phase in LB or urine compared to O/N growth. Similarly, other mutations in genes, such as the *pst* system also resulted in a marked change in expression of type 1 fimbriae during growth to mid-log phase compared to after overnight static growth (Crépin et al., 2012b). Because the CFT073  $\Delta yqhG$  mutant displayed a decreased capacity to agglutinate yeast in LB and urine (Figures 4B,C), we performed Western blotting against type 1 fimbriae to investigate any effect on type 1 fimbriae production. As shown in Figure 4D in comparison to the WT strain, the mutant had a reduced production of type 1 fimbriae. This reduction in type 1 fimbriae was also in line an increased bias for the OFF position with fim promoter in the yqhG mutant in LB broth at O.D.600nm 0.6 (Figure 5B). Interestingly, we also found that the yqhGmutant was more motile than the WT strain (Figure 7). UPEC strains coordinately regulate motility and adherence to mediate colonization and dissemination during the pathogenesis of UTIs. It is widely believed that when adhesin genes are expressed, motility genes are repressed and vice versa (Simms and Mobley, 2008). They represent opposing forces. Thus, by mediating adherence, fimbriae would promote a sessile state and flagellarbased motility would be expected to be decreased. By contrast, increased motility by flagella would reduce the ability of bacteria to adhere at one site. Accordingly Bryan et al. (2006) and Lane et al. (2007) have shown that constitutive expression of type 1 fimbriae (CFT073 fim L-ON) leads to repression of swimming motility in strain CFT073. The yqhG mutant also exhibited increased binding to Congo Red on agar plates, suggesting a possible increase in cellulose and curli production compared to the wild-type strain. The decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae may therefore also lead to increased production of other adhesins or biofilm associated factors under certain growth conditions. Further experiments, will be required to confirm whether loss of *yqhG* may promote expression of other fimbriae while reducing expression of type 1 fimbriae.

In the murine UTI model, the *yqhG* mutant was attenuated (**Figure 5**). Loss of *yghG* in CFT073 caused an important decrease in colonization of both the bladder and kidneys, whereas loss of type 1 fimbriae by deletion of the *fim* operon, mainly results in a decrease in colonization of the bladder in the mouse model (Gunther et al., 2002). As such, we investigated whether loss of *yqhG* also affected resistance to certain stress conditions including oxidative stress and osmolarity. A  $\Delta yqhG$  derivative of CFT073 was significantly more sensitive than its wild-type parent to oxidative stress from H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> challenge (**Table 3**), and complementation of this mutant with a single-copy of *yqhG* restored wild-type resistance to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> killing. Although, it is clear that YqhG plays a role in regulating expression of type 1 fimbriae

and promoting adherence of UPEC CFT073 to host cells, YqhG likely plays a greater role in UPEC, including adaptation to environmental stresses, as it is also required for resistance to oxidative stress. A plausible mechanism for this drop could be due to reduced catalase activity in the mutant to counteract the oxidative burst from immune cells during infection. The *yghG* mutant colonies also demonstrated less bubbling upon addition of  $H_2O_2$  compared to wild type. So, mutation in *yqhG* may also lead to increased sensitivity to reactive oxygen radicals as well as reduced production of type 1 fimbriae. Nevertheless, our results shed new light on the importance of *yqhG* for UPEC virulence, and it will be of interest to further elucidate what other factors that are, directly or indirectly, regulated by *yqhG*, including type 1 fimbriae, and determine its importance for resistance of *E. coli* to host innate immune response during infection.

Finally, we investigated whether inactivation of *pst*, in addition to repression of expression of type 1 fimbriae also reduced resistance to stresses including oxidative and osmotic stress. Decreased virulence of the pst mutant of UPEC CFT073 was mainly attributed to the decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae (Crépin et al., 2012b). The ability sense, adapt to, and resist different types of stress can also play an important role in regulation of gene expression, including regulation of type 1 fimbriae. As such, we investigated the capacity of the pst mutant to resist oxidative and osmotic stresses. The conditions were chosen to simulate the effects of NaCl and urea that UPEC cells may encounter during colonization of the urinary tract. Urea can permeate through the cell membrane and destabilize the native structure of proteins inside cells (Withman et al., 2013). According to our results, CFT073 showed a higher resistance to 0.6 M urea and 0.6 NaCl than the pst mutant grown to midlog phase (Figures 7C,D). Similarly, the pst mutant was much more sensitive to hydrogen peroxide than the CFT073 parent strain (Table 3). Therefore, inactivation of pst in CFT073 resulted in increased sensitivity to both osmotic and oxidative stress, and this may importantly also in part be linked to changes in levels of expression of type 1 fimbriae. In APEC strain  $\chi$ 7122, inactivation of the Pst system induced deregulation of phosphate sensing and important changes in cell surface composition that led to reduced virulence in a chicken infection model, decreased production of type 1 fimbriae and lower resistance to oxidative stress (Lamarche et al., 2005; Crépin et al., 2008). Several studies concerning osmotic stress and expression of type 1 fimbriae were also reported for UPEC. In UPEC strain NU149, type 1 fimbriae expression was downregulated under osmotic stress caused by NaCl (Schwan et al., 2002). Further, loss of treA in ExPEC strain MT78 also resulted in a change in osmotic resistance to urea, concomitant with a decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae and reduced urinary tract colonization in the mouse model (Pavanelo et al., 2018). Transcriptome analyses also showed upregulation of type 1 fimbriae expression and the genes that are regulated by the osmotic stress response in CFT073 during UTI (Snyder et al., 2004).

Overall, generation of a transposon bank and a single-copy *lux*-based reporter fusion system integrated at the *att*Tn7 site in UPEC strain CFT073, has led to successful identification of

insertions in a number of genes including heretofore unknown sites that altered expression of type 1 fimbriae. Interestingly, these insertions include a variety of genes involved in a diversity of functions including protein fate and synthesis, energy metabolism, adherence, transcriptional regulation, and transport, and genes of hypothetical or unknown function including yqhG, that we have shown to play an important role in UPEC colonization in the mouse model as well as resistance to oxidative stress. It will be of interest to more fully elucidate how some of these different systems influence expression of type 1 fimbriae as well as their potential roles in metabolism and bacterial regulatory networks as well as sensing, adaptation and resistance to environmental stresses, such as osmotic and oxidative stresses that may be encountered during the course of colonization and infection of the host.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HB was the primary author and performed most of the experiments and writing of the manuscript. PP and HH contributed to some of the experiments and writing of the text. SH contributed the technical assistance including mouse infections with other co-authors. CD conceived the planning of the study, design of experiments, mentored the researchers, and revised the manuscript.

## FUNDING

Funding for this work was supported by an NSERC Canada Discovery Grant 2014-06622 (CD) and the CRIPA FRQ-NT strategic cluster Funds  $n^{\circ}$ RS-170946.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00312/full#supplementary-material

**Supplemental Figure 1** Production of type 1 fimbriae by uropathogenic *E. coli* CFT073 and its derivative strains. (A) Production of type 1 fimbriae in strains cultured to the mid-log phase of growth in LB broth in different pH (B) O/N culture (C) in LB plate. The CFT073 *fim*-LON strain was used as a positive control for agglutination. Results are the mean values and standard deviations for three biological experiments. Statistical significance was calculated by the one-way ANOVA. \**P* < 0.05; \*\**P* < 0.005; \*\**P* < 0.0001.

**Supplemental Figure 2 | (A)** Growth curve optical density and **(B)** viable counts (CFU/ml) of wild type CFT073 and its *PfimA*-Locked ON and *PfimA* variable *lux* derivatives. The cells were grown in LB broth. There was no significant differences in the growth phases of all strains.

**Supplemental Figure 3 |** Transposon mutants with affected expression of type 1 fimbriae in CFT073. Genetic locus with the closest match to the sequence interrupted by the transposon in each mutant are represented with an arrow (teal) in their respective insertion site.

Supplemental Table 1 | Primers used in this study.

# REFERENCES

- Åberg, A., Shingler, V., and Balsalobre, C. (2006). (p) ppGpp regulates type 1 fimbriation of *Escherichia coli* by modulating the expression of the site-specific recombinase FimB. *Mol. Microbiol.* 60, 1520–1533. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05191.x
- Abraham, J. M., Freitag, C. S., Clements, J. R., and Eisenstein, B. I. (1985). An invertible element of DNA controls phase variation of type 1 fimbriae of *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 5724–5727. doi:10.1073/pnas.82.17.5724
- Allen, K. J. (2000). Construction and application of flaA sigma-28 promoter fusions to the virulence and ecology of Campylobacter jejuni (thesis), University of Guelph, Guelph, Canada.
- Alteri, C. J., Smith, S. N., and Mobley, H. L. (2009). Fitness of *Escherichia coli* during urinary tract infection requires gluconeogenesis and the TCA cycle. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000448. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000448
- Baba, T., Ara, T., Hasegawa, M., Takai, Y., Okumura, Y., Baba, M., et al. (2006). Construction of *Escherichia coli* K-12 in-frame, single-gene knockout mutants: the Keio collection. *Mol. Syst. Biol.* 2:2006.0008. doi: 10.1038/msb4100050
- Beebout, C. J., Eberly, A. R., Werby, S. H., Reasoner, S. A., Brannon, J. R., De, S., et al. (2019). Respiratory heterogeneity shapes biofilm formation and host colonization in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *MBio* 10:e02400-18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02400-18
- Bertrand, N., Houle, S., Lebihan, G., Poirier, É., Dozois, C. M., and Harel, J. (2010). Increased Pho regulon activation correlates with decreased virulence of an avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* O78 strain. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 5324–5331. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00452-10
- Bjarke Olsen, P., and Klemm, P. (1994). Localization of promoters in the fim gene cluster and the effect of H-NS on the transcription of *fimB* and *fimE*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 116, 95–100. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1994.tb06681.x
- Blomfield, I. C., Kulasekara, D. H., and Eisenstein, B. I. (1997). Integration host factor stimulates both FimB-and FimE-mediated site-specific DNA inversion that controls phase variation of type 1 fimbriae expression in *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 23, 705–707. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.2241615.x
- Boyer, E., Bergevin, I., Malo, D., Gros, P., and Cellier, M. (2002). Acquisition of Mn (II) in addition to Fe (II) is required for full virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 6032–6042. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.11.6032-6042.2002
- Brinkman, A. B., Ettema, T. J., De Vos, W. M., and Van Der Oost, J. (2003). The Lrp family of transcriptional regulators. *Mol. Microbiol.* 48, 287–294. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03442.x
- Bryan, A., Roesch, P., Davis, L., Moritz, R., Pellett, S., and Welch, R. A. (2006). Regulation of type 1 fimbriae by unlinked FimB-and FimE-like recombinases in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain CFT073. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 1072–1083. doi: 10.1128/IAI.74.2.1072-1083.2006
- Buchanan, K., Falkow, S., Hull, R., and Hull, S. (1985). Frequency among Enterobacteriaceae of the DNA sequences encoding type 1 pili. J. Bacteriol. 162, 799–803.
- Buckles, E. L., Bahrani-Mougeot, F. K., Molina, A., Lockatell, C. V., Johnson, D. E., Drachenberg, C. B., et al. (2004). Identification and characterization of a novel uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*-associated fimbrial gene cluster. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 3890–3901. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.7.3890-3901.2004
- Cahill, D. J., Fry, C. H., and Foxall, P. J. (2003). Variation in urine composition in the human urinary tract: evidence of urothelial function *in situ*? *J. Urol.* 169, 871–874. doi: 10.1097/01.ju.0000052404.42651.55
- Cai, W., Wannemuehler, Y., Dell'anna, G., Nicholson, B., Barbieri, N. L., Kariyawasam, S., et al. (2013). A novel two-component signaling system facilitates uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*'s ability to exploit abundant host metabolites. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003428. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003428
- Calvo, J. M., and Matthews, R. G. (1994). The leucine-responsive regulatory protein, a global regulator of metabolism in *Escherichia coli. Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 58, 466–490.
- Chen, S. L., Wu, M., Henderson, J. P., Hooton, T. M., Hibbing, M. E., Hultgren, S. J., et al. (2013). Genomic diversity and fitness of *E. coli* strains recovered from the intestinal and urinary tracts of women with recurrent urinary tract infection. *Sci. Transl. Med.* 5:184ra160. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3005497
- Cherepanov, P. P., and Wackernagel, W. (1995). Gene disruption in *Escherichia coli:* TcR and KmR cassettes with the option of Flp-catalyzed

excision of the antibiotic-resistance determinant. *Gene* 158, 9–14. doi: 10.1016/0378-1119(95)00193-A

- Connell, I., Agace, W., Klemm, P., Schembri, M., Mărild, S., and Svanborg, C. (1996). Type 1 fimbrial expression enhances *Escherichia coli* virulence for the urinary tract. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 9827–9832. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.18.9827
- Cortes, M. A., Gibon, J., Chanteloup, N. K., Moulin-Schouleur, M., Gilot, P., and Germon, P. (2008). Inactivation of ibeA and *ibeT* results in decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae in extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain BEN2908. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 4129–4136. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00 334-08
- Crépin, S., Harel, J., and Dozois, C. M. (2012a). Chromosomal complementation using Tn7 transposon vectors in Enterobacteriaceae. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 78, 6001–6008. doi: 10.1128/AEM.00986-12
- Crépin, S., Houle, S., Charbonneau, M.-È., Mourez, M., Harel, J., and Dozois, C. M. (2012b). Decreased expression of type 1 fimbriae by a *pst* mutant of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* reduces urinary tract infection. *Infect. Immun.* 80, 2802–2815. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00162-12
- Crépin, S., Lamarche, M. G., Garneau, P., Séguin, J., Proulx, J., Dozois, C. M., et al. (2008). Genome-wide transcriptional response of an avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* (APEC) pst mutant. *BMC Genomics* 9:568. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-9-568
- Crépin, S., Porcheron, G., Houle, S., Harel, J., and Dozois, C. M. (2017). Altered regulation of the diguanylate cyclase YaiC reduces production of type 1 fimbriae in a Pst mutant of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* CFT073. *J. Bacteriol.* 199:e00168-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00168-17
- Culham, D. E., Lu, A., Jishage, M., Krogfelt, K. A., Ishihama, A., and Wood, J. M. (2001). The osmotic stress response and virulence in pyelonephritis isolates of *Escherichia coli*: contributions of RpoS, ProP, ProU and other systems. *Microbiology* 147, 1657–1670. doi: 10.1099/00221287-147-6-1657
- Datsenko, K. A., and Wanner, B. L. (2000). One-step inactivation of chromosomal genes in *Escherichia coli* K-12 using PCR products. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 6640–6645. doi: 10.1073/pnas.120163297
- de Lorenzo, V., Herrero, M., Jakubzik, U., and Timmis, K. N. (1990). Mini-Tn5 transposon derivatives for insertion mutagenesis, promoter probing, and chromosomal insertion of cloned DNA in gram-negative eubacteria. *J. Bacteriol.* 172, 6568–6572. doi: 10.1128/jb.172.11.6568-6572 .1990
- de Lorenzo, V., and Neilands, J. (1986). Characterization of *iucA* and *iucC* genes of the aerobactin system of plasmid ColV-K30 in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 167, 350–355. doi: 10.1128/jb.167.1.350-355.1986
- Eberly, A. R., Floyd, K. A., Beebout, C. J., Colling, S. J., Fitzgerald, M. J., Stratton, C. W., et al. (2017). Biofilm formation by uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* is favored under oxygen conditions that mimic the bladder environment. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:2077. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102077
- Flores-Mireles, A. L., Walker, J. N., Caparon, M., and Hultgren, S. J. (2015). Urinary tract infections: epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 13:269. doi: 10.1038/nrmi cro3432
- Floyd, K. A., Moore, J. L., Eberly, A. R., Good, J. A., Shaffer, C. L., Zaver, H., et al. (2015). Adhesive fiber stratification in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* biofilms unveils oxygen-mediated control of type 1 pili. *PLoS Pathog.* 11:e1004697. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004697
- Foxman, B. (2002). Epidemiology of urinary tract infections: incidence, morbidity, and economic costs. Am. J. Med. 113, 5–13. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(02)01054-9
- Foxman, B. (2014). Urinary tract infection syndromes: occurrence, recurrence, bacteriology, risk factors, and disease burden. *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 28, 1–13. doi: 10.1016/j.idc.2013.09.003
- Francis, K. P., Yu, J., Bellinger-Kawahara, C., Joh, D., Hawkinson, M. J., Xiao, G., et al. (2001). Visualizing pneumococcal infections in the lungs of live mice using bioluminescent *Streptococcus pneumoniae* transformed with a novel gram-positive luxtransposon. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 3350–3358. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.5.3350-3358.2001
- Gally, D. L., Leathart, J., and Blomfield, I. C. (1996). Interaction of FimB and FimE with the fim switch that controls the phase variation of type 1 fimbriae in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Mol. Microbiol.* 21, 725–738. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1996.311388.x

- Gon, S., Patte, J.-C., Méjean, V., and Iobbi-Nivol, C. (2000). The torYZ (yecK bisZ) operon encodes a third respiratory trimethylamine Noxide reductase in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 182, 5779–5786. doi: 10.1128/JB.182.20.5779-5786.2000
- Gunther N. W. IV., Snyder, J. A., Lockatell, V., Blomfield, I., Johnson, D. E., and Mobley, H. L. (2002). Assessment of virulence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* type 1 fimbrial mutants in which the invertible element is phase-locked on or off. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 3344–3354. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.7.3344-3354.2002
- Hagberg, L., Engberg, I., Freter, R., Lam, J., Olling, S., Svanborg E. C. (1983). Ascending, unobstructed urinary tract infection in mice caused by pyelonephritogenic *Escherichia coli* of human origin. *Infect. Immun.* 40, 273–283.
- Hama, H., Kayahara, T., Ogawa, W., Tsuda, M., and Tsuchiya, T. (1994). Enhancement of serine-sensitivity by a gene encoding rhodanese-like protein in *Escherichia coli. J. Biochem.* 115, 1135–1140. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.jbchem.a124469
- Hartl, F. U. (1996). Molecular chaperones in cellular protein folding. *Nature* 381:571. doi: 10.1038/381571a0
- Herrero, M., De Lorenzo, V., and Timmis, K. N. (1990). Transposon vectors containing non-antibiotic resistance selection markers for cloning and stable chromosomal insertion of foreign genes in gram-negative bacteria. J. Bacteriol. 172, 6557–6567. doi: 10.1128/jb.172.11.6557-6567.1990
- Hobert, E. H., and Datta, P. (1983). Synthesis of biodegradative threonine dehydratase in *Escherichia coli*: role of amino acids, electron acceptors, and certain intermediary metabolites. *J. Bacteriol.* 155, 586–592.
- Jenal, U., and Malone, J. (2006). Mechanisms of cyclic-di-GMP signaling in bacteria. *Annu. Rev. Genet.* 40, 385–407. doi: 10.1146/annurev.genet.40.110405.090423
- Kaniga, K., Compton, M. S., Curtiss, R III., and Sundaram, P. (1998). Molecular and functional characterization of *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium *poxA* gene: effect on attenuation of virulence and protection. *Infect. Immun.* 66, 5599–5606.
- Kelly, A., Conway, C., Cróinín, T. Ó., Smith, S. G., and Dorman, C. J. (2006). DNA supercoiling and the Lrp protein determine the directionality of fim switch DNA inversion in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 188, 5356–5363. doi: 10.1128/JB.00344-06
- Klemm, P. (1986). Two regulatory *fim* genes, *fimB* and *fimE*, control the phase variation of type 1 fimbriae in *Escherichia coli*. *EMBO J.* 5, 1389–1393. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1986.tb04372.x
- Klemm, P., and Christiansen, G. (1990). The *fimD* gene required for cell surface localization of *Escherichia coli* type 1 fimbriae. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 220, 334–338. doi: 10.1007/BF00260505
- Lamarche, M. G., Dozois, C. M., Daigle, F., Caza, M., Curtiss, R., Dubreuil, J. D., et al. (2005). Inactivation of the pst system reduces the virulence of an avian pathogenic *Escherichia coli* O78 strain. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 4138–4145. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.7.4138-4145.2005
- Lamarche, M. G., and Harel, J. (2010). Membrane homeostasis requires intact pst in extraintestinal pathogenic Escherichia coli. Curr. Microbiol. 60, 356–359. doi: 10.1007/s00284-009-9549-x
- Lamarche, M. G., Wanner, B. L., Crépin, S., and Harel, J. (2008). The phosphate regulon and bacterial virulence: a regulatory network connecting phosphate homeostasis and pathogenesis. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 32, 461–473. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008.00101.x
- Lane, M. C., Lockatell, V., Monterosso, G., Lamphier, D., Weinert, J., Hebel, J. R., et al. (2005). Role of motility in the colonization of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in the urinary tract. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 7644–7656. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.11.7644-7656.2005
- Lane, M. C., Simms, A. N., and Mobley, H. L. (2007). Complex interplay between type 1 fimbrial expression and flagellum-mediated motility of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 189, 5523–5533. doi: 10.1128/JB.00434-07
- Li, Z., Bouckaert, J., Deboeck, F., De Greve, H., and Hernalsteens, J.-P. (2012). Nicotinamide dependence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* UTI89 and application of *nadB* as a neutral insertion site. *Microbiology* 158, 736–745. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.052043-0
- Madhusudan, S., Paukner, A., Klingen, Y., and Schnetz, K. (2005). Independent regulation of H-NS-mediated silencing of the bgl operon at two levels: upstream by BgIJ and LeuO and downstream by DnaKJ. *Microbiology* 151, 3349–3359. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.28080-0

- Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2005). The Rcs phosphorelay: a complex signal transduction system. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 59, 379–405. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.59.050405.101230
- Majdalani, N., Heck, M., Stout, V., and Gottesman, S. (2005). Role of RcsF in signaling to the Rcs phosphorelay pathway in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 187, 6770–6778. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.19.6770-6778.2005
- Mann, R., Mediati, D. G., Duggin, I. G., Harry, E. J., and Bottomley, A. L. (2017). Metabolic adaptations of uropathogenic *E. coli* in the urinary tract. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 7:241. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00241
- Martinez, J. J., Mulvey, M. A., Schilling, J. D., Pinkner, J. S., and Hultgren, S. J. (2000). Type 1 pilus-mediated bacterial invasion of bladder epithelial cells. *EMBO J.* 19, 2803–2812. doi: 10.1093/emboj/19.12.2803
- Matsumura, K., Furukawa, S., Ogihara, H., and Morinaga, Y. (2011). Roles of multidrug efflux pumps on the biofilm formation of *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Biocontrol Sci.* 16, 69–72. doi: 10.4265/bio.16.69
- McVicker, G., Sun, L., Sohanpal, B. K., Gashi, K., Williamson, R. A., Plumbridge, J., et al. (2011). SlyA protein activates *fimB* gene expression and type 1 fimbriation in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 32026–32035. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.266619
- Messner, K. R., and Imlay, J. A. (2002). Mechanism of superoxide and hydrogen peroxide formation by fumarate reductase, succinate dehydrogenase, and aspartate oxidase. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 42563–42571. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204958200
- Mobley, H. L., Green, D. M., Trifillis, A. L., Johnson, D. E., Chippendale, G. R., Lockatell, C. V., et al. (1990). Pyelonephritogenic *Escherichia coli* and killing of cultured human renal proximal tubular epithelial cells: role of hemolysin in some strains. *Infect. Immun.* 58, 1281–1289.
- Müller, C. M., Aberg, A., Straseviçiene, J., Emody, L., Uhlin, B. E., and Balsalobre, C. (2009). Type 1 fimbriae, a colonization factor of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*, are controlled by the metabolic sensor CRP-cAMP. *PLoS Pathog*. 5:e1000303. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000303
- Mulvey, M. A., Lopez-Boado, Y. S., Wilson, C. L., Roth, R., Parks, W. C., Heuser, J., et al. (1998). Induction and evasion of host defenses by type 1-piliated uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Science* 282, 1494–1497. doi: 10.1126/science.282.5393.1494
- Mulvey, M. A., Schilling, J. D., Martinez, J. J., and Hultgren, S. J. (2000). Bad bugs and beleaguered bladders: interplay between uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* and innate host defenses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 97, 8829–8835. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.16.8829
- Mysorekar, I. U., and Hultgren, S. J. (2006). Mechanisms of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* persistence and eradication from the urinary tract. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 14170–14175. doi: 10.1073/pnas.06021 36103
- Nielubowicz, G. R., and Mobley, H. L. (2010). Host-pathogen interactions in urinary tract infection. *Nat. Rev. Urol.* 7:430. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2010.101
- Ogasawara, H., Yamada, K., Kori, A., Yamamoto, K., and Ishihama, A. (2010). Regulation of the *Escherichia coli csgD* promoter: interplay between five transcription factors. *Microbiology* 156, 2470–2483. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.039131-0
- Olsen, P. B., Schembri, M. A., Gally, D. L., and Klemm, P. (1998). Differential temperature modulation by H-NS of the *fimB* and *fimE* recombinase genes which control the orientation of the type 1 fimbrial phase switch. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 162, 17–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb 12973.x
- Otto, K., and Hermansson, M. (2004). Inactivation of ompX causes increased interactions of type 1 fimbriated Escherichia coli with abiotic surfaces. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 226–234. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.1.226-234.2004
- Pavanelo, D. B., Houle, S., Matter, L. B., Dozois, C. M., and Horn, F. (2018). The periplasmic trehalase affects type 1 fimbria production and virulence of extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* strain MT78. *Infect. Immun.* 86, e00241-e00218. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00241-18
- Prunier, A.-L., Schuch, R., Fernández, R. E., Mumy, K. L., Kohler, H., Mccormick, B. A., et al. (2007). nadA and nadB of *Shigella flexneri* 5a are antivirulence loci responsible for the synthesis of quinolinate, a small molecule inhibitor of *Shigella* pathogenicity. *Microbiology* 153, 2363–2372. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/006916-0
- Riedel, C. U., Casey, P. G., Mulcahy, H., O'gara, F., Gahan, C. G., and Hill, C. (2007). Construction of p16Slux, a novel vector for improved bioluminescent

labeling of gram-negative bacteria. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 73, 7092–7095. doi: 10.1128/AEM.01394-07

- Rodriguez, G. M., and Atsumi, S. (2012). Isobutyraldehyde production from Escherichia coli by removing aldehyde reductase activity. *Microb. Cell Fact.* 11:90. doi: 10.1186/1475-2859-11-90
- Römling, U., Galperin, M. Y., and Gomelsky, M. (2013). Cyclic di-GMP: the first 25 years of a universal bacterial second messenger. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 77, 1–52. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00043-12
- Ronald, A. (2002). The etiology of urinary tract infection: traditional and emerging pathogens. *Am. J. Med.* 113, 14–19. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9343(02)01055-0
- Rouquet, G., Porcheron, G., Barra, C., Répérant, M., Chanteloup, N. K., Schouler, C., et al. (2009). A metabolic operon in extraintestinal pathogenic *Escherichia coli* promotes fitness under stressful conditions and invasion of eukaryotic cells. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 4427–4440. doi: 10.1128/JB.00103-09
- Russo, T. A., and Johnson, J. R. (2000). Proposal for a new inclusive designation for extraintestinal pathogenic isolates of *Escherichia coli*: ExPEC. J. Infect. Dis. 181, 1753–1754. doi: 10.1086/315418
- Salscheider, S. L., Jahn, A., and Schnetz, K. (2013). Transcriptional regulation by BgIJ–RcsB, a pleiotropic heteromeric activator in *Escherichia coli*. Nucleic Acids Res. 42, 2999–3008. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1298
- Schaeffer, A. J., Schwan, W. R., Hultgren, S. J., and Duncan, J. L. (1987). Relationship of type 1 pilus expression in *Escherichia coli* to ascending urinary tract infections in mice. *Infect. Immun.* 55, 373–380.
- Schwan, W. R., and Ding, H. (2017). Temporal regulation of *fim* genes in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* during infection of the murine urinary tract. *J. Pathog.* 2017:8694356. doi: 10.1155/2017/8694356
- Schwan, W. R., Lee, J. L., Lenard, F. A., Matthews, B. T., and Beck, M. T. (2002). Osmolarity and pH growth conditions regulate fim gene transcription and type 1 pilus expression in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* 70, 1391–1402. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.3.1391-1402.2002
- Schwan, W. R., Shibata, S., Aizawa, S.-I., and Wolfe, A. J. (2007). The twocomponent response regulator RcsB regulates type 1 piliation in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 189, 7159–7163. doi: 10.1128/JB.00705-07
- Siegenthaler, R. K., and Christen, P. (2006). Tuning of DnaK chaperone action by nonnative protein sensor DnaJ and thermosensor GrpE. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 34448–34456. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M606382200
- Simms, A. N., and Mobley, H. L. (2008). Multiple genes repress motility in uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* constitutively expressing type 1 fimbriae. J. Bacteriol. 190, 3747–3756. doi: 10.1128/JB.01870-07
- Sivick, K. E., and Mobley, H. L. (2010). Waging war against uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: winning back the urinary tract. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 568–585. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01000-09
- Snyder, J. A., Haugen, B. J., Buckles, E. L., Lockatell, C. V., Johnson, D. E., Donnenberg, M. S., et al. (2004). Transcriptome of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* during urinary tract infection. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 6373–6381. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.11.6373-6381.2004
- Sohanpal, B. K., El-Labany, S., Lahooti, M., Plumbridge, J. A., and Blomfield, I. C. (2004). Integrated regulatory responses of *fimB* to N-acetylneuraminic (sialic) acid and GlcNAc in *Escherichia coli* K-12. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 16322–16327. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0405821101
- Stamm, W. E., and Norrby, S. R. (2001). Urinary tract infections: disease panorama and challenges. J. Infect. Dis. 183, S1–S4. doi: 10.1086/318850
- Stentebjerg-Olesen, B., Chakraborty, T., and Klemm, P. (2000). FimE-catalyzed off-to-on inversion of the type 1 fimbrial phase switch and insertion sequence

recruitment in an Escherichia coli K-12 fimB strain. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 182, 319–325. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2000.tb08915.x

- Thomas, W. E., Trintchina, E., Forero, M., Vogel, V., and Sokurenko, E. V. (2002). Bacterial adhesion to target cells enhanced by shear force. *Cell* 109, 913–923. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(02)00796-1
- Tritz, G. J., Matney, T. S., and Gholson, R. K. (1970). Mapping of the nadB locus adjacent to a previously undescribed purine locus in *Escherichia coli* K-12. J. Bacteriol. 102, 377–381.
- Ulett, G. C., Mabbett, A. N., Fung, K. C., Webb, R. I., and Schembri, M. A. (2007). The role of F9 fimbriae of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in biofilm formation. *Microbiology* 153, 2321–2331. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2006/004648-0
- Ulett, G. C., Totsika, M., Schaale, K., Carey, A. J., Sweet, M. J., and Schembri, M. A. (2013). Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* virulence and innate immune responses during urinary tract infection. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 16, 100–107. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.01.005
- Umbarger, H. E., and Brown, B. (1957). Threonine deamination in *Escherichia coli*. II. Evidence for two L-threonine deaminases. J. Bacteriol. 73, 105–112.
- Unden, G., and Kleefeld, A. (2004). "C4-dicarboxylate degradation in aerobic and anaerobic growth," in *Escherichia coli and Salmonella: Cellular and Molecular Biology*, eds A. Bock and G. Sawers (Washington, DC: ASM Press).
- Venkatesh, G. R., Koungni, F. C., Paukner, A., Stratmann, T., Blissenbach, B., and Schnetz, K. (2010). BglJ-RcsB heterodimers relieve repression of the *Escherichia* coli bgl operon by H-NS. J. Bacteriol. 192, 6456–6464. doi: 10.1128/JB.00 807-10
- Wanner, B. L. (1996). "Phosphorus assimilation and control of the phosphate regulon," in *Escherichia coli and Salmonella: Cellular and Molecular Biology*, 2nd Edn. ed F. C. Neidhardt (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 1357–1381.
- Welch, R. A., Burland, V., Plunkett, G III., Redford, P., Roesch, P., Rasko, D., et al. (2002). Extensive mosaic structure revealed by the complete genome sequence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 17020–17024. doi: 10.1073/pnas.252529799
- Withman, B., Gunasekera, T. S., Beesetty, P., Agans, R., and Paliy, O. (2013). Transcriptional responses of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* to increased environmental osmolality caused by salt or urea. *Infect. Immun.* 81, 80–89. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01049-12
- Wu, X.-R., Sun, T.-T., and Medina, J. J. (1996). *In vitro* binding of type 1fimbriated *Escherichia coli* to uroplakins Ia and Ib: relation to urinary tract infections. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 9630–9635. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.1 8.9630
- Wu, Y., and Outten, F. W. (2009). IscR controls iron-dependent biofilm formation in *Escherichia coli* by regulating type I fimbria expression. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 1248–1257. doi: 10.1128/JB.01086-08

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bessaiah, Pokharel, Habouria, Houle and Dozois. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Maintaining Integrity Under Stress: Envelope Stress Response Regulation of Pathogenesis in Gram-Negative Bacteria

#### Claire L. Hews<sup>1</sup>, Timothy Cho<sup>2</sup>, Gary Rowley<sup>1\*</sup> and Tracy L. Raivio<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Biological Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

The Gram-negative bacterial envelope is an essential interface between the intracellular and harsh extracellular environment. Envelope stress responses (ESRs) are crucial to the maintenance of this barrier and function to detect and respond to perturbations in the envelope, caused by environmental stresses. Pathogenic bacteria are exposed to an array of challenging and stressful conditions during their lifecycle and, in particular, during infection of a host. As such, maintenance of envelope homeostasis is essential to their ability to successfully cause infection. This review will discuss our current understanding of the  $\sigma^{E}$ - and Cpx-regulated ESRs, with a specific focus on their role in the virulence of a number of model pathogens.

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Alain Charbit, INSERM U1151 Institut Necker Enfants Malades Centre de Médecine Moléculaire (INEM), France

#### Reviewed by:

Monique L. Van Hoek, George Mason University, United States Matthew Cabeen, Oklahoma State University, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Gary Rowley g.rowley@uea.ac.uk Tracy L. Raivio traivio@ualberta.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 04 June 2019 Accepted: 19 August 2019 Published: 04 September 2019

#### Citation:

Hews CL, Cho T, Rowley G and Raivio TL (2019) Maintaining Integrity Under Stress: Envelope Stress Response Regulation of Pathogenesis in Gram-Negative Bacteria. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:313. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00313 Keywords: Gram-negative bacteria, envelope stress, pathogenesis, sigmaE response, Cpx response

# INTRODUCTION

Bacteria encounter numerous harsh and fluctuating environments during their lifecycle. This is of particular concern to pathogenic bacteria which must be able to tolerate the challenging conditions and immune response within a host. Detection of potentially harmful changes in the environment, or damage caused by such conditions, are inducers of bacterial stress responses. The ability of a bacterium to sense and withstand these environmental stresses is crucial to its survival, particularly within a host, and to establish and maintain infection. Within the host, a bacterium is threatened by a milieu of noxious stresses including temperature and pH changes, antimicrobial compounds, bile salts, oxidative and nitrosative stress, and nutrient starvation. In addition, successful colonization and infection of hosts requires careful regulation of a multitude of virulence factors, many of which are envelope-localized.

Consisting of an inner membrane (IM), periplasmic space (PP) containing a thin peptidoglycan (PG) layer and an outer membrane (OM), the Gram-negative bacterial envelope functions as the interface between the cell and the extracellular environment. It serves as the gate for import and export, barrier to harmful substances, protects against shifting environmental conditions and is the location of many essential metabolic processes. The envelope is first subjected to harsh environmental conditions and must be able to withstand the associated stresses. The ability to maintain envelope homeostasis and quickly repair any damage to ensure integrity is dependent on envelope stress responses (ESRs).

ESRs are able to perceive the presence of extracellular stress and the disruption of periplasmic homeostasis that can arise as a result (e.g., damage to proteins in the outer membrane or periplasm). The ESRs are comprised of a series of regulatory cascades, which have independent

and overlapping stimuli, as well as regulon members. They are grouped into two component signal transduction (2CST) systems and RNA polymerase-associating alternative sigma factors. Much of our understanding of the mechanisms and regulons of the ESRs have arisen from extensive work in Escherichia coli. The best characterized ESRs are regulated through the  $\sigma^{E}$  pathway and the 2CST system CpxRA, central to the responses to outer membrane/periplasmic and inner membrane stress, respectively. In addition, other key ESRs include the regulator of capsule synthesis (Rcs) response, responding, in broad terms, to outer membrane and peptidoglycan stresses (Guo and Sun, 2017; Wall et al., 2018) and the phage shock protein (Psp) response, responding to disruptions at the IM (reviewed in Darwin, 2013; Flores-Kim and Darwin, 2016). Further 2CST systems exist, in addition to CpxAR, including ZraSR and BaeSR. Studies describe ZraSR as a zinc responsive system (Appia-Ayme et al., 2012; Petit-Härtlein et al., 2015), but this 2CST system has not been studied in depth and its precise physiological role remains to be determined. BaeSR on the other hand, responds to antibiotics/toxic compounds (Raffa and Raivio, 2002; Macritchie and Raivio, 2009; Appia-Ayme et al., 2011). Though not thought of as strictly responding to envelope stress, other regulatory systems such as the PhoPQ and EnvZ/OmpR two-component systems regulate processes that impact the ability of bacteria to adapt to envelope stress.

This review will summarize our current understanding of the  $\sigma^{E}$  and Cpx ESRs. While by no means the only ESRs relevant to bacterial pathogenesis, a large body of work has been conducted in characterizing the mechanism and function of these two ESRs in various Gram-negative bacteria. The aim of this review is to explain the basic mechanisms of these systems, as well as discuss their relevance to physiology and pathogenesis in several Gram-negative bacteria. In particular, we wish to highlight recent findings since this topic was last reviewed (Rowley et al., 2006; Raivio, 2014; Fang et al., 2016).

## **ENVELOPE BIOGENESIS**

Being the barrier between the intracellular and extracellular environment, proper formation and maintenance of the envelope is essential to bacterial viability during all stages of a pathogen's lifecycle. Envelope biogenesis is a complex process which involves several machineries (Silhavy et al., 2010). Here we briefly describe those that transport, fold and assemble envelope proteins, since misfolding and/or mis-localization of such proteins has been directly linked to induction of both the  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  and Cpx ESRs.

Proteins destined for all compartments of the envelope begin their life in the cytoplasm. As such, these proteins must be transported into or across the IM. Two different pathways exist for protein transport across the IM; the Sec translocase pathway and the twin arginine translocase (Tat) pathway. The vast majority of secreted proteins utilize the Sec pathway (reviewed in Kuhn et al., 2017; Tsirigotaki et al., 2017), while the Tat system (reviewed in Lee et al., 2006; Palmer and Berks, 2012) transports proteins which have already been folded in the cytoplasm and those which also contain metal cofactors. Briefly, an unfolded protein is targeted to the Sec translocase machinery through the recognition of an N-terminal signal peptide. SecYEG forms the IM channel through which unfolded proteins are transported. Transport across the IM is energized by the ATPase SecA. Proteins that are inserted into the IM can be inserted by SecYEG itself or utilize the IM protein YidC to assist in insertion. Once secreted across the IM, proteins can be modified and translocated in several different ways. A number of factors including the IM protein insertase YidC, together with proteases and associated regulators, play roles in the biogenesis and quality control of IM proteins (Akiyama, 2009; Luirink et al., 2012).

Lipoproteins are a special class of envelope proteins that are acylated at their N-terminus and can be localized to either the IM or the OM (reviewed in Okuda and Tokuda, 2011; Szewczyk and Collet, 2016; Narita and Tokuda, 2017). In brief, after being secreted across the IM, lipoproteins undergo multiple modification steps that result in the addition of several acyl chains to an N-terminal cysteine residue. OM-destined lipoproteins are trafficked to the OM by the Lol pathway. An IM complex consisting of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter LolCDE recognizes OM-destined lipoproteins based on the presence of an aspartate residue at the +2 residue and energizes the transfer of these proteins to a periplasmic chaperone LolA. LolA transports OM lipoproteins to the OM, where LolB, itself an OM lipoprotein, receives and inserts OM lipoproteins into the OM. As OM lipoproteins have been implicated in promoting the virulence of some Gram-negative organisms, the Lol pathway presents a potential target for the development of new therapies. For example, the surface-exposed lipoproteins of Neisseria spp. play roles in pathogenesis, such as immune evasion (reviewed in Hooda et al., 2017). More broadly, lipoproteins make up key members of envelope biogenesis machineries, such as the BAM complex (see below), and can indirectly impact many envelopelocalized virulence determinants.

Outer membrane biogenesis has been reviewed extensively elsewhere (Ruiz et al., 2006; Bos et al., 2007; Plummer and Fleming, 2016; Konovalova et al., 2017) therefore it will only be briefly described in this review for relevance to understand the contribution of the ESR to this process. All unfolded outer membrane proteins (uOMPs) are translocated via the Sec system. Once the uOMP reaches the periplasm, the signal sequence is cleaved and the nascent OMP is delivered by periplasmic chaperones (SurA and Skp) to the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machinery (BAM) complex for folding and insertion into the outer membrane.

The BAM complex consists of five major components: BamA (YaeT), BamB (YfgL), BamC (NlpB), BamD (YfiO), and BamE (SmpA) (Plummer and Fleming, 2016). The genes encoding the BAM complex components are all regulated by  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  (Skovierova et al., 2006; Lewis et al., 2008) and are discussed below. BamA, a member of the Omp85 protein family and originally identified in *Neisseria meningitidis*, is highly conserved across Gramnegative bacteria and is essential to the complex and bacterial viability (Voulhoux et al., 2003). Interestingly, while BamA is essential across all Gram-negative bacteria, the essentiality of the other four lipoprotein components varies; for example, BamD is essential for complex function in *E. coli* yet is not

essential in *Salmonella* (Fardini et al., 2009). BamA formation is dependent on BamD with depletions in this lipoprotein resulting in BamA misfolding (Misra et al., 2015). In addition, BamB and BamD have been shown to bind unfolded BamA and assist in its localization and insertion into the outer membrane (Hagan et al., 2013).

Aside from its essentiality, there are numerous links between the BAM complex and pathogenicity. *Salmonella bamE* mutants are attenuated in mice (Lewis et al., 2008) and *Salmonella* Enteritidis *bamB* and *bamD* deletions render the pathogen less virulent with reduced expression of flagella and the type III secretion system (T3SS) (Amy et al., 2004; Fardini et al., 2007, 2009). In *Yersinia enterocolitica*, a *bamB* mutant is attenuated in mice with a significant reduction in the spleen bacterial burden after 3 days (Weirich et al., 2017). Additionally, a *bamE* deletion leads to OMP defects and rifampicin sensitivity in *E. coli* (Sklar et al., 2007a).

Recently, a number of studies have identified small molecule inhibitors of components of the BAM complex. Hagan et al. (2015) identified a 15-mer peptide fragment of BamA that binds to BamD. Since BamA formation is dependent on BamD and BamA is required for cell viability, substrate competition between the small molecule and the BamA substrate resulted in growth defects and increased sensitivity to vancomycin and rifampicin. BamA has been identified as a viable target for therapeutics with the development of a monoclonal antibody (MAB1) which binds to the extracellular loop of BamA and affects OM integrity (Storek et al., 2018). Furthermore, inhibition of *Pseudomonas* BamA by bacteriocins has also been observed, specifically lectin like bacteriocins (LlpAs). Bacteria often secrete these toxic compounds in order to selectively kill related bacteria and Ghequire et al. (2018) identified that LlpA resistant *Pseudomonas* carried mutations in the extracellular loop of BamA.

Put together, studies such as these support the consensus that understanding the process of OM biogenesis and its maintenance may provide new therapeutic routes against these pathogens.

# THE EXTRACYTOPLASMIC SIGMA FACTOR $\sigma^{\text{E}}$

Maintenance of the outer membrane depends largely on the extracytoplasmic sigma factor  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  (*rpoE*) (Rouvière et al., 1995). This ESR senses misfolded OMPs within the outer membrane and periplasmic space. Activation of the  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  pathway involves a series of proteolytic cleavage events (**Figure 1**). Inducers of the  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  pathway are summarized in Rowley et al. (2006) and include: oxidative stress, heat shock, carbon starvation and biofilm formation. More recently, acid stress (Muller et al., 2009) ultraviolet A (UVA) radiation, P22 phage and hypo-osmotic



of misfolded proteins binding to the PDZ domain of DegS occurs. Subsequently the protease domain of DegS is exposed and the periplasmic domain of RseA is cleaved. RseP then cleaves RseA at the cytoplasmic domain, releasing the  $\sigma^{E}$ -bound RseA portion into the cytoplasm. Binding of the adaptor protein SspB to RseA- $\sigma^{E}$  recruits the ClpXP protease for degradation of RseA and release of free  $\sigma^{E}$ .  $\sigma^{E}$  binds to RNA polymerase and transcription of the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon is induced.

shock have also been shown to induce the  $\sigma^E$  ESR (Amar et al., 2018). Generally, activation of the  $\sigma^{E}$  pathway is due to accumulation of misfolded and/or mis-translocated OMPs or LPS within the periplasm (Rowley et al., 2006). In laboratory E. coli strains and Yersinia enterocolitica, rpoE is an essential gene (De Las Peñas et al., 1997a; Heusipp et al., 2003), although suppressor mutations do enable rpoE mutants to be viable (De Las Peñas et al., 1997a). Insertion mutations in *vdcQ*, a putative DNA binding protein (Button et al., 2007), and two genes of unknown function yhbW and ptsN (Hayden and Ades, 2008) have been identified to enable the *rpoE* deletion in *E. coli* to be tolerated. Numerous studies have shown that *rpoE* is not essential in other bacteria including Salmonella (Humphreys et al., 1999; Skovierova et al., 2006), although it does make a major contribution to their virulence. Interestingly, it has recently been reported that loss of the LPS O-antigen renders an *rpoE* deletion lethal in Salmonella (Amar et al., 2018). The authors propose that when present, the LPS O-antigen provides protection to the Salmonella OM allowing an rpoE deletion, and presumably the OM defects that result, to be tolerated.

Encoded within the *rpoE* operon are the  $\sigma^{E}$  inhibitors *rseA* and *rseB* (Dartigalongue et al., 2001). Activation of the  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR occurs via regulated intramembrane proteolysis (RIP) and begins at the transmembrane protein RseA (**Figure 1**). Under normal physiological conditions, RseA is bound to  $\sigma^{E}$  and as such, sequesters it from interacting with RNA polymerase to influence gene expression. RseB is also a negative regulator of the  $\sigma^{E}$  pathway and when bound to RseA it increases affinity of this complex for  $\sigma^{E}$ , resulting in inhibition of the pathway (De Las Peñas et al., 1997b; Collinet et al., 2000; Ahuja et al., 2009; Chaba et al., 2011) (**Figure 1**).

In the presence of misfolded proteins, the  $\sigma^E$  cascade begins with the cytoplasmic cleavage of RseA by the protease DegS (Ades et al., 1999; Alba et al., 2002; Kanehara et al., 2002; Li et al., 2009). The DegS site-1 protease (S1P) is a transmembrane protein embedded within the IM (Figure 1). The presence of uOMPs in the periplasm induces conformational changes in DegS, via interaction between the C-terminus of the uOMPs with the PDZ protease domain of DegS. This conformational change exposes the protease region for RseA cleavage (Walsh et al., 2003; Sohn et al., 2009). DegS is essential in E. coli laboratory strains however construction of a degS mutant has been reported in certain extraintestinal E. coli strains, Salmonella Typhimurium (Rowley et al., 2005), and Vibrio cholerae (Mathur et al., 2007). Although viable, S. Typhimurium degS mutants are defective in their ability to colonize the host and cause infection (Redford et al., 2003) while V. cholerae degS mutants are unable to activate the  $\sigma^{E}$  cascade following antimicrobial peptide (AMP) treatment (Mathur et al., 2007). Interestingly, degS mutants can still mount a  $\sigma^{E}$  response to certain stresses (Rowley et al., 2005). In S. Typhimurium,  $\sigma^{E}$  can be activated by acid stress independently of DegS and misfolded proteins (Muller et al., 2009).

Following cleavage by DegS, the RseP (YaeL) protease is recruited and the cytoplasmic portion of RseA, bound to  $\sigma^{E}$ , is released into the cytoplasm (Alba et al., 2002; Kanehara et al., 2002) (**Figure 1**). RseP is a site-2 protease (S2P), therefore, its cleavage of RseA can only occur after cleavage by the S1P. Li et al. (2009) identified that S1P cleavage leads to S2P cleavage due to the exposure of a hydrophobic amino acid (Val-148) at the carboxyl-terminus of RseA. Inhibition of RseP prevents cleavage of RseA and results in a lethal sequestration of  $\sigma^{E}$ . Interestingly, a sRNA, RseX, was shown to reduce the levels of OMPs OmpA and OmpC when overexpressed and this led to survival of *rseP* mutant cells in *E. coli* (Douchin et al., 2006). Recently, Konovalova et al. (2018) identified a eukaryotic matrix metalloprotease (MMP) inhibitor which targets RseP and leads to toxic uOMP accumulation. This was found to be due to loss of  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated sRNAs, MicA and RybB, which play an important role in downregulating expression of uOMPs (see **Figure 2** and described in detail below).

Following release of RseA bound  $\sigma^{E}$ , the adaptor SspB binds to the complex and recruits the ATP-dependent ClpXP protease (**Figure 1**) (Flynn et al., 2004; Baker and Sauer, 2012). ClpX is an AAA+ ATPase and ClpP is a peptidase (Baker and Sauer, 2012) and in the final stage of the  $\sigma^{E}$  cascade the protein complex releases  $\sigma^{E}$  from RseA (Chaba et al., 2007). Analysis of the roles of the ClpXP protease provides evidence that individual components of the  $\sigma^{E}$  pathway play important roles in bacterial pathogenesis with *Salmonella clpX* and *clpP* mutants being attenuated in macrophages and BALB/c mice (Yamamoto et al., 2001).

Once released from RseA, free  $\sigma^{E}$  binds RNA polymerase as a cofactor, subsequently inducing expression of the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon (**Figure 1**). The  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon has been linked with virulence in a number of pathogens (discussed below). The function of proteins that form part of the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon across many bacterial species include those for DNA repair, metabolism, OM biogenesis and chaperones and proteases required for maintaining periplasmic homeostasis (Dartigalongue et al., 2001; Rhodius et al., 2006; Skovierova et al., 2006).

 $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated chaperones and proteases are of importance to OM biogenesis and the tolerance of extracytoplasmic stress particularly during host infection (see below). The major  $\sigma^{E}$ regulated chaperones are Skp, SurA, FkpA, and HtrA (DegP). The function of these proteins has been studied extensively in *E. coli*, however they are well-conserved across multiple Gram-negative species including *E. coli*, *Salmonella*, and *Yersinia* sp.

SurA possesses peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase (PPIase) activity which folds proteins via catalysis of the rate-limiting cis/trans isomerization of peptidyl bonds around proline residues (bacterial PPIases are reviewed in Ünal and Steinert, 2014). In addition to, and independently of, its PPIase activity SurA also functions as a periplasmic chaperone (Behrens et al., 2001). A major role of the periplasmic chaperones is to prevent aggregation of uOMPs; however, SurA and a further chaperone Skp, encoded within the *bamA* genomic region, have been shown to play a role in uOMP folding in cooperation with the BAM complex. Studies in E. coli have shown that SurA interacts with BamA in order to deliver uOMPs (Sklar et al., 2007b; Vuong et al., 2008), while Skp assists in the folding of OmpA and Skp-OmpA complexes interact with BamA (Patel and Kleinschmidt, 2013). Interestingly, double deletion mutants of *skp* and *surA* result in a lethal phenotype and as a result, it is understood that they function in two different but overlapping pathways of



OM biogenesis (Sklar et al., 2007b). Despite this, overexpression of *fkpA* can compensate for the lethal phenotype and enables *Salmonella* growth at  $37^{\circ}$ C (Ge et al., 2014). Like SurA, FkpA is a PPIase and chaperone and its chaperone activity is independent of PPIase activity. In addition to a role in OM biogenesis, overexpression of FkpA was shown to rescue *degP* (*htrA*) mutants during heat shock (Arie et al., 2001). DegP is unique in its ability to function as both a chaperone and a protease and this switch is dependent on temperature. At low temperatures, DegP is a chaperone transporting misfolded and unfolded OMPs; however, at higher temperatures it possesses protease function degrading proteins that are beyond repair (Spiess et al., 1999).

In addition to chaperones and proteases, encoded within the *rpoE* regulon are a number of sRNAs with regulatory functions. sRNAs bind to specific mRNA targets and subsequently activate or repress the mRNA through affecting its stability or by inhibiting its translation (Holmqvist and Wagner, 2017). sRNAs have been shown to regulate the  $\sigma^{E}$ , CpxRA, and Rcs ESRs (reviewed in Frohlich and Gottesman, 2018). The sRNAs regulated by  $\sigma^{E}$  are MicA (SraD), RybB and MicL (RyeF/SIrA) and they function to regulate the  $\sigma^{E}$  response and expression of a group of OMPs and lipoproteins (**Figure 2**). Ultimately, the sRNAs regulated by  $\sigma^{E}$  downregulate other processes, such as uOMP production, that may otherwise lead to continued activation of the ESR. All  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated sRNAs associate with the RNA chaperone Hfq and inactivation of Hfq is an activator of the  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR (Figueroa-Bossi et al.,

2006; Sittka et al., 2007; Klein and Raina, 2015). This Hfqdependent regulation does indeed warrant further study in order to better understand the underlying mechanisms. In *Salmonella*, loss of Hfq has been shown to result in an increase in DegS-dependent cleavage of RseA, and this is likely due to increased accumulation of uOMPs (Figueroa-Bossi et al., 2006). In addition, Guisbert et al. (2007) identified that downregulation of the mRNA of eight OMPs (*tsx, fiu, ompX, ompA, ompF, lpp, ompC, yhcN*) is dependent on Hfq. Therefore, through association with sRNAs that function to downregulate uOMP production (described in more detail below) and control the  $\sigma^{E}$  response, Hfq can indirectly inactivate  $\sigma^{E}$ .

MicL is an 80 nt transcript, processed from a primary transcript of 308 nt, and is located within the *cutC* gene. Also referred to as SlrA (suppressing lap RNA), MicL can function as a multicopy suppressor of *lapA lapB* mutations (the Lap proteins are essential in the process of LPS synthesis and for cell viability) (Klein et al., 2014). To date, the only known mRNA target of MicL is *lpp* (Guo et al., 2014). The *lpp* gene encodes an OM lipoprotein, commonly referred to as Lpp or Braun's lipoprotein (Braun, 1975), which is covalently attached to the peptidoglycan layer. Lpp is the most abundant protein in *E. coli* and functions to stabilize the cell envelope through its OM-peptidoglycan interaction (for recent review, see Asmar and Collet, 2018). MicL targets *lpp* by preventing translation of its mRNA, thereby inhibiting Lpp protein production (Guo et al., 2014). This could

be seen as counterproductive; why would  $\sigma^{E}$ , a mechanism in place to maintain OM integrity, prevent production of a cell envelope stabilizing protein? Studies indicate that in doing so, demand on the Lol lipoprotein assembly machinery is lessened. This, in turn, enables increased production of the BamD lipoprotein and LPS assembly components (primarily LptE), thus increasing the folding of uOMPs and LPS production in the periplasm, which would otherwise further induce  $\sigma^{E}$ (Guo et al., 2014).

The remaining sRNAs MicA and RybB were first identified in *E. coli* as ~70 nt and ~80 nt, respectively. Since, these sRNAs have also been identified and shown to be conserved in *Salmonella* (Papenfort et al., 2006). These sRNAs overlap in function and downregulate expression of outer membrane porins in an Hfq-dependent manner. MicA is responsible for the decrease in *ompA* mRNA, particularly during stationary phase when  $\sigma^{E}$  is highly active (Vogel and Papenfort, 2006). RybB has been shown to specifically decrease *ompC* and *ompW* mRNA levels via Hfq (Johansen et al., 2006). As a result, these sRNAs contribute to the maintenance of envelope homeostasis via downregulation of OMP production, in a similar fashion to MicL, reducing transport of uOMPs into the periplasm during conditions of stress when the periplasmic uOMP content may already be elevated.

Interestingly, MicA negatively regulates the response regulator PhoP of the PhoPQ 2CST via base-pairing within the *phoP* translation initiation site (Coornaert et al., 2010). The contribution of the PhoPQ 2CST system to OM remodeling in *Salmonella* has been well-documented (Ernst et al., 2001; Dalebroux and Miller, 2014; Dalebroux et al., 2014) and cross-talk between this system and the  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR provides further evidence that different ESR pathways overlap. This connection emphasizes the necessity of a coordination of responses that modify and maintain the envelope during infection and bacterial stress. The negative regulation of the PhoPQ 2CST system by  $\sigma^{E}$  demonstrates that under some ESR-inducing conditions, it may be detrimental to the bacterium for certain ESRs to be simultaneously active.

#### σ<sup>E</sup> and Bacterial Pathogenesis Salmonella

*Salmonella* is an intracellular pathogen capable of causing infection in both humans and animals. Serovars of *Salmonella* sp. can reside in different niches and vary in the type of infection they cause. *S.* Typhimurium and *S.* Enteritidis are both examples of enteric bacteria typically causing food poisoning, while *S.* Typhi is responsible for the more serious and systemic Typhoid fever.

A large number of  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated proteins, chaperones and PPIases have been implicated in *Salmonella* virulence (**Figure 3A**). During infection, *Salmonella* resides within macrophages in the *Salmonella* containing vacuole (SCV), a site of ROS production and associated stress. It has been shown previously that  $\sigma^{E}$  is important for survival within macrophages and in a murine infection model (Humphreys et al., 1999). *rpoE* is upregulated in macrophages (Eriksson et al., 2003) and the  $\sigma^{E}$  regulon is required for *Salmonella* resistance to oxidative stress (Testerman et al., 2002; Li et al., 2015a). Furthermore, in the invasive serovar S. Typhi, responsible for the systemic infection Typhoid fever, rpoE mutants are attenuated for invasion and intracellular survival. In addition, expression of the pathogenicity islands SPI-1 and SPI-2, encoding the T3SSs required for invasion and intracellular survival, are reduced (Xie et al., 2016; Zhang et al., 2016).  $\sigma^{E}$ also plays an important role in the downregulation of cellular processes. The anti-FlhC<sub>2</sub>D<sub>4</sub> complex factor RflP (YdiV) is activated by  $\sigma^{E}$  and RflP functions to target the FlhC<sub>2</sub>D<sub>4</sub> master regulator of flagellar synthesis to the ClpXP protease for degradation in S. Typhimurium (Spöring et al., 2018). As such, in this non-typhoidal serovar,  $\sigma^{E}$  is involved in the downregulation of Salmonella motility. Ultimately, research suggests that downregulation of flagellar synthesis can aid in host immune evasion, thus increasing bacterial fitness during infection. Conversely, in S. Typhi,  $\sigma^{E}$  has been found to promote flagellar gene expression, during osmotic stress, via upregulation of *fliA* (Du et al., 2011). The authors of this study propose that RpoE may respond to the hyperosmotic environment in the intestinal lumen and increase motility to enable S. Typhi invasion of epithelial M cells. These interesting discrepancies indicate that  $\sigma^{E}$  may be involved in differences between localized and systemic Salmonella infections. Much of the groundwork in understanding the role of  $\sigma^{E}$  in Salmonella pathogenesis has been performed in S. Typhimurium; however, these data indicate the continuing need to expand these studies into other serovars, especially those which cause invasive and systemic disease.

Further links between  $\sigma^{E}$  and coordination of virulence gene expression have also been shown: the SPI-2 pathogenicity island is, in part, regulated by the SsrAB 2CST system and an S. Typhimurium rpoE mutant has reduced expression of the SsrB-dependent secreted effector protein SseB (Osborne and Coombes, 2009). As described above, encoded within the *bamA* region is the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated periplasmic chaperone, *skp*. Rowley et al. (2011) identified significant attenuation of a skp mutant in a murine infection model. Additionally, fkpA mutants of Salmonella Copenhagen show reduced levels of intracellular survival (Horne et al., 1997), although studies in S. Typhimurium demonstrate that *fkpA* mutants are unaffected for intracellular survival, unless also combined with a deletion in surA or degP (Humphreys et al., 2003). Deletion of surA leads to loss of adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells by S. Typhimurium (Sydenham et al., 2000). In addition, the surA mutant was identified as an attenuated live vaccine. Sydenham et al. (2000) showed that when mice were challenged with WT S. Typhimurium, following a challenge with the surA mutant, the WT was unable to colonize the host. These findings certainly point toward an important role for  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated periplasmic chaperones in infection and also for the identification of new therapeutic targets.

In addition to the proteins regulated by  $\sigma^{E}$ , the sRNAs have also been linked to virulence. MicA and RybB are both upregulated inside macrophages (Srikumar et al., 2015). Furthermore, MicA has a role in biofilm formation in *Salmonella* and this was understood to be due to MicA targeting of *ompA* and *phoP* mRNAs (Kint et al., 2010).



indicate where regulation is indirect and/or where intermediate factors are unknown.

Aside from a role in pathogenicity and intracellular survival, *rpoE* is also required for *Salmonella* resistance to antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) during infection. Specifically, *rpoE* mutants were shown to be reduced in survival when challenged with the bactericidal/permeability-increasing protein (BPI)-derived peptide P2 and the murine  $\alpha$ -defensin cryptdin-4 (Crp4), both of which are known to disrupt the cell envelope (Crouch et al., 2005).

Studies identifying the role of previously uncharacterized  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated genes are continually emerging. Recently, Morris et al. (2018) demonstrated that the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated lipoprotein YraP contributes to OM integrity and the ability to cause murine infection. Results showed that infection of mice with a *yraP* mutant resulted in significant attenuation, particularly in the liver, compared to WT. However, the *yraP* mutant strain was not

attenuated for adhesion, invasion or intracellular survival in J774, Caco-2 or primary bone marrow-derived macrophages. As such, the precise mechanism behind the attenuation of  $\Delta yraP$  in mice is yet to be elucidated.

#### Escherichia coli

The role of  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  in the pathogenesis of *E. coli* has not been studied to the same extent as in *Salmonella*, potentially because *rpoE* is an essential gene in laboratory *E. coli*. However, a small number of studies have demonstrated a role for  $\sigma^{\rm E}$ -regulated chaperones in the virulence of different pathogenic *E. coli* strains (**Figure 3B**).

Extraintestinal *E. coli* strains are capable of colonizing and causing infection outside of their usual intestinal niche. Uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) is one such example and is a major

ESRs and Pathogenesis

cause of urinary tract infections (UTIs). It has been described that the  $\sigma^{\text{E}}$ -regulated chaperones *degP* and *skp* are important for *E. coli* urinary tract colonization (Redford and Welch, 2006). Enteropathogenic *E. coli* (EPEC) is a major cause of infant diarrhea and its ability to adhere to intestinal enterocytes is central to its pathogenesis (Walsham et al., 2016). The adhesin intimin is required for attachment to epithelial cells and it has been shown that the  $\sigma^{\text{E}}$ -regulated chaperones SurA, DegP and Skp are needed for the insertion of intimin into the OM (Bodelon et al., 2009).

Another E. coli pathovar, adherent-invasive Escherichia coli (AIEC), is capable of invading intestinal epithelial cells (Yang et al., 2017).  $\sigma^{E}$  is required for biofilm formation of Crohn's disease associated AIEC; inhibition of  $\sigma^{E}$  by overexpression of RseAB resulted in a significant reduction of AIEC biofilm formation (Chassaing and Darfeuille-Michaud, 2013). In addition,  $\sigma^{E}$  is important for AIEC adhesion and invasion of epithelial cells (Rolhion et al., 2007; Chassaing and Darfeuille-Michaud, 2013). Studies demonstrate that inhibition of  $\sigma^{E}$  leads to a reduction in adhesion and invasion and that this is in part, due to reduced expression of flagella and type 1 pili. However, the exact mechanisms behind the observed phenotypes are yet to be fully elucidated (Chassaing and Darfeuille-Michaud, 2013). In contrast to  $\sigma^{E}$ , other stress responses including the 2CST system CpxAR have been implicated in E. coli virulence to a greater extent and this will be described in detail below.

#### Pseudomonas

*Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is an opportunistic pathogen associated with high morbidity and mortality in patients with underlying respiratory disease such as cystic fibrosis (Gellatly and Hancock, 2013). *P. aeruginosa* strains exist in mucoid or non-mucoid forms but generally environmental strains and those which lead to initial colonization of the host are non-mucoid in nature (Rao et al., 2011). It has been demonstrated that the conversion to the mucoid form occurs during host colonization and it appears that the conditions, particularly in the CF lung, positively select for mucoid *P. aeruginosa*. As expected, mucoid strains are most commonly associated with CF patients; however, they have also been isolated from non-CF patients (Govan and Deretic, 1996).

The conversion from non-mucoid to mucoid is mediated by mutations in *mucA*. The *mucA* gene forms part of the *algU*, *mucA*, *mucB*, *mucC* operon which is homologous to the *rpoE rseA rseB rseC* operon in *E*. *coli* (Rowley et al., 2006). Normally, MucA sequesters AlgU activity (as does RseA for RpoE); however, mutations in *mucA*, typically *mucA22*, result in constitutive *algU* activation (Mathee et al., 1999). The *algU* regulator, sharing 79% amino acid sequence homology with *E*. *coli*  $\sigma^{E}$  (Potvin et al., 2008), controls expression of the alginate biosynthesis operon, formed of 12 genes for biosynthesis and export which starts at *algD*. Induction of the AlgU pathway results in production of the exopolysaccharide alginate and is of particular importance for bacterial protection and persistence in the lung (**Figure 3C**).

Activation of the AlgU pathway occurs via RIP (reviewed in Damron and Goldberg, 2012), as does activation of the  $\sigma^{E}$ pathway. In addition, *Pseudomonas* has functional equivalents of the *E. coli* proteases DegP, DegS and RseP; MucD, AlgW, and MucP, respectively (Pandey et al., 2016). Further to this, the ClpXP proteases are conserved in *Pseudomonas* and are required to release AlgU from MucA in the cytoplasm (Qiu et al., 2008).

Yu et al. (1995) showed that *Pseudomonas algU* mutants can be complemented with *E. coli rpoE*, and this complementation provided the *algU* mutant with resistance to paraquat-induced ROS stress. It has not yet been shown whether the lethal *rpoE* deletion in *E. coli* can be rescued by *algU*.

Environmental stress has been shown to induce mutations in *mucA*. Mathee et al. (1999) described that when a nonmucoid strain, PA01, was grown in a biofilm treated with hydrogen peroxide, mucoid variants with mutations in *mucA* formed. The authors propose that these findings suggest antioxidant therapy may be a therapeutic option for patients, as this may aid in preventing the switch from non-mucoid to mucoid.

In addition to regulating alginate production, AlgU regulates genes required for virulence (Figure 3C). Interestingly, an *algU* deletion increases systemic virulence (Yu et al., 1996), hence it appears that algU is required for infection in the respiratory but not systemic environment. The ability to form a biofilm is a major virulence factor of many bacterial pathogens and AlgU is important for biofilm formation, specifically in non-mucoid strains (Bazire et al., 2010). AlgR is a component of the 2CST system AlgZR and is regulated by AlgU (Okkotsu et al., 2014). AlgR, in turn, regulates hydrogen cyanide (HCN) production which studies indicate is an important Pseudomonas virulence factor. Produced under low oxygen conditions, HCN has been shown to be responsible for killing in the Caenorhabditis elegans infection model (Gallagher and Manoil, 2001). Additionally, both AlgR and AlgU have been shown to suppresses the Pseudomonas T3SS in mucoid strains (Okkotsu et al., 2014).

Several of the chaperones and proteases involved in maintenance of OM and periplasmic homeostasis in *E. coli* and *Salmonella* are conserved in *Pseudomonas* sp. A recent paper described a *surA* deletion re-sensitizes a MDR strain to antibiotics, suggesting that SurA could be a promising therapeutic target (Klein et al., 2019). Moreover, in support of this conclusion, deletion of *surA* also increased sensitivity to normal human serum.

# Conclusions and Further Evidence of Roles of $\sigma^{E}$ in Bacterial Virulence

The  $\sigma^{E}$  ESR has been implicated in other bacterial species in addition to those described above. Unfortunately, due to limitations in space, a detailed discussion is beyond the scope of this particular review. In brief, additional examples of a role for  $\sigma^{E}$  in pathogenesis include work in *Vibrio cholerae* and *Yersinia* sp. In *Vibrio cholerae*, an *rpoE* deletion resulted in a highly attenuated strain that was unable to colonize the intestine (Kovacikova and Skorupski, 2002). Moreover, a  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated sRNA, VrrA, inhibits production of OmpA and subsequently inhibits outer membrane vesicle (OMV) formation (Song and Wai, 2009). VrrA was also shown to control biofilm formation through translational repression of *rbmC*, a *V. cholerae* specific biofilm matrix protein. When VrrA was overexpressed, biofilm levels were reduced and, as such, VrrA may assist in the



transition of *V. cholerae* from attachment in the intestine to shedding and uptake by new hosts (Song et al., 2014). In *Yersinia* sp. the  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated chaperone SurA is required for *Y. pseudotuberculosis* adhesion to HeLa cells (Obi and Francis, 2013) and a *Y. pestis surA* mutant is attenuated in mice (Southern et al., 2016). The vast array of studies highlighted in this review demonstrate that  $\sigma^{E}$  is of extreme importance to not only survival of Gram-negative bacteria, through the maintenance of the extracytoplasmic OM, but also to the ability to cause such successful and varied infections.

# THE CpxRA TWO-COMPONENT SYSTEM

The Cpx (conjugative pilus expression) response is a widelyconserved ESR in Gram-negative bacteria. As a canonical 2CST system, signaling in the Cpx response occurs through the sensor histidine kinase (SHK) CpxA and the response regulator CpxR (**Figure 4**). Under non-inducing conditions, the phosphatase activity of CpxA keeps CpxR in an unphosphorylated state (Raivio and Silhavy, 1997). Under inducing conditions, CpxA autophosphorylates and transfers the phosphate group to CpxR. One of the earliest findings implicating the Cpx response in a concrete role in responding to envelope stress was the finding that activated alleles of cpxA suppress the toxicity of the IMlocalized fusion protein LamB-LacZ-PhoA (Cosma et al., 1995). Since then, much work has been done to characterize the function of the Cpx response in mitigating envelope stress (which is more comprehensively reviewed in Vogt and Raivio, 2012; Raivio, 2014). A variety of inducing cues activate the Cpx response, many, although not all, of which are thought to affect the integrity of the envelope and/or protein-folding outside of the cytoplasm. These include alkaline pH (Danese and Silhavy, 1998), aberrant expression of the Pap pilus (Jones et al., 1997), adhesion to hydrophobic surfaces (Otto and Silhavy, 2002), antimicrobial peptides (Audrain et al., 2013), and copper (Yamamoto and Ishihama, 2006). Some of the best characterized members of the Cpx regulon are genes that are involved in envelope protein folding and degradation, further suggesting a role for the Cpx response in maintaining the integrity of the envelope by monitoring and responding to stress due to misfolded envelope proteins. These Cpx-regulated genes include those encoding the periplasmic chaperones CpxP and Spy (Danese and Silhavy, 1998; Raivio et al., 2000), the chaperone/protease DegP/HtrA (Danese et al., 1995), the disulfide bond-forming oxidoreductase DsbA (Pogliano et al., 1997), peptidyl-prolyl isomerase PpiA (Pogliano et al., 1997), IM protease HtpX and YccA, a factor that modulates IM proteolytic activity (Shimohata et al., 2002; Yamamoto and Ishihama, 2006; Raivio et al., 2013). The Cpx response also appears to regulate other ESRs, such as the operon encoding the regulatory components of the  $\sigma^{E}$  response (*rpoE-rseABC*), which is negatively regulated (Price and Raivio, 2009). It is not clear why the  $\sigma^{E}$  response is negatively regulated by the Cpx response, given that both the Cpx and  $\sigma^{E}$  responses respond to stress related to protein misfolding in the envelope. Future studies investigating this cross-regulation may shed more light onto the specific role of these ESRs and the purpose of this regulatory antagonism.

Although ostensibly a "two-component" system, other regulatory factors, such as the periplasmic protein CpxP and the OM lipoprotein NlpE are known to regulate signaling in some capacity in the Cpx response. Overexpression of NlpE is a wellknown inducer of the Cpx response in *E. coli* (Danese et al., 1995; Snyder et al., 1995; Danese and Silhavy, 1998). However, NlpE is not essential in signaling all, indeed most, Cpx-inducing cues, such as PapG overexpression (DiGiuseppe and Silhavy, 2003). The crystal structure of NlpE was solved by Hirano et al. (2007) and was shown to possess two distinct  $\beta$ -barrel domains at its N- and C-terminus connected by an unstructured flexible linker. Comparisons of NlpE homologs in Gram-negative organisms reveal that there are two broad types of NlpE: type I (possessing the full-length protein) and type II (lacking the C-terminal domain) (Hirano et al., 2007).

One of the roles that NlpE is thought to play is as a signaler of adhesion to hydrophobic abiotic surfaces, as well as host cell surfaces (Otto and Silhavy, 2002; Shimizu et al., 2016). The structure of NlpE and its implication in sensing surface signals suggest that during signaling, conformational changes in NlpE could lead to the C-terminus "reaching down" and interacting with the sensing domain of CpxA (Hirano et al., 2007). However, the precise mechanism of NlpE signaling to the Cpx response remains largely unknown, although recent papers, that will be discussed shortly, present new insights into the function of NlpE. Interestingly, multi-drug resistant (MDR) strains of *Acinetobacter baumannii* were found to express increased levels of NlpE and this was implicated in higher biofilm formation on abiotic surfaces, despite the fact that the *A. baumannii* NlpE is type II (i.e., lacks a C-terminal domain) (Siroy et al., 2006).

Studies in both the non-pathogenic K-12 strain MC4100 and enterohemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) have suggested NlpE functions as a sensor of surface adhesion both to hydrophobic glass surfaces (K-12, EHEC) and undifferentiated Caco-2 cells (EHEC) (Otto and Silhavy, 2002; Shimizu et al., 2016). Sensing surface adhesion is thought to be an important initial step in the ability of a bacteria to colonize both biotic and abiotic surfaces, particularly as a biofilm (reviewed in Belas, 2014). In line with this, surface sensing by NlpE was implicated by Shimizu et al. (2016) as an important regulatory event in promoting virulence factor expression in EHEC. However, the role of the Cpx response in surface sensing was recently disputed by Kimkes and Heinemann (2018) who did not find induction of Cpx-regulated *yebE*- or *cpxP*-GFP fluorescent reporters in response to adhesion to hydrophobic glass in a microfluidics setup nor when they attempted to recreate the original experimental conditions of Otto and Silhavy (2002). However, a close examination of these studies reveals a number of methodological differences that make it difficult to make a conclusive verdict as to whether or not NlpE is involved in surface sensing. Clearly, these conflicting conclusions point to a need for further study clarifying the role of NlpE in surface adhesion.

Recent studies have pointed to other potential roles for NlpE, specifically, as a sensor for monitoring stress related to lipoprotein trafficking and periplasmic redox state (Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2017; Delhaye et al., 2019). Deleting lolB, which encodes for the OM receptor lipoprotein responsible for inserting lipoproteins trafficked to the OM, has a severe deleterious effect on cell growth presumably because essential OM lipoproteins are not trafficked properly (Tanaka et al., 2001; Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2017). Deleting *cpxR* or *nlpE* in genetic backgrounds that suppress this toxicity, restores toxicity (Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2017). Conversely, activating CpxA is able to restore growth in the deleterious lolB null background suggesting that the Cpx response, through NlpE, is able to sense lipoprotein trafficking defects and mitigate this stress (Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2017). This makes sense, as NlpE is itself an OM lipoprotein and its own trafficking would be affected by lipoprotein trafficking defects. This model is further supported by work showing that the Nterminal domain of NlpE, which would be physically close to CpxA at the IM in the absence of trafficking to the OM, physically interacts with and is able to activate CpxA (Delhaye et al., 2019). Furthermore, it is known that forcing NlpE to localize to the IM induces the Cpx response (Miyadai et al., 2004; Delhaye et al., 2016). Future studies should work to characterize what Cpx regulon members are responsible for mitigating stress related to lipoprotein mistrafficking. Grabowicz and Silhavy (2017) raised the intriguing possibility that in the absence of the canonical Lol trafficking pathway, an alternative, Cpx-regulated pathway might exist to traffick lipoproteins, as essential OM lipoproteins such as BamD are still trafficked to the OM in the absence of LolB during Cpx-activation.

In addition to this novel role as a sensor for lipoprotein trafficking, NlpE may also act as a sensor for stress related to protein folding. Disulfide bonds in periplasmic proteins are introduced by DsbA, the absence of which leads to Cpx activation (Bardwell et al., 1991; Delhaye et al., 2019). This activation is dependent on the presence of NlpE and NlpE lacking C-terminal cysteine residues (and therefore without its normal disulfide bond) activates the response, suggesting that the function the of the C-terminal domain of NlpE is at least partly as an indicator of periplasmic redox state (Delhaye et al., 2019). It should be noted that the C-terminal cysteine residues of NlpE are conserved across Gram-negative bacteria that possess type I NlpE, suggesting that this function of NlpE may be important in several different organisms (Hirano et al., 2007).

These studies present a model in which NlpE acts as a "Swiss army knife," with distinct domains involved in sensing distinct stresses and signaling to CpxA to maintain the integrity of the envelope. Although not directly regulating virulence in most cases, these functions of NlpE have potential ramifications on pathogenesis of bacteria at various stages of infection. The transition from the environment to the host may increase oxidative stress or alter periplasmic redox status, necessitating a means to monitor and respond to these changes. A bacterial cell must "know" that it is in contact with an appropriate surface to express virulence factors or form biofilms, making surface sensing a key initial step during infection. Lipoproteins play a key role in the biogenesis of many envelope components, including virulence factors such as secretion machineries, and as such, monitoring lipoprotein trafficking is important for their proper expression. Overall, further studies of the signaling functions of NlpE may reveal important insights into the role that the Cpx response plays as a whole during infection.

CpxP is a periplasmic protein that bears structural homology to the Cpx-regulated periplasmic chaperone Spy (Kwon et al., 2010). The role of CpxP in signaling is thought to be primarily negative. cpxP is one of the most highly expressed members of the Cpx regulon upon activation but overexpression of CpxP inhibits activation of CpxA (Raivio et al., 1999, 2013; DiGiuseppe and Silhavy, 2003). This inhibition likely occurs through direct interaction with the periplasmic sensing domain of CpxA (Raivio et al., 1999, 2000; Zhou et al., 2011; Tschauner et al., 2014). It is thought that CpxP, in the presence of misfolded envelope proteins, will be titrated away from CpxA, and subsequently degraded by DegP/HtrA (Buelow and Raivio, 2005; Isaac et al., 2005; Tschauner et al., 2014). However, the role of CpxP in Cpx signaling is, like NlpE, not essential for most studied inducing cues, as inducers such as NlpE overexpression and alkaline pH do not require CpxP to activate the response (DiGiuseppe and Silhavy, 2003). Interestingly, although induction via alkaline pH doesn't require CpxP, cpxP mutants are hypersensitized to alkaline pH (Danese and Silhavy, 1998; DiGiuseppe and Silhavy, 2003). Overall, NlpE and CpxP, under the conditions in which they have been studied, rather than acting as integral players in signal transduction, appear to allow for finer regulation of the response, both as a damper of activation, as in the case of CpxP or as an enabler for other sensory inputs, as in the case of NlpE.

Interestingly, recent work has revealed the existence of a conserved, RNase E and Hfq-dependent sRNA encoded in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the *cpxP* mRNA, aptly named CpxQ (Chao and Vogel, 2016). In *Salmonella*, CpxQ targeted several envelope proteins, including the sodium-proton antiporter NhaB, the major subunit of the type I pilus FimA, and the periplasmic chaperone protein Skp (Chao and Vogel, 2016). CpxQ was needed for optimal survival in the presence of carbonyl cyanide 3-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP), a reagent that disrupts the proton motive force (PMF) at the IM (Chao and Vogel, 2016). This, combined with the regulation of NhaB by CpxQ suggests that its role is connected to preserving the PMF at the IM. In *E. coli*, CpxQ was shown to repress CpxP production by decreasing translation of *cpxP* mRNA (Grabowicz et al., 2016). Furthermore, CpxQ was shown to help combat stress

due to a mutant allele of the OM protein LamB [*lamB*(*A23D*)], that aberrantly tethers it to the IM, a lethality that is suppressed by Cpx activation (Cosma et al., 1995; Grabowicz et al., 2016). Interestingly, it was not the regulation of CpxP by CpxQ but repression of the periplasmic chaperone Skp that was responsible for alleviating the toxicity of LamB(A23D) (Grabowicz et al., 2016). Skp is thought to facilitate the aberrant insertion of LamB(A23D) into the IM, creating a pore and disrupting the PMF at the IM, a stress that is relieved by the repression of Skp by CpxQ (Grabowicz et al., 2016). This is consistent with the finding that CpxQ is involved in alleviating stress due to CCCP (Chao and Vogel, 2016).

Overall, these results point to a growing body of evidence for the role of sRNAs in mediating the stress-alleviating effects of ESRs. It had previously been shown that the Cpx response regulates the expression of several sRNAs, such as *cyaR*, *omrA*, *omrB*, and *rprA* and that these sRNA are involved in a regulatory network that not only regulates CpxRA but also links it to other 2CST systems such as EnvZ/OmpR (Raivio et al., 2013; Vogt et al., 2014). In the  $\sigma^{E}$  response,  $\sigma^{E}$ -regulated sRNAs can directly target and repress porins and OM lipoproteins that are potential sources of envelope stress (Gogol et al., 2011; Guo et al., 2014). Given the demonstrated relevance of sRNAs to envelope stress adaptation, further study of CpxQ presents an opportunity to better understand the mechanism of how the Cpx response alleviates envelope stress.

#### The Cpx Response and Bacterial Pathogenesis Escherichia coli

The relevance of the Cpx response to the physiology and pathogenesis of various strains of *Escherichia coli* is well-documented (**Figure 5A**). Studies in MP1, a commensal strain of *E. coli* isolated from mice, found that deleting *cpxR* caused a severe colonization defect in mice (Lasaro et al., 2014). Further, *cpxRA* deleted strains of UPEC are attenuated in colonization and virulence in both mouse and zebrafish models (Debnath et al., 2013).

At the molecular level, multiple studies have focused on envelope-localized protein machineries such as the UPEC P-pilus and the enteropathogenic E. coli (EPEC) type IV bundle-forming pilus (BFP), which are assembled at the envelope and play key roles in adhesion to host cells (Wullt et al., 2000; Tobe and Sasakawa, 2001). Overexpressing PapE and PapG subunits of the P pilus activates the Cpx response but the activation of the Cpx response is not due to non-specific protein misfolding stress but rather the presence of a specific N-terminal extension on PapE involved in pilus subunit polymerization, suggesting that the Cpx response specifically monitors pilus assembly (Jones et al., 1997; Lee et al., 2004). In support of this, in the absence of *cpxR*, K-12 strains containing P pili genes produce shorter P pili, suggesting that the Cpx response is needed for efficient pilus expression and assembly (Hung et al., 2001). CpxR is also able to repress the expression of the pap pilin genes directly (Hernday et al., 2004). Similar roles for the Cpx response in both efficient assembly and inhibition of the elaboration of pili have been demonstrated in



relation to the BFP of EPEC, despite their differing assembly and structural composition compared to P-pili (Nevesinjac and Raivio, 2005; Humphries et al., 2010; Vogt et al., 2010). In particular, efficient expression of the BFP was dependent on the Cpx-regulated periplasmic protein folding factors CpxP, DsbA, and DegP/HtrA (Vogt et al., 2010). The regulation of multiprotein envelope complexes by the Cpx response is not limited to pili, as flagella in several strains of *E. coli* are shown to be negatively regulated (De Wulf et al., 1999; Price and Raivio, 2009; Shimizu et al., 2016) and the Cpx response also regulates secretion machinery in several pathogenic *E. coli* (see below).

EPEC and EHEC are known to cause attaching and effacing (A/E) lesions on host intestinal tissue that are dependent on the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE) T3SS (McDaniel et al.,

1995; McDaniel and Kaper, 1997). Activation of the Cpx response represses LEE T3S in EPEC (Macritchie et al., 2008). This regulation occurs through the repression of the transcription of several LEE operons and post-transcriptionally by the action of the periplasmic chaperone and protease DegP/HtrA (Macritchie et al., 2008; MacRitchie et al., 2012). The regulation of the LEE T3SS does have common features between EPEC and EHEC, namely the transcriptional regulator Ler (Mellies et al., 1999; Abe et al., 2008). However, recent studies in enterohaemorrhagic *E. coli* (EHEC) have led to contrasting conclusions as to the involvement of the Cpx response in regulating the LEE (De la Cruz et al., 2016; Shimizu et al., 2016). De la Cruz et al. (2016) found that increased levels of phosphorylated CpxR in the absence of CpxA repressed levels of LEE5-encoded EspABD

translocator proteins as well as transcription of ler, in a manner dependent on the protease Lon. Overexpressing NlpE lead to a reduction in espA transcript as quantified by qPCR. However, Shimizu et al. (2016) found that *espA-luxE* reporter activity was activated in response to adhesion to hydrophobic glass beads and undifferentiated Caco-2 cells in a manner dependent on NlpE and CpxA. In adhered cells, NlpE activated espA transcription (Shimizu et al., 2016). This led to the suggestion that activating the Cpx response after surface sensing by NlpE leads to an upregulation of LEE T3SS genes, specifically by CpxR regulation of the positive regulator LhrA (Shimizu et al., 2016). It is possible that the difference between these two studies is due to the fact that in most experiments, surface-adhered EHEC cells were used in Shizimu and colleagues' study, whereas the study of De la Cruz et al. was conducted mostly on cells grown in liquid media. More work should be conducted to elucidate the impact that surface sensing has on modulating Cpx signaling, as it appears that adhesion significantly alters the Cpx regulation of virulence in EHEC.

A growing body of evidence highlights the relevance of the Cpx response to pathogenesis beyond protein quality control in the envelope. Studies of the Cpx regulon in E. coli have shown that several genes involved in cell wall modifications are upregulated by Cpx activation (Raivio et al., 2013; Bernal-Cabas et al., 2015). These include D-alanyl-D-alanine carboxypeptidase DacC (penicillin binding protein (PBP) 6) (Pedersen et al., 1998), L,D-transpeptidase LdtD (Magnet et al., 2008), lytic transglycosylase Slt (Höltje et al., 1975) and YgaU, a hypothetical protein with a LysM domain predicted to be involved in cell wall degradation (Buist et al., 2008). Accordingly, the Cpx response is activated when ygaU and/or ldtD are deleted and in strains that lack PBPs 4, 57 and AmpH (Evans et al., 2013; Bernal-Cabas et al., 2015). Activating the Cpx response increased diaminopimelic acid (DAP)-DAP crosslinks formed by LdtD, suggesting that Cpx activation has direct ramifications on the structural composition of PG (Bernal-Cabas et al., 2015).

It was recently shown that deleting cpxR increased susceptibility to the  $\beta$ -lactam antibiotic mecillinam, but constitutive activation led to defects in cell shape, growth, and division (Delhaye et al., 2016). Moreover, these defects were dependent on the expression of LdtD (Delhaye et al., 2016). These results point to a role for the Cpx response in monitoring not only protein quality control in the envelope, but also as a key regulatory factor for proper cell wall integrity. It has been observed that the Cpx response regulates amidases in P. aeruginosa and S. Typhimurium, suggesting that Cpx regulation of cell wall homeostasis may be a conserved function across Gram-negative organisms (Weatherspoon-Griffin et al., 2011; Yakhnina et al., 2015). The cell wall is essential for maintaining cell shape and preventing lysis during shifting osmotic conditions and is an important target for many antibiotics and innate immune strategies. Upregulation of PG-modifying enzymes may serve to reinforce the envelope during stress in other compartments of the envelope so as to increase its overall stability. Interestingly, it was recently shown that increased levels of DAP-DAP crosslinkages increases resistance to lysozyme (Stankeviciute et al., 2019). It is possible that Cpx-regulation of ldtD and ygaU may be a strategy for dealing with envelope stress arising from host innate immunity. Although the full picture remains to be seen, these studies point to the Cpx response as a fine-tuning regulator of PG structure that serves to mitigate potential stresses to the cell wall, both in and out of hosts.

#### Citrobacter rodentium

The presence of shared virulence determinants, most notably the LEE, in the murine pathogen *Citrobacter rodentium*, has led to its use as a model to study EPEC and EHEC infections *in vivo* (reviewed in Collins et al., 2014). Accordingly, the *in vivo* contribution of the Cpx response to virulence is arguably best demonstrated by recent studies in *C. rodentium*. The role of the Cpx response in promoting *in vivo* fitness and virulence has also previously been demonstrated in other organisms, such as in uropathogenic *E. coli* (Debnath et al., 2013), *Salmonella* (Fujimoto et al., 2018), and gonococcal *Neisseria*, where MisRS, a 2CST system suggested to be the *Neisseria* CpxRA homolog, was needed to establish infection in the genital tract of mice (Kandler et al., 2016; Gangaiah et al., 2017).

Deleting cpxRA attenuates the ability of *C. rodentium* to colonize and cause death in mice, in some cases completely (Thomassin et al., 2015, 2017; Vogt et al., 2019). cpx gene expression is induced during infection suggesting that the response is activated during host colonization (Thomassin et al., 2015, 2017). Deleting cpxP or nlpE had no significant impact on colonization, virulence or ability to bind to HeLa cells unlike the cpxRA null mutant which was attenuated in all these aspects (Giannakopoulou et al., 2018). Attenuation of virulence was found to be independent of type III secretion and growth rate, as secretion profiles and growth rates remain relatively the same as compared to wildtype in cpxRA mutants (Thomassin et al., 2015; Vogt et al., 2019).

Interestingly, it was recently reported that deleting the Cpxregulated genes degP/htrA and dsbA led to a reduction in secreted protein levels of the T3SS translocator protein EspB in C. rodentium (Vogt et al., 2019). Furthermore, deleting degP or dsbA caused C. rodentium to become completely avirulent, unlike *cpxRA*, which in this study resulted in less attenuation of virulence compared to previous studies (Thomassin et al., 2015, 2017; Vogt et al., 2019). The reason for the difference between these studies is currently unknown. However, mutating the promoter of *degP* and *dsbA* such that they are no longer under the control of CpxR does not attenuate virulence, suggesting that Cpx regulation of *degP* or *dsbA* is not the entire reason why these mutants are avirulent (Vogt et al., 2019). Overall, these studies point to a key role for the Cpx response in promoting in vivo fitness and virulence, but further work characterizing the mechanism of how this occurs is needed.

#### Salmonella

The Cpx response has been strongly implicated in the regulation of virulence in *Salmonella enterica*, which include *S. enterica* serovar Typhi and Typhimurium (*S.* Typhi and *S.* Typhimurium, respectively; **Figure 5B**). In both *S.* Typhi and Typhimurium,

ESRs and Pathogenesis

virulence is heavily dependent on two pathogenicity islands SPI-1 and SPI-2, both of which encode T3SS that facilitate invasion, immune invasion and intracellular survival (reviewed in McGhie et al., 2009; Que et al., 2013; Jennings et al., 2017). cpx genes in Salmonella are organized as they are in E. coli (Nakayama et al., 2003). The sequences of *cpxRA* and *cpxP* have 97, 96, and 88% identity, respectively, to their corresponding homologs in E. coli (Nakayama et al., 2003). As in E. coli, overexpression of the OM lipoprotein NlpE activates the Cpx response (Humphreys et al., 2004). CacA (Cpx-activating connector-like factor A), a small protein conserved in several Gram-negative species including E. coli, is induced by RpoS and is needed for full expression of Cpx-dependent genes such as cpxP and spy in Salmonella, suggesting that fine-tuning of Cpx regulation occurs by input from other regulatory systems, for example, in response to growth phase (Kato et al., 2012). Similarly, in E. coli, RpoS positively regulates *cpxRA*, further suggesting that Cpx regulation occurs in conjunction with other regulatory systems (De Wulf et al., 1999).

Transposon insertions in cpxA were identified in a screen of mutants of S. Typhi with lowered ability to invade INT407 cells (LeClerc et al., 1998). In S. Typhimurium, deletion of cpxA but not cpxR at low pH (pH 6.0) strongly represses the expression of a hilA-lacZ reporter, leading to a loss of invasioneffector protein expression and a severe defect in ability to invade INT407 cells. HilA is a key activator for SPI-1, which encodes T3SS responsible for secreting SipBCD translocator proteins and facilitating invasion (Que et al., 2013). These observations prompted the suggestion that CpxA repression of SPI-1 was CpxR-independent (Nakayama et al., 2003). However, several recent lines of evidence show that the regulation of SPI-1 by CpxA is not independent of CpxR. Deleting cpxRA mimics the phenotype of cpxR not cpxA mutants and overexpressing NlpE represses the expression of SPI-1 (De la Cruz et al., 2015; Subramaniam et al., 2019). Further, deleting the AckA-Pta (acetate kinase, phosphotransacetylase) pathway responsible for generating acetyl phosphate mitigates the effect of deleting *cpxA*, suggesting that in the absence of CpxA phosphatase activity, non-specific phosphodonors activate CpxR, a phenomenon previously noted (McCleary and Stock, 1994; Danese and Silhavy, 1998; Wolfe et al., 2008; De la Cruz et al., 2015). The repression of SPI-1 by phosphorylated CpxR was dependent on Lon, a protease that degrades HilD, a positive regulator of HilA, suggesting that Cpx regulation of SPI-1 occurs by regulating the stability of HilA (De la Cruz et al., 2015). Recently, a study of the Cpx regulon in S. Typhimurium suggested that pocR, a negative regulator of the *pdu-cob* cluster that encodes for genes involved in the breakdown of 1,2-propanediol (PDO), is CpxR-regulated (Subramaniam et al., 2019). PDO has been shown to repress hilA (Nakayama and Watanabe, 2006), suggesting that Cpx regulation of SPI-1 may occur with inputs from metabolism, although the precise mechanism of how this occurs is not clear.

Activation of the Cpx response was also shown to repress SsrB, a key activator for SPI-2 found on SPI-2 itself (Yoon et al., 2009; De la Cruz et al., 2015). It appears that this repression of SPI-2 may occur through two mechanisms, by CpxR directly binding the promoter of *ssrB* (Subramaniam et al., 2019) and by the repression of HilD, which has been shown to activate both SPI-1 and SPI-2 (Bustamante et al., 2008; De la Cruz et al., 2015). Interestingly, CpxR positively regulates motility in *Salmonella*, a finding that stands in contrast to observations in *E. coli* (Subramaniam et al., 2019).

Antimicrobial peptides (AMPs) are among the many challenges enteric pathogens face as they transition to the intestinal environment. These AMPs cause stress primarily by disrupting the envelope, and in particular, disrupt important processes such as ATP generation (reviewed in Li et al., 2017). It makes sense, then, that the Cpx response is important for mediating resistance to various antimicrobial compounds. The Cpx response is activated by polymyxin B (Fujimoto et al., 2018). CpxR was found to regulate pgtE, an OM protease implicated in cleaving and inactivating antimicrobial peptides and deleting *cpxR* accordingly increased sensitivity to polymyxin B (Subramaniam et al., 2019). NlpE overexpression increased resistance to antimicrobial peptides protamine, magainin 2 and melittin by upregulating two twin-arginine transport (Tat)dependent N-acetyl muramoyl-L-alanine amidases AmiA and AmiC in a CpxR-dependent manner (Weatherspoon-Griffin et al., 2011). As these AMPs are an important component of innate immunity, overcoming this barrier is key for pathogens attempting to establish an infection. It appears that the Cpx response may play an important role in overcoming this challenge, a suggestion supported by other studies that have implicated the Cpx response in mediating resistance to AMPs, such as studies of MisRS, a CpxRA homolog in Neisseria spp. (Kandler et al., 2016).

It was initially reported that deleting *cpxR* did not affect colonization of mice organs relative to WT (Humphreys et al., 2004). Interestingly, a recent *in vivo* study in a streptomycintreated mouse model found that while CpxRA was not needed to cause colitis, it was needed for colonization (Fujimoto et al., 2018). It is likely that the differences between these studies are due to the mouse model used in their experiments. While streptomycin-treated mice infected with *S*. Typhimurium cause symptoms analogous to the gastroenteritis caused by *S*. Typhimurium in humans, non-cleared mice infected with *S*. Typhimurium display a typhoid-like illness (Barthel et al., 2003). Further *in vivo* work characterizing the contribution of the Cpx response to *Salmonella* virulence is needed to elucidate the causes of the differences between these models of infection.

#### Vibrio cholerae

*Vibrio cholerae* is a Gram-negative enteric pathogen and the causative agent of the diarrheal disease cholera (reviewed in Clemens et al., 2017). In recent years, a number of studies have examined the impact of the Cpx response in *V. cholerae*. The basic genomic organization of *cpx* genes resembles that of *E. coli* and *S. enterica: cpxRA* is encoded as an operon with *cpxP* encoded upstream and transcribed divergently (Slamti and Waldor, 2009). The sequences of *cpxA, cpxR* and *cpxP* possess 43.6, 60.3, and 21.6% identity, respectively, to their *E. coli* counterparts (Slamti and Waldor, 2009). Importantly, the degree of conservation in the predicted periplasmic sensing domain of *cpxA* is far lower (20.7%) compared to the cytoplasmic region responsible for

CpxR phosphorylation (54.3%), suggesting potential differences in CpxA-activating signals (Slamti and Waldor, 2009). Unlike in E. coli, NlpE in V. cholerae is type II (lacking a C-terminal domain) (Hirano et al., 2007) and NlpE overexpression does not activate the Cpx response in V. cholerae (Slamti and Waldor, 2009). Similarly, alkaline pH is also not a Cpx pathway inducer in V. cholerae (Acosta et al., 2015b). The Cpx response in V. cholerae is activated in response to CuSO<sub>4</sub>, chloride ions, aberrant disulfide bond formation, iron chelation, the absence of RND (resistance-nodulation-division) efflux pumps and ROS (Slamti and Waldor, 2009; Taylor et al., 2014; Acosta et al., 2015b; Kunkle et al., 2017). Mutations in DsbD, which is involved in the folding of secreted proteins by mediating disulfide bond formation (Ito and Inaba, 2008) and TolC, the OM component of efflux pumps (Koronakis et al., 2004), were enriched in a screen of mutants that activated the Cpx response, suggesting a conserved role for Cpx regulation of envelope homeostasis in V. cholerae (Slamti and Waldor, 2009).

The Cpx response has been implicated in regulating several processes that are important for the survival and growth of V. cholerae as it infects its host (Figure 5C). An important innate immune strategy is the sequestration of important minerals to limit bacterial growth. Iron, in particular, is key to several metabolic processes and is normally limited in hosts as it is sequestered in heme groups or iron-carrying proteins such as ferritin. As such, iron uptake presents an important challenge for enteric pathogens to overcome to establish infection (reviewed in Hood and Skaar, 2012). The Cpx response has been implicated in adapting to the stresses caused by low iron. The Cpx response in V. cholerae is activated in response to the chelation of iron and the Cpx regulon in V. cholerae O1 El Tor C6706 is enriched in genes involved in iron acquisition and metabolism, such as those involved in biosynthesis of the siderophore vibriobactin, ferrichrome transport and heme uptake (Acosta et al., 2015b). Furthermore, supplementing growth media with an excess of FeSO<sub>4</sub> was able to decrease activation of the response not only in iron-limiting conditions by 2,2'-bipyridyl, but also in response to diamide and RND efflux pump deletions suggesting that these Cpx-activating cues are related in some way to iron uptake (Acosta et al., 2015b).

V. cholerae possess six RND efflux systems, VexAB, CD, EF, GH, IJK, and LM, all of which likely utilize the OM protein TolC as their OM pore (Bina et al., 2008). These efflux pumps are responsible for the efflux of a variety of potentially harmful substances, including antibiotics such as polymyxin B, erythromycin and ampicillin and detergents such Triton X-100 and sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (Bina et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2012). Loss of these RND efflux pumps leads to a reduction in cholera toxin (CT) and toxin coregulated pilus (TCP) production and abolishes V. cholerae's ability to colonize in an infant mouse model (Bina et al., 2008). Deletions of tolC and genes encoding RND efflux pumps VexAB and VexGH activate the Cpx response and likewise, activating the Cpx response induces expression of TolC and VexAB and VexGH (Slamti and Waldor, 2009; Taylor et al., 2014; Acosta et al., 2015b). These results strongly link the Cpx response to V. cholerae's efflux machinery. However, although inducing the Cpx response by KCl or by a cpxA\*

mutation was able to increase growth on thiosulfate-citrate-bile sucrose (TCBS) agar, a medium which requires the action of RND efflux to allow for growth, deleting cpxR did not negatively affect growth on TCBS agar relative to WT suggesting that the Cpx response is not normally required for growth in efflux-requiring conditions (Taylor et al., 2014). Thus, although efflux and the Cpx response are strongly linked genetically, the extent to which the Cpx response is linked to innate antimicrobial resistance in *V. cholerae* remains to be determined.

Interestingly, the significance of Cpx regulation of RND efflux pumps was shown to be connected to iron acquisition and transport (Kunkle et al., 2017). Mutations in genes involved in the synthesis of vibriobactin, a catechol siderophore (Griffiths et al., 1984), were found to suppress Cpx activation in efflux-deficient mutants (Kunkle et al., 2017). Levels of extracellular vibriobactin were reduced in RND efflux negative mutants, suggesting RND efflux pumps function to transport vibriobactin out of the cell and that in their absence, vibriobactin aberrantly accumulates in the periplasmic space (Kunkle et al., 2017). As iron is an essential component of several IM complexes of the electron transport chain (ETC) (Friedrich et al., 2016), it was suggested that the activation of the Cpx response in the RND-deficient mutant was due to the chelation of iron away from these complexes, leading to aberrant protein folding at the IM and/or the production of ROS during respiration (Kunkle et al., 2017). Consonant with this hypothesis is the observation that activation in efflux-negative mutants was abolished in anaerobic growth and in a sdhA mutant, which encodes for a subunit of succinate dehydrogenase (Kunkle et al., 2017). Studies in EPEC have shown that respiratory complexes found at the IM, such as NDH-I and cytochrome bo3 are negatively regulated by the Cpx response, suggesting that monitoring respiratory complexes at the IM may be a conserved function of the Cpx response, although it remains to be seen how the Cpx response senses these stresses (Raivio et al., 2013; Guest et al., 2017).

Elucidating the precise role of the Cpx response in regulating virulence in V. cholerae is complicated by contrasting results in different, albeit closely related strains. The primary diarrheagenic effect of V. cholerae stems from the ADP-ribosylating action of CT, which leads to changes in intracellular signaling and fluid secretion from intestinal epithelial cells (Field et al., 1972; and Gill et al., 1978). RND efflux pumps have been shown to be needed for the optimal production of CT and TCP in O1 El Tor strain N16961, but deleting *cpxR* in a strain lacking all six RND efflux pumps did not affect decreased levels of CT and TCP, suggesting a Cpx-independent mechanism for the regulation of CT and TCP production (Bina et al., 2008; Taylor et al., 2014). Furthermore, neither cpxA\* (constitutively active) or cpxR mutants changed CT or TCP levels relative to WT (Taylor et al., 2014). Accordingly, neither deletions of cpxR, cpxA or cpxP or activation of the response via a cpxA\* allele affected the ability of N16961 to colonize infant mice (Slamti and Waldor, 2009).

In contrast to these results, mutating *cpxR* in a related O1 El Tor strain, C6706, led to an increase in *ctxB*, *tcpA*, and *tcpP* transcription (Acosta et al., 2015a). Correspondingly, overexpressing CpxR led to a complete abrogation of the expression of CT and TCP both at the transcriptional and protein

level (Acosta et al., 2015a). CpxR overexpression repressed the transcription of ToxT, the direct regulator of TCP and CT (DiRita et al., 1991) and TcpP, a regulator involved in promoting the expression of ToxT (Häse and Mekalanos, 1998), suggesting that Cpx regulation of virulence occurs through established virulence regulators (Acosta et al., 2015a). It was suggested that the discrepancy in results between C6706 and N16961 could be due to a known defect in the ability of N16961 to quorum sense, another process closely involved in regulating virulence in *V. cholerae* (Zhu et al., 2002). Nonetheless, these contrasting results underscore the need to be cognizant of strain differences when conducting work on even closely related strains and future studies investigating these differences may help elucidate the precise mechanisms of Cpx regulation of key *V. cholerae* virulence determinants.

#### Yersinia spp.

The genus *Yersinia* include a number of Gram-negative pathogens including *Y. pestis, Y. pseudotuberculosis* and *Y. enterolitica.* Studies of the Cpx response have focused on the latter two species, *Y. pseudotuberculosis* and *Y. enterolitica*, which, while not as well-known as the infamous cause of the bubonic and pneumonic plagues, are nonetheless significant pathogens of humans (Drummond et al., 2012). However, a study in *Y. pestis* has implicated the Cpx response in promoting survival in neutrophils (O'Loughlin et al., 2010), and as such it is certainly possible that the findings in other species of *Yersinia* are applicable to *Y. pestis*.

The virulence of *Yersinia* spp. depends heavily on the action of the virulence plasmid-encoded Ysc-Yop (*Yersinia* secretion-*Yersinia* outer protein) T3SS. Ycs proteins form the machinery responsible for the translocation of a collection of different Yop effectors that block phagocytosis into host cells directly and allow for extracellular replication of *Yersinia* (reviewed in Cornelis, 2002). *Yersinia* spp. are thought to primarily be extracellular pathogens, although they possess the ability to invade and survive intracellularly (Grabenstein et al., 2004). Several ESRs contribute to virulence factor regulation in *Yersinia*, including the Psp and Rcs responses (Flores-Kim and Darwin, 2012; Li et al., 2015b).

In the last two decades, several studies have examined the Cpx response in *Y. enterolitica* and *Y. pseudotuberculosis*, particularly in relation to type III secretion and adhesion to host cells (**Figure 5D**). The sequence identity of *cpxR* and *cpxA* to their *E. coli* homologs are high in both *Y. pseudotuberculosis* and *Y. enterolitica* (89 and 80%, respectively in *Y. pseudotuberculosis* and 81 and 74%, respectively in *Y. enterolitica*) (Heusipp et al., 2004; Carlsson et al., 2007a). As in *E. coli*, the Cpx regulon in *Yersinia* spp. includes envelope protein folding factors and proteases such as *htrA/degP*, *dsbA* and *ppiA* (Heusipp et al., 2004; Carlsson et al., 2011).

Several studies have shown that deleting *cpxA* represses the production of the Ysc secretion machinery, Yop effectors as well as adhesins such as invasin (*inv*) in *Y. pseudotuberculosis* (Carlsson et al., 2007a,b; Liu et al., 2011, 2012). Furthermore, deleting *cpxA* abrogates the ability of *Y. pseudotuberculosis* to cause cytotoxicity in HeLa cells caused by YopE, a type III secretion secreted cytotoxin (Carlsson et al., 2007a,b; Vlahou

et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2012). This repression of virulence occurs in the *cpxA* mutant as a result of non-specific phosphorylation of CpxR in the absence of CpxA phosphatase activity, as constitutively active cpxA\* mutants produce similar results to cpxA knock-out mutants, and removing acetyl-phosphate by introducing a  $\Delta ackA$ , pta mutation abolishes the effects of deleting cpxA (Carlsson et al., 2007a,b; Liu et al., 2011, 2012). Cytotoxicity was not affected in a cpxR null mutant and this mutation actually increased cell adhesion and invasion (Carlsson et al., 2007a,b). Furthermore, ectopically expressing CpxR, but not CpxR D51A (unable to be phosphorylated), repressed cytotoxicity, indicating that phosphorylated CpxR is responsible for the repression of cell adhesion and type III secretion (Carlsson et al., 2007a; Liu et al., 2011). These results suggest that the Cpx response functions to repress T3SS assembly and secretion and are corroborated by transcriptional data which shows that cpxR is downregulated during conditions that induce the expression of the Ysc-Yops T3SS (Carlsson et al., 2007a).

The precise mechanism of regulation of these processes appears to require a multitude of different regulatory approaches. Although Ysc structural protein levels are reduced in membrane fractions in cpxA null mutants, the promoters of these genes lack CpxR binding sites, suggesting indirect regulation at the transcriptional level or potential post-transcriptional regulation by other Cpx-induced factors (Carlsson et al., 2007a; Liu et al., 2012). In contrast, the transcription of several yop effector genes and syc effector chaperones are directly regulated by phosphorylated CpxR (Liu et al., 2012). In addition, LcrF, a transcription factor which induces the expression of yop genes when the temperature shifts from 26 to 37°C (Cornelis et al., 1989), is also directly regulated by CpxR suggesting that regulation of Yop effectors occurs not only through directly modifying transcription but also by modulating expression of other transcriptional activators (Liu et al., 2012).

A similar story can be told in regards to cell adhesion. Phosphorylated CpxR can directly modulate transcription of known adhesins invasin and pH 6 antigen (psaA), as well as proposed adhesins such as the OM protein Ail, suggesting direct regulation (Carlsson et al., 2007b; Liu et al., 2011). However, regulation of these factors also occurs through other regulators. RovA, a global transcriptional regulator that activates the expression of invasin, is directly regulated by CpxR (Carlsson et al., 2007b). A further level of control was recently discovered when it was demonstrated that RovM, a regulator of RovA that represses its expression during nutrient limitation, was found to be directly CpxR-P regulated (Heroven and Dersch, 2006; Heroven et al., 2008; Thanikkal et al., 2019). Thus, RovA expression is not only modulated by CpxR at its own promoter, but also through CpxR upregulation of RovM. The in vivo significance of this result may be related to the finding that the RovM regulatory cascade is implicated in causing a lifestyle switch from acute to persistent infection in mice (Avican et al., 2015). This is also consistent with findings in S. Typhimurium, where the Cpx response was dispensable for causing acute virulence in mice, but was needed to colonize the mouse gut over longer spans of time (Fujimoto et al., 2018). The sum of these results points to a network of regulatory connections that control the expression of several key *Yersinia* virulence determinants. An area for further investigation is elucidating the precise inducing cues of the Cpx response in *Yersinia* spp. so as to understand why the Cpx response negatively regulates key envelope localized virulence determinants.

The Cpx response in Y. enterolitica has not been explored as thoroughly as in its sister species. Nonetheless, studies point to some key differences. Unlike in Y. pseudotuberculosis, to our knowledge, no studies have been published successfully deleting cpxA in Y. enterolitica, and attempts to do so even in the presence of CpxA expression in trans have not been successful (Ronnebaumer et al., 2009). Furthermore, overexpression of CpxA is deleterious even in normal growth conditions, suggesting that the effect of deleting and overexpressing CpxA is related to the phosphorylation of CpxR (Ronnebaumer et al., 2009). In Y. pseudotuberculosis, however, deleting cpxA only causes a minor growth defect (Carlsson et al., 2007a). At this point, it is unclear what is responsible for the apparent differences between Y. pseudotuberculosis and Y. enterolitica. However, as the Cpx regulon remains relatively uncharacterized in both of these species, its further characterization may yield insights into the root of these differences.

#### Summary

It should be noted that studies of the Cpx response are not limited to the organisms we discuss in this review. Unfortunately, given restraints on space, it is impossible to discuss all of the relevant work in other organisms. As such, we wish to point readers to the following studies for further reading: *Shigella* spp. (Nakayama and Watanabe, 1995, 1998; Mitobe et al., 2005), *Legionella pneumophila* (Gal-Mor and Segal, 2003; Vincent et al., 2006; Altman and Segal, 2008), *Haemophilus ducreyi* (Labandeira-Rey et al., 2009, 2010; Gangaiah et al., 2013), and *Neisseria* spp. (Tzeng et al., 2004, 2008; Kandler et al., 2016; Gangaiah et al., 2017).

The work conducted in a diverse array of different organisms highlights the contribution of the Cpx response to the virulence of several Gram-negative pathogens. Although the exact details can differ between organisms, or even closely related strains, there are a few important motifs that we see repeated throughout these studies. The Cpx regulon across species typically includes envelope-localized protein folding and degradation factors, such as DegP/HtrA. There exists a consistent link between envelope-localized, multi-protein complexes, such as pili or secretion machinery, and regulation by the Cpx response. These patterns support an overarching paradigm where the Cpx response functions to maintain envelope integrity by monitoring protein quality control. However, the specific effect of the Cpx response in different organisms is not uniform, despite the fact that essentially all of the organisms surveyed in this review are enteric pathogens that, generally speaking, share a similar niche in the host. In some organisms (such as C. rodentium), the Cpx response is indispensable to colonization and virulence in vivo, while in other organisms, activation of the Cpx response has a predominantly negative impact on key virulence determinants. Related to this, while in general, the Cpx response negatively regulates key virulence determinants, the presence of the Cpx response tends to be positively associated with colonization or long-term persistence. Given this general observation, it appears that the role of the Cpx response in pathogenesis tends not toward promoting virulence factor expression, but rather ensuring that the cell can survive in the midst of the multitude of stresses faced during the course of infection, whether that be due to the expression of the virulence factors themselves or from external factors, such as host immune strategies.

What is responsible for the observed differences between organisms? It is almost certain that phylogenetic differences can explain aspects of the observed diversity. For example, remarkable similarities exist in the mechanism of Cpx regulation of the LEE T3SS in pathogenic E. coli and the SPI-1 T3SS in S. Typhimurium (see Figures 4, 5 and the corresponding sections). But when comparing more distantly related species (as is reflected in greater sequence dissimilarity in *cpx* genes), such as E. coli and V. cholerae, more disparities tend to be seen in inducing cues, mechanisms of signaling or regulon members. It is also highly likely that differences in life-cycle and infection strategies influence how the Cpx response functions in different species. For example, while phylogenetically, E. coli may be more closely related to Salmonella, than to V. cholerae, the extracellular lifestyle adopted by EPEC and EHEC is more analogous to V. cholerae than to the invasive lifestyle of Salmonella. And so, commonalities, such as the regulation of pilus expression, can be seen in E. coli and V. cholerae. Perhaps part of the issue is that the Cpx response is best characterized in various strains of E. coli and studies in other pathogens have yet to be conducted to the same level of depth. If this is the case, further study in these organisms will only yield expanded insight into our understanding of the Cpx response and its function in the physiology and pathogenesis of a variety of different organisms.

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

It is clear from the literature that ESRs such as the  $\sigma^{E}$  response and the Cpx response play key roles in the physiology and pathogenesis of several Gram-negative bacteria. Nonetheless, it is also clear that many questions remain about these ESRs, such as those about precise mechanisms of signaling and regulation of target genes and processes, and their relevance to in vivo fitness. Particularly of interest is exploring the precise points at which these ESRs are relevant to colonization and infection. When and where are these ESRs active? What precise cues in vivo induce these responses? Do ESRs predominantly mitigate encountered stresses or do ESRs play more proactive roles in promoting colonization or virulence? Exploring these questions further will not only increase our basic understanding of these Gram-negative bacteria but also may help provide potential strategies for the prevention and treatment of the diseases caused by these organisms.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CH and TC reviewed the literature, co-wrote the manuscript, and prepared the figures. GR and TR conceived the idea and co-edited the drafts.

## FUNDING

This work was funded by operating grant MOP 342982 from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research and discovery grant

#### REFERENCES

- Abe, H., Miyahara, A., Oshima, T., Tashiro, K., Ogura, Y., Kuhara, S., et al. (2008). Global regulation by horizontally transferred regulators establishes the pathogenicity of *Escherichia coli. DNA Res.* 15, 25–38. doi: 10.1093/dnares/dsm033
- Acosta, N., Pukatzki, S., and Raivio, T. L. (2015a). The Cpx system regulates virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 2396–2408. doi: 10.1128/IAI.03056-14
- Acosta, N., Pukatzki, S., and Raivio, T. L. (2015b). The Vibrio cholerae Cpx envelope stress response senses and mediates adaptation to low iron. J. Bacteriol. 197, 262–276. doi: 10.1128/JB.01957-14
- Ades, S. E., Connolly, L. E., Alba, B. M., and Gross, C. A. (1999). The *Escherichia coli* sigma(E)-dependent extracytoplasmic stress response is controlled by the regulated proteolysis of an anti-sigma factor. *Genes Dev.* 13, 2449–2461. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.18.2449
- Ahuja, N., Korkin, D., Chaba, R., Cezairliyan, B. O., Sauer, R. T., Kim, K. K., et al. (2009). Analyzing the interaction of RseA and RseB, the two negative regulators of the sigmaE envelope stress response, using a combined bioinformatic and experimental strategy. J. Biol. Chem. 284, 5403–5413. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M806012200
- Akiyama, Y. (2009). Quality control of cytoplasmic membrane proteins in Escherichia coli. J. Biochem. 146, 449–454. doi: 10.1093/jb/mvp071
- Alba, B. M., Leeds, J. A., Onufryk, C., Lu, C. Z., and Gross, C. A. (2002). DegS and YaeL participate sequentially in the cleavage of RseA to activate the sigma(E)-dependent extracytoplasmic stress response. *Genes Dev.* 16, 2156–2168. doi: 10.1101/gad.1008902
- Altman, E., and Segal, G. (2008). The response regulator CpxR directly regulates expression of several Legionella pneumophila icm/dot components as well as new translocated substrates. *J. Bacteriol.* 190, 1985–1996. doi: 10.1128/JB.01493-07
- Amar, A., Pezzoni, M., Pizarro, R. A., and Costa, C. S. (2018). New envelope stress factors involved in sigma(E) activation and conditional lethality of rpoE mutations in *Salmonella enterica*. *Microbiology* 164, 1293–1307. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.000701
- Amy, M., Velge, P., Senocq, D., Bottreau, E., Mompart, F., and Virlogeux-Payant, I. (2004). Identification of a new *Salmonella enterica* serovar Enteritidis locus involved in cell invasion and in the colonisation of chicks. *Res. Microbiol.* 155, 543–552. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2004.03.005
- Appia-Ayme, C., Hall, A., Patrick, E., Rajadurai, S., Clarke, Thomas, A., and Rowley, G. (2012). ZraP is a periplasmic molecular chaperone and a repressor of the zinc-responsive two-component regulator ZraSR. *Biochem. J.* 442, 85–93. doi: 10.1042/BJ20111639
- Appia-Ayme, C., Patrick, E., Sullivan, M. J., Alston, M. J., Field, S. J., AbuOun, M., et al. (2011). Novel inducers of the envelope stress response BaeSR in *Salmonella* Typhimurium: BaeR is critically required for tungstate waste disposal. *PLoS ONE* 6:e23713. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0023713
- Arie, J. P., Sassoon, N., and Betton, J. M. (2001). Chaperone function of FkpA, a heat shock prolyl isomerase, in the periplasm of *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 39, 199–210. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02250.x
- Asmar, A. T., and Collet, J.-F. (2018). Lpp, the Braun lipoprotein, turns 50 major achievements and remaining issues. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 365:fny199. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fny199
- Audrain, B., Ferrieres, L., Zairi, A., Soubigou, G., Dobson, C., Coppee, J. Y., et al. (2013). Induction of the Cpx envelope stress pathway contributes to *Escherichia coli* tolerance to antimicrobial peptides. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 79, 7770–7779. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02593-13
- Avican, K., Fahlgren, A., Huss, M., Heroven, A. K., Beckstette, M., Dersch, P., et al. (2015). Reprogramming of *Yersinia* from virulent to persistent mode

RGPIN 238422-2013 from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council to TR and a Norwich Research Park BBSRC Doctoral Training Partnership Studentship awarded to CH (BB/M011216/1).

revealed by complex *in vivo* RNA-seq analysis. *PLoS Pathog.* 11:e1004600. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004600

- Baker, T. A., and Sauer, R. T. (2012). ClpXP, an ATP-powered unfolding and protein-degradation machine. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1823, 15–28. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.06.007
- Bardwell, J. C. A., McGovern, K., and Beckwith, J. (1991). Identification of a protein required for disulfide bond formation *in vivo*. *Cell* 67, 581–589. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90532-4
- Barthel, M., Hapfelmeier, S., Quintanilla-Martinez, L., Kremer, M., Rohde, M., Hogardt, M., et al. (2003). Pretreatment of mice with streptomycin provides a *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium colitis model that allows analysis of both pathogen and host. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 2839–2858. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.5.2839-2858.2003
- Bazire, A., Shioya, K., Soum-Soutéra, E., Bouffartigues, E., Ryder, C., Guentas-Dombrowsky, L., et al. (2010). The sigma factor AlgU plays a key role in formation of robust biofilms by nonmucoid and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. J. Bacteriol. 192, 3001–3010. doi: 10.1128/JB.01633-09
- Behrens, S., Maier, R., de Cock, H., Schmid, F. X., and Gross, C. A. (2001). The SurA periplasmic PPIase lacking its parvulin domains functions *in vivo* and has chaperone activity. *EMBO J.* 20, 285–294. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.1.285
- Belas, R. (2014). Biofilms, flagella, and mechanosensing of surfaces by bacteria. *Trends Microbiol.* 22, 517–527. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2014.05.002
- Bernal-Cabas, M., Ayala, J. A., and Raivio, T. L. (2015). The Cpx envelope stress response modifies peptidoglycan cross-linking via the L,Dtranspeptidase LdtD and the novel protein YgaU. J. Bacteriol. 197, 603–614. doi: 10.1128/JB.02449-14
- Bina, X. R., Provenzano, D., Nguyen, N., and Bina, J. E. (2008). Vibrio cholerae RND family efflux systems are required for antimicrobial resistance, optimal virulence factor production, and colonization of the infant mouse small intestine. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 3595–3605. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01620-07
- Bodelon, G., Marin, E., and Fernandez, L. A. (2009). Role of periplasmic chaperones and BamA (YaeT/Omp85) in folding and secretion of intimin from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* strains. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 5169–5179. doi: 10.1128/JB.00458-09
- Bos, M. P., Robert, V., and Tommassen, J. (2007). Biogenesis of the gramnegative bacterial outer membrane. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 61, 191–214. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.61.080706.093245
- Braun, V. (1975). Covalent lipoprotein from the outer membrane of Escherichia coli. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 415, 335–377. doi: 10.1016/0304-4157(75)90013-1
- Buelow, D. R., and Raivio, T. L. (2005). Cpx signal transduction is influenced by a conserved N-terminal domain in the novel inhibitor CpxP and the periplasmic protease DegP. J. Bacteriol. 187, 6622–6630. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.19.6622-6630.2005
- Buist, G., Steen, A., Kok, J., and Kuipers, O. P. (2008). LysM, a widely distributed protein motif for binding to (peptido)glycans. *Mol. Microbiol.* 68, 838–847. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.06211.x
- Bustamante, V. H., Martínez, L. C., Santana, F. J., Knodler, L. A., Steele-Mortimer, O., and Puente, J. L. (2008). HilD-mediated transcriptional crosstalk between SPI-1 and SPI-2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 105, 14591–14596. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0801205105
- Button, J. E., Silhavy, T. J., and Ruiz, N. (2007). A suppressor of cell death caused by the loss of sigmaE downregulates extracytoplasmic stress responses and outer membrane vesicle production in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 189, 1523–1530. doi: 10.1128/JB.01534-06
- Carlsson, K. E., Liu, J., Edqvist, P. J., and Francis, M. S. (2007a). Extracytoplasmicstress-responsive pathways modulate type III secretion in *Yersinia* pseudotuberculosis. Infect. Immun. 75, 3913–3924. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01346-06
- Carlsson, K. E., Liu, J., Edqvist, P. J., and Francis, M. S. (2007b). Influence of the Cpx extracytoplasmic-stress-responsive pathway on *Yersinia* sp.-eukaryotic cell contact. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 4386–4399. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01450-06

- Chaba, R., Alba, B. M., Guo, M. S., Sohn, J., Ahuja, N., Sauer, R. T., et al. (2011). Signal integration by DegS and RseB governs the and#963; E-mediated envelope stress response in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108, 2106–2111. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1019277108
- Chaba, R., Grigorova, I. L., Flynn, J. M., Baker, T. A., and Gross, C. A. (2007). Design principles of the proteolytic cascade governing the sigmaE-mediated envelope stress response in *Escherichia coli*: keys to graded, buffered, and rapid signal transduction. *Genes Dev.* 21, 124–136. doi: 10.1101/gad.1496707
- Chao, Y., and Vogel, J. (2016). A 3' UTR-derived small RNA provides the regulatory noncoding arm of the inner membrane stress response. *Mol. Cell* 61, 352–363. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.12.023
- Chassaing, B., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2013). The  $\sigma$ E pathway is involved in biofilm formation by Crohn's disease-associated adherent-invasive *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 195, 76–84. doi: 10.1128/JB.01079-12
- Clemens, J. D., Nair, G. B., Ahmed, T., Qadri, F., and Holmgren, J. (2017). Cholera. Lancet 390, 1539–1549. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30559-7
- Collinet, B., Yuzawa, H., Chen, T., Herrera, C., and Missiakas, D. (2000). RseB binding to the periplasmic domain of RseA modulates the RseA: *j* ∈ interaction in the cytoplasm and the availability of *j* ∈ RNA polymerase. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 33898–33904. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M006214200
- Collins, J. W., Keeney, K. M., Crepin, V. F., Rathinam, V. A., Fitzgerald, K. A., Finlay, B. B., et al. (2014). Citrobacter rodentium: infection, inflammation and the microbiota. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 12, 612–623. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3315
- Coornaert, A., Lu, A., Mandin, P., Springer, M., Gottesman, S., and Guillier, M. (2010). MicA sRNA links the PhoP regulon to cell envelope stress. *Mol. Microbiol.* 76, 467–479. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07115.x
- Cornelis, G., Sluiters, C., Lambert de Rouvroit, C., and Michiels, T. (1989). Homology between VirF, the transcriptional activator of the *Yersinia* virulence regulon, and AraC, the *Escherichia coli* arabinose operon regulator. *J. Bacteriol.* 171, 254–262. doi: 10.1128/jb.171.1.254-262.1989
- Cornelis, G. R. (2002). The Yersinia Ysc-Yop 'type III' weaponry. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 3, 742–752. doi: 10.1038/nrm932
- Cosma, C. L., Danese, P. N., Carlson, J. H., Silhavy, T. J., and Snyder, W. B. (1995). Mutational activation of the Cpx signal transduction pathway of *Escherichia coli* suppresses the toxicity conferred by certain envelope-associated stresses. *Mol. Microbiol.* 18, 491–505. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1995.mmi\_18030491.x
- Crouch, M. L., Becker, L. A., Bang, I. S., Tanabe, H., Ouellette, A. J., and Fang, F. C. (2005). The alternative sigma factor sigma is required for resistance of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium to anti-microbial peptides. *Mol. Microbiol.* 56, 789–799. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04578.x
- Dalebroux, Z. D., Matamouros, S., Whittington, D., Bishop, R. E., and Miller, S. I. (2014). PhoPQ regulates acidic glycerophospholipid content of the Salmonella Typhimurium outer membrane. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 111, 1963–1968. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1316901111
- Dalebroux, Z. D., and Miller, S. I. (2014). Salmonellae PhoPQ regulation of the outer membrane to resist innate immunity. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 17, 106–113. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2013.12.005
- Damron, F. H., and Goldberg, J. B. (2012). Proteolytic regulation of alginate overproduction in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Mol. Microbiol. 84, 595–607. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2012.08049.x
- Danese, P. N., and Silhavy, T. J. (1998). CpxP, a stress-combative member of the Cpx regulon. J. Bacteriol. 180, 831–839.
- Danese, P. N., Snyder, W. B., Cosma, C. L., Davis, L. J. B., and Silhavy, T. J. (1995). The Cpx two-component signal transduction pathway of *Escherichia coli* regulates transcription of the gene specifying the stress-inducible periplasmic protease, DegP. *Genes Dev.* 9, 387–398. doi: 10.1101/gad.9.4.387
- Dartigalongue, C., Missiakas, D., and Raina, S. (2001). Characterization of the *Escherichia coli* sigma E regulon. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 20866–20875. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M100464200
- Darwin, A. J. (2013). Stress relief during host infection: the phage shock protein response supports bacterial virulence in various ways. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003388. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003388
- De la Cruz, M. A., Morgan, J. K., Ares, M. A., Yanez-Santos, J. A., Riordan, J. T., and Giron, J. A. (2016). The two-component system CpxRA negatively regulates the locus of enterocyte effacement of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* involving sigma and lon protease. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 6:11. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00011

- De la Cruz, M. A., Perez-Morales, D., Palacios, I. J., Fernandez-Mora, M., Calva, E., and Bustamante, V. H. (2015). The two-component system CpxR/A represses the expression of *Salmonella* virulence genes by affecting the stability of the transcriptional regulator HilD. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:807. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00807
- De Las Peñas, A., Connolly, L., and Gross, C. A. (1997a). SigmaE is an essential sigma factor in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 179, 6862–6864. doi: 10.1128/jb.179.21.6862-6864.1997
- De Las Peñas, A., Connolly, L., and Gross, C. A. (1997b). The sigmaE-mediated response to extracytoplasmic stress in *Escherichia coli* is transduced by RseA and RseB, two negative regulators of sigmaE. *Mol. Microbiol.* 24, 373–385. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.3611718.x
- De Wulf, P., Kwon, O., and Lin, E. C. C. (1999). The CpxRA signal transduction system of *Escherichia coli*: growth-related autoactivation and control of unanticipated target operons. J. Bacteriol. 181, 6772–6778.
- Debnath, I., Norton, J. P., Barber, A. E., Ott, E. M., Dhakal, B. K., Kulesus, R. R., et al. (2013). The Cpx stress response system potentiates the fitness and virulence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* 81, 1450–1459. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01213-12
- Delhaye, A., Collet, J. F., and Laloux, G. (2016). Fine-tuning of the Cpx envelope stress response is required for cell wall homeostasis in *Escherichia coli*. *MBio* 7:e00047-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00047-16
- Delhaye, A., Laloux, G., and Collet, J. F. (2019). The lipoprotein NlpE is a Cpx sensor that serves as a sentinel for protein sorting and folding defects in the *Escherichia coli* envelope. J. Bacteriol. 201:e00611-18. doi: 10.1128/JB.00611-18
- DiGiuseppe, P. A., and Silhavy, T. J. (2003). Signal detection and target gene induction by the CpxRA two-component system. J. Bacteriol. 185, 2432–2440. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.8.2432-2440.2003
- DiRita, V. J., Parsot, C., Jander, G., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1991). Regulatory cascade controls virulence in *Vibrio cholerae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 88, 5403–5407. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.12.5403
- Douchin, V., Bohn, C., and Bouloc, P. (2006). Down-regulation of Porins by a Small RNA bypasses the essentiality of the regulated intramembrane proteolysis protease RseP in *Escherichia coli. J. Biol. Chem.* 281, 12253–12259. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M600819200
- Drummond, N., Murphy, B. P., Ringwood, T., Prentice, M. B., Buckley, J. F., and Fanning, S. (2012). Yersinia enterocolitica: a brief review of the issues relating to the zoonotic pathogen, public health challenges, and the pork production chain. Foodborne Pathog. Dis. 9, 179–189. doi: 10.1089/fpd.201 1.0938
- Du, H., Sheng, X., Zhang, H., Zou, X., Ni, B., Xu, S., et al. (2011). RpoE may promote flagellar gene expression in *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhi under hyperosmotic stress. *Curr. Microbiol.* 62, 492–500. doi: 10.1007/s00284-010-9734-y
- Eriksson, S., Lucchini, S., Thompson, A., Rhen, M., and Hinton, J. C. D. (2003). Unravelling the biology of macrophage infection by gene expression profiling of intracellular *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 47, 103–118. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03313.x
- Ernst, R. K., Guina, T., and Miller, S. I. (2001). Salmonella Typhimurium outer membrane remodeling: role in resistance to host innate immunity. Microbes Infect. 3, 1327–1334. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(01)01494-0
- Evans, K. L., Kannan, S., Li, G., de Pedro, M. A., and Young, K. D. (2013). Eliminating a set of four penicillin binding proteins triggers the Rcs phosphorelay and Cpx stress responses in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 195, 4415–4424. doi: 10.1128/JB.00596-13
- Fang, Ferric, C., Frawley, Elaine, R., Tapscott, T., and Vázquez-Torres, A. (2016). Bacterial stress responses during host infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 20, 133–143. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.009
- Fardini, Y., Chettab, K., Grepinet, O., Rochereau, S., Trotereau, J., Harvey, P., et al. (2007). The YfgL lipoprotein is essential for type III secretion system expression and virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar enteritidis. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 358–370. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00716-06
- Fardini, Y., Trotereau, J., Bottreau, E., Souchard, C., Velge, P., and Virlogeux-Payant, I. (2009). Investigation of the role of the BAM complex and SurA chaperone in outer-membrane protein biogenesis and type III secretion system expression in *Salmonella*. *Microbiology* 155(Pt 5), 1613–1622. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.025155-0

- Field, M., Fromm, D., Al-Awqati, Q., and Greenough, W. B. III. (1972). Effect of cholera enterotoxin on ion transport across isolated ileal mucosa. J. Clin. Invest. 51, 796–804. doi: 10.1172/JCI106874
- Figueroa-Bossi, N., Lemire, S., Maloriol, D., Balbontin, R., Casadesus, J., and Bossi, L. (2006). Loss of Hfq activates the sigmaE-dependent envelope stress response in *Salmonella enterica*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 62, 838–852. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05413.x
- Flores-Kim, J., and Darwin, A. J. (2012). Links between type III secretion and extracytoplasmic stress responses in Yersinia. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 2:125. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00125
- Flores-Kim, J., and Darwin, A. J. (2016). The phage shock protein response. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 70, 83–101. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-102215-095359
- Flynn, J. M., Levchenko, I., Sauer, R. T., and Baker, T. A. (2004). Modulating substrate choice: the SspB adaptor delivers a regulator of the extracytoplasmicstress response to the AAA+ protease ClpXP for degradation. *Genes Dev.* 18, 2292–2301. doi: 10.1101/gad.1240104
- Friedrich, T., Dekovic, D. K., and Burschel, S. (2016). Assembly of the Escherichia coli NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase (respiratory complex I). Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1857, 214–223. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2015.12.004
- Frohlich, K. S., and Gottesman, S. (2018). Small regulatory RNAs in the enterobacterial response to envelope damage and oxidative stress. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 6. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.RWR-0022-2018
- Fujimoto, M., Goto, R., Haneda, T., Okada, N., and Miki, T. (2018). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium CpxRA two-component system contributes to gut colonization in salmonella-induced colitis. *Infect. Immun.* 86:e00280-18. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00280-18
- Gallagher, L. A., and Manoil, C. (2001). Pseudomonas aeruginosa PAO1 Kills Caenorhabditis elegans by cyanide poisoning. J. Bacteriol. 183, 6207–6214. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.21.6207-6214.2001
- Gal-Mor, O., and Segal, G. (2003). Identification of CpxR as a positive regulator of icm and dot virulence genes of *Legionella pneumophila*. J. Bacteriol. 185, 4908–4919. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.16.4908-4919.2003
- Gangaiah, D., Raterman, E. L., Wu, H., Fortney, K. R., Gao, H., Liu, Y., et al. (2017). Both MisR (CpxR) and MisS (CpxA) are required for *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* infection in a murine model of lower genital tract infection. *Infect. Immun.* 85:e00307-17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00307-17
- Gangaiah, D., Zhang, X., Fortney, K. R., Baker, B., Liu, Y., Munson, R. S. Jr., et al. (2013). Activation of CpxRA in Haemophilus ducreyi primarily inhibits the expression of its targets, including major virulence determinants. *J. Bacteriol.* 195, 3486–3502. doi: 10.1128/JB.00372-13
- Ge, X., Lyu, Z.-X., Liu, Y., Wang, R., Zhao, X.S., Fu, X., et al. (2014). Identification of FkpA as a key quality control factor for the biogenesis of outer membrane proteins under heat shock conditions. *J. Bacteriol.* 196, 672–680. doi: 10.1128/JB.01069-13
- Gellatly, S. L., and Hancock, R. E. W. (2013). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: new insights into pathogenesis and host defenses. *Pathog. Dis.* 67, 159–173. doi: 10.1111/2049-632X.12033
- Ghequire, M. G. K., Swings, T., Michiels, J., Buchanan, S. K., and De Mot, R. (2018). Hitting with a BAM selective killing by lectin-like bacteriocins. *MBio* 9:e02138-17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02138-17
- Giannakopoulou, N., Mendis, N., Zhu, L., Gruenheid, S., Faucher, S. P., and Le Moual, H. (2018). The virulence effect of CpxRA in *Citrobacter rodentium* is independent of the auxiliary proteins NlpE and CpxP. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 8:320. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00320
- Gill,,, D. M., and Meren, R. (1978). ADP-ribosylation of membrane proteins catalyzed by cholera toxin: Basis of the activation of adenylate cyclase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 75, 3050–3054. doi: 10.1073/pnas.75.7.3050
- Gogol, E. B., Rhodius, V. A., Papenfort, K., Vogel, J., and Gross, C. A. (2011). Small RNAs endow a transcriptional activator with essential repressor functions for single-tier control of a global stress regulon. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 108, 12875–12880. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1109379108
- Govan, J. R., and Deretic, V. (1996). Microbial pathogenesis in cystic fibrosis: mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia*. *Microbiol. Rev.* 60, 539–574.
- Grabenstein, J. P., Marceau, M., Pujol, C., Simonet, M., and Bliska, J. B. (2004). The response regulator PhoP of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis is important for replication in macrophages and for virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 4973–4984. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.9.4973-4984.2004

- Grabowicz, M., Koren, D., and Silhavy, T. J. (2016). The CpxQ sRNA negatively regulates Skp to prevent mistargeting of beta-Barrel outer membrane proteins into the cytoplasmic membrane. *MBio* 7:e00312-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00312-16
- Grabowicz, M., and Silhavy, T. J. (2017). Redefining the essential trafficking pathway for outer membrane lipoproteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 114, 4769–4774. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1702248114
- Griffiths, G. L., Sigel, S. P., Payne, S. M., and Neilands, J. B. (1984). Vibriobactin, a siderophore from *Vibrio cholerae. J. Biol. Chem.* 259, 383–385.
- Guest, R. L., Wang, J., Wong, J. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2017). A bacterial stress response regulates respiratory protein complexes to control envelope stress adaptation. J. Bacteriol. 199:e00153-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00153-17
- Guisbert, E., Rhodius, V. A., Ahuja, N., Witkin, E., and Gross, C. A. (2007). Hfq modulates the σE-mediated envelope stress response and the σ32-mediated cytoplasmic stress response in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 189, 1963–1973. doi: 10.1128/JB.01243-06
- Guo, M. S., Updegrove, T. B., Gogol, E. B., Shabalina, S. A., Gross, C. A., and Storz, G. (2014). MicL, a new oE-dependent sRNA, combats envelope stress by repressing synthesis of Lpp, the major outer membrane lipoprotein. *Genes Dev.* 28, 1620–1634. doi: 10.1101/gad.243485.114
- Guo, X.-P., and Sun, Y.-C. (2017). New insights into the non-orthodox two component rcs phosphorelay system. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:2014. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.02014
- Hagan, C. L., Westwood, D. B., and Kahne, D. (2013). bam lipoproteins assemble BamA *in vitro*. *Biochemistry* 52, 6108–6113. doi: 10.1021/bi400865z
- Hagan, C. L., Wzorek, J. S., and Kahne, D. (2015). Inhibition of the  $\beta$ -barrel assembly machine by a peptide that binds BamD. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S.* A. 112, 2011–2016. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415955112
- Häse, C. C., and Mekalanos, J. J. (1998). TcpP protein is a positive regulator of virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 95, 730–734. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.2.730
- Hayden, J. D., and Ades, S. E. (2008). The extracytoplasmic stress factor, σE, is required to maintain cell envelope integrity in *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS ONE* 3:e1573. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0001573
- Hernday, A. D., Braaten, B. A., Broitman-Maduro, G., Engelberts, P., and Low, D. A. (2004). Regulation of the pap epigenetic switch by CpxAR: phosphorylated CpxR inhibits transition to the phase ON state by competition with Lrp. *Mol. Cell* 16, 537–547. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2004.10.020
- Heroven, A. K., Bohme, K., Rohde, M., and Dersch, P. (2008). A Csrtype regulatory system, including small non-coding RNAs, regulates the global virulence regulator RovA of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* through RovM. *Mol. Microbiol.* 68, 1179–1195. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2008.0 6218.x
- Heroven, A. K., and Dersch, P. (2006). RovM, a novel LysR-type regulator of the virulence activator gene rovA, controls cell invasion, virulence and motility of Yersinia pseudotuberculosis. *Mol. Microbiol.* 62, 1469–1483. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05458.x
- Heusipp, G., Miller, V. L., and Schmidt, M. A. (2003). Identification of rpoE and nadB as host responsive elements of Yersinia enterocolitica. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 226, 291–298. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00613-X
- Heusipp, G., Nelson, K. M., Schmidt, M. A., and Miller, V. L. (2004). Regulation of htrA expression in *Yersinia enterocolitica*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 231, 227–235. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00962-5
- Hirano, Y., Hossain, M. M., Takeda, K., Tokuda, H., and Miki, K. (2007). Structural studies of the Cpx pathway activator NlpE on the outer membrane of *Escherichia coli*. *Structure* 15, 963–976. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2007. 06.014
- Holmqvist, E., and Wagner, E. G. H. (2017). Impact of bacterial sRNAs in stress responses. *Biochem. Soc. Trans.* 45, 1203–1212. doi: 10.1042/BST20 160363
- Höltje, J. V., Mirelman, D., Sharon, N., and Schwarz, U. (1975). Novel type of murein transglycosylase in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 124, 1067–1076.
- Hood, M. I., and Skaar, E. P. (2012). Nutritional immunity: transition metals at the pathogen-host interface. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 525–537. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2836
- Hooda, Y., Shin, H. E., Bateman, T. J., and Moraes, T. F. (2017). Neisserial surface lipoproteins: structure, function and biogenesis. *Pathog. Dis.* 75:ftx010. doi: 10.1093/femspd/ftx010

- Horne, S. M., Kottom, T. J., Nolan, L. K., and Young, K. D. (1997). Decreased intracellular survival of an fkpA mutant of Salmonella typhimurium Copenhagen. *Infect. Immun.* 65, 806–810.
- Humphreys, S., Rowley, G., Stevenson, A., Anjum, M. F., Woodward, M. J., Gilbert, S., et al. (2004). Role of the two-component regulator CpxAR in the virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 72, 4654–4661. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.8.4654-4661.2004
- Humphreys, S., Rowley, G., Stevenson, A., Kenyon, W. J., Spector, M. P., and Roberts, M. (2003). Role of periplasmic peptidylprolyl isomerases in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 5386–5388. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.9.5386-5388.2003
- Humphreys, S., Stevenson, A., Bacon, A., Weinhardt, A. B., and Roberts, M. (1999). The alternative sigma factor,  $\sigma(E)$ , is critically important for the virulence of Salmonella typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 67, 1560–1568.
- Humphries, R. M., Griener, T. P., Vogt, S. L., Mulvey, G. L., Raivio, T., Donnenberg, M. S., et al. (2010). N-acetyllactosamine-induced retraction of bundle-forming pili regulates virulence-associated gene expression in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 76, 1111–1126. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07192.x
- Hung, D. L., Raivio, T. L., Jones, C. H., Silhavy, T. J., and Hultgren, S. J. (2001). Cpx signaling pathway monitors biogenesis and affects assembly and expression of P pili. *EMBO J.* 20, 1508–1518. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.7.1508
- Isaac, D. D., Pinkner, J. S., Hultgren, S. J., and Silhavy, T. J. (2005). The extracytoplasmic adaptor protein CpxP is degraded with substrate by DegP. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 102, 17775–17779. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0508936102
- Ito, K., and Inaba, K. (2008). The disulfide bond formation (Dsb) system. Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol. 18, 450–458. doi: 10.1016/j.sbi.2008.02.002
- Jennings, E., Thurston, T. L. M., and Holden, D. W. (2017). Salmonella SPI-2 Type III secretion system effectors: molecular mechanisms and physiological consequences. *Cell Host Microbe* 22, 217–231. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2017.07.009
- Johansen, J., Rasmussen, A. A., Overgaard, M., and Valentin-Hansen, P. (2006). Conserved small non-coding RNAs that belong to the  $\sigma E$  regulon: role in down-regulation of outer membrane proteins. *J. Mol. Biol.* 364, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2006.09.004
- Jones, C. H., Danese, P. N., Pinkner, J. S., Silhavy, T. J., and Hultgren, S. J. (1997). The chaperone-assisted membrane release and folding pathway is sensed by two signal transduction systems. *EMBO J.* 16, 6394–6406. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.21.6394
- Kandler, J. L., Holley, C. L., Reimche, J. L., Dhulipala, V., Balthazar, J. T., Muszynski, A., et al. (2016). The MisR response regulator is necessary for intrinsic cationic antimicrobial peptide and aminoglycoside resistance in *Neisseria gonorrhoeae. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 60, 4690–4700. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00823-16
- Kanehara, K., Ito, K., and Akiyama, Y. (2002). YaeL (EcfE) activates the sigma(E) pathway of stress response through a site-2 cleavage of anti-sigma(E), RseA. *Genes Dev.* 16, 2147–2155. doi: 10.1101/gad.1002302
- Kato, A., Hayashi, H., Nomura, W., Emori, H., Hagihara, K., and Utsumi, R. (2012). A connector-like factor, CacA, links RssB/RpoS and the CpxR/CpxA two-component system in *Salmonella. BMC Microbiol.* 12:224. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-12-224
- Kimkes, T. E. P., and Heinemann, M. (2018). Reassessing the role of the *Escherichia coli* CpxAR system in sensing surface contact. *PLoS ONE* 13:e0207181. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207181
- Kint, G., De Coster, D., Marchal, K., Vanderleyden, J., and De Keersmaecker, S. C. J. (2010). The small regulatory RNA molecule MicA is involved in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium biofilm formation. *BMC Microbiol.* 10:276. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-276
- Klein, G., Kobylak, N., Lindner, B., Stupak, A., and Raina, S. (2014). Assembly of lipopolysaccharide in *Escherichia coli* requires the essential LapB heat shock protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 289, 14829–14853. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M113.539494
- Klein, G., and Raina, S. (2015). Regulated control of the assembly and diversity of LPS by noncoding sRNAs. *Biomed Res. Int.* 2015:153561. doi: 10.1155/2015/153561
- Klein, K., Sonnabend, M. S., Frank, L., Leibiger, K., Franz-Wachtel, M., Macek, B., et al. (2019). Deprivation of the periplasmic chaperone SurA reduces virulence and restores antibiotic susceptibility of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Front. Microbiol.* 10:100. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00100

- Konovalova, A., Grabowicz, M., Balibar, C. J., Malinverni, J. C., Painter, R. E., Riley, D., et al. (2018). Inhibitor of intramembrane protease RseP blocks the σE response causing lethal accumulation of unfolded outer membrane proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 115:E6614. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1806107115
- Konovalova, A., Kahne, D. E., and Silhavy, T. J. (2017). Outer membrane biogenesis. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 71, 539–556. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090816-093754
- Koronakis, V., Eswaran, J., and Hughes, C. (2004). Structure and function of TolC: the bacterial exit duct for proteins and drugs. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 73, 467–489. doi: 10.1146/annurev.biochem.73.011303.074104
- Kovacikova, G., and Skorupski, K. (2002). The alternative sigma factor E plays an important role in intestinal survival and virulence in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 5355–5362. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.10.5355-5362.2002
- Kuhn, A., Koch, H. G., and Dalbey, R. E. (2017). Targeting and insertion of membrane proteins. *EcoSal Plus* 7, 1–27. doi: 10.1128/ecosalplus.ESP-0012-2016
- Kunkle, D. E., Bina, X. R., and Bina, J. E. (2017). The Vibrio cholerae VexGH RND efflux system maintains cellular homeostasis by effluxing vibriobactin. MBio 8:e00126-17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00126-17
- Kwon, E., Kim, D. Y., Gross, C. A., Gross, J. D., and Kim, K. K. (2010). The crystal structure *Escherichia coli* Spy. *Protein Sci.* 19, 2252–2259. doi: 10.1002/pro.489
- Labandeira-Rey, M., Brautigam, C. A., and Hansen, E. J. (2010). Characterization of the CpxRA regulon in *Haemophilus ducreyi*. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 4779–4791. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00678-10
- Labandeira-Rey, M., Mock, J. R., and Hansen, E. J. (2009). Regulation of expression of the *Haemophilus ducreyi* LspB and LspA2 proteins by CpxR. *Infect. Immun.* 77, 3402–3411. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00292-09
- Lasaro, M., Liu, Z., Bishar, R., Kelly, K., Chattopadhyay, S., Paul, S., et al. (2014). *Escherichia coli* isolate for studying colonization of the mouse intestine and its application to two-component signaling knockouts. *J. Bacteriol.* 196, 1723–1732. doi: 10.1128/JB.01296-13
- LeClerc, G. J., Tartera, C., and Metcalf, E. S. (1998). Environmental regulation of Salmonella typhi invasion-defective mutants. Infect. Immun. 66, 682–691.
- Lee, P. A., Tullman-Ercek, D., and Georgiou, G. (2006). The bacterial twin-arginine translocation pathway. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 60, 373–395. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.60.080805.142212
- Lee, Y. M., DiGiuseppe, P. A., Silhavy, T. J., and Hultgren, S. J. (2004). P pilus assembly motif necessary for activation of the CpxRA pathway by PapE in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 186, 4326–4337. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.13.4326-4337.2004
- Lewis, C., Skovierova, H., Rowley, G., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Stevenson, A., et al. (2008). Small outer-membrane lipoprotein, SmpA, is regulated by sigmaE and has a role in cell envelope integrity and virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 154(Pt 3), 979–988. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2007/011999-0
- Li, J., Koh, J. J., Liu, S., Lakshminarayanan, R., Verma, C. S., and Beuerman, R. W. (2017). Membrane Active Antimicrobial Peptides: Translating Mechanistic Insights to Design. *Front. Neurosci.* 11, 73. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2017.00073
- Li, J., Overall, C. C., Johnson, R. C., Jones, M. B., McDermott, J. E., Heffron, F., et al. (2015a). ChIP-Seq analysis of the sigmaE Regulon of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium reveals new genes implicated in heat shock and oxidative stress response. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0138466. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138466
- Li, X., Wang, B., Feng, L., Kang, H., Qi, Y., Wang, J., et al. (2009). Cleavage of RseA by RseP requires a carboxyl-terminal hydrophobic amino acid following DegS cleavage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 106, 14837–14842. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0903289106
- Li, Y., Hu, Y., Francis, M. S., and Chen, S. (2015b). RcsB positively regulates the Yersinia Ysc-Yop type III secretion system by activating expression of the master transcriptional regulator LcrF. *Environ. Microbiol.* 17, 1219–1233. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12556
- Liu, J., Obi, I. R., Thanikkal, E. J., Kieselbach, T., and Francis, M. S. (2011). Phosphorylated CpxR restricts production of the RovA global regulator in *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis*. *PLoS ONE* 6:e23314. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0023314
- Liu, J., Thanikkal, E. J., Obi, I. R., and Francis, M. S. (2012). Elevated CpxR~P levels repress the Ysc-Yop type III secretion system of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis*. *Res. Microbiol.* 163, 518–530. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2012.07.010

- Luirink, J., Yu, Z., Wagner, S., and de Gier, J. W. (2012). Biogenesis of inner membrane proteins in *Escherichia coli. Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1817, 965–976. doi: 10.1016/j.bbabio.2011.12.006
- Macritchie, D., and Raivio, T. (2009). Envelope stress responses. *EcoSal Plus* 3. doi: 10.1128/ecosal.5.4.7
- MacRitchie, D. M., Acosta, N., and Raivio, T. L. (2012). DegP is involved in Cpx-mediated posttranscriptional regulation of the type III secretion apparatus in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* 80, 1766–1772. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05679-11
- Macritchie, D. M., Ward, J. D., Nevesinjac, A. Z., and Raivio, T. L. (2008). Activation of the Cpx envelope stress response down-regulates expression of several locus of enterocyte effacement-encoded genes in enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. Infect. Immun.* 76, 1465–1475. doi: 10.1128/IAI. 01265-07
- Magnet, S., Dubost, L., Marie, A., Arthur, M., and Gutmann, L. (2008). Identification of the L,D-transpeptidases for peptidoglycan cross-linking in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 190, 4782–4785. doi: 10.1128/JB.00025-08
- Mathee, K., Ciofu, O., Sternberg, C., Lindum, P. W., Campbell, J. I. A., Jensen, P., et al. (1999). Mucoid conversion of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by hydrogen peroxide: a mechanism for virulence activation in the cystic fibrosis lung. *Microbiology* 145, 1349–1357. doi: 10.1099/13500872-145-6-1349
- Mathur, J., Davis, B. M., and Waldor, M. K. (2007). Antimicrobial peptides activate the Vibrio cholerae sigmaE regulon through an OmpU-dependent signalling pathway. Mol. Microbiol. 63, 848–858. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05544.x
- McCleary, W. R., and Stock, J. B. (1994). Acetyl phosphate and the activation of two-component response regulators. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 31567–31572.
- McDaniel, T. K., Jarvis, K. G., Donnenberg, M. S., and Kaper, J. B. (1995). A genetic locus of enterocyte effacement conserved among diverse enterobacterial pathogens. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 92, 1664–1668. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.5.1664
- McDaniel, T. K., and Kaper, J. B. (1997). A cloned pathogenecity island from enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* confers the attaching and effacing phenotype on *E. coli* K-12. *Mol. Microbiol.* 23, 399–407. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1997.2311591.x
- McGhie, E. J., Brawn, L. C., Hume, P. J., Humphreys, D., and Koronakis, V. (2009). Salmonella takes control: effector-driven manipulation of the host. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 12, 117–124. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2008.12.001
- Mellies, J. L., Elliott, S. J., Sperandio, V., Donnenberg, M. S., and Kaper, J. B. (1999). The Per regulon of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli*: identification of a regulatory cascade and a novel transcriptional activator, the locus of enterocyte effacement (LEE)-encoded regulator (Ler). *Mol. Microbiol.* 33, 296–306. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01473.x
- Misra, R., Stikeleather, R., and Gabriele, R. (2015). *In vivo* roles of BamA, BamB and BamD in the biogenesis of BamA, a core protein of the  $\beta$ barrel assembly machine of *Escherichia coli. J. Mol. Biol.* 427, 1061–1074. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2014.04.021
- Mitobe, J., Arakawa, E., and Watanabe, H. (2005). A sensor of the twocomponent system CpxA affects expression of the type III secretion system through posttranscriptional processing of InvE. J. Bacteriol. 187, 107–113. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.1.107-113.2005
- Miyadai, H., Tanaka-Masuda, K., Matsuyama, S., and Tokuda, H. (2004). Effects of lipoprotein overproduction on the induction of DegP (HtrA) involved in quality control in the *Escherichia coli* periplasm. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 39807–39813. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406390200
- Morris, F. C., Wells, T. J., Bryant, J. A., Schager, A. E., Sevastsyanovich, Y. R., Squire, D. J. P., et al. (2018). YraP contributes to cell envelope integrity and virulence of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Infect. Immun.* 86, e00829-17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00829-17
- Muller, C., Bang, I. S., Velayudhan, J., Karlinsey, J., Papenfort, K., Vogel, J., et al. (2009). Acid stress activation of the sigma(E) stress response in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Mol. Microbiol.* 71, 1228–1238. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06597.x
- Nakayama, S., Kushiro, A., Asahara, T., Tanaka, R., Hu, L., Kopecko, D. J., et al. (2003). Activation of hilA expression at low pH requires the signal sensor CpxA, but not the cognate response regulator CpxR, in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 149(Pt 10), 2809–2817. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.26229-0

- Nakayama, S., and Watanabe, H. (1995). Involvement of *cpxA*, a sensor of a two-component regulatory system, in the ph-dependent regulation of expression of *Shigella sonnei virF* Gene. J. Bacteriol. 177, 5062–5069. doi: 10.1128/jb.177.17.5062-5069.1995
- Nakayama, S., and Watanabe, H. (1998). Identification of *cpxR* as a positive regulator essential for expression of the *Shigella sonnei virF* Gene. *J. Bacteriol.* 180, 3522–3528.
- Nakayama, S., and Watanabe, H. (2006). Mechanism of hilA repression by 1,2-propanediol consists of two distinct pathways, one dependent on and the other independent of catabolic production of propionate, in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *J. Bacteriol.* 188, 3121–3125. doi: 10.1128/JB.188.8.3121-3125.2006
- Narita, S. I., and Tokuda, H. (2017). Bacterial lipoproteins; biogenesis, sorting and quality control. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1862, 1414–1423. doi: 10.1016/j.bbalip.2016.11.009
- Nevesinjac, A. Z., and Raivio, T. L. (2005). The Cpx envelope stress response affects expression of the type IV bundle-forming pili of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 187, 672–686. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.2.672-686.2005
- Obi, I. R., and Francis, M. S. (2013). Demarcating SurA activities required for outer membrane targeting of *Yersinia pseudotuberculosis* adhesins. *Infect. Immun.* 81, 2296–2308. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01208-12
- Okkotsu, Y., Little, A. S., and Schurr, M. J. (2014). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AlgZR two-component system coordinates multiple phenotypes. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 4:82. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00082
- Okuda, S., and Tokuda, H. (2011). Lipoprotein sorting in bacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 65, 239–259. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090110-102859
- O'Loughlin, J. L., Spinner, J. L., Minnich, S. A., and Kobayashi, S. D. (2010). *Yersinia pestis* two-component gene regulatory systems promote survival in human neutrophils. *Infect. Immun.* 78, 773–782. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00718-09
- Osborne, S. E., and Coombes, B. K. (2009). RpoE fine tunes expression of a subset of SsrB-regulated virulence factors in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *BMC Microbiol.* 9:45. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-45
- Otto, K., and Silhavy, T. J. (2002). Surface sensing and adhesion of *Escherichia coli* controlled by the Cpx-signaling pathway. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99, 2287–2292. doi: 10.1073/pnas.042521699
- Palmer, T., and Berks, B. C. (2012). The twin-arginine translocation (Tat) protein export pathway. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 483–496. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2814
- Pandey, S., Martins, K. L., and Mathee, K. (2016). "Posttranslational regulation of antisigma factors of RpoE: a comparison between the *Escherichia coli* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* systems," in *Stress and Environmental Regulation of Gene Expression and Adaptation in Bacteria*, ed F. J. de Brujin (Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley and Sons, Inc.), 361–367.
- Papenfort, K., Pfeiffer, V., Mika, F., Lucchini, S., Hinton, J. C. D., and Vogel, J. (2006). SigmaE-dependent small RNAs of Salmonella respond to membrane stress by accelerating global omp mRNA decay. *Mol. Microbiol.* 62, 1674–1688. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05524.x
- Patel, G. J., and Kleinschmidt, J. H. (2013). The lipid bilayer-inserted membrane protein BamA of *Escherichia coli* facilitates insertion and folding of outer membrane protein A from its complex with Skp. *Biochemistry* 52, 3974–3986. doi: 10.1021/bi400103t
- Pedersen, L. B., Murray, T., Popham, D. L., and Setlow, P. (1998). Characterization of *dacC*, which encodes a new low-molecular-weight penicillin-binding protein in *Bacillus subtilis. J. Bacteriol.* 180, 4967–4973.
- Petit-Härtlein, I., Rome, K., de Rosny, E., Molton, F., Duboc, C., Gueguen, E., et al. (2015). Biophysical and physiological characterization of ZraP from *Escherichia coli* the periplasmic accessory protein of the atypical ZraSR two-component system. *Biochem. J.* 472, 205–216. doi: 10.1042/BJ20150827
- Plummer, A. M., and Fleming, K. G. (2016). From chaperones to the membrane with a BAM! *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 41, 872–882. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.06.005
- Pogliano, J., Lynch, A. S., Belin, D., Lin, E. C. C., and Beckwith, J. (1997). Regulation of *Escherichia coli* cell envelope proteins involved in protein folding and degradation by the Cpx two-component system. *Genes Dev.* 11, 1169–1182. doi: 10.1101/gad.11.9.1169
- Potvin, E., Sanschagrin, F., and Levesque, R. C. (2008). Sigma factors in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 32, 38–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2007.00092.x

- Price, N. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2009). Characterization of the Cpx regulon in *Escherichia coli* strain MC4100. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 1798–1815. doi: 10.1128/JB.00798-08
- Qiu, D., Eisinger, V. M., Head, N. E., Pier, G. B., and Yu, H. D. (2008). ClpXP proteases positively regulate alginate overexpression and mucoid conversion in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology* 154(Pt 7), 2119–2130. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2008/017368-0
- Que, F., Wu, S., and Huang, R. (2013). Salmonella pathogenicity island 1(SPI-1) at work. Curr. Microbiol. 66, 582–587. doi: 10.1007/s00284-013-0307-8
- Raffa, R. G., and Raivio, T. L. (2002). A third envelope stress signal transduction pathway in *Escherichia coli*. Mol. Microbiol. 45, 1599–1611. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03112.x
- Raivio, T. L. (2014). Everything old is new again: an update on current research on the Cpx envelope stress response. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1843, 1529–1541. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2013.10.018
- Raivio, T. L., Laird, M. W., Joly, J. C., and Silhavy, T. J. (2000). Tethering of CpxP to the inner membrane prevents spheroplast induction of the Cpx envelope stress response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 37, 1186–1197. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.02074.x
- Raivio, T. L., Leblanc, S. K., and Price, N. L. (2013). The Escherichia coli Cpx envelope stress response regulates genes of diverse function that impact antibiotic resistance and membrane integrity. J. Bacteriol. 195, 2755–2767. doi: 10.1128/JB.00105-13
- Raivio, T. L., Popkin, D. L., and Silhavy, T. J. (1999). The Cpx envelope stress response is controlled by amplification and feedback inhibition. *J. Bacteriol.* 181, 5263–5272.
- Raivio, T. L., and Silhavy, T. J. (1997). Transduction of envelope stress in *Escherichia coli* by the Cpx two-component system. *J. Bacteriol.* 179, 7724–7733. doi: 10.1128/jb.179.24.7724-7733.1997
- Rao, J., Damron, F. H., Basler, M., Digiandomenico, A., Sherman, N. E., Fox, J. W., et al. (2011). Comparisons of two proteomic analyses of non-mucoid and mucoid *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* clinical isolates from a cystic fibrosis patient. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:162. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00162
- Redford, P., Roesch, P. L., and Welch, R. A. (2003). degS is necessary for virulence and is among extraintestinal *Escherichia coli* genes induced in murine peritonitis. *Infect. Immun.* 71, 3088–3096. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.6.3088-3096.2003
- Redford, P., and Welch, R. A. (2006). Role of sigma E-regulated genes in *Escherichia coli* uropathogenesis. *Infect. Immun.* 74, 4030–4038. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01984-05
- Rhodius, V. A., Suh, W. C., Nonaka, G., West, J., and Gross, C. A. (2006). Conserved and variable functions of the sigmaE stress response in related genomes. *PLoS Biol.* 4:e2. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040002
- Rolhion, N., Carvalho, F. A., and Darfeuille-Michaud, A. (2007). OmpC and the sigma(E) regulatory pathway are involved in adhesion and invasion of the Crohn's disease-associated *Escherichia coli* strain LF82. *Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 1684–1700. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05638.x
- Ronnebaumer, K., Sander, G., Shutinoski, B., Schmidt, M. A., and Heusipp, G. (2009). Controlled activation of the Cpx system is essential for growth of *Yersinia enterocolitica*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 296, 274–281. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2009.01649.x
- Rouvière, P. E., De Las Peñas, A., Mecsas, J., Lu, C. Z., Rudd, K. E., and Gross, C. A. (1995). rpoE, the gene encoding the second heatshock sigma factor, sigma E, in *Escherichia coli. EMBO J.* 14, 1032–1042. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb07084.x
- Rowley, G., Skovierova, H., Stevenson, A., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Lewis, C., et al. (2011). The periplasmic chaperone Skp is required for successful *Salmonella* Typhimurium infection in a murine typhoid model. *Microbiology* 157(Pt 3), 848–858. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.046011-0
- Rowley, G., Spector, M., Kormanec, J., and Roberts, M. (2006). Pushing the envelope: extracytoplasmic stress responses in bacterial pathogens. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 383–394. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1394
- Rowley, G., Stevenson, A., Kormanec, J., and Roberts, M. (2005). Effect of inactivation of degS on *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 459–463. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.1.459-463.2005
- Ruiz, N., Kahne, D., and Silhavy, T. J. (2006). Advances in understanding bacterial outer-membrane biogenesis. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 57–66. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1322

- Shimizu, T., Ichimura, K., and Noda, M. (2016). The surface sensor NlpE of enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* contributes to regulation of the type III secretion system and flagella by the Cpx response to adhesion. *Infect. Immun.* 84, 537–549. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00881-15
- Shimohata, N., Chiba, S., Saikawa, N., Ito, K., and Akiyama, Y. (2002). The Cpx stress response system of *Escherichia coli* senses plasma membrane proteins and controls HtpX, a membrane protease with a cytosolic active site. *Genes Cells* 7, 653–662. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2443.2002.00554.x
- Silhavy, T. J., Kahne, D., and Walker, S. (2010). The bacterial cell envelope. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 2, a000414. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000414
- Siroy, A., Cosette, P., Seyer, D., Lemaître-Guillier, C., Vallenet, D., Van Dorsselaer, A., et al. (2006). Global comparison of the membrane subproteomes between a multidrug-resistant *Acinetobacter baumanii* strain and a reference strain. *J. Proteome Res.* 5, 3385–3398. doi: 10.1021/pr060372s
- Sittka, A., Pfeiffer, V., Tedin, K., and Vogel, J. (2007). The RNA chaperone Hfq is essential for the virulence of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 193–217. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05489.x
- Sklar, J. G., Wu, T., Gronenberg, L. S., Malinverni, J. C., Kahne, D., and Silhavy, T. J. (2007a). Lipoprotein SmpA is a component of the YaeT complex that assembles outer membrane proteins in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 104, 6400–6405. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0701579104
- Sklar, J. G., Wu, T., Kahne, D., and Silhavy, T. J. (2007b). Defining the roles of the periplasmic chaperones SurA, Skp, and DegP in *Escherichia coli. Genes Dev.* 21, 2473–2484. doi: 10.1101/gad.1581007
- Skovierova, H., Rowley, G., Rezuchova, B., Homerova, D., Lewis, C., Roberts, M., et al. (2006). Identification of the sigmaE regulon of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Microbiology* 152(Pt 5), 1347–1359. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2 8744-0
- Slamti, L., and Waldor, M. K. (2009). Genetic analysis of activation of the Vibrio cholerae Cpx pathway. J. Bacteriol. 191, 5044–5056. doi: 10.1128/JB.00406-09
- Snyder, W. B., Davis, L. J. B., Danese, P. N., Cosma, C. L., and Silhavy, T. J. (1995). Overproduction of NlpE, a new outer membrane lipoprotein suppresses the toxicity of periplasmic LacZ by activation of the Cpx signal transduction pathway. J. Bacteriol. 177, 4216–4223. doi: 10.1128/jb.177.15.4216-4223.1995
- Sohn, J., Grant, R. A., and Sauer, R. T. (2009). OMP peptides activate the DegS stress-sensor protease by a relief of inhibition mechanism. *Structure* 17, 1411–1421. doi: 10.1016/j.str.2009.07.017
- Song, T., Sabharwal, D., Gurung, J. M., Cheng, A. T., Sjöström, A. E., Yildiz, F. H., et al. (2014). Vibrio cholerae utilizes direct sRNA regulation in expression of a biofilm matrix protein. PLoS ONE 9:e101280. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0101280
- Song, T., and Wai, S. N. (2009). A novel sRNA that modulates virulence and environmental fitness of *Vibrio cholerae*. *RNA Biol.* 6, 254–258. doi: 10.4161/rna.6.3.8371
- Southern, S. J., Scott, A. E., Jenner, D. C., Ireland, P. M., Norville, I. H., and Sarkar-Tyson, M. (2016). Survival protein A is essential for virulence in *Yersinia pestis*. *Microb. Pathog.* 92, 50–53. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2015.12.013
- Spiess, C., Beil, A., and Ehrmann, M. (1999). A temperature-dependent switch from chaperone to protease in a widely conserved heat shock protein. *Cell* 97, 339–347. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80743-6
- Spöring, I., Felgner, S., Preuße, M., Eckweiler, D., Rohde, M., Häussler, S., et al. (2018). Regulation of flagellum biosynthesis in response to cell envelope stress in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *MBio* 9:e00736-17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00736-17
- Srikumar, S., Kröger, C., Hébrard, M., Colgan, A., Owen, S. V., Sivasankaran, S. K., et al. (2015). RNA-seq brings new insights to the intra-macrophage transcriptome of *Salmonella* Typhimurium. *PLoS Pathog.* 11:e1005262. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005262
- Stankeviciute, G., Miguel, A. V., Radkov, A., Chou, S., Huang, K. C., and Klein, E. A. (2019). Differential modes of crosslinking establish spatially distinct regions of peptidoglycan in *Caulobacter crescentus*. *Mol. Microbiol*. 111, 995–1008. doi: 10.1111/mmi.14199
- Storek, K. M., Auerbach, M. R., Shi, H., Garcia, N. K., Sun, D., Nickerson, N. N., et al. (2018). Monoclonal antibody targeting the β-barrel assembly machine of *Escherichia coli* is bactericidal. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 115, 3692–3697. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1800043115
- Subramaniam, S., Muller, V. S., Hering, N. A., Mollenkopf, H., Becker, D., Heroven, A. K., et al. (2019). Contribution of the Cpx envelope stress

system to metabolism and virulence regulation in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *PLoS ONE* 14:e0211584. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0211584

- Sydenham, M., Douce, G., Bowe, F., Ahmed, S., Chatfield, S., and Dougan, G. (2000). Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium surA mutants are attenuated and effective live oral vaccines. *Infect. Immun.* 68, 1109–1115. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68.3.1109-1115.2000
- Szewczyk, J., and Collet, J. F. (2016). The journey of lipoproteins through the cell: one birthplace, multiple destinations. *Adv. Microb. Physiol.* 69, 1–50. doi: 10.1016/bs.ampbs.2016.07.003
- Tanaka, K., Matsuyama, S. I., and Tokuda, H. (2001). Deletion of lolB, encoding an outer membrane lipoprotein, is lethal for *Escherichia coli* and causes accumulation of lipoprotein localization intermediates in the periplasm. *J. Bacteriol.* 183, 6538–6542. doi: 10.1128/JB.183.22.6538-6542.2001
- Taylor, D. L., Bina, X. R., and Bina, J. E. (2012). Vibrio cholerae VexH encodes a multiple drug efflux pump that contributes to the production of cholera toxin and the toxin co-regulated pilus. PLoS ONE 7:e38208. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0038208
- Taylor, D. L., Bina, X. R., Slamti, L., Waldor, M. K., and Bina, J. E. (2014). Reciprocal regulation of resistance-nodulation-division efflux systems and the Cpx two-component system in *Vibrio cholerae*. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 2980–2991. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00025-14
- Testerman, T. L., Vazquez-Torres, A., Xu, Y., Jones-Carson, J., Libby, S. J., and Fang, F. C. (2002). The alternative sigma factor sigmaE controls antioxidant defences required for *Salmonella* virulence and stationary-phase survival. *Mol. Microbiol.* 43, 771–782. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.02787.x
- Thanikkal, E. J., Gahlot, D. K., Liu, J., Fredriksson Sundbom, M., Gurung, J. M., Ruuth, K., et al. (2019). The Yersinia pseudotuberculosis Cpx envelope stress system contributes to transcriptional activation of rovM. Virulence 10, 37–57. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2018.1556151
- Thomassin, J. L., Giannakopoulou, N., Zhu, L., Gross, J., Salmon, K., Leclerc, J. M., et al. (2015). The CpxRA two-component system is essential for *Citrobacter rodentium* virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 1919–1928. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00194-15
- Thomassin, J. L., Leclerc, J. M., Giannakopoulou, N., Zhu, L., Salmon, K., Portt, A., et al. (2017). Systematic analysis of two-component systems in *Citrobacter rodentium* reveals positive and negative roles in virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 85:e00654-16. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00654-16
- Tobe, T., and Sasakawa, C. (2001). Role of bundle-forming pilus of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* in host cell adherence and in microcolony development. *Cell. Microbiol.* 3, 579–585. doi: 10.1046/j.1462-5822.2001.00136.x
- Tschauner, K., Hornschemeyer, P., Muller, V. S., and Hunke, S. (2014). Dynamic interaction between the CpxA sensor kinase and the periplasmic accessory protein CpxP mediates signal recognition in *E. coli. PLoS ONE* 9:e107383. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0107383
- Tsirigotaki, A., De Geyter, J., Sostaric, N., Economou, A., and Karamanou, S. (2017). Protein export through the bacterial Sec pathway. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 15, 21–36. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.161
- Tzeng, Y. L., Datta, A., Ambrose, K., Lo, M., Davies, J. K., Carlson, R. W., et al. (2004). The MisR/MisS two-component regulatory system influences inner core structure and immunotype of lipooligosaccharide in *Neisseria meningitidis. J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 35053–35062. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M401433200
- Tzeng, Y. L., Kahler, C. M., Zhang, X., and Stephens, D. S. (2008). MisR/MisS two-component regulon in *Neisseria meningitidis*. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 704–716. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01007-07
- Ünal, C. M., and Steinert, M. (2014). Microbial Peptidyl-Prolyl cis/trans Isomerases (PPIases): virulence factors and potential alternative drug targets. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 78, 544–571. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00015-14
- Vincent, C. D., Buscher, B. A., Friedman, J. R., Williams, L. A., Bardill, P., and Vogel, J. P. (2006). Identification of non-dot/icm suppressors of the *Legionella pneumophila* deltadotL lethality phenotype. *J. Bacteriol.* 188, 8231–8243. doi: 10.1128/JB.00937-06
- Vlahou, G., Schmidt, O., Wagner, B., Uenlue, H., Dersch, P., Rivero, F., et al. (2009). *Yersinia* outer protein YopE affects the actin cytoskeleton in *Dictyostelium discoideum* through targeting of multiple Rho family GTPases. BMC Microbiol. 9:138. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-9-138
- Vogel, J., and Papenfort, K. (2006). Small non-coding RNAs and the bacterial outer membrane. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 9, 605–611. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2006. 10.006

Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology | www.frontiersin.org

- Vogt, S. L., Evans, A. D., Guest, R. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2014). The Cpx envelope stress response regulates and is regulated by small noncoding RNAs. J. Bacteriol. 196, 4229–4238. doi: 10.1128/JB.02138-14
- Vogt, S. L., Nevesinjac, A. Z., Humphries, R. M., Donnenberg, M. S., Armstrong, G. D., and Raivio, T. L. (2010). The Cpx envelope stress response both facilitates and inhibits elaboration of the enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* bundle-forming pilus. *Mol. Microbiol.* 76, 1095–1110. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07145.x
- Vogt, S. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2012). Just scratching the surface: an expanding view of the Cpx envelope stress response. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 326, 2–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02406.x
- Vogt, S. L., Scholz, R., Peng, Y., Guest, R. L., Scott, N. E., Woodward, S. E., et al. (2019). Characterization of the *Citrobacter rodentium* Cpx regulon and its role in host infection. *Mol. Microbiol.* 111, 700–716. doi: 10.1111/mmi.14182
- Voulhoux, R., Bos, M. P., Geurtsen, J., Mols, M., and Tommassen, J. (2003). Role of a highly conserved bacterial protein in outer membrane protein assembly. *Science* 299, 262–265. doi: 10.1126/science.1078973
- Vuong, P., Bennion, D., Mantei, J., Frost, D., and Misra, R. (2008). Analysis of YfgL and YaeT interactions through bioinformatics, mutagenesis, and biochemistry. *J. Bacteriol.* 190:1507. doi: 10.1128/JB.01477-07
- Wall, E., Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2018). The complex Rcs regulatory cascade. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 72, 111–139. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090817-062640
- Walsh, N. P., Alba, B. M., Bose, B., Gross, C. A., and Sauer, R. T. (2003). OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. *Cell* 113, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)00203-4
- Walsham, A. D., MacKenzie, D. A., Cook, V., Wemyss-Holden, S., Hews, C. L., Juge, N., et al. (2016). *Lactobacillus reuteri* inhibition of enteropathogenic *Escherichia coli* adherence to human intestinal epithelium. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:244. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00244
- Weatherspoon-Griffin, N., Zhao, G., Kong, W., Kong, Y., Morigen, Andrews-Polymenis, H., et al. (2011). The CpxR/CpxA two-component system up-regulates two Tat-dependent peptidoglycan amidases to confer bacterial resistance to antimicrobial peptide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 5529–5539. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.200352
- Weirich, J., Brautigam, C., Muhlenkamp, M., Franz-Wachtel, M., Macek, B., Meuskens, I., et al. (2017). Identifying components required for OMP biogenesis as novel targets for antiinfective drugs. *Virulence* 8, 1170–1188. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2016.1278333
- Wolfe, A. J., Parikh, N., Lima, B. P., and Zemaitaitis, B. (2008). Signal integration by the two-component signal transduction response regulator CpxR. J. Bacteriol. 190, 2314–2322. doi: 10.1128/JB.01906-07
- Wullt, B., Bergsten, G., Connell, H., Röllano, P., Gebretsadik, N., Hull, R., et al. (2000). P fimbriae enhance the early establishment of *Escherichia col* in the human urinary tract. *Mol. Microbiol.* 38, 456–464. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2000.02165.x
- Xie, X., Zhang, H., Zheng, Y., Li, A., Wang, M., Zhou, H., et al. (2016). RpoE is a putative antibiotic resistance regulator of *Salmonella enteric* serovar Typhi. *Curr. Microbiol.* 72, 457–464. doi: 10.1007/s00284-015-0983-7
- Yakhnina, A. A., McManus, H. R., and Bernhardt, T. G. (2015). The cell wall amidase AmiB is essential for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* cell division, drug resistance and viability. *Mol. Microbiol.* 97, 957–973. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13077
- Yamamoto, K., and Ishihama, A. (2006). Characterization of copper-inducible promoters regulated by CpxA/CpxR in *Escherichia coli. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.* 70, 1688–1695. doi: 10.1271/bbb.60024
- Yamamoto, T., Sashinami, H., Takaya, A., Tomoyasu, T., Matsui, H., Kikuchi, Y., et al. (2001). Disruption of the genes for ClpXP protease in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium results in persistent infection in mice, and development of persistence requires endogenous gamma interferon and tumor necrosis factor alpha. *Infect. Immun.* 69, 3164–3174. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.5.3164-3174.2001
- Yang, Y., Liao, Y., Ma, Y., Gong, W., and Zhu, G. (2017). The role of major virulence factors of AIEC involved in inflammatory bowl disease—a mini-review. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 101, 7781–7787. doi: 10.1007/s00253-017-8507-y
- Yoon, H., McDermott, J. E., Porwollik, S., McClelland, M., and Heffron, F. (2009). Coordinated regulation of virulence during systemic infection

of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *PLoS Pathog.* 5:e1000306. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000306

- Yu, H., Boucher, J. C., Hibler, N. S., and Deretic, V. (1996). Virulence properties of Pseudomonas aeruginosa lacking the extreme-stress sigma factor AlgU (sigmaE). *Infect. Immun.* 64, 2774–2781.
- Yu, H., Schurr, M. J., and Deretic, V. (1995). Functional equivalence of *Escherichia* coli sigma E and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AlgU: *E. coli* rpoE restores mucoidy and reduces sensitivity to reactive oxygen intermediates in algU mutants of *P. aeruginosa. J. Bacteriol.* 177, 3259–3268. doi: 10.1128/jb.177.11.3259-3268.1995
- Zhang, H., Jia, Y., Xie, X., Wang, M., Zheng, Y., Xu, S., et al. (2016). RpoE promotes invasion and intracellular survival by regulating SPI-1 and SPI-2 in Salmonella enterica serovar Typhi. Fut. Microbiol. 11, 1011–1024. doi: 10.2217/fmb.16.19
- Zhou, X., Keller, R., Volkmer, R., Krauss, N., Scheerer, P., and Hunke, S. (2011). Structural basis for two-component system inhibition and pilus sensing by the auxiliary CpxP protein. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 9805–9814. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.194092
- Zhu, J., Miller, M. B., Vance, R. E., Dziejman, M., Bassler, B. L., and Mekalanos, J. J. (2002). Quorum-sensing regulators control virulence gene expression in *Vibrio cholerae. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* 99, 3129–3134. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052694299

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Hews, Cho, Rowley and Raivio. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# **Cannabidiol Is a Novel Modulator of Bacterial Membrane Vesicles**

Uchini S. Kosgodage<sup>1</sup>, Paul Matewele<sup>1</sup>, Brigitte Awamaria<sup>1</sup>, Igor Kraev<sup>2</sup>, Purva Warde<sup>3</sup>, Giulia Mastroianni<sup>4</sup>, Alistair V. Nunn<sup>5</sup>, Geoffrey W. Guy<sup>6</sup>, Jimmy D. Bell<sup>5</sup>, Jameel M. Inal<sup>3</sup> and Sigrun Lange<sup>7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Cellular and Molecular Immunology Research Centre, School of Human Sciences, London Metropolitan University, London, United Kingdom, <sup>2</sup> School of Life, Health and Chemical Sciences, The Open University, Milton Keynes, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup> Bioscience Research Group, Extracellular Vesicle Research Unit, School of Life and Medical Sciences, University of Hertfordshire, Hatfield, United Kingdom, <sup>4</sup> School of Biological and Chemical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London, London, United Kingdom, <sup>6</sup> Research Centre for Optimal Health, School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, United Kingdom, <sup>6</sup> GW Pharmaceuticals Research, Cambridge, United Kingdom, <sup>7</sup> Tissue Architecture and Regeneration Research Group, School of Life Sciences, University of Westminster, London, United Kingdom

**OPEN ACCESS** 

#### Edited by:

Jyl S. Matson, University of Toledo, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Medicharla Venkata Jagannadham, Centre for Cellular Molecular Biology (CCMB), India Bo Peng, Sun Yat-sen University, China

> \***Correspondence:** Sigrun Lange s.lange@westminster.ac.uk

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 04 April 2019 Accepted: 28 August 2019 Published: 10 September 2019

#### Citation:

Kosgodage US, Matewele P, Awamaria B, Kraev I, Warde P, Mastroianni G, Nunn AV, Guy GW, Bell JD, Inal JM and Lange S (2019) Cannabidiol Is a Novel Modulator of Bacterial Membrane Vesicles. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:324. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00324 Membrane vesicles (MVs) released from bacteria participate in cell communication and host-pathogen interactions. Roles for MVs in antibiotic resistance are gaining increased attention and in this study we investigated if known anti-bacterial effects of cannabidiol (CBD), a phytocannabinoid from *Cannabis sativa*, could be in part attributed to effects on bacterial MV profile and MV release. We found that CBD is a strong inhibitor of MV release from Gram-negative bacteria (*E. coli* VCS257), while inhibitory effect on MV release from Gram-positive bacteria (*S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach) was negligible. When used in combination with selected antibiotics, CBD significantly increased the bactericidal action of several antibiotics in the Gram-negative bacteria, without affecting MV release. CBD furthermore changed protein profiles of MVs released from *E. coli* after 1 h CBD treatment. Our findings indicate that CBD may pose as a putative adjuvant agent for tailored co-application with selected antibiotics, depending on bacterial species, to increase antibiotic activity, including via MV inhibition, and help reduce antibiotic resistance.

Keywords: bacterial membrane vesicles (MVs), cannabidiol (CBD), antibiotic resistance, gram-negative, gram-positive, *E. coli* VCS257, *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

## **INTRODUCTION**

Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) and membrane vesicles (MVs) are released from Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria and participate in inter-bacterial communication, including via transfer of cargo molecules (Dorward and Garon, 1990; Li et al., 1998; Fulsundar et al., 2014; Jan, 2017; Toyofuku et al., 2019). MVs are released in greater abundance from Gram-negative, than Gram-positive bacteria and their production seems crucial for bacterial survival and forms part of the stress response (McBroom and Kuehn, 2007; Macdonald and Kuehn, 2013; Jan, 2017). Gram-negative bacteria generate, in addition to common one-bilayer vesicles (OMV), also double-bilayer vesicles (O-IMVs), and in some stress conditions other types of MVs (Pérez-Cruz et al., 2016) and therefore we will use the umbrella term "membrane vesicles" (MVs) hereafter. MVs are important in biofilm formation and dissemination of toxins in the host (Wang et al., 2015; Cooke et al., 2019). MVs participate in host-pathogen interactions (Gurung et al., 2011; Koeppen et al., 2016; Bitto et al., 2017, 2018; Codemo et al., 2018; Turner et al., 2018; Cecil et al., 2019) and may also be involved in antibiotic resistance, for instance by protecting biofilms from antibiotics via increased vesiculation (Manning and Kuehn, 2011). Furthermore, MVs from *Porphyromonas gingivalis* have been linked to metabolic remodeling in the host (Fleetwood et al., 2017), while MVs from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* have been shown to target host mitochondria and to induce macrophage death (Deo et al., 2018). Besides roles for cellular and bacterial communication, the use of MVs as nano-carriers for various compounds, including for antibiotic and vaccine delivery, has also raised considerable interest in the research community (Gnopo et al., 2017; Rüter et al., 2018; Tan et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2018).

The regulation of bacterial MV biogenesis and release may therefore be of great importance, both in relation to interbacterial communication, including biofilm formation, their host interactions as commensals, as well as in host-pathogen interactions and in antibiotic resistance.

Cannabidiol (CBD) is a phytocannabinoid from *Cannabis* sativa with anti-inflammatory (Martin-Moreno et al., 2011), anticancerous (Pisanti et al., 2017; Kosgodage et al., 2018) and anti-bacterial activity (Hernández-Cervantes et al., 2017). While immunoregulatory roles for cannabinoids have been reported in infectious disease (reviewed in Hernández-Cervantes et al., 2017), and *C. sativa* has been identified as a natural product with a capability of controlling bacterial infections, including a strong anti-bacterial activity against antibiotic resistant strains (Appendino et al., 2008), a link between CBD and bacterial MV release has hitherto not been investigated.

As our recent work identified CBD as a potent inhibitor of extracellular vesicle (EV) release in eukaryotes (Kosgodage et al., 2018; Gavinho et al., 2019), we sought to investigate whether CBD may work via phylogenetically conserved pathways, involving bacterial MV release from bacteria. As we, and other groups, have previously shown that cancer cells can be sensitized to chemotherapeutic agents via various EV-inhibitors (Jorfi et al., 2015; Koch et al., 2016; Muralidharan-Chari et al., 2016; Kosgodage et al., 2017), including CBD (Kosgodage et al., 2018, 2019), we sought to establish whether in bacteria, similar putative MV modulatory effects could be utilized to sensitize bacteria to antibiotics.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

# MV Isolation From *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

*E. coli* (VCS257, Agilent, La Jolla, CA) and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach (ATCC 29247, USA) static cultures were grown in Luria-Bertani (LB) broth for 24 h at 37°C. The growth phase before vesicle isolation was exponential; the volume of the cultures was 20 ml. For MV isolation, ultracentrifugation and nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) were used based on previously established methods by other groups (McCaig et al., 2013; Klimentova and Stulik, 2015; Roier et al., 2016). *E. coli* and *S. aureus* cultures were maintained by plating on Mueller-Hinton agar plates and weekly sub-culturing was performed according to previously established methods (Iqbal et al., 2013).

Before MV isolation, all bacterial growth medium (LB broth) was pre-treated before use by ultracentrifugation at 100,000 g for 24 h to ensure minimum contamination with extracellular vesicles (EVs) from the medium (Kosgodage et al., 2017).

For MV isolation, bacteria were grown in EV-free medium (as described above) for 24 h at 37°C, the culture medium was collected and centrifuged once at 400 g for 10 min for removal of cells, followed by centrifugation at 4,000 g for 1 h at 4°C to remove cell debris. The resultant supernatant was then centrifuged for 1 h at 100,000 g at 4°C and the isolated MV pellet was resuspended in Dulbecco's phosphate buffered saline (DPBS; ultracentrifuged and sterile filtered using a 0.22  $\mu$ m filter) and centrifuged again at 100,000 g for 1 h at 4°C. The resulting MV pellet was sterile filtered (0.45  $\mu$ m) once and then resuspended in sterile filtered DPBS. The quantitative yield of vesicles was ~6.5 × 10<sup>9</sup> MVs per liter of culture. The isolated MV pellets were then either used immediately, or stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for further experiments.

## Transmission Electron Microscopy (TEM) Imaging of Bacterial MVs

A suspension of isolated MVs ( $1.4 \times 10^8$  MVs/ml) was used for TEM imaging. MV samples ( $10 \ \mu$ L) were applied to mesh copper grids, prepared with glow discharged carbon support films, and incubated for 2 min. The grids were then washed five times with 50  $\mu$ l of 1 % aqueous uranyl acetate. Grids were left to dry for 5 min before being viewed. Micrographs were taken with a JEOL JEM 1230 transmission electron microscope (JEOL, Japan) operated at 80 kV at a magnification of 80,000 to 100,000. Digital images were recorded using a Morada CCD camera (EMSIS, Germany) and processed via iTEM (EMSIS).

## Western Blotting

Protein was isolated from MV pellets using Bacterial Protein Extraction Reagent (B-PER, ThermoFisher Scientific, U.K.), pipetting gently and shaking the pellets on ice for 2 h, where after samples were centrifuged at 16,000 g at 4°C for 20 min and the resulting supernatant collected for protein analysis. Samples were prepared in 2x Laemmli buffer, boiled at 95°C for 5 min, electrophoresed by SDS-PAGE on 4-20 % TGX gels (BioRad, U.K.), followed by semi-dry Western blotting. Approximately 10 µg of protein was loaded per lane and even protein transfer was assessed by Ponceau S staining (Sigma, U.K.). Blocking of membranes was performed for 1 h at room temperature (RT) in 5 % BSA in TBS-T. The membranes were then incubated with the anti-OmpC (Outer-membrane protein C antibody; orb6940, Biorbyt, U.K.; diluted 1/1000 in TBS-T) overnight at 4°C, followed by washing in TBS-T and incubation for 1 h in antirabbit-HRP conjugated secondary antibody at RT. Visualization was performed using ECL (Amersham, U.K.) and the UVP BioDoc-ITTM System (U.K.).

# Nanoparticle Tracking Analysis for Assessment of MV Release From *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

MVs were isolated from control and CBD-treated bacterial cultures as described above. Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) was performed using the Nanosight LM10 (Malvern, U.K.), equipped with a 405 nm diode laser and a sCMOS camera. MV pellets were resuspended in equal volumes (100  $\mu$ l) of DPBS before NTA analysis to ensure comparable analysis of quantification. Before application, samples were diluted 1:50 in sterile-filtered EV-free DPBS and applied at a constant flow rate, maintaining the number of particles in the field of view in the range of 20–40 with a minimum concentration of samples at 5  $\times$  10<sup>7</sup> particles/ml. Camera settings were according to the manufacturer's instructions (Malvern), five 60 s videos per sample were recorded and replicate histograms averaged. Each experiment was repeated three times.

# CBD-Mediated MV Release Inhibition in *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

E. coli and S. aureus cultures were cultivated using EV-free Müeller-Hinton broth for 24 h. An inoculate of 0.1 ml of bacteria, in a 20 ml culture volume of bacterial growth medium (Luria-Bertani (LB) broth), were grown at exponential phase overnight, as assessed by OD600. The bacterial cells were then washed using DPBS at 4,000 g for 10 min and seeded in 1.5 ml triplicates in micro centrifuge tubes. For treatment with CBD, CBD (GW research Ltd) was applied at concentrations of 1 or 5 µM and incubated with the bacterial cultures for 1 h at 37°C. Treatments were performed in triplicates, including DMSO as a control. MV isolation following CBD and control treatment was carried out using step-wise centrifugation and ultracentrifugation as before. Changes in MV release were assessed by quantifying numbers of MVs by NTA analysis as described above, with each experiment repeated three times. Cell viability was assessed before the start of every experiment and after treatment with CBD compared to controls determined by colony forming unit (CFU) measurement.

# Disc Diffusion Test for Assessment of CBD-Mediated Enhancement of Antibiotic Treatment

Discs were impregnated with the following antibiotics (all from Sigma-Aldrich): colistin  $(10 \,\mu g/ml)$ , rifampicin  $(15 \,\mu g/ml)$ , erythromycin  $(50 \,\mu g/ml)$ , kanamycin  $(1,000 \,\mu g/ml)$  and vancomycin  $(5 \,\mu g/ml)$ . Concentration of the antibiotics used was based on previously published and established MIC values (Maclayton et al., 2006; Moskowitz et al., 2010; Kshetry et al., 2016; Rojas et al., 2017; Goldstein et al., 2018). *E. coli* and *S. aureus* agar plates were prepared for the disc diffusion test (Iqbal et al., 2013) by soaking a sterile paper disc in  $5 \,\mu$ M CBD and placing it in the middle of the agar plate, while the impregnated

antibiotic discs were placed equidistant to the CBD disc. Zones of inhibition were assessed after 24 h using the Kirby-Bauer test.

# Proteomic Analysis of MVs Released From CBD Treated and Control Untreated *E. coli* VCS257

To assess differences in E. coli VCS257 MV protein composition in response to CBD treatment, MVs were isolated as before, after 1h treatment with 1µM or 5µM CBD treatment or control untreated, respectively. MVs were assessed by SDS-PAGE (using 4-20 % gradient TGX gels, BioRad, U.K.) and silver staining using the BioRad Silver Stain Plus Kit (1610449, BioRad, U.K.), according to the manufacturer's instructions (BioRad). For assessment of proteomic changes, MVs were subjected to liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) analysis. MVs from CBD treated, vs. non-treated E. coli were run 1 cm into a SDS-PAGE gel and the whole protein lysate cut out as one band, whereafter it was processed for proteomic analysis (carried out by Cambridge Proteomics, U.K.). Peak list files were submitted to Mascot (in-house, Cambridge Center for Proteomics) using the following database: Uniprot\_Escherichia\_coli\_20180613 (4324 sequences; 1357163 residues).

# **Statistical Analysis**

Histograms and graphs were prepared and statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism version 8 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, U.S.A.). One-way ANOVA and Student's *t*-test analysis were performed, followed by Tukey's *post-hoc* analysis. Histograms represent mean of data, with error bars representing standard error of mean (SEM). Significant differences were considered as  $p \le 0.05$ .

# RESULTS

# Characterization of MVs From *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

Isolated MVs were assessed by morphology using transmission electron microscopy (TEM), revealing a poly-dispersed population in the size range of mainly 20–230 nm in diameter for *E. coli*, including MVs showing inner and outer membranes (**Figure 1A.1**), and characteristic one layer membranes for *S. aureus* MVs, which were in the 37–300 nm range (**Figure 1A.2**). Nanoparticle tracking analysis (NTA) verified that the majority of the vesicle population fell in a similar size range under standard culture conditions (mode 143.3 nm; SD  $\pm$  72.3 nm for *E. coli* (**Figure 1A.2**). Furthermore, Western blotting showed positive for the MV specific marker OmpC (**Figure 1A**).

# Effects of CBD on Membrane Vesicle Release From *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

CBD changed the MV release profile from *E. coli* compared to control treatment (**Figures 1B–D**). Modal size of MVs released



aureus Rosenbach (A.2), shown by NTA analysis (Nanosight); Transmission electron microscopy (TEM, scale bar = 200 nm) and Western blotting with the MV-specific marker OmpC. (B) NTA analysis showing MV release from *E. coli* after 1 h CBD treatment (1  $\mu$ M). (C) NTA analysis showing MV release from *E. coli* after 1 h CBD treatment (5  $\mu$ M). (D) Modal size of MVs released from *E. coli* under normal culture conditions compared to CBD treatment. Error bars indicate SEM; \**p* represents *p*-values compared to control (ctrl) while #*p* represents *p*-values compared to 1  $\mu$ M CBD treatment.

from *E. coli* was significantly increased (p = 0.01) after 1 µM CBD treatment, compared to control treated cells, while 5 µM CBD treatment did not have statistically significant effects on MV size (p = 0.0685). Effects on modal size of vesicles released from *E. coli* between the two doses of CBD was also not statistically significant (p = 0.0643; Figure 1D).

CBD had a significant inhibitory effect (p < 0.0001) on total MV release from *E. coli* VCS257 at both concentrations tested (1 and 5  $\mu$ M, respectively; **Figure 2A**). In addition, the lower dose of CBD (1  $\mu$ M) had stronger MV-inhibitory effects (73 % reduction, p < 0.0001) than 5  $\mu$ M CBD (54 % reduction, p < 0.0001; **Figure 2A**) and resulted in a markedly increased peak at 500 nm (**Figure 1B**), which otherwise was negligible in the control (**Figure 1A**) and 5  $\mu$ M CBD (**Figure 1C**) treated *E. coli*.

Effects of CBD on *E. coli* VCS257 MVs was furthermore assessed by TEM, verifying the presence of fewer vesicles per field and showing some change in vesicle size and morphology after CBD (**Supplementary Figures 2A–C**).



**FIGURE 2** CBD affects MV-release from the Gram-negative bacteria *E. coli* VCS257 but not Gram-positive *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach. (A) MV release from *E. coli* was significantly reduced after CBD treatment, with lower dose of CBD being more effective (p = 0.0063). (B) MV release from *S. aureus* was not significantly affected by CBD treatment. Exact *p*-values are shown.

Contrary to what was observed for the Gram-negative *E. coli*, CBD treatment (5  $\mu$ M) had no significant effect on MV release from the Gram-positive bacterium *S. aureus* subsp. *Aureus* Rosenbach (p > 0.1; Figure 2B).

# Effects of CBD on Bacterial Viability of *E. coli* VCS257 and *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

CBD had negligible effect on *E. coli* cell viability after 24 h incubation with the lower 1  $\mu$ M dose, while an 11 % (p = 0.0161) reduction in cell viability was observed in response to 5  $\mu$ M CBD, but no significant effect was observed on *S. aureus* cell viability, as assessed by disk diffusion test (**Supplementary Figure 1**).

# CBD Treatment Affects Antibiotic Sensitivity in *E. coli* VCS257

CBD treatment  $(5 \mu M)$ , when applied in combination with a range of antibiotics tested, was found to sensitize E. coli VCS257 to selected antibiotics, as assessed by an increase in the radius of zone of inhibition, using the disk diffusion test (Figure 3). Significantly enhanced antibacterial effects were found for erythromycin (35 % increase; p = 0.006), rifampicin (50 % increase; p = 0.0007) and vancomycin (100 % increase; p < 0.0001), when combined with CBD treatment (5  $\mu$ M), compared to antibiotic treatment alone. Notably, vancomycin alone did not have bactericidal effects on E. coli, but only in the presence of CBD. Antibacterial effects of kanamycin were increased by 18 % but this was not statistically significant compared to antibiotic alone (p = 0.09). Zone of inhibition with CBD treatment only was also observed in the E. coli plates (Figure 3), but this was significantly lower than when CBD was combined with antibiotics, except for vancomycin. The zone of inhibition for E. coli caused by antibiotic treatment only, vs. CBD alone, differed also significantly for erythromycin (p = 0.0010), vancomycin (p = 0.0158), rifampicin (p = 0.0158)0.0003) and kanamycin (p = 0.0008), but not for colistin (p= 0.224). Therefore, while CBD showed some anti-bacterial activity against E. coli when applied in isolation, this was significantly lower than observed for the antibiotics alone (except for vancomycin which did not show antibacterial activity while CBD did). However, when applied in combination, CBD increased bactericidal effects of all antibiotics tested, except for colistin.

## CBD-Mediated Effects on Antibiotic Sensitivity in *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach

When added to *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach,  $5 \mu M$  CBD increased the antibiotic activity of kanamycin (30 %; p = 0.0028), as assessed by increased radius of zone around the diffusion disk (**Figure 4**). CBD did not enhance anti-bacterial activity for the other antibiotics tested and reduced antibacterial effects of both erythromycin and rifampicin (p = 0.0325 and p = 0.0001, respectively). Importantly, there was no halo observed around the



**FIGURE 3 |** CBD sensitizes Gram-negative bacteria *E. coli* VCS257 to selected antibiotics. Combinatory treatment of CBD with a range of antibiotics (24 h treatment) showed enhanced CBD-mediated antibacterial effects on *E. coli* VCS257, as assessed by increased radius of zone around the diffusion disks. CBD was most effective in combination with rifampicin (p = 0.0007), vancomycin ( $p \le 0.0001$ ) and erythromycin (p = 0.006). CBD in isolation also had bactericidal effects on *E. coli*, while combinatory treatment with the antibiotics was most effective. Exact p-values are shown.



diffusion disk containing CBD alone in the *S. aureus* plates, indicating no bactericidal effects of CBD on this strain of *S. aureus*.

# Effects of CBD Treatment on Protein Profiles of MVs Released From *E. coli* VCS257

Protein composition of MVs was assessed in MVs isolated from E. coli VCS257 after 1 h treatment with  $1 \mu M$  and  $5 \mu M$  CBD, respectively, compared to non-treated E. coli MVs, using SDS-PAGE silver stained gels and LC-MS/MS analysis. Silver stained gels revealed some band differences between the three conditions (Figure 5A). Proteins were further analyzed by LC-MS/MS and peak list files submitted to Mascot (in-house, Cambridge Center for Proteomics, Uniprot Escherichia coli 20180613). Hits are listed in Tables 1-3. Compared to untreated MVs, five protein hits were absent in MVs released from the  $1 \,\mu$ M CBD treated E. coli and four protein hits were absent in MVs released from the 5 µM CBD treated *E. coli*, respectively (**Table 1** and **Figure 5B**). When comparing the two CBD treatments, 26 protein hits were specific to the E. coli MVs following 1 µM CBD treatment (Table 2 and Figure 5B) while 68 protein hits were unique to the MVs released from E. coli treated with  $5 \mu M$  CBD (Table 3 and Figure 5B).

# DISCUSSION

To our knowledge this is the first study to evaluate the putative effects of CBD on the release of membrane vesicles (MVs) from bacteria and effects of CBD on MV profile, including protein composition. In eukaryotic cells, CBD was recently identified as an effective inhibitor of extracellular vesicle (EV) release both in human cancer cells (Kosgodage et al., 2018, 2019) as well as in the intestinal parasite *Giardia intestinalis* (Gavinho et al., 2019). Therefore, our present findings may indicate phylogenetically conserved pathways of membrane

vesicle release from bacteria to mammals that can be modulated via CBD. Moreover, CBD could enhance the anti-bacterial effect of certain antibiotics in some bacterial types, but also inhibit it in others. This indicates that inhibition of MV release and antibacterial action are likely linked, as previously suggested (Tashiro et al., 2010). Indeed, a recent study using indole derivatives has revealed a role for MVs in antibiotic resistance/persistence, in particular in Gram-negative bacteria tested (Agarwal et al., 2019).

Here we report that CBD significantly reduced MV release in E. coli VCS257, a Gram-negative bacterium, but had negligible effects on membrane vesicle release in S. aureus subsp. aureus Rosenbach, a Gram-positive bacterium, as assessed here by in vitro analysis. In addition, we also found that lower doses of CBD had a stronger MV inhibitory effect in E. coli VCS257 than a higher  $5\mu M$  dose (p = 0.0063), and such an effect has also previously been observed for EVs in certain cancer cell types (Kosgodage et al., 2018). Biphasic effects of CBD are indeed recognized (Bergamaschi et al., 2011) and may be reminiscent of "hormesis," an effect we have suggested could explain its more general medical benefits as well as effects on mitochondrial dynamics (Nunn et al., 2013). Interestingly, at the lower 1 µM concentration, CBD significantly increased the release of a 500 nm peak of MVs, as observed by NTA analysis, while this peak was negligible both in the control treated bacteria and those treated with 5µM CBD. Such an effect of CBD on MV profile, and protein MV profile as observed by proteomic analysis here, may be relevant in the light of recent recognition of the importance of MV size for cellular entry and uptake (Turner et al., 2018) and in line with an increased interest in the research community for the identification and characterization of MV sub-populations (Pérez-Cruz et al., 2016; Turner et al., 2018; Cooke et al., 2019; Toyofuku et al., 2019; Zavan et al.,



**FIGURE 5** CBD affects protein composition of *E. coli* VCS257 MVs. (**A**) A SDS-PAGE silver stained gel reveals banding differences between the CBD treated and non-treated *E. coli* derived MVs (see arrows highlighting some present and absent bands). (**B**). Venn diagram showing protein changes in MVs released from CBD treated compared to untreated control *E. coli* VCS257. Plus ("+") indicates hits unique to MVs following CBD 1 or 5 µM treatment, respectively; minus ("-") indicates number of proteins absent in the respective CBD treated MVs, compared to control untreated MVs. For specific protein hits see **Tables 1–3**.
Protein name	Symbol	Score (p < 0.05) <sup>‡</sup>	CBD 1 $\mu$ M	<b>CBD</b> 5 μ <b>M</b>
Glutamate decarboxylase alpha	P69908 DCEA_ECOLI	37	_	+
2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase E1 component	P0AFG3 ODO1_ECOLI	36	+	-
RNA chaperone ProQ	P45577 PROQ_ECOLI	32	-	+
Uncharacterized protein YffS	P76550 YFFS_ECOLI	29	-	+
Serine transporter	P0AAD6 SDAC_ECOLI	26	+	-
Fumarate and nitrate reduction regulatory protein	P0A9E5 FNR_ECOLI	26	-	-
Uncharacterized protein YcaQ	P75843 YCAQ_ECOLI	22	-	-

Proteins were isolated from E. coli derived MVs and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Peak list files were submitted to Mascot (in-house, Cambridge Center for Proteomics, Uniprot\_Escherichia\_coli\_20180613; 4324 sequences; 1357163 residues).

<sup> $\ddagger$ </sup> lons score is  $-10^{\circ}$  Log(P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores > 19 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits.

2019). The approximately 6.5-fold and 2.5-fold decreases in MV release observed after CBD (1 and 5 µm, respectively) treatment from E. coli, compared to non-treated controls, also correlated with a trend in shift toward proportionally larger vesicles released according to NTA analysis and change in protein profile. The exact mechanism for packaging proteins and other reagents in MVs is not fully understood and given the plethora of targets for CBD (Ibeas Bih et al., 2015; Hernández-Cervantes et al., 2017; Pisanti et al., 2017), the exact mechanism of this cannabinoid on MV formation remains subject to further extensive studies. In the current study we have indeed identified a range proteins, including proteins involved in metabolism and antibiotic metabolic processing, which differ in MVs released from E. coli VCS257 treated with CBD, compared to MVs released from non-treated E. coli. Previous studies have discussed the use of MVs for example as drug delivery vehicles (Ellis and Kuehn, 2010; Gujrati et al., 2014; Gerritzen et al., 2017; Jain and Pillai, 2017; Jan, 2017; Wang et al., 2018), while MVs have also been tested as delivery vehicles for targeted gene silencing using siRNA-packaged MVs (Alves et al., 2016). Whether CBD may be utilized for combinatory application with such approaches may also be of putative interest, in addition to its observed effects in this study, in effectively reducing MV release.

In relation to antibiotic activity, cannabinoids including CBD, have been widely studied for their anti-bacterial activity (Wasim et al., 1995; Bass et al., 1996; Appendino et al., 2008; Hernández-Cervantes et al., 2017). For example, C. sativa extracts have previously been shown to have microbicidal activity on various Gram-positive bacteria, including several strains of S. aureus, as well as some Gram-negative bacteria (Wasim et al., 1995; Elphick, 2007; Nissen et al., 2010), with the minimum inhibitory concentrations (MIC) for the main phytocannabinoids, such as CBD, being in the  $0.5-5 \,\mu$ M range, which is similar to many modern antibiotics (Van Klingeren and Ten Ham, 1976; Appendino et al., 2008). How precisely CBD may be working as an anti-bacterial agent is still not entirely clear (Appendino et al., 2008), particularly in the light of a plethora of targets for CBD (Ibeas Bih et al., 2015; Hernández-Cervantes et al., 2017), while structure-activity studies indicate that the ability of plant-derived phenolic compounds to interact

with membranes and the existence of electrophilic functional groups are important (Miklasinska-Majdanik et al., 2018). Hitherto though, no association has been made into a putative regulatory effect of cannabinoids on bacterial membrane vesicle release. Furthermore, as the current study has revealed changes in proteomic profile of MVs released from E. coli VCS257 following CBD treatment, such findings may inform antibacterial effects of CBD. Using LC-MS/MS analysis to assess changes in protein profile of MVs from CBD treated and untreated E. coli, respectively, five proteins were found to be absent in the 1µM CBD treated MVs and 4 proteins were absent in the 5µM CBD treated MVs, compared to control untreated E. coli MVs. Out of these, 2 proteins overlapped between the two CBD treatments. In addition, comparing 1 and 5 µM CBD treated E. coli MVs, 26 protein hits were unique to MVs released following the 1 µM CBD treatment and 68 protein hits to MVs released following the  $5 \,\mu$ M CBD treatment. Using STRING analysis, PPI enrichment p-value was found to be p = 0.0204 for proteins identified as unique to MVs from the 1  $\mu$ M CBD treatment and  $p = 1.56 \times 10^{-6}$  for proteins identified as unique to MVs from the 5 µM CBD. This indicates that for both treatments these proteins have significantly more interactions among themselves, than what would be expected for a random set of proteins of similar size, drawn from the genome. Such enrichment indicates that the proteins are at least partially biologically connected, as a group. Protein networks are represented showing biological GO pathways and KEGG pathways, respectively, in Supplementary Figures 3, 4 for proteins specific to EVs from E. coli after 1 and 5 µM CBD treatment, respectively. Proteins identified are related to metabolic processes, cellular respiration and antibiotic functions (Supplementary Figures 3A,B, 4A,B).

When assessing the effectivity of CBD to enhance susceptibility of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacterial species to a range of antibiotics, CBD-mediated MV inhibition rendered *E. coli* VCS257 significantly more sensitive to erythromycin, vancomycin and rifampicin and somewhat to kanamycin, but did not augment the bactericidal effects observed for colistin. This was somewhat unexpected, given a previous study showing that MVs isolated from the *E. coli* strain MG1655 could protect bacteria against membrane-active

#### TABLE 2 Proteins identified as present only in MVs released from E. coli VCS257 following 1 h treatment with 1 µM CBD.

Protein name	Symbol	Score (p < 0.05)	
Glutamate decarboxylase beta	P69910 DCEB_ECOLI	230	
Tryptophan synthase alpha chain	P0A877 TRPA_ECOLI	85	
2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase E1 component	P0AFG3 ODO1_ECOLI	70	
Uncharacterized protein YgaU	P0ADE6 YGAU_ECOLI	67	
Spermidine/putrescine-binding periplasmic protein	P0AFK9 POTD_ECOLI	67	
Serine transporter	P0AAD6 SDAC_ECOLI	57	
Inorganic pyrophosphatase	P0A7A9 IPYR_ECOLI	56	
Succinate dehydrogenase flavoprotein subunit	P0AC41 SDHA_ECOLI	54	
NADH-quinone oxidoreductase subunit A	P0AFC3 NUOA_ECOLI	53	
Periplasmic dipeptide transport protein	P23847 DPPA_ECOLI	49	
Uncharacterized protein YqiC	Q46868 YQIC_ECOLI	48	
Formate dehydrogenase, nitrate-inducible, major subunit	P24183 FDNG_ECOLI	47	
Acyl carrier protein	P0A6A8 ACP_ECOLI	45	
Maltose/maltodextrin-binding periplasmic protein	P0AEX9 MALE_ECOLI	44	
Septum site-determining protein MinD	P0AEZ3 MIND_ECOLI	42	
Phosphate-specific transport system accessory protein PhoU	P0A9K7 PHOU_ECOLI	40	
Ribosome-associated inhibitor A	P0AD49 YFIA_ECOLI	36	
DNA-binding protein H-NS	P0ACF8 HNS_ECOLI	35	
RNA-binding protein Hfq	P0A6X3 HFQ_ECOLI	33	
Phosphate transport system permease protein PstA	P07654 PSTA_ECOLI	32	
Galactoside transport system permease protein MglC	P23200 MGLC_ECOLI	32	
Sec translocon accessory complex subunit YajC	P0ADZ7 YAJC_ECOLI	31	
Isoform Beta of Translation initiation factor IF-2	P0A705-2 IF2_ECOLI	30	
2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-dependent phosphoglycerate mutase	P62707 GPMA_ECOLI	30	
Peptidoglycan D,D-transpeptidase Ftsl	P0AD68 FTSI_ECOLI	28	
Inner membrane protein YjcH	P0AF54 YJCH_ECOLI	27	
HTH-type transcriptional regulator GntR	P0ACP5 GNTR_ECOLI	27	
Histidinol-phosphate aminotransferase	P06986 HIS8_ECOLI	26	
SsrA-binding protein	P0A832 SSRP_ECOLI	25	
2-dehydro-3-deoxyphosphooctonate aldolase	P0A715 KDSA_ECOLI	25	
Deoxyribose-phosphate aldolase	P0A6L0 DEOC_ECOLI	25	
Ribosome hibernation promoting factor	P0AFX0 HPF_ECOLI	24	
Ribokinase	P0A9J6 RBSK_ECOLI	24	
Probable ATP-dependent helicase I hr	P30015 LHR_ECOLI	22	
Membrane-bound lytic murein transglycosylase B	P41052 MLTB_ECOLI	21	
Uncharacterized protein YjaA	P09162 YJAA_ECOLI	21	
Adenylate kinase	P69441 KAD_ECOLI	21	
Fructose-1,6-bisphosphatase 2 class 2	P21437 GLPX2_ECOLI	20	
Transcription termination/antitermination protein NusA	P0AFF6 NUSA_ECOLI	20	

Proteins were isolated from CBD treated (1 µM) E. coli MVs and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Peak list files were submitted to Mascot (in-house, Cambridge Center for Proteomics, Uniprot\_Escherichia\_coli\_20180613; 4324 sequences; 1357163 residues).

<sup>+</sup> lons score is -10<sup>1</sup>Log(P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores > 18 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits.

antibiotics such as colistin (Kulkarni et al., 2015). Our finding, that CBD did not sensitize *E. coli* further to colistin, when applied in combination with this antibiotic, may arise from the fact that a different strain of *E. coli* (VCS257) was used in the current study, compared to in the study by Kulkarni et al. (2015). It has also been previously shown that the presence of calcium decreases the bactericidal effect of colistin on *Paenibacillus polymyxa*, suggesting a role for Ca<sup>2+</sup> in generating

a protective barrier against colistin (Yu et al., 2015). As CBD is known to modulate calcium (Rimmerman et al., 2013) it can be postulated that this may interfere with the mode of action of colistin. Our findings also indicate that combinatory application of CBD is not effective for all antibiotics, which may possibly be explained by their different modes of action. Importantly, zones of inhibition were observed in the plates which were only treated with the CBD discs in the presence TABLE 3 | Proteins identified as present only in *E. coli* VCS257 derived MVs following 1 h treatment with 5  $\mu$ M CBD.

Protein name	Symbol	Score (p < 0.05)
Glutamate decarboxylase alpha	P69908 DCEA_ECOLI	189
ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FtsH	P0AAI3 FTSH_ECOLI	128
Rod shape-determining protein MreB	P0A9X4 MREB_ECOLI	109
Jncharacterized protein YibN	P0AG27 YIBN_ECOLI	101
Duter membrane protein X	P0A917 OMPX_ECOLI	99
Galactitol 1-phosphate 5-dehydrogenase	P0A9S3 GATD_ECOLI	91
JPF0381 protein YfcZ	P0AD33 YFCZ_ECOLI	85
50S ribosomal protein L31	P0A7M9 RL31_ECOLI	83
Biotin carboxylase	P24182 ACCC_ECOLI	83
GMP synthase [glutamine-hydrolyzing]	P04079 GUAA_ECOLI	82
Cytochrome bd-I ubiquinol oxidase subunit 1	P0ABJ9 CYDA_ECOLI	74
Galactokinase	P0A6T3 GAL1_ECOLI	74
RNA chaperone ProQ	P45577 PROQ_ECOLI	71
Protein GrpE	P09372 GRPE_ECOLI	68
Purine nucleoside phosphorylase	P0ABP8 DEOD_ECOLI	61
50S ribosomal protein L21	P0AG48 RL21_ECOLI	59
Dihydrolipoyllysine-residue succinyltransferase component of	P0AFG6 ODO2_ECOLI	58
2-oxoglutarate dehydrogenase complex		
Sec-independent protein translocase protein TatA	P69428 TATA_ECOLI	56
Bifunctional protein GImU	P0ACC7 GLMU_ECOLI	56
TS system mannose-specific EIIAB component	P69797 PTNAB_ECOLI	55
naerobic glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase subunit C	P0A996 GLPC_ECOLI	54
roline/betaine transporter	P0C0L7 PROP_ECOLI	52
yruvate formate-lyase 1-activating enzyme	P0A9N4 PFLA_ECOLI	52
yruvate/proton symporter BtsT	P39396 BTST_ECOLI	52
Protein translocase subunit SecY	P0AGA2 SECY_ECOLI	49
Penicillin-binding protein activator LpoB	P0AB38 LPOB_ECOLI	49
Signal peptidase I	P00803 LEP_ECOLI	45
hiol peroxidase	P0A862 TPX_ECOLI	45
JPF0307 protein YjgA	P0A8X0 YJGA_ECOLI	45
Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase D	POADY1  PPID_ECOLI	44
B-hydroxydecanoyl-[acyl-carrier-protein] dehydratase	P0A6Q3 FABA_ECOLI	44
TP-dependent protease subunit HsIV	P0A7B8 HSLV_ECOLI	43
nosine-5'-monophosphate dehydrogenase	POADG7 IMDH_ECOLI	42
Peptide chain release factor RF2	P07012 RF2 ECOLI	41
lucleoside diphosphate kinase	POA763 NDK ECOLI	40
nositol-1-monophosphatase	POADG4 SUHB_ECOLI	40
Respiratory nitrate reductase 1 gamma chain	P11350 NARI ECOLI	40
Succinate dehydrogenase hydrophobic membrane anchor subunit	P0AC44 DHSD_ECOLI	39
Duter membrane protein assembly factor BamB	P77774 BAMB_ECOLI	36
ignal recognition particle receptor FtsY	P10121 FTSY_ECOLI	36
naerobic C4-dicarboxylate transporter DcuB	POABN9 DCUB_ECOLI	34
Slucans biosynthesis protein		34
denine phosphoribosyltransferase	P69503 APT_ECOLI	34
Altoporin	P02943 LAMB_ECOLI	34
IADH-quinone oxidoreductase subunit C/D	P33599 NUOCD_ECOLI	32
NP-dependent protease ATPase subunit HsIU	P0A6H5 HSLU_ECOLI	32
CDP-diacylglycerol-serine O-phosphatidyltransferase	P23830 PSS_ECOLI	32
PTS system trehalose-specific EIIBC component ranscription termination/antitermination protein NusG	P36672 PTTBC_ECOLI P0AFG0 NUSG_ECOLI	31 31

(Continued)

#### TABLE 3 | Continued

Protein name	Symbol	<b>Score (p &lt; 0.05)</b> <sup>‡</sup> 30	
Protein translocase subunit SecF	P0AG93 SECF_ECOLI		
Oligopeptide transport system permease protein OppB	P0AFH2 OPPB_ECOLI	30	
Uncharacterized protein YffS	P76550 YFFS_ECOLI	29	
NADH-quinone oxidoreductase subunit J	P0AFE0 NUOJ_ECOLI	29	
Glucosamine-6-phosphate deaminase	P0A759 NAGB_ECOLI	29	
Uncharacterized protein YiaF	P0ADK0 YIAF_ECOLI	28	
Tol-Pal system protein TolQ	P0ABU9 TOLQ_ECOLI	28	
Multidrug export protein EmrA	P27303 EMRA_ECOLI	27	
UPF0246 protein YaaA	P0A8I3 YAAA_ECOLI	25	
DNA-directed RNA polymerase subunit omega	P0A800 RPOZ_ECOLI	24	
ATP-binding/permease protein CydD	P29018 CYDD_ECOLI	24	
Glycine betaine-binding protein YehZ	P33362 YEHZ_ECOLI	23	
NADP-dependent malic enzyme	P76558 MAO2_ECOLI	23	
Multiphosphoryl transfer protein	P69811 PTFAH_ECOLI	23	
Ribose-5-phosphate isomerase A	P0A7Z0 RPIA_ECOLI	22	
Disulfide bond formation protein B	P0A6M2 DSBB_ECOLI	22	
Uncharacterized protein YbjD	P75828 YBJD_ECOLI	22	
NADH-quinone oxidoreductase subunit L	P33607 NUOL_ECOLI	21	
Pyridoxine 5'-phosphate synthase	P0A794 PDXJ_ECOLI	21	

Proteins were isolated from CBD treated (5 μM) E. coli MVs and analyzed by LC-MS/MS. Peak list files were submitted to Mascot (in-house, Cambridge Center for Proteomics, Uniprot\_Escherichia\_coli\_20180613; 4324 sequences; 1357163 residues).

<sup>‡</sup> lons score is -10<sup>°</sup>Log(P), where P is the probability that the observed match is a random event. Individual ions scores > 19 indicated identity or extensive homology (p < 0.05). Protein scores were derived from ions scores as a non-probabilistic basis for ranking protein hits. Cut-off was set at lons score 20.

of *E. coli*, and this clearly revealed the antibacterial property of CBD.

Interestingly, CBD did increase antibacterial effects of vancomycin on *E. coli*, in spite of vancomycin's limited effectiveness on Gram-negative species, also seen here by the fact that vancomycin alone did not result in a halo around the diffusion disk for *E. coli*. Therefore, CBD seems to overcome previously established resistance of *E. coli* to vancomycin, which has reported to partly be due to its inability to significantly penetrate the outer membrane (Zhou et al., 2015). It may also be important to note that erythromycin, rifampicin and kanamycin inhibit protein synthesis, whereas vancomycin is a glycopeptide that inhibits cell biosynthesis in Gram-positive bacteria, while colistin binds to the outer membrane of Gram-negative bacteria, disrupting it. Thus, these antibiotics display very different modes of action.

In the Gram-positive bacterium *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach, CBD increased bactericidal activity of kanamycin only. The reduced ability of CBD to sensitize this Gram-positive bacterium to antibiotics, compared to the significantly higher effects in the Gram-negative bacterium, tallied in with CBD's ability to regulate MV-release, indicating a relevant contribution of MVs to antibiotic resistance. Roles for MVs in protecting biofilms via adsorption of antimicrobial agents have indeed been previously recognized (Schooling and Beveridge, 2006; Manning and Kuehn, 2011; Toyofuku et al., 2019). This also indicates that MV-inhibitors that target membrane vesicles from specific bacteria species, such as CBD here, could be applied

in combination with selected antibiotics for tailored antibiotic treatment to tackle antibiotic resistance.

# CONCLUSIONS

CBD effectively inhibited MV release from the Gram-negative bacterium *E. coli* VCS257, exhibiting a stronger MV-inhibiting effect at lower dose. In addition, CBD modulated MV protein profiles of *E. coli* following 1 h treatment. CBD did not have significant effects on MV release in the Gram-positive bacterium *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach. When applied in combination with a range of antibiotics, CBD increased antibacterial effects of selected antibiotics, depending on bacteria type. CBD, in combination with specific antibiotics, may thus possibly be used as an adjuvant to selectively target bacteria to sensitize them to antibiotic treatment and reduce antibiotic resistance.

# DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the **Supplementary Files**.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

UK, PM, BA, IK, PW, and SL performed the experiments. UK, JB, AN, JI, and SL analyzed the data. PM, GM, GG, IK, SL, and JI

provided resources. UK, SL, and JI designed the study. SL, UK, and AN wrote the manuscript. All authors critically reviewed the manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in parts by a University of Westminster Start-up Grant to SL and an unrestricted grant from GW Pharmaceuticals. Thanks are due to the Guy Foundation for funding the purchase of equipment utilized in this study. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb. 2019.00324/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | Effects of CBD on bacterial growth in (A) *E. coli* VCS257 and (B) *S. aureus* subsp. *aureus* Rosenbach, after 24 h incubation, as assessed by disk diffusion test. Exact *p*-values are shown.

Supplementary Figure 2 | TEM of MV released from *E. coli* VCS257 following 1 or 5  $\mu$ M CBD treated for 1 h, compared to MVs isolated from control, untreated *E. coli*. (A) A composite image showing MVs released from control, untreated *E. coli*. (B) A composite image showing MVs released from *E. coli* treated with 1  $\mu$ M CBD for 1 h. (C) A composite image showing MVs released from *E. coli* treated with 5  $\mu$ M CBD for 1 h. Scale bars indicate 100 nm, respectively, and are included in the individual figures.

 $\begin{array}{l} \textbf{Supplementary Figure 3} \mid \mbox{Protein-protein interaction networks of protein hits} \\ \mbox{identified in MVs from 1 $\mu$M CBD treated $E$. coli VCS257$. Reconstruction of protein-protein interactions based on known and predicted interactions using STRING analysis. Colored nodes represent query proteins and first shell of $P_{11}$ and $P_{12}$ and $P_{12}$$ 

## REFERENCES

- Agarwal, B., Karthikeyan, R., Gayathri, P., RameshBabu, B., Ahmed, G., and Jagannadham, M. V. (2019). Studies on the mechanism of multidrug resistance of *Acinetobacter baumannii* by proteomic analysis of the outer membrane vesicles of the bacterium. *Proteins Proteom.* 10, 1–15. doi: 10.1007/s42485-018-0001-4
- Alves, N. J., Turner, K. B., Mendints, I. L., and Walper, S. A. (2016). Protecting enzymatic function through directed packaging into bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Sci. Rep.* 6:24866. doi: 10.1038/srep24866
- Appendino, G., Gibbons, S., Giana, A., Pagani, A., Grassi, G., Stavri, M., Smith et al. (2008). Antibacterial cannabinoids from *Cannabis sativa*: a structure-activity study. J. Nat. Prod. 71, 1427–1430. doi: 10.1021/np8002673
- Bass, R., Engelhard, D., Trembovler, V., and Shohami, E. (1996). A novel nonpsychotropic cannabinoid, HU-211, in the treatment of experimental pneumococcal meningitis. J. Infect Dis. 173, 735–738. doi: 10.1093/infdis/173.3.735
- Bergamaschi, M. M., Queiroz, R. H., Zuardi, A. W., and Crippa, J. A. (2011). Safety and side effects of cannabidiol, a *Cannabis sativa* constituent. *Curr. Drug Saf.* 6, 237–249. doi: 10.2174/157488611798280924
- Bitto, N. J., Baker, P. J., Dowling, J. K., Wray-McCann, G., De Paoli, A., Tran, L. S., et al. (2018). Membrane vesicles from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* activate the noncanonical inflammasome through caspase-5 in human monocytes. *Immunol. Cell Biol.* 96, 1120–1130. doi: 10.1111/imcb.12190
- Bitto, N. J., Chapman, R., Pidot, S., Costin, A., Lo, C., Choi, J., et al. (2017). Bacterial membrane vesicles transport their DNA cargo into host cells. *Sci. Rep.* 7:7072. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-07288-4

interactors; white nodes are second shell of interactors. (A) Biological GO processes are highlighted as follows: red, citrate metabolic process: green, antibiotic metabolic process; yellow, regulation of cellular amide metabolic process; purple, carboxylic acid metabolic process; dark green, regulation of phosphate metabolic process; light blue, cellular respiration; orange, small molecule metabolic process; dark red, negative regulation of translational elongation; dark blue, generation of precursor metabolites and energy. (B) KEGG pathways are highlighted as follows: dark green, oxidative phosphorylation; dark red, citrate cycle (TCA cycle); red, biosynthesis of antibiotics; purple, butanoate metabolism; dark blue, biosynthesis of secondary metabolites; light blue, carbon metabolism; orange, phenylalanine, tyrosine and tryptophan biosynthesis; light green, Microbial metabolism in diverse environments; yellow, Metabolic pathways; violet, glycine, serine, and threonine metabolism. Colored lines indicate whether protein interactions are identified via known interactions (curated databases. experimentally determined), predicted interactions (gene neighborhood, gene fusion, gene co-occurrence) or via text mining, co-expression or protein homology (see color key for connective lines).

Supplementary Figure 4 | Protein-protein interaction networks of protein hits identified in MVs from 5 µM CBD treated E. coli VCS257. Reconstruction of protein-protein interactions based on known and predicted interactions using STRING analysis. Colored nodes represent query proteins and first shell of interactors; white nodes are second shell of interactors. (A) Biological GO processes are highlighted as follows: red, cellular respiration; green, purine-containing compound metabolic process; yellow, electron transport chain; purple, ribose phosphate metabolic process; dark green, purine ribonucleotide metabolic process; light blue, generation of precursor metabolites and energy; orange, nucleobase-containing small molecule metabolic process; dark red, purine ribonucleoside metabolic process; dark blue, organophosphate metabolic process. (B) KEGG pathways are highlighted as follows: red, bacterial secretion system; light green, metabolic pathways; yellow, oxidative phosphorylation; purple, butanoate metabolism; dark green, quorum sensing; light blue, amino sugar and nucelotide sugar metabolism: dark blue, protein export; violet, purine metabolism. Colored lines indicate whether protein interactions are identified via known interactions (curated databases, experimentally determined), predicted interactions (gene neighborhood, gene fusion, gene co-occurrence) or via text mining, co-expression or protein homology (see color key for connective lines).

- Cecil, J. D., Sirisaengtaksin, N., O'Brien-Simpson, N. M., and Krachler, A. M. (2019). Outer membrane vesicle-host cell Interactions. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 7:PSIB-0001-2018. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.PSIB-0001-2018
- Codemo, M., Muschiol, S., Iovino, F., Nannapaneni, P., Plant, L., Wai, S. N., et al. (2018). Immunomodulatory effects of pneumococcal extracellular vesicles on cellular and humoral host defenses. *MBio.* 9:e00559–18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00559-18
- Cooke, A. C., Nello, A. V., Ernst, R. K., and Schertzer, J. W. (2019). Analysis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm membrane vesicles supports multiple mechanisms of biogenesis. *PLoS ONE*. 14:e0212275. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212275
- Deo, P., Chow, S. H., Hay, I. D., Kleifeld, O., Costin, A., Elgass, K. D., et al. (2018). Outer membrane vesicles from *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* target PorB to mitochondria and induce apoptosis. *PLoS Pathog.* 14:e1006945. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006945
- Dorward, D. W., and Garon, C. F. (1990). DNA is packaged within membranederived vesicles of gram- negative but not gram- positive bacteria. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56, 1960–1962.
- Ellis, T. N., and Kuehn, M. J. (2010). Virulence and immunomodulatory roles of bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 74, 81–94. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00031-09
- Elphick, M. R. (2007). BfCBR: a cannabinoid receptor ortholog in the cephalochordate Branchiostoma floridae (amphioxus). *Gene* 399, 65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2007.04.025
- Fleetwood, A. J., Lee, M. K. S., Singleton, W., Achuthan, A., Lee, M. C., O'Brien-Simpson, N. M., et al. (2017). Metabolic remodeling, inflammasome activation, and pyroptosis in macrophages stimulated by *Porphyromonas*

gingivalis and its outer membrane vesicles. Front. Cell Infect Microbiol. 7:351. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00351

- Fulsundar, S., Harms, K., Flaten, G. E., Johnsen, P. J., Chopade, B. A., and Nielsen, K. M. (2014). Gene transfer potential of outer membrane vesicles of Acinetobacter baylyi and effects of stress on vesiculation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 80, 3469–3483. doi: 10.1128/AEM.04248-13
- Gavinho, B., Rossi, I. V., Evans-Osses, I., Lange, S., and Ramirez, M. I. (2019). Peptidylarginine deiminase inhibition abolishes the production of large extracellular vesicles from *Giardia intestinalis*, affecting hostpathogen interactions by hindering adhesion to host cells. *Biorxiv* 586438. doi: 10.1101/586438
- Gerritzen, M. J. H., Martens, D. E., Wijffels, R. H., van der Pol, L., Stork, M. (2017). Bioengineering bacterial outer membrane vesicles as vaccine platform. *Biotechnol. Adv.* 5, 565–574. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.05.003
- Gnopo, Y. M. D., Watkins, H. C., Stevenson, T. C., DeLisa, M. P., and Putnam, D. (2017). Designer outer membrane vesicles as immunomodulatory systems
  Reprogramming bacteria for vaccine delivery. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 114, 132–142. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2017.05.003
- Goldstein, E. J. C., Citron, D. M., Tyrrell, K. L., and Leoncio, E. (2018). *In vitro* stability of three oral vancomycin preparations stored at 2- 5 2- 5 °C and ambient room temperature for up to 60 days against 100 Clostridioides (Clostridium) difficile and 51Staphylococcus aureus strains. *Anaerobe.* 52, 83–85. doi: 10.1016/j.anaerobe.2018.06.003
- Gujrati, V., Kim, S., Kim, S. H., Min, J. J., Choy, H. E., Kim, S. C., et al. (2014). Bioengineered bacterial outer membrane vesicles as cell-specific drugdelivery vehicles for cancer therapy. ACS Nano. 8, 1525–37. doi: 10.1021/nn40 5724x
- Gurung, M., Moon, D. C., Choi, C. W., Lee, J. H., Bae, Y. C., Kim, J., et al. (2011). Staphylococcus aureus produces membrane-derived vesicles that induce host cell death. *PLoS ONE.* 6:e27958. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027958
- Hernández-Cervantes, R., Méndez-Díaz, M., Prospéro-García, Ó., and Morales-Montor, J. (2017). Immunoregulatory role of cannabinoids during infectious disease. *Neuroimmunomodulation*. 24, 183–199. doi: 10.1159/0004 81824
- Ibeas Bih, C., Chen, T., Nunn, A. V., Bazelot, M., Dallas, M., and Whalley, B. J. (2015). Molecular targets of cannabidiol in neurological disorders. *Neurotherapeutics* 12, 699–730. doi: 10.1007/s13311-015-0377-3
- Iqbal, J., Siddiqui, R., Kazmi, S. U., and Khan, N. A. (2013). A simple assay to screen antimicrobial compounds potentiating the activity of current antibiotics. *Bio. Med. Res. Int.* 2013:927323. doi: 10.1155/2013/927323
- Jain, S., and Pillai, J. (2017). Bacterial membrane vesicles as novel nanosystems for drug delivery. *Int. J. Nanomed.* 12, 6329–6341. doi: 10.2147/IJN.S137368
- Jan, A. T. (2017). Outer membrane vesicles (OMVs) of gram-negative bacteria: a perspective update. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1053. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.201 7.01053
- Jorfi, S., Ansa-Addo, E. A., Kholia, S., Stratton, D., Valley, S., Lange, S., et al. (2015). Inhibition of microvesiculation sensitizes prostate cancer cells to chemotherapy and reduces docetaxel dose required to limit tumor growth *in vivo. Sci. Rep.* 5:13006. doi: 10.1038/srep13006
- Klimentova, J., and Stulik, J. (2015). Methods of isolation and purification of outer membrane vesicles from gram negative bacteria. *Microbiol. Res.* 170, 1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2014.09.006
- Koch, R., Aung, T., Vogel, D., Chapuy, B., Wenzel, D., Becker, S., et al. (2016). Nuclear trapping through inhibition of exosomal export by indomethacin increases cytostatic efficacy of doxorubicin and pixantrone. *Clin. Cancer Res.* 22, 395–404. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0577
- Koeppen, K., Hampton, T. H., Jarek, M., Scharfe, M., Gerber, S. A., Mielcarz, D. W., et al. (2016). A novel mechanism of host-pathogen interaction through srna in bacterial outer membrane vesicles. *PLoS Pathog.* 12:e1005672. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005672
- Kosgodage, U. S., Mould, R., Henley, A. B., Nunn, A. V., Guy, G. W., Thomas, E. L., et al. (2018). Cannabidiol (CBD) is a novel inhibitor for exosome and microvesicle (EMV) release in cancer. *Front. Pharmacol.* 9:889. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00889
- Kosgodage, U. S., Trindade, R. P., Thompson, P. R., Inal, J. M., and Lange, S. (2017). Chloramidine/bisindolylmaleimide-i-mediated inhibition of exosome and microvesicle release and enhanced efficacy of cancer chemotherapy. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 18:E1007. doi: 10.3390/ijms18051007

- Kosgodage, U. S., Uysal-Onganer, P., MacLatchy, A., Mould, R., Nunn, A. V., Guy, G. W., et al. (2019). Cannabidiol affects extracellular vesicle release, miR21 and miR126, and reduces prohibitin protein in glioblastoma multiforme cells. *Transl. Oncol.* 12, 513–522. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2018.12.004
- Kshetry, A. O., Pant, N. D., Bhandari, R., Khatri, S., Shrestha, K. L., Upadhaya, S. K., et al. (2016). Minimum inhibitory concentration of vancomycin to methicillin resistant Staphylococcus aureus isolated from different clinical samples at a tertiary care hospital in Nepal. Antimicrob. Resist. Infect. Control. 5:27. doi: 10.1186/s13756-016-0126-3
- Kulkarni, H. M., Nagaraj, R., and Jagannadham, M. V. (2015). Protective role of E. coli outer membrane vesicles against antibiotics. *Microbiol. Res.* 181, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.micres.2015.07.008
- Li, Z., Clarke, A. J., and Beveridge, T. J. (1998). Gram- negative bacteria produce membrane vesicles which are capable of killing other bacteria. *J. Bacteriol.* 180, 5478–5483.
- Macdonald, I. A., and Kuehn, M. J. (2013). Stress-induced outer membrane vesicle production by Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J. Bacteriol. 195, 2971–2981. doi: 10.1128/JB.02267-12
- Maclayton, D. O., Suda, K. J., Coval, K. A., York, C. B., and Garey, K. W. (2006). Case-control study of the relationship between MRSA bacteremia with a vancomycin MIC of  $2\,\mu$ g/mL and risk factors, costs, and outcomes in inpatients undergoing hemodialysis. *Clin. Therapeut.* 28, 1208–1216. doi: 10.1016/j.clinthera.2006.08.003
- Manning, A. J., and Kuehn, M. J. (2011). Contribution of bacterial outer membrane vesicles to innate bacterial defense. *BMC Microbiol*. 11:258. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-11-258
- Martin-Moreno, A. M., Reigada, D., Ramírez, B. G., Mechoulam, R., Innamorato, N., Cuadrado, A., et al. (2011). Cannabidiol and other cannabinoids reduce microglial activation *in vitro* and *in vivo*: relevance to Alzheimer's disease. *Mol. Pharmacol.* 791, 964–973. doi: 10.1124/mol.111.071290
- McBroom, A. J., and Kuehn, M. J. (2007). Release of outer membrane vesicles by Gram-negative bacteria is a novel envelope stress response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 63, 545–558. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05522.x
- McCaig, W. D., Koller, A., and Thanassi, D., G (2013). Production of outer membrane vesicles and outer membrane tubes by *Francisella novicida*. J. Bacteriol. 195, 1120–1132. doi: 10.1128/JB.02007-12
- Miklasinska-Majdanik, M., Kepa, M., Wojtyczka, R. D., Idzik, D., and Wasik, T. J. (2018). Phenolic compounds diminish antibiotic resistance of *Staphylococcus Aureus* clinical strains. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Publ. Health.* 15:E2321. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102321
- Moskowitz, S. M., Garber, E., Chen, Y., Clock, S. A., Tabibi, S., Miller, A. K., et al. (2010). Colistin susceptibility testing: evaluation of reliability for cystic fibrosis isolates of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*. *J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 65, 1416–1423. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkq131
- Muralidharan-Chari, V., Kohan, H. G., Asimakopoulos, A. G., Sudha, T., Sell, S., Kannan, K., et al. (2016). Microvesicle removal of anticancer drugs contributes to drug resistance in human pancreatic cancer cells. *Oncotarget* 7, 50365–50379. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10395
- Nissen, L., Zatta, A., Stefanini, I., Grandi, S., Sgorbati, B., Biavati, B., et al. (2010). Characterization and antimicrobial activity of essential oils of industrial hemp varieties (Cannabis sativa L.). *Fitoterapia* 81, 413–419. doi: 10.1016/j.fitote.2009.11.010
- Nunn, A. V. W., Henley, A., Brody, L., and Bell, J. D. (2013). "Phytocannabinoids modulate mitochondrial dynamics in cell lines; stress adaptation,"in *Abstract*, *6th European Workshop on Cannabinoid Research*. Available online at: www. pA2online.org 11.
- Pérez-Cruz, C., Cañas, M. A., Giménez, R., Badia, J., Mercade, E., Baldom,à, L., et al. (2016). Membrane vesicles released by a hypervesiculating escherichia coli nissle 1917 tolr mutant are highly heterogeneous and show reduced capacity for epithelial cell interaction and entry. *PLoS ONE*. 11:e0169186. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169186
- Pisanti, S., Malfitano, A. M., Ciaglia, E., Lamberti, A., Ranieri, R., Cuomo, G., et al. (2017). Cannabidiol: state of the art and new challenges for therapeutic applications. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 175, 133–150. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2017.02.041
- Rimmerman, N., Ben-Hail, D., Porat, Z., Juknat, A., Kozela, E., Daniels, M. P., et al. (2013). Direct modulation of the outer mitochondrial membrane channel, voltage-dependent anion channel 1 (VDAC1) by cannabidiol: a

novel mechanism for cannabinoid-induced cell death. *Cell Death Dis.* 4:e949. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.471

- Roier, S., Zingl, F. G., Cakar, F., Durakovic, S., Kohl, P., Eichmann, T. O., et al. (2016). A novel mechanism for the biogenesis of outer membrane vesicles in Gram-negative bacteria. *Nat. Commun.* 7:10515. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10515
- Rojas, L. J., Salim, M., Cober, E., Richter, S. S., Perez, F., Salata, R. A., et al. (2017). Colistin resistance in carbapenem-resistant klebsiella pneumoniae: laboratory detection and impact on mortality. *Clin. Infect. Dis.*. 64, 711–718. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciw805
- Rüter, C., Lubos, M. L., Norkowski, S., and Schmidt, M. A. (2018). All in-Multiple parallel strategies for intracellular delivery by bacterial pathogens. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 308, 872–881. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2018.06.007
- Schooling, S. R., and Beveridge, T. J. (2006). Membrane vesicles: an overlooked component of the matrices of biofilms. J. Bacteriol. 188, 5945–5957. doi: 10.1128/JB.00257-06
- Tan, K., Li, R., Huang, X., and Liu, Q. (2018). Outer membrane vesicles: current status and future direction of these novel vaccine adjuvants. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:783. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00783
- Tashiro, Y., Ichikawa, S., Shimizu, M., Toyofuku, M., Takaya, N., Nakajima-Kambe, T., et al. (2010). Variation of physiochemical properties and cell association activity of membrane vesicles with growth phase in Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 76, 3732–3739. doi: 10.1128/AEM.02794-09
- Toyofuku, M., Nomura, N., and Eberl, L. (2019). Types and origins of bacterial membrane vesicles. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 17, 13–24. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0112-2
- Turner, L., Bitto, N. J., Steer, D. L., Lo, C., D'Costa, K., Ramm, G., et al. (2018). Helicobacter pylori outer membrane vesicle size determines their mechanisms of host cell entry and protein content. *Front. Immunol.* 9:1466. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01466
- Van Klingeren, B., and Ten Ham, M. (1976). Antibacterial activity of delta9tetrahydrocannabinol and cannabidiol. Antonie Van Leeuwen. 42, 9–12. doi: 10.1007/BF00399444
- Wang, W., Chanda, W., and Zhong, M. (2015). The relationship between biofilm and outer membrane vesicles: a novel therapy overview. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 362:fnv117. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnv117

- Wang, X., Thompson, C. D., Weidenmaier, C., and Lee, J. C. (2018). Release of *Staphylococcus aureus* extracellular vesicles and their application as a vaccine platform. *Nat Commun.* 9:1379. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03847-z
- Wasim, K., Haq, I., and Ashraf, M. (1995). Antimicrobial studies of the leaf of Cannabis sativa L. Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. 8, 29–38.
- Yu, Z., Cai, Y., Qin, W., Lin, J., and Qiu, J. (2015). Polymyxin E induces rapid *Paenibacillus polymyxa* death by damaging cell membrane while Ca2+ can protect cells from damage. *PLoS ONE* 10:e0135198. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0135198
- Zavan, L., Bitto, N. J., Johnston, E. L., Greening, D. W., and Kaparakis-Liaskos, M. (2019). *Helicobacter pylori* growth stage determines the size, protein composition, and preferential cargo packaging of outer membrane vesicles. *Proteomics* 19:e1800209. doi: 10.1002/pmic.2019 70004
- Zhou, A., Kang, T. M., Yuan, J., Beppler, C., Nguyen, C., Mao, Z., et al. (2015). Synergistic interactions of vancomycin with different antibiotics against *Escherichia coli*: trimethoprim and nitrofurantoin display strong synergies with vancomycin against wild-type *E. coli*. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 59, 276–281. doi: 10.1128/AAC.03502-14

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** GG is founder and chairman of GW Pharmaceuticals. AN is a scientific advisor to GW Pharmaceuticals.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kosgodage, Matewele, Awamaria, Kraev, Warde, Mastroianni, Nunn, Guy, Bell, Inal and Lange. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# **RNA-Dependent Regulation of Virulence in Pathogenic Bacteria**

#### Shubham Chakravarty and Eric Massé\*

RNA Group, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, CRCHUS, University of Sherbrooke, Sherbrooke, QC, Canada

During infection, bacterial pathogens successfully sense, respond and adapt to a myriad of harsh environments presented by the mammalian host. This exquisite level of adaptation requires a robust modulation of their physiological and metabolic features. Additionally, virulence determinants, which include host invasion, colonization and survival despite the host's immune responses and antimicrobial therapy, must be optimally orchestrated by the pathogen at all times during infection. This can only be achieved by tight coordination of gene expression. A large body of evidence implicate the prolific roles played by bacterial regulatory RNAs in mediating gene expression both at the transcriptional and post-transcriptional levels. This review describes mechanistic and regulatory aspects of bacterial regulatory RNAs and highlights how these molecules increase virulence efficiency in human pathogens. As illustrative examples, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Listeria monocytogenes*, the uropathogenic strain of *Escherichia coli, Helicobacter pylori*, and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* have been selected.

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Shailza Singh, National Centre for Cell Science (NCCS), India Clayton Caswell, Virginia Tech, United States

\***Correspondence:** Eric Massé Eric.Masse@usherbrooke.ca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 04 June 2019 Accepted: 18 September 2019 Published: 09 October 2019

#### Citation:

Chakravarty S and Massé E (2019) RNA-Dependent Regulation of Virulence in Pathogenic Bacteria. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:337. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00337 Keywords: regulatory RNA, riboregulation, UPEC, S. aureus, L. monocytogenes, H. pylori, P. aeruginosa

# **INTRODUCTION**

Numerous bacterial species are infamous for their role in causing human diseases (Kusters et al., 2006; Gellatly and Hancock, 2013; Dayan et al., 2016; Terlizzi et al., 2017; Radoshevich and Cossart, 2018). These bacterial pathogens possess certain key distinguishing features. First, they can efficiently sense environmental cues presented by the host such as changes in nutrient availability, pH, osmolarity, and temperature (Fang et al., 2016). Second, pathogenic organisms quickly adapt their metabolic physiology accordingly, thereby switching between their free-living lifestyles and that within the host (Groisman and Mouslim, 2006; Fuchs et al., 2012). Finally, they are characterized by an arsenal of virulence attributes, which they robustly modulate to survive and proliferate during host infection (Pettersson et al., 1996). For example, bacteria harbor potent toxins and toxin delivery systems (Green and Mecsas, 2016). One major function of bacterial toxicity is to kill surveilling immune cells such as neutrophils (do Vale et al., 2016). While this is an immune-evading mechanism employed by pathogenic bacteria, the proteins constituting these toxins and their delivery conduits are highly immunostimulatory (Miao et al., 2010; Gall-Mas et al., 2018). Additionally, toxin expression and secretion are energy intensive (Lee and Rietsch, 2015; Joo et al., 2016). Thus, pathogenic bacteria cannot afford to constitutively express toxin genes but must modulate their expression according to the site and stage of the infection.

A second important virulence property of pathogenic organisms is their ability to form biofilms. A biofilm lifestyle, as markedly opposed to a single organismic one, is characterized by bacteria clustered with each other and attached to a foreign surface such as the host epithelium (Costerton et al., 1995). Another important feature includes encapsulation of the bacterial community inside of an extracellular matrix consisting of polymeric substances synthesized by the bacteria themselves such as polysaccharides (Sutherland, 2001). This abiotic outer layer adopts distinct threedimensional structures. For example, it can form water channels, critical for efficient nutrient mobilization and uptake by biofilm bacteria (Stewart, 2003; Wilking et al., 2013). Additionally, this protective matrix provides a barrier against host immune responses (Leid et al., 2005; Begun et al., 2007; Toska et al., 2018; Tseng et al., 2018) and antimicrobial therapy (Goltermann and Tolker-Nielsen, 2017; Hall and Mah, 2017; Singh et al., 2017). Because of this, and due to altered gene expression, biofilm-associated bacteria are highly recalcitrant to antibiotics (Mah and O'Toole, 2001; Stewart, 2002; Hall and Mah, 2017). Consequently, bacterial biofilm formation represent a huge clinical burden, being widely implicated in the establishment and maintenance of chronic infections (James et al., 2008; Calo et al., 2011; Chen and Wen, 2011; Omar et al., 2017). A classic example is the formation of highly antibiotic resistant biofilms in the airways of Cystic Fibrosis (CF) patients (Lopez-Causape et al., 2015) (described later in detail). Other clinically relevant biofilm infections include otitis media (Bakaletz, 2007), and biofilms frequently found on medical devices such as catheters dwelling inside the patient (Donlan, 2008).

Another community-associated behavior contributing to bacterial virulence is quorum sensing (QS) (Antunes et al., 2010). QS is a bacterial cell-to-cell communication mechanism dependent on the abundance of signaling molecules, known as autoinducers (AI), in the extracellular milieu (Miller and Bassler, 2001). AIs are regulators of bacterial gene expression (Rutherford and Bassler, 2012; Banerjee and Ray, 2016, 2017). Each bacterial cell is capable of synthesizing and secreting AI molecules. Thus, the magnitude of AI accumulation hinges upon both bacterial cell-density as well as gene expression profile (i.e., whether the AI production is on or off) of the whole bacterial community. At an adequate cell density, when the AI levels reach a certain threshold, they are detected by receptors located in the bacterial cell membrane or in the cytoplasm. Some of these receptors comprise the membrane-associated sensor histidine kinase of bacterial two-component signal transduction systems. Binding of the AI to the receptor activates its kinase activity thus autophosphorylating it, followed by transmission of the phosphate group to the corresponding response regulator, thereby facilitating regulation of genes in that particular QS regulon. The second mechanism of QS mediated regulation starts with secretion of the inactive AI. In the extracellular environment, it is processed to its active form, and either diffuses freely or is transported back into bacterial cells. There, the AI binds its cognate cytoplasmic receptor, which is characteristically a global transcription factor controlling the whole QS regulon (Rutherford and Bassler, 2012).

Altered gene expression is key to a pathogen's optimization of its virulence attributes. For example, significant changes exist in both transcript and proteome profiles of the same bacterial species existing as a free-floating single bacterium vs. in a biofilm (Oosthuizen et al., 2002; Nigaud et al., 2010; Chavez-Dozal et al., 2015; Charlebois et al., 2016; Jia et al., 2017; Favre et al., 2018). Bacterial regulatory RNAs are now established as pivotal players in facilitating these coordinated changes in gene expression, acting at all levels, starting from transcription to protein translation and protein activity (Romby et al., 2006; Toledo-Arana et al., 2007; Svensson and Sharma, 2016; Westermann, 2018). These RNA regulators can be classified in different groups, as detailed below (**Figure 1**).

The first type of regulatory RNA elements includes those present in the 5' untranslated regions (UTR) of their cognate mRNA. 5'UTRs can contain complex structures that undergo alterations depending on environmental conditions (Winkler and Breaker, 2005; Waters and Storz, 2009). These 5'UTR structure are known as riboswitches and are important regulators of gene expression at the transcriptional or the translational level. Riboswitches respond to changes in abundance of small metal ions, small molecules, or metabolites (Winkler and Breaker, 2005; Waters and Storz, 2009). Another example of 5'UTR regulatory elements are RNA thermometers, which responds to temperature changes during infection (Loh et al., 2018). For instance, the start codon of an mRNA might be embedded in the 5'UTR region, which adopts a stem loop structure at lower temperatures, thus preventing translation. Upon colonization of the host, this stem loop loosens as the temperature increases ( $>37^{\circ}C$ ), facilitating translation. Finally, another type of 5'UTR regulatory elements respond to pH changes, by forming inaccessible structures at one pH and opening up at a different one (Nechooshtan et al., 2009).

The second type of regulatory RNAs are encoded in *cis* and are known as anti-sense RNAs (asRNA). They regulate (i) transcription efficiency, by transcription interference, (ii) RNA stability, by forming RNA-RNA double stranded complex which may be degraded, and (iii) translation initiation, by interacting with and sequestering the ribosome binding site (RBS) (Svensson and Sharma, 2016; Westermann, 2018).

The third type of regulatory RNAs are expressed in trans, that is, at a different genomic site than the genes they regulate (Svensson and Sharma, 2016; Westermann, 2018). They are known as small regulatory RNAs (sRNA). The first mechanism employed by sRNAs involves binding of the sRNA to a regulatory protein to titrate it away from its target. For example, the 6S RNA is expressed upon entry in stationary phase of growth and acts by titrating the RNA polymerase holoenzyme containing the sigma70 ( $\sigma^{70}$ ) specificity factor, preventing transcription dependent on  $\sigma^{70}$  (Wassarman, 2007). The second mechanism employed by sRNAs involves direct RNA-RNA base-pairing of the sRNA to its target mRNA. In instances of inhibition of gene expression, the sRNA base-pairs with the RBS of the target mRNA, thus occluding translation. In cases of positive regulation, the sRNA have been reported to act by binding to sequences in the 5'UTR of the target mRNAs and preventing the formation of inactivating stem-loop structures (Morfeldt et al., 1995).

Additionally, proteins commonly interact with the regulatory RNAs mentioned above in facilitating the observed regulatory roles. For example, the hybridization of sRNAs with their target mRNAs in Gram negative bacteria is often mediated by the RNA chaperone Hfq (Updegrove et al., 2016). Furthermore,



FIGURE 1 | Schematic representation of major types of RNA-based regulatory mechanisms in pathogenic bacteria. (A) Ribosvitches are most commonly part of the 5'UTR of the corresponding target mRNA. They are responsive to chemical ligands or environmental signals such as temperature (as in an RNA thermometer) for structural rearrangements leading to gene expression changes. sRNAs can be expressed from the complimentary strand (B) (as antisense RNA) or from a different genomic location (C). Blue: transcript under regulation; green: regulatory RNA. (D) Regulatory proteins (yellow) typically bind their target mRNAs (blue) at the RBS or the SD sequence to modulate their stability and/or activate/inhibit translation. Protein binding sRNAs (red) on the other hand can sequester these regulatory proteins by direct binding and titrate them away from their targetome. Pathogenic organisms not described in the main text are referred in this figure to highlight different RNAs as examples. For more details, refer to the following articles that have been extensively referred to for construction of this figure (Svensson and Sharma, 2016; Westermann, 2018).

downstream degradation of mRNAs targeted by sRNAs is mostly attributed to RNases (Matos et al., 2017).

Despite different types of bacterial regulatory RNAs and mechanisms of action, certain paradigms can be deduced (Westermann, 2018). One striking feature is that while some regulatory RNAs do have specific stray targets, they mostly target the mRNA encoding a central regulatory player such as a global transcription factor, thereby acting on a large number of indirect targets at once. This determines major virulence transitions such as switching over from a planktonic lifestyle to a biofilm lifestyle (Williams McMackin et al., 2019). Secondly, in multiple pathogenic bacteria, reshaping of metabolism, and virulence by the action of regulatory RNAs appear to be intertwined. A prominent example is the sugar-phosphate stress (thus related to metabolism) associated sRNA SgrS, which also regulates the pathogenesis effector SopD (Papenfort and Vogel, 2014) in Salmonella. A second example is the TarA sRNA in Vibrio, which links virulence with glucose acquisition (Richard et al., 2010). Finally, it appears that functional redundancy among multiple regulatory RNAs exists, with more than one of them facilitating the same regulation, albeit to different intensities (Deng et al., 2012, 2014; Heidrich et al., 2017; Pannekoek et al., 2017).

In light of the major virulence attributes and RNA based regulatory mechanisms described previously, this review aims to describe specific pathways of riboregulation of virulence factors in prominent human pathogens (**Table 1**). For this purpose, we will focus on pathogens affecting different niches of infection; *Staphylococcus aureus* for disseminated systemic infections and those associated with prosthetic implants; *Listeria monocytogenes* as a model intracellular bacterial pathogen; UPEC (uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*) for urinary tract infections; *Helicobacter pylori* as an enteric pathogen and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* as a major causative agent of airway infections in cystic fibrosis patients.

## Staphylococcus aureus

The Gram-positive bacteria *S. aureus* is often present among the normal human skin microbiome (Becker and Bubeck Wardenburg, 2015). However, it is also one of the most common pathogens implicated in bacterial infections of all areas of the body including skin (McCaig et al., 2006), bones (Olson and Horswill, 2013), heart (Fernandez Guerrero et al., 2009), respiratory tract (Parker and Prince, 2012), and bloodstream (Corey, 2009). Additionally, it is well-known to form highly persistent biofilms on prosthetic devices and implants (Lister and Horswill, 2014). *S. aureus* is one of the primary causative agents of nosocomial infections, a majority of which are antibiotic resistant (Wang and Ruan, 2017). This pathogen is listed in the ESKAPE (*Enterococcus faecium, Staphylococcus aureus, Klebsiella pneumonia, Acinetobacter baumannii, Pseudomonas aeruginosa,*  TABLE 1 | List of riboregulatory molecules described in the text.

Pathogen	Regulatory RNA/Protein	Mechanism of Action
Staphylococcus aureus	RNAIII	Trans acting sRNA
	RsaA	Trans acting sRNA
	SprD	Trans acting sRNA
Listeria monocytogenes	Rli27	Trans acting sRNA
	LhrC	Trans acting sRNA
	RIi55	Riboswitch
	AspocR	Riboswitch
	PfrA	Riboswitch
	SreA	Riboswitch
	SreB	Riboswitch
	Anti0677	Antisense RNA (Excludon)
UPEC	PapR	Trans acting sRNA
	RyhB	Trans acting sRNA
Helicobacter pylori	IsoA1	Trans acting sRNA
	RepG	Trans acting sRNA
	5'ureB	Trans acting sRNA
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	RsmA	RNA binding protein
	RsmF	RNA binding protein
	RsmV	Trans acting sRNA
	RsmW	Trans acting sRNA
	RsmY	Trans acting sRNA
	RsmZ	Trans acting sRNA
	CrcZ	Trans acting sRNA
	ReaL	Trans acting sRNA
	PhrS	Trans acting sRNA
	PrrF1	Trans acting sRNA
	PrrF2	Trans acting sRNA
	ErsA	Trans acting sRNA
	Sr0161	Trans acting sRNA

and *Enterobacter* sp.) group of bacteria, which represent the most antibiotic resistant species (Santajit and Indrawattana, 2016). *S. aureus* possesses a myriad of virulence mechanisms including expression of toxins, surface adhesins, immune-evading molecules, quorum sensing, and biofilm formation (Powers and Bubeck Wardenburg, 2014). These pathogenic determinants are intricately regulated, and sRNAs play a significant role in that regulatory network (Fechter et al., 2014; Tomasini et al., 2014). Key sRNAs of *S. aureus* are described below.

## RNAIII

The best characterized sRNA in *S. aureus* is RNAIII (Boisset et al., 2007; Bronesky et al., 2016). RNAIII is under control of the *agr* QS system. The *agr* locus comprises of two ORFs (open reading frames), transcribed by promoters P2 and P3 in opposite directions. P2 drives the transcription of a fourcistron mRNA, RNAII. Among these four gene products, AgrD is an autoinducer peptide (AIP) synthesized in its inactive form. AgrB is a membrane associated AIP transporter, which matures the precursor AgrD AIP to its active form and exports it out of the cell. The remaining two cistrons *agrC* and *agrA* form the sensor histidine kinase and its cognate response regulator, respectively, in a two-component signaling (TCS) cascade. At high cell density, the autoinducer peptide AgrD is detected by the sensor AgrC and the signal is globally transmitted intracellularly by the now phosphorylated response regulator, AgrA. AgrA, in turns, upregulates transcription of RNAIII (from promoter P3) that will exert pleiotropic roles in *S. aureus.* 

First, the 5' region of RNAIII encodes the  $\delta$ -hemolysin, conferring hemolytic activity to the bacterium. Then, RNAIII can act as a regulatory RNA, regulating multiple target mRNAs. RNAIII has a long half-life of 45 min and is structurally characterized by 14 stem-loops and two lengthy helical structures. Specific hairpins are involved in base-pairing to target mRNAs, with more than one stem-loop acting in concert to achieve regulation. To repress translation, RNAIII may bind at the RBS (e.g., *lytM* mRNA), both at the RBS and the 5'UTR (e.g., *rot* mRNA), using multiple stem loops, or at the coding region (e.g., *coa* mRNA) (Felden et al., 2011). RNAIII can also positively regulate targets. The only two targets known to be upregulated by RNAIII are *hla* mRNA, encoding the  $\alpha$ -hemolysin, and *eap*, encoding the extracellular adherence protein (Guillet et al., 2013).

While it has numerous mRNA targets to which it directly binds, RNAIII also modulates a large indirect regulon, for example, by inhibiting translation of the key transcriptional repressor *rot* (repressor of toxins) (Geisinger et al., 2006). Of note, as in most cases of regulatory RNA binding events in Grampositive pathogens, RNAIII does not require the RNA chaperone Hfq, even though it has been shown to bind to RNAIII *in vitro* (Liu et al., 2010).

The overarching feature of RNAIII-mediated regulation is that it represses translation of genes encoding for surface proteins or those associated with high peptidoglycan turnover, which are typically required at primitive stages of infection marked by low cell numbers to facilitate and consolidate early events in bacterial colonization. Conversely, it activates synthesis of secreted exotoxins, which are required for bacterial dissemination at later time points of infection when bacterial cell density is high. Indeed, RNAIII is reported to assist S. aureus switch from a biofilm mode of growth (colonization and persistence in a new niche) to a more invasive one, required for dispersal to new host tissues (Boisset et al., 2007). Observations that S. aureus isolates from antibiotic resistant chronic bacteremia, like those associated with prosthetic implants, are commonly defective in both agr locus and RNAIII expression, further bolster this view. RNAIII holds a pivotal position in S. aureus regulation of virulence. Evidently, apart from a few exceptions, all downstream effects of S. aureus QS signaling are mediated through RNAIII. RNAIII is therefore versatile as a regulator, cascading both direct and indirect pathways.

Methicillin resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) are considered the most dangerous of *S. aureus* isolates. The mobile genetic element SCCmec was shown to confer resistance to methicillin (Noto et al., 2008). Interestingly, the mRNA of one of the genes in this region, *psm-mec*, binds to and inhibits translation of the previously described *agrA* gene. Consistent with reports that

the *agr* system and its effectors, such as RNAIII, produce a pronounced invasive character in *S. aureus*, *psm-mec* mutations in community-acquired MRSA isolates account for their acute virulence nature (Qin et al., 2016).

# RsaA

Contrarily to RNAIII, the sRNA RsaA promotes chronic persistence, biofilm formation, and expression of cell surface proteins (Romilly et al., 2014). The rsaA gene is under positive transcriptional control of the specialized factor SigmaB ( $\sigma^{B}$ ) and is minimally expressed at exponential phase and highly expressed at stationary phase (Geissmann et al., 2009). Furthermore, both endoribonucleases RNase III and RNase Y regulate its degradation (Romilly et al., 2014). The primary target of RsaA is the mgrA mRNA, encoding the global transcriptional regulator MgrA, whose translation is inhibited by base-pairing of the sRNA. Rate constant for this binding indicates rapid association, which is important for impeding the formation of ribosomal initiation complex (Romilly et al., 2014). The translationally repressed mgrA mRNA is then likely degraded. RsaA can bind to two distinct regions of the mgrA mRNA: a cytosine-rich motif targets the Shine-Dalgarno (SD) and two hairpin loops in the 5' region of RsaA interact with the coding sequence of *mgrA*.

MgrA has ~350 genes in its regulon, including its own mRNA that is positively autoregulated (Luong et al., 2006). The culminating effect of MgrA is activation of capsule synthesis and inhibition of biofilm formation by repressing surface proteins expression and releasing extracellular DNA (Trotonda et al., 2008). Intriguingly, through *mgrA* modulation, RsaA is connected with RNAIII and the *agr* QS system, as MgrA activates transcription of the *agr* locus (Ingavale et al., 2005).

It is postulated that presence of a functional RsaA may have been evolutionarily favored in *S. aureus*. Given that it is primarily a commensal organism in the human host, it is possible that RsaA prevents the bacteria from being hyperinvasive at all times, and this regulation is critical for normal colonization fitness (Romilly et al., 2014). Using MAPS (a technology developed to affinity purify RNA-RNA complexes *in vivo* and identify the targets by sequencing), a recent study has further validated the interaction of *mgrA* mRNA with RsaA and has further extended its RNA targetome (Tomasini et al., 2017).

# SprD

SprD is a sRNA transcribed from a pathogenicity island (region on the chromosome predominately harboring virulence associated genes) whose main target elucidated thus far is the *sbi* mRNA, encoding the immune evading effector Sbi (Second binder of *i*mmunoglobulins) (Chabelskaya et al., 2010). Sbi inhibits opsonization, which is usually followed by phagocytosis and action of the complement system (Haupt et al., 2008). Specifically, Sbi binds IgG, the C3b, and H complement factors for these purposes. While these functions of Sbi are important in the survival of *S. aureus* in the host, it is to be noted that Sbi nevertheless elicits a major pro-inflammatory response by activating multiple immune-signaling cascades that results in the production of major cytokines (IL-6 for example) and

leukocytes chemotaxis to the site of infection. Thus, for success of the organism, Sbi expression needs to be optimally finetuned rather than constitutively expressed. The regulatory RNA SprD facilitates this by keeping Sbi levels in check through impeding its translation. Indeed, part of the 5'UTR, the SD sequence and the start codon of sbi have been reported to be critical for the regulation by SprD. Consistent with that seen with RNAIII, SprD does not require the RNA chaperone Hfq in binding its target. Though blocking translation of sbi, SprD does not facilitate degradation of the mRNA. The fact that SprD is a major regulator of S. aureus pathogenesis is evident from the fact that its deletion severely decreases morbidity and mortality of the mouse model of infection. Interestingly, RNAIII also binds to and represses sbi translation by a similar mechanism, further illustrating the need for only modest synthesis of the Sbi protein.

# Listeria monocytogenes

L. monocytogenes is an especially interesting model to describe the role of regulatory RNAs in shaping pathogenesis during the intracellular lifestyle of a bacterium. In addition, L. monocytogenes represents a group of uncommon bacterial pathogens. Indeed, in contrast to other pathogens described in this review, L. monocytogenes infections (listeriosis) are relatively scarce. Nevertheless, listeriosis mortality rates remain in the high range of 20-30% (Radoshevich and Cossart, 2018), particularly for children, the elderly, immunocompromised patients, and during pregnancy. The primary mode of transmission is via contaminated food, and for people in vulnerable groups, the minimum infective dose can be as low as 100 bacteria (Radoshevich and Cossart, 2018). As a gastro-intestinal pathogen, this bacterium breaches the intestinal epithelial barrier and spreads via blood and lymphatic system to the whole body, colonizing especially the liver and spleen (Cossart, 2011). Importantly, it resides intracellularly in both phagocytic and non-phagocytic cells, helped by an arsenal of virulence factors modulating host cell processes (Pizarro-Cerda et al., 2012). Higher than 150 sRNAs have been reported in L. monocytogenes (Lebreton and Cossart, 2016). Some of those involved in intracellular pathogenesis are described in this section.

## Rli27

Lm0514 is a protein in *L. monocytogenes* that is recognized by sortase enzymes through its LPXTG motif and is tethered to peptidoglycan located on the cell surface (Garcia-del Portillo et al., 2011; Mariscotti et al., 2012). Importantly, Lm0514 protein level is highly augmented during intracellular growth of the bacteria, where it significantly facilitates survival (Pucciarelli et al., 2005; Garcia-del Portillo et al., 2011). Interestingly, *lm0514* mRNA level increases only by 6-fold during intracellular vs. extracellular growth, while the rise in protein level is 200 times higher (Garcia-del Portillo et al., 2011). This is strongly indicative of posttranscriptional regulation, and indeed, during infection, the *lm0514* mRNA transcript is upregulated by the sRNA Rli27. Rli27 binds to the 5'UTR of *lm0514*, exposing the RBS and enhancing translation (Quereda et al., 2014).

## LhrC

Listeria Hfg-binding RNA C (LhrC) is a small non-coding (nc) RNA first discovered amongst a pool of RNAs that co-immunoprecipitated with the RNA chaperone Hfq in L. monocytogenes (Christiansen et al., 2006; Sievers et al., 2014). However, later studies have established that, as in most cases of RNA based regulation in Gram-positive species, Hfq is not required for LhrC stability or its interaction with mRNA targets. There are five copies of the lhrC gene ranging from 111 to 114 nucleotides in size (Sievers et al., 2014). Initial observations of LhrC expression during L. monocytogenes intracellular growth in macrophages and its putative role in facilitating pathogenesis have been substantiated by three reports of Kallipolitis and colleagues (Sievers et al., 2014; Dos Santos et al., 2018; Ross et al., 2019). LhrC RNAs 1-5 (LhrC1-5) were found to be upregulated during conditions of cell envelope stress such as those generated by the antibiotic cephalosporin or bile salts (Sievers et al., 2014). A later study reported that heme, commonly encountered by L. monocytogenes during systemic dissemination in human hosts, is also a trigger for LhrC expression (Dos Santos et al., 2018).

The first LhrC target characterized was the mRNA lapB, encoding a cell wall-tethered adhesin (Sievers et al., 2014). LhrC contains three regions with high concentration of cytosine, resulting in a UCCC motif which is critical in mediating interaction with the AG rich SD sequence of the target mRNA to repress translation. Downregulation of *lapB* expression probably benefits the organism in evading host immune response while spreading through blood, as bacterial surface proteins are wellknown immune stimulators (Toledo-Arana et al., 2009). Five copies of LhrC and three redundant CU-rich target binding sites indicate the need and the potential of LhrC to transform a low input signal into a magnified output response. Further, the five copies of LhrC appear to act additively rather than redundantly, corroborating this hypothesis. Subsequent work has established that LhrC, by using its UCCC motifs, binds to and represses mRNAs of genes involved in heme influx into the cell and its subsequent metabolism (Dos Santos et al., 2018). Thus, it is not surprising that LhrC plays an important role in survival of the pathogen in heme-rich niche containing lysed erythrocytes.

By using the same motif and mechanism, LhrC also represses mRNA translation of another membrane protein-coding mRNA, *oppA*, involved in oligopeptide binding (Sievers et al., 2015). Recent work has demonstrated the inhibitory mechanism of LhrC on another mRNA target, the T cell stimulating antigen (TcsA) (Ross et al., 2019). Here, the repressive mechanism involves LhrC base pairing at a site upstream of the SD region of *tcsA*, which does not affect translation but rather induces rapid transcript turnover.

## **Riboswitch-Regulated Nutrient Utilization**

During gastro-intestinal infection in vertebrate hosts, *L. monocytogenes* commonly encounters ethanolamine, and metabolizes it by expressing the *eut* (ethanolamine *utilization*) genetic locus (Garsin, 2010; Archambaud et al., 2012). Transcription of *eut* is under RNA-based regulation (Freitag, 2009).

The first level of regulation is mediated by the sensor histidine kinase EutW and its cognate response regulator EutV, which are

activated by presence of ethanolamine in the extracellular milieu. Phosphorylated EutV serves as an ANTAR antiterminator that prevents *eut* gene transcription cessation by binding to stemloop structures in the nascent mRNA (Fox et al., 2009; Lebreton and Cossart, 2016). Located upstream of the *eut* locus is the gene Rli55, acting as the second level of RNA-based *eut* regulation. The 5' region of Rli55 harbors a vitamin B12 riboswitch.

In absence of vitamin B12, Rli55 is transcribed as a 450 nt-long transcript, which sequesters EutV, thus leading to transcriptional attenuation of *eut* genes. Conversely, in presence of vitamin B12, the riboswitch binds its ligand, resulting in transcription of a much shorter Rli55 transcript (200 nt), incapable of sequestering EutV, leading to *eut* transcriptional antitermination and ultimately, *eut* expression (Mellin et al., 2014). Both ethanolamine (for EutV phosphorylation) and vitamin B12 (for Rli55 inhibition) are therefore essential to activate the ethanolamine utilization pathway in *L. monocytogenes*.

Another example where a vitamin B12 riboswitch controls nutrient utilization in *L. monocytogenes* is AspocR, which regulates propanediol usage by *L. monocytogenes* during infection (Mellin et al., 2013). Expression of the *pdu* (propanediol *u*tilization) operon is driven by the transcription factor PocR (Kim et al., 2014). The complementary strand of *pocR* mRNA region encodes the riboswitch-controlled asRNA AspocR. In the absence of vitamin B12, this riboswitch serves as an antiterminator to the asRNA of *pocR* (AspocR), located downstream. Thus, under these conditions, the asRNA AspocR blocks expression of *pocR* and hence of *pdu* genes. In presence of vitamin B12, the riboswitch conformation promotes transcriptional attenuation of AspocR, and the resultant truncated asRNA is unable to bind the *pocR* mRNA transcript, allowing utilization of propanediol.

## Regulation of *PrfA* Expression

Translational control of *pfrA*, a master transcriptional activator of virulence genes in L. monocytogenes (de las Heras et al., 2011) is a notable example of RNA-based regulation. The temperaturesensitive thermoswitch located in its 5'UTR forms a hairpin at 30°C, thereby occluding the RBS and hindering *prfA* translation. Conversely, at the host infection temperature of 37°C, this secondary RNA structure is not favored resulting in upregulation of prfA translation. With PrfA activating expression of a myriad of toxins, lytic enzymes and actin-remodeling proteins, this mechanistic control ensures that virulence factors are produced by the bacteria when in the host  $(37^{\circ}C)$  but not otherwise  $(30^{\circ}C)$ (Lebreton and Cossart, 2016). A second control mechanism is associated with nutrient availability and is exerted by sRNAs SreA and SreB (Loh et al., 2009). In the presence of the ligand S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), premature transcriptional termination occurs in riboswitches SreA and SreB facilitating expression of smaller non-coding transcripts which bind to prfA mRNA RBS, preventing translation.

# Excludon-Mediated Control of Flagellar Motility

Excludon is a gene locus wherein the transcript serves as both an antisense RNA (asRNA) to block expression of the mRNA transcribed in the opposite direction as well as being

the mRNA of adjacent gene(s) (Schultze et al., 2015; Lebreton and Cossart, 2016). Thus, an excludon negatively regulates its complementary gene but promotes expression of the neighboring gene in the same DNA strand. A classic example in L. monocytogenes is regulation of flagella biosynthesis, the cellular appendages facilitating bacterial swimming in liquid milieu and swarming on semisolid surfaces (Sesto et al., 2012). In L. monocytogenes, loci lmo0675-0689 encodes the flagella-related fli operon. Imo0676 and Imo0677 encode proteins FliP and FliQ, which are integral parts of the flagellar export apparatus. On the opposite strand, a promoter drives the expression of a long RNA, named Anti0677, harboring full sequence complementarity to lmo0675, lmo0676, and lmo0677. Anti0677 acts as an antisense RNA, downregulating expression of the flagellar export apparatus. Additionally, transcription of Anti0677 also reads through mogR, the motility gene repressor. Anti0677 therefore acts as a mRNA, increasing MogR levels in the cell. This excludon regulates flagella synthesis from two angles: an asRNA mechanism leads to decrease in flagellar export apparatus and expression of mogR from two promoters (anti0677 promoter and mogR promoter) increases MogR production, which also downregulates flagellar expression.

# UROPATHOGENIC Escherichia coli (UPEC)

In the human host, pathogenic strains of *E. coli* cause infection in a plethora of sites, including the urinary tract (Kaper et al., 2004; Terlizzi et al., 2017). The uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) is the primary cause of urinary tract infection (UTI), affecting both the urinary bladder (cystitis) and the kidney (nephritis), with widespread morbidity and even mortality. UPEC bacteria are armed with a variety of toxins, adhesins, and iron scavenging molecules called siderophores (Terlizzi et al., 2017). They also have excellent stress response systems and have the capability to form biofilms, even intracellularly (Anderson et al., 2003).

Regulators are essential determinants of UPEC virulence. The RNA chaperone Hfq has been reported to be important for UPEC colonization of mouse urinary tract (Kulesus et al., 2008). Intracellular microcolony formation, a hallmark of UPEC infections, as well as biofilm formation, which increases UPEC persistence, will not be as efficient upon Hfq deletion. Additionally, Hfq maintains lipopolysaccharide homeostasis, mediates tolerance to cell envelope stress, cationic antimicrobial polymyxin B, reactive free radicals and acidic conditions, on top of facilitating motility.

Commonly associated to the chaperone Hfq in *E. coli* are small regulatory RNAs. sRNAs play major roles in coordinating UPEC's virulence. Discussed below are the specific roles played by two important regulatory RNAs in this pathogenic bacterium.

## **PapR**

As described above, Hfq is a major regulator of virulence in UPEC. Because of its well-known RNA chaperone role, a group aimed at co-immunoprecipitating RNAs with Hfq to try and identify novel Hfq-associated sRNAs expressed during infection (Khandige et al., 2015). Hfq-bound sRNA profiles varied greatly depending on whether they were obtained from UPEC growing

under lab conditions or within host cells. Particularly, envelope stress related sRNAs were found to increasingly co-precipitate during infection conditions.

The same screen uncovered the novel *trans* acting sRNA PapR, which negatively regulates *papI* mRNA, encoding a regulator of the adhesin P-fimbriae, a critical pathogenic factor aiding bacterial attachment to renal tissue (Lane and Mobley, 2007; Khandige et al., 2015). PapI is an activator of Pfimbriae biosynthesis, which turns on transcription of the Pfimbriae associated *pap* operon. PapR has been found to basepair within the coding sequence of *papI* mRNA, ~80 nt downstream of its translational start site, to achieve negative translational regulation.

## RyhB

In non-pathogenic *E. coli*, the 90 nt-long sRNA RyhB regulates iron usage and uptake (Massé and Gottesman, 2002). Congruently, in UPEC, it promotes synthesis of iron-scavenging siderophores enterobactin, aerobactin, and salmochelin, critical for pathogenesis in the host environment (Porcheron et al., 2014). RyhB facilitates siderophore biosynthesis by base-pairing with mRNAs of the precursor molecules thereby stabilizing them and enhancing translation. Further supporting its role as a virulence mediator, in animal models of UTI, deletion of *ryhB* leads to defects in colonization of urinary bladder. RyhB also regulates infection in various other pathogens such as *Shigella* (Murphy and Payne, 2007) and *Vibrio* (Oglesby-Sherrouse and Murphy, 2013).

# Helicobacter pylori

H. pylori is an important pathogen using RNA-based virulence regulation to infect the gastric mucosa. Stomach of 50% of the total human race is believed to be colonized by this Gramnegative organism, which will remain in the gastric mucosa unless treated with persistent antimicrobial therapies (Testerman and Morris, 2014). Manifestations of H. pylori infections range from mild inflammation of the gastric tissue to severe and chronic peptic ulceration and finally to malignancies, the pathology with the worst prognosis (Wroblewski et al., 2010). H. pylori is known to modulate expression of micro RNAs (miRNAs) in the gastric tissue, altering the human immune response to its advantage (Libânio et al., 2015). This pathogen also possesses an array of other virulence factors, such as sRNAs, to survive and proliferate in the host (Pernitzsch and Sharma, 2012). In silico analysis has indeed revealed that multiple sRNAs might have important effects on its infectivity. Below are described three major *H. pylori* ncRNAs and their modes of action.

# IsoA1

Type 1 toxin-antitoxin systems are mechanistically represented by the mRNA of the toxin gene being inhibited by binding of the antitoxin sRNA (Unterholzner et al., 2013). In *H. pylori*, synthesis of the toxic 30 aa polypeptide AapA1 is stalled by base pairing of the IsoA1 sRNA, which serves as the corresponding antitoxin in this system (Arnion et al., 2017). During log phase growth, both *aapA1* and *isoA1* are constitutively transcribed. However, the 250 nt full length *aapA1* transcript is translationally inactive because of internal secondary structures occluding the RBS. It is only after the 3'end is processed, leading to a truncated 225 nt mRNA, that the RBS becomes available for translational initiation. However, this active structure also facilitates IsoA1 base-pairing, which leads to quick degradation of the sRNA-mRNA complex by RNase III. Thus, AapA1 toxin synthesis is repressed at two posttranscriptional levels; first by its own 5'UTR secondary structure, and second by the IsoA1 sRNA and RNase III, ensuring that the toxin is not formed during exponential growth of *H. pylori*.

# RepG

Implicated in *H. pylori* infections of animal models, TlpB is a chemotaxis receptor positively responding to quorum sensing signals and negatively responding to low pH (Croxen et al., 2006). *tlpB* mRNA has a characteristic 6–16 guanine repeat, termed simple sequence repeats (SSR), in its 5' leader region. Variation in *tlpB* transcript SSR length is observed between *H. pylori* isolated from different patients, and sometimes even from the same patient.

This G repeat sequence is targeted by the highly conserved RepG sRNA (Regulator of polymeric G repeats) (Pernitzsch et al., 2014). The span of the G repeat determines the interaction of tlpB mRNA with RepG. Regulation is at the level of translation and is a fine-tuning system rather than being a binary on/off decision. Base-pairing of RepG to tlpB mRNA occurs in the 5'UTR, upstream of the RBS. Thus, translational attenuation is probably conferred by structural rearrangements and/or occlusion of ribosome stand-by sites. In addition, RepG is reported to diminish tlpB mRNA stability, indicating that the dimerization event enhances degradation. In addition to tlpB, RepG likely has a larger targetome, with which it probably interacts via its C/U laden terminator loop.

# 5'ureB-Regulatory RNA

Copious production of urease is a key mechanism that enables *H. pylori* to survive in the acidic gastric environment (Mobley, 1996; Graham and Miftahussurur, 2018). Urease metabolizes the available urea to ammonia and bicarbonate, both of which serve as buffer to maintain a healthy pH in the bacterial cell. Expressed from the same operon, UreA and UreB are the two subunits of the precursor urease apoenzyme. At the transcription level, *ureAB* is positively regulated by the acid-activated TCS ArsRS, ensuring plentiful synthesis (constituting ~8% of total cell protein) at low pH (Pflock et al., 2005).

Additionally, restricted urease synthesis is also required at neutral or high pH (Wen et al., 2013). This is facilitated by the 5'ureB-sRNA, an antisense RNA transcribed from the 5'ureB non-coding strand.

While the phosphorylated (in acidic conditions) response regulator ArsR promotes sense *ureAB* transcription, the unphosphorylated (in neutral/alkaline conditions) protein upregulates the antisense 5'ureB-sRNA expression. It is observed that when the 5'ureB-sRNA is expressed (i.e., at neutral to high pH), the sense *ureAB* dicistronic mRNA is shortened to only 1400 nt instead of the regular 2700 nt transcript

found at low pH, capable of synthesizing both subunits of the apoenzyme. Mechanistic explanation is that the antisense 5'ureB-sRNA base-pairs with the ureAB transcript, to promote transcription termination of the sense ureAB mRNA. A characteristic YUNR motif is essential for the initial annealing of the sense and antisense transcripts. Interestingly, this attenuation of transcription does not involve binding of Rho or even characteristic Rho-independent structures. As reported elsewhere, the asRNA binding leads to structural reassignments that ultimately destabilizes the RNA polymerase (Stork et al., 2007). At the same time, the termination of transcription is reported to be bona fide, rather than being caused by transcriptional interference of the sense and antisense transcripts being expressed at the same time (Shearwin et al., 2005). Finally, a low amount of the antisense 5' ureB-sRNA is enough to repress even high quantities of ureAB transcripts.

# Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Whenever it finds its host innate immunity weak, *P. aeruginosa* can cause opportunistic infections in virtually every human tissue (Lang et al., 2004; de Bentzmann and Plesiat, 2011). The most notable among these infection sites are the lungs of CF patients, where *P. aeruginosa* forms persistent biofilms (Hoiby et al., 2010; Smith et al., 2017). Once established, usually by late adolescence of the patient, these infections are almost impossible to eradicate and contribute largely to the decreased quality of life and life expectancy of these patients (Emerson et al., 2002; Bjarnsholt et al., 2009).

Multiple host environmental factors promote *P. aeruginosa* biofilm infections in the CF lungs. Among these is the viscous mucus, a hallmark of CF airway environment, which provides a favorable niche for microbial pathogens to thrive (Matsui et al., 2006; Moreau-Marquis et al., 2008). Additionally, the microorganisms induce a huge immune response by recruiting leucocytes to the area. The leucocytes however are failing to eliminate the infection and rather cause extensive tissue damage. This "frustrated phagocytosis" (Conese et al., 2003; Alexis et al., 2006; Simonin-Le Jeune et al., 2013; Okkotsu et al., 2014) further contributes to disease by providing extracellular DNA, aiding in the biofilm formation process (Tolker-Nielsen and Høiby, 2009; Fuxman Bass et al., 2010).

The other host-associated factors that will favor biofilm formation by *P. aeruginosa* include altered iron and oxygen availability in the CF airways (Moreau-Marquis et al., 2008). *P. aeruginosa* senses and responds adequately to such environmental cues. For example, motility and Type 3 Secretion System (T3SS), a machinery to produce and inject toxins directly into the host cytoplasm by a multiprotein syringe complex (Hauser, 2009), are downregulated while production of exopolysaccharides is increased (Furukawa et al., 2006; Folkesson et al., 2012; Winstanley et al., 2016). These behavioral changes are facilitated by modulation of gene expression, mainly carried out by sRNAs at the post-transcriptional level (Vakulskas et al., 2015). Therefore, it is not surprising that more than 570 sRNAs are reported to be expressed by *P. aeruginosa* (Pita et al., 2018). Below, we explore some of the regulatory RNAs that play major roles in the switch from the planktonic (free swimming) acute lifestyle of *P. aeruginosa* to its biofilm lifestyle, characteristic of CF lung infections.

## **Rsm Signaling**

Almost a tenth of *P. aeruginosa* transcriptome is part of the Rsm regulon. This Rsm (regulator of secondary metabolites) regulon acts as a posttranscriptional regulatory system that controls multiple virulence determinants, ultimately governing the transition between the acutely toxic planktonic and the chronic biofilm growth modes (Vakulskas et al., 2015; Janssen et al., 2018).

The key components of the Rsm system are two RNA binding proteins, RsmA, and RsmF (also known as RsmN), which are orthologs to the *E. coli* CsrA (Carbon storage regulator A) protein. RsmA and RsmF share 31% identity and a conserved arginine is critical for their RNA binding activity (Janssen et al., 2018). Both proteins can directly bind target mRNAs and positively or negatively affect transcript stability and/or translation.

Presence of one (RsmA) and two (RsmF) conserved GGA motifs is important for target recognition (Romero et al., 2018). Both RsmA and RsmF activates the acute phenotype (T3SS, pilus, etc.) and represses the biofilm features (Pel and Psl exopolysaccharides, T6SS expression etc.).

These RNA binding proteins are tightly regulated by sRNAs RsmV, RsmW, RsmY, and RsmZ, also part of the Rsm system (Janssen et al., 2018). The sRNAs RsmV, RsmW, RsmY, and RsmZ can bind RsmA and RsmF by their GGA consensus sequence and sequester them away from their mRNA targets. Thus, these sRNAs are activators of the chronic biofilm-lifestyle phenotype while being repressors of the acute one. It is noteworthy that despite the apparent redundancy among the four similar acting sRNAs constituents of the Rsm system, variations do exist in their binding affinities. For example, RsmY and RsmZ have 10 times stronger affinity for RsmA than for RsmF. Moreover, their expression patterns will differ (Janssen et al., 2018).

Further, some differences have been observed in the regulons of RsmA vs. RsmF, despite their overall similar phenotypic regulatory patterns (**Table 1**) (Brencic and Lory, 2009; Romero et al., 2018). This highlights the critical need for fine-tuning mechanisms alongside major decision-making on-off switches, given the heterogeneity in the CF lung environment (Wei and Ma, 2013; Janssen et al., 2018).

Environmental regulation of the Rsm cascade, at least in part, is facilitated by the GacAS TCS (Brencic et al., 2009). The GacA response regulator, when phosphorylated by the sensor histidine kinase GacS, directly binds to the promoters of rsmY and rsmZ and activates their transcription. Two other membrane associated proteins LadS and RetS activate and inhibit GacA phosphorylation, respectively (Williams McMackin et al., 2019). LadS is stimulated by high calcium in the extracellular milieu (Broder et al., 2016). Further, recent work (Chakravarty et al., 2017) has reported that the inner membrane magnesium transporter MgtE, whose own expression is augmented during antibiotic pressure (Redelman et al., 2014) and low magnesium (both signals present in CF airway) (Coffey et al., 2014; Santi et al., 2016), signals through GacS to increase *rsmYZ* transcription. GacAS thus represents a hub of environmental regulation of the Rsm signaling. Contrary to RsmYZ, the sRNAs RsmW, and RsmV are not upregulated by GacAS (Janssen et al., 2018).

To add to the complex regulation of the Rsm regulon, another protein, the polynucleotide phosphorylase (PNPase) stabilizes both RsmY and RsmZ (Chen et al., 2016). Furthermore, *rsmYZ* transcription is inhibited by TspR, which acts through RetS (Williams McMackin et al., 2019). *rsmZ* transcription is also regulated by MvaT, and by BswR which thwarts the negative effects of MvaT (Williams McMackin et al., 2019). Another important sRNA implicated in T3SS repression is CrcZ, which sequesters both Crc and RsmF and activate T3SS gene expression (Sonnleitner et al., 2009; Williams McMackin et al., 2019).

## **RNA Based Regulation of Quorum Sensing** Real

The conserved 100 nt sRNA ReaL (Regulator of alkyl quinolone) is involved in QS regulation in *P. aeruginosa* (Carloni et al., 2017). It is under the negative regulation of the Las QS system and activates translation of the *pqsC* transcript, thereby connecting the two QS systems important for modulating pleiotropic virulence phenotypes. ReaL is also under RpoS regulation and is therefore expressed strongly in stationary growth phase. Consistent with the phenotypes generally observed in isolates from CF lungs, ReaL downregulates swarming but increases biofilm formation and secretion of pyocyanin and pyoverdine (Meyer et al., 1996; Lau et al., 2004).

### PhrS

The stationary phase of growth, characteristic of CF airway infections, sees another sRNA being upregulated: PhrS (Folsom et al., 2010; Sonnleitner et al., 2011). PhrS transcription is also activated through the oxygen responsive DNA binding ANR protein in low oxygen conditions, typical of the CF lungs (Zimmermann et al., 1991). Interestingly Hfq is required for steady state levels of PhrS, not because Hfq promotes its stability, but because it is required for ANR production. Consistent with its expression in CF lung-like conditions, it increases pyocyanin production. Finally, PhrS facilitates synthesis of the QS-related transcriptional regulator protein PqsR (Brouwer et al., 2014) by directly binding to it and activating translation of a short ORF element located upstream of the *pqsR* mRNA. This ORF is translationally joined with the *pqsR* transcript (Sonnleitner et al., 2011).

### PrrF1 and PrrF2

A major sRNA regulatory system is encoded by the *prrF* locus in *P. aeruginosa* (Reinhart et al., 2017). The genes *prrF1* and *prrF2* are 95% identical in sequence and are located adjacent to each other in the genome, separated just by 95 bases (Djapgne et al., 2018). They are functional homologs of *E. coli* RyhB sRNA, and as such, both these sRNAs play key roles in iron homeostasis and in virulence (Nelson et al., 2019). PrrF sRNAs are transcriptionally upregulated under low iron conditions, during which they

Riboregulation in Pathogenic Bacteria

repress synthesis of non-essential iron-requiring proteins like SodB (Reinhart et al., 2015). Both PrrF1 (116 nt) and PrrF2 (114 nt) regulate QS in *P. aeruginosa* by base pairing with the *antR* mRNA and blocking its translation (Oglesby et al., 2008). AntR is a transcription factor that activates transcription of loci *antABC* and *catBCA*, responsible for breakdown of anthanilate, a precursor compound of the alkyl quinolone signaling molecule (Pita et al., 2018).

The apparent redundancy in structure and function of the two PrrF sRNAs can be rationalized by the finding that different signaling cascades, other than iron availability, may differentially regulate these two genes, thereby fine-tuning gene expression in response to slight variations in the extra and intracellular environment. For example, the AlgZR TCS, very important in rendering the CF lung mucoid phenotype in *P. aeruginosa* (Williams McMackin et al., 2019), activates the *prrF2* promoter but not the *prrF1* one (Little et al., 2018). Also, the tandem repeat structure of the *prrF* genes facilitate expression of another sRNA, PrrH, known to be involved in heme metabolism (Reinhart et al., 2015, 2017).

### **ErsA**

The envelope stress responsive sRNA A (ErsA) is activated by the envelope stress responsive factor Sigma22 ( $\sigma^{22}$ ) (AlgT/U) (Falcone et al., 2018). Additional CF lung signals like scarce iron and low oxygen both drives its transcription.

The first role of ErsA is direct base-pairing to the RBS of *algC* and repressing its translation in a Hfq-dependent manner. AlgC provides sugar residues for downstream synthesis of exopolysaccharides of the biofilm matrix (Okkotsu et al., 2014). Thus, through AlgC, ErsA is part of a feed forward cycle involved in biofilm polysaccharide formation.

The second role of ErsA is to directly bind the 5'UTR of the *oprD* mRNA and negatively regulate its translation (Li et al., 2012). Result of this regulation includes, but is not limited to, reducing influx of carbapenem antibiotics into the cell. This is important, given the widespread antibiotic resistance of CF airway-associated *P. aeruginosa*.

Interestingly, another sRNA called Sr0161 was also reported to repress *oprD* expression by the same mechanism (Zhang et al., 2017). Additionally, Sr0161 represses T3SS, consistent with its role in shaping *P. aeruginosa* phenotypes suited for the CF lung environment. The same study identified yet another sRNA, Sr006, which increases bacterial recalcitrance to polymyxin as well as decreases the pro-inflammatory profiles of the lipopolysaccharide, which can be considered important adaptations to the CF lung niche.

# CONCLUSION

Robust approaches for characterizing sRNA targetomes in bacteria have revolutionized our understanding of the gene regulatory patterns facilitated by these regulatory RNAs and their associated chaperones such as Hfq (Santiago-Frangos and Woodson, 2018). Development of techniques such as MAPS (Lalaouna et al., 2017), RilSeq (Melamed et al., 2018), ClipSeq (Andresen and Holmqvist, 2018), and Grad-seq (Smirnov TABLE 2 | Riboswitches explored as targets.

Riboswitch	References
FMN	Lee et al., 2009; Howe et al., 2015
glmS	Mayer and Famulok, 2006; Fei et al., 2014
Guanine-binding riboswitch	Kim et al., 2009; Mulhbacher et al., 2010
Cyclic di-GMP riboswitch	Furukawa et al., 2012
T-box riboswitch	Means et al., 2006; Anupam et al., 2008
Thiamine pyrophosphate riboswitch	Sudarsan et al., 2005
Lysine riboswitch	Sudarsan et al., 2003

et al., 2016) techniques are important milestones in the field. Additionally, obtaining information about sRNA-based regulation even at the single cell level is now possible, but nevertheless needs improvement (Saliba et al., 2014). We now have significant knowledge about RNA mediated regulation in a wide range of bacterial pathogens (**Table 1**, **Figure 1**) that has the potential to tremendously bolster the development of therapeutic approaches targeting these signaling pathways. This is critical, given the rapid expansion of antibiotic resistance in bacteria (Ventola, 2015; Hofer, 2019) and increasing ineffectiveness of existing antimicrobial treatments.

There are certain considerations when targeting sRNAs for developing antimicrobial therapeutics. First, sRNAs and their mechanisms of action are often not conserved (Richter and Backofen, 2012; Colameco and Elliot, 2017) and thus antibiotics targeting a certain sRNA might have limited spectrum. Secondly, lack of defined structural configurations in sRNAs like that of rRNAs and tRNAs (both of which are targets of numerous known antibiotics Chopra and Reader, 2014; Hong et al., 2014), makes the design of small molecule inhibitors challenging. In this regard, as certain studies (El-Mowafi et al., 2014) have already addressed this, sRNA chaperones such as Hfq might be a more lucrative target because of its conserved threedimensional structure across bacterial species. Finally, most sRNAs act as fine tuning regulators of gene expression rather than as a binary on/off switch. This limits their promise in being a molecule target that can decisively clear an infection. Rather, targeting sRNAs could likely be a potential way to bolster conventional antibiotic strategies. Nevertheless, studying mechanisms of sRNA action, give us information on gene regulation right at the nucleotide resolution. This has been exploited in studies exploring "nucleotide-based antimicrobials" (Nikravesh et al., 2007).

The prospects of antimicrobial development demonstrate more potential with riboswitches. On the one hand, often riboswitches dictate major metabolic transitions (for example, see ethanolamine utilization by a riboswitch in *L. monocytogenes* described previously), rather than functioning only as a fine tuner of gene expression as sRNAs do. On the other hand, riboswitches, by nature, are excellent binders of small ligands. Another major advantage with riboswitches is that they have so far been never found in humans (Colameco and Elliot, 2017), and thus greatly reduce the chances of host toxicity. Though still in its infancy, there have been a few studies on targeting riboswitches for antimicrobial development. Some of them are summarized in **Table 2**. Such attempts should continue to grow and improve, as our knowledge about the occurrence and mode of action of more riboregulatory agents increases.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

## REFERENCES

- Alexis, N. E., Muhlebach, M. S., Peden, D. B., and Noah, T. L. (2006). Attenuation of host defense function of lung phagocytes in young cystic fibrosis patients. J. Cyst. Fibros. 5, 17–25. doi: 10.1016/j.jcf.2005.11.001
- Anderson, G. G., Palermo, J. J., Schilling, J. D., Roth, R., Heuser, J., and Hultgren, S. J. (2003). Intracellular bacterial biofilm-like pods in urinary tract infections. *Science* 301, 105–107. doi: 10.1126/science.1084550
- Andresen, L., and Holmqvist, E. (2018). CLIP-Seq in bacteria: global recognition patterns of bacterial RNA-binding proteins. *Meth. Enzymol.* 612, 127–145. doi: 10.1016/bs.mie.2018.08.008
- Antunes, L. C., Ferreira, R. B., Buckner, M. M., and Finlay, B. B. (2010). Quorum sensing in bacterial virulence. *Microbiology* 156(Pt 8), 2271–2282. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.038794-0
- Anupam, R., Nayek, A., Green, N. J., Grundy, F. J., Henkin, T. M., Means, J. A., et al. (2008). 4,5-Disubstituted oxazolidinones: high affinity molecular effectors of RNA function. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 18, 3541–3544. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2008.05.015
- Archambaud, C., Nahori, M.-A., Soubigou, G., Bécavin, C., Laval, L., Lechat, P., et al. (2012). Impact of lactobacilli on orally acquired listeriosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 109, 16684–16689. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1212809109
- Arnion, H., Korkut, D. N., Masachis Gelo, S., Chabas, S., Reignier, J., Iost, I., et al. (2017). Mechanistic insights into type I toxin antitoxin systems in *Helicobacter pylori*: the importance of mRNA folding in controlling toxin expression. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 45, 4782–4795. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkw1343
- Bakaletz, L. O. (2007). Bacterial biofilms in otitis media: evidence and relevance. J. Pediatric Infect. Dis. Soc. 26, S17–19. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e318154b273
- Banerjee, G., and Ray, A. K. (2016). The talking language in some major Gram-negative bacteria. Arch. Microbiol. 198, 489–499. doi: 10.1007/s00203-016-1220-x
- Banerjee, G., and Ray, A. K. (2017). Quorum-sensing network-associated gene regulation in Gram-positive bacteria. Acta Microbiol. Immunol. Hung. 64, 439–453. doi: 10.1556/030.64.2017.040
- Becker, R. E., and Bubeck Wardenburg, J. (2015). Staphylococcus aureus and the skin: a longstanding and complex interaction. Skinmed 13, 111-119; quiz 120.
- Begun, J., Gaiani, J. M., Rohde, H., Mack, D., Calderwood, S. B., Ausubel, F. M., et al. (2007). Staphylococcal biofilm exopolysaccharide protects against *Caenorhabditis elegans* immune defenses. *PLoS Pathog.* 3:e57. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0030057
- Bjarnsholt, T., Jensen, P. O., Fiandaca, M. J., Pedersen, J., Hansen, C. R., Andersen, C. B., et al. (2009). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms in the respiratory tract of cystic fibrosis patients. *Pediatr. Pulmonol.* 44, 547–558. doi: 10.1002/ppul.21011
- Boisset, S., Geissmann, T., Huntzinger, E., Fechter, P., Bendridi, N., Possedko, M., et al. (2007). *Staphylococcus aureus* RNAIII coordinately represses the synthesis of virulence factors and the transcription regulator Rot by an antisense mechanism. *Genes Dev.* 21, 1353–1366. doi: 10.1101/gad.423507
- Brencic, A., and Lory, S. (2009). Determination of the regulon and identification of novel mRNA targets of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* RsmA. *Mol. Microbiol.* 72, 612–632. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06670.x
- Brencic, A., McFarland, K. A., McManus, H. R., Castang, S., Mogno, I., Dove, S. L., et al. (2009). The GacS/GacA signal transduction system of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa acts exclusively through its control over the transcription of

### FUNDING

This work has been supported by an operating grant from the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) (MOP69005 to EM).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Marie-Claude Carrier for critical reading of the manuscript.

the RsmY and RsmZ regulatory small RNAs. *Mol. Microbiol.* 73, 434–445. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2009.06782.x

- Broder, U. N., Jaeger, T., and Jenal, U. (2016). LadS is a calcium-responsive kinase that induces acute-to-chronic virulence switch in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Nat. Microbiol.* 2:16184. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.184
- Bronesky, D., Wu, Z., Marzi, S., Walter, P., Geissmann, T., Moreau, K., et al. (2016). *Staphylococcus aureus* RNAIII and its regulon link quorum sensing, stress responses, metabolic adaptation, and regulation of virulence gene expression. *Annu. Rev. Microbiol.* 70, 299–316. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-102215-095708
- Brouwer, S., Pustelny, C., Ritter, C., Klinkert, B., Narberhaus, F., and Haussler, S. (2014). The PqsR and RhlR transcriptional regulators determine the level of *Pseudomonas* quinolone signal synthesis in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by producing two different *pqsABCDE* mRNA isoforms. *J. Bacteriol.* 196, 4163–4171. doi: 10.1128/JB.02000-14
- Calo, L., Passali, G. C., Galli, J., Fadda, G., and Paludetti, G. (2011). Role of biofilms in chronic inflammatory diseases of the upper airways. *Adv. Otorhinolaryngol.* 72, 93–96. doi: 10.1159/000324622
- Carloni, S., Macchi, R., Sattin, S., Ferrara, S., and Bertoni, G. (2017). The small RNA ReaL: a novel regulatory element embedded in the *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa quorum sensing networks. *Environ. Microbiol.* 19, 4220–4237. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.13886
- Chabelskaya, S., Gaillot, O., and Felden, B. (2010). A Staphylococcus aureus small RNA Is required for bacterial virulence and regulates the expression of an immune-evasion molecule. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000927. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000927
- Chakravarty, S., Melton, C. N., Bailin, A., Yahr, T. L., and Anderson, G. G. (2017). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* magnesium transporter MgtE inhibits type III secretion system gene expression by stimulating *rsmYZ* transcription. *J. Bacteriol.* 199:e00268-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00268-17
- Charlebois, A., Jacques, M., and Archambault, M. (2016). Comparative transcriptomic analysis of *Clostridium perfringens* biofilms and planktonic cells. *Avian Pathol.* 45, 593–601. doi: 10.1080/03079457.2016.1189512
- Chavez-Dozal, A., Gorman, C., and Nishiguchi, M. K. (2015). Proteomic and metabolomic profiles demonstrate variation among free-living and symbiotic Vibrio fischeri biofilms. BMC Microbiol. 15:226. doi: 10.1186/s12866-015-0560-z
- Chen, L., and Wen, Y. M. (2011). The role of bacterial biofilm in persistent infections and control strategies. *Int. J. Oral Sci.* 3, 66–73. doi: 10.4248/IJOS11022
- Chen, R., Weng, Y., Zhu, F., Jin, Y., Liu, C., Pan, X., et al. (2016). Polynucleotide Phosphorylase regulates multiple virulence factors and the stabilities of small RNAs RsmY/Z in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Front. Microbiol.* 7:247. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00247
- Chopra, S., and Reader, J. (2014). tRNAs as antibiotic targets. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 321–349. doi: 10.3390/ijms16010321
- Christiansen, J. K., Nielsen, J. S., Ebersbach, T., Valentin-Hansen, P., Sogaard-Andersen, L., and Kallipolitis, B. H. (2006). Identification of small Hfq-binding RNAs in *Listeria monocytogenes. RNA*. 12, 1383–1396. doi: 10.1261/rna.49706
- Coffey, B. M., Akhand, S. S., and Anderson, G. G. (2014). MgtE is a dual-function protein in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Microbiology*. 160(Pt 6), 1200–1213. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.075275-0

- Colameco, S., and Elliot, M. A. (2017). Non-coding RNAs as antibiotic targets. Biochem. Pharmacol. 133, 29-42. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2016.12.015
- Conese, M., Copreni, E., Gioia, S. D., Rinaldis, P. D., and Fumarulo, R. (2003). Neutrophil recruitment and airway epithelial cell involvement in chronic cystic fibrosis lung disease. J. Cyst. Fibros. 2, 129–135. doi: 10.1016/S1569-1993(03)00063-8
- Corey, G. R. (2009). *Staphylococcus aureus* bloodstream infections: definitions and treatment. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 48 (Suppl. 4), S254–259. doi: 10.1086/598186
- Cossart, P. (2011). Illuminating the landscape of host-pathogen interactions with the bacterium *Listeria monocytogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 108, 19484–19491. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1112371108
- Costerton, J. W., Lewandowski, Z., Caldwell, D. E., Korber, D. R., and Lappin-Scott, H. M. (1995). Microbial biofilms. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 49, 711–745. doi: 10.1146/annurev.mi.49.100195.003431
- Croxen, M. A., Sisson, G., Melano, R., and Hoffman, P. S. (2006). The *Helicobacter pylori* chemotaxis receptor TlpB (HP0103) is required for pH taxis and for colonization of the gastric mucosa. *J. Bacteriol.* 188, 2656–2665. doi: 10.1128/JB.188.7.2656-2665.2006
- Dayan, G. H., Mohamed, N., Scully, I. L., Cooper, D., Begier, E., Eiden, J., et al. (2016). *Staphylococcus aureus*: the current state of disease, pathophysiology and strategies for prevention. *Expert Rev. Vaccines* 15, 1373–1392. doi: 10.1080/14760584.2016.1179583
- de Bentzmann, S., and Plesiat, P. (2011). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* opportunistic pathogen and human infections. *Environ. Microbiol.* 13, 1655–1665. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2011.02469.x
- de las Heras, A., Cain, R. J., Bielecka, M. K., and Vazquez-Boland, J. A. (2011). Regulation of *Listeria* virulence: PrfA master and commander. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 14, 118–127. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2011.01.005
- Deng, Z., Liu, Z., Bi, Y., Wang, X., Zhou, D., Yang, R., et al. (2014). Rapid degradation of Hfq-free RyhB in *Yersinia pestis* by PNPase independent of putative ribonucleolytic complexes. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2014, 798918–798918. doi: 10.1155/2014/798918
- Deng, Z., Meng, X., Su, S., Liu, Z., Ji, X., Zhang, Y., et al. (2012). Two sRNA RyhB homologs from *Yersinia pestis* biovar microtus expressed *in vivo* have differential Hfq-dependent stability. *Res. Microbiol.* 163, 413–418. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2012.05.006
- Djapgne, L., Panja, S., Brewer, L. K., Gans, J. H., Kane, M. A., Woodson, S. A., et al. (2018). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PrrF1 and PrrF2 small regulatory RNAs promote 2-Alkyl-4-Quinolone production through redundant regulation of the *antR* mRNA. *J. Bacteriol.* 200:e00704-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00704-17
- do Vale, A., Cabanes, D., and Sousa, S. (2016). Bacterial toxins as pathogen weapons against phagocytes. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:42. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.00042
- Donlan, R. M. (2008). Biofilms on central venous catheters: is eradication possible? *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 322, 133–161. doi: 10.1007/978-3-540-75418-3\_7
- Dos Santos, P. T., Menendez-Gil, P., Sabharwal, D., Christensen, J. H., Brunhede, M. Z., Lillebaek, E. M. S., et al. (2018). The small regulatory RNAs LhrC1-5 contribute to the response of *Listeria monocytogenes* to heme toxicity. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:599. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00599
- El-Mowafi, S. A., Alumasa, J. N., Ades, S. E., and Keiler, K. C. (2014). Cell-based assay to identify inhibitors of the Hfq-sRNA regulatory pathway. *Antimicrob. Agents. Chemother.* 58, 5500–5509. doi: 10.1128/AAC.03311-14
- Emerson, J., Rosenfeld, M., McNamara, S., Ramsey, B., and Gibson, R. L. (2002). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and other predictors of mortality and morbidity in young children with Cystic Fibrosis. *Pediatr. Pulmonol.* 34, 91–100. doi: 10.1002/ppul.10127
- Falcone, M., Ferrara, S., Rossi, E., Johansen, H. K., Molin, S., and Bertoni, G. (2018). The small RNA ErsA of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* contributes to biofilm development and motility through post-transcriptional modulation of AmrZ. *Front. Microbiol.* 9:238. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00238
- Fang, F. C., Frawley, E. R., Tapscott, T., and Vázquez-Torres, A. (2016). Bacterial stress responses during host infection. *Cell Host Microbe* 20, 133–143. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2016.07.009
- Favre, L., Ortalo-Magne, A., Pichereaux, C., Gargaros, A., Burlet-Schiltz, O., Cotelle, V., et al. (2018). Metabolome and proteome changes between biofilm and planktonic phenotypes of the marine bacterium *Pseudoalteromonas lipolytica* TC8. *Biofouling* 34, 132–148. doi: 10.1080/08927014.2017.1413551

- Fechter, P., Caldelari, I., Lioliou, E., and Romby, P. (2014). Novel aspects of RNA regulation in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *FEBS Lett.* 588, 2523–2529. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2014.05.037
- Fei, X., Holmes, T., Diddle, J., Hintz, L., Delaney, D., Stock, A., et al. (2014). Phosphatase-inert glucosamine 6-phosphate mimics serve as actuators of the *glmS* riboswitch. ACS Chem. Biol. 9, 2875–2882. doi: 10.1021/cb 500458f
- Felden, B., Vandenesch, F., Bouloc, P., and Romby, P. (2011). The Staphylococcus aureus RNome and its commitment to virulence. PLoS Pathog. 7:e1002006. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002006
- Fernandez Guerrero, M. L., Gonzalez Lopez, J. J., Goyenechea, A., Fraile, J., and de Gorgolas, M. (2009). Endocarditis caused by *Staphylococcus aureus*: a reappraisal of the epidemiologic, clinical, and pathologic manifestations with analysis of factors determining outcome. *Medicine* 88, 1–22. doi: 10.1097/MD.0b013e318194da65
- Folkesson, A., Jelsbak, L., Yang, L., Johansen, H. K., Ciofu, O., Hoiby, N., et al. (2012). Adaptation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* to the Cystic Fibrosis airway: an evolutionary perspective. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 841–851. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2907
- Folsom, J. P., Richards, L., Pitts, B., Roe, F., Ehrlich, G. D., Parker, A., et al. (2010). Physiology of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in biofilms as revealed by transcriptome analysis. *BMC Microbiol*. 10:294. doi: 10.1186/1471-2180-10-294
- Fox, K. A., Ramesh, A., Stearns, J. E., Bourgogne, A., Reyes-Jara, A., Winkler, W. C., et al. (2009). Multiple posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms partner to control ethanolamine utilization in *Enterococcus faecalis. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 4435–4440. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0812194106
- Freitag, N. E. (2009). Complete transcriptional profile of an environmental pathogen. *Future Microbiol.* 4, 779–782. doi: 10.2217/fmb.09.56
- Fuchs, T. M., Eisenreich, W., Heesemann, J., and Goebel, W. (2012). Metabolic adaptation of human pathogenic and related nonpathogenic bacteria to extra- and intracellular habitats. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 36, 435–462. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2011.00301.x
- Furukawa, K., Gu, H., Sudarsan, N., Hayakawa, Y., Hyodo, M., and Breaker, R. R. (2012). Identification of ligand analogues that control c-di-GMP riboswitches. ACS Chem. Biol. 7, 1436–1443. doi: 10.1021/cb300138n
- Furukawa, S., Kuchma, S. L., and O'Toole, G. A. (2006). Keeping their options open: acute versus persistent infections. J. Bacteriol. 188, 1211–1217. doi: 10.1128/JB.188.4.1211-1217.2006
- Fuxman Bass, J. I., Russo, D. M., Gabelloni, M. L., Geffner, J. R., Giordano, M., Catalano, M., et al. (2010). Extracellular DNA: a major proinflammatory component of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *J. Immunol.* 184, 6386–6395. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901640
- Gall-Mas, L., Fabbri, A., Namini, M. R. J., Givskov, M., Fiorentini, C., and Krejsgaard, T. (2018). The bacterial toxin CNF1 induces activation and maturation of human monocyte-derived Dendritic Cells. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:1408. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051408
- Garcia-del Portillo, F., Calvo, E., D'Orazio, V., and Pucciarelli, M. G. (2011). Association of ActA to peptidoglycan revealed by cell wall proteomics of intracellular *Listeria monocytogenes. J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 34675–34689. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.230441
- Garsin, D. A. (2010). Ethanolamine utilization in bacterial pathogens: roles and regulation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 8, 290–295. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2334
- Geisinger, E., Adhikari, R. P., Jin, R., Ross, H. F., and Novick, R. P. (2006). Inhibition of *rot* translation by RNAIII, a key feature of *agr* function. *Mol. Microbiol.* 61, 1038–1048. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05292.x
- Geissmann, T., Marzi, S., and Romby, P. (2009). The role of mRNA structure in translational control in bacteria. *RNA Biol.* 6, 153–160. doi: 10.4161/rna.6.2.8047
- Gellatly, S. L., and Hancock, R. E. W. (2013). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: new insights into pathogenesis and host defenses. *Pathog. Dis.* 67, 159–173. doi: 10.1111/2049-632X.12033
- Goltermann, L., and Tolker-Nielsen, T. (2017). Importance of the exopolysaccharide matrix in antimicrobial tolerance of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa aggregates. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 61, e02696–e02616. doi: 10.1128/AAC.02696-16
- Graham, D. Y., and Miftahussurur, M. (2018). Helicobacter pylori urease for diagnosis of Helicobacter pylori infection: a mini review. J. Adv. Res. 13, 51–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jare.2018.01.006

- Green. E. R., and Mecsas, J. (2016). Bacterial secretion systems: an overview. Microbiol. Spectr. 4:VMBF-0012-2015. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0012-2015
- Groisman, E. A., and Mouslim, C. (2006). Sensing by bacterial regulatory systems in host and non-host environments. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 4, 705–709. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro1478
- Guillet, J., Hallier, M., and Felden, B. (2013). Emerging functions for the *Staphylococcus aureus* RNome. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003767. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003767
- Hall, C. W., and Mah, T.-F. (2017). Molecular mechanisms of biofilm-based antibiotic resistance and tolerance in pathogenic bacteria. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 41, 276–301. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux010
- Haupt, K., Reuter, M., van den Elsen, J., Burman, J., Hälbich, S., Richter, J., et al. (2008). The *Staphylococcus aureus* protein Sbi acts as a complement inhibitor and forms a tripartite complex with host complement factor H and C3b. *PLoS Pathog.* 4:e1000250. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000250
- Hauser, A. R. (2009). The type III secretion system of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa: infection by injection. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 7, 654–665. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2199
- Heidrich, N., Bauriedl, S., Barquist, L., Li, L., Schoen, C., and Vogel, J. (2017). The primary transcriptome of *Neisseria meningitidis* and its interaction with the RNA chaperone Hfq. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 45, 6147–6167. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx168
- Hofer, U. (2019). The cost of antimicrobial resistance. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 17, 3–3. doi: 10.1038/s41579-018-0125-x
- Hoiby, N., Ciofu, O., and Bjarnsholt, T. (2010). Pseudomonas aeruginosa biofilms in Cystic Fibrosis. Future Microbiol. 5, 1663–1674. doi: 10.2217/fmb.10.125
- Hong, W., Zeng, J., and Xie, J. (2014). Antibiotic drugs targeting bacterial RNAs. *Acta Pharm. Sin. B* 4, 258–265. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2014.06.012
- Howe, J. A., Wang, H., Fischmann, T. O., Balibar, C. J., Xiao, L., Galgoci, A. M., et al. (2015). Selective small-molecule inhibition of an RNA structural element. *Nature* 526, 672–677. doi: 10.1038/nature15542
- Ingavale, S., van Wamel, W., Luong, T. T., Lee, C. Y., and Cheung, A. L. (2005). Rat/MgrA, a regulator of autolysis, is a regulator of virulence genes in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Immun.* 73, 1423–1431. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.3.1423-1431.2005
- James, G. A., Swogger, E., Wolcott, R., Pulcini, E., Secor, P., Sestrich, J., et al. (2008). Biofilms in chronic wounds. Wound Repair Regen. 16, 37–44. doi: 10.1111/j.1524-475X.2007.00321.x
- Janssen, K. H., Diaz, M. R., Gode, C. J., Wolfgang, M. C., and Yahr, T. L. (2018). RsmV, a small noncoding regulatory RNA in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* that sequesters RsmA and RsmF from target mRNAs. J. Bacteriol. 200, e00277– e00218. doi: 10.1128/JB.00277-18
- Jia, K., Wang, G., Liang, L., Wang, M., Wang, H., and Xu, X. (2017). Preliminary transcriptome analysis of mature biofilm and planktonic cells of *Salmonella enteritidis* exposure to acid stress. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:1861. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01861
- Joo, H. S., Chatterjee, S. S., Villaruz, A. E., Dickey, S. W., Tan, V. Y., Chen, Y., et al. (2016). Mechanism of gene regulation by a *Staphylococcus aureus* toxin. *mBio* 7:e01579-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01579-16
- Kaper, J. B., Nataro, J. P., and Mobley, H. L. T. (2004). Pathogenic Escherichia coli. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 2, 123–140. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro818
- Khandige, S., Kronborg, T., Uhlin, B. E., and Møller-Jensen, J. (2015). sRNA-mediated regulation of P-fimbriae phase variation in Uropathogenic Escherichia coli. PLoS Pathog. 11:e1005109. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005109
- Kim, E. Y., Jakobson, C. M., and Tullman-Ercek, D. (2014). Engineering transcriptional regulation to control Pdu microcompartment formation. *PLoS ONE* 9:e113814. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0113814
- Kim, J. N., Blount, K. F., Puskarz, I., Lim, J., Link, K. H., and Breaker, R. R. (2009). Design and antimicrobial action of purine analogues that bind Guanine riboswitches. ACS Chem. Biol. 4, 915–927. doi: 10.1021/cb900146k
- Kulesus, R. R., Diaz-Perez, K., Slechta, E. S., Eto, D. S., and Mulvey, M. A. (2008). Impact of the RNA chaperone Hfq on the fitness and virulence potential of Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 3019–3026. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00022-08
- Kusters, J. G., van Vliet, A. H., and Kuipers, E. J. (2006). Pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 19, 449–490. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00054-05

- Lalaouna, D., Prevost, K., Eyraud, A., and Masse, E. (2017). Identification of unknown RNA partners using MAPS. *Methods* 117, 28–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ymeth.2016.11.011
- Lane, M. C., and Mobley, H. L. (2007). Role of P-fimbrial-mediated adherence in pyelonephritis and persistence of Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* (UPEC) in the mammalian kidney. *Kidney Int.* 72, 19–25. doi: 10.1038/sj.ki.50 02230
- Lang, A. B., Horn, M. P., Imboden, M. A., and Zuercher, A. W. (2004). Prophylaxis and therapy of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in Cystic Fibrosis and immunocompromised patients. *Vaccine* 22 (Suppl. 1), S44–48. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.08.016
- Lau, G. W., Ran, H., Kong, F., Hassett, D. J., and Mavrodi, D. (2004). Pseudomonas aeruginosa Pyocyanin is critical for lung infection in mice. Infect. Immun. 72, 4275–4278. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.7.4275-4278.2004
- Lebreton, A., and Cossart, P. (2016). RNA and protein-mediated control of Listeria monocytogenes virulence gene expression. RNA Biol. 14, 460–470. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2016.1189069
- Lee, E. R., Blount, K. F., and Breaker, R. R. (2009). Roseoflavin is a natural antibacterial compound that binds to FMN riboswitches and regulates gene expression. *RNA Biol.* 6, 187–194. doi: 10.4161/rna.6. 2.7727
- Lee, P.-C., and Rietsch, A. (2015). Fueling type III secretion. *Trends Microbiol.* 23, 296–300. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2015.01.012
- Leid, J. G., Willson, C. J., Shirtliff, M. E., Hassett, D. J., Parsek, M. R., and Jeffers, A. K. (2005). The exopolysaccharide alginate protects *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilm bacteria from IFN-γ-mediated macrophage killing. *J. Immunol.* 175, 7512–7518. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.11.7512
- Li, H., Luo, Y. F., Williams, B. J., Blackwell, T. S., and Xie, C. M. (2012). Structure and function of OprD protein in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: from antibiotic resistance to novel therapies. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 302, 63–68. doi: 10.1016/j.ijmm.2011.10.001
- Libânio, D., Dinis-Ribeiro, M., and Pimentel-Nunes, P. (2015). *Helicobacter pylori* and microRNAs: relation with innate immunity and progression of preneoplastic conditions. *World J. Clin. Oncol.* 6, 111–132. doi: 10.5306/wjco.v6.i5.111
- Lister, J. L., and Horswill, A. R. (2014). Staphylococcus aureus biofilms: recent developments in biofilm dispersal. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 4:178. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00178
- Little, A. S., Okkotsu, Y., Reinhart, A. A., Damron, F. H., Barbier, M., Barrett, B., et al. (2018). *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* AlgR phosphorylation status differentially regulates pyocyanin and pyoverdine production. *mBio* 9, e02318– e02317. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02318-17
- Liu, Y., Wu, N., Dong, J., Gao, Y., Zhang, X., Mu, C., et al. (2010). Hfq is a global regulator that controls the pathogenicity of *Staphylococcus aureus*. *PLoS ONE* 5:e13069. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0013069
- Loh, E., Dussurget, O., Gripenland, J., Vaitkevicius, K., Tiensuu, T., Mandin, P., et al. (2009). A trans-acting riboswitch controls expression of the virulence regulator PrfA in *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Cell* 139, 770–779. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.046
- Loh, E., Righetti, F., Eichner, H., Twittenhoff, C., and Narberhaus, F. (2018). RNA thermometers in bacterial pathogens. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 6:RWR-0012-2017. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.RWR-0012-2017
- Lopez-Causape, C., Rojo-Molinero, E., Macia, M. D., and Oliver, A. (2015). The problems of antibiotic resistance in Cystic Fibrosis and solutions. *Expert Rev. Respir. Med.* 9, 73–88. doi: 10.1586/17476348.2015.9 95640
- Luong, T. T., Dunman, P. M., Murphy, E., Projan, S. J., and Lee, C. Y. (2006). Transcription profiling of the mgrA regulon in Staphylococcus aureus. J. Bacteriol. 188, 1899–1910. doi: 10.1128/JB.188.5.1899-1910.2006
- Mah, T.-F., and O'Toole, G. A. (2001). Mechanisms of biofilm resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol.* 9, 34–39. doi: 10.1016/S0966-842X(00)01913-2
- Mariscotti, J. F., Quereda, J. J., and Pucciarelli, M. G. (2012). Contribution of sortase A to the regulation of *Listeria monocytogenes* LPXTG surface proteins. *Int. Microbiol.* 15, 43–51. doi: 10.2436/20.1501.01.157
- Massé, E., and Gottesman, S. (2002). A small RNA regulates the expression of genes involved in iron metabolism in *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 99, 4620–4625. doi: 10.1073/pnas.032066599

- Matos, R. G., Casinhas, J., Barria, C., Dos Santos, R. F., Silva, I. J., and Arraiano, C. M. (2017). The role of ribonucleases and sRNAs in the virulence of foodborne pathogens. *Front. Microbiol.* 8:910. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00910
- Matsui, H., Wagner, V. E., Hill, D. B., Schwab, U. E., Rogers, T. D., Button, B., et al. (2006). A physical linkage between Cystic Fibrosis airway surface dehydration and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 18131–18136. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0606428103
- Mayer, G., and Famulok, M. (2006). High-throughput-compatible assay for glmS riboswitch metabolite dependence. *Chembiochem* 7, 602–604. doi: 10.1002/cbic.200500490
- McCaig, L. F., McDonald, L. C., Mandal, S., and Jernigan, D. B. (2006). Staphylococcus aureus-associated skin and soft tissue infections in ambulatory care. Emerging Infect. Dis. 12, 1715–1723. doi: 10.3201/eid1211.060190
- Means, J., Katz, S., Nayek, A., Anupam, R., Hines, J. V., and Bergmeier, S. C. (2006). Structure-activity studies of oxazolidinone analogs as RNA-binding agents. *Bioorg. Med. Chem. Lett.* 16, 3600–3604. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2006.03.068
- Melamed, S., Faigenbaum-Romm, R., Peer, A., Reiss, N., Shechter, O., Bar, A., et al. (2018). Mapping the small RNA interactome in bacteria using RIL-seq. *Nat. Protoc.* 13, 1–33. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2017.115
- Mellin, J. R., Koutero, M., Dar, D., Nahori, M. A., Sorek, R., and Cossart, P. (2014). Riboswitches. Sequestration of a two-component response regulator by a riboswitch-regulated noncoding RNA. *Science* 345, 940–943. doi: 10.1126/science.1255083
- Mellin, J. R., Tiensuu, T., Becavin, C., Gouin, E., Johansson, J., and Cossart, P. (2013). A riboswitch-regulated antisense RNA in *Listeria monocytogenes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 13132–13137. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1304795110
- Meyer, J. M., Neely, A., Stintzi, A., Georges, C., and Holder, I. A. (1996). Pyoverdin is essential for virulence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Infect. Immun.* 64, 518–523.
- Miao, E. A., Mao, D. P., Yudkovsky, N., Bonneau, R., Lorang, C. G., Warren, S. E., et al. (2010). Innate immune detection of the type III secretion apparatus through the NLRC4 inflammasome. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 3076–3080. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0913087107
- Miller, M. B., and Bassler, B. L. (2001). Quorum sensing in bacteria. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 55, 165–199. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.55.1.165
- Mobley, H. L. (1996). The role of *Helicobacter pylori* urease in the pathogenesis of gastritis and peptic ulceration. *Aliment. Pharmacol. Ther.* 10 (Suppl. 1), 57–64. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2036.1996.22164006.x
- Moreau-Marquis, S., Bomberger, J. M., Anderson, G. G., Swiatecka-Urban, A., Ye, S., O'Toole, G. A., et al. (2008). The DeltaF508-CFTR mutation results in increased biofilm formation by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by increasing iron availability. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 295, L25–37. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00391.2007
- Morfeldt, E., Taylor, D., von Gabain, A., and Arvidson, S. (1995). Activation of alpha-toxin translation in *Staphylococcus aureus* by the trans-encoded antisense RNA, RNAIII. *EMBO J.* 14, 4569–4577. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1995.tb00136.x
- Mulhbacher, J., Brouillette, E., Allard, M., Fortier, L. C., Malouin, F., and Lafontaine, D. A. (2010). Novel riboswitch ligand analogs as selective inhibitors of guanine-related metabolic pathways. *PLoS Pathog.* 6:e1000865. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000865
- Murphy, E. R., and Payne, S. M. (2007). RyhB, an iron-responsive small RNA molecule, regulates *Shigella dysenteriae* virulence. *Infect. Immun.* 75, 3470–3477. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00112-07
- Nechooshtan, G., Elgrably-Weiss, M., Sheaffer, A., Westhof, E., and Altuvia, S. (2009). A pH-responsive riboregulator. *Genes Dev.* 23, 2650–2662. doi: 10.1101/gad.552209
- Nelson, C. E., Huang, W., Brewer, L. K., Nguyen, A. T., Kane, M. A., Wilks, A., et al. (2019). Proteomic Analysis of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* iron starvation response reveals PrrF small regulatory RNA-dependent iron regulation of twitching motility, amino acid metabolism, and zinc homeostasis proteins. *J. Bacteriol.* 201:e00754-18. doi: 10.1128/JB.00754-18
- Nigaud, Y., Cosette, P., Collet, A., Song, P. C., Vaudry, D., Vaudry, H., et al. (2010). Biofilm-induced modifications in the proteome of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* planktonic cells. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1804, 957–966. doi: 10.1016/j.bbapap.2010.01.008
- Nikravesh, A., Dryselius, R., Faridani, O. R., Goh, S., Sadeghizadeh, M., Behmanesh, M., et al. (2007). Antisense PNA accumulates in *Escherichia*

coli and mediates a long post-antibiotic effect. Mol. Ther. Nucleic Acids 15, 1537–1542. doi: 10.1038/sj.mt.6300209

- Noto, M. J., Kreiswirth, B. N., Monk, A. B., and Archer, G. L. (2008). Gene acquisition at the insertion site for SCCmec, the genomic island conferring methicillin resistance in *Staphylococcus aureus*. J. Bacteriol. 190, 1276–1283. doi: 10.1128/JB.01128-07
- Oglesby, A. G., Farrow, J. M. 3rd, Lee, J. H., Tomaras, A. P., Greenberg, E. P., Pesci, E. C., et al. (2008). The influence of iron on *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* physiology: a regulatory link between iron and quorum sensing. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 15558–15567. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M707840200
- Oglesby-Sherrouse, A. G., and Murphy, E. R. (2013). Iron-responsive bacterial small RNAs: variations on a theme. *Metallomics* 5, 276–286. doi: 10.1039/c3mt20224k
- Okkotsu, Y., Little, A. S., and Schurr, M. J. (2014). The Pseudomonas aeruginosa AlgZR two-component system coordinates multiple phenotypes. *Front. Cell.Infect. Microbiol.* 4:82. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00082
- Olson, M. E., and Horswill, A. R. (2013). *Staphylococcus aureus* osteomyelitis: bad to the bone. *Cell Host Microbe* 13, 629–631. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2013.05.015
- Omar, A., Wright, J. B., Schultz, G., Burrell, R., and Nadworny, P. (2017). Microbial biofilms and chronic wounds. *Microorganisms* 5:9. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms5010009
- Oosthuizen, M. C., Steyn, B., Theron, J., Cosette, P., Lindsay, D., von Holy, A., et al. (2002). Proteomic analysis reveals differential protein expression by *Bacillus cereus* during biofilm formation. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 68, 2770–2780. doi: 10.1128/AEM.68.6.2770-2780.2002
- Pannekoek, Y., Huis In 't Veld, R. A., Schipper, K., Bovenkerk, S., Kramer, G., Brouwer, M. C., et al. (2017). *Neisseria meningitidis* uses sibling small regulatory RNAs to switch from cataplerotic to anaplerotic metabolism. *mBio* 8:e02293-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02293-16
- Papenfort, K., and Vogel, J. (2014). Small RNA functions in carbon metabolism and virulence of enteric pathogens. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 4, 91. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00091
- Parker, D., and Prince, A. (2012). Immunopathogenesis of Staphylococcus aureus pulmonary infection. Semin. Immunopathol. 34, 281–297. doi: 10.1007/s00281-011-0291-7
- Pernitzsch, S. R., and Sharma, C. M. (2012). Transcriptome complexity and riboregulation in the human pathogen *Helicobacter pylori. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 2:14. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2012.00014
- Pernitzsch, S. R., Tirier, S. M., Beier, D., and Sharma, C. M. (2014). A variable homopolymeric G-repeat defines small RNA-mediated posttranscriptional regulation of a chemotaxis receptor in *Helicobacter pylori. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 111, E501–510. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1315152111
- Pettersson, J., Nordfelth, R., Dubinina, E., Bergman, T., Gustafsson, M., Magnusson, K. E., et al. (1996). Modulation of virulence factor expression by pathogen target cell contact. *Science* 273, 1231–1233. doi: 10.1126/science.273.5279.1231
- Pflock, M., Kennard, S., Delany, I., Scarlato, V., and Beier, D. (2005). Acidinduced activation of the urease promoters is mediated directly by the ArsRS two-component system of *Helicobacter pylori. Infect. Immun.* 73, 6437–6445. doi: 10.1128/IAI.73.10.6437-6445.2005
- Pita, T., Feliciano, J. R., and Leitão, J. H. (2018). Small noncoding regulatory RNAs from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Burkholderia cepacia* complex. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 19:3759. doi: 10.3390/ijms19123759
- Pizarro-Cerda, J., Kuhbacher, A., and Cossart, P. (2012). Entry of Listeria monocytogenes in mammalian epithelial cells: an updated view. Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med. 2:a010009. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect. a010009
- Porcheron, G., Habib, R., Houle, S., Caza, M., Lépine, F., Daigle, F., et al. (2014). The small RNA RyhB contributes to siderophore production and virulence of Uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *Infect. Immun.* 82, 5056–5068. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02287-14
- Powers, M. E., and Bubeck Wardenburg, J. (2014). Igniting the fire: *Staphylococcus aureus* virulence factors in the pathogenesis of sepsis. *PLoS Pathog.* 10:e1003871. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003871
- Pucciarelli, M. G., Calvo, E., Sabet, C., Bierne, H., Cossart, P., and García-del Portillo, F. (2005). Identification of substrates of the *Listeria monocytogenes* sortases A and B by a non-gel proteomic analysis. *Proteomics* 5, 4808–4817. doi: 10.1002/pmic.200402075

- Qin, L., McCausland, J. W., Cheung, G. Y. C., and Otto, M. (2016). PSM-Mec-A virulence determinant that connects transcriptional regulation, virulence, and antibiotic resistance in Staphylococci. *Front. Microbiol.* 7:1293. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01293
- Quereda, J. J., Ortega, Á. D., Pucciarelli, M. G., and García-del Portillo, F. (2014). The *Listeria* small RNA Rli27 regulates a cell wall protein inside eukaryotic cells by targeting a long 5'-UTR variant. *PLoS Genet.* 10:e1004765. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004765
- Radoshevich, L., and Cossart, P. (2018). Listeria monocytogenes: towards a complete picture of its physiology and pathogenesis. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 16, 32–46. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2017.126
- Redelman, C. V., Chakravarty, S., and Anderson, G. G. (2014). Antibiotic treatment of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* biofilms stimulates expression of the magnesium transporter gene *mgtE. Microbiology.* 160(Pt 1), 165–178. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.070144-0
- Reinhart, A. A., Nguyen, A. T., Brewer, L. K., Bevere, J., Jones, J. W., Kane, M. A., et al. (2017). The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PrrF small RNAs regulate iron homeostasis during acute murine lung infection. *Infect. Immun.* 85, e00764–e00716. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00764-16
- Reinhart, A. A., Powell, D. A., Nguyen, A. T., O'Neill, M., Djapgne, L., Wilks, A., et al. (2015). The *prrF*-encoded small regulatory RNAs are required for iron homeostasis and virulence of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Infect. Immun.* 83, 863–875. doi: 10.1128/IAI.02707-14
- Richard, A. L., Withey, J. H., Beyhan, S., Yildiz, F., and DiRita, V. J. (2010). The Vibrio cholerae virulence regulatory cascade controls glucose uptake through activation of TarA, a small regulatory RNA. *Mol. Microbiol.* 78, 1171–1181. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07397.x
- Richter, A. S., and Backofen, R. (2012). Accessibility and conservation: general features of bacterial small RNA-mRNA interactions? *RNA Biol.* 9, 954–965. doi: 10.4161/rna.20294
- Romby, P., Vandenesch, F., and Wagner, E. G. (2006). The role of RNAs in the regulation of virulence-gene expression. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 9, 229–236. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2006.02.005
- Romero, M., Silistre, H., Lovelock, L., Wright, V. J., Chan, K.-G., Hong, K.-W., et al. (2018). Genome-wide mapping of the RNA targets of the *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa riboregulatory protein RsmN. Nucleic Acids Res. 46, 6823–6840. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky324
- Romilly, C., Lays, C., Tomasini, A., Caldelari, I., Benito, Y., Hammann, P., et al. (2014). A non-coding RNA promotes bacterial persistence and decreases virulence by regulating a regulator in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *PLoS Pathog*. 10:e1003979. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003979
- Ross, J. A., Thorsing, M., Lillebaek, E. M. S., Teixeira Dos Santos, P., and Kallipolitis, B. H. (2019). The LhrC sRNAs control expression of T cellstimulating antigen TcsA in *Listeria monocytogenes* by decreasing *tcsA* mRNA stability. *RNA Biol.* 16, 270–281. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2019.15 72423
- Rutherford, S. T., and Bassler, B. L. (2012). Bacterial quorum sensing: its role in virulence and possibilities for its control. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Med.* 2:a012427. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a012427
- Saliba, A. E., Westermann, A. J., Gorski, S. A., and Vogel, J. (2014). Single-cell RNA-seq: advances and future challenges. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 8845–8860. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku555
- Santajit, S., and Indrawattana, N. (2016). Mechanisms of antimicrobial resistance in ESKAPE pathogens. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2016:2475067. doi: 10.1155/2016/2475067
- Santi, M., Milani, G. P., Simonetti, G. D., Fossali, E. F., Bianchetti, M. G., and Lava, S. A. (2016). Magnesium in Cystic Fibrosis–systematic review of the literature. *Pediatr. Pulmonol.* 51, 196–202. doi: 10.1002/ppul.23356
- Santiago-Frangos, A., and Woodson, S. A. (2018). Hfq chaperone brings speed dating to bacterial sRNA. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. RNA 9:e1475. doi: 10.1002/wrna.1475
- Schultze, T., Hilker, R., Mannala, G. K., Gentil, K., Weigel, M., Farmani, N., et al. (2015). A detailed view of the intracellular transcriptome of *Listeria monocytogenes* in murine macrophages using RNA-seq. *Front. Microbiol.* 6:1199. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.01199
- Sesto, N., Wurtzel, O., Archambaud, C., Sorek, R., and Cossart, P. (2012). The excludon: a new concept in bacterial antisense RNA-mediated gene regulation. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 11, 75–82. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2934

- Shearwin, K. E., Callen, B. P., and Egan, J. B. (2005). Transcriptional interference–a crash course. *Trends Genet.* 21, 339–345. doi: 10.1016/j.tig.2005.04.009
- Sievers, S., Lund, A., Menendez-Gil, P., Nielsen, A., Storm Mollerup, M., Lambert Nielsen, S., et al. (2015). The multicopy sRNA LhrC controls expression of the oligopeptide-binding protein OppA in *Listeria monocytogenes. RNA Biol.* 12, 985–997. doi: 10.1080/15476286.2015.1071011
- Sievers, S., Sternkopf Lillebaek, E. M., Jacobsen, K., Lund, A., Mollerup, M. S., Nielsen, P. K., et al. (2014). A multicopy sRNA of *Listeria monocytogenes* regulates expression of the virulence adhesin LapB. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, 9383–9398. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku630
- Simonin-Le Jeune, K., Le Jeune, A., Jouneau, S., Belleguic, C., Roux, P.-F., Jaguin, M., et al. (2013). Impaired functions of macrophage from Cystic Fibrosis patients: CD11b, TLR-5 decrease and sCD14, inflammatory cytokines increase. *PLoS ONE* 8:e75667. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075667
- Singh, S., Singh, S. K., Chowdhury, I., and Singh, R. (2017). Understanding the mechanism of bacterial biofilms resistance to antimicrobial agents. *Open Microbiol. J.* 11, 53–62. doi: 10.2174/1874285801711010053
- Smirnov, A., Förstner, K. U., Holmqvist, E., Otto, A., Günster, R., Becher, D., et al. (2016). Grad-seq guides the discovery of ProQ as a major small RNA-binding protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 11591–11596. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1609981113
- Smith, W. D., Bardin, E., Cameron, L., Edmondson, C. L., Farrant, K. V., Martin, I., et al. (2017). Current and future therapies for *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection in patients with Cystic Fibrosis. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 364:fnx121. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fnx121
- Sonnleitner, E., Abdou, L., and Haas, D. (2009). Small RNA as global regulator of carbon catabolite repression in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 106, 21866–21871. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910308106
- Sonnleitner, E., Gonzalez, N., Sorger-Domenigg, T., Heeb, S., Richter, A. S., Backofen, R., et al. (2011). The small RNA PhrS stimulates synthesis of the *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quinolone signal. *Mol. Microbiol.* 80, 868–885. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07620.x
- Stewart, P. S. (2002). Mechanisms of antibiotic resistance in bacterial biofilms. *Int. J. Med. Microbiol.* 292, 107–113. doi: 10.1078/1438-4221-00196
- Stewart, P. S. (2003). Diffusion in biofilms. J. Bacteriol. 185, 1485–1491. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.5.1485-1491.2003
- Stork, M., Di Lorenzo, M., Welch, T. J., and Crosa, J. H. (2007). Transcription termination within the iron transport-biosynthesis operon of *Vibrio* anguillarum requires an antisense RNA. J. Bacteriol. 189, 3479–3488. doi: 10.1128/JB.00619-06
- Sudarsan, N., Cohen-Chalamish, S., Nakamura, S., Emilsson, G. M., and Breaker, R. R. (2005). Thiamine pyrophosphate riboswitches are targets for the antimicrobial compound pyrithiamine. *Chem. Biol.* 12, 1325–1335. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2005.10.007
- Sudarsan, N., Wickiser, J. K., Nakamura, S., Ebert, M. S., and Breaker, R. R. (2003). An mRNA structure in bacteria that controls gene expression by binding lysine. *Genes Dev.* 17, 2688–2697. doi: 10.1101/gad.1140003
- Sutherland, I. W. (2001). Exopolysaccharides in biofilms, flocs and related structures. Water Sci. Technol. 43, 77–86. doi: 10.2166/wst.2001.0345
- Svensson, S. L., and Sharma, C. M. (2016). Small RNAs in bacterial virulence and communication. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 4:VMBF-0028-2015. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.VMBF-0028-2015
- Terlizzi, M. E., Gribaudo, G., and Maffei, M. E. (2017). UroPathogenic Escherichia coli (UPEC) infections: virulence factors, bladder responses, antibiotic, and non-antibiotic antimicrobial strategies. Front. Microbiol. 8:1566. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01566
- Testerman, T. L., and Morris, J. (2014). Beyond the stomach: an updated view of *Helicobacter pylori* pathogenesis, diagnosis, and treatment. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 20, 12781–12808. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i36.12781
- Toledo-Arana, A., Dussurget, O., Nikitas, G., Sesto, N., Guet-Revillet, H., Balestrino, D., et al. (2009). The *Listeria* transcriptional landscape from saprophytism to virulence. *Nature* 459, 950–956. doi: 10.1038/nature08080
- Toledo-Arana, A., Repoila, F., and Cossart, P. (2007). Small noncoding RNAs controlling pathogenesis. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 10, 182–188. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2007.03.004
- Tolker-Nielsen, T., and Høiby, N. (2009). Extracellular DNA and F-actin as targets in antibiofilm Cystic Fibrosis therapy. *Future Microbiol.* 4, 645–647. doi: 10.2217/fmb.09.38

- Tomasini, A., Francois, P., Howden, B. P., Fechter, P., Romby, P., and Caldelari, I. (2014). The importance of regulatory RNAs in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Genet. Evol.* 21, 616–626. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2013.11.016
- Tomasini, A., Moreau, K., Chicher, J., Geissmann, T., Vandenesch, F., Romby, P., et al. (2017). The RNA targetome of *Staphylococcus aureus* non-coding RNA RsaA: impact on cell surface properties and defense mechanisms. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 45, 6746–6760. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkx219
- Toska, J., Ho, B. T., and Mekalanos, J. J. (2018). Exopolysaccharide protects Vibrio cholerae from exogenous attacks by the type 6 secretion system. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 115, 7997–8002. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1808469115
- Trotonda, M. P., Tamber, S., Memmi, G., and Cheung, A. L. (2008). MgrA represses biofilm formation in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Infect. Immun.* 76, 5645–5654. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00735-08
- Tseng, B. S., Reichhardt, C., Merrihew, G. E., Araujo-Hernandez, S. A., Harrison, J. J., MacCoss, M. J., et al. (2018). A biofilm matrix-associated protease inhibitor protects *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* from proteolytic attack. *mBio* 9, e00543–e00518. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00543-18
- Unterholzner, S. J., Poppenberger, B., and Rozhon, W. (2013). Toxin-antitoxin systems: biology, identification, and application. *Mob. Genet. Elements* 3, e26219–e26219. doi: 10.4161/mge.26219
- Updegrove, T. B., Zhang, A., and Storz, G. (2016). Hfq: the flexible RNA matchmaker. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 30, 133–138. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2016.02.003
- Vakulskas, C. A., Potts, A. H., Babitzke, P., Ahmer, B. M. M., and Romeo, T. (2015). Regulation of bacterial virulence by Csr (Rsm) systems. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 79, 193–224. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00052-14
- Ventola, C. L. (2015). The antibiotic resistance crisis: part 1: causes and threats. *P T* 40, 277–283. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4614-6435-8\_102103-1
- Wang, L., and Ruan, S. (2017). Modeling nosocomial infections of Methicillin-Resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* with environment contamination. *Sci. Rep.* 7, 580–580. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00261-1
- Wassarman, K. M. (2007). 6S RNA: a small RNA regulator of transcription. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 10, 164–168. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2007.03.008
- Waters, L. S., and Storz, G. (2009). Regulatory RNAs in bacteria. *Cell* 136, 615–628. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.01.043
- Wei, Q., and Ma, L. Z. (2013). Biofilm matrix and its regulation in *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 14, 20983–21005. doi: 10.3390/ijms1410 20983
- Wen, Y., Feng, J., and Sachs, G. (2013). *Helicobacter pylori 5'ureB*-sRNA, a *cis*-encoded antisense small RNA, negatively regulates *ureAB* expression

by transcription termination. J. Bacteriol. 195, 444-452. doi: 10.1128/JB.0 1022-12

- Westermann, A. J. (2018). Regulatory RNAs in virulence and host-microbe interactions. *Microbiol. Spectr.* 6:RWR-0002-2017. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.RWR-0002-2017
- Wilking, J. N., Zaburdaev, V., De Volder, M., Losick, R., Brenner, M. P., and Weitz, D. A. (2013). Liquid transport facilitated by channels in *Bacillus subtilis* biofilms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 110, 848–852. doi:10.1073/pnas.1216376110
- Williams McMackin, E. A., Djapgne, L., Corley, J. M., and Yahr, T. L. (2019). Fitting pieces into the puzzle of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* type III secretion system gene expression. *J. Bacteriol.* 201:e00209-19. doi: 10.1128/JB.00209-19
- Winkler, W. C., and Breaker, R. R. (2005). Regulation of bacterial gene expression by riboswitches. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 59, 487–517. doi: 10.1146/annurev.micro.59.030804.121336
- Winstanley, C., O'Brien, S., and Brockhurst, M. A. (2016). Pseudomonas aeruginosa evolutionary adaptation and diversification in Cystic Fibrosis chronic lung infections. Trends Microbiol. 24, 327–337. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.01.008
- Wroblewski, L. E., Peek, R. M. Jr., and Wilson, K. T. (2010). *Helicobacter pylori* and gastric cancer: factors that modulate disease risk. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 23, 713–739. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00011-10
- Zhang, Y.-F., Han, K., Chandler, C. E., Tjaden, B., Ernst, R. K., and Lory, S. (2017). Probing the sRNA regulatory landscape of *P. aeruginosa*: post-transcriptional control of determinants of pathogenicity and antibiotic susceptibility. *Mol. Microbiol.* 106, 919–937. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13857
- Zimmermann, A., Reimmann, C., Galimand, M., and Haas, D. (1991). Anaerobic growth and cyanide synthesis of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* depend on *anr*, a regulatory gene homologous with *fnr* of *Escherichia coli*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 5, 1483–1490. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1991.tb00794.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Chakravarty and Massé. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# A Fly on the Wall: How Stress Response Systems Can Sense and Respond to Damage to Peptidoglycan

Antoine Delhaye<sup>1,2</sup>, Jean-François Collet<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Géraldine Laloux<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> de Duve Institute, UCLouvain, Brussels, Belgium, <sup>2</sup> Walloon Excellence in Life Sciences and Biotechnology (WELBIO), Brussels, Belgium

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Tracy Raivio, University of Alberta, Canada

#### Reviewed by:

Natividad Ruiz, The Ohio State University, United States Matthew Cabeen, Oklahoma State University, United States Ashu Sharma, University at Buffalo, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Jean-François Collet jfcollet@uclouvain.be Géraldine Laloux geraldine.laloux@uclouvain.be

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 04 July 2019 Accepted: 24 October 2019 Published: 13 November 2019

#### Citation:

Delhaye A, Collet J-F and Laloux G (2019) A Fly on the Wall: How Stress Response Systems Can Sense and Respond to Damage to Peptidoglycan. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:380. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00380 The envelope of Gram-negative bacteria is critical for survival across a wide range of environmental conditions. The inner membrane, the periplasm and the outer membrane form a complex compartment, home to many essential processes. Hence, constant monitoring by envelope stress response systems ensure correct biogenesis of the envelope and maintain its homeostasis. Inside the periplasm, the cell wall, made of peptidoglycan, has been under the spotlight for its critical role in bacterial growth as well as being the target of many antibiotics. While much research is centered around understanding the role of the many enzymes involved in synthesizing the cell wall, much less is known about how the cell can detect perturbations of this assembly process, and how it is regulated during stress. In this review, we explore the current knowledge of cell wall defects sensing by stress response systems can respond to cell wall perturbations to increase fitness, and what implications this has on cell wall regulation.

#### Keywords: stress response, ESRS, cell wall, Cpx, RCS, Psp, sigmaE, BAE

# THE CELL WALL OF GRAM-NEGATIVE BACTERIA

In the environment, bacteria face an ever-changing range of conditions to which they have to adapt in order to survive and thrive. To overcome the many challenges that they face, Gram-negative bacteria have evolved a complex envelope made out of two membranes, the inner membrane (IM) and the outer membrane (OM) surrounding a soluble chamber, the periplasm. The OM is asymmetric, composed of phospholipids in the inner leaflet and lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in the outer leaflet (Silhavy et al., 2010). In the periplasm lies the cell wall, the determinant of cell shape, and essential for resistance to osmotic stress (Höltje, 1998; Vollmer et al., 2008). The cell wall is composed of a single-layered biopolymer, the peptidoglycan (PG), composed of repeating units of a disaccharide (N-acetylglucosamine-N-acetylmuramic acid, or GlcNac-MurNac) crosslinked with short peptides, forming a mesh-like structure (the main architecture of the PG and its assembly are summarized in **Figure 1**). The synthesis of PG proceeds in 3 major steps, all of which can be inhibited by antibiotics (Zhao et al., 2017): (1) the generation of the key intermediate lipid II, the lipid-linked disaccharide-pentapeptide precursor, in the cytoplasm; (2) the translocation of lipid II across the cytoplasmic membrane; and (3) the assembly of the cell wall in the periplasm (Typas et al., 2012; Ruiz, 2015). During growth, elongation is the process by

E. coli Responses to Peptidoglycan Defects

which cells increase their size, and division is the process by which one bacterial cell separates into two daughter cells. In E. coli and other Gram-negative bacteria, both these processes rely on complex PG remodeling involving both PG synthesis and PG degradation (van Teeffelen and Renner, 2018). PG synthesis requires the polymerization of new glycan strands by transglycosylases and the crosslinking of their peptide sidechains by transpeptidases. To this end, multiple PG synthases are required. Monofunctional glycosyltransferases of the shape, elongation, division and sporulation (SEDS) family polymerize GlcNac-MurNac disaccharides from lipid II subunits into long glycan strands. These strands are crosslinked together mostly between the fourth (D-ala) and the third (diaminopimelic acid, DAP) amino acid of their peptide side chains, resulting in 4-3 D,D crosslinks whose formation is catalyzed by Penicillin-Binding Proteins (PBPs). The broad family of PBPs consists of two different classes: the class B PBPs are monofunctional and can only carry out the transpeptidase reaction, while the bifunctional class A PBPs also exhibit a transglycosylase activity. The main class A PBPs in E. coli are PBP1a and PBP1b. Neither is essential in normal conditions, but a double mutant lacking both is nonviable (Sauvage et al., 2008). In addition to the 4-3 D,D crosslinks, non-canonical 3-3 L,D crosslinks between two DAP residues of peptide side chains are synthesized by L,Dtranspeptidases that are mostly active during stationary phase (Pisabarro et al., 1985; Magnet et al., 2007, 2008). These 3-3 crosslinks are also required when defects in the LPS transport pathway occur, to strengthen the PG and avoid lysis (Morè et al., 2019). Additionally, cell wall homeostasis during both elongation and division requires enzymes that digest the PG to allow the insertion of newly synthesized material (Uehara and Bernhardt, 2011). PG fragments (muropeptides) are thus continually extracted from the PG mesh by the action of lytic transglycosylases and endopeptidases, transported back to the cytoplasm through a permease, and recycled predominantly as precursors (although they can be used as an energy source as well) (Park and Uehara, 2008), making the cell wall a highly adaptable entity. In fact, there is mounting evidence that cell wall synthesis is adapted depending on the extracellular environment. Indeed, the activity of cell wall modifying enzymes (such as E. coli PBP6b, MltA or Salmonella Typhimurium PBP3) changes depending on the chemical properties (pH) of the environment (van Straaten et al., 2005; Peters et al., 2016; Castanheira et al., 2017). A striking example is the requirement of PBP1a for maximal fitness in alkaline conditions and of PBP1b under acidic conditions (Mueller et al., 2019), consistent with the idea that PG synthesis machinery and the general structure of the PG itself change with the environmental conditions to optimize fitness (Pazos et al., 2017).

Furthermore, the cell wall is not an isolated entity: it must be constructed and remodeled within the envelope, a compartment home to many delicate and essential processes. The biogenesis of the envelope is a never-ending ballet in which membraneanchored lipoproteins, integral membrane proteins,  $\beta$ -barrels (outer membrane proteins, OMPs), phospholipids and LPS have to be correctly sorted, transported and inserted in the right membrane (Silhavy et al., 2010; Rollauer et al., 2015; Okuda et al., 2016; Szewczyk and Collet, 2016). Elongation and division of the cell wall must happen without any loss of integrity and in exquisite coordination with both membranes (Gray et al., 2015). It is thus very important for the cell to monitor the state of the envelope to avoid lethal prejudice following changes in the environment, such as variations in pH and osmolarity or the use of antibiotics. Constant surveillance by envelope stress response systems (ESRS) is necessary: these systems transduce distress signals from the envelope, across the IM, into the cytoplasm in order to elicit a reaction to damages in the envelope by modifying gene expression. One of the objectives of this review is to gather evidence that ESRS can monitor cell wall related processes and react to potential problems. Therefore, in the next section, we briefly detail the major ESRS of *E. coli*, schematized in **Figure 2**.

## SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION SYSTEMS

Two-component systems (TCS) are a universal solution employed to transduce signals across membranes. An archetypal envelope-associated TCS relies on a membrane-embedded sensor histidine kinase and a cytoplasmic response regulator. Upon activation by a specific signal, the histidine kinase autophosphorylates, then transfers the phosphoryl group to the response regulator, which becomes active and proficient for DNA binding to regulate the expression of a particular set of genes (Zschiedrich et al., 2016). We will now briefly introduce the main TCS that are involved in sensing and responding to envelope defects in *E. coli*, i.e., the Cpx, Bae and Rcs responses (**Figure 2A**).

The Cpx pathway is a classical TCS, consisting of the histidine kinase CpxA and the response regulator CpxR, with two accessory proteins: CpxP, which is a negative regulator of the response, and NlpE, an OM lipoprotein involved in the sensing of lipoprotein maturation and sorting defects (Delhaye et al., 2019; May et al., 2019). Cpx is usually seen as an envelope quality control system detecting the presence of misfolded proteins in the periplasm (Raivio and Silhavy, 1997; Hunke et al., 2011) and activating the expression of folding and degradation factors in response (chaperones and proteases) (Pogliano et al., 1997; Raivio et al., 2013; Surmann et al., 2016). Because of its broad role in protein maintenance and repair, Cpx is considered to be one of the main ESRS. Another classical TCS that has been pegged as an ESRS is the Bae system, composed of the histidine kinase BaeS and the response regulator BaeR (Raffa and Raivio, 2002). Bae mainly regulates the expression of multidrug efflux pumps as well as the expression of spy, encoding a periplasmic chaperone (Leblanc et al., 2011; Quan et al., 2011). In contrast to the Cpx and Bae pathways, the Rcs phosphorelay exhibits more complexity (Wall et al., 2018). Instead of the signal being transferred directly from the IM sensor histidine kinase RcsC to the response regulator RcsB, it must first transit through another transmembrane protein at the IM, RcsD (Takeda et al., 2001). RcsD and RcsC are maintained in an inactive state by IgaA, an IM inhibitor of the phosphorelay (Cho S.H. et al., 2014; Hussein et al., 2018). When active, the response regulator RcsB can bind either to itself or to other regulators, such as RcsA



to control the expression of distinct sets of genes (Wall et al., 2018). Most Rcs-inducing cues require the presence of an OM lipoprotein, RcsF, for transducing the signal across the periplasm (reviewed in Laloux and Collet, 2017). In inducing conditions, RcsF interacts with IgaA, which relieves its inhibiting effect on Rcs and turns the system on Cho S.H. et al. (2014) and Hussein et al. (2018). The targets of the Rcs phosphorelay include genes involved in important cell surface structures such as flagella, LPS and fimbriae as well as acid resistance and virulence (Bury-Moné et al., 2009; Clarke, 2010). Of note, the expression of the colanic acid capsular polysaccharide genes, i.e., the capsule or *cps* genes which will be mentioned further in this review, is dependent on Rcs and the RcsA/RcsB heterodimer.

There are at least two other systems that monitor the state of the envelope of *E. coli* and that do not rely on a TCS machinery. We introduce these systems here, namely the  $\sigma^{E_{-}}$  dependent signaling cascade and the phage shock response (Psp) (**Figure 2B**).  $\sigma^{E}$  is an alternative sigma factor that is normally sequestered on the cytoplasmic side of the IM by the membrane-bound anti-sigma factor RseA. Under inducing conditions, a cascade of proteolytic reaction degrades RseA and releases  $\sigma^{E}$  in the cytoplasm (Ades et al., 1999).  $\sigma^{E}$ -bound RNA polymerase then promotes transcription of genes encoding periplasmic chaperones involved in the transport of unfolded  $\beta$ -barrels across the periplasm, components of the  $\beta$ -barrel

assembly machinery (BAM) required for β-barrel insertion in the OM, and proteins involved in LPS assembly (Rhodius et al., 2005; Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2016). On the other hand, the Psp response is induced by many signals, all having in common the fact that they result in severe IM perturbation and disrupt the proton motive force (PMF) (Brissette et al., 1990). During non-inducing conditions, PspF, the transcriptional regulator of the Psp response, is bound to PspA in the cytoplasm, which prevents it from regulating transcription. When induced, the IM proteins PspB and PspC, which are thought to be the sensors of the system, bind PspA, thus freeing PspF to activate the transcription of the *pspA* operon (Darwin, 2005). PspA is also able to bind membrane phospholipids and repair proton leakage of the damaged membranes that set off the response in the first place (Kleerebezem et al., 1996; Kobayashi et al., 2007). Overall, the Psp response seems to help maintaining PMF and thus the energy state of the cell during various envelope stresses such as growth in alkaline pH or bile salts while in the stationary phase (Joly et al., 2010).

Together the Cpx, Bae, Rcs,  $\sigma^{E}$ , and Psp systems are usually considered to be the main ESRS of *E. coli*, the "watchdogs of the envelope" (Ruiz and Silhavy, 2005). Important envelope biogenesis processes have been described to be monitored by these systems. For instance, the  $\sigma^{E}$  response directly reacts to problems in the assembly of  $\beta$ -barrels: unfolded OMPs are sensed



Mitchell and Silhavy (2019).

by the essential IM serine protease DegS, which recognizes and binds a motif in their C-terminal sequence. Binding activates DegS (Walsh et al., 2003), which is then able to degrade RseA and start the proteolytic cascade activating the  $\sigma^{\rm E}$  response, relieving the initial stress. Such an elegant mechanism, in which failures in a process are sensed directly and subsequently activate a response that deals with the damage, has yet to be described for the synthesis and maintenance of the cell wall of *E. coli*. Indeed, while cell wall synthesis and its inhibition by antibiotics have been the subject of a vast amount of research, very little is known about how the cell senses and responds to damage to the PG, or even alter PG composition as a means of adaptation to a dynamic environment. In this review, we will cover the sensing of PG defects by the main ESRS presented above, focusing on *E. coli* but also pointing to some insights obtained with other Gram-negative bacterial species. We will also assess how these systems can help the cell to survive attacks to their cell wall and how other signal transduction pathways, which were not previously thought to be specifically related to envelope stress sensing, can also detect and react to the loss of PG integrity. **Table 1** summarizes the different types of PG stress and responses that we are reviewing here.

# TRANSCRIPTOMIC STUDIES SHOWED THAT THE MAIN ESRS OF *E. COLI* CAN BE INDUCED BY PG-TARGETING ANTIBIOTICS

Transcriptional and transcriptomic studies investigate the effect of a specific stimulus on gene expression. These types of studies were the first to demonstrate that PG-related stress could set off the main ESRS of E. coli. An early transcriptional study found a link between the Rcs phosphorelay and inhibition of cell wall synthesis (Sailer et al., 2003). Indeed, treatment with  $\beta$ -lactams induced the expression of the genes involved in the synthesis of colanic acid, a polysaccharide found in the capsule of E. coli (the cps genes), known to be regulated by the Rcs phosphorelay (Bury-Moné et al., 2009; Clarke, 2010). In contrast, antibiotics that targeted DNA replication or protein synthesis had no such effect. Surprisingly, some  $\beta$ -lactams were effective in triggering capsule synthesis (such as cephaloridine), while others were not (such as penicillin G), indicating that the Rcs phosphorelay could potentially sense the inhibition of a specific step in PG synthesis, and not a general inhibition of all growthrelated processes (Sailer et al., 2003). In a subsequent study using transcriptomics, ampicillin, a non-specific β-lactam antibiotic that targets several PBPs, was shown to upregulate not only the colanic acid synthesis genes but also members of the Psp regulon, hinting that cell wall damage could potentially elicit multiple responses (Kaldalu et al., 2004). In a third study, the authors disrupted the twin-arginine transport (Tat) pathway, a secretion system that transports folded proteins across the IM and showed that this led to the upregulation of genes of the Rcs and Psp regulons. Although the mechanism remains unknown, it is possible that Rcs and Psp induction was triggered by the inhibition of cell division and PG hydrolysis that occurs when Tat is perturbed. Tat is indeed required for the export of the cell wall amidases AmiA and AmiC involved in division (Bernhardt and De Boer, 2003; Ize et al., 2004; Uehara et al., 2010). In a different study though, inhibiting cell division with aztreonam, a drug that specifically inhibits the septal PG synthase PBP3, resulted in very little changes in gene expression, apart from one upregulated gene involved in colanic acid production (wcaE) and known to be under the control of Rcs (Arends and Weiss, 2004). The last transcriptomic study reviewed here found that treatment with different combinations of  $\beta$ -lactams elicited as many as 4 of the 5 main ESRS of *E. coli*. Indeed, β-lactams specifically targeting the bifunctional PBPs (PBP1a and PBP1b, cefsulodin) or the monofunctional PBP2 (mecillinam), used in combination, increased the expression of genes regulated by the Rcs, Cpx,  $\sigma^{E}$ , and Bae systems. Interestingly, Rcs was the only response that was activated in all conditions tested (multiple combinations of the drugs), suggesting that it may have an especially important role to play during PG stress (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). This is a striking example that the main ESRS of *E. coli* are turned on when PG synthesis is perturbed.

Transcriptomic studies are very informative, as they reveal a broad scope of the bacterial response to a specific stimulus. However, when it comes to the main question of this review, i.e., how do Gram-negative bacteria sense and respond to PGrelated stress, they have a few shortcomings. First, these studies typically generate large amounts of data that often need to be confirmed individually (Rockett and Hellmann, 2004; Dallas et al., 2005). Second, experimental conditions such as the type and concentration of drug used, time of treatment and type of growth medium tend to vary between studies, which sometimes leads to divergent conclusions. For example, one study concluded that ampicillin did not affect capsular synthesis (Sailer et al., 2003), while another showed that ampicillin was effective in triggering the expression of the cps genes (Kaldalu et al., 2004). This discrepancy can easily be explained by the fact that these studies used different concentrations of ampicillin (3.75 µg mL<sup>-1</sup> vs. 100  $\mu$ g mL<sup>-1</sup>). Third, the expression of many genes is controlled by more than one stress response. For instance, *degP*, encoding the primary periplasmic protease, is induced both upon triggering of either Cpx or  $\sigma^{E}$  (Bury-Moné et al., 2009; Grabowicz and Silhavy, 2016) and therefore increased expression of that gene could ambiguously reflect the activation of either or both ESRS. To address this issue, it is possible to use specific reporters for different ESRS. Here a reporter protein such as βgalactosidase, luciferase or a fluorescent protein is fused to the promoter of a gene whose expression is strictly controlled by a single regulator. For example, a PcpxP-lacZ fusion is a specific reporter of Cpx activation (DiGiuseppe and Silhavy, 2003; Hunke et al., 2011), while a PrprA-lacZ fusion is a specific reporter of Rcs activation (Majdalani et al., 2002). In the next section, we cover data that result from the use of more targeted approaches to dissect the sensing of PG-related stress.

# ESRS CAN BE INDUCED SPECIFICALLY BY DIFFERENT TYPES OF CELL WALL ATTACKS

Using a specific reporter, some of the large-scale transcriptomic studies could be validated (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). The activation of the Rcs phosphorelay was verified using a PrprA*lacZ* fusion after treatment with cefsulodin, mecillinam or both. The Rcs system was shown to be active in all 3 conditions, and this activation was dependent on the presence of the accessory lipoprotein RcsF (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). Another work with the same reporter additionally found that A22, a drug that targets MreB, an essential component of the elongation process, could also specifically elicit the Rcs response in an RcsF-dependent manner (Cho S.H. et al., 2014). Similar results were also obtained for the Cpx system using a PcpxP-lacZ reporter. Here, mecillinam, A22, and cephalexin (a drug targeting PBP3, essential for division) led to a 2-fold increase in Cpx activation (Delhaye et al., 2016). In addition to external stimuli, endogenous signals, such as genetically blocking a step in PG synthesis, can also set off ESRS. In E. coli, the deletion of a TABLE 1 List of PG stresses, their effect on stress responses, and the benefits of stress responses on the overall fitness of the cells.

Source of PG stress	Target	Stress response activated	Evidence	Benefits for the cell
BETA-LACTAMS	6			
A22	MreB	Rcs	PrprA-lacZ induction (Cho H. et al., 2014), PcpxP-lacZ induction (Delhaye et al., 2016)	
Cephaloridine	PBPB1a	Rcs	cps induction (Sailer et al., 2003)	/
Mecillinam	PBP2	Rcs, Cpx, SigmaE	Rcs, Cpx, and sigmaE regulons (microarray), PrprA-lacZ induction (Laubacher and Ades, 2008), PcpxP-lacZ induction (Delhaye et al., 2016)	$\Delta rcsF$ and $\Delta rcsB$ more sensitive than WT, constitutive activation of Rcs leads to enhanced fitness (Laubacher and Ades, 2008), $\Delta cpxR$ more sensitive than WT, constitutive activation of Cpx leads to enhanced fitness (Delhaye et al., 2016)
Aztreonam	PBP3	Rcs	<i>wcaE</i> (Rcs regulon) induction (microarray) (Arends and Weiss, 2004)	/
Cephalexin	PBP3	Cpx, Dpi	PcpxP-lacZ induction (Delhaye et al., 2016), dpiBA operon induction (Miller et al., 2004)	$\Delta cpxR$ is slightly more sensitive than WT (Delhaye et al., 2016)
Pipericillin	PBP3	Dpi	dpiBA operon induction (Miller et al., 2004)	
Cefsulodin	PBP1a and PBP1b	Rcs	Rcs regulon (microarray), PrprA-lacZ induction (Laubacher and Ades, 2008)	$\Delta \textit{rcsF}$ and $\Delta \textit{rcsB}$ more sensitive than WT (Laubacher and Ades, 2008)
Mecillinam + cefsulodin	PPB1a and PBP1b PBP2	o,Rcs, Cpx, SigmaE, Bae	Rcs, Cpx, sigmaE and Bae regulons (microarray), PrprA-lacZ induction (Laubacher and Ades, 2008)	$\Delta rcsF$ and $\Delta rcsB$ more sensitive than WT. constitutive activation of Rcs leads to enhanced fitness (Laubacher and Ades, 2008)
Ampicillin	Multiple PBPs	Rcs, Psp, Dpi	Rcs and psp regulon induction (microarray) (Kaldalu et al., 2004), <i>dpiBA</i> operon induction (Miller et al., 2004)	Δ <i>dpiA</i> displays lower survival rates than WT (Miller et al., 2004), Δ <i>cpxR</i> is more sensitive than WT (Delhaye et al., 2016)
Penicillin G	Multiple PBPs	<i>Vc</i> Wig	Wig operon (microarray) (Dörr et al., 2016)	$\Delta$ wigK, $\Delta$ wigR lead to reduced fitness in V. cholerae (Dörr et al., 2016)
Multiple	Multiple	/	/	Overexpression of BaeR, RcsB, CpxR, EvgA and DcuR (and others) conferred intermediate to high level resistance to multiple beta-lactams (Hirakawa et al., 2003)
Lyzozyme	Glycan strands of PG	Rcs	PrprA-lacZ induction (Callewaert et al., 2009)	$\Delta rcsB$ and $\Delta rcsF$ show growth inhibition (Callewaert et al. 2009)
MUTANTS				
∆tatC	Protein secretion and indirectly cell division	Rcs, Psp	Rcs and psp regulon induction (microarray) (Ize et al., 2004)	/
ftsl <sup>ts</sup>	PBP3	Dpi	dpiBA operon induction (Miller et al., 2004)	/
ΔPBP4, ΔPBP5, ΔPBP7, ΔampH	Carboxypeptidase and endopeptidases	Rcs, Cpx	<i>PrprA-sfgfp</i> induction, <i>PcpxP-luxCDABE</i> induction (Evans et al., 2013)	/

In blue, stresses that mostly target elongation processes, in green, stresses that mostly target division processes. /, no data available.

precise combination of PBPs, one carboxypeptidase (PBP5) and 3 endopeptidases (PBP4, PBP7, and AmpH) led to a reduction in motility that was dependent on the activation of both the Cpx and Rcs systems (measured with specific reporters) (Evans et al., 2013). Surprisingly the activation of the Rcs system was dependent on the activation of the Cpx system, but not *vice versa*, highlighting the existence of complex interconnections between stress responses that remain to be investigated. The reduction in motility was only observed when this specific set of genes was missing out of the 60 mutants (lacking between 1 and 7 PBPs) that were tested. This high specificity of sensing suggests that these ESRS might respond to subtle changes in PG structure and/or composition (Evans et al., 2013). Interestingly, endogenous signals do not always corroborate results obtained with the use of antibiotics. For example, whereas antibiotics with a high affinity for PBP1a led to a high induction of the *cps* genes, this was not observed in a strain in which the gene encoding PBP1a was deleted (Sailer et al., 2003). Antibiotics may thus have other effects beyond the simple inhibition of a specific enzymatic activity, such as causing a futile cycle of PG synthesis and degradation, as suggested previously (Cho H. et al., 2014). Conversely, full gene deletions may lead to polar effects or phenotypes due to the absence of the protein itself, beyond the loss of its activity. Thus, it is important to combine experiments using antibiotic treatment and genetics to firmly conclude that problems in PG synthesis are sensed by signal transduction systems. Another interesting feature is that the sensing of PG stress by ESRS is not limited to the inhibition of PBPs, as it was found that lysozyme-treated cells specifically induced the Rcs reporter (Callewaert et al., 2009). The fact that the Rcs phosphorelay is activated by antibiotics targeting PBPs, which synthesizes the PG, and lysozyme, which degrades the disaccharide backbone of the PG, is an intriguing example that this system can respond to different types of PG stress. Of note, copper ions have recently been shown to specifically inhibit L,D-transpeptidases, leading to increased sensitivity to  $\beta$ -lactams (Peters et al., 2018). It is well-known that treatment with high concentration of metal ions such as copper, zinc or tungstate can induce the Cpx and/or Bae response (Guest and Raivio, 2016), but a functional link between metal ions, PG damage, and activation of ESRS is still missing and could be the focus of future research.

In summary, transcriptomic studies have revealed that antibiotics targeting PBPs lead to the expression of genes controlled by the main ESRS of *E. coli*. Some of these results have since then been confirmed by more targeted approaches using specific reporters of stress responses. Although the Rcs and the Cpx systems appear as the most responsive ESRS, PG stress seems to elicit a global response through multiple regulators. It is still unclear if specific steps of PG synthesis are sensed by specific ESRS, or if all ESRS can sense a global inhibition of cell wall synthesis. Some results suggest that the former hypothesis is more likely since antibiotics that target different PBPs have a different effect on gene expression. Systematic studies of the effect of disrupting each step of cell wall synthesis and remodeling on specific reporters of the main ESRS are necessary to dissect the complicated issue of cell wall defects sensing by ESRS.

# ESRS CONTRIBUTE TO FITNESS IN PG DAMAGING CONDITIONS

If the main ESRS of E. coli can sense damages to the cell wall, it seems reasonable to assume that these ESRS can provide a beneficial response and ensure cellular fitness when damage occurs. There are indeed a few occurrences in the literature that can clearly link the activation of a stress response to improved fitness during PG-related damage. For instance, genetically blocking Rcs induction led to increased sensitivity to lysozyme (Callewaert et al., 2009). Likewise, strains that are unable to elicit the Rcs response ( $\Delta rcsB$ ) could not grow on medium containing sublethal concentrations of cefsulodin, mecillinam or both (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). Moreover, a strain with a constitutively active Rcs phosphorelay survived better on mecillinam, or mecillinam and cefsulodin together (but not on cefsulodin alone), than the wild-type control (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). In these conditions, the survival of the cells (along with stress-sensing by Rcs), was dependent on the presence of RcsF, like most Rcs-inducing cues, but independent of RcsA (Laubacher and Ades, 2008). Since RcsA is required to activate capsule production, the increased survival was thus not dependent on the presence of a potentially protective capsule, but on other factors controlled by the Rcs response. Analogous results were obtained for the Cpx system: the growth inhibition in presence of mecillinam (as measured by a disk diffusion assay) was stronger for a strain deficient in Cpx activation ( $\Delta cpxR$ ) and slightly lower for a strain in which Cpx was turned on at moderate level. Curiously, high Cpx activation led to increased growth inhibition, indicating that the Cpx system may regulate components that are essential for cell wall homeostasis and that the extent of the Cpx response is associated with distinct effects on the PG (Delhaye et al., 2016).

To put these results in perspective, it is interesting to mention an earlier study that reported comparable findings on a larger scale. The 32 putative response regulators of all TCS in E. coli were overexpressed to elicit their cognate responses, and then the susceptibility of these cells against multiple  $\beta$ -lactams was assayed (Hirakawa et al., 2003). While there are some caveats to this method, because overexpressing the response regulator does not always lead to full activation of the TCS (Bury-Moné et al., 2009), this work helps to understand the degree at which signal transduction systems can impact resistance to β-lactams. This study revealed that the overexpression of 13 response regulators led to increased resistance to several β-lactams, as indicated by a higher minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC). Those response regulators included BaeR and RcsB, which conferred high to intermediate resistance and CpxR, which conferred low-level resistance. The other response regulators that provided highlevel resistance were EvgA and DcuR (Hirakawa et al., 2003). While the EvgAS system controls the expression of a multidrug transporter (Nishino and Yamaguchi, 2002) and can therefore logically be linked to survival in the presence of  $\beta$ -lactams, the relationship is more cryptic in the case of the DcuRS system, which controls the expression of genes related to the intake and metabolism of external C4-dicarboxylates (Golby et al., 1999). Clearly resistance to (and most probably sensing of) cell wall defects is also dependent on other, perhaps less studied, signal transduction systems that have previously not been linked with envelope quality control and monitoring.

# THE REGULON OF SELECT ESRS INCLUDE GENES ENCODING CELL WALL MODIFYING ENZYMES

One would expect that when the wall is attacked, the cell responds either by increasing the amount of the building machineries that are inhibited or by diverting resources to increase the expression of alternative machineries to reinforce the cell wall. Yet while the main ESRS seem to be able to sense PG stress, and at least two of them (the Rcs and the Cpx responses) have been shown to increase E. coli survival during cell wall targeting antibiotic treatment (as elaborated in earlier sections), their response is usually thought to deal with general quality control of the envelope and thus with effects that are not directly involved in PG synthesis, its regulation or its protection. In other words, the presence of a feedback loop that induces the production of new PBPs or other cell wall altering enzymes or protective agents in response to sensing cell-wall defects by ESRS has seldom been demonstrated. Nevertheless, other examples have been reported. First, the Rcs phosphorelay is active during treatment with lysozyme and induces the expression of two lysozyme inhibitors, *ivy* and *ydhA*, which are responsible for better survival during lysozyme treatment (Callewaert et al., 2009). A more noteworthy instance concerns the Cpx system. Relatively recent studies found that genes encoding 3 predicted cell wall modification proteins were part of the Cpx regulon: Slt, a lytic transglycosylase, LdtD, a L,D transpeptidase that catalyzes non-canonical 3-3 L,D crosslinks between glycan strands in the PG, and YgaU, a conserved protein with a LysM domain found in enzymes that interact with and degrade the cell wall (Raivio et al., 2013; Bernal-Cabas et al., 2015). The Cpx-dependent expression of *ldtD* was later shown to substantially influence PG-related processes such as elongation and division as well as sensitivity to β-lactams, as *ldtD* was largely responsible for cell wall defects observed in conditions that induce a very high level of Cpx response (Delhaye et al., 2016). In contrast, a moderate Cpx-induced expression of *ldtD* may also explain the Cpx-dependent increased survival during PG stress (Delhaye et al., 2016) (summarized in Table 1), as it has been shown recently that production of LdtD along with surprisingly few additional factors lead to a complete bypass of D,D transpeptidase activity of PBPs for cell wall synthesis, and broad-spectrum  $\beta$ -lactam resistance (Hugonnet et al., 2016). While it seems that depending on the condition (expression levels for exemple), LdtD may have either a beneficial or detrimental effect, it is clear that its expression impacts PG synthesis. These data showed that at least one of the main ESRS of E. coli can modulate the expression of cell wall acting enzymes, and the integrity of the PG itself. As the Cpx system is known to be active during late exponential and stationary phase, this has important implications for the regulation of cell wall structure in response

to stress, but also for housekeeping purposes. It should be noted that Rcs has been reported to modestly increase (around 2-fold) the expression of mrcA, mrcB (the genes encoding PBP1a and PBP1b) and *minD* (a cell division inhibitor) in a transcriptomic study (Ferrières and Clarke, 2003). As far as we know, it is the only mention of these enzymes being in the regulon of the Rcs response. It also has not been tested whether activation of Rcs could lead to cell wall alterations via these enzymes, although it was shown that E. coli requires Rcs to regenerate its cell wall de novo after it was completely removed with lysozyme (Ranjit and Young, 2013). Additionally, Rcs was shown to promote the expression of both *ftsA* and *ftsZ*, which are genes that are crucial for cell division (Carballès et al., 1999). However, here again, no functional link was established between the activation of Rcs and alterations in cell division. These data suggest that, similarly to Cpx, Rcs may influence cell wall synthesis and housekeeping, but more research is necessary to understand how this function may be accomplished.

# UNEXPECTED SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION SYSTEMS CAN MONITOR GROWTH PROCESSES

There are additional clues in the literature that sensing and responding to PG stress is not an activity limited to the main ESRS described above. For instance, several lines of evidence



FIGURE 3 | Schematics of additional response systems that deal with PG stress. (A). Schematics of the DpiBA two-component system. (B) Schematics of the WigKR two-component system of Vibrio cholerae.

connect PG synthesis during cell division with the DpiBA twocomponent system (schematized in Figure 3A), although this system was primarily associated with DNA replication and induction of the SOS response: when overexpressed, DpiA, the effector protein (or response regulator) of the TCS, binds replication origin sequences on the E. coli chromosome and certain plasmids, which interferes with DNA replication and triggers the SOS response (Huisman et al., 1984; Ingmer et al., 1998; Miller et al., 2003). First, it was found that treating cells with ampicillin, cephalexin or pipericillin (which targets PBP3) turned on the expression of both the dpiBA operon and pabA, a gene regulated by DpiA. Second, inactivation of PBP3 by shifting an *ftsIts* (encoding PBP3) strain to nonpermissive temperature and therefore blocking cell division also resulted in induced dpiBA expression. Interestingly, no effect was observed when PBP2 and FtsW were inactivated, indicating that the lack of PBP3 activity is a specific stimulus for dpiBA expression (Miller et al., 2004). Third, treatment with ampicillin and inactivation of PBP3 both activated the expression of sfiA, an SOS response-induced gene that prevents FtsZ polymerization and thus cell division in a *dpiA*-dependent manner. Taken together, these data suggest that interfering with PG assembly, in particular during cell division, triggers the DpiBA two-component system. Supporting the physiological relevance of these findings, dpiA null mutants display markedly reduced cell survival when exposed to ampicillin for a short time (<4 h) (Miller et al., 2004). However, it remains unclear whether DpiA acts alone as an effector protein to set off the SOS response during treatment with  $\beta$ -lactams, or if genes present in the DpiBA regulon are also necessary for resistance to β-lactams.

Another example of non-canonical ESRS being able to sense and respond to cell wall defects is the newly characterized TCS WigRK described in Vibrio cholerae (schematized in Figure 3B). It was identified in a Tn-Seq screen for V. cholerae factors that are required for recovery from penicillin exposure (Dörr et al., 2016). Mutants that lack wigK, wigR or wigRK exhibit lower (2-3 orders of magnitude) colony-forming units after treatment with penicillin G. Extraordinarily, the regulon of this TCS includes the full set of genes required for cell wall biosynthesis (Dörr et al., 2016). The increased expression of these genes leads to a higher cell wall content and markedly increased resistance to hypo-osmotic shock (Dörr et al., 2016). Interestingly, disrupting cell wall synthesis with penicillin induces the expression of mraY (involved in lipid II biosynthesis), murJ (lipid II flippase) and genes encoding PBP1A and PBP1B (the major V. cholerae cell wall synthases) in a wigR-dependent manner. In contrast, compounds targeting envelope processes unrelated to cell wall synthesis, such as cerulenin (inhibitor of fatty acid synthesis) and crude bile (general membrane perturbator), did not result in induction of *pbp1a*, suggesting that WigKR is turned on in response to cell wall damaging agents and not cell envelope damage in general. In addition to the important role of this system in surviving treatment with cell wall inhibitors, WigKR also affects cell wall homeostasis during normal growth. Indeed, mutants lacking wigR had a larger diameter and cell volume, whereas strains overexpressing WigR had a significantly reduced cell width, indicating a fundamental role of this TCS in maintaining cell wall homeostasis (Dörr et al., 2016).

## THE MECHANISMS OF SENSING CELL WALL DAMAGE BY ESRS ARE LARGELY UNKNOWN

There is convincing evidence that ESRS can sense and respond to cell wall damage, yet the molecular signals that trigger these responses remain mostly unknown. One possibility is that ESRS actually sense downstream effects of cell wall impairment, such as membrane perturbations (known to trigger the Rcs response, Farris et al., 2010) due to cell shape defects (Huang et al., 2008). However, there is some evidence that suggests that the signal sensed could also be direct and specific, notably the fact that β-lactams with different targets elicit different responses (Sailer et al., 2003; Arends and Weiss, 2004; Kaldalu et al., 2004; Laubacher and Ades, 2008). Some studies suggest that the main candidates for a direct and specific sensing are the pool of PG precursors and PG fragments, destined for recycling (Sailer et al., 2003; Evans et al., 2013; Dörr et al., 2016). Such a signal has already been described for the regulation of the production of β-lactamase (Jacobs et al., 1994, 1997). In many Gram-negative bacteria, the expression of the  $\beta$ -lactamase AmpC is induced by the AmpR regulator after activation by  $\beta$ -lactams (Lindberg et al., 1985; Vadlamani et al., 2015). The activity of AmpR is modulated by PG intermediates: it is maintained in its inactive form by a UDP-MurNAc-pentapeptide, a PG precursor whose concentration decreases during treatment with β-lactams, and activated by a anhMurNAc-tripeptide, a product of PG recycling that accumulates in the cytoplasm during treatment with βlactams (Jacobs et al., 1997). So not only does treatment with β-lactams lead to changes in the pool of different PG species and intermediates, but these changes have been demonstrated to influence the activity of a very specific response system that directly deals with the initial stress. This is an elegant mechanism, and there is supporting evidence that a similar process could be responsible for the activation of ESRS during cell wall stress. For instance, an E. coli mutant strain that lacks 4 specific PBPs has constitutively active Rcs and Cpx systems (as discussed previously), and the amount of pentapeptides and different species of cross-linked muropeptide was shown to rise and fall along with the activity of the Cpx and Rcs systems (Evans et al., 2013). Still, a detailed mechanistic understanding of how the main ESRS, as well as other signal transduction systems, can sense cell wall damage, remains elusive.

# CONCLUSION

*E. coli* and other Gram-negative bacteria are equipped with sophisticated systems (including ESRS) to monitor and convert a stress stimulus into remodeling their gene expression pattern, thereby rewiring the cell physiology to match the new environmental state. While important envelope biogenesis processes have been shown to be monitored by precise signal transduction systems, the question of how cell wall related processes, such as elongation and division, are tracked to avoid lethal malfunctioning, remains unresolved. Extensive research efforts were focused on identifying the players required for PG synthesis and its control in *E. coli* and other species. For example, post-translational regulators were discovered, such as the lipoproteins LpoA and LpoB, which modulate the activity of the PG synthases PBP1a and PBP1b, respectively (Paradis-Bleau et al., 2010; Typas et al., 2010). However, few transcriptional regulators of PG synthesis are actually described in *E. coli*. This review attempts to shed light on these two issues: how can stress responses sense the correct or incorrect synthesis of the cell wall (sensing) and how do they modulate gene expression to respond to any defects detected (response)?

Concerning the sensing, the body of work presented here clearly outlines the fact that the main ESRS of E. coli can sense a compromised cell wall. Both exogenous factors (such as treatment with  $\beta$ -lactams or lysozyme) and endogenous factors (such as the deletion of a specific set of PBPs) can act as a trigger to set off the Rcs, Cpx, Bae,  $\sigma^{E}$ , or Psp response. Depending on the stimulus, one or multiple responses can be fired off simultaneously. Likewise, a specific stress response can be triggered by one or multiple stimuli. This highlights a major lack of knowledge: whereas the sensing of PG stress by major ESRS has been documented numerous times in the literature, the mechanistic details of such sensing by the different stress responses are often missing. Moreover, as this has not been the focus of intense research, there are probably many occurrences of sensing of cell wall defects by signal transduction systems that remain to be revealed, both by well-known ESRS and by other, less-studied systems.

Regarding the response, a few signal transduction systems have been shown to increase survival when the integrity of the PG is challenged. These include some of the main ESRS, Rcs, Cpx, and Bae, as well as other TCS, such as EvgA and DcuR. In most cases, it is still unclear how activation of these responses helps cells with cell wall defects. Do they deal with side-effects of PG synthesis inhibition by stabilizing other components of the envelope? Do they directly regulate growth to adapt to certain PG stress? Or is it a combination of both? So far, only two of the main ESRS, Rcs and Cpx, have been shown to not only detect cell wall perturbations but also to control the expression of genes involved in PG remodeling in *E. coli*. While a functional link between the activation of Cpx and growth-related processes could be described, this is not the case for Rcs.

Future research should focus on these shortcomings (concerning the mechanisms of sensing and response), to elucidate how cells react to harsh stresses such as cell walltargeting antibiotic treatment, but also how they adjust their cell wall to different growth conditions, for example when switching to stationary phase or during infection. To this end,

## REFERENCES

Ades, S. E., Connolly, L. E., Alba, B. M., and Gross, C. A. (1999). The *Escherichia coli*  $\sigma^E$ -dependent extracytoplasmic stress response is controlled

complementary approaches could be envisioned. First, a global, high throughput approach may help to thoroughly define the stimuli triggering each ESRS and other signal transduction systems. For instance, a library of strains could be engineered to carry specific reporters of these systems; the activity of these reporters could be quantified when cells are grown in a vast array of conditions known to perturb PG integrity, hence providing a systematic overview of which PG stress induces which pathway. Besides, a more directed genetic approach could help identifying novel factors involved in sensing PG stress, for example by screening a mutagenized library to identify genes that are required for the activation of a given ESRS by a specific PG-damaging condition. A follow-up biochemical characterization of the newly identified factors would be needed to uncover the molecular mechanism(s) of PG stress sensing by ESRS. Moreover, these strategies can be combined with the analysis of PG species released under different stress conditions to potentially identify PG fragments that could act as inducers or repressors of stress responses.

An as yet largely untapped resource for insights might be found in the many stress responses that were not previously thought to deal with envelope perturbation, including those that are not as extensively investigated as the main ESRS of *E. coli*, as it is likely that those systems still conceal interesting secrets. A better knowledge of how stress responses can sense and mitigate PG stress can lead to a better understanding of both the functioning of stress responses and the regulation of cell wall synthesis.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AD, GL, and J-FC wrote the manuscript.

### **FUNDING**

AD was a Research Fellow of the F.R.S.-FNRS, J-FC was a WELBIO Investigator, and GL was a Research Associate of the F.R.S.-FNRS. This work was funded by a Research Grant from the F.R.S.-FNRS (CDR), the WELBIO (Walloon Excellence in Life Sciences and Biotechnology) and an ARC grant (Grant No. 17/22-087) from the French-speaking community of Belgium. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and interpretation, or the decision to submit the work for publication. The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Dr. Pauline Leverrier for careful reading of the manuscript.

by the regulated proteolysis of an anti- $\sigma$  factor. Genes Dev. 13, 2449–2461. doi: 10.1101/gad.13.18.2449

Arends, S. J. R., and Weiss, D. S. (2004). Inhibiting cell division in *Escherichia coli* has little if any effect on gene

expression. J. Bacteriol. 186, 880-884. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.3.880-88 4.2004

- Bernal-Cabas, M., Ayala, J. A., and Raivio, T. L. (2015). The Cpx envelope stress response modifies peptidoglycan cross-linking via the L,Dtranspeptidase LdtD and the novel protein YgaU. J. Bacteriol. 197, 603–614. doi: 10.1128/JB.02449-14
- Bernhardt, T. G., and De Boer, P. A. J. (2003). The *Escherichia coli* amidase AmiC is a periplasmic septal ring component exported via the twin-arginine transport pathway. *Mol. Microbiol.* 48, 1171–1182. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03511.x
- Brissette, J. L., Russel, M., Weiner, L., and Model, P. (1990). Phage shock protein, a stress protein of *Escherichia coli. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 87, 862–866. doi: 10.1073/pnas.87.3.862
- Bury-Moné, S., Nomane, Y., Reymond, N., Barbet, R., Jacquet, E., Imbeaud, S., et al. (2009). Global analysis of extracytoplasmic stress signaling in *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS Genet.* 5:e1000651. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000651
- Callewaert, L., Vanoirbeek, K. G. A., Lurquin, I., Michiels, C. W., and Aertsen, A. (2009). The Rcs two-component system regulates expression of lysozyme inhibitors and is induced by exposure to lysozyme. *J. Bacteriol.* 191, 1979–1981. doi: 10.1128/JB.01549-08
- Carballès, F., Bertrand, C., Bouché, J. P., and Cam, K. (1999). Regulation of *Escherichia coli* cell division genes ftsA and ftsZ by the two-component system rcsC-rcsB. *Mol. Microbiol.* 34, 442–450. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1999.01605.x
- Castanheira, S., Cestero, J. J., Rico-Pérez, G., García, P., Cava, F., Ayala, J. A., et al. (2017). A specialized peptidoglycan synthase promotes salmonella cell division inside host cells. *mBio* 8:e01685-17. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01685-17
- Cho, H., Uehara, T., and Bernhardt, T. G. (2014). Beta-lactam antibiotics induce a lethal malfunctioning of the bacterial cell wall synthesis machinery. *Cell* 159, 1300–1311. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.017
- Cho, S. H., Szewczyk, J., Pesavento, C., Zietek, M., Banzhaf, M., Roszczenko, P., et al. (2014). Detecting envelope stress by monitoring  $\beta$ -barrel assembly. *Cell* 159, 1652–1664. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.11.045
- Clarke, D. J. (2010). The Rcs phosphorelay: more than just a two-component pathway. *Future Microbiol.* 5, 1173–1184. doi: 10.2217/fmb.10.83
- Dallas, P. B., Gottardo, N. G., Firth, M. J., Beesley, A. H., Hoffmann, K., Terry, P. A., et al. (2005). Gene expression levels assessed by oligonucleotide microarray analysis and quantitative real-time RT-PCR – how well do they correlate? *BMC Genomics* 6:59. doi: 10.1186/1471-2164-6-59
- Darwin, A. J. (2005). The phage-shock-protein response. *Mol. Microbiol.* 57, 621–628. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04694.x
- Delhaye, A., Collet, J. F., and Laloux, G. (2016). Fine-tuning of the Cpx envelope stress response is required for cell wall homeostasis in *Escherichia coli. mBio* 7:e00047-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00047-16
- Delhaye, A., Laloux, G., and Collet, J. F. (2019). The lipoprotein NlpE Is a Cpx sensor that serves as a sentinel for protein sorting and folding defects in the *Escherichia coli* envelope. J. Bacteriol. 201:e00611-18. doi: 10.1128/JB.00611-18
- DiGiuseppe, P. A., and Silhavy, T. J. (2003). Signal detection and target gene induction by the CpxRA two-component system. J. Bacteriol. 185, 2432–2440. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.8.2432-2440.2003
- Dörr, T., Alvarez, L., Delgado, F., Davis, B. M., Cava, F., and Waldor, M. K. (2016). A cell wall damage response mediated by a sensor kinase/response regulator pair enables beta-lactam tolerance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 404–409. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1520333113
- Evans, K. L., Kannan, S., Li, G., de Pedro, M. A., and Young, K. D. (2013). Eliminating a set of four penicillin binding proteins triggers the Rcs phosphorelay and Cpx stress responses in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 195, 4415–4424. doi: 10.1128/JB.00596-13
- Farris, C., Sanowar, S., Bader, M. W., Pfuetzner, R., and Miller, S. I. (2010). Antimicrobial peptides activate the Rcs regulon through the outer membrane lipoprotein RcsF. J. Bacteriol. 192, 4894–4903. doi: 10.1128/JB.00505-10
- Ferrières, L., and Clarke, D. J. (2003). The RcsC sensor kinase is required for normal biofilm formation in *Escherichia coli* K-12 and controls the expression of a regulon in response to growth on a solid surface. *Mol. Microbiol.* 50, 1665–1682. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03815.x
- Golby, P., Davies, S., Kelly, D. J., Guest, J. R., and Andrews, S. C. (1999). Identification and characterization of a two-component sensor-kinase and response-regulator system (DcuS-DcuR) controlling gene expression in response to C4-dicarboxylates in *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 181, 1238–1248.

- Grabowicz, M., and Silhavy, T. J. (2016). Envelope stress responses: an interconnected safety net. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 42, 232–242. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.10.002
- Gray, A. N., Egan, A. J., Van't Veer, I. L., Verheul, J., Colavin, A., Koumoutsi, A., et al. (2015). Coordination of peptidoglycan synthesis and outer membrane constriction during *Escherichia coli* cell division. *ELife* 4:1631. doi: 10.7554/eLife.07118
- Guest, R. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2016). Role of the gram-negative envelope stress response in the presence of antimicrobial agents. *Trends Microbiol.* 24, 377–390. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2016.03.001
- Guest, R. L., Wang, J., Wong, J. L., and Raivio, T. L. (2017). A bacterial stress response regulates expression of respiratory protein complexes to control envelope stress adaptation. *J. Bacteriol.* 199:e00153-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00153-17
- Hirakawa, H., Nishino, K., Yamada, J., Hirata, T., and Yamaguchi, A. (2003). Beta-Lactam resistance modulated by the overexpression of response regulators of two-component signal transduction systems in *Escherichia coli. J. Antimicrob. Chemother.* 52, 576–582. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg406
- Höltje, J. V. (1998). Growth of the stress-bearing and shape-maintaining murein sacculus of *Escherichia coli*. *Microbiol*. *Mol. Biol. Rev.* 62, 181–203.
- Huang, K. C., Mukhopadhyay, R., Wen, B., Gitai, Z., and Wingreen, N. S. (2008). Cell shape and cell-wall organization in gram-negative bacteria. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 19282–19287. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805309105
- Hugonnet, J. E., Mengin-Lecreulx, D., Monton, A., den Blaauwen, T., and Carbonnelle, E., Veckerlé, C., et al. (2016). Factors essential for L,D-transpeptidase-mediated peptidoglycan cross-linking and  $\beta$ -lactam resistance in *Escherichia coli. ELife* 5:e19469. doi: 10.7554/eLife.19469
- Huisman, O., D'Ari, R., and Gottesman, S. (1984). Cell-division control in *Escherichia coli*: specific induction of the SOS function SfiA protein is sufficient to block septation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 4490–4494. doi: 10.1073/pnas.81.14.4490
- Hunke, S., Keller, R., and Müller, V. S. (2011). Signal integration by the Cpx-envelope stress system. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 326, 12–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2011.02436.x
- Hussein, N. A., Cho, S. H., Laloux, G., Siam, R., and Collet, J. F. (2018). Distinct domains of *Escherichia coli* IgaA connect envelope stress sensing and downregulation of the Rcs phosphorelay across subcellular compartments. *PLoS Genet.* 14:e1007398. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1007398
- Ingmer, H., Miller, C. A., and Cohen, S. N. (1998). Destabilized inheritance of pSC101 and other *Escherichia coli* plasmids by DpiA, a novel two-component system regulator. *Mol. Microbiol.* 29, 49–59. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.00895.x
- Ize, B., Porcelli, I., Lucchini, S., Hinton, J. C., Berks, B. C., and Palmer, T. (2004). Novel phenotypes of *Escherichia coli* tat mutants revealed by global gene expression and phenotypic analysis. *J. Biol. Chem.* 279, 47543–47554. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M406910200
- Jacobs, C., Frère, J. M., and Normark, S. (1997). Cytosolic intermediates for cell wall biosynthesis and degradation control inducible beta-lactam resistance in gram-negative bacteria. *Cell* 88, 823–832. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81928-5
- Jacobs, C., Huang, L. J., Bartowsky, E., Normark, S., and Park, J. T. (1994). Bacterial cell wall recycling provides cytosolic muropeptides as effectors for beta-lactamase induction. *EMBO J.* 13, 4684–4694. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1994.tb06792.x
- Joly, N., Engl, C., Jovanovic, G., Huvet, M., Toni, T., Sheng, X., et al. (2010). Managing membrane stress: the phage shock protein (Psp) response, from molecular mechanisms to physiology. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 34, 797–827. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2010.00240.x
- Kaldalu, N., Mei, R., and Lewis, K. (2004). Killing by ampicillin and ofloxacin induces overlapping changes in *Escherichia coli* transcription profile. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 48, 890–896. doi: 10.1128/AAC.48.3.890-896.2004
- Kleerebezem, M., Crielaard, W., and Tommassen, J. (1996). Involvement of stress protein PspA (phage shock protein A) of *Escherichia coli* in maintenance of the protonmotive force under stress conditions. *EMBO J.* 15, 162–171. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1996.tb00344.x
- Kobayashi, R., Suzuki, T., and Yoshida, M. (2007). Escherichia coli phageshock protein A (PspA) binds to membrane phospholipids and repairs

proton leakage of the damaged membranes. *Mol. Microbiol.* 66, 100–109. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05893.x

- Laloux, G., and Collet, J. F. (2017). Major tom to ground control: how lipoproteins communicate extracytoplasmic stress to the decision center of the cell. J. Bacteriol. 199:e00216-17. doi: 10.1128/JB.00216-17
- Laubacher, M. E., and Ades, S. E. (2008). The Rcs phosphorelay is a cell envelope stress response activated by peptidoglycan stress and contributes to intrinsic antibiotic resistance. J. Bacteriol. 190, 2065–2074. doi: 10.1128/JB.01740-07
- Leblanc, S. K. D., Oates, C. W., and Raivio, T. L. (2011). Characterization of the induction and cellular role of the BaeSR two-component envelope stress response of *Escherichia coli*. J. Bacteriol. 193, 3367–3375. doi: 10.1128/JB.01534-10
- Lindberg, F., Westman, L., and Normark, S. (1985). Regulatory components in *Citrobacter freundii* ampC beta-lactamase induction. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 82, 4620–4624. doi: 10.1073/pnas.82.14.4620
- Magnet, S., Bellais, S., Dubost, L., Fourgeaud, M., Mainardi, J. L., Petit-Frère, S., et al. (2007). Identification of the l,d-transpeptidases responsible for attachment of the braun lipoprotein to *Escherichia coli* peptidoglycan. *J. Bacteriol.* 189, 3927–3931. doi: 10.1128/JB.00084-07
- Magnet, S., Dubost, L., Marie, A., Arthur, M., and Gutmann, L. (2008). Identification of the L,D-transpeptidases for peptidoglycan cross-linking in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 190, 4782–4785. doi: 10.1128/JB.00025-08
- Majdalani, N., Hernandez, D., and Gottesman, S. (2002). Regulation and mode of action of the second small RNA activator of RpoS translation, RprA. *Mol. Microbiol.* 46, 813–826. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03203.x
- May, K. L., Lehman, K. M., Mitchell, A. M., and Grabowicz, M. (2019). A stress response monitoring lipoprotein trafficking to the outer membrane. *mBio* 10:e00618-19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00618-19
- Miller, C., Ingmer, H., Thomsen, L. E., Skarstad, K., and Cohen, S. N. (2003). DpiA binding to the replication origin of *Escherichia coli* plasmids and chromosomes destabilizes plasmid inheritance and induces the bacterial SOS response. *J. Bacteriol.* 185, 6025–6031. doi: 10.1128/JB.185.20.6025-6031.2003
- Miller, C., Thomsen, L. E., Gaggero, C., Mosseri, R., Ingmer, H., and Cohen, S. N. (2004). SOS response induction by beta-lactams and bacterial defense against antibiotic lethality. *Science* 305, 1629–1631. doi: 10.1126/science.1101630
- Mitchell, A. M., and Silhavy, T. J. (2019). Envelope stress responses: balancing damage repair and toxicity. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 17, 417–428. doi: 10.1038/s41579-019-0199-0
- Morè, N., Martorana, A. M., Biboy, J., Otten, C., Winkle, M., Serrano, C. K. G., et al. (2019). Peptidoglycan remodeling enables *Escherichia coli* to survive severe outer membrane assembly defect. *mBio* 10:e02729-18. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02729-18
- Mueller, E. A., Egan, A. J., Breukink, E., Vollmer, W., and Levin, P. A. (2019). Plasticity of *Escherichia coli* cell wall metabolism promotes fitness and antibiotic resistance across environmental conditions. *ELife* 8:e40754. doi: 10.7554/eLife.40754
- Nishino, K., and Yamaguchi, A. (2002). EvgA of the two-component signal transduction system modulates production of the yhiUV multidrug transporter in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 184, 2319–2323. doi: 10.1128/JB.184.8.2319-2323.2002
- Okuda, S., Sherman, D. J., Silhavy, T. J., Ruiz, N., and Kahne, D. (2016). Lipopolysaccharide transport and assembly at the outer membrane: the PEZ model. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 14, 337–345. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.25
- Paradis-Bleau, C., Markovski, M., Uehara, T., Lupoli, T. J., Walker, S., Kahne, D. E., et al. (2010). Lipoprotein cofactors located in the outer membrane activate bacterial cell wall polymerases. *Cell* 143, 1110–1120. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.037
- Park, J. T., and Uehara, T. (2008). How bacteria consume their own exoskeletons (turnover and recycling of cell wall peptidoglycan). *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* 72, 211–227. doi: 10.1128/MMBR.00027-07
- Pazos, M., Peters, K., and Vollmer, W. (2017). Robust peptidoglycan growth by dynamic and variable multi-protein complexes. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 36, 55–61. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2017.01.006
- Peters, K., Kannan, S., Rao, V. A., Biboy, J., Vollmer, D., Erickson, S. W., et al. (2016). The redundancy of peptidoglycan carboxypeptidases ensures robust cell shape maintenance in *Escherichia coli. mBio* 7:e00819-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00819-16

- Peters, K., Pazos, M., Edoo, Z., Hugonnet, J. E., Martorana, A. M., Polissi, A., et al. (2018). Copper inhibits peptidoglycan LD-transpeptidases suppressing βlactam resistance due to bypass of penicillin-binding proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 115, 10786–10791. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1809285115
- Pisabarro, A. G., de Pedro, M. A., and Vázquez, D. (1985). Structural modifications in the peptidoglycan of *Escherichia coli* associated with changes in the state of growth of the culture. *J. Bacteriol.* 161, 238–242.
- Pogliano, J., Lynch, A. S., Belin, D., Lin, E. C., and Beckwith, J. (1997). Regulation of *Escherichia coli* cell envelope proteins involved in protein folding and degradation by the Cpx two-component system. *Genes Dev.* 11, 1169–1182. doi: 10.1101/gad.11.9.1169
- Quan, S., Koldewey, P., Tapley, T., Kirsch, N., Ruane, K. M., Pfizenmaier, J., et al. (2011). Genetic selection designed to stabilize proteins uncovers a chaperone called Spy. *Nat. Struct. Mol. Biol.* 18, 262–269. doi: 10.1038/nsmb.2016
- Raffa, R. G., and Raivio, T. L. (2002). A third envelope stress signal transduction pathway in *Escherichia coli*. Mol Microbiol. 45, 1599–1611. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03112.x
- Raivio, T. L., Leblanc, S. K. D., and Price, N. L. (2013). The Escherichia coli Cpx envelope stress response regulates genes of diverse function that impact antibiotic resistance and membrane integrity. J. Bacteriol. 195, 2755–2767. doi: 10.1128/JB.00105-13
- Raivio, T. L., and Silhavy, T. J. (1997). Transduction of envelope stress in *Escherichia coli* by the Cpx two-component system. *J. Bacteriol.* 179, 7724–7733. doi: 10.1128/jb.179.24.7723.1997
- Ranjit, D. K., and Young, K. D. (2013). The Rcs stress response and accessory envelope proteins are required for de novo generation of cell shape in *Escherichia coli. J. Bacteriol.* 195, 2452–2462. doi: 10.1128/JB.00160-13
- Rhodius, V. A., Suh, W. C., Nonaka, G., West, J., and Gross, C. A. (2005). Conserved and variable functions of the  $\sigma^E$  stress response in related genomes. *PLoS Biol.* 4:e2. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040002
- Rockett, J. C., and Hellmann, G. M. (2004). Confirming microarray data—is it really necessary? *Genomics* 83, 541–549. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2003.09.017
- Rollauer, S. E., Sooreshjani, M. A., Noinaj, N., and Buchanan, S. K. (2015). Outer membrane protein biogenesis in gram-negative bacteria. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B Biol. Sci.* 370:20150023. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2015.0023
- Ruiz, N. (2015). Lipid flippases for bacterial peptidoglycan biosynthesis. Lipid Insights 8, 21–31. doi: 10.4137/LPI.S31783
- Ruiz, N., and Silhavy, T. J. (2005). Sensing external stress: watchdogs of the *Escherichia coli* cell envelope. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 8, 122–126. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2005.02.013
- Sailer, F. C., Meberg, B. M., and Young, K. D. (2003). Beta-Lactam induction of colanic acid gene expression in *Escherichia coli. FEMS Microbiol. Lett.* 226, 245–249. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1097(03)00616-5
- Sauvage, E., Kerff, F., Terrak, M., Ayala, J. A., and Charlier, P. (2008). The penicillin-binding proteins: structure and role in peptidoglycan biosynthesis. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 32, 234–258. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2008. 00105.x
- Silhavy, T. J., Kahne, D., and Walker, S. (2010). The bacterial cell envelope. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2:a000414. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a000414
- Surmann, K., Cudić, E., Hammer, E., and Hunke, S. (2016). Molecular and proteome analyses highlight the importance of the Cpx envelope stress system for acid stress and cell wall stability in *Escherichia coli*. *MicrobiologyOpen* 5, 582–596. doi: 10.1002/mbo3.353
- Szewczyk, J., and Collet, J. F. (2016). The journey of lipoproteins through the cell: one birthplace, multiple destinations. Adv. Microb. Physiol. 69, 1–50. doi: 10.1016/bs.ampbs.2016.07.003
- Takeda, S. I., Fujisawa, Y., Matsubara, M., Aiba, H., and Mizuno, T. (2001). A novel feature of the multistep phosphorelay in *Escherichia coli*: a revised model of the RcsC  $\rightarrow$  YojN  $\rightarrow$  RcsB signalling pathway implicated in capsular synthesis and swarming behaviour. *Mol Microbiol.* 40, 440–450. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02393.x
- Typas, A., Banzhaf, M., Gross, C. A., and Vollmer, W. (2012). From the regulation of peptidoglycan synthesis to bacterial growth and morphology. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 10, 123–136. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2677
- Typas, A., Banzhaf, M., van den Berg van Saparoea, B., Verheul, J., Biboy, J., Nichols, R. J., et al. (2010). Regulation of peptidoglycan synthesis by outermembrane proteins. *Cell* 143, 1097–1109. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.038

- Uehara, T., and Bernhardt, T. G. (2011). More than just lysins: peptidoglycan hydrolases tailor the cell wall. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 14, 698–703. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2011.10.003
- Uehara, T., Parzych, K. R., Dinh, T., and Bernhardt, T. G. (2010). Daughter cell separation is controlled by cytokinetic ring-activated cell wall hydrolysis. *EMBO J.* 29, 1412–1422. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.36
- Vadlamani, G., Thomas, M. D., Patel, T. R., Donald, L. J., Reeve, T. M., Stetefeld, J., et al. (2015). The  $\beta$ -lactamase gene regulator AmpR Is a tetramer that recognizes and binds the D-Ala-D-Ala motif of its repressor UDP- Nacetylmuramic acid (MurNAc)-pentapeptide. *J. Biol. Chem.* 290, 2630–2643. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.618199
- van Straaten, K. E., Dijkstra, B. W., Vollmer, W., and Thunnissen, A. M. W. H. (2005). Crystal structure of MltA from *Escherichia coli* reveals a unique lytic transglycosylase fold. *J. Mol. Biol.* 352, 1068–1080. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2005.07.067
- van Teeffelen, S., and Renner, L. D. (2018). Recent advances in understanding how rod-like bacteria stably maintain their cell shapes. *F1000Res* 7:241. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.12663.1
- Vollmer, W., Blanot, D., and de Pedro, M. A. (2008). Peptidoglycan structure and architecture. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 32, 149–167. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6976.2007.00094.x
- Wall, E., Majdalani, N., and Gottesman, S. (2018). The complex Rcs regulatory cascade. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 72, 111–139. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-090817-062640

- Walsh, N. P., Alba, B. M., Bose, B., Gross, C. A., and Sauer, R. T. (2003). OMP peptide signals initiate the envelope-stress response by activating DegS protease via relief of inhibition mediated by its PDZ domain. *Cell* 113, 61–71. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(03)0 0203-4
- Zhao, H., Patel, V., Helmann, J. D., and Dörr, T. (2017). Don't let sleeping dogmas lie: new views of peptidoglycan synthesis and its regulation. *Mol. Microbiol.* 106, 847–860. doi: 10.1111/mmi. 13853
- Zschiedrich, C. P., Keidel, V., and Szurmant, H. (2016). Molecular mechanisms of two-component signal transduction. J. Mol. Biol. 428, 3752–3775. doi: 10.1016/j.jmb.2016.08.003

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Delhaye, Collet and Laloux. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Switching Lifestyles Is an *in vivo* Adaptive Strategy of Bacterial Pathogens

Stuti K. Desai<sup>1\*†</sup> and Linda J. Kenney<sup>1,2\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Mechanobiology Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States

## **OPEN ACCESS**

### Edited by:

Jyl S. Matson, University of Toledo, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Alvaro Ortega, University of Murcia, Spain Marc Lecuit, Institut Pasteur, France

#### \*Correspondence:

Stuti K. Desai mbidsk@nus.edu.sg Linda J. Kenney likenney@utmb.edu

#### <sup>†</sup>ORCID:

Stuti K. Desai orcid.org/0000-0002-3504-6346 Linda J. Kenney orcid.org/0000-0002-8658-0717

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Bacterial Pathogenesis, a section of the journal Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology

Received: 10 July 2019 Accepted: 28 November 2019 Published: 11 December 2019

#### Citation:

Desai SK and Kenney LJ (2019) Switching Lifestyles Is an in vivo Adaptive Strategy of Bacterial Pathogens. Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol. 9:421. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2019.00421 Gram-positive and Gram-negative pathogens exist as planktonic cells only at limited times during their life cycle. In response to environmental signals such as temperature, pH, osmolality, and nutrient availability, pathogenic bacteria can adopt varied cellular fates, which involves the activation of virulence gene programs and/or the induction of a sessile lifestyle to form multicellular surface-attached communities. In *Salmonella*, SsrB is the response regulator which governs the lifestyle switch from an intracellular virulent state to form dormant biofilms in chronically infected hosts. Using the *Salmonella* lifestyle switch as a paradigm, we herein compare how other pathogens alter their lifestyles to enable survival, colonization and persistence in response to different environmental cues. It is evident that lifestyle switching often involves transcriptional regulators and their modification as highlighted here. Phenotypic heterogeneity resulting from stochastic cellular processes can also drive lifestyle variation among members of a population, although this subject is not considered in the present review.

Keywords: acid stress, lifestyles, biofilms, SsrB, CsgD, Spo0A, chronic infections, virulence

# INTRODUCTION

Pathogenic bacteria constantly face a multitude of chemical and physical stresses associated with external environments and host-specific niches. In order to survive and grow as parasites, they have evolved molecular mechanisms for altering their lifestyles in response to changes in environmental conditions. For example, free-living bacteria can switch their lifestyle to a virulent form inside hosts or undergo development to form matrix-encased aggregates called biofilms on different abiotic and biotic surfaces (**Figure 1A**). The virulent form rapidly colonizes and disseminates in host tissues to cause acute infections for a limited period of time. However, a prolonged association of pathogens with hosts enables carriage or persistence leading to chronic infections, which may be associated with clinical symptoms (for example, when *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* persists in the lungs of cystic fibrosis patients) or not (for example, when *Salmonella* Typhi forms biofilms on gallstones of asymptomatic carriers). We define the ability to shift from a planktonic lifestyle to a multicellular community as a "lifestyle switch," as observed in a majority of chronic bacterial infections (Bjarnsholt, 2013). The regulation of lifestyle switches in bacterial pathogens is important to enable successful pathogenesis.



multicellular aggregates during persistent infections in C. elegans.

Phenotypic variations that occur in a subset of a population in the absence of any genetic or environmental drivers are classified as phenotypic heterogeneity. When this occurs, subpopulations in a clonal group adopt distinct life forms, such as planktonic or sessile, or express different functional markers, for example toxins or cell surface proteins. In this review, we address lifestyle transitions in response to changes in environmental conditions as a population trait, and do not focus on sub-populations that arise due to phenotypic or genetic heterogeneity. The exception is in the case of Acinetobacter baumanii, where we describe how a molecular switch gives rise to phenotypic sub-types. The adaptive significance of phenotypic heterogeneity has been superbly described in a recent review (Ackermann, 2015). In the present review, we use Salmonella as an example to compare with other bacterial pathogens that are known to undergo lifestyle switches.

## AN OVERVIEW OF SALMONELLA PATHOGENESIS

The enteric pathogen Salmonella enterica is typically ingested from contaminated food or water. Most bacteria are killed in the extreme acid pH of the stomach, but those bacteria that survive have to traverse the intestinal mucosal layer before transiting the intestinal epithelium to eventually survive inside macrophages. Salmonella exploits host-associated environmental cues such as acidic pH and high osmolality to form a Salmonellacontaining vacuole (SCV), enabling intracellular replication (Lee et al., 2000; Feng et al., 2003, 2004, see Kenney, 2018, for a review). The virulence genes of Salmonella are encoded on horizontally acquired AT-rich segments of the genome called Salmonella Pathogenicity Islands (SPIs), which are tightly regulated by two-component regulatory systems (TCRSs). For example, the SsrA/B TCRS is essential for activation of the SPI-2 regulon genes encoding a type-three secretory needle and effectors that are involved in the maintenance of the SCV (Shea et al., 1996; Cirillo et al., 1998; Lee et al., 2000). Intracellular replication of Salmonella ultimately causes gastroenteritis (serovar Typhimurium) or systemic typhoid fever (human-restricted serovar Typhi).

Transcriptional activation of the SsrA/B system is tightly regulated by the action of upstream TCRSs, EnvZ/OmpR, and PhoP/Q, which respond to environmental changes in pH, osmolality, phosphate, and Mg<sup>2+</sup> (Groisman et al., 1989; Feng et al., 2003, 2004; Liew et al., 2019). When planktonic or invasive *Salmonellae* encounter acidic pH or high osmolality, their cytoplasm acidifies, activating the membrane-bound sensor kinase EnvZ, by increasing intra-helical hydrogen bonding in its cytoplasmic domain (Wang et al., 2012; Chakraborty et al., 2015). Downstream activation of the response regulator OmpR orchestrates transcriptional activation of the SPI-2 genes, and other stress-protective mechanisms involving RpoS, the stationary-phase sigma factor, oxidoreductases, outer membrane porins, etc. (reviewed in Chakraborty et al., 2017; Kenney, 2018). SPI-2 genes are expressed when SsrB~P mediates direct transcriptional activation at SPI-2 promoters, and SsrB also functions to relieve H-NS repression (Walthers et al., 2007). Thus, coordinated activation of the sensor kinase SsrA, by mechanism(s) not precisely understood, leads to the phosphorylation of the response regulator SsrB, and enables the intra-vacuolar lifestyle of *Salmonella* in infected epithelial cells or macrophages (**Figure 1B**).

# THE LIFESTYLE SWITCH IN SALMONELLA INVOLVES NON-CANONICAL SIGNALING

Salmonella also alters its genetic program to switch to a multicellular lifestyle, or biofilms, in the presence of several abiotic (for example, temperature, nutrient availability, osmolality, etc.) and biotic (for example, bile and gallbladder inflammation) stresses (reviewed in Steenackers et al., 2012). On host tissues such as gallstones and intestinal epithelial cells, individual Salmonella cells become encased in an intricate network of three-dimensional extracellular matrix to form mature biofilms (Boddicker et al., 2002; Crawford et al., 2010). This ability to switch to a sessile lifestyle is essential for maintaining the carrier state, allowing Salmonella to persist in asymptomatic patients, as well as in non-host reservoirs (Crawford et al., 2010). Studies of Typhoid carriage using the mouse model in which mice were fed a lithogenic diet to induce the formation of gallstones, have failed to provide clear insights regarding the signal transduction pathways that regulate the formation of biofilms in vivo or drive the switch in lifestyle from free-living cells to surface-attached communities (see Gunn et al., 2014, for a review). The transcriptional regulator CsgD in the unphosphorylated state activates the expression of biofilm matrix genes to allow the formation of Salmonella biofilms in vitro (Römling et al., 1998; Zakikhany et al., 2010; MacKenzie et al., 2015). SsrB acts non-canonically in biofilm formation (Figure 1B), in a manner that is distinct from its classical function of regulating pathogenicity island genes (reviewed in Desai et al., 2016; Desai and Kenney, 2017).

During neutral pH conditions, unphosphorylated SsrB binds to the *csgD* regulatory region and DNA binding and bending is sufficient to relieve H-NS-mediated repression, favoring formation of *S*. Typhimurium biofilms (Desai et al., 2016). Thus SsrB, a response regulator that was acquired during the evolution of *Salmonella* as a pathogen, sits at a pivotal position in governing *Salmonella* lifestyle fate: to either exist inside the host (in the SCV) as a promoter of virulence, or to drive surface-attached multicellular biofilms, which serves to maintain the carrier state (**Figure 1B**).

## THE ADAPTIVE SIGNIFICANCE OF LIFESTYLE SWITCHING IN SALMONELLA

The SsrB-driven molecular switch also functions during persistent infections *in vivo*. During *Salmonella* infection of the heterologous host *Caenorhabditis elegans*, sessile communities of *Salmonella* were clearly visible in the intestinal lumen (Desai et al., 2019 and see **Figure 1C**). Although the size of *Salmonella* aggregates was smaller *in vivo* (10–20  $\mu$ m<sup>2</sup>) than a typical *in* 

vitro flow cell biofilm (at least 2 mm<sup>2</sup>), SsrB was still required, but phosphorylation of SsrB was not. The quintessential biofilm components were present, including: the master regulator CsgD, and the extracellular matrix components, curli, cellulose, and Oantigen that enabled the formation of Salmonella biofilms during long-term infections. Interestingly, biofilm formation enhanced the lifespan of worms, indicating a reciprocal relationship between virulence activation and the existence of biofilms. The lifestyle switch to form biofilms in vivo inhibited pathogenesis genes encoded on the SPI-1 pathogenicity island, and activated a mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-driven innate immunity pathway (Desai et al., 2019 and see Figure 1C). In the future, it will be important to understand the host-associated environmental cues and signal transduction pathways that activate the formation of Salmonella biofilms. Although we have a detailed understanding of how the SsrA/B TCRS responds to acidic pH (Liew et al., 2019), it will be germane to understand the regulation of SsrA/B expression and activity in biofilm favoring conditions.

## LIFESTYLE SWITCHING IN SPORE-FORMING BACTERIA- B. subtilis

The non-pathogenic Gram-positive bacterium Bacillus subtilis is an important model to understand environment driven lifestyle changes in pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria. B. subtlis also forms biofilms in the intestines of worms and biofilm formation increases lifespan by ~25% (Donato et al., 2017). Lifespan extension occurs when nitric oxide (NO) and Competence Sporulation stimulating Factor (CSF) produced by B. subtilis biofilms programs Insulin-like signaling (ILS) and MAPK innate immunity pathways of C. elegans. In response to starvation, the master response regulator Spo0A orchestrates elaborate genetic changes in development and differentiation pathways in B. subtilis (Hamon and Lazazzera, 2001, reviewed in Vlamakis et al., 2013). In this scenario, the intracellular level of Spo0A~P controls the lifestyle decision in Bacillus. Intermediate levels of Spo0A~P favor biofilm formation, while a higher accumulation of Spo0A~P leads to sporulation (Fujita et al., 2005). The mature *B. subtilis* biofilm is a fine example of how heterogeneity in Spo0A~P levels leads to a division of labor, as only the matrix-producing cells differentiate to form spores (see Vlamakis et al., 2013, for a review). Such a Spo0A~P driven lifestyle switch could also be governing cell fates in the closely related anaerobe, Clostridia, which causes notorious nosocomial infections (Figure 2A) (see below). This is in contrast to what we observed with Salmonella, where unphosphorylated SsrB drove the biofilm pathway and SsrB~P was responsible for activation of virulence (Desai et al., 2016).

# Spo0A REGULATES BIOFILMS AND SPORULATION IN *CLOSTRIDIA*

Chronic infections by the Gram-positive pathogens *C. difficile* and *C. perfringens* are highly antibiotic-tolerant and transmissible due to their remarkable ability to form hardy

spores. Germination to vegetative cells leads to the production of toxins, TcdA and TcdB, adhesin, fibronectin-binding protein A, and different cell wall proteins (CWPs), which drives host colonization and disease (Waligora et al., 2001; Calabi et al., 2002; Kuehne et al., 2010; Barketi-Klai et al., 2011). In response to possible changes in temperature and nutrient levels, these free-living vegetative cells also come together and form matrixencased biofilms (Dapa and Unnikrishnan, 2013; Obana et al., 2014). Apart from contributing to environmental persistence, biofilms of C. difficile have been observed on intestinal mucosal membranes of patients suffering from irritable bowel syndrome and as components of mixed species biofilms in the intestines of infected mice (Swidsinski et al., 2005; Semenyuk et al., 2015). This observation raises the question then, as to what regulates the transitions from the vegetative stage to multicellular communities and ultimately to sporulation?

Interestingly, Spo0A, the master regulator of B. subtilis lifestyles, is conserved in C. difficile with a 56% sequence identity (Deakin et al., 2012). Inactivation of Spo0A reduces biofilm formation and sporulation in C. difficile in vitro (Dawson et al., 2012; Dapa et al., 2013). However, complementation by Spo0A in trans leads to a complete recovery of the ability to form biofilms, but only to a partial rescue of sporulation (Dawson et al., 2012). Drawing parallels with what is known in B. subtilis, it is possible that in C. difficile, the activation of sporulation genes requires much higher levels of Spo0A~P than that required for biofilm formation (Figure 2A). In order to gain a clear understanding of the lifestyle switch in C. difficile, it would be worthwhile to examine the effect of a point mutation in the Asp66 residue (Sp00A phosphorylation site), as well as to identify the upstream kinases of Spo0A (possible homologs of B. subtilis KinA/B/C/D). These studies would provide insights regarding the differential regulation of Spo0A in response to environmental stresses associated with biofilms and sporulation in C. difficile.

## DUAL STATES OF PrfA REGULATES LIFESTYLES OF Listeria monocytogenes

Listeria monocytogenes is another Gram-positive gastrointestinal pathogen that invades and survives intracellularly in epithelial cells and macrophages to cause dangerous listeriosis in humans. The virulence program is well-characterized and requires the master transcriptional regulator PrfA. PrfA belongs to the cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) receptor protein (CRP)/fumarate nitrate reductase (FNR) family. The CRP/FNR superfamily of transcriptional regulators have evolved in several lineages of Firmicutes, Actinobacteria, Proteobacteria, and Cyanobacteria, and perform essential physiological functions such as catabolite repression, oxygen sensing, nitrogen fixation, and survival in stationary phase (refer to Körner et al., 2003, for a review). PrfA activates expression of the invasion factors, InIA and InIB (Gaillard et al., 1991; Dramsi et al., 1995), and the pore-forming toxin listeriolysin (LLO), enabling vacuolar escape and cytosolic replication of L. monocytogenes in host cells (Goebel et al., 1988; Cossart et al., 1989). The



intracellular levels of PrfA are tightly controlled by feedback loops, involving post-transcriptional regulation and stress-responsive alternative sigma factors in order to ensure optimum expression during the switch from the free-living/saprophytic phase to the intracellular virulent lifestyle (see de las Heras et al., 2011, for a review). Active PrfA forms a homodimer with the C-terminus harboring a DNA-binding helix-turnhelix motif (HTH) and its N-terminus forms a  $\beta$ -barrel structure that was predicted to bind cyclic nucleotide(s), based on its high level of homology to the N-termini of other members of the CRP/FNR family of transcriptional regulators. However, PrfA lacks the critical cAMP-binding

residues, emphasizing that sequence homology does not always predict conservation of key residues (Eiting et al., 2005). *In vivo*, transcriptional activation by PrfA is enabled by glutathione (GSH) binding (Reniere et al., 2015). Although GSH is not essential for PrfA binding to DNA *in vitro*, *in vivo*, the binding of GSH to each PrfA monomer stabilizes its HTH motif, and increases the probability of binding to promoters (Hall et al., 2016). Allosteric regulation of PrfA activity is also indicated by PrfA\* mutants that are "locked" in an active state, leading to hyper-virulence *in vivo* and a constitutive over-expression of the PrfA regulon outside the host (Ripio et al., 1996; Wong and Freitag, 2004).

Surprisingly, PrfA expression was also crucial for L. monocytogenes to switch to a sessile lifestyle as aggregates or biofilms (Lemon et al., 2010). The PrfA-driven pathway for formation of biofilms in vitro has not been worked out in detail, but studies showed that PrfA regulated biofilm maturation and growth. Interestingly, biofilms formed by the hyper-virulent PrfA\* mutants were similar to the wild type, however, an avirulent PrfA mutant (Y154C) formed greater biofilms in vitro than the wild type (Lemon et al., 2010), indicating that PrfA can exist in multiple forms with differing activities. A simple model of PrfA-mediated lifestyle switching in L. monocytogenes is described in Figure 2B, involving a GSH-bound form of PrfA (PrfA-X) that activates the virulence program and a free form of PrfA that drives biofilms. However, it is also possible that biofilm genes are regulated by an intermediate conformation of PrfA or an activated state bound to a different allosteric effector.

In addition, a key PrfA-regulated virulence factor ActA, also enabled in vivo aggregation of L. monocytogenes by cellcell mediated contact in the murine infection model (Travier et al., 2013). ActA has three distinct domains, the N-terminus and P-domains are required for actin polymerization, while ActA homodimer interactions that mediate aggregate formation require N-, P-, and C-terminal domains. Thus, different active conformations of ActA might exist in vivo and play a role in deciding the fate of L. monocytogenes. An ActA-mediated lifestyle switch may also be driven by its binding to the peptidoglycan layer during the intracellular phase, although the signal(s) that enable such an association with the cell wall remain unknown (García-del Portillo et al., 2011). Interestingly, a decrease in ActA levels was also found to be correlated with the persistence of L. monocytogenes in vacuoles of non-phagocytic host cells (Kortebi et al., 2017). In the future, a combination of biochemical, genetic and cell biological approaches will be required to clearly delineate the structure-function relationship and regulation of expression of PrfA and ActA for favoring intracellular survival (acute phase) or persistence in hosts.

# A NOVEL TetR FAMILY REGULATOR SWITCHES LIFESTYLES IN Acinetobacter baumannii

Phenotypic heterogeneity is the basis for several bacterial functions in specific sub-populations, including: the expression of virulence factors, quorum sensing, antibiotic resistance, and persister formation. Recent studies revealed that clinical strains of *A. baumannii* are characterized by sub-populations that differ in their cell surface properties and virulence gene expression (Chin et al., 2018). This is unlike *Listeria* (see above), in which the entire population adopts a similar morphology to become virulent or avirulent in response to niche-specific signals. *A. baumannii* cells from avirulent transparent colonies (AV-T) failed to colonize and cause disease in mice, while infections with the virulent opaque cells (VIR-O) resulted in 100% death within 2 days post infection. Transcriptomic analysis revealed that a gene encoding a TetR-type transcriptional regulator (ABUW\_1645) was highly expressed in AV-T cells compared to VIR-O cells.

Over-expression of ABUW\_1645 in VIR-O cells reversed the phenotypic switch, leading to a loss of virulence *in vivo* (Chin et al., 2018). Since AV-T cells retained the ability to form biofilms at  $25^{\circ}$ C (a non-host temperature), biofilms and virulence might be mutually exclusive in *A. baumannnii*. How ABUW\_1645 expression is regulated or whether its behavior is modified by small molecule effectors is presently not known.

# HYBRID SENSOR KINASES CONTROL THE FATE OF *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*

In the opportunistic Gram-negative pathogen Pseudomonas aeruginosa, signaling pathways that regulate virulence and biofilm lifestyles have been extensively studied. RetS is a hybrid sensor kinase/response regulator that regulates the switch between virulence and biofilms (Goodman et al., 2004). Activation of retS during acute infections (in response to as yet uncharacterized environmental signals), leads to the inhibition of downstream biofilm-favoring GacS/GacA/rsmZ signaling pathways. Since a typical DNA-binding domain has not been identified in RetS, it is not clear how RetS mediates the activation of virulence genes. Recent studies suggest that calcium may play a discriminating role. Calcium activates the periplasmic domain of LadS, a hybrid sensor kinase harboring both histidine kinase and response regulator domains, and LadS~P relays through GacS/GacA to activate the biofilm pathway (Broder et al., 2016). A similar periplasmic domain is also present in RetS, raising the possibility that calcium might inhibit the kinase activity of RetS while selectively stimulating LadS~P formation.

An interesting aspect of biofilm formation in *P. aeruginosa* is the involvement of chemosensory-type signaling by the Wsp system. Wsp signaling involves a membrane-bound methyl-accepting protein (WspA), a methyltransferase (WspC), and a methyl-esterase (WspF) which regulate phosphorylation of the response regulator, WspR, to catalyze the synthesis of cyclic-di-guanosine monophosphate (c-di-GMP) (Hickman et al., 2005). However, it is not known whether there is any cross-regulation of the Wsp system with the homologous Che proteins. It is possible that chemical stimuli might activate the sessile lifestyle in bacteria through the Che signaling system, as has been observed in the regulation of *Comamonas testosteroni* biofilms by the FlmD-CheA axis (Huang et al., 2019).

# WHAT REGULATES THE SWITCH IN LIFESTYLES IN Vibrio cholera?

The ability of *V. cholerae* to enter into a non-culturable state is a major factor for environmental persistence and forms the basis of periodic cholera epidemics in endemic regions. Interestingly, aggregates of these non-culturable coccoid cells have been isolated from aquatic environments and stool samples of infected patients as matrix-encased biofilms (Alam et al., 2007). Using the rabbit ileal loop model, *Vibrio* aggregates were discovered to be hyper-virulent (Faruque et al., 2006). Although the components of *V. cholerae* biofilms are well-characterized, the signaling mechanisms

that trigger biofilm formation remain unknown (reviewed in Teschler et al., 2015; Silva and Benitez, 2016). Moreover, what regulates the switch to a non-culturable state and how does temperature and salinity activate the formation of dormant cells? Detailed investigations of the TCRSs and cyclic-di-guanosine monophosphate (c-di-GMP) signaling pathways regulating *Vibrio* lifestyles in the host and outside environments will be informative.

## **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

A critical step for the effective targeting of bacterial pathogens is to unravel the regulatory mechanisms that govern their transitions from a free-living non-pathogenic state to a virulent state to cause disease. This is especially relevant in the present day due to rising antibiotic resistance in bacteria, frequent nosocomial infections, and a lack of novel antibiotics. In the future, the signaling mechanisms that drive the development of biofilms or multicellular communities need to be determined in actual hosts, in order to devise strategies for

## REFERENCES

- Ackermann, M. (2015). A functional perspective on phenotypic heterogeneity in microorganisms. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 13, 497–508. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3491
- Alam, M., Sultana, M., Nair, G. B., Siddique, A. K., Hasan, N. A., Sack, R. B., et al. (2007). Viable but nonculturable *Vibrio cholerae* O1 in biofilms in the aquatic environment and their role in cholera transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 17801–17806. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0705599104
- Barketi-Klai, A., Hoys, S., Lambert-Bordes, S., Collignon, A., and Kansau, I. (2011). Role of fibronectin-binding protein A in *Clostridium difficile* intestinal colonization. J. Med. Microbiol. 60, 1155–1161. doi: 10.1099/jmm.0.029553-0
- Bjarnsholt, T. (2013). The role of bacterial biofilms in chronic infections. *APMIS* 121(Suppl. 136), 1–51. doi: 10.1111/apm.12099
- Boddicker, J. D., Ledeboer, N. A., Jagnow, J., Jones, B. D., and Clegg, S. (2002). Differential binding to and biofilm formation on, HEp-2 cells by *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium is dependent upon allelic variation in the fimH gene of the fim gene cluster. *Mol. Microbiol.* 45, 1255–1265. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2002.03121.x
- Broder, U. N., Jaeger, T., and Jenal, U. (2016). LadS is a calcium-responsive kinase that induces acute-to-chronic virulence switch in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Nat. Microbiol.* 2:16184. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.184
- Calabi, E., Calabi, F., Phillips, A. D., and Fairweather, N. F. (2002). Binding of *Clostridium difficile* surface layer proteins to gastrointestinal tissues. *Infect. Immun.* 70, 5770–5778. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.10.5770-5778.2002
- Chakraborty, S., Mizusaki, H., and Kenney, L. J. (2015). A FRETbased DNA biosensor tracks OmpR-dependent acidification of *Salmonella* during macrophage infection. *PLoS Biol.* 13:e1002116. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1002116
- Chakraborty, S., Winardhi, R. S., Morgan, L. K., Yan, J., and Kenney, L. J. (2017). Non-canonical activation of OmpR drives acid and osmotic stress responses in single bacterial cells. *Nat. Commun.* 8:1587. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02030-0
- Chin, C. Y., Tipton, K. A., Farokhyfar, M., Burd, E. M., Weiss, D. S., and Rather, P. N. (2018). A high-frequency phenotypic switch links bacterial virulence and environmental survival in *Acinetobacter baumannii*. *Nat. Microbiol.* 3, 563–569. doi: 10.1038/s41564-018-0151-5
- Cirillo, D. M., Valdivia, R. H., Monack, D. M., and Falkow, S. (1998). Macrophagedependent induction of the *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 type III secretion system and its role in intracellular survival. *Mol. Microbiol.* 30, 175–188. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998.01048.x
- Cossart, P., Vicente, M. F., Mengaud, J., Baquero, F., Perez-Diaz, J. C., and Berche, P. (1989). Listeriolysin O is essential for virulence of *Listeria*

controlling the spread of pathogenic bacteria and eradicating chronic persistence.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SD and LK wrote the review.

## FUNDING

Research in the LK laboratory was funded by the Research Center of Excellence in Mechanobiology, National University of Singapore, Ministry of Education, Singapore, Center for Integrated Healthcare, U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs, and Grants MOE2018-T2-1-038, NIH AI123640, and VA IO1 BX-000372.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Melanie Lee, Mechanobiology Institute, Singapore, for scientific illustrations.

monocytogenes: direct evidence obtained by gene complementation. Infect Immun. 57, 3629–3636.

- Crawford, R. W., Rosales-Reyes, R., Ramírez-Aguilar, M. L., Chapa-Azuela, O., Alpuche-Aranda, C., Gunn, J. S. (2010). Gallstones play a significant role in *Salmonella* spp. gallbladder colonization and carriage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 107, 4353–4358. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000862107
- Dapa, T., Leuzzi, R., Ng, Y. K., Baban, S. T., Adamo, R., Kuehne, S. A., et al. (2013). Multiple factors modulate biofilm formation by the anaerobic pathogen *Clostridium difficile. J. Bacteriol.* 195, 545–555. doi: 10.1128/JB.01980-12
- Dapa, T., and Unnikrishnan, M. (2013). Biofilm formation by *Clostridium difficile*. *Gut Microbes* 4, 397–402. doi: 10.4161/gmic.25862
- Dawson, L. F., Valiente, E., Faulds-Pain, A., Donahue, E. H., and Wren, B. W. (2012). Characterisation of *Clostridium difficile* biofilm formation, a role for Spo0A. *PLoS ONE* 7:e50527. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050527
- de las Heras, A., Cain, R. J., Bielecka, M. K., and Vázquez-Boland, J. A. (2011). Regulation of *Listeria* virulence: PrfA master and commander. *Curr. Opin. Microbiol.* 14, 118–127. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2011.01.005
- Deakin, L. J., Clare, S., Fagan, R. P., Dawson, L. F., Pickard, D. J., West, M. R., et al. (2012). The *Clostridium difficile spo0A* gene is a persistence and transmission factor. *Infect Immun.* 80, 2704–2711. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00147-12
- Desai, S. K., and Kenney, L. J. (2017). To ~P or Not to ~P? Non-canonical activation by two-component response regulators. *Mol. Microbiol.* 103, 203–213. doi: 10.1111/mmi.13532
- Desai, S. K., Padmanabhan, A., Harshe, S., Zaidel-Bar, R., and Kenney, L. J. (2019). Salmonella biofilms program innate immunity for persistence in Caenorhabditis elegans. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 116, 12462–12467. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1822018116
- Desai, S. K., Winardhi, R. S., Periasamy, S., Dykas, M. M., Jie, Y., and Kenney, L. J. (2016). The horizontally-acquired response regulator SsrB drives a *Salmonella* lifestyle switch by relieving biofilm silencing. *Elife* 5:e10747. doi: 10.7554/eLife.10747
- Donato, V., Ayala, F. R., Cogliati, S., Bauman, C., Costa, J. G., Leñini, C., et al. (2017). *Bacillus subtilis* biofilm extends *Caenorhabditis elegans* longevity through downregulation of the insulin-like signalling pathway. *Nat. Comm.* 8:14332. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14332
- Dramsi, S., Biswas, I., Maguin, E., Braun, L., Mastroeni, P., and Cossart, P. (1995). Entry of *Listeria monocytogenes* into hepatocytes requires expression of *inIB*, a surface protein of the internalin multigene family. *Mol. Microbiol.* 16, 251–261. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.1995.tb02297.x
- Eiting, M., Hagelüken, G., Schubert, W. D., and Heinz, D. W. (2005). The mutation G145S in PrfA, a key virulence regulator of *Listeria monocytogenes*,

increases DNA-binding affinity by stabilizing the HTH motif. *Mol. Microbiol.* 56, 433–446. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04561.x

- Faruque, S. M., Biswas, K., Udden, S. M., Ahmad, Q. S., Sack, D. A., Nair, G. B., et al. (2006). Transmissibility of cholera: *in vivo*-formed biofilms and their relationship to infectivity and persistence in the environment. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 6350–6355. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0601277103
- Feng, X., Oropeza, R., and Kenney, L. J. (2003). Dual regulation by phospho-OmpR of *ssrA/B* gene expression in *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2. *Mol. Microbiol.* 48, 1131–1143. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03502.x
- Feng, X., Walthers, D., Oropeza, R., and Kenney, L. J. (2004). The response regulator SsrB activates transcription and binds to a region overlapping OmpR binding sites at Salmonella pathogenicity island 2. Mol. Microbiol. 54, 823–835. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2004.04317.x
- Fujita, M., González-Pastor, J. E., and Losick, R. (2005). High- and low-threshold genes in the Spo0A regulon of *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol. 187, 1357–1368. doi: 10.1128/JB.187.4.1357-1368.2005
- Gaillard, J., L., Berche, P., Frehel, C., and Gouin, E., Cossart, P. (1991). Entry of *L. monocytogenes* into cells is mediated by internalin, a repeat protein reminiscent of surface antigens from gram-positive cocci. *Cell* 65, 1127–1141. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90009-N
- García-del Portillo, F., Calvo, E., D'Orazio, V., and Pucciarelli, M. G. (2011). Association of ActA to peptidoglycan revealed by cell wall proteomics of intracellular *Listeria monocytogenes. J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 34675–34689. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.230441
- Goebel, W., Kathariou, S., Kuhn, M., Sokolovic, Z., Kreft, J., Köhler, S., et al. (1988). Hemolysin from Listeria–biochemistry, genetics and function in pathogenesis. *Infection* 16 (Suppl. 2), S149–156. doi: 10.1007/BF01639739
- Goodman, A. L., Kulasekara, B., Rietsch, A., Boyd, D., Smith, R. S., and Lory, S. (2004). A signaling network reciprocally regulates genes associated with acute infection and chronic persistence in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Dev. Cell* 7, 745–754. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2004.08.020
- Groisman, E. A., Chiao, E., Lipps, C. J., and Heffron, F. (1989). Salmonella typhimurium phoP virulence gene is a transcriptional regulator. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 7077–7081. doi: 10.1073/pnas.86.18.7077
- Gunn, J. S., Marshall, J. M., Baker, S., Dongol, S., Charles, R. C., and Ryan, E. T. (2014). Salmonella chronic carriage: epidemiology, diagnosis, and gallbladder persistence. Trends Microbiol. 22, 648–655. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2014.06.007
- Hall, M., Grundström, C., Begum, A., Lindberg, M. J., Sauer, U. H., Almqvist, F., et al. (2016). Structural basis for glutathione-mediated activation of the virulence regulatory protein PrfA in *Listeria. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 113, 14733–14738. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1614028114
- Hamon, M. A., and Lazazzera, B. A. (2001). The sporulation transcription factor Spo0A is required for biofilm development in *Bacillus subtilis*. *Mol. Microbiol.* 42, 1199–1209. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2001.02709.x
- Hickman, J. W., Tifrea, D. F., and Harwood, C. S. (2005). A chemosensory system that regulates biofilm formation through modulation of cyclic diguanylate levels. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 14422–14427. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0507170102
- Huang, Z., Wang, Y. H., Zhu, H. Z., Andrianova, E. P., Jiang, C. Y., Li, D., et al. (2019). Cross talk between chemosensory pathways that modulate chemotaxis and biofilm formation. *mBio* 10, e02876–e02818. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02876-18
- Kenney, L. J. (2018). The role of acid stress in Salmonella pathogenesis. Curr. Opin. Microbiol. 47, 45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.mib.2018.11.006
- Körner, H., Sofia, H. J., and Zumft, W. G. (2003). Phylogeny of the bacterial superfamily of Crp-Fnr transcription regulators: exploiting the metabolic spectrum by controlling alternative gene programs. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 27, 559–592. doi: 10.1016/S0168-6445(03)00066-4
- Kortebi, M., Milohanic, E., Mitchell, G., Péchoux, C., Prevost, M. C., Cossart, P., et al. (2017). *Listeria monocytogenes* switches from dissemination to persistence by adopting a vacuolar lifestyle in epithelial cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 13:e1006734. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006734
- Kuehne, S. A., Cartman, S. T., Heap, J. T., Kelly, M. L., Cockayne, A., and Minton, N. P. (2010). The role of toxin A and toxin B in *Clostridium difficile* infection. *Nature* 467, 711–713. doi: 10.1038/nature09397
- Lee, A. K., Detweiler, C. S., and Falkow, S. (2000). OmpR regulates the twocomponent system SsrA-ssrB in Salmonella pathogenicity island 2. J. Bacteriol. 182, 771–781. doi: 10.1128/JB.182.3.771-781.2000

- Lemon, K. P., Freitag, N. E., and Kolter, R. (2010). The virulence regulator PrfA promotes biofilm formation by *Listeria monocytogenes*. J. Bacteriol. 192, 3969–3976. doi: 10.1128/JB.00179-10
- Liew, A. T. F., Foo, Y. H., Gao, Y., Zangoui, P., Singh, M. K., Gulvady, R., et al. (2019). Single cell, super-resolution imaging reveals an acid pHdependent conformational switch in SsrB regulates SPI-2. *Elife* 8:e45311. doi: 10.7554/eLife.45311.043
- MacKenzie, K. D., Wang, Y., Shivak, D. J., Wong, C. S., Hoffman, L. J., Lam, S., et al. (2015). Bistable expression of CsgD in *Salmonella* connects virulence to persistence. *Infect Immun.* 83, 2312–2326. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00137-15
- Obana, N., Nakamura, K., and Nomura, N. (2014). A sporulation factor is involved in the morphological change of *Clostridium perfringens* biofilms in response to temperature. J. Bacteriol. 196, 1540–1550. doi: 10.1128/JB.01444-13
- Reniere, M. L., Whiteley, A. T., Hamilton, K. L., John, S. M., Lauer, P., Brennan, R. G., et al. (2015). Glutathione activates virulence gene expression of an intracellular pathogen. *Nature* 517, 170–173. doi: 10.1038/nature14029
- Ripio, M. T., Domínguez-Bernal, G., Suárez, M., Brehm, K., Berche, P., and Vázquez-Boland, J. A. (1996). Transcriptional activation of virulence genes in wild-type strains of *Listeria monocytogenes* in response to a change in the extracellular medium composition. *Res. Microbiol.* 147, 371–384. doi: 10.1016/0923-2508(96)84712-7
- Römling, U., Sierralta, W. D., Eriksson, K., and Normark, S. (1998). Multicellular and aggregative behaviour of Salmonella typhimurium strains is controlled by mutations in the agfD promoter. Mol. Microbiol. 28, 249–264. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.1998. 00791.x
- Semenyuk, E. G., Poroyko, V. A., Johnston, P. F., Jones, S. E., Knight, K. L., Gerding, D. N., et al. (2015). Analysis of bacterial communities during *Clostridium difficile* infection in the mouse. *Infect Immun.* 83, 4383–4391. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00145-15
- Shea, J. E., Hensel, M., Gleeson, C., and Holden, D. W. (1996). Identification of a virulence locus encoding a second type III secretion system in *Salmonella* typhimurium. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 93, 2593–2597. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.6.2593
- Silva, A. J., and Benitez, J. A. (2016). Vibrio cholerae biofilms and cholera pathogenesis. PLoS Negl. Trop. Dis. 10:e0004330. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004330
- Steenackers, H., Hermans, K., Vanderleyden, J., and De Keersmaecker, S. C. J. (2012). Salmonella biofilms: an overview on occurrence, structure, regulation and eradication. Food Res. Int. 45, 502–531. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2011. 01.038
- Swidsinski, A., Weber, J., Loening-Baucke, V., Hale, L. P., and Lochs, H. (2005). Spatial organization and composition of the mucosal flora in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 3380–3389. doi: 10.1128/JCM.43.7.3380-3389.2005
- Teschler, J. K., Zamorano-Sánchez, D., Utada, A. S., Warner, C. J., Wong, G. C., Linington, R. G., et al. (2015). Living in the matrix: assembly and control of *Vibrio cholerae* biofilms. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 13, 255–268. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3433
- Travier, L., Guadagnini, S., Gouin, E., Dufour, A., Chenal-Francisque, V., Cossart, P., et al. (2013). ActA promotes *Listeria monocytogenes* aggregation, intestinal colonization and carriage. *PLoS Pathog.* 9:e1003131. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003131
- Vlamakis, H., Chai, Y., Beauregard, P., Losick, R., and Kolter, R. (2013). Sticking together: building a biofilm the *Bacillus subtilis* way. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* 11, 157–168. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2960
- Waligora, A. J., Hennequin, C., Mullany, P., Bourlioux, P., Collignon, A., and Karjalainen, T. (2001). Characterization of a cell surface protein of *Clostridium difficile* with adhesive properties. *Infect Immun.* 69, 2144–2153. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.4.2144-2153.2001
- Walthers, D., Carroll, R. K., Navarre, W. W., Libby, S. J., Fang, F. C., and Kenney, L. J. (2007). The response regulator SsrB activates expression of diverse *Salmonella* pathogenicity island 2 promoters and counters silencing by the nucleoid-associated protein H-NS. *Mol. Microbiol.* 65, 477–493. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2007.05800.x
- Wang, L. C., Morgan, L. K., Godakumbura, P., Kenney, L. J., and Anand, G. S. (2012). The inner membrane histidine kinase EnvZ senses osmolality

via helix-coil transitions in the cytoplasm. *EMBO J.* 31, 2648–2659. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.99

- Wong, K. K., and Freitag, N. E. (2004). A novel mutation within the central *Listeria monocytogenes* regulator PrfA that results in constitutive expression of virulence gene products. *J. Bacteriol.* 186, 6265–6276. doi: 10.1128/JB.186.18.6265-6276.2004
- Zakikhany, K., Harrington, C. R., Nimtz, M., Hinton, J. C., and Römling, U. (2010). Unphosphorylated CsgD controls biofilm formation in *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium. *Mol. Microbiol.* 77, 771–786. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2010.07247.x

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Desai and Kenney. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

